

HSBC BANK PLC

(a company incorporated in England with registered number 14259; the liability of its members is limited) as Issuer

PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOTES AND WARRANTS

On 24 February 1999, HSBC Bank plc (the "Issuer") established a Programme for the Issuance of Notes and Warrants (the "Programme").

This document (the "Base Prospectus") (which expression shall include all documents incorporated by reference herein) has been prepared for the purpose of providing disclosure information with regard to the notes (the "Notes") and warrants (the "Warrants"). This Base Prospectus is a base prospectus in accordance with Art. 35 para. 1 of the Financial Services Act ("FinSA") and has been evaluated and approved pursuant to Art. 51 et seq. of the FinsA and Art. 59 et seq. of the Financial Services Ordinance ("FinSO") by the reviewing body SIX Exchange Regulation AG ("Reviewing Body") on 9 December 2020. According to Art. 55 FinSA, base prospectuses shall be valid for public offers in Switzerland or admission to trading on a trading venue in Switzerland of the Notes and Warrants for 12 months after approval. After this period, this Base Prospectus will either be registered again with a prospectus reviewing body or it may be used exclusively for exempt offers pursuant to Art. 36 para. 1 FinSA. Together, this Base Prospectus (as amended or supplemented) and the applicable Final Terms (the "Final Terms") (as amended or supplemented) constitute the prospectus for the relevant Notes and Warrants. Furthermore, the Issuer reserves the right to set forth information which may be required in the case of an offer to private clients in a key information document ("Key Information Document" or "KID") pursuant to Art. 58 FinSA. During the transitory period pursuant to Art. 111 FinSO the Issuer may publish a simplified prospectus alternatively to a KID.

This Base Prospectus does not comprise (i) a prospectus for the purposes of Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) or (ii) a base prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation"). This Base Prospectus has been prepared solely with regard to Notes and Warrants that are not to be admitted to listing or trading on any regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II") and not to be offered to the public in the European Economic Area or the United Kingdom (other than pursuant to one or more of the exemptions set out in Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation).

In relation to any Notes or Warrants, this Base Prospectus must be read as a whole, together also with the relevant Final Terms and Key Information Document (where applicable). Any Notes or Warrants subject to this Base Prospectus and issued under the Programme on or after the date of this Base Prospectus are issued subject to the provisions described herein. This does not affect any Notes or Warrants already in issue.

This Base Prospectus will be valid until 12 months from the date hereof.

Any person (an "Investor") intending to acquire or acquiring any securities from any person (an "Offeror") will do so, and offers and sales of the securities to an Investor by an Offeror will be made, in accordance with any terms and other arrangements in place between such Offeror and such Investor including as to price, allocations and settlement arrangements. The Issuer will not be a party to any such arrangements with Investors (other than the Dealers as defined herein) in connection with the offer or sale of the securities and, accordingly, this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms will not contain such information and an Investor must obtain such information from the Offeror.

The Issuer has been assigned the following long term credit ratings: A+ by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited ("**Standard & Poor's**"); A1 by Moody's Investors Service Limited ("**Moody's**"); and AA- by Fitch Ratings Limited ("**Fitch**"). Each of Standard & Poor's, Moody's and Fitch are established in the European Economic Area ("**EEA"**) or in the United Kingdom (the "UK") and are registered as credit rating agencies under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009, as amended (the "**CRA Regulation**"). As such, each of Standard & Poor's, Moody's and Fitch is included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority ("**ESMA**") on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation.

PRIIPs REGULATION - IMPORTANT – EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes or Warrants includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors", the Notes or Warrants are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA") or in the United Kingdom (the "UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or Warrants or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA or in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or Warrants or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA or in the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

The Notes and Warrants have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") or the state securities laws of any state of the United States, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S")) except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Accordingly, the Notes and Warrants are being offered and sold to non-U.S. persons in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S.

The Issuer does not intend to offer and sell any Notes or Warrants in the United States or to U.S. persons in reliance on Rule 144A.

In addition, Warrants may not be offered or sold to, or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (as defined in the Interpretative Guidance and Policy Statement Regarding Compliance with Certain Swap Regulations, 78 Fed. Reg. 45292, 26 July 2013, as amended or supplemented by the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission) at any time.

The Notes are not deposit liabilities of the Issuer and are not covered by the United Kingdom Financial Services Compensation Scheme or insured by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other governmental agency of the United Kingdom, the United States or any other jurisdiction.

The Notes and Warrants do not constitute a collective investment scheme as defined in the Federal Collective Investment Schemes Act ("CISA") and are not subject to authorisation by the Swiss Financial Markets Supervisory Authority ("FINMA"). Accordingly, Noteholders and Warrantholders do not have the benefit of the specific investor protection provided under the CISA. Holders of the Notes and Warrants bear the issuer risk.

Programme Arranger, Dealer and Manager **HSBC Bank plc**

9 December 2020

IMPORTANT NOTICES

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus relating to Notes and Warrants issued by it. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer, which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

The Issuer does not intend to provide post-issuance information.

None of the Programme Arranger nor any dealer for an issue of Notes nor any manager for an issue of Warrants (each such dealer or manager a "Dealer") has separately verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking (express or implied) is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Programme Arranger or any Dealer as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Programme or the Notes or the Warrants or their distribution.

No person is or has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Programme Arranger or any Dealer.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms nor any further information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes or any Warrants should be considered as a recommendation or as constituting an invitation or offer by the Issuer or any Dealer to any recipient of this Base Prospectus to subscribe for or purchase any Notes or any Warrants. Each investor contemplating subscribing for or purchasing any Notes or any Warrants should make its own independent investigation of the affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes or any Warrants constitutes an offer by or on behalf of the Issuer or any Dealer to subscribe for or purchase any Notes or any Warrants.

An investment in the Notes or Warrants entails certain risks, which vary depending on the specifications and type or structure of the Notes or Warrants.

It is advisable that investors considering acquiring any Notes or Warrants understand the risks of transactions involving the Notes or Warrants and it is advisable that they reach an investment decision after carefully considering, with their financial, legal, regulatory, tax, accounting and other advisers, the suitability of the Notes or Warrants in light of their particular circumstances (including without limitation their own financial circumstances and investment objectives and the impact the Notes or Warrants will have on their overall investment portfolio) and the information contained in this Base Prospectus and the relevant Final Terms. Investors should consider carefully the risk factors set forth under "Risk Factors" in this Base Prospectus.

The Issuer disclaims any responsibility for advising investors of any matters arising under the law of the country in which they reside that may affect the purchase of, or holding of, or the receipt of payments or deliveries in respect of the Notes and Warrants.

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer, distribution or sale of Notes or Warrants may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. None of the Issuer or any Dealer represent that this document may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes or Warrants may be lawfully offered, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering, in any such jurisdiction. In particular, action may be required to be taken to permit a public offering of any Notes or Warrants or a distribution of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction. Accordingly, no Notes or Warrants may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any Notes or Warrants come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions.

For details of certain restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes and Warrants in the following countries and territories: Australia, the Arab Republic of Egypt, Belgium, Bolivia, the Dubai International Financial Centre, the European Economic Area, France, Guernsey, Hong Kong, Isle of Man, Israel, Italy, Japan, Jersey, Kingdom of Bahrain, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the Lebanese Republic, Malaysia, Mexico, Norway, People's Republic of China, Peru,

Philippines, Portugal, Republic of Chile, Republic of Indonesia, Republic of Korea ("Korea"), Republic of Panama, Russia, Singapore, Spain, State of Kuwait, State of Qatar (including Qatar Financial Centre), Sultanate of Oman, Switzerland, The Netherlands, Taiwan, Thailand, the United Arab Emirates (excluding the Dubai International Financial Centre), the United Kingdom, the United States of America and Uruguay, see "Subscription and Sale of Notes" and "Purchase and Sale of Warrants" below.

United States

NEITHER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC") NOR ANY U.S. STATE OR FOREIGN SECURITIES COMMISSION OR OTHER REGULATORY AUTHORITY HAS APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED OF THE NOTES OR THE WARRANTS OR PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND ANY ACCOMPANYING BASE PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENTS AND FINAL TERMS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

In addition:

- (1) if "40-day Distribution Compliance Period" is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, Notes or Warrants will only be issued or transferred at any time to a person that is neither a U.S. person nor holding such Notes or Warrants for the account or benefit of a U.S. person; and
- (2) otherwise, during the 40 day period beginning on the later of the date on which a series of Notes or Warrants is first offered pursuant to Regulation S to persons other than distributors and the date of closing of such offering, such Notes or Warrants will only be issued or transferred to a person that is neither a U.S. person nor holding such Notes or Warrants for the account or benefit of a U.S. person.

The Warrants may not be exercised by or on behalf of a U.S. person unless registered under the Securities Act or unless an exemption from such registration is available.

In addition, Warrants may not be offered or sold to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in the Interpretative Guidance and Policy Statement Regarding Compliance with Certain Swap Regulations, 78 Fed. Reg. 45292, 26 July 2013, as amended or supplemented by the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission) at any time.

Transfers of the Notes which are physically settled may be conditional upon delivery of certain certifications and are subject to significant restrictions as described under "Subscription and Sale of Notes" including the right of the Issuer to refuse the recognition of transfers of the Notes. Exercise of a Warrant may be conditional upon delivery of certain certifications as described under "Terms and Conditions of the Warrants – Exercise Procedure".

United Kingdom

All applicable provisions of the United Kingdom Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) ("FSMA") must be complied with in respect of anything done in relation to any Notes or Warrants in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. Any document received in connection with an issue of Notes or Warrants may only be distributed in circumstances in which the restriction in Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply.

Australia

The Issuer is neither a bank nor an authorised deposit-taking institution which is authorised under the *Banking Act* 1959 (*Cth*) of Australia (the "**Australian Banking Act**") nor is it authorised to carry on banking business under the Australian Banking Act. The Notes and Warrants are not obligations of any government and, in particular, are not guaranteed by the Commonwealth of Australia. The Issuer is not supervised by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority. Notes and Warrants that are offered for issue

or sale or transferred in, or into, Australia are offered only in circumstances that would not require disclosure to investors under Part 6D.2 or Part 7.9 of the Corporations Act and are issued and transferred in compliance with the terms of the exemption from compliance with section 66 of the Australian Banking Act that is available to the Issuer. Such Notes or Warrants are issued or transferred in, or into, Australia in parcels of not less than A\$500,000 in aggregate principal or face amount (as applicable). An investment in any Notes or Warrants issued by the Issuer will not be covered by the depositor protection provisions in section 13A of the Australian Banking Act and will not entitle Holders to claim under the financial claims scheme under Division 2AA of the Australian Banking Act.

Hong Kong

The contents of this document have not been reviewed by any regulatory authority in Hong Kong. Investors are advised to exercise caution, and if necessary obtain independent professional advice, in relation to any purchase of Notes and Warrants under the Programme.

Saudi Arabia

This document may not be distributed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia except to such persons as are permitted under the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations issued by the Capital Market Authority of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the "Capital Market Authority").

The Capital Market Authority does not make any representations as to the accuracy or completeness of this document, and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part of this document. Prospective purchasers of the securities offered hereby should conduct their own due diligence on the accuracy of the information relating to the securities. If you do not understand the contents of this document, you should consult an authorised financial adviser.

The treatment for taxation purposes of the acquisition, holding or disposal of, or other dealings with, Notes or Warrants may differ according to the jurisdiction in which the person acquiring, holding, disposing or dealing is subject to taxation. Any person intending to acquire, hold, dispose of or otherwise deal with a Note or Warrant should inform himself as to the treatment for taxation purposes applicable to him.

All references in this Base Prospectus to "CHF" and "Swiss Francs" are to the official currency of Switzerland, "Sterling", "GBP" and "£" refer to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, all references to "US dollars", "USD" and "US\$" refer to the lawful currency of the United States of America, all references to "Hong Kong dollars", "HKD" and "HK\$" refer to the lawful currency of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong"), all references to "Renminbi", "RMB" and "CNY" are to the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China ("PRC"), which for the purposes of this Base Prospectus shall exclude the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong") and the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Macau") and Taiwan; all references to "Offshore RMB", where the context requires, are Chinese Renminbi that is freely deliverable between accounts in the relevant Offshore RMB Centre as specified in the relevant Final Terms in accordance with the law and applicable regulations and guidelines issued by the relevant authorities in the relevant Offshore RMB Centre as specified in the relevant Final Terms prevailing as of the trade date of the Notes or Warrants, all references to "Japanese Yen", "JPY" and "\frac{\pmathbf{F}}" refer to the lawful currency of Japan and all references to "Euro", "euro", "EUR" and " $m{\epsilon}$ " refer to the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that have adopted or adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty on the Functioning of European Union, as amended. Any other currency referred to in any Final Terms will have the meaning specified in the relevant Final Terms.

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Notes and Warrants may be issued by the Issuer under this Base Prospectus. Notes are transferable debt securities which may or may not bear interest and any interest and/or redemption amount payable may or may not be linked to an underlying. Warrants are transferable securities which, following their exercise, may entitle the holder on their settlement date either to receive a cash settlement amount linked to an underlying or to receive physical delivery of an underlying. Warrants will not bear interest.

The Notes and Warrants may include, among other things, Notes and Warrants whose return is linked to:

- one or more shares and other securities ("Equity-Linked Notes and Warrants");
- one or more indices, including indices managed by the Issuer ("Index-Linked Notes and Warrants")
- interest rates ("Interest Rate-Linked Notes and Warrants");
- inflation rates ("Inflation Rate-Linked Notes and Warrants"); or
- currencies ("Currency-Linked Notes and Warrants").

Notes and Warrants may also be linked to more than one of these variables above.

In this Base Prospectus:

- all references to "Issuer" refer to HSBC Bank plc, all references to "Group" refer to HSBC Bank plc and its subsidiary undertakings, and all references to "HSBC Group" refer to HSBC Holdings plc and its subsidiary undertakings; and
- "Conditions" means, as applicable, the terms and conditions of the Notes and the terms and conditions of the Warrants, respectively. Other than as expressly defined in any other section of this Base Prospectus, terms defined in the Conditions, the "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form" and the "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Warrants while in Global Form" have the same meanings in other all sections of this Base Prospectus.

CONTENTS

	Page
INFORMATION RELATING TO THE PROGRAMME GENERALLY	1
Overview of the Programme	1
Risk Factors	3
Incorporation by Reference	41
HSBC Bank plc	42
Taxation	47
Green Bonds and SDG Bonds	54
General Information	58
INFORMATION RELATING TO THE NOTES	60
Terms and Conditions of the Notes	60
Pro Forma Final Terms for Notes	234
Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes While in Global Form	257
Subscription and Sale of Notes	262
INFORMATION RELATING TO THE WARRANTS	279
Terms and Conditions of the Warrants	279
Pro Forma Final Terms for Warrants	335
Summary of Provisions relating to the Warrants while in Global Form	349
Purchase and Sale of Warrants	351

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE PROGRAMME GENERALLY

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

The following summary of the Base Prospectus (the "**Summary**") contains the essential information required for a FinSA prospectus by Art. 40 para. 3 FinSA, Art. 43 FinSA, and Art. 54 FinSO.

PART A – Introduction			
A.1.	Introduction and Warnings	The Summary is to be understood as a mere introduction to the Base Prospectus.	
A.2	Investment Decision	The investment decision of potential investors in Notes and Warrants must not be based on the Summary but rather on the information contained in the entire Base Prospectus and the applicable Final Terms of the Notes or Warrants.	
A.3	Liability	The liability of the Issuer for the Summary is limited to cases where the information contained herein is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the Base Prospectus.	
PART B – Issuer			
B.1	Company Name of the Issuer	HSBC Bank plc (the "Issuer").	
B.2	Registered Office of the Issuer	8 Canada Square, London, E14 5HQ, United Kingdom	
B.3	Legal Form of the Issuer	HSBC Bank plc is a public limited company registered in England and Wales under registration number 14259. The liability of its members is limited.	
B.4	Auditor	PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors, of 7 More London Riverside, London SE1 2RT, United Kingdom.	
PART C – Securities (Notes and Warrants)			
C.1	Nature of the Notes and Warrants	The Notes and Warrants described in the Base Prospectus are structured products in accordance with the Swiss Derivative Map of the Swiss Structured Products Association and may be categorised, inter alia, as capital protection products, yield enhancement products, participation products, leverage products, or products with reference entities. Notes are transferable debt securities which may or may not bear interest and any interest and/or redemption amount payable may or may not be linked to an underlying. Warrants are transferable securities which, following their exercise, may entitle the holder on their settlement date either to receive a cash settlement amount linked to an underlying or to receive physical delivery of an underlying. Warrants will not bear interest.	
C.2	Notes and Warrants Public Offer	The key information on the Notes and Warrants for a specific public offer is supplemented in the applicable Final Terms.	
C.3	Admission to Trading	Not applicable (the Issuer does not plan to request the Notes' and Warrants' admission to trading on any securities exchange or multilateral trading facility).	
C.4	Base Prospectus	This Base Prospectus of 9 December 2020 was approved by the Reviewing Body (SIX Exchange Regulation AG) on 9 December 2020.	

C.5	Final Terms	The applicable Final Terms for public offers are to be published and filed with the Reviewing Body as soon as possible after the final information is available. The applicable Final Terms for exempt offers according to Art. 36 et seq. FinSA will not be filed with the Reviewing Body (e.g., in case of offers addressed exclusively to professional clients).	
C.6	Risk Factors	Investment in the Notes and Warrants may involve a high degree of risk, including the risk of a total loss of all capital invested. Further reference is made to the Section "Risk Factors" of this Base Prospectus.	
PART D – Public Offer or Admission to Trading			
D.1	Public Offers	This Base Prospectus has been reviewed and approved as a FinSA prospectus in terms of Art. 35 para. 1 FinSA by the Reviewing Body and is valid as such for a period of 12 months after its approval. During this period, Notes and Warrants issued pursuant to this Base Prospectus may be publicly offered in Switzerland unless an offer of Notes and Warrants is restricted in the applicable Final Terms. The key information on any specific public offer will be supplemented in the relevant Final Terms.	
D.2	Exempt Offers	Certain Notes and Warrants issued pursuant to this Base Prospectus may be subject to an exempt offer under Art. 36 et seq. FinSA.	
D.3	Admission to Trading	Not applicable (the Issuer does not plan to request the Notes' and Warrants' admission to trading on any securities exchange or multilateral trading facility).	

RISK FACTORS

This section provides details of the principal risks associated with the Issuer and the Notes and Warrants.

Any investment in the Notes and Warrants is subject to a number of risks. Prior to investing in the Notes and Warrants, prospective investors should carefully consider risk factors associated with any investment in the Notes or Warrants, the business of the Issuer and the industry in which it operates together with all other information contained in this Base Prospectus, including, in particular, the risk factors described below. The Issuer considers such risk factors to be the principal risk factors that may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes and Warrants and/or risk factors that are material for the purposes of assessing the market risk associated with the Notes and Warrants. Words and expressions defined in the Conditions or elsewhere in this Base Prospectus have the same meanings in this section.

The following is not an exhaustive list or explanation of all risks which investors may face when making an investment in the Notes or Warrants and should be used as guidance only. Additional risks and uncertainties relating to the Issuer or the Notes and Warrants that are not currently known to the Issuer, or that the Issuer currently deem immaterial, may individually or cumulatively also have a material adverse effect on the business, prospects, results of operations and/or financial position of such Issuer or the Notes and Warrants themselves, and, if any such risk should occur, the price of the Notes and Warrants may decline and investors could lose all or part of their investment. Investors should consider carefully whether an investment in the Notes or Warrants is suitable for them in light of the information in this Base Prospectus and their personal circumstances.

(1) Risks relating to the Issuer

A description of the risk factors relating to the Issuer that may affect the ability of the Issuer to fulfil its obligations under the Notes and Warrants are set out in the section entitled "Risk Factors" on pages 1 to 19 of the Registration Document (as defined in the section headed "Incorporation by Reference" below), except for the risk factor entitled "Impact of Covid-19", which is replaced in its entirety with the risk factor set out below.

Impact of Covid-19

The uncertainty of Covid-19 and its effect on the global economy has impacted the Group's customers and performance and the future effects of the pandemic are uncertain. Covid-19 has necessitated unprecedented levels of government response to protect public health, local economies and livelihoods. The Covid-19 outbreak has impacted countries and territories at different times and magnitudes as it has developed. The varying government measures in response to the outbreak have added challenges, given the rapid pace of change and significant operational demands. After an initial decrease in levels of Covid-19 in the third quarter of 2020 in many regions, further waves of infections have been emerging. While governments in some countries and territories have continued to ease the broad restrictions that had been imposed to limit the spread of Covid-19, social distancing and tight border restrictions remain commonplace, and are limiting the extent and pace of economic recovery. The speed at which countries and territories will be able to unwind their lockdown measures and return to pre-Covid-19 economic levels will vary based on the levels of infection and local political decisions.

Restrictions implemented by governments the world over to limit the spread of Covid-19 resulted in a sharp contraction in global economic activity in the first half of 2020. Economic consensus forecasts have stabilised in recent months and monthly changes to the forecasts have become smaller. Notably, the consensus forecast for UK gross domestic product ("GDP") for 2020 deteriorated in September 2020. However, the economic consensus forecasts for the Group's key markets continue to predict a 'V-shaped' recovery in 2021, albeit there is wide dispersion in forecast expectations. The extent of economic activity, and any reduction in unemployment rates across the Group's major markets in 2021, remains contingent on successful containment of the virus and the resolution of other top risks, including the United Kingdom's ("UK") relationship with the European Union ("EU") following the end of the transition period.

The risk of renewed drops in economic activity is material, and the economic fallout from Covid-19 risks exacerbating inequality across markets that had already suffered from social unrest. This will leave the burden on governments and central banks to keep up or increase fiscal and monetary stimulus. After a sharp fall in the early phases of the spread of Covid-19, financial markets have rebounded, although they remain

volatile. Depending on the degree to which global economic growth suffers permanent losses, financial asset prices may suffer a further sharp fall.

Governments and central banks in major economies have deployed extensive measures to support households and corporates. Measures implemented by governments include income support to households and funding support to corporates, while measures taken by central banks include cuts to interest rates, support to funding markets and asset purchases. These measures are expected to be unwound gradually as government restrictions ease and as activity increases. Central banks are expected to maintain record-low interest rates for a considerable period of time and the debt burden of governments will rise significantly.

In many of the Group's markets the Group has initiated market-specific measures to support the Group's personal and business customers through these challenging times, including mortgage assistance, payment holidays, the waiving of certain fees and charges, and liquidity relief for businesses facing market uncertainty and supply chain disruption. The Group is also working closely with governments and supporting national schemes that focus on the parts of the economy most impacted by Covid-19. On 1 July 2020 the Issuer became an accredited lender under the UK's Coronavirus Large Business Interruption Scheme.

It is recognised that the above measures expose the Group to heightened risks. The rapid introduction and varying nature of the government support schemes, as well as customer expectations, can lead to risks as the Group implements large-scale changes in a short period of time. This has led to increased operational risks, including complex conduct considerations, increased reputational risk and increased risk of fraud. These risks are likely to be heightened further as and when the government support schemes are unwound.

The Covid-19 outbreak has led to a weakening in GDP in many of the Group's major markets, a key input used for calculating expected credit losses and other impairments charges ("ECL"), and there remains the risk of more adverse economic scenarios given its ongoing impact. Furthermore, ECL will also increase from other parts of the Group's businesses impacted by the disruption to supply chains. The impact will vary by sectors of the economy, with heightened risk to the oil and gas, transport and discretionary consumer spending sectors being observed in the first stages of the outbreak. The impact of the outbreak on the long-term prospects of businesses in these sectors is uncertain and may lead to significant ECL charges on specific exposures, which may not be fully captured in ECL estimates. In addition, in times of crisis, fraudulent activity is often more prevalent, leading to potentially significant ECL charges. The UK left the EU on 31 January 2020 and entered a transition period until 31 December 2020 (the "EU Exit Transition Period"). During the EU Exit Transition Period, the UK continues to be bound by EU laws and regulations. Beyond that date, there is no certainty on what the future relationship between the UK and the EU will be. Trade talks are ongoing and there remains a possibility that there may not be a trade deal agreed by 31 December 2020. This possible outcome is only partly reflected in the Issuer's probability-weighted ECL in the third quarter of 2020 and, therefore, there is a risk of additional ECL charges, particularly in the UK in the fourth quarter of 2020, if the UK and the EU fail to reach a trade agreement. Moreover, the prospect of exiting the EU Exit Transition Period without a trade agreement is likely to increase market volatility and economic risk, particularly in the UK, which could adversely impact the Issuer's profitability and prospects for growth in this market.

Central banks have reduced interest rates in most financial markets due to the adverse impact on the timelines and path for economic recovery, and the increased likelihood of negative interest rates. This raises a number of risks and concerns, such as the readiness of the Group's systems and processes to accommodate zero or negative rates, the resulting impacts on customers, regulatory constraints and the financial implications given the significant impact that prolonged low interest rates are likely to have on the Group's net interest income.

For some products, the Group has floored deposit rates at zero or made decisions not to charge negative rates. This, alongside loans repriced at lower rates, results in the Group's commercial margins being compressed, which will be reflected in the Group's profitability. The pricing of this risk will need to be considered carefully. If there is a rebalancing of portfolios toward fee-generating business and trading activities to offset reduced profits, the Group may become exposed once rates start rising again. These factors may challenge the long-term profitability of the banking sector, including the Issuer.

Moreover, the Group has financial instruments which are carried at fair value, and such fair values may be impacted by the market volatility resulting from the Covid-19 outbreak. This would in turn affect the market

value of such instruments and could result in markdowns on such instruments and an increase in the size of fair value adjustments.

The Covid-19 outbreak may also have material impacts on capital and liquidity. This may include downward customer credit rating migration, which could negatively impact the Group's risk-weighted assets and capital position, and potential liquidity stress due, among other factors, to increased customer drawdowns, notwithstanding the significant initiatives that governments and central banks, including the UK government and the Bank of England (the "BoE"), have put in place to support funding and liquidity. Central banks in some markets have also initiated a series of capital measures, including the reduction of certain regulatory capital buffers, to support the ability of banks to supply credit to businesses and households through this period of economic disruption. For instance, the BoE's Financial Policy Committee reduced the UK countercyclical capital buffer rate to zero per cent.

Central bank and government actions and support measures taken in response to the Covid-19 outbreak may create restrictions in relation to capital. These may limit management's flexibility in managing the business and taking action in relation to capital distribution and capital allocation.

The Covid-19 outbreak has resulted in very significant movement in economic and market drivers, changes in retail and wholesale behaviours and a significant increase in government support programmes for businesses and consumers. All of these factors significantly impact the performance of financial models including retail, wholesale, IFRS 9 and capital models. This has required more on-going monitoring and more frequent testing of models used across the Group, particularly for credit models. It has also resulted in the use of compensating controls in a consistent and explainable manner for some models, such as overlays and overrides on top of model outputs, to help protect the Group from unwanted risks. By their nature, such compensating controls require a significant degree of management judgement and assumptions to be applied, and there is a risk that future actual results/performance may differ from such judgements and assumptions. The performance and usage of models over the next 12 to 18 months will continue to be impacted significantly by the consequences of Covid-19.

It is too early in the current situation to be certain of the magnitude of change required for models used by the Group. However, it is likely that capital, credit risk, IFRS 9 models, and valuation models and financial reporting models, in other areas impacted by Covid-19, will need to be recalibrated or in some cases may need to be replaced with the development of new models. The effectiveness of these will depend in large part on the depth and length of the economic downturn currently faced by the economies of the major markets in which the Group operates.

There remain significant uncertainties in assessing the duration of the Covid-19 outbreak and its impact, and how this will evolve through the remainder of 2020 and beyond. A prolonged period of significantly reduced economic activity as a result of the impact of the outbreak would have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's financial condition, results of operations, prospects, liquidity, capital position and credit ratings.

(2) Risks relating to all issues of Notes and Warrants

A wide range of Notes and Warrants may be issued under the Programme. The Issuer may issue Warrants linked to, or Notes with principal and/or interest determined by reference to, one or more variables such as an index, formula, securities, currency exchange rates, interest rates, inflation indices or other factors (each underlying, currency or other asset being a "**Reference Asset**"). A number of these Notes or Warrants may have features which contain particular risks for investors. Set out below is a description of some of the risks that should be taken into consideration by prospective purchasers of Notes or Warrants.

Credit risk

The Notes and Warrants are direct, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and not of any other person. If the Issuer's financial position were to deteriorate, there could be a risk that the Issuer would not be able to meet its obligations under the Notes and Warrants (the Issuer's credit risk). If the Issuer becomes insolvent or defaults on its obligations under the Notes and Warrants, in the worst case scenario investors in the Notes and Warrants could lose all of their invested amounts. Unlike a savings account or similar investment, an investment in the Notes or Warrants is not covered by the UK Financial Services Compensation Scheme.

Investors should be aware that any rating of the Issuer reflects the independent opinion of the relevant rating agency and is not a guarantee of the Issuer's credit quality. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by its assigning rating agency at any time.

The Notes and Warrants are unsecured obligations

It will be particularly important for the investor to evaluate the Issuer's credit risk when considering an investment in the Notes and Warrants as the Notes and Warrants are not secured. If the Issuer became unable to pay amounts owed to the investor under the Notes or Warrants (as applicable), such investor will not have recourse to the Reference Asset(s) or any other security or collateral and, in a worst case scenario, may not receive any payments under the Notes or Warrants (as applicable).

The Notes and Warrants are not ordinary debt securities and investors are exposed to the risks relating to the Reference Asset(s)

An investment in the Notes and Warrants is not an equivalent to an investment in a time deposit. The terms of the Notes and Warrants may differ from those of ordinary debt securities because the Notes may not pay interest, the Warrants do not pay interest and, on redemption or expiry (as applicable), depending on the performance of the Reference Asset(s) the Notes and Warrants may return less than the amount invested or nothing.

The repayment of any amount invested in Notes and Warrants and any return on investment may be variable and is not guaranteed. Unlike a savings account or similar investment with a lower return and little or no capital risk, the Notes and Warrants may potentially have a greater return but there is a greater risk of loss of capital. As a result, the investors' capital can fall below the amount initially invested.

Notes and Warrants are linked to the value or level of the underlying Reference Asset(s) and payment at maturity or expiry (and/or payment on early redemption in certain circumstances) and/or payment of interest amounts depend on the performance of the Reference Asset(s). Investors should therefore be prepared to be exposed to the risks related to the Reference Asset(s). The value or level of the Reference Asset(s) can alter sharply because they reflect the performance of the underlying value or general stock and other market conditions. Therefore, there is a risk that, if the value or level of the Reference Asset(s) does not move in the anticipated direction, the Notes or Warrants may return less than the amount invested and, in a worst case scenario, investors could lose their entire invested amount. In addition, investors should note that there may be a risk that if the issuer of an underlying Reference Asset becomes insolvent, the value of such Reference Asset will become zero. As a result thereof the value of the Notes or Warrants will be adversely affected and in a worst case scenario become zero as well. Investors in the Notes or Warrants would then lose all of their invested amounts.

The Issuer cannot predict the value or level of the Reference Asset(s) on any date during the life of the Notes or Warrants or at maturity or expiry (as applicable). The total return of the Notes or Warrants may be less than other fixed rate instruments, including other securities available directly from the Issuer. Investors should compare the rates of return and other features of the Notes or Warrants to other available investments before deciding to purchase the Notes or Warrants.

Past performance of the Reference Asset(s)

Past performance of the Reference Asset(s), if provided, should not be taken as an indication of future performance of the Reference Asset(s). The Issuer cannot provide any assurance that the performance of the Reference Asset(s) will result in a positive return on any investment.

Capital risks relating to Notes and Warrants which are not principal protected

Unless the relevant Series of Notes or Warrants is fully principal protected, the repayment of any amount invested in the Notes or Warrants is not guaranteed. As a result the investors' capital can fall below the amount initially invested in such Notes or Warrants and, in the worst case, the investors may lose their entire invested amount.

No ownership rights

An investment in Notes or Warrants relating to Reference Asset(s) is not the same as an investment in the Reference Asset(s). The Notes or Warrants do not (prior to physical settlement of any Notes by delivery

of Reference Asset(s), where applicable) confer any legal or beneficial interest in any Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying any Reference Asset(s) (if the Reference Asset is an index) and do not provide a Noteholder or Warrantholder with any of the rights that a holder of such Reference Asset(s) may have (such as voting rights and rights to receive dividends).

There may be no active trading market or secondary market liquidity for Notes or Warrants

Any Series of Notes or Warrants issued will be new securities which may not be widely distributed and for which there is no active trading market (even where, in the case of any particular Tranche, such Tranche is to be consolidated with and form a single series with a Tranche which is already issued). If the Notes or Warrants are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar Notes or Warrants (as applicable), general economic conditions, commissions paid by the Issuer and the financial condition of the Issuer and existing liquidity arrangements (if any) might not protect Noteholders from having to sell the Notes at substantial discounts to their principal amount in case of financial distress of the Issuer. Accordingly, the investor is subject to the risk that its investment in the Notes and Warrants may be difficult or impossible to trade. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid and such liquidity may be sensitive to changes in financial markets.

It is not possible to predict whether any trading market for the Notes and Warrants will develop or, if it does, the price at which Notes and Warrants will trade in the secondary market or whether such market will be liquid or illiquid. If any Notes and Warrants are not listed or traded on any exchange, pricing information for the Notes and Warrants may be more difficult to obtain and the liquidity of the Notes and Warrants may be adversely affected. Also, to the extent that Notes are redeemed or purchased and cancelled or Warrants are exercised or purchased and cancelled, the number of Notes or Warrants outstanding will decrease, resulting in a lessening of the liquidity of the Notes and Warrants. A lessening of the liquidity of the Notes and Warrants may cause, in turn, an increase in the volatility associated with the price of the Notes and Warrants. An investor in the Notes or Warrants is subject to the risk therefore, that to the extent that there is no liquid market in the Notes and Warrants, an investor may have to wait until redemption of such Notes or until it is able to exercise such Warrants in order to realise the value of its investment and, as such, an investor should proceed on the assumption that they may have to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Notes or Warrants until their redemption or exercise date.

Illegality

The Noteholders and Warrantholders are subject to the risk that the Issuer may terminate its obligations under the Notes or Warrants if the Calculation Agent determines acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner that the performance of the Issuer's obligations under any Notes or Warrants (or, in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, the Issuer's designated affiliates' obligations under any hedging or funding arrangement established in connection therewith) shall after the trade date have become unlawful or (in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes only) impracticable in whole or in part, unless the relevant Final Terms in respect of a Series of Notes specifies "Early Redemption for Impracticability" as not applicable, in which case the Issuer will not be entitled to terminate its obligations under such Notes or Warrants for the reasons of impracticability only. Following such a determination of illegality or (as the case may be) impracticability, the Issuer may terminate its obligations under the Notes against payment of the Early Redemption Amount specified in the relevant Final Terms or terminate its obligations under the Warrants against payment of the Fair Market Value. In the case of Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, the Final Terms may specify the Early Redemption Amount as being the Fair Market Value of such Note immediately prior to such termination. The Fair Market Value of a Note or Warrant will be adjusted to account fully for any reasonable expenses and costs incurred by the Issuer and/or its designated affiliates in connection with the Issuer's obligations under the Notes or Warrants or any related hedging and/or funding arrangements as a result of such events. Noteholders and Warrantholders may suffer a loss of some or all of their investment as a result of such early termination, and will forego any future performance in the relevant Reference Asset and, in the case of Notes only, future interest payments applicable to such Notes (if any).

Early Redemption for Taxation Reasons

The Noteholders are subject to the risk that the Issuer may terminate its obligations under the Notes if the Issuer determines that it would be required to gross-up payments to the holders following a withholding or deduction required by law of taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges imposed or levied by or

on behalf of the United Kingdom. Following such a determination, the Issuer may terminate its obligations under the Notes against payment of the Early Redemption Amount specified in the relevant Final Terms. In the case of Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, the Final Terms may specify the Early Redemption Amount as being the Fair Market Value of such Note immediately prior to such termination. The Fair Market Value of a Note will be adjusted to account fully for any reasonable expenses and costs incurred by the Issuer and/or its designated affiliates in connection with the Issuer's obligations under the Notes or any related hedging and/or funding arrangements as a result of such events. Noteholders may suffer a loss of some or all of their investment as a result of such early termination and will forego any future performance in the relevant Reference Asset and future interest payments applicable to such Notes (if any).

Certain factors affecting the value and trading price of Notes and Warrants

The value of Notes and Warrants prior to expiry or maturity (as applicable) is expected to depend on a number of factors including, without limitation: (i) the financial condition and funding costs of the Issuer; (ii) the value and volatility of the Reference Asset(s) and liquidity of the Reference Asset(s); (iii) the time remaining to expiration or maturity; (iv) any change(s) in interest rates, dividend yields and inflation rates; (v) any change(s) in currency exchange rates; (vi) economic and market conditions; and (vii) any related transaction costs. As a result of these factors the price at which a Noteholder or Warrantholder will be able to sell the Notes or Warrants prior to maturity or expiry (as applicable) may be less than the initial amount invested in the Notes or Warrants. Each of these factors interrelate in complex ways (for example, one factor may offset an increase in the value of the Notes or Warrants caused by another factor). Investors are subject to the risk that the value of Notes or Warrants may be adversely affected by one or more of the following factors:

(a) Fluctuations in the level or value of the Reference Asset(s)

Fluctuations in the value or level of the Reference Asset(s) may affect the value of the Notes or Warrants, but equally an investor in the Notes or Warrants is subject to the risk that expectations of fluctuation in value or level of the Reference Asset(s) during the remaining period to the maturity of the Notes or expiry of the Warrants (as applicable) or any earlier redemption or exercise date would adversely affect amounts payable in respect of the Notes or Warrants. The level or value of the Reference Asset(s) may vary over time and may increase or decrease by reference to a variety of factors which may include corporate actions, macro-economic factors and speculation.

(b) Interest rates

Rising interest rates may lower the value of the Reference Asset(s), and thus, the value of the Notes and Warrants. Changes in interest rates may also affect the economy of a country in which the Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying the Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index) are traded, and which may adversely affect the value of the Notes and Warrants.

(c) *Volatility of the Reference Asset(s)*

If the size and frequency of market fluctuations in value of the Reference Asset(s) increase or decrease, the trading value of the Notes and Warrants may be adversely affected.

(d) *Time remaining to maturity or expiry*

The Notes and Warrants may trade at a value above that which would be expected based on the level of interest rates and the level of the Reference Asset(s). Any such difference will reflect a "time premium" resulting from expectations concerning the Reference Asset(s) during the period prior to the maturity of the Notes or the expiry of the Warrants. An investor in the Notes and Warrants should be aware of the risk that, as the time remaining to the redemption or exercise (as applicable) of the Notes and Warrants decreases, this time premium would likely decrease, which would adversely affect the value of the Notes and Warrants.

(e) Dividend rates

An investor in the Notes and Warrants is subject to the risk that changes in dividend or other distribution rates on the Reference Asset(s) may adversely affect the trading value of the Notes and Warrants. If the dividend or other income rates on the Reference Asset(s) increase, the trading

value of the Notes and Warrants are likely to decrease as the Notes and Warrants generally do not reflect such distributions by way of increase in amounts payable on redemption or exercise, or pass-through payments of such distributions.

Pricing

As part of the valuation mechanism, Notes and Warrants may specify a time and an exchange or other venue in which the level or value of the Reference Asset(s) are to be observed. Depending on how the level or value of the Reference Asset(s) is calculated, the level or value of such Reference Asset(s) may fluctuate throughout the trading day, and they may change rapidly. As a result, investors should note that return on any Notes and Warrants may be particularly sensitive to the choice of valuation times and valuation methods. The "**price discovery**" mechanism used to ascertain the value of the underlying at any given time on exchanges or other venues may not be uniform throughout the trading day. This may affect the valuation of any issuance of Notes and Warrants. For example, exchanges may conduct auctions to set an opening or closing price, and trading characteristics and participants in after-hours trading sessions may differ from those during regular hour sessions.

Potential conflicts of interest

The Issuer and/or affiliates of the Issuer may from time to time: (i) advise or engage in business with the issuers of or obligors in respect of Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index) regarding transactions to be entered into by them; (ii) engage in transactions involving Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index) for their proprietary accounts, for other accounts under their management or to facilitate client orders; (iii) carry out hedging activities related to the Notes and Warrants by purchasing or entering into derivatives transactions relating to the Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index) (but will not be obliged to do so); (iv) publish research reports relating to Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index); or (v) acquire non-public information about Reference Asset(s) and/or any relevant securities underlying Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index). In undertaking any such activities, neither the Issuer nor any affiliate of the Issuer is under any obligation to consider the interests of the Noteholders, and any such activity by the Issuer or its affiliates (as applicable) may have a negative effect on the value or level of such Reference Asset(s) and therefore on the value of any Notes and Warrants to which they relate.

In addition, the conditions of the Notes or Warrants may provide for (a) the early redemption of the Notes, or an early termination of the Warrants, as the case may be, and/or (b) a lesser amount being payable in respect of the Notes or Warrants, if the value of any Reference Asset exceeds, falls below, is equal to or does not stay within pre-determined reference levels ("Threshold Events"). The activities described in the preceding paragraph may cause such Threshold Events to be triggered, which could potentially have a negative impact on the value of any Notes and Warrants to which they relate.

Certain affiliates of the Issuer or the Issuer itself may: (i) be the counterparty to the hedge of the Issuer's obligations under an issue of Notes and Warrants; (ii) be the Calculation Agent responsible for making determinations and calculations in connection with the Notes and Warrants; or (iii) publish research reports which express opinions or provide recommendations that are inconsistent with purchasing or holding the Notes and Warrants referencing the Reference Asset(s). Accordingly, there is a risk that certain conflicts of interest may arise both among the Issuer or these affiliates and between the interests of the Issuer or these affiliates and the interests of Noteholders or Warrantholders (as applicable).

Fees, commission and cost of hedging

The original issue price of the Notes or Warrants may include the distribution commission or fee charged by the Issuer and/or its affiliates and the cost or expected cost of hedging the Issuer's obligations under the Notes or Warrants (if any). Accordingly, there is a risk that, upon issue, the price, if any, of the Notes or Warrants in any secondary market (including the price (if any) at which the Issuer or its affiliates would be willing to purchase Notes or Warrants from the investor) would be lower than the original issue price. Such fee, commission and cost of hedging may also be deducted from the redemption or settlement amount payable in respect of the Notes (in the case of Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes) or Warrants. In addition, any such prices may differ from values determined by pricing models used by the Issuer or affiliates as a result of such compensation or other transaction costs.

Effect of general economic conditions on the Notes and Warrants

The market for debt securities is influenced by economic and market conditions, interest rates, currency exchange rates and inflation rates in Europe and other countries and areas. There can be no assurance that events occurring elsewhere will not cause market volatility or that such volatility will not adversely affect the price of Notes or Warrants or that economic and market conditions will not have any other adverse effect.

Hedging activities of the Issuer and affiliates

The Issuer or its affiliates may carry out hedging activities related to the Notes and Warrants, including purchasing Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index), but will not be obliged to do so. Certain of the Issuer's affiliates may also purchase and sell the Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index) on a regular basis as part of their securities businesses. Any of these activities could potentially affect the value of the reference factor, Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index) and, accordingly, the value of the Notes or Warrants.

Calculation Agent's discretion and valuation

Calculation of the interest payments (if applicable) and/or amount payable in respect of redemption or expiry or exercise may be by reference to certain specified screen rate(s), level(s) or value(s) published on an exchange or other quotation system, or if any such rate(s), level(s) or value(s) is not displayed at the relevant time, rate(s), level(s) or value(s) (as applicable) determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, or otherwise, an exercise of its discretion in accordance with and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the applicable Notes and Warrants. The Calculation Agent may also have other discretionary powers (including without limitation, powers to (i) adjust terms and conditions of Notes and Warrants; (ii) in certain circumstances, substitute the Reference Asset; (iii) postpone payment; (iv) redeem or terminate the Notes and Warrants prior to their scheduled maturity or expiry, as applicable; or (v) apply any combination of the foregoing). Investors should be aware that, in circumstances where the Issuer has entered into hedging arrangements (or otherwise), the exercise of its discretionary powers as Calculation Agent under the conditions of the Notes and Warrants, or as calculation agent under its related hedge, may have an adverse impact on the performance of the Notes and Warrants, which may result in a lower return, or no return at all. The Notes may be redeemable prior to their scheduled maturity and the Warrants may expire prior to their scheduled expiry in certain circumstances at an amount determined by the Calculation Agent which may be less than their nominal amount. Accordingly, an investor in the Notes and Warrants is subject to the risk that the calculation of payments and other determinations under the Notes and Warrants are conclusively determined by one party which may be the Issuer itself or its affiliates and the investor cannot object to such calculation or determination.

The Calculation Agent may be permitted to use its proprietary models in setting the terms of an adjustment, and it may be difficult for investors to predict the resulting adjustments in advance. In such case, an investor would be subject to the risk that it would be difficult to verify that adjustments made to payments under the Notes and Warrants are legitimate and consistent with the terms of an issue of Notes and Warrants without expertise in applying valuation models.

All calculations and determinations made by the Calculation Agent in relation to the Notes and Warrants shall (save in the case of manifest error at the time the relevant determination is made) be final and binding on the Issuer and all Noteholders and Warrantholders. The Calculation Agent shall have no obligations to the holders of Notes or Warrants, and shall only have the obligations expressed to be binding on it pursuant to the Conditions. The Calculation Agent may delegate to an affiliate some or all of its functions, powers, duties and obligations as it deems appropriate without the prior consent of the holders of the Notes or Warrants.

Exchange rate risks and exchange control risks

The Issuer will generally pay amounts in respect of the Notes and Warrants in the Settlement Currency (as referred to in the relevant Final Terms). As a result there are various potential exchange rate risks that investors in the Notes or Warrants need to consider.

Investor converting amounts paid in the Settlement Currency into the Investor's Currency

If an investor anticipates that it will need to convert payments made under the Notes or Warrants from the Settlement Currency into a currency of its choice (the "Investor's Currency") (for instance, if other obligations of the investor are payable in the Investor's Currency), then the investor is subject to the risk that the currency conversion rate which it must pay for exchanging the Settlement Currency into the Investor's Currency becomes less attractive and therefore decreases the realisable value of its investment.

An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Settlement Currency at any time would decrease (i) the value of any redemption (in the case of Notes) or cash settlement (in the case of Warrants) payable to the investor and (ii) the market value of the Notes or Warrants, in each case where converted into the Investor's Currency at that time. As a result, the amount that the investors receive in respect of the Notes or Warrants, as converted, may be less than expected or zero.

Material risks involved in currency conversion

The material risks involved in the currency conversion include the risk that exchange rates may change significantly (including changes due to performance of the Investor's Currency relative to the Settlement Currency). It is impossible to predict whether the value of one such currency relative to another will rise or fall during the term of the Notes and Warrants.

Amounts converted from another currency into the Settlement Currency or calculated by reference to an underlying currency pair

The Final Terms in relation to some Notes may specify that Conversion provisions apply in relation to specified payments under the Notes, in which case the amounts of such payments will be converted into the Settlement Currency in accordance with provisions set out in the relevant Final Terms. The relevant Final Terms may also specify in relation to a Series of Notes or Warrants that certain amounts payable in respect of the Notes or Warrants are to be determined by reference to the exchange rate(s) between one or more underlying currencies. In any such case, the exchange rate and exchange control risks set out above in relation to the Settlement Currency and the Investor's Currency may apply to the Settlement Currency and/or a Cross Currency and the underlying currency and/or such underlying currency pair(s).

In addition,

- (a) if "Price Source Disruption" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to any Notes or Warrants, then if for any reason a relevant rate of exchange is not available the Calculation Agent may (i) use alternative sources to determine an exchange rate (such source as may be determined by the Calculation Agent), (ii) postpone the determination of the rate of exchange (subject to a postponement cut-off of 30 calendar days (or such other number of calendar days as may be specified in the Final Terms) after which the Calculation Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable manner, shall determine its good faith estimate of the rate and use exchange rates prevailing at later times or (iii) determine the rate of exchange as the arithmetic mean of exchange rates provided by leading dealers in the relevant foreign exchange market.
- (b) if "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to any Notes, then if for any reason a relevant rate of exchange is not available the Calculation Agent may (i) postpone the determination of the rate of exchange (subject to a postponement cut-off of 30 calendar days (or such other number of calendar days as may be specified in the Final Terms)), (ii) following such postponement cut-off, use alternative sources specified in the relevant Final Terms to determine an exchange rate (the "alternate rate of exchange"), and/or (iii) in certain circumstances (including where no rate of exchange or alternate rate of exchange is available following postponement or the Calculation Agent determines that any rate of exchange or alternate rate of exchange (as applicable) determined in accordance with the Conditions is not reflective of the rate that the Issuer could obtain in the general foreign exchange market), determine the rate of exchange in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner.

Additionally, where "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to any Notes, the relevant Final Terms may also specify "Price Materiality" to be applicable to such Notes. Where Price Materiality is specified as being applicable to any Notes, if the Calculation Agent determines that the rate of exchange determined in accordance with the

Conditions differs from the fallback rate of exchange determined in accordance with the Conditions by the Price Materiality Threshold Percentage specified in the Final Terms or more (or if no such Price Materiality Threshold Percentage is specified in the Final Terms, by three per cent. or more), the Calculation Agent may determine the relevant rate of exchange in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner.

The exchange rate so determined may differ from the rate which would have prevailed but for the occurrence of the disruption and this may lead to a decrease in the amount payable to the investors. In addition, if the Calculation Agent postpones the determination of the rate of exchange the due dates for any payments in respect of the Notes or Warrants (including, without limitation, the maturity date or cash settlement payment date) and/or the date of delivery, where physical settlement applies, may also be postponed.

If a specified fixing date for the determination of a relevant exchange rate is an Unscheduled Holiday, the fixing date will be postponed to the next relevant currency business day which is not an Unscheduled Holiday (subject to a postponement cut-off of 30 calendar days (or such other number of calendar days as may be specified in the Final Terms)), after which the Calculation Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable manner, shall determine its good faith estimate of the relevant rate.

If the Issuer is unable to settle payments in the Settlement Currency, the Issuer may, in certain circumstances, settle any payments due under the Notes or Warrants by payment of the Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent (which will be an amount in USD or such other currency specified as the Alternative Payment Currency in the relevant Final Terms) (see "Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent" below).

Exchange control risks

Investors in Notes and Warrants should also be aware that there is the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency or Settlement Currency such as government and monetary authorities may impose or modify (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or transfer of funds in and out of the country. It is impossible to predict whether the value of one such currency relative to another will rise or fall during the term of the Notes and Warrants. As a result of exchange controls and restrictions the Issuer may not be able to make payments under the Notes and Warrants in the Settlement Currency and will therefore pay the equivalent of the amounts due under the Notes in U.S. dollars or another currency. Investors in the Notes and Warrants will therefore forego any future performance of the Settlement Currency. See for further details "Risks relating to Emerging Markets".

Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent

Notes and Warrants may provide that, if by reason of an FX Disruption Event or the relevant clearing system ceasing to accept payments in the Settlement Currency or the occurrence of an event specified in the Final Terms as an Alternative Payment Currency Event, the Issuer is not able to satisfy its obligations to pay any amounts due under the Notes or Warrants (as applicable) in the Settlement Currency, then the Issuer is entitled to make the payments in USD or any other currency specified as the Alternative Payment Currency in the relevant Final Terms (the "Alternative Payment Currency").

Certain considerations regarding hedging

Investors intending to purchase Notes or Warrants to hedge against the market risk associated with investing in a Reference Asset should recognise that there is a risk that the value of the Notes or Warrants may not exactly correlate with the value of the Reference Asset to which they relate. Due to fluctuating supply and demand for the Notes or Warrants, there is no assurance that their value will correlate with movements of the Reference Asset. In addition, the formula for redemption or exercise (as applicable) may be subject to a cap. For these reasons, among others, it may not be possible to purchase or liquidate assets in a portfolio at the prices used to calculate the value of any relevant Reference Asset. Accordingly, investors who invest in Notes or Warrants as a means of hedging may be exposed to risks arising out of such differences in value.

Value of Baskets

The value of a basket of Reference Assets to which any Notes or Warrants relate may be affected by the number of Reference Assets included in such basket. Generally, the value of a basket that includes

Reference Assets from a number of companies or obligors or other components or which gives relatively equal weight to each Reference Asset will be less affected by changes in the value of any particular Reference Asset included therein than a basket that includes fewer Reference Assets or that gives greater weight to some Reference Assets.

In particular, if the Reference Assets included in a basket are all in or relate to a particular industry, the value of such a basket will be affected to a greater extent by the economic, financial and other factors affecting that industry than if the Reference Assets included in the basket relate to various industries that are affected by different economic, financial or other factors or are affected by such factors in different ways.

Investors in the Notes and Warrants are subject to the risk that other risks relating to the Reference Assets which adversely affect the value of the Notes or Warrants will be exacerbated due to the number of and/or type of Reference Assets.

Change of law

The Conditions of the Notes and the Conditions of the Warrants are based on English law and relevant tax law in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus. There is a risk that the interpretation and/or effect of the Conditions may be subject to change in such a manner as to adversely affect the contractual rights of holders of the Notes and Warrants. The value of the Notes and Warrants may also be affected by changes in the laws of the jurisdiction of listing or incorporation of the issuers of or obligors under the Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index).

In particular, in light of the United Kingdom's exit from the EU ("Brexit"), there could be significant changes to those EU laws applicable in the United Kingdom. While Brexit does not in and of itself affect the validity of the Banking Act (through which the BRRD is implemented) or other relevant legislative measures implementing EU directives, and EU regulations have been on-shored (with amendments) pursuant to the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, it is possible that subsequent changes in law affecting the rights of holders of Notes and/or Warrants could take place following the end of the Brexit transition period (expected to end on 31 December 2020).

No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus.

Clearing systems

Because Notes and Warrants may be held by or on behalf of the relevant clearing system as specified in the relevant Final Terms investors will be able to trade their interests only through the relevant clearing system. Investors will have to rely on their procedures for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer to receive payment under the Notes and Warrants. Investors are therefore subject to the risk of those settlement procedures failing such that payments due under the Notes or Warrants may be delayed and that book entries or entries in the register are entered incorrectly which may lead to difficulties with an investor asserting ownership of its Notes or Warrants.

The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, interests in the global Notes or global Warrants. Holders of interests in the global Notes or global Warrants will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the relevant Notes or Warrants. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by the relevant clearing system to appoint appropriate proxies.

Modification, waiver and substitution

Investors in the Notes or Warrants are subject to the risk that modifications to the Conditions of the Notes or Warrants may be made without the consent of any Noteholders or Warrantholders, as the case may be, where the Issuer determines that:

• the modification is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders and the Warrantholders as a whole;

- where the modification of the Notes or Warrants is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is
 made to correct a manifest error or comply with mandatory provisions of the law of the Issuer's
 jurisdiction of incorporation; or
- where the Conditions are inconsistent with the termsheet relating to the relevant Notes or Warrants.

There is a commercial risk that the obligations of the Warrantholder or the Noteholder will be owed by a principal debtor other than the Issuer. The Notes and Warrants permit the substitution of an affiliate of the Issuer as principal debtor in respect of the Notes and the Warrants, **provided that** the Issuer provides a guarantee.

Regulatory initiatives may restrict certain investments and have an adverse impact on the regulatory treatment of the Notes and the Warrants

In Europe, the U.S. and elsewhere there is increased political and regulatory scrutiny of the derivatives and structured securities industries. This has resulted in a raft of measures for increased regulation which are currently at various stages of implementation and which may restrict investment in certain Notes and Warrants, have an adverse impact on the regulatory position for certain investors and/or on the incentives for certain investors to hold Notes and Warrants and may thereby also affect the liquidity of such Notes and Warrants in the secondary market. Investors in the Notes and the Warrants are responsible for analysing their own regulatory position and none of the Issuer or the Dealers makes any representation to any prospective investor or purchaser of the Notes or the Warrants regarding the regulatory treatment of their investment at the time of such investment or at any time in the future. Prospective investors should therefore make themselves aware of the changes and requirements applicable to them, in addition to any other applicable regulatory requirements with respect to their investment in the Notes or the Warrants.

Limitations on exercise or trading size

If so indicated in the relevant Final Terms, an investor must tender a specified minimum number of Warrants (and integral multiples of Warrants thereafter) or minimum trading size or total consideration of Notes at any one time in order to exercise or on-sell the Notes or Warrants. Thus, investors with fewer than the specified minimum number of Warrants (or specified multiples thereof) or minimum trading size or total consideration of Notes will either have to sell their Notes or Warrants or purchase additional Notes or Warrants, incurring transaction costs in each case, in order to realise their investment. Furthermore, investors in such Notes or Warrants incur the risk that there may be differences between the trading price of such Notes or Warrants and the Cash Settlement Amount of such Warrants or the Final Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount of such Notes (as applicable).

If specified in the applicable Final Terms, Notes which settle physically in the underlying Reference Asset may only be redeemed in such amounts as will ensure that the number of relevant Reference Assets to be delivered is equal to an integral multiple of the minimum allowed trading amount of the relevant Reference Asset on the relevant stock exchange as from time to time specified by such stock exchange or other market in which the Reference Asset is traded (the "Minimum Trading Amount"). Where the exercise of a holding of such physically settled Notes would not result in the purchase of a number of relevant Reference Assets equal to an integral multiple of the relevant Minimum Trading Amount, the Holder will receive the maximum number of relevant Reference Assets equivalent to the maximum integral multiple of the Minimum Trading Amount and may be entitled to a payment in lieu at the option of the Issuer, determined in the sole and absolute discretion of the Issuer, in respect of the remaining Reference Assets unless any such payment is of a *de minimis* amount, in which case, Holders shall not receive anything in respect of the remaining Notes. Holders will, therefore, either have to sell their Notes or purchase additional Notes, incurring transaction costs in each case, in order to realise their investment.

Risk of automatic / mandatory early redemption or termination

In relation to certain types of Notes or Warrants early redemption or termination occurs if certain conditions set out in the relevant Final Terms are met. Investors should therefore be aware that certain types of Notes and Warrants may terminate prior to the stated maturity date or expiry date (as applicable). As a result investors in such Notes or Warrants may forego any future interest or other payments as well as any appreciation or depreciation (as applicable) in the underlying Reference Assets.

Risks relating to benchmark reform and transition

Regulation and reform of Benchmarks

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011, as amended (the "Benchmarks Regulation") entered into force on 30 June 2016 and became applicable on 1 January 2018. The Benchmarks Regulation applies to "administrators" of, "contributors" to and "users" of "benchmarks" in the EU. Among other things, the Benchmarks Regulation: (i) requires EU benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered by a national regulator (unless an exemption applies); (ii) provides that in order to be used by supervised entities in the EU, a non-EU benchmark must be qualified for use in the EU under the third-country regime (through equivalence, recognition or endorsement) and comply with extensive requirements in relation to the administration of the non-EU benchmark; and (iii) bans the use by "supervised entities" of: (a) EU "benchmarks" whose administrators are not authorised or registered; and (b) non-EU "benchmarks" that are not qualified for use in the EU under the third-country regime.

The scope of the Benchmarks Regulation is wide and, in addition to so-called "critical benchmarks" such as EURIBOR, could also potentially apply to many other interest rate indices, as well as equity, commodity and foreign exchange rate indices and other indices (including "proprietary" indices or strategies) which are referenced in certain financial instruments (including securities or OTC derivatives traded on an EU regulated market, EU multilateral trading facility (MTF), EU organised trading facility (OTF) or via a "systematic internaliser"), certain financial contracts and investment funds. Different types and categories of "benchmark" are subject to more or less stringent requirements, and in particular a lighter touch regime may apply where a "benchmark" is not based on interest rates or commodities and the value of financial instruments, financial contracts or investment funds referring to a benchmark is less than €50 billion, subject to further conditions.

Further, the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"), the Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR") and other indices which are deemed "benchmarks" are the subject of recent national, international and other regulatory guidance and reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are yet to apply. These reforms may cause such "benchmarks" to perform differently than in the past, or to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted.

The Benchmark Regulation, together with other international, national or other reforms or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of "benchmarks" could have a material impact on any Notes linked to a "benchmark". Such reforms could result in changes to the manner of administration of "benchmarks", with the result that such "benchmarks" may perform differently than in the past (and such changes could have the effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level or affecting the volatility of the published rate or level) or may have the effect of discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or participate in certain "benchmarks" leading to their disappearance.

A Benchmark Trigger Event could occur in relation to the Notes or Warrants

A "Benchmark Trigger Event" (as defined in the Conditions) may occur in relation to a Series of Notes or Warrants linked to a "benchmark" index in a number of scenarios, including:

- upon the cessation of any benchmark;
- where the administrator of a benchmark does not obtain authorisation/registration or is not able to rely on one of the regimes available to non-EU benchmarks; or
- certain other events (including, without limitation, an announcement by or on behalf of the administrator of a Relevant Benchmark that such Relevant Benchmark will cease to be provided or the imposition of restrictions on the use such Relevant Benchmark) determined to have occurred by the Issuer.

Determination of a Benchmark Trigger Event

The circumstances with respect to a Relevant Benchmark that may lead to the occurrence of a Benchmark Trigger Event are beyond the Issuer's control. However, in all cases, the Issuer will make a determination as to whether the relevant circumstances have arisen.

In making a determination as to whether the occurrence of the relevant circumstances constitute a Benchmark Trigger Event the Issuer may take into consideration any factors the Issuer considers relevant to such determination (including prevailing market practice and the impact of such circumstances on any related hedging arrangement of the Issuer and/or its affiliates). The Issuer is under no obligation to act in the best interests of the holders of the Notes or Warrants in making such determination, and there is no guarantee that the determinations made by the Issuer will lead to the best possible outcome for investors.

Consequences of the occurrence of a Benchmark Trigger Event

The occurrence of a Benchmark Trigger Event in relation to a Relevant Benchmark to which the Notes or Warrants are linked could result in such Relevant Benchmark being deemed replaced (for the purposes of the Notes or Warrants) with an alternative benchmark (a "**Replacement Index**") selected by the Issuer (or any Alternative Pre-nominated Index specified in the Final Terms as applicable), adjustment to the terms and conditions pursuant to Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*) or Condition 8A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*) (as applicable), early redemption or termination, discretionary valuation by the Issuer and/or the Calculation Agent, delisting or other consequences in relation to Notes or Warrants linked to such Relevant Benchmark.

There can be no assurance that the amounts payable to investors in relation to any Notes or Warrants following the application of a Replacement Index or the Alternative Pre-nominated Index pursuant to Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) (in the case of Notes), or a Replacement Index or the Alternative Pre-nominated Index pursuant to Condition 8A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) (in the case of Warrants), and any related adjustments to the terms and conditions of the relevant Notes or Warrants (as applicable), will correspond with the amounts that investors would have received if the original Relevant Benchmark had continued to apply, and investors may accordingly receive less than they would otherwise have received.

The determination and use of a Replacement Index or the Alternative Pre-nominated Index following the occurrence of a Benchmark Trigger Event may result in changes to the Conditions and/or payments that are lower than or that do not otherwise correlate over time with the payments that could have been made on such Notes or Warrants if the Relevant Benchmark remained available in its current form. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any such Notes or Warrants.

Taxation and other charges in relation to the Notes and Warrants

Transactions involving Notes or Warrants may have tax consequences for potential purchasers which may depend, amongst other things, upon the status of the potential purchaser and laws relating to transfer and registration taxes. Stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax and/or similar transfer taxes may be payable on any conveyance or transfer (actual or deemed) or agreement to transfer assets in cases where obligations of the Issuer under the Notes are or may be physically settled.

Transactions involving Notes or Warrants may be subject to United Kingdom stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax, and are subject to the risk that instruments effecting or evidencing transfers of Notes or Warrants and executed in the United Kingdom may not be admissible in evidence in civil proceedings unless duly stamped. An instrument of transfer executed outside the United Kingdom is also subject to the risk that it may be inadmissible in United Kingdom civil proceedings unless duly stamped after it has been first received in the United Kingdom.

Under the terms and conditions of the Notes all payments and deliveries will be subject to any fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment and Noteholders may be responsible for paying, or suffer a deduction for, any applicable duties, taxes or other charges imposed by such laws and regulations, subject only to the Issuer's obligation to gross-up in relation to certain taxes imposed by the United Kingdom under Condition 8A (*Taxation - Gross-up*). This gross-up obligation is applicable provided Condition 8B (*Taxation - No gross-up*) is not specified as applying to a Series of Notes and is subject to a number of exceptions and covers only certain withholdings and deductions on account of taxes imposed by the United Kingdom; in particular, it does not cover stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax and/or similar transfer taxes.

If Condition 8B (*Taxation – No gross-up*) is specified as applying to a Series of Notes in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer will not be required to gross-up or pay any additional amounts in respect of the Notes in respect of which any withholding or deduction has been required to be made in respect of any tax. Accordingly, investors may receive a lower return than would be received on an investment where no

withholding tax is payable or where the issuer has an obligation to gross-up for such withholdings or deductions.

Under the terms and conditions of the Warrants, Warrantholders are responsible for paying all stamp duties, stamp duty reserve tax and/or other taxes or duties, securities transfer taxes and any other charges, if any, payable in connection with the subscription, purchase or exercise of the Warrants. The Issuer will not be liable for or otherwise obliged to pay any tax, duty, withholding or other payment which may arise as a result of the ownership, transfer or exercise of any Warrants nor shall it be obliged to pay any additional amounts to the Warrantholders in respect of any withholdings or deductions that are made on payments to them on account of any taxes.

Potential purchasers who are in any doubt about the tax consequences of purchasing any Notes should consult and rely on their own tax advisers.

France – French Financial Transactions Tax

Pursuant to Article 235 ter ZD of the French tax code, acquisitions for consideration of equity securities (titre de capital) within the meaning of Article L 212-1 A of the French Monetary and Financial Code or similar instruments within the meaning of Article L 211-41 of the French Monetary and Financial Code that provide or could provide access to capital or voting rights, resulting in a transfer of ownership within the meaning of Article L 211-17 of the French Monetary and Financial Code (that is resulting from the registration of the acquired securities in the securities accounts of the purchaser), admitted to trading on a French, European or foreign regulated market within the meaning of Articles L 421-4, L 422-1 or L 423-1 of the French Monetary and Financial Code and issued by a company having its head office in France and whose market capitalisation as of 1 December of the year preceding the year in which the acquisition occurs exceeds EUR1 billion ("French Qualifying Securities"), are subject to the French financial transactions tax ("French FTT"), levied at the rate of 0.3 per cent. The French FTT also applies to an acquisition of securities (irrespective of which entity issued such securities) when these securities represent French Qualifying Securities ("Synthetic French Qualifying Securities"). If applicable, the cost of the French FTT may be deducted from the amounts payable to the Warrantholders and/or Noteholders.

The French FTT could also be triggered if the Issuer and/or its affiliates choose to purchase Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying the Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index) to hedge their exposure under the Warrants and/or the Notes if such Reference Asset(s) or securities underlying the Reference Asset(s) (where such Reference Asset(s) is an equity index) are French Qualifying Securities or Synthetic French Qualifying Securities and assuming none of the French FTT exemptions provided for by Article 235 ter ZD of the French tax code apply to the relevant acquisition. If applicable, the cost of this French FTT may be deducted from the amounts payable to the Warrantholders and/or Noteholders. If physical settlement of the Notes would give rise to an acquisition of French Qualifying Securities or Synthetic French Qualifying Securities, the French FTT would apply to this acquisition (assuming none of the French FTT exemptions provided for by Article 235 ter ZD of the French tax code applies) and the corresponding cost may be charged to the Noteholders or Warrantholders (as applicable).

Italy – Italian Financial Transactions Tax

Italian financial transaction tax may apply to Notes and Warrants linked to Reference Assets that are securities issued by Italian Issuers.

A financial transaction tax has been introduced under Italian law, ("Italian FTT"), pursuant to Article 1, paragraphs 491 – 500, of Law 24 December 2012, no. 228, as implemented by Ministerial Decree issued on 21 February 2013 and amended by Ministerial Decree issued on 16 September 2013. The Italian FTT applies, *inter alia*, on cash-settled derivatives ("Italian FTT on Derivatives") executed or modified on or after 1 September 2013, both traded or not on Qualifying Markets (as defined below) and unlisted, whose underlying are mainly shares or participating financial instruments issued by Italian resident companies or the value of shares issued by Italian resident companies, including warrants and certificates. The condition is met when more than 50 per cent. of the equity portion of the underlying is represented by the market value of shares or participating financial instruments issued by Italian resident companies.

Accordingly, there is a risk that the Italian FTT on Derivatives could be triggered where the issuer of a Reference Asset relating to the Warrants and, where deemed to represent the underlying equity instruments or characterised as derivative instruments, the Notes (together with the Warrants, the "Affected")

Instruments") is an Italian resident or the issuer of a security underlying a Reference Asset is an Italian resident. The residence and nationality of the Issuer and any holder of the Affected Instrument and the place of execution of the Affected Instrument would be irrelevant as the application of the Italian FTT on Derivatives is exclusively dependent on the residence of the issuer of the underlying Reference Asset or of the securities underlying a Reference Asset (where such Reference Asset is an equity index).

The Italian FTT on Derivatives applies at a fixed amount, due from both parties equally, as follows:

- Index-Linked Affected Instruments where a security that forms part of the Reference Asset is issued by an Italian-resident company: from EUR0.01875 to EUR15, depending on the notional value of the contract;
- Equity-Linked Affected Instruments where an underlying Reference Asset is issued by an Italianresident company: from EUR0.125 to EUR100, depending on the notional value of the contract; and
- Affected Instruments linked to a basket of Reference Assets or Reference Indices: from EUR0.25 to EUR200 depending on the notional value of the contract.

The above amounts are reduced by 80 per cent. where the transaction is implemented in a regulated market or in a multilateral trading facility. An investor in the Affected Instrument is subject to the risk that payments under the Affected Instruments will be adversely affected by this Italian transaction tax as these charges will be deducted from the Cash Settlement Amount or Final Redemption Amount.

The issuance of financial instruments qualifying as transferable securities ("valori mobiliari") according to article (1)(1-bis)(c) of Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998, is exempt from Italian FTT on Derivatives. The Italian Ministry of finance clarified that, following the issuance, if a number of intermediate transfers (e.g. intermediate transfers between financial intermediaries) are required before the initial placement of the notes or warrants to the ultimate investors, said intermediate transfers are exempt from Italian FTT. However, Italian FTT will apply to the transactions following the initial placement. In the case of cash-settled transferable securities, the cash settlement of such transferable securities is a transaction outside the scope of Italian FTT on Derivatives.

Besides the Italian FTT on Derivatives, the Italian FTT also applies to transfers of certain shares and participating financial instruments issued by Italian resident companies and other instruments representing the latter ("Italian FTT on Shares"), both traded or not on Qualifying Markets (as defined below) and unlisted.

Italian FTT on Shares applies on transactions negotiated and settled as from 1 March 2013. Accordingly, there is a risk that the Italian FTT on Shares could be triggered where the Issuer and/or its affiliates purchase Reference Assets or securities underlying the Reference Assets (where such Reference Asset is an equity index) to hedge their exposure under the Affected Instruments if such securities are shares and participating financial instruments issued by Italian resident companies and other instruments representing the latter and are not exempted from the Italian FTT requirement ("**in-scope securities**"). The residence and nationality of the parties to the transaction and the place of execution of the transaction would be irrelevant as the application of the Italian FTT on Shares is exclusively dependent on the residence of the issuer of the inscope securities.

The Italian FTT on Shares would be applicable in the case in scope securities are transferred to investors in Affected Instruments upon physical settlement of the relevant Affected Instruments.

The Italian FTT on Shares is levied at the following rates, which would be due from the Issuer and/or its affiliates on acquisition of the shares:

- per cent. of the acquisition price on transfers transacted on a Qualifying Market (as defined below);
 and
- 0.2 per cent. of the acquisition price otherwise.

For the purpose of the application of the lower rate, "Qualifying Markets" are deemed to be:

- regulated markets or multilateral trading facilities pursuant to Article 4, paragraph 1, points 21 and 22 of Directive 2014/65/EU, of an EU Member State and of an EEA Member State which allows an adequate exchange of information with Italy; and
- (ii) markets recognised by the Italian regulator Consob, established in an EU Member State or a state which allows for an adequate exchange of information with Italy.

Italian FTT on Derivatives and Italian FTT on Shares are required to be levied and subsequently paid to the Italian tax authority by financial intermediaries (e.g. banks, trusts and investment companies) or other subjects involved in the execution of the transaction. Where more intermediaries are involved in the execution of the transaction, Italian FTT on Derivatives and Italian FTT on Shares is payable by the subject who receives the order of execution directly from the ultimate purchaser or counterparty. Intermediaries and other non-Italian resident subjects having no permanent establishment in Italy which are liable to collect and pay Italian FTT on Derivatives and Italian FTT on Shares to the Italian tax authority may appoint an Italian tax representative for the purposes of collecting and paying Italian FTT on Derivatives and Italian FTT on Shares. If no intermediary or other subjects are involved in the transaction, Italian FTT on Derivatives and Italian FTT on Shares is directly paid by the ultimate purchaser or counterparty.

An investor in the Notes and/or Warrants is subject to the risk that payments under the Affected Instruments will be adversely affected by the Italian FTT as these charges may be deducted from the Cash Settlement Amount or Final Redemption Amount.

People's Republic of China - China Connect

General

In respect of Notes or Warrants linked to China Connect Underlyings that are eligible securities listed and traded on any stock exchange (each a "China Connect Market") in the PRC which are acceptable to SEHK under any securities trading and clearing links programme developed by SEHK, any such China Connect Market, HKSCC and the CSDCC for the establishment of mutual market access between SEHK and any such China Connect Market ("China Connect", such securities being "China Connect Underlying" and the trading of China Connect Underlying through SEHK being "Northbound Trading"), such Notes or Warrants reflect the risks of an investment in such China Connect Underlyings by an investor (a "China Connect Investor") purchasing such China Connect Underlyings through Northbound Trading under China Connect.

If the rules and regulations relating to China Connect become subject to change in the future, the Calculation Agent may determine that a Hedging Disruption or Change in Law has occurred and redeem the Notes or terminate the Warrants at Fair Market Value. The China Connect Investor is subject to the risk that such value may be less than what the Noteholders or the Warrantholders expected. Furthermore, if a China Connect Share Disqualification or a China Connect Service Termination occurs, the Issuer may, at its sole and absolute discretion, determine to adjust certain terms of the Notes or Warrants (as applicable) or redeem the Notes or terminate the Warrants early. Noteholders or Warrantholders may suffer a loss of some or of all of their investment as a result of such adjustment or early redemption or termination (as the case may be) and will forego any future performance in the relevant China Connect Underlying that may occur following such redemption or termination.

Regulatory Requirement

Investments by China Connect Investors under Northbound Trading are subject to, amongst other things, restrictions on maximum percentage holding of the shares issued by a PRC listed company (both on a single foreign investor basis and on an aggregate foreign investor basis).

The investor in the Notes and Warrants will be subjected to the effect of equivalent restrictions and controls to those imposed on China Connect Investors. Therefore, if China Connect Investors became unable to invest directly in or alternatively hold China Connect Underlying or China Connect Investors were not allowed to sell or receive proceeds from the sale of such China Connect Underlying, the value of the Notes and Warrants may be adversely affected and, in the worst case, may become worthless.

Trading Quotas under China Connect

Although there is no longer an aggregate quota limitation, trading of China Connect Underlying through China Connect is still subject to a daily quota (the "Daily Quota"). The Daily Quota under China Connect is applicable to the whole market and limits the maximum net buy value of cross-boundary trades under China Connect each day. Daily Quota limitations may prevent China Connect Investors from purchasing China Connect Underlyings when it is otherwise advantageous to do so. In particular, once the remaining balance of the relevant Daily Quota drops to zero or the Daily Quota is exceeded, buy orders will be rejected (although the China Connect Investors will be permitted to sell their China Connect Underlyings regardless of the quota balance).

Under the SEHK rules, it will be possible to sell China Connect Underlyings through China Connect irrespective of whether there is a breach of the Daily Quota. If Northbound Trading is suspended as a result of a breach of the Daily Quota, none of the entities in the HSBC Group will be able to submit any further buy orders and any buy orders received but not yet routed to the market may be rejected or delayed until sufficient quota is available. The regulators may also announce further requirements on China Connect which may vary, amend or supplement the requirements as currently known. Any corporate action adjustment shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the terms of the Notes and Warrants, with reference to the then applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidance in relation to China Connect. Therefore, if China Connect Investors became unable to invest directly in or alternatively hold China Connect Underlying or China Connect Investors were not allowed to sell or receive proceeds from the sale of such China Connect Underlying, the value of the Notes and Warrants may be adversely affected and, in the worst case, may become worthless.

Taxation Issues

The amount of a payment to the investor under the Notes and Warrants may be decreased to take into account the effect of taxes (including financial transaction taxes, any PRC taxes, duties and similar charges, including, without limitation, any enterprise income tax, stamp duty or value-added tax) on or in connection with an investment in the Reference Assets. There is a risk that tax law or practice will change in the future resulting in the imposition of or increase in tax on an investment in, or disposition of, Reference Assets. This will result in a decrease of the amounts payable under the Notes or Warrants.

The PRC Ministry of Finance ("MOF"), the State Administration of Taxation ("SAT") and the China Securities Regulatory Commission ("CSRC") jointly released Caishui [2014] No.81 dated 31 October 2014 defining that dividends from A-share investments by investors from the Hong Kong market are not subject to the differentiation tax policies based on the shareholding period for the time being, but subject to a 10 per cent. enterprise income tax ("EIT") withholding by the listed company before Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited is able to provide details on identities and shareholding periods of investors to CSDCC from 17 November 2014. However, investors from the Hong Kong market may apply to the relevant tax authorities for tax relief in respect of dividend payments under any applicable bilateral treaties/arrangements on the avoidance of double taxation signed between the PRC and their resident jurisdictions. The same circular (Caishui [2014] No. 81) grants temporary exemption from EIT and Business Tax ("BT") for the gains arising from the sale of A-shares of a PRC company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and traded through Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect, effective 17 November 2014. It is uncertain whether or when such exemptions may expire. On 23 March 2016 the MOF and SAT jointly issued Caishui [2016] No.36 which provides detailed implementation guidance on the further rollout of the Value-Added Tax ("VAT") reform. From 1 May 2016 VAT replaced BT to cover all sectors that used to fall under the BT. Caishui [2016] No.36 grants VAT exemption on gains arising by Hong Kong market investors from trading A-shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and traded through the Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect. On 5 November 2016, MOF, SAT and CSRC jointly issued Caishui [2016] No. 127, which provides that since 5 December 2016, Hong Kong market investors are temporarily subject to EIT on dividends from the relevant A-shares of a PRC company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and traded through the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect at a rate of 10 per cent., but are temporarily exempted from EIT and VAT on the gains arising from trading such A-shares. Both circulars (Caishui [2014] No. 81 and Caishui [2016] No. 127) provide that title transfer of shares by Hong Kong market investors under China Connect because of a sale, inheritance or gift is subject to stamp duty in China. Circular Caishui [2016] No. 127 also provides that stamp duty on covered short selling is temporarily exempted, and this is applicable to Hong Kong market investors through both Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect and Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect. If any PRC taxes, duties and similar charges (including, without limitation, any EIT, stamp duty or VAT) are applicable to the trading of Reference Assets, it may

result in a Hedging Disruption or an Increased Cost of Hedging and the Issuer will determine whether to terminate the Notes or Warrants. If the Issuer determines to terminate the Notes or Warrants, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustments as it determines to be appropriate to the terms of the Notes or Warrants. This may result in a lower payment by the Issuer to the Noteholders or Warrantholders.

(3) Risks relating to the Notes

General

An investment in the Notes is speculative and entails substantial risks. Noteholders should understand that in some instances they could suffer a partial or complete loss of their investment subject, if applicable, to any minimum redemption amount specified in the relevant Final Terms. In the case of Notes linked to a Reference Asset or Reference Assets, any investment return on a Note determined by reference to changes in the level and/or the value of the Reference Asset(s), is subject to fluctuation and may be less than would be received by investing in a conventional debt instrument. Changes in the level and/or the value of the Reference Asset(s) cannot be predicted. If so provided in the relevant Final Terms, the Notes may be subject to early redemption by reference to changes in the level and/or the value of the Reference Asset(s). On redemption, the Notes may be redeemed in such manner as the Final Terms provides or, in certain circumstances, may be exchanged for other securities.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of Notes issued at a substantial discount to or premium above their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the Notes, the greater the price volatility.

Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity

In the event that the Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Tranche of Notes due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of tax imposed by the United Kingdom, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Conditions of the Notes. If specified in the relevant Final Terms, the amount payable by the Issuer in such circumstances may be less than the amount invested in the Notes or what would have been received under the Notes if the Notes had not been so redeemed and investors will forego any further interest payments (if any) in respect of the Notes. The Noteholders may not benefit from any appreciation in value or level of the Reference Asset(s) that may occur following such redemption.

Notes with multiple denominations

Where the Notes are specified as having a denomination consisting of a minimum denomination plus a higher integral multiple of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Notes may be traded in the clearing systems in amounts in excess of such minimum denomination that are not integral multiples of the minimum denomination. In such a case, should Definitive Notes be required to be issued, Noteholders who, as result of trading such amounts, hold a principal amount that is less than the minimum denomination may not receive a Definitive Note in respect of such holdings and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that their holding amounts to, or is an integral multiple of, the minimum denomination.

Early Redemption upon the occurrence of an Event of Default

If the Calculation Agent determines that the Notes have become immediately due and payable following an Event of Default (as defined in the Conditions) with respect to the Notes such Notes may be redeemed early against payment of the Early Redemption Amount. The Final Terms may specify the Early Redemption Amount as being the Fair Market Value of such Note immediately prior to such redemption. The Fair Market Value of a Note will be adjusted to account fully for any reasonable expenses and costs incurred by the Issuer and/or its designated affiliates in connection with the Issuer's obligations under the Notes or any related hedging and/or funding arrangements as a result of such events. Noteholders may suffer a loss of some or all of their investment as a result of such early redemption and will forego any future performance in the relevant Reference Asset and future interest payments applicable to such Notes (if any).

Meetings of Noteholders

Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority, so investors in the Notes are subject to the risk that the Conditions may be modified without their consent.

Specific risks relating to Fixed Rate Notes

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Investors will not benefit from any increases in market interest rates above the fixed rate payable in respect of the relevant Notes.

Specific risks relating to Floating Rate Notes

Variable Returns

Floating Rate Notes have returns that are variable as a result of the method by which the interest is calculated. The rate of interest is not fixed and is tied to the performance of an underlying benchmark and, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, may be subject to a maximum rate or minimum rate on the interest payable. The rate of interest can periodically go down and therefore return on the Notes is not guaranteed and may in a worst case become zero (or, if a minimum rate of interest is specified, the minimum rate of interest). Investors should be aware that in respect of Floating Rate Notes which are subject to a maximum interest rate investors will not benefit from any increases of the underlying benchmark above such maximum interest rate.

The market continues to develop in relation to risk-free rates which may be reference rates for Floating Rate Notes

To avoid the problems associated with the potential manipulation and financial stability risks of interbank offered rates ("IBORs"), regulatory authorities in a number of key jurisdictions are requiring financial markets to transition away from IBORs to near risk-free rates which exclude the risk-element of interbank lending. Risk-free rates may differ from IBORs in a number of material respects. In particular, in the majority of relevant jurisdictions, the chosen risk-free rate is an overnight rate (for example, the Sterling Overnight Index Average as the Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA"), in respect of GBP, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") in respect of USD, and the euro short-term rate ("ESTR") in respect of EUR), with the interest rate for a relevant period calculated on a backward looking (compounded or simple weighted average) basis, rather than on the basis of a forward-looking term. As such, investors should be aware that risk-free rates may behave materially differently from LIBOR, EURIBOR and other IBORs as interest reference rates for the Notes.

Investors should also be aware that the market continues to develop in relation to risk-free rates such as SONIA, SOFR and €STR as reference rates in the capital markets. In particular, market participants and relevant working groups are exploring alternative reference rates based on SONIA, SOFR and €STR which seek to measure the market's forward expectation of such rates over a designated term.

The market or a significant part thereof (including the Issuer) may adopt an application of SONIA, SOFR, €STR and/or any other risk-free rate that differs significantly from that set out in the Conditions (including in relation to fallbacks in the event that such rates are discontinued or fundamentally altered) and used in relation to Floating Rate Notes referencing risk-free rates such as SONIA, SOFR and/or €STR issued under this Programme.

Since risk-free rates are relatively new in the market, Notes linked to such rates may have no established trading market when issued, and an established trading market may never develop or may not be very liquid. Market terms for debt securities linked to SONIA, SOFR, €STR and/or any other risk-free rate, such as the spread over the rate reflected in interest rate provisions, may evolve over time, and trading prices of the Notes linked to SONIA, SOFR, €STR and/or any other risk-free rate may be lower than those of laterissued debt securities linked to the same rate as a result.

Historical levels are not an indication of future levels

Hypothetical or historical performance data and trends are not indicative of, and have no bearing on, the potential performance of risk-free rates and therefore you should not rely on any such data or trends as an indicator of future performance. Daily changes in risk-free rates have, on occasion, been more volatile than daily changes in comparable benchmark or market rates. As a result, the return on and value of debt securities linked to risk-free rates may fluctuate more than floating rate securities that are linked to less volatile rates. The future performance of any risk-free rate is impossible to predict, and therefore no future performance of any risk-free rate should be inferred from any hypothetical or historical data or trends.

Calculation of Interest Rates based on risk-free rates are only capable of being determined at the end of the relevant Interest Period

Interest on Notes which reference risk-free rates such as SONIA, SOFR or €STR is only capable of being determined at the end of the relevant Interest Period and immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes that reference such rates to reliably estimate the amount of interest that will be payable on such Notes. Further, if the Notes become due and payable under Condition 11 (*Event of Default*), the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes shall be determined on the date the Notes became due and payable and shall not be reset thereafter.

In addition, the manner of adoption or application of SONIA, SOFR, €STR and/or any other risk-free rate in the structured products markets may differ materially compared with the application and adoption of the such rate in other markets, such as the Eurobond, derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of such rates across these markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of any Notes referencing risk-free rates. Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any such Notes.

The Issuer has no control over the determination, calculation or publication of risk-free rates

The Issuer has no control over the determination, calculation or publication SONIA, SOFR, €STR and/or any other risk-free rate. There can be no guarantee that such rates will not be fundamentally altered in a manner that is materially adverse to the interests of investors in Floating Rate Notes linked to the relevant rate. If the manner in which the relevant risk-free rate is calculated is changed, that change may result in a reduction of the amount of interest payable on such Notes and the trading prices of such Notes.

Risk-Free rates may cease to be available

There can be no guarantee that SONIA, SOFR, €STR and/or any other risk-free rate will not cease to be published, be discontinued and/or be otherwise unavailable for use by the Issuer.

In relation to a risk-free rate other than SOFR, a discontinuation (or certain other events which may affect the Reference Rate) may constitute a Benchmark Trigger Event (as further described above in the risk factor entitled "A Benchmark Trigger Event could occur in relation to the Notes or Warrants").

In relation to SOFR, a discontinuation (or certain other events including the prohibition of use of SOFR as a Reference Rate) may result in the rate applicable to the Notes being replaced with a successor or equivalent rate selected or recommended by the relevant governmental body, an overnight funding rate or a rate determined by reference to ISDA provisions relating to SOFR. These alternative rates are uncertain and no market convention currently exists, or may ever exist, for their determination. Further, in such circumstances the Issuer (in consultation with its designee) may, without the consent of Noteholders be entitled to make conforming changes to the Conditions relating to the calculation and determination of interest to give effect to such replacement rate in a manner that may be materially adverse to the interests of investors in Floating Rate Notes linked to SOFR. If it is not possible to determine a successor or equivalent rate, the floating interest rate on the Floating Rate Notes may accrue at the same rate as the immediately preceding Interest Period (or, in the case of the initial Interest Period, the Initial Interest Rate), effectively converting the Floating Rate Notes (during the Interest Period) into fixed rate instruments.

Specific risks relating to Zero Coupon Notes

If the Notes are Zero Coupon Notes, the Issuer will not make any interest payments with respect to the Notes.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature allowing the Issuer to redeem the Notes prior to their maturity is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This may also be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time. As a result of the exercise of a call right by the Issuer, investors will forego any further interest payments (if any) in respect of the Notes and, if so specified in the Final Terms, investors may receive less than their invested amount.

Where Notes of any Series qualify in whole or in part towards the Issuer's minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities ("MREL"), and if such Notes are redeemable prior to maturity at the Issuer's option, pursuant to the Statement of Policy of the Bank of England set out in "The Bank of England's approach to setting a minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL)" dated June 2018 the Issuer may not, unless the Bank of England has approved such optional early redemption, exercise its option to redeem such Notes prior to maturity if, prior to such optional early redemption, the Issuer is, or following such optional early redemption the Issuer would be, in breach of its minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities. Further, under Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and amending regulation (EU) No 648/2012 (as amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time, the "CRR"), the Issuer will be required to obtain the prior permission of the Prudential Regulatory Authority (for capital instruments) or the Bank of England (for non-capital eligible liabilities) to effect the call, redemption, repayment or repurchase of any Notes which count towards the Issuer's MREL prior to their scheduled maturity.

An investment in the Notes is subject to reinvestment risk

If the Notes are subject to an early redemption prior to their stated maturity date, there is no guarantee that investors will be able to reinvest the proceeds from the Notes at a comparable return for a similar level of risk.

Effect of interest rates on the Notes

Investors in Notes are exposed to the risk that subsequent changes in interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Notes. Investments in the Notes may involve interest rate risk with respect to the currency of denomination of the Notes. A variety of factors influence interest rates such as macro economic, governmental, speculative and market sentiment factors. Such fluctuations may have an impact on the value of the Notes.

Capped Return

The terms and conditions of Notes and/or Warrants in relation to which the return is determined by reference to one or more Reference Assets may provide that the return payable on the Notes or Warrants is subject to a cap. In these circumstances, the exposure to the performance of the relevant Reference Asset(s) may be limited and accordingly, investors could forgo a return that could have been made had they invested in a product without a similar cap.

Further and other issues of Notes

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders to create and issue further notes to be consolidated with and form a single series with the outstanding Notes. In addition, the Issuer may issue other notes and/or other instruments, the value of which is linked to one or more of the Reference Assets. Any such issue of further notes may have an adverse effect on the value of Notes.

(4) Risks relating to the Warrants

Certain factors affecting the value and trading price of Warrants

The Cash Settlement Amount at any time prior to expiration is typically expected to be less than the trading price of such Warrants at that time. Any difference between the trading price and the Cash Settlement Amount will reflect, among other things, a "time value" for the Warrants. The "time value" of the Warrants will depend partly upon the length of the period remaining to expiration and expectations concerning the value or level of the Reference Asset(s) to which the Warrant relates. Warrants offer hedging and investment diversification opportunities but also pose some additional risks with regard to interim value. The interim value of the Warrants varies with the price, value and/or level of the Reference Asset(s) as well as by a number of other interrelated factors, including those specified herein.

Before acquiring, exercising or selling Warrants, investors should carefully consider, among other things, (i) the trading price of the Warrants, (ii) the value and volatility of the Reference Asset(s), (iii) the time remaining to expiration, (iv) any change(s) in interim interest rates and dividend yields, (v) any change(s) in currency exchange rates, (vi) the depth of the market or liquidity of the Reference Asset(s) and (vii) any related transaction costs.

As a result of these factors the price at which a Warrantholder may be able to sell the Warrants prior to expiry may be less than the initial amount invested in the Warrants. Investors should also note that each of these factors interrelate in complex ways (for example, one factor may offset an increase in the trading value of the Warrants caused by another factor).

Time lag after exercise

Unless otherwise specified in the Final Terms, in the case of any exercise of Warrants, there will be a time lag between the time a Warrantholder gives instructions to exercise and the time the applicable Cash Settlement Amount relating to such exercise is determined. Any such delay between the time of exercise and the determination of the Cash Settlement Amount will be specified in the applicable Final Terms or Conditions of the Warrants. However, such delay could be significantly longer, particularly in the case of a delay in the exercise of Warrants arising from any daily maximum exercise limitation, or following the imposition of any exchange controls, other similar regulations affecting the ability to obtain or exchange any relevant currency (or basket of currencies) on the Valuation Date. The price of the relevant Reference Asset(s) may change significantly during any such period and such movement or movements could decrease the Cash Settlement Amount in respect of the Warrants being exercised and may result in the Cash Settlement Amount being zero.

The time remaining to the expiration of Warrants

As the time remaining to the expiration of the Warrants decreases, the trading value of a Warrant is expected to decrease.

(5) Risks relating to Emerging Markets

Notes and Warrants issued may relate to Reference Assets which are located in an emerging market and/or may be denominated and/or settled in an emerging market currency. Investors in such Notes or Warrants should be aware that these markets are subject to greater risks than well-developed markets. The value or level of the Reference Asset(s) which are linked to an emerging market country and/or exchange rates in relation to the emerging market currency in which the Notes or Warrants are denominated and/or to be settled may therefore be volatile and investment in such Notes and Warrants will involve additional risks and special considerations not typically associated with investing in Notes or Warrants which are linked to other more established economies.

The Issuer considers the following risks to be material:

(a) Settlement procedures

Many emerging market countries have only recently developed organised securities markets, and the institutions on which they depend, with the result that the procedures for settlements, clearing and registration of securities transactions can give rise to technical and practical problems. In addition, since most emerging markets have civil law systems, which do not recognise a distinction

between legal and beneficial ownership, it is not usually possible to use nominees (which may affect how interests in the Reference Asset(s) are held) and the provision of custody services is a relatively novel practice in most emerging markets, and the controls put in place in more mature markets may not be available. Inefficient systems may result in delayed payments on the Reference Asset(s), which may in turn delay payments under the Notes or Warrants.

(b) Exchange controls and repatriation of profits

Certain emerging market countries may operate exchange controls affecting the transfer of money in and out of the country and the convertibility of the local currency. Some countries also impose restrictions on the ability of foreign investors to repatriate profits or the proceeds of sale of their investments without an official permit. In some cases the currency is non-convertible although many currencies are "semi-convertible". An investor in the Notes or Warrants where the underlying Reference Asset(s) are linked to an emerging market country or in Notes or Warrants which are denominated and/or settling in an emerging market currency are subject to the risk that, if such emerging market currency ceases to be convertible into the Settlement Currency or becomes only semi-convertible, then the Notes or Warrants may return less on exercise or expiry or maturity (respectively) than the amount invested or nothing. This includes circumstances where "Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms and the Issuer elects to settle the Notes or Warrants (as applicable) in the Alternative Payment Currency, as the disruption to convertibility may affect the exchange rate at which the Settlement Currency may be converted into the such Alternative Payment Currency.

Moreover the value of investments in the underlying Reference Asset(s) can fluctuate significantly due to volatile exchange rates and high inflation. Emerging markets may experience higher volatility in their foreign exchange rate movements than other countries, and changes in the foreign exchange rates may have a negative impact on issuers of Reference Asset(s) whose businesses are heavily reliant on exports and, as a consequence, the general economic conditions in emerging market countries which are heavily reliant on exports. The risk for an investor in the Notes or Warrants is that the price of the Note or Warrant might be more volatile (as the amounts payable under the Note or Warrant are linked to the value of the Reference Asset) or that issuers of the underlying Reference Assets or constituent securities of a Reference Asset will not perform at an expected level, which may cause payments due under the Notes or Warrants to be lower than expected.

(c) Disclosure and information

The level of disclosure of information relating to a company's business and ownership to shareholders, and to the stock exchange on which its shares are listed, is much less extensive in most emerging markets than in more sophisticated markets. Although many emerging markets now have insider dealing laws, it cannot be assumed that the regulatory authorities have both the ability and the will to enforce the legislation rigorously. Similarly, although money laundering regulations have been introduced in some jurisdictions, their practical effect has yet to be assessed.

Accordingly, an investor in Notes or Warrants linked to an emerging market country are subject to the risk that information available on the Reference Assets which might form the basis of its investment decision in respect of the Notes or Warrants may be of poorer quality than that available on Reference Assets linked to well-developed markets and investors may not receive relevant information relating to the Reference Assets at the same time as other market participants, which may cause price volatility and the market price of the Notes or Warrants may drop at a later point in time once all relevant information becomes available.

(d) Market liquidity and volatility

The stock exchanges of emerging market countries are generally much smaller (in terms of market capitalisation, turnover, and number of stocks traded) and are still in a premature stage when compared to the well-developed markets. The likelihood of exchange or market disruption e.g. temporary exchange closures, broker defaults, settlement delays and broker strikes and disputes among listed companies, the stock exchanges and other regulatory bodies, could be higher than the well-developed markets. These disruptions could have an adverse effect on the overall market sentiment and on the value of the Reference Asset(s). The capital market of emerging market

countries could be heavily influenced by government policies and a limited number of major stakeholders. The governing bodies could from time to time impose restrictions on trading in certain securities, limitations on price movements and margin requirements. Such events in turn may affect overall market sentiment and lead to fluctuations in the market prices of the Reference Asset(s), thus adversely affecting the value of the Notes or Warrants.

Therefore, there is a risk that the trading price of such Notes or Warrants may be more volatile and that the value of the underlying Reference Asset(s) may be adversely affected (following which, amounts payable under the Notes or Warrants would be adversely affected as a consequence).

(e) Accounting standards

In some emerging market countries, accounting standards and practices vary significantly from internationally accepted standards. It is therefore difficult in such jurisdictions to obtain reliable historic financial information on Reference Asset(s) which may underlie the Notes or Warrants even where accountancy laws have been reformed to bring them into line with international standards (a problem which hyper-inflation has exacerbated in some markets). Great care must therefore be taken to assess asset and business valuations. Entities in emerging market countries may not generally be subject to uniform accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards and auditing practices and requirements may not be comparable to those applicable to obligors located in developed countries.

(f) Political risks

The pace of political and social change will be more rapid than in well-developed markets. This is a common feature of emerging market countries and is often related to the transition from a centrally planned economy to a modern market economy. Far-reaching legal and political reforms have inevitably resulted in new constitutional and social tensions, and the possibility of continuing instability and even a reaction against market reforms cannot be discounted. Such instability may discourage investors from investing in the particular emerging market, which could reduce the market value of the underlying Reference Asset(s) and/or adversely impact exchange rates in relation to the relevant emerging market currency and therefore reduce the market value of the Notes or Warrants and any amounts payable thereunder.

The unique political and diplomatic status of each emerging market relative to other countries may also make the equities and debt markets in such emerging markets more volatile and more price sensitive to global or regional economic and political developments than other markets. Such increased price volatility could lead to the Notes' or Warrants' trading price (during the life of the Notes or Warrants) or the relevant amount payable thereunder being lower than expected.

There is a particular risk that policies in emerging markets encouraging foreign investment may be abandoned or reversed. Restrictions imposed on foreign investment or restrictions which concern the repatriation of capital invested in emerging markets may increase the transaction costs payable by the Issuer and/or its affiliates which, as such costs are passed to the investor, may thereby decrease the payments due under the Notes or Warrants, or entitle the Issuer to terminate the Notes or Warrants early. On a political level, such restrictions could lead to renationalisation of privatised industries and expropriation of private property without compensation which may have a negative effect on the financial position of the issuers of the Reference Asset(s).

(g) Economic risks

The economies of individual emerging market countries may differ favourably or unfavourably from the economies of developed countries in such respects as growth of gross domestic product, rate of inflation, volatility of currency exchange rates, depreciation, capital reinvestment, resource self sufficiency and the balance of payments position. In the past, a number of emerging market countries' markets have experienced significant adverse economic developments, including substantial depreciation in currency exchange rates against major currencies, increased interest rates and inflation, reduced economic growth rates, increases in foreign currency debts, corporate bankruptcies, declines in market values of listed shares and government imposed austerity measures. All of these economic factors may adversely affect the value and performance of Reference Asset(s) and therefore the value of the Notes or Warrants.

(h) Restrictions and controls

Notes and Warrants may be subject to risk that restrictions and controls on the Reference Asset(s) are imposed by governments, governmental or regulatory bodies, regulators or exchanges of emerging markets jurisdictions. As a result of such restrictions and controls, potential delays might occur in respect of payments due under the Notes or Warrants linked to such Reference Asset(s) or even that funds may not be payable under the Notes or Warrants on settlement following the exercise, sale, redemption or termination of the Notes or Warrants. Also, taxes and charges levied in respect of buying and selling equity or debt securities relating to such restrictions and controls may be deducted from amounts payable under the Notes or Warrants.

(i) Legal and Regulatory framework

The sophisticated legal and regulatory systems necessary for the proper and efficient functioning of modern capital markets may yet to have been developed in some emerging market countries. A high degree of legal uncertainty may therefore exist as to the nature and extent of investors rights and the ability to enforce those rights in the courts. Many advanced legal concepts which now form significant elements of mature legal systems are not yet in place or if they are in place, have yet to be tested in the courts. It is difficult to predict with any degree of certainty the outcome of judicial proceedings (often because the judges themselves have little or no experience of complex business transactions), or even the quantum of damages which may be awarded following a successful claim. It may also be difficult to obtain and enforce a judgment relating to emerging markets debt in the jurisdiction in which the majority of the assets of an obligor is located.

Specific risks relating to Notes and Warrants settling in emerging markets currencies

Notes and Warrants issued may be denominated and/or settle in an emerging market currency. Investors in such Notes and Warrants should be aware that these markets are subject to greater risks than well developed markets. Investment in the Notes and Warrants will involve additional risks and special considerations not typically associated with investing in Notes and Warrants which are settled in more conventional currencies such as Euro or U.S. dollar.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations

The rapid pace of political and social change in emerging market countries increases the likelihood that currency exchange risks will eventuate where the Settlement Currency is linked to an emerging market country. Currency exchange risks are described in detail above in the section entitled "Risks relating to all issues of Notes and Warrants – Exchange rate risks and exchange control risks".

Specific risks relating to Notes and Warrants linked to Reference Asset(s) denominated in Offshore RMB and traded outside the PRC and Notes and Warrants settled in Offshore RMB outside the PRC

Notes and Warrants linked to Reference Asset(s) denominated in Offshore RMB and traded outside the PRC and Notes and Warrants settled in Offshore RMB outside the PRC may be issued under the Programme. For the purpose of those Notes and Warrants and where the context requires, "Offshore RMB" shall refer to Chinese RMB that is freely deliverable between accounts in the relevant Offshore RMB Centre as specified in the relevant Final Terms in accordance with the law and applicable regulations and guidelines issued by the relevant authorities in the relevant Offshore RMB Centre as specified in the relevant Final Terms prevailing as of the Trade Date of the Notes and Warrants. Set out below is a description of some of the risks that should be taken into consideration by prospective investors in such Notes and Warrants.

(a) RMB is not freely convertible; Restrictions on RMB conversion through relevant Offshore RMB Centres (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) may adversely affect the liquidity of the Notes and Warrants

Renminbi is not freely convertible at present. The government of the PRC (the "PRC Government") continues to regulate conversion between Renminbi and foreign currencies, including the Hong Kong dollar. However, there has been a significant reduction in control by the PRC Government in recent years, particularly over trade transactions involving the import and export of goods and services as well as other frequent routine foreign exchange transactions. These transactions are known as current account items.

On the other hand, remittance of Renminbi into and out of the PRC for the purposes of capital account items, such as capital contributions, debt financing and securities investment, is generally only permitted upon obtaining specific approvals from, or completing specific registrations or filings with, the relevant authorities on a case-by-case basis and is subject to a strict monitoring system. Regulations in the PRC on the remittance of Renminbi into and out of the PRC for settlement of capital account items are developing gradually.

Although Renminbi was added to the Special Drawing Rights basket created by the International Monetary Fund in 2016 and policies further improving accessibility to Renminbi to settle crossborder transactions were implemented by the People's Bank of China ("PBoC") in 2018, there is no assurance that the PRC Government will continue to liberalise control over cross-border remittance of Renminbi in the future, that the schemes for Renminbi cross-border utilisation will not be discontinued or that new regulations in the PRC will not be promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi into or out of the PRC. Despite the Renminbi internationalisation programme and efforts in recent years to internationalise the currency, there can be no assurance that the PRC Government will not impose interim or long-term restrictions on the cross-border remittance of Renminbi. In the event that funds cannot be repatriated out of the PRC in Renminbi, this may affect the overall availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may negatively impact on the liquidity of the Notes and Warrants and thus the value of the Notes and Warrants. In addition, if Renminbi outside the PRC is unavailable, this will impact on the ability of the Issuer to source Renminbi to perform its obligations under Notes and Warrants denominated in Renminbi.

(b) *RMB interest rate risk*

The PRC Government has gradually liberalised its regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further liberalisation may increase interest rate volatility and, as a result, the value of the Notes and Warrants may fluctuate as well. In addition, the interest rate for Renminbi in markets outside the PRC may significantly deviate from the interest rate for Renminbi in the PRC as a result of foreign exchange controls imposed by PRC law and regulations and prevailing market conditions.

Renminbi-denominated Notes may carry a fixed interest rate ("**Fixed Rate Notes**") or have a resettable interest rate ("**Resettable Notes**"). Consequently, the trading price of Renminbi-denominated Notes which are Fixed Rate Notes or Resettable Notes will vary with the fluctuations in the Renminbi interest rates. If holders of such Renminbi-denominated Notes propose to sell their Renminbi-denominated Notes before their maturity, they may receive an offer lower than the amount they have invested.

(c) RMB exchange rate risk

Offshore RMB represents a market which is different from that of RMB deliverable in the PRC. The exchange rate of Offshore RMB against the U.S. dollar, Hong Kong dollar or other foreign currencies may be different from the exchange rate of RMB deliverable in the PRC against such currencies. Apart from its own supply and demand, the Offshore RMB exchange rate may be influenced by the onshore exchange rate (which currently trades within a band set by authorities in the onshore interbank market), and the two rates may converge with or diverge from each other.

The value of Renminbi against other foreign currencies is susceptible to PRC internal and external factors. In 2015, the PBoC implemented changes to the way it calculates the Renminbi's daily mid-point against the U.S. dollar to take into account market-maker quotes before announcing such daily mid-point. This change, and others that may be implemented, may increase the volatility in the value of the Renminbi against foreign currencies. All payments will be made in Renminbi with respect to Renminbi Notes and Warrants unless otherwise specified. As a result, the value of these Renminbi payments may vary with the changes in the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of Offshore RMB depreciates against the U.S. dollar, Hong Kong dollar or other foreign currencies, the value of a Noteholder's or Warrantholder's investment in U.S. dollar, Hong Kong dollar or other applicable foreign currency terms will decline.

(d) RMB payment risk

If the Settlement Currency for the Notes or Warrants is Offshore RMB and "Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, an investor is subject to the risk that payments in respect of such Notes or Warrants will be made in the Alternative Payment Currency specified in the relevant Final Terms instead of Offshore RMB. To the extent the Issuer is not able, or it is impracticable for it, to satisfy its obligation to pay the Final Redemption Amount and/or Cash Settlement Amount (as applicable) and/or any other amounts due as a result of Offshore RMB Disruption (as defined in the Conditions), the Issuer will be entitled to settle any such payment in the Alternative Payment Currency specified in the relevant Final Terms on the due date at the Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent (as defined in the Conditions) of any such Final Redemption Amount and/or Cash Settlement Amount (as applicable) and/or any other amounts due. In this case, the risk factors in the section entitled "(2) Risks relating to all issues of Notes and Warrants – Exchange rate risks and exchange control risks" would apply as if the relevant Alternative Payment Currency were the Settlement Currency.

(e) Payments with respect to the Notes and Warrants may be made only in the manner through Renminbi bank accounts maintained at banks in the relevant Offshore RMB Centre.

Investors in the Notes and Warrants should be aware that all Offshore RMB payments under the Notes and Warrants will be made solely by credit to Renminbi bank accounts maintained at banks in the relevant Offshore RMB Centre as specified in the relevant Final Terms in accordance with the law and applicable regulations and guidelines issued by the relevant authorities in the relevant Offshore RMB Centre as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(6) Risks relating to Equity/Index-Linked Notes and Warrants

No investigation has been made of the financial condition or creditworthiness of any issuer of any Reference Asset(s)

No investigation has been made of the financial condition or creditworthiness of any issuer of any Reference Asset(s) in connection with the issue of any Equity/Index-Linked Notes or Warrants. Investors in the Equity/Index-Linked Notes or Warrants should obtain and evaluate the same information concerning the Reference Asset(s) and each such issuer as they would if they were investing directly in the Reference Asset(s). In addition, investors should understand that the historical performance of the Reference Asset(s) should not be viewed as predictive of future results.

Actions or omissions of the issuer of the securities, the sponsor of an index or other

In certain circumstances, the actions or omissions of the issuer of securities to which the Equity/Index-Linked Notes or Warrants relate or for which the Equity/Index-Linked Notes or Warrants are exchangeable, the sponsor of an index to which Equity/Index-Linked Notes or Warrants are linked or others outside the control of the Issuer, may adversely affect the rights of the Noteholders or Warrantholders (as applicable) and/or the value of the Equity/Index-Linked Notes or Warrants, including actions that may give rise to an adjustment to, or early redemption or termination (as applicable) of, the Equity/Index-Linked Notes or Warrants.

Market Disruption Events

Investors in the Equity/Index-Linked Notes and Warrants are subject to the risk that a Market Disruption Event will occur in relation to a Reference Asset. A Market Disruption Event may occur in respect of Notes and Warrants if, as determined by the Calculation Agent: a related stock exchange closes early without notice; limitations are imposed on trading; trading is suspended; or market participants are prevented from obtaining valuations or effecting transactions, and, in relation to a China Connect Underlying, in the case of early closure of the relevant exchange (the "China Connect Market"), disruption of such exchange or suspension of trading on such exchange including the early closure or disruption of the securities trading and clearing links programme developed or to be developed by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "SEHK"), the China Connect Market, the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited and the China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation for the establishment of mutual market access with SEHK and the China Connect Exchange.

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Market Disruption Event has occurred, then this will result in the occurrence of a Disrupted Day in relation to the relevant Reference Asset, the consequences of which are discussed in the immediately following paragraphs.

Disrupted Day

Investors in the Equity/Index Linked Notes and Warrants are subject to the risk that a Disrupted Day may occur in relation to a Reference Asset. A Disrupted Day may occur in respect of Notes and Warrants if, as determined by the Calculation Agent: a stock exchange or related stock exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session, or, in relation to China Connect Underlying, on which the China Connect Service fails to open for order routing during its regular order-routing session; or on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred; or if an index sponsor fails to publish the level of an index.

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Disrupted Day has occurred, the Calculation Agent may postpone the Valuation Date to a later date which is not a Disrupted Day, **provided that** the Valuation Date will not be postponed beyond the eighth consecutive Scheduled Trading Day (or such other number of Scheduled Trading Days as may be specified in the Final Terms) after the Scheduled Valuation Date (the "**Limit Valuation Date**"). If the Calculation Agent postpones the Valuation Date the due dates for any payments or delivery in respect of the Notes or Warrants (including, without limitation, the maturity date, settlement date or cash settlement payment date) may also be postponed. Any such postponement may have an adverse effect on the value of such Notes or Warrants.

Additional Disruption Events

Investors should note that Additional Disruption Events may occur in relation to the relevant Notes and Warrants in certain circumstances described in the Conditions. If any Additional Disruption Event occurs in relation to the relevant Notes and Warrants, the Issuer may (and in the case of Alternative General Conditions Notes, only if the Issuer determines that the continuation of the Notes is impossible or would result in a significant alteration of the economic balance of the Notes compared to that which existed at Issue Date) declare a valuation date and designate an early redemption date in respect of the Notes or an exercise date in respect of the Warrants (as applicable) and the Noteholders or Warrantholders will receive an early redemption amount or termination amount (as applicable) based on the determinations made by the Calculation Agent.

The following Additional Disruption Events may be specified to be applicable in the relevant Final Terms:

- "Change in Law" may occur where the Issuer determines that (a)(i) (in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes) it will or has become illegal for it to hedge its obligations under the Notes or (as the case may be) Warrants or (ii) (in the case of Alternative General Conditions Notes) it will or has become illegal for the Issuer to issue, have outstanding and perform its obligations with respect to the Notes or (b) the Issuer (in the case of Alternative General Conditions Notes) or the Issuer or its designated affiliates (in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes) would incur materially increased costs in performing its obligations under the Notes or (as the case may be) Warrants, each due to a change in law;
- in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, "**Hedging Disruption**" may occur if the Issuer or its affiliates become unable to hedge or would suffer material delay in conducting any hedging transactions relating to the Notes and Warrants;
- in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, "Increased Cost of Hedging" may occur where the Issuer would incur a materially increased cost, other than as a consequence of deterioration in its own creditworthiness, in hedging its obligations under the Notes and Warrants:
- "Failure to Deliver" may occur upon the failure of a party to deliver, when due, the relevant Reference Asset(s) in respect of the Notes, where such failure is due to illiquidity in the market for such Reference Asset(s);
- "Insolvency Filing" may occur if the issuer of the Reference Asset(s) institutes or has instituted against it by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative

or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, or it consents to a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official or it consents to such petition, **provided that** proceedings instituted or petitions presented by creditors and not consented to by the issuer of the Reference Asset(s) shall not be deemed an Insolvency Filing;

- in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, "China Connect Share Disqualification" may occur where the Underlying Securities cease to be accepted as "China Connect Securities" (as defined in the rules of SEHK) for the purpose of the China Connect Service; and
- in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, "China Connect Service Termination" may occur where one or more of the China Connect Market, SEHK, the China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation, Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited or any regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction permanently suspends or terminates the China Connect Service or a part thereof for any reason which materially affects the routing of orders in respect of, or holding of, the Underlying Securities through the China Connect Service.

Upon the occurrence of such an early redemption prior to the originally scheduled maturity date of the relevant Notes or of an exercise date prior to the originally scheduled exercise dates or expiry dates of the relevant Warrants, Noteholders may suffer a loss of some or of all of their investment and will forego any future performance in the relevant Reference Asset that may occur following such redemption or termination.

U.S. withholding tax may apply to Notes or Warrants linked to Reference Asset(s) that are securities issued by U.S. issuers

Where Notes or Warrants are linked to Reference Asset(s) and some or all of the Reference Asset(s) are securities of U.S. issuers, certain payments on the Notes or Warrants could be subject to U.S. withholding tax (up to 30 per cent., depending on the applicable treaty or other exemption). In addition, U.S. withholding tax could be imposed on holders of the Notes or Warrants to the extent U.S.-source dividends are paid on the Reference Asset(s), even if no corresponding payment is made on the Notes or Warrants to such holders.

If U.S. withholding tax is required on Notes or Warrants linked to Reference Asset(s) that are securities issued by U.S. issuers, the Issuer will not be required to pay any additional amounts with respect to the withheld amounts. See "Taxation – United States Taxation – Withholding on Dividend Equivalent Payments" below.

Provision of information

None of the Issuer or any of its affiliates is under any obligation to provide information in respect of any Reference Asset or monitor whether or not any event or circumstance in respect of such Reference Asset(s) has occurred unless it is explicitly and positively stated that such person will do so. The Issuer may have acquired, or during the term of the Notes or Warrants may acquire, non-public information with respect to one or more Reference Assets. The Issuer is not under any obligation to make such information available to holders of such Notes or Warrants. Therefore, an investor in the Notes or Warrants should obtain and evaluate information concerning the relevant Reference Asset(s) as it would if it were investing directly in such Reference Asset.

Specific risk factors relating to Index-Linked Notes and Warrants

Successor Index, Index Modification, Index Cancellation

In certain circumstances, certain adjustments may be made to the index or indices to which Notes or Warrants are linked (each a "**Reference Index**"), which may result in a loss to the Noteholders or Warrantholders. The Issuer considers the following to be material risks of adjustment:

- (i) the replacement of the relevant Reference Index by a successor index if the relevant Reference Index is not calculated or announced by the relevant Index Sponsor or is replaced by a successor index:
- (ii) the modification of the relevant Reference Index by the relevant Index Sponsor which may have a material effect on the Notes and Warrants; and
- the cancellation of the relevant Reference Index by the relevant Index Sponsor, which may result in either (A) the redemption or termination of the relevant Notes or Warrants upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Notes or Warrants immediately prior to such termination (or, in the case of Alternative General Conditions Notes, the Early Redemption Amount, but only if the Issuer determines that the continuation of the Notes is impossible or would result in a significant alteration of the economic balance of the Notes compared to that which existed at Issue Date) or (B) the continuation of the Notes and Warrants, in which case the relevant level of the Reference Index will be determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.

As a result of any such replacement, modification or cancellation, Noteholders or Warrantholders may suffer a loss of some or of all of their investment and may forego any future performance in the relevant Reference Index.

Calculation and administration of HSBC proprietary Indices / third party index sponsor

With respect to Notes or Warrants which are linked to one or more HSBC proprietary Reference Indices, investors should understand that such Reference Indices are calculated independently by a third party calculation agent (the "Third Party Calculation Agent") and administered independently by a third party index administrator (the "Third Party Administrator"). As such, HSBC Bank plc is not responsible for the calculation or administration of the HSBC proprietary Reference Indices and is not the index sponsor for the purpose of Notes or Warrants which are linked to such Reference Indices. The Third Party Administrator will act as index sponsor.

The identity of the Third Party Calculation Agent and Third Party Administrator for each HSBC proprietary Reference Index is specified in the index rules thereof and such entities may, respectively, make determinations of the level of the HSBC proprietary Reference Indices, and of any adjustments that need to be made to the HSBC proprietary Reference Indices, without considering the interests of investors in the Notes or Warrants.

The Third Party Administrator, acting as index sponsor, does not act as fiduciary for or an adviser to the Warrantholder or Noteholder in respect of any determination or judgement or otherwise. The Third Party Administrator may have economic interests adverse to those of the Warrantholders and Noteholders, including with respect to certain determinations and judgements that the Third Party Administrator may be required to make pursuant to the terms of the HSBC proprietary Reference Index, any of which may affect payments in respect of the Warrants or Notes. The Third Party Administrator may act in its own interests in such capacities and need not have regard to the interests of the Noteholders or Warrantholders.

HSBC Bank plc has no responsibility for the calculation of the HSBC proprietary Reference Indices, which is performed by the Third Party Calculation Agent, and does not guarantee or represent or warrant the accuracy or completeness of the HSBC proprietary Reference Indices or the data comprised therein. Furthermore, HSBC Bank plc has no responsibility in relation to the administration by the Third Party Administrator of the HSBC proprietary Reference Indices.

Details of where further information regarding HSBC proprietary Reference Indices including the index rules or summaries thereof (if available) will be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Specific risk factors relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Warrants

Extraordinary Events

There is a risk in respect of Equity-Linked Notes or Warrants that certain Extraordinary Events may occur in respect of Reference Asset(s) (such as a merger, a takeover or exchange offer, delisting, nationalisation or transfer to a governmental agency or the insolvency or bankruptcy of the issuer of the Reference Asset(s)). If such event has occurred, the Calculation Agent may take certain actions, such as adjusting certain Conditions or redeeming the Notes or terminating the Warrants.

Upon the occurrence of such an early redemption or termination of the relevant Equity/Index-Linked Notes or Warrants, the holders thereof may suffer a loss of some or all of their investment and will forego any future performance in the relevant Reference Asset(s) that may occur following such redemption or termination.

FX Rates

The value of the relevant Equity-Linked Notes or Warrants may be affected by changes in foreign exchange rates. For example, an appreciating USD relative to local currency may lower the value of the relevant Equity-Linked Notes or Warrants while a depreciating USD may increase the value of the relevant Equity-Linked Notes or Warrants.

Potential Adjustment Events

Investors in Equity-Linked Notes or Warrants are subject to the risk that certain circumstances in respect of Reference Asset(s) occur (such as a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of securities, a distribution of dividend or extraordinary dividend or any other event that may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Reference Asset(s)). If the Calculation Agent determines that such circumstances have occurred, the Calculation Agent may (but is not obliged to) make such corresponding adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, to the number of Reference Asset(s) to which each Equity-Linked Note or Warrant relates and to any other exercise, settlement, payment or other term of the relevant Equity-Linked Notes or Warrants to account for that diluting or concentrative effect, and determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s). In the case of Alternative General Conditions Notes only, such adjustment(s) must be made with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholder in substantially the same economic position as prior to the relevant Potential Adjustment Event. Such adjustments may adversely affect the value of the relevant Equity-Linked Notes or Warrants and/or any amount payable on redemption or termination of the Notes or Warrants and the holders thereof may suffer a loss of some or all of their investment as a result.

Specific risks relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Warrants where Securities are Units in an exchange-traded fund

In respect of Equity-Linked Notes and Warrants where the Reference Asset(s) are units in an exchange-traded fund, one of the following events may occur:

- (i) the relevant fund is (or is to be) wound-up or similar, or makes a restructuring arrangement with its creditors or certain insolvency proceedings or similar are commenced against the fund;
- (ii) breach by the relevant fund of any applicable leverage restriction or any contractual restriction binding on or affecting the fund or any of its assets;
- (iii) resignation, termination or replacement of the fund adviser;
- (iv) any change or modification of the fund documents that could reasonably be expected to affect the value of the Units or the rights or remedies of any holders thereof from those prevailing on the Issue Date;
- (v) any breach of any strategy or investment guidelines stated in the fund documents that is reasonably likely to affect the value of the Units or the rights or remedies of any holders thereof;

- (vi) in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, it becomes impractical or impossible for the Issuer to hedge its obligations under the Notes or Warrants, as applicable;
- (vii) cancellation, suspension or revocation of the registration or approval of the Units or the fund by any governmental, legal or regulatory entity with authority over the Units or the fund;
- (viii) any change in the legal, tax, accounting or regulatory treatments of the fund or the fund adviser that is reasonably likely to have an adverse impact on the value of the Units or on any investor therein;
- the relevant fund becoming subject to any investigation, proceeding or litigation by any relevant governmental, legal or regulatory authority involving the alleged breach of applicable law for any activities relating to or resulting from the operation of the fund;
- (x) it becomes impractical or impossible for the Calculation Agent to be able to determine the value of the units in the fund and this is likely to continue for the foreseeable future, or if there is an information failure which would make it difficult to monitor the fund:
- in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, the Calculation Agent has determined that it has become illegal to hold the units in the fund or that the Issuer would incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Notes or Warrants;
- (xii) in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes, the Issuer would incur a materially increased amount of tax on its hedge of the Notes and Warrants except for where this is solely due to a deterioration in the Issuer's creditworthiness;
- (xiii) the index underlying a fund is cancelled, or there is a material change in the formula or method of calculating the underlying index or other material modification of the relevant index, or the index sponsor fails to calculate and announce the underlying index; or
- (xiv) in the case of Alternative General Conditions Notes, the Calculation Agent determines in good faith that the Issuer will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Notes due to any change in any applicable law or regulation (including tax law) or due to the change in the interpretation of any applicable law or regulation by any court or tribunal (including a taxing authority).

Following the occurrence of such event ("Extraordinary ETF Event"), the Calculation Agent may make certain adjustments to or substitutions for the Affected Units as the Calculation Agent may determine or the Calculation Agent may determine that the relevant Notes or Warrants shall be terminated upon payment to the holders thereof of the Fair Market Value (or, in the case of Alternative General Conditions Notes, the Early Redemption Amount) of the Notes or Warrants (as applicable), each of which may result in a loss to such holders.

Tax and Currency Risk

The tax status of funds in those jurisdictions in which they conduct their business and/or any change in taxation rules or treatment in such jurisdictions could affect the value of the assets of such funds or the ability of funds to achieve their investment objectives. Consequently this could adversely affect the value of the Notes or Warrants linked to such funds. In addition, remittance of income and capital gains generated by underlying investments of funds in certain countries may be dependent on there being liquidity in the relevant local currency and the absence of foreign exchange controls which inhibit or prevent the repatriation of such gains. In any such circumstances, the value of the notional shares of funds may be adversely affected and as a result the relevant funds and the value of the Notes or Warrants may be adversely affected.

Class of Investments

Prospective purchasers or investors should note that funds may have legal or other discretions in relation to their investments and no assurance can be given that the exercise of such discretions will achieve the investment objectives of such funds. Therefore, there is a risk that return on an investment in funds may

not be achieved. This would have an adverse effect on the value of the Notes or Warrants and any amounts payable thereunder.

Investment Risk

There can be no assurance that any fund will achieve its investment objectives. The investment income of each fund is based on the income earned on the securities it holds, less expenses incurred. Therefore, the funds' investment income may be expected to fluctuate in response to changes in such expenses or income and this may have an adverse effect on the value of the Notes or Warrants and any amounts payable thereunder.

High yield

Some reference funds may invest in high yield securities. High yield securities are typically medium or lower rated securities and are sometimes referred to as "junk bonds". Such securities are more likely to react to developments affecting market and credit risk than are more highly rated securities, which primarily react to movements in the general level of interest rates. The risk of loss due to default by issuers of high yield securities is significantly greater because lower rated and unrated securities of comparable quality generally are unsecured and frequently are subordinated to the prior payment of senior indebtedness. In addition, funds which invest in such securities may find it more difficult to sell high yield securities or may be able to sell the securities only at prices lower than if such securities were widely traded. Furthermore, such funds may experience difficulty in valuing certain securities at certain times. Prices realised upon the sale of such lower rated (or unrated) securities, under these circumstances, may be less than the prices used in calculating the value of such funds. All such risks could adversely affect the value of Notes or Warrants linked to funds which invest in high yield securities.

Additional considerations/ risk factors set out in offering documents relating to funds

Investors in the Notes and/or Warrants which are linked to funds (including, but not limited to, exchange-traded funds) should note that there may be particular investment considerations and risk factors set out in the offering documentation relating to such funds and are advised to read and consider such offering documentation in making an investment decision to invest in such Notes and/or Warrants. Such information is not incorporated by reference and does not form part of this Base Prospectus.

(7) Risks relating to Interest Rate-Linked Notes and Warrants and Inflation Rate-Linked Notes and Warrants

Volatility

Interest rates and inflation rates may be volatile and unpredictable. Investors should be aware of the possibility of significant changes in interest rates and inflation rates resulting in a decrease in the value of interest payments and/or the principal payable on the Notes at redemption or Warrants at expiry or exercise. As a consequence the market value of the Notes or Warrants may also fall.

Interest income risk

In relation to certain types of Interest Rate-Linked Notes and Warrants and Inflation Rate-Linked Notes and Warrants, interest only accrues on days on which the interest related Reference Asset fixes within a predetermined range set out in the Final Terms. If the interest-related Reference Asset does not fix within such range on one or more days during the term of the Notes or Warrants, then the return on the Notes or Warrants may be lower than traditional fixed rate securities, or even zero. Holders should note that no interest accrues on days when the interest-related Reference Asset fixes outside of the range.

Specific risks relating to Inflation Rate-Linked Notes and Warrants

Where Notes or Warrants reference an inflation index, the Notes or Warrants will be exposed to the performance of such inflation index which may be subject to fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices and may not correlate with the rate of inflation experienced in the jurisdiction of the Noteholders or Warrantholders. Any payments made under the Notes or Warrants may be based on a calculation made by reference to an inflation index for a month which is several months prior to the date of payment and therefore could be substantially different from the level of inflation at the time of payment on the Notes or Warrants.

Broadly speaking, in an inflationary environment amounts payable will be adjusted up and in a deflationary environment amounts payable will be adjusted down. In a deflationary environment, the amount of interest payable (if applicable) might be lower than the fixed rate that would have been applicable before such adjustment and the redemption amount or the amount payable in respect of expiry or exercise may be reduced.

Alternative valuation following disruption events in respect of inflation indices

Upon the occurrence of certain events in relation to an inflation index, for example the level of the inflation index has not been published or the inflation index is discontinued or is rebased or materially modified – then, depending on the particular event, the Issuer or Calculation Agent may:

- determine the level of the inflation index;
- determine a successor to the original inflation index;
- make changes to the level of the rebased index; or
- make adjustments to the inflation index and/or the terms of the Notes or Warrants by reference to equivalent adjustments made in respect of the Related Bond specified in the terms and conditions of the Notes or Warrants or the Fallback Bond selected by the Calculation Agent.

Any such event or determination may have an adverse effect on the value of the Notes or Warrants.

If the inflation index is rebased or materially modified, and no action is taken in respect of the Related Bond or Fallback Bond, the Calculation Agent may make changes to the level of the rebased index or make adjustments to the inflation index and/or the terms of the Notes or Warrants. Such consequential action by the Calculation Agent may have a negative effect on the value of the Notes or Warrants.

If, on any day on which a valuation is to be made, the level of the inflation index has not been published, and no action to determine a substitute level of the inflation index has been taken in respect of the Related Bond or Fallback Bond, the Calculation Agent shall determine a substitute level of the inflation index calculated by reference to the latest published level of the inflation index, and such level may differ from the index level (if any) published or announced after the relevant valuation date. Such event may have an effect on the valuation of the Notes or Warrants and on the interest (if applicable) and/or the amounts payable in respect of redemption, expiry or exercise. If an inflation index has been discontinued and no successor index has been determined in respect of the Related Bond or Fallback Bond, but the sponsor of the inflation index has specified a replacement inflation index, the Calculation Agent may specify such replacement inflation index to be the Successor Index in respect of the Notes or Warrants. Failing that, the Calculation Agent will determine an appropriate alternative index, and such index will be deemed a "Successor Index". Such events may have an effect on the valuation of the Notes or Warrants and on the interest (if applicable) and/or the amounts payable in respect of redemption, expiry or exercise.

Early redemption or termination of the Notes or Warrants and reinvestment risk following such early redemption or termination

If the Calculation Agent determines that an inflation index has been discontinued and there is no appropriate alternative successor index, the Calculation Agent may redeem the Notes or terminate the Warrants prior to their scheduled redemption date or expiry date (as applicable) in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes or Warrants.

(8) Risks relating to Currency-Linked Notes and Warrants

Volatility of exchange rates

Exchange rates can be volatile and unpredictable. Investors should be aware of the possibility of significant changes in rates of exchange between the Specified Currency and Reference Currencies, the Denomination Currency and the Settlement Currency and the Settlement Currency and Alternative Payment Currency (as applicable) may result in a decrease in the value of interest payments and/or the principal payable on the Notes at maturity or early redemption or the payments on Warrants at expiry or exercise. As a consequence, the market value of the Notes or Warrants may also fall.

FX Disruption Event

Investors in the Notes or Warrants should be aware that, following the occurrence of a FX Disruption Event (as defined in the Conditions) the Issuer may elect (a) to redeem the Notes or terminate the Warrants (as applicable) against payment of the Early Redemption Amount, which (in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes) may be an amount determined by the Calculation Agent to be the fair market value of the Notes or Warrants less the cost to the Issuer of unwinding any underlying and/or related hedging and/or funding arrangements and in any case, such amount may be less than any amount received at maturity or expiry or exercise and may result in a loss to the investors or (b)(i) (in the case of Warrants and Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes) instruct the Calculation Agent to make such adjustments to the Conditions of the Notes or Warrants as it determines to be necessary or desirable to reflect any market practice which develops in respect of the FX Disruption Event or (ii) (in the case of Alternative General Conditions Notes) instruct the Calculation Agent to make such adjustment(s) to the Conditions as it determines to be necessary or desirable to reflect or account for the FX Disruption Event with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholder in substantially the same economic position as prior to the relevant FX Disruption Event.

If, by reason of an FX Disruption Event, the Issuer is unable to settle payments under the Notes or Warrants in the Settlement Currency the Issuer may settle payments by payment of the Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent (which will be an amount in USD or such other currency specified as the Alternative Payment Currency in the relevant Final Terms). Also, if the Notes are redeemed early or the Warrants are terminated early, investors will forego any future performance in the underlying currency.

Notes linked to an index, formula or other underlying and multi-currency and Dual Currency Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated ("**Dual Currency Notes**"). Prospective investors should be aware that:

- (i) the market price of such Notes may be very volatile;
- (ii) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected;
- (iii) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal and/or interest payments;
- (iv) the relevant currencies may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices; and
- (v) the timing of changes in a relevant currency may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the relevant currency, the greater the effect on yield.

(8) Additional risks relating to Alternative General Conditions Notes

The Issuer may redeem the Notes if the economic balance is significantly altered

The Issuer may redeem the Notes upon the occurrence of events that are not attributable to the Issuer, but that have as a consequence that the economic balance between the Issuer and the Noteholders as at the Issue Date is significantly altered. This would include, without limitation, circumstances where such economic balance is altered as a consequence of actions being taken by a regulator, additional or increased solvency or regulatory capital requirements being imposed on the Issuer, nationalisation and similar circumstances. The Early Redemption Amount payable by the Issuer in such circumstances may be less than the amount invested in the Notes or what would have been received under the Notes if the Notes had not been so redeemed and investors will forego any further interest payments (if any) in respect of the Notes.

Noteholders may receive a Monetisation Amount if they do not elect to receive the applicable Early Redemption Amount

The applicable Final Terms may specify that, in the event of an early redemption of the Notes, the Monetisation Option will apply. In that case, the notice of early redemption will specify the applicable Early Redemption Amount as well as the Monetisation Amount. Noteholders that do not elect to receive

the Early Redemption Amount in accordance with the procedure set out in the notice of early redemption will not receive the Early Redemption Amount on the date fixed for redemption, but will receive the Monetisation Amount (on the original Maturity Date of the relevant Notes) and will not receive any interest or other amounts between the date fixed for redemption and the payment of the Monetisation Amount on the original Maturity Date.

(9) Risks relating to Green Bonds or SDG Bonds

The use of proceeds of the Notes may not meet investor expectations or requirements.

In relation to Tranches of Notes which are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "Green Bonds" or "SDG Bonds", the Issuer will exercise its judgement and sole discretion in determining the businesses and projects that satisfy certain eligibility requirements that purport to promote green initiatives, sustainable goals and other environmental purposes ("Green/SDG Assets") and will be financed by the proceeds of the Notes. If the use of the proceeds of the Notes is a factor in an investor's decision to invest in the Notes, they should consider the disclosure in "Green Bonds and SDG Bonds" below and/or and in the relevant Final Terms relating to any specific Tranche of Notes and consult with their legal or other advisers before making an investment in the Notes. There can be no assurance that any of the businesses and projects funded with the proceeds from the Notes will meet a specific framework or an investor's expectations or requirements. Furthermore, there is no contractual obligation to allocate the proceeds of the Notes to finance eligible businesses and projects or to provide annual progress reports as described in "Green Bonds and SDG Bonds" below and/or and in the relevant Final Terms. The Issuer's failure to so allocate or report, the failure of any of the businesses and projects funded with the proceeds from the Notes to meet a specific framework or the failure of external assurance providers to opine on the Green/SDG Assets, conformity with a specific framework, will not constitute an Event of Default (as defined in the Base Prospectus) with respect to the Notes and may affect the value of the Notes and/or have adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in Green/SDG Assets.

Furthermore, it should be noted that there is currently no clearly-defined definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of, nor market consensus as to what constitutes, a "green" or "sustainable" or an equivalently-labelled project or as to what precise attributes are required for a particular project to be defined as "green" or "sustainable" or such other equivalent label nor can any assurance be given that such a clear definition or consensus will develop over time. Accordingly, no assurance is or can be given to investors that any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, any of the businesses and projects funded with the proceeds from the Notes will meet any or all investor expectations regarding such "green", "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled performance objectives or that any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts will not occur during the implementation of any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, any of the businesses and projects funded with the proceeds from the Notes.

No assurance or representation is given as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of any opinion or certification of any third party (whether or not solicited by the Issuer) which may be made available in connection with the issue of the Notes and in particular with any of the businesses and projects funded with the proceeds from the Notes to fulfil any environmental, sustainability, social and/or other criteria. For the avoidance of doubt, any such opinion or certification is not, nor shall it be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Base Prospectus. Any such opinion or certification is not, nor should be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Issuer or any other person to buy, sell or hold the Notes. Any such opinion or certification is only current as at the date that opinion was initially issued. Prospective investors must determine for themselves the relevance of any such opinion or certification and/or the information contained therein and/or the provider of such opinion or certification for the purpose of any investment in the Notes. The providers of such opinions and certifications are not currently subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight.

If a Tranche of Notes is at any time listed or admitted to trading on any dedicated "green", "environmental", "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled segment of any stock exchange or securities market (whether or not regulated), no representation or assurance is given by the Issuer or any other person that such listing or admission satisfies, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply, whether by any present or future applicable law or regulations or by its own bylaws or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates, in particular with regard to any direct or indirect environmental, sustainability or social impact of any projects or uses, the subject of or related to, any of the businesses and projects funded with the proceeds from the Notes. Furthermore, it should be noted

that the criteria for any such listings or admission to trading may vary from one stock exchange or securities market to another. Nor is any representation or assurance given or made by the Issuer or any other person that any such listing or admission to trading will be obtained in respect of a Tranche of Notes or, if obtained, that any such listing or admission to trading will be maintained during the life of the Notes.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

The following documents shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus:

- the Unaudited Consolidated Interim Report of the Issuer and its subsidiaries for the six month period ended 30 June 2020 (the "Unaudited Consolidated Interim Report");
- (b) the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts of the Issuer and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the "2019 Annual Report and Accounts");
- the 2018 Annual Report and Accounts of the Issuer and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the "2018 Annual Report and Accounts" and together with the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts and the Unaudited Consolidated Interim Report, the "Financial Information"); and
- (d) the registration document of the Issuer dated 26 May 2020 approved by the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority and filed with the Reviewing Body (the "Registration Document"), except for the risk factor entitled "Impact of Covid-19" and the following sections of the section entitled "The Issuer and its Subsidiary Undertakings", namely those entitled "Principal activities and markets", "Organisational Structure", "Ratings" and "Management",

save that any statement contained herein or in a document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in any document subsequently incorporated by reference and in respect of which a supplement to this Base Prospectus is prepared modifies or supersedes such statement. Any documents incorporated by reference in the Financial Information do not form part of this Base Prospectus. To the extent that only certain parts of the above documents are specified to be incorporated by reference herein, the non-incorporated parts of such documents are either not relevant for investors or covered elsewhere in this Base Prospectus.

The Issuer will at its registered office and at the offices of the Principal Paying Agent and Principal Warrant Agent make available for inspection during normal business hours, upon reasonable notice, and free of charge, upon oral or written request, a copy of this Base Prospectus (or any document incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus and any future filings or financial statements published by such Issuer). Written or oral requests for inspection of such documents should be directed to the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or the Principal Warrant Agent. Additionally, this Base Prospectus and all the documents incorporated by reference herein will be available for viewing at www.hsbc.com (please follow links to 'Investors', 'Fixed income investors', 'Issuance programmes'). For the avoidance of doubt, any websites referred to in this Base Prospectus or any information appearing on such websites and pages do not form part of this Base Prospectus.

HSBC BANK PLC

A description of the Issuer is set out in the section entitled "*The Issuer and its Subsidiary Undertakings*" on pages 22 to 27 of the Registration Document (as defined in the section headed "Incorporation by Reference" above), which is incorporated by reference herein, except for the following sections which shall be deleted and replaced in their entirety with the corresponding sections set out below:

- Principal activities and markets
- Organisational Structure
- Ratings
- Management

Principal activities and markets

The information in this "*Principal activities and markets*" section is as at the date of this Base Prospectus. The Group is a UK-based group, which provides a comprehensive range of banking and related financial services.

During the course of 2020, the Issuer moved from four lines of business to three, by merging Global Private Banking and Retail Banking and Wealth Management to create one new organisation, Wealth and Personal Banking ("WPB"). The Issuer manages its products and services through its three global businesses: WPB, Commercial Banking ("CMB") and Global Banking and Markets ("GBM"), and its Corporate Centre, which comprises Central Treasury, certain legacy assets, central stewardship costs and interests in the Issuer's associates and joint ventures.

In Europe, WPB helps around 1.2 million customers with their financial needs through Private Banking, Retail Banking, Wealth Management, Insurance and Asset Management. WPB's core retail proposition offers a full suite of products including personal banking, mortgages, loans, credit cards, savings, investments and insurance. Alongside this, WPB offers various propositions in certain markets, including Jade, Premier, and Advance; as well as wealth solutions, financial planning and international services. WPB's Private Banking proposition serves high net worth and ultra-high net worth clients with investable assets greater than \$5m in the Channel Islands and Isle of Man, France and Germany, including those with international banking needs. The range of services available to private banking clients includes Investment Management, which comprises discretionary, advisory and brokerage services, and Private Wealth Solutions, which includes trusts and estate planning and bespoke lending such as lending against financial assets and residential mortgage financing for high-end properties. WPB collaborates with all Global Businesses across the HSBC Group to provide financial solutions across all stages of the client continuum, from supporting small business owners within France and Malta through HSBC Fusion to WPB's Private Banking service. The depth of WPB's global business service matches that of its diverse client needs: from branches, self-service terminals, telephone service centres and digital services (internet and mobile banking). Private Banking hosts a 'Next Generation' programme of events to support WPB's clients' next generation and offers philanthropy advisory to their clients.

CMB serves customers ranging from small enterprises to multinational corporates operating across borders. CMB provides the tools and expertise that European businesses need to thrive. CMB's network of relationship managers and product specialists work closely to meet customer needs, from term loans to region-wide treasury and trade solutions. CMB is at the centre of creating revenue synergies within the HSBC Group. CMB works closely with its GBM colleagues to provide expertise in capital finance and advisory solutions to support CMB's clients. The trade teams within CMB also provide import and export finance solutions to GBM clients.

GBM delivers tailored financial solutions to major government, corporate and institutional clients worldwide. Operating as a global business, GBM also contributes significant revenues to other regions through its European client base. GBM provides a comprehensive suite of services across capital financing, sales and trading, transaction and advisory banking services, trade services, research, securities services and global liquidity and cash management. GBM's business is underpinned by a focus on the highest standards of conduct and financial crime risk management.

At 31 December 2019, the Issuer and its subsidiaries had a physical presence in Armenia, Belgium, the Channel Islands, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Isle of Man, Israel, Italy, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Poland, Russia, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom.

The principal activities and markets of the Issuer are described in more detail on pages 4 to 5 of the Unaudited Consolidated Interim Report.

As at 31 December 2019, the Issuer's principal subsidiary undertakings and their country of incorporation or registration were:

Name of Subsidiary Undertaking	Location
HSBC Investment Bank Holdings Limited	England
HSBC Asset Finance (UK) Limited	England
HSBC Life (UK) Limited	England
HSBC Continental Europe (99.99 per cent. owned)	France
HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG (80.67 per cent. owned) ¹	Germany
HSBC Bank Malta p.l.c. (70.03 per cent. owned)	Malta

The subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of the Issuer are described in more detail on pages 163 to 164 of the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts (incorporated by reference herein).

Organisational Structure

Following the completion of the HSBC Group's ring-fencing of its UK retail banking activities on 1 July 2018, and as part of the implementation of HSBC Group's reorganisation plans, the Issuer became a whollyowned subsidiary of HSBC UK Holdings Limited in October 2018. HSBC UK Holdings Limited is a wholly and directly owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc.

The whole of the issued ordinary and preference share capital of the Issuer is beneficially owned by HSBC UK Holdings Limited.

The HSBC Group is one of the largest banking and financial services organisations in the world with an international network which covers 64 countries and territories in Europe, Asia, the Middle East and North Africa, North America and Latin America. As at 30 June 2020 the total assets of the HSBC Group were U.S.\$ 2,922,798 million.

Ratings

The Issuer has been assigned the following long-term credit ratings:

- A+ by S&P. This means that S&P is of the opinion that the Issuer has a strong capacity to meet its financial commitments;
- A1 by Moody's. This means that Moody's is of the opinion that the Issuer is judged to be of high quality and is subject to very low credit risk; and
- AA- by Fitch. This means that Fitch is of the opinion that the Issuer poses expectations of very low credit risk, indicates very strong capacity for payment of financial commitments and this capacity is not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.

The Issuer has also been assigned the following short-term credit ratings:

• A-1 by S&P. This means that S&P is of the opinion that the Issuer's capacity to meet its financial commitments on its short-term obligations is strong.

¹ The Issuer's interest in equity capital for HSBC Trinkaus & Burnkhardt AG increased from 80.67% to 99.33% in May 2020.

- P-1 by Moody's. This means that Moody's is of the opinion that the Issuer has a superior ability to repay short-term debt obligations; and
- F1+ by Fitch. This means that Fitch is of the opinion that the Issuer has the strongest intrinsic capacity for timely payment of short-term financial commitments.

Each of S&P, Moody's and Fitch are established in the European Union or the United Kingdom and are registered as Credit Rating Agencies under the CRA Regulation.

Management

Board of Directors

The directors of the Issuer, each of whose business address is 8 Canada Square, London, E14 5HQ, United Kingdom, their functions in relation to the Issuer and their principal outside activities (if any) of significance to the Issuer are as follows (please refer to pages 77 to 78 of the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts (incorporated by reference herein) for more information):

Name	Function within the Group	Other principal activities outside of the Issuer
Stephen O'Connor*	Chairman	Chairman and Founder, Quantile Technologies Limited Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Risk Committee, Member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committees, The London Stock Exchange Group plc and a director, London Stock Exchange plc Non-executive Director, FICC Markets Standards Board
John Trueman*	Deputy Chairman	Chairman and member of the Risk Committee, HSBC Global Asset Management Limited
Nuno Matos	Chief Executive Officer	Member of the Supervisory Board, HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG Director, HSBC Continental Europe
Jacques Fleurant	Chief Financial Officer	-
Dame Mary Marsh*	Director	Non-executive Chair of Trustees, Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health Director, London Symphony Orchestra A member of the Governing Body, London Business School Trustee, Teach First
Yukiko Omura*	Director	Non-executive Director, The Private Infrastructure Development Group Limited (PIDG) and Chair of GuarantCo Limited (subsidiary of PIDG) Non-executive Director, Assured Guaranty Limited Member of the Supervisory Board, Nishimoto HD Co Limited
Eric Strutz*	Director	Member of the Supervisory Board and Chairman of the Risk and Audit Committees, HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG Member of the Advisory Board and Vice Chairman and Lead Independent Director of Partners Group Holding AG (PGH) and Chairman of the Risk and Audit Committee as well as Non-Executive Director, Partners Group UK Limited (subsidiary of PGH) Member of the Advisory Board and Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee of Luxembourg Investment Company 261 Sarl Non-Executive Director, Global Blue Group Holding AG

Name	Function within the Group	Other principal activities outside of the Issuer
Stephen Moss	Director	Regional Chief Executive, with responsibility for overseeing HSBC's businesses in Europe (apart from HSBC UK, the ring-fenced bank); the Middle East, North Africa and Turkey; Latin America; and Canada.
Andrew Wright*	Director	-

Notes:

* Independent Non-executive Director

Management Committees

Executive Committee

The Issuer's Executive Committee, whose business address is 8 Canada Square, London, E14 5HQ, United Kingdom, meets regularly and operates as a management committee under the direct authority of the board of directors of the Issuer. The members of the Executive Committee and their functions in relation to the Issuer's Executive Committee and their principal outside activities (if any) of significance to the Issuer are as follows:

Name	Function	Other principal activities outside the Issuer
Nuno Matos	Chairman Chief Executive Officer, Europe	Member of the Supervisory Board, HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG Director, HSBC Continental Europe
Christopher Allen	Head of Global Private Banking, EMEA	_
Terecina Kwong	Chief Operating Officer, Europe	
Andrew Beane	Chief of Staff and Head of Transformation, Europe	
Jean Beunardeau	Chief Executive Officer, HSBC Continental Europe	Group General Manager, HSBC Holdings plc Director, HSBC Continental Europe
Mark Charles	Acting General Counsel, Europe and Global Co – General Counsel GBM and CMB	_
Matthew Colebrook	Head of Wealth and Personal Banking, EMEA	_
Jacques Fleurant	Chief Financial Officer, EMEA	
Patrick George	Head of Global Markets, Developed Markets	_
Philippe Henry	Head of Global Banking, EMEA	Director, HSBC Investment Bank Holdings Ltd
Philip Jockelson	Interim Company Secretary, HSBC Bank plc and Europe Region	
Rachel Montgomerie	Head of Human Resources, EMEA	_
Peter Reid	Chief Risk Officer, Europe	Director, HSBC Investment Bank Holdings Ltd
Carola Graefin von Schmettow	Chief Executive Officer, HSBC Germany	Director, HSBC Continental Europe

Name	Function	Other principal activities outside the Issuer
		Director, HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG
Andrew Sowter	Chief Compliance Officer, EMEA (MENAT & Europe) Global Banking and Markets & Commercial Banking	
Malcolm Wallis	Head of Communications, Europe	_
Andrew Wild	Head of Commercial Banking, Europe	Director, HSBC Continental Europe

Conflicts of Interest

There are no existing or potential conflicts of interest between any duties owed to the Issuer by its directors or its Executive Committee (each as described above) and the private interests and/or external duties owed by these individuals.

Additional Information relating to the Issuer

Issuer's Equity Share Capital

The Issuer's share capital consists of ordinary shares of par value GBP 1.00 each and US dollar non-cumulative preference shares of par value US\$ 0.01 each. Please refer to Note 29 "Capital" in the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts (as defined in the "Incorporation by Reference" section above) for further information on the Issuer's equity capital as of 31 December 2019.

Outstanding Debt Instruments

Please see page 17 of the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts for more information on the outstanding debt instruments of the Issuer as of 31 December 2019 and Note 26 ("Subordinated liabilities") in the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts for more information regarding the Issuer's subordinated liabilities as of 31 December 2019.

Business Outlook

A description of the business outlook of the Issuer is set out in the sections entitled "*Our vision and strategy*" (page 4) and "*Economic background and outlook*" (page 7) of the Unaudited Consolidated Interim Report (as defined in the section headed "Incorporation by Reference" above), which is incorporated by reference herein. Business outlook of the Issuer is subject to uncertainty.

TAXATION

Transactions involving the Notes and Warrants may have tax consequences for potential purchasers which may depend, amongst other things, upon the status of the potential purchaser and laws relating to transfer and registration taxes. Potential purchasers who are in any doubt about the tax position of any aspect of transactions involving the Notes and Warrants should consult their own tax advisers.

United Kingdom Taxation – Notes

The following is a summary of the United Kingdom withholding taxation treatment at the date hereof in relation to payments of principal and interest and certain other payments in respect of the Notes. It is based on current law and the practice of Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs ("HMRC"), which may be subject to change, sometimes with retrospective effect. The comments do not deal with any other United Kingdom tax aspects of acquiring, holding or disposing of Notes. The comments relate only to the position of persons who are absolute beneficial owners of the Notes. Noteholders should be aware that the particular terms of issue of any Series of Notes as specified in the relevant Final Terms may affect the tax treatment of that and other Series of Notes. The following is a general guide for information purposes and should be treated with appropriate caution. It is not intended as tax advice and it does not purport to describe all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to a purchaser. Noteholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their professional advisers. Noteholders who may be liable to taxation in jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom in respect of their acquisition, holding or disposal of the Notes are particularly advised to consult their professional advisers as to whether they are so liable (and if so under the laws of which jurisdictions), since the following comments relate only to certain United Kingdom taxation aspects of payments in respect of the Notes. In particular, Noteholders should be aware that they may be liable to taxation under the laws of other jurisdictions in relation to payments in respect of the Notes even if such payments may be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of taxation under the laws of the United Kingdom.

(A) United Kingdom Withholding Tax

- 1. Interest on Notes issued for a term of less than one year (and which are not issued under arrangements the effect of which is to render the Notes part of a borrowing with a total term of one year or more) may be paid by the Issuer without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax.
- 2. Interest on the Notes may also be paid without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax so long as the Issuer is a "bank" for the purposes of section 878 of the Income Tax Act 2007 and so long as such payments are made by the Issuer in the ordinary course of its business.
- 3. In all other cases, falling outside the exemptions described in paragraphs 1 and 2 above, interest on the Notes may fall to be paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax at the basic rate (currently 20 per cent.) subject to such relief as may be available following a direction from HMRC pursuant to the provisions of any applicable double taxation treaty or to any other exemption which may apply.
- 4. Any payments made by the Issuer under the Deed of Covenant may not qualify for the exemptions from United Kingdom withholding tax described above.

(B) United Kingdom Withholding Tax – Other Payments

Where a payment on a Note does not constitute (or is not treated as) interest for United Kingdom tax purposes, it would potentially be subject to United Kingdom withholding tax if, for example, it constitutes (or is treated as) an annual payment, a manufactured payment, rent or similar income or royalties for United Kingdom tax purposes (which will be determined by, amongst other things, the terms and conditions specified by the Final Terms of the Note). In such a case, the payment may fall to be made under deduction of United Kingdom tax (the rate of withholding depending on the nature of the payment), subject to any exemption from withholding which may apply and to such relief as may be available following a direction from HMRC pursuant to the provisions of any applicable double tax treaty.

(C) Other Rules Relating to United Kingdom Withholding Tax

- 1. Notes may be issued at an issue price of less than 100 per cent. of their principal amount. Any discount element on such Notes will not generally be subject to any United Kingdom withholding tax pursuant to the provisions mentioned above.
- 2. Where Notes are to be, or may fall to be, redeemed at a premium, as opposed to being issued at a discount, then any such element of premium may constitute a payment of interest. Payments of interest are subject to United Kingdom withholding tax as outlined above.
- 3. Where interest or any other payment has been paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax, Noteholders or Couponholders who are not resident in the United Kingdom may be able to recover all or part of the tax deducted if there is an appropriate provision in any applicable double taxation treaty.
- 4. The references to "**interest**" above mean "interest" as understood in United Kingdom tax law. The statements above do not take any account of any different definitions of "**interest**" or "**principal**" which may prevail under any other law or which may be created by the terms and conditions of the Notes or any related documentation. Noteholders or Couponholders should seek their own professional advice as regards the withholding tax treatment of any payment on the Notes which does not constitute "interest" or "principal" as those terms are understood in United Kingdom tax law.
- 5. The above summary under the heading of "United Kingdom Taxation Notes" assumes that there will be no substitution of the Issuer pursuant to Condition 16 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modifications and Substitution) of the Notes and does not consider the tax consequences of any such substitution.

United Kingdom Taxation – Warrants

The following is a summary of the United Kingdom withholding taxation treatment at the date hereof in relation to payments in respect of the Warrants and of the treatment of Warrants for the purposes of United Kingdom stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax. It is based on current law and the practice of HMRC, which may be subject to change, sometimes with retrospective effect. The comments do not deal with other United Kingdom tax aspects of acquiring, holding or disposing of Warrants. The comments in relation to United Kingdom withholding tax relate only to the position of persons who are absolute beneficial owners of the Warrants. The following is a general guide and should be treated with appropriate caution. It is not intended as tax advice and it does not purport to describe all tax considerations that may be relevant to a prospective purchaser. Warrantholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their professional advisers. Warrantholders who may be liable to taxation in jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom in respect of their acquisition, holding or disposal of the Warrants are particularly advised to consult their professional advisers as to whether they are so liable (and if so under the laws of which jurisdictions), since the following comments relate only to certain United Kingdom taxation aspects of payments in respect of the Warrants. In particular, Warrantholders should be aware that they may be liable to taxation under the laws of other jurisdictions in relation to payments in respect of the Warrants even if such payments may be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of taxation under the laws of the United Kingdom.

(A) United Kingdom Withholding Tax

Warrants that are not derivatives

Payments under the Warrants which do not amount to interest, rent or annual payments (and are not treated as, or as if they were, interest, rent or annual payments for United Kingdom tax purposes) may be made without any withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom tax.

Payments where the Warrants constitute derivative contracts

The Issuer should not be required to withhold or deduct sums for or on account of United Kingdom income tax from payments under Warrants that are treated as derivative contracts for the purposes of Part 7 of the Corporation Taxes Act 2009.

(B) United Kingdom Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax

United Kingdom stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax may be payable on any issue, transfer or agreement to transfer the Warrants or any interest in the Warrants.

Taxation in Switzerland

The Issuer disclaims any liability in respect of the following summary of certain tax implications. The following summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all Swiss tax consequences linked with the acquisition, holding, sale, lapse or redemption of the Notes and/or Warrants and does in particular not consider specific facts or circumstances that may apply to a particular investor and is for general information only. This summary is based on the tax laws of Switzerland currently in force and as applied on the date of this Base Prospectus which are subject to changes (or changes in interpretation) which may have retroactive effect. Prospective investors are advised to consult their own tax, legal and financial advisers with respect to the tax consequences of the acquisition, holding, sale, lapse or redemption of the Notes and/or Warrants in light of their particular circumstances.

(A) Swiss Withholding Tax

Payments by the Issuer which constitute interest (being periodic or one-time), as per the Swiss withholding tax meaning thereof, may be subject to Swiss withholding tax ("Swiss WHT"), currently levied at a rate of 35%. The Issuer is obliged to deduct Swiss WHT from the interest payment and to pay the tax to the Swiss Federal Tax Administration.

An investor resident in Switzerland who, at the time the interest payment is due, is the beneficial owner of the taxable payment, is in general entitled to a full refund or a full tax credit of the Swiss WHT, if they duly report the underlying income in their financial statements or income tax return, as the case may be.

A non-Swiss resident investor may be entitled to a total or partial refund of the Swiss WHT by virtue of the provisions of an applicable double tax treaty concluded between Switzerland and their country of tax residency.

(B) Swiss Stamp Duties

The Swiss Stamp duties encompass the Swiss securities transfer tax and the Swiss securities issuance tax (together "Swiss Stamp Duties").

Transactions on Notes and/or Warrants classified as pure derivatives for Swiss stamp duties purposes are generally not subject to the Swiss Stamp Duties. Exceptions may apply, in particular for the sale and transfer of Notes and/or Warrants with a duration of more than one year, which may be subject to the Swiss securities transfer tax currently at a rate of 0.15% for Swiss securities and 0.3% for foreign securities, respectively. This tax would apply on transactions, whether by a Swiss or foreign resident investor, involving a Swiss securities dealer within the meaning of the Swiss Stamp Duties Act, if no exemption applies. The same may apply in case of physical delivery of the underlying(s) being taxable securities within the meaning of the Swiss Stamp Duties Act at redemption.

(C) Swiss (corporate) Income Tax

Tax treatment for Notes and/or Warrants held by a Swiss resident investor as part of their private assets

A Swiss resident investor holding the Notes and/or Warrants as part of their private assets is required to include all payments of interest (being periodic or one-time) received in their personal income tax return for the relevant period and is taxable on the net taxable income.

A capital gain realised on the sale or other disposition of the Notes and/or Warrants by such an investor is in principle exempt from income tax and conversely a capital loss is in principle non-deductible. An exception is made for so-called notes with one-time predominant interest payment.

Products which are not straight debt instruments but have components of debt instruments and derivatives intertwined generally qualify as combined instruments. The tax treatment thereof depends in particular on whether they are considered as transparent or not for Swiss income tax purposes.

A product generally classifies as transparent for tax purposes if the values of the debt instrument and the derivative component are disclosed separately from each other in the sales documentation as well as in the offering prospectus, or, if this is not the case, if the product is a standard one and the values of the debt instrument and the derivative component can be determined analytically at any time by using conventional financial pricing models such as, for instance, the "bond floor pricing model" of the Swiss Federal Tax Administration. Conversely, if the debt instrument component is not disclosed separately from the derivative component and if the conditions for analytic determination of the values of those components do not apply, the products classify as non-transparent.

If the products are considered as not-transparent for Swiss income tax purposes, any amount received by the investor (upon sale, lapse, exercise or redemption) in excess of the amount invested (at issue or upon purchase) is treated as taxable income in the hands of the investor if the products qualify as a note with predominant one-time interest payment. If they do not qualify as a note with predominant one time interest payment, the investor is only subject to tax on the periodic interest payments and (at redemption) on the difference between initial issuance price and the redemption price. For the purpose of determining whether a product is a note with predominant one-time interest payment the difference between initial issuance price and the redemption price is treated as one-time interest.

If the products are considered as transparent for Swiss income tax purposes, they will be split notionally in a debt instrument and a derivative instrument component. The debt instrument component follows the usual tax treatment either as note with predominant one-time interest or as note with no predominant one-time interest payment, as applicable. Gains or losses on the derivative instrument component are generally treated as capital gains or losses.

Products which are linked to underlyings, such as bonds, shares, or baskets of such assets, may also be treated, under certain circumstances, as direct investments in bonds, shares or in an investment fund. Products linked to a basket of investment funds may be treated as an investment in an investment fund.

Products in the form of reverse convertibles linked to shares, precious metals and commodities with no guaranteed payments and a duration of less than or equal to one year may be treated as straight derivatives.

Tax treatment for Notes and/or Warrants held by a Swiss resident investor as part of their business assets

Income, capital gains and capital losses linked with the Notes and/or Warrants realised by Swiss resident individual investors holding those assets as part of their business assets, as well as by Swiss resident corporate investors, are part of their business profit subject to income tax, respectively corporate income tax. The same applies to Swiss resident individual investors who qualify as so-called professional securities dealers.

Tax treatment for Notes and/or Warrants held by a non-Swiss resident investor

An investor who is not a Swiss resident for tax purposes will generally not be liable for Swiss income or corporate income tax on the income or capital gain linked with the Notes and/or Warrants, unless and to the extent those assets are attributable to a permanent establishment or a fixed place of business maintained in Switzerland by such non-Swiss resident investor.

(D) International Automatic Exchange of Information in Tax Matters

Switzerland has concluded a multilateral agreement with the European Union on the international automatic exchange of information (the "AEOI") in tax matters, which applies to all EU member states and some other jurisdictions. In addition, Switzerland has concluded the multilateral competent authority agreement on the automatic exchange of financial account information (the

"MCAA"), and a number of bilateral AEOI agreements with other countries, most of them on the basis of the MCAA. Pursuant to those agreements and the implementing laws of Switzerland, yearly reporting requirements are imposed on financial institutions in respect of certain account holders and controlling persons of entities resident in reportable jurisdictions. Reportable information includes personal and financial data collected during the previous calendar year.

United States Taxation

The following summary describes certain of the principal U.S. federal income tax consequences resulting from the purchase, ownership and disposition of Notes that are principal protected and Warrants that require the payment of a substantial exercise price. Investors are directed to review any discussion of Notes that are not principal protected and Warrants that do not require the payment of a substantial exercise price in a relevant supplement to this Base Prospectus or relevant Final Terms. This summary does not purport to consider all the possible U.S. federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes and the Warrants and is not intended to reflect the individual tax position of any beneficial owner of Notes. The summary also does not address any aspect of U.S. federal taxation other than U.S. federal income taxation (such as the estate and gift tax (except to the extent explicitly addressed below) or the Medicare tax on net investment income). The summary is based upon the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), its legislative history, existing and proposed U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, published rulings by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and court decisions, all as of the date hereof, all of which authorities are subject to change or differing interpretations, which changes or differing interpretations could apply retroactively. This summary is limited to investors who purchase the Notes or the Warrants at initial issuance and hold the Notes or the Warrants as "capital assets" within the meaning of section 1221 of the Code (i.e., generally, property held for investment) and does not purport to deal with investors in special tax situations, such as financial institutions, tax exempt organisations, insurance companies, regulated investment companies, dealers in securities or currencies, persons purchasing Notes or Warrants other than at original issuance, persons holding notes as a hedge against currency risks or as a position in a "straddle," "conversion transaction," or "constructive sale" transaction for tax purposes, or persons whose functional currency (as defined in section 985 of the Code) is not the U.S. dollar. The summary does not include any description of the tax laws of any state, local or foreign governments that may be applicable to the Notes or the Warrants or the holders thereof.

Prospective purchasers of the Notes or the Warrants should consult their own tax advisers concerning the application of U.S. federal income tax laws to their particular situations as well as any consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes and the Warrants arising under the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

As used herein, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of a Note or a Warrant who or which is for U.S. federal income tax purposes (i) an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation created or organised in or under the laws of the United States or of any state thereof (including the District of Columbia), or (iii) any other person who is subject to U.S. federal income taxation on a net income basis with respect to the Notes or the Warrants. As used herein, the term "Non-U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of a Note or a Warrant that is not a U.S. Holder. In the case of a holder of Notes or Warrants that is a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, each partner will take into account its allocable share of income or loss from the Notes or Warrants, and will take such income or loss into account under the rules of taxation applicable to such partner, taking into account the activities of the partnership and the partner.

Taxation of Non-U.S. Holders

With respect to the Notes, subject to the discussion below on dividend equivalent payments and FATCA, (a) payment of principal, premium, redemption amount and interest by the Issuer or any paying agent to a Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax, **provided that** such Non-U.S. Holder provides the Issuer, when necessary, with appropriate documentation evidencing its status as a Non-U.S. Holder, (b) a gain realised by a Non-U.S. Holder on the sale or redemption of the Notes is not subject to U.S. federal income tax or withholding tax and (c) the Notes are not subject to U.S. federal estate tax if held by an individual who was a Non-U.S. Holder at the time of his death. Special rules may apply in the case of Non-U.S. Holders (i) that are engaged in a U.S. trade or business, (ii) that are former citizens or long-term residents of the United States, "controlled foreign corporations", "passive foreign investment companies", corporations which accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax, and certain foreign charitable organisations, each within the meaning of the Code, or (iii) certain non-resident alien individuals

who are present in the United States for one hundred and eighty-three days or more during a taxable year. Such persons are urged to consult their U.S. tax advisers before purchasing Notes.

A Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax with respect to amounts received, if any, with respect to a Warrant, subject to the discussion below of dividend equivalent payments and FATCA, assuming that: (i) the Warrant is not held in connection with a U.S. trade or business or, in the case of a resident of a country that has an income tax treaty with the United States, such Warrant is not attributable to a permanent establishment (or, in the case of an individual, a fixed place of business) in the United States; (ii) in the case of an individual, the Non-U.S. Holder is not are present in the United States for one hundred and eighty-three days or more during a taxable year and certain other conditions are met; and (iii) such Non-U.S. Holder is not subject to the rules applicable to certain former citizens and long-term residents of the United States.

Withholding on Dividend Equivalent Payments

Section 871(m) of the Code and Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder ("Section 871(m)") generally impose a 30 per cent. withholding tax on "dividend equivalents" paid or deemed paid to certain persons with respect to certain financial instruments linked to U.S. equities or indices that include U.S. equities (such equities and indices, "U.S. Underlying Equities"). A "dividend equivalent" is any payment that references a dividend on any U.S. Underlying Equity. Section 871(m) generally applies to instruments that substantially replicate the economic performance of one or more U.S. Underlying Equities, as determined upon issuance, based on tests set forth in the applicable Treasury regulations (such an instrument, a "Specified Security").

If a Note or a Warrant is a Specified Security, the relevant Final Terms will specify that the Note is a "Section 871(m) Note" or the Warrant is a "Section 871(m) Warrant" for the purposes of Section 871(m) and also specify the method of Section 871(m) withholding that will be applied to the Note or Warrant.

If "Dividend Withholding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Issuer will report the appropriate amount of each payment under the Note or Warrant (including possibly a portion of the payments at maturity of the Note or Warrant) that are attributable to dividends on U.S. Underlying Equities, and the applicable withholding agent is expected to withhold 30 per cent. from such payment unless the payee establishes an exemption from or reduction in the withholding tax. In addition, non-U.S. investors may be subject to U.S. withholding tax on proceeds from the sale of a Note or Warrant, to the extent those proceeds reflect dividends on U.S. Underlying Equities.

If "Issuer Withholding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Issuer will withhold 30 per cent. of any dividend equivalent payments payable under the Note or Warrant (including possibly a portion of the payments at maturity of the Note or Warrant). If the terms of the Note or Warrant provide that all or a portion of the dividends on U.S. Underlying Equities are reinvested in the Underlyings during the term of the Note or Warrant, the terms of the Note or Warrant will also provide that only 70 per cent. of a deemed dividend equivalent will be reinvested. The remaining 30 per cent. of such deemed dividend equivalent will be treated, solely for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as having been withheld from a gross dividend equivalent payment due to the investor and remitted to the IRS on behalf of the investor. The Issuer will withhold such amounts without regard to either any applicable treaty rate or the classification of an investor as a U.S. or non-U.S. investor for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If payments to an investor are subject to withholding tax and the investor believes it is eligible for an exemption from, or reduced rate of, withholding tax, the investor may be able to claim a refund of the amounts over-withheld. The Issuer makes no representation regarding investors' eligibility to claim such a refund, and investors may not be able to obtain an IRS Form 1042 from the Issuer or any custodian that would assist investors in obtaining the refund. Furthermore, the Issuer will not be required to pay any additional amounts as a result of this withholding tax, regardless of which withholding method is applicable to the Notes or Warrants, and regardless of whether the investor may have been eligible for an exemption or reduction in the withholding tax on payments from the applicable withholding agent.

The Section 871(m) regulations require complex calculations to be made with respect to Notes or Warrants linked to U.S. securities and their application to a specific issue of Section 871(m) Notes or Section 871(m) Warrants may be uncertain. Prospective investors should consult their tax advisers on the potential application of Section 871(m) to the Notes or Warrants, including, if applicable, the availability of, and process for, claiming a refund of such withholding tax.

Withholding of U.S. tax on account of FATCA

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, a "foreign financial institution" may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes ("foreign passthru payments") to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. The Issuer is a foreign financial institution for these purposes. A number of jurisdictions (including the jurisdiction of the Issuer) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements (each an "IGA") with the United States to implement FATCA, which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA from payments that it makes. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Notes and Warrants, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes or Warrants, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes or Warrants, such withholding would not apply prior to the second anniversary of the date on which final regulations defining the term "foreign passthru payments" are published in the U.S. Federal Register, and Notes or Warrants treated as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining "foreign passthru payments" are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be "grandfathered" for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date (including by reason of a substitution of the issuer). However, if additional Notes (as described under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Further Issues") or Warrants (as described under "Terms and Conditions of the Warrants - Further Issues") that are not distinguishable from previously issued Notes or Warrants are issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all Notes or Warrants, including the Notes or Warrants offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering period, as subject to withholding under FATCA. Holders should consult their own tax advisers regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the Notes or Warrants. In the event any withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on the Notes or Warrants, no person will be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the withholding.

Other Taxation Matters - Notes and Warrants

EU Taxation – Proposed Financial Transactions Tax ("FTT")

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "participating Member States"). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in Notes or Warrants (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. Primary market transactions referred to in Article 5(c) of Regulation (EC) No 1287/2006 are expected to be exempt.

Under the Commission's Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Notes or Warrants where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State.

The FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States. It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU Member States may decide to participate. Prospective holders of Notes or Warrants are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

GREEN BONDS AND SDG BONDS

If the relevant Final Terms specify under the heading "Reasons for the Offer" the relevant Series of Notes as being "Green Bonds" or "SDG Bonds", the net proceeds of such Series of Notes will be applied by the Issuer as described below.

Green Bonds

If the relevant Final Terms specify that a Series of Notes are "Green Bonds", then, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer will use the net proceeds of the issuance of such Series of Notes to fund eligible businesses and projects in Eligible Sectors (as defined below and further described within the HSBC Green Bond Framework dated 6 November 2015 available on the following webpage: https://www.hsbc.com/investors/fixed-income-investors/green-and-sustainability-bonds (the "HSBC Green Bond Framework")).

"Eligible Sectors" include the following sectors:

- Renewable Energy
- Energy Efficiency
- Efficient Buildings
- Sustainable Waste Management
- Sustainable Land Use
- Clean Transportation
- Sustainable Water Management
- Climate Change Adaptation

Excluded Sectors

Businesses and projects that are involved in the following operations will be ineligible to use the net proceeds of the Notes:

- nuclear power generation
- weapons
- alcohol
- gambling / adult entertainment

Where any portion of the net proceeds of the Notes has not been applied directly to fund eligible businesses and projects in Eligible Sectors, such proceeds may be invested according to local liquidity management guidelines.

Management of Proceeds

The Issuer will track the use of the net proceeds of the Notes via its internal information systems.

Reporting on Use of Proceeds

The Issuer will provide a green progress report (the "Green Progress Report") on an annual basis including:

- aggregate amounts of funds allocated to each of the Eligible Sectors together with a description of the types of business and projects financed;
- the remaining balance of unallocated proceeds of the Notes at the reporting period end; and

 confirmation that the use of the net proceeds of the Notes conforms with the HSBC Green Bond Framework.

Assurance

A second party opinion has been obtained from an appropriate provider to confirm the validity of the HSBC Green Bond Framework. The second party opinion is published on the following webpage: http://www.hsbc.com/investors/fixed-income-investors/green-and-sustainability-bonds.

For each issuance of Notes that are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "Green Bonds", the Issuer will engage an appropriate external assurance provider to independently assure the Green Progress Report, on an annual basis, and opine on its conformity with the HSBC Green Bond Framework.

The annual Green Progress Report and related assurance report will be made available to the public on the following webpage: https://www.hsbc.com/investors/fixed-income-investors/green-and-sustainability-bonds.

Sustainable Development Goal Bonds

If the relevant Final Terms specify that a Series of Notes are "SDG Bonds", then, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer will use the net proceeds of such Series of Notes to finance, in whole or in part, new and/or existing businesses and projects in the Eligible Categories (as defined below) in accordance with the Issuer's Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) Bond Framework (the "SDG Bond Framework") (as described below).

The term of funding to any eligible business or project under the SDG Bond Framework may be shorter or longer than the term of the Notes and may mature or be sold before or after the maturity date of the Notes. In the case of any investment that matures or is sold before the maturity date of the Notes, the Issuer expects to reallocate funds with respect to that eligible business or project back to its account either until maturity of the Notes or allocation of such amounts to new eligible businesses or projects. If funding for any eligible business or project remains outstanding after the maturity date of the Notes, neither the Issuer nor any of its consolidated subsidiaries will be required to terminate the financing of such project on the maturity date of the Notes.

Payment of principal and interest on the Notes will be made from the Issuer's general funds and will not be directly linked to the performance of any eligible business or project.

Framework

In September 2015, the UN General Assembly formally established 17 Sustainable Development Goals (the "SDGs") to be addressed by 2030. The goals set a common framework for public and private stakeholders to set their agendas and define their policies and strategies over the interim 15 years. The SDG Bond Framework is a step towards contributing capital towards the accomplishment of the SDGs.

The Issuer believes that the SDG Bond Framework is consistent with the International Capital Market Association's 2017 Green Bond Principles, Social Bond Principles and Sustainability Bond Guidelines and in reaching such conclusion the Issuer has relied in part on a second party opinion from Sustainalytics, an external assurance provider, confirming the alignment of the SDG Bond Framework with the International Capital Market Association's 2017 Green Bond Principles, Social Bond Principles and Sustainability Bond Guidelines. The opinion is published on the following webpage: http://www.hsbc.com/investors/fixed-income-investors/green-and-sustainability-bonds.

Eligible Categories

In accordance with the SDG Bond Framework, the "Eligible Categories" comprise:

Good Health and Well-being (SDG 3)—activities that strengthen the capacity of all countries, in particular developing countries, for provision of free or subsidised healthcare, and early warning, risk reduction and management of health crises.

Quality Education (SDG 4)—activities that (i) expand access to primary, secondary, adult and vocational education, (ii) target women and minority inclusion in education or (iii) improve educational infrastructure.

Clean Water and Sanitation (SDG 6)—activities that (i) expand public access to safe and affordable drinking water, (ii) provide access to adequate sanitation facilities, (iii) improve water quality or (iv) increase water-use efficiency through water recycling, treatment and reuse (including treatment of wastewater).

Affordable and Clean Energy (SDG 7)—activities that involve (i) generation of energy from renewable sources, (ii) construction, maintenance and/or expansion of associated distribution networks, (iii) manufacturing of components of renewable energy technology, (iv) development of products or technology and their implementation that reduces energy consumption of underlying asset, technology, product or system(s), (v) improved efficiency in the delivery of bulk energy services or (vi) manufacturing of components to enable energy efficiency.

Industry Innovation and Infrastructure (SDG 9)—activities that (i) develop quality, reliable, sustainable infrastructure (including regional and trans-border) to support affordable and equitable access for all in a manner that also benefits economic development and human well-being or (ii) upgrade and retrofit infrastructure to make it sustainable, with increased resource-use efficiency and greater adoption of clean and environmentally sound technologies and industrial processes.

Sustainable Cities and Communities (SDG 11)—activities that expand or maintain the supply of affordable housing or access to sustainable transport systems.

Climate Change (SDG 13)—activities that demonstrably contribute to reducing vulnerability to climate change identified in the project area and do not increase carbon emissions.

Eligibility Criteria of Businesses and Projects

The net proceeds will be used to finance, in whole or in part, future and/or re-finance existing businesses and projects, including the Group's own operations, that promote any of the Eligible Categories in accordance with the SDG Bond Framework.

The Issuer will determine the eligibility of businesses and projects based on whether it applies its funds to Eligible Categories and whether a significant net positive sustainability impact is achieved by them. If a business or project derives at least 90 per cent. its revenue from activities within the Eligible Categories, it would be considered for financing with the net proceeds. In these instances, the net proceeds can be used for general purposes, so long as this financing does not fund expansion into activities falling outside of the Eligible Categories.

The Issuer recognises that businesses and projects may benefit the environment and society in important ways while also degrading it in others. Accordingly, the Issuer's assessment of environmental and societal benefits will consider the balance of impact in determining the overall net benefit. The Issuer will exercise its professional judgement, discretion and sustainability knowledge in determining eligibility of businesses and projects for the use of the net proceeds.

Businesses and projects that are involved in the following operations will be ineligible: (i) nuclear power generation; (ii) weapons; (iii) alcohol; (iv) gambling / adult entertainment; and (v) palm oil. Moreover, the businesses and projects will not include any coal-fired power plants, the extraction and refining of coal, thermal coal mines or mountaintop removal.

Management and Tracking of the Proceeds

The HSBC Group's Green Bond Committee has responsibility for governing the SDG Bond Framework and for the ratification of eligible businesses and projects by applying the guidelines in the SDG Bond Framework. The HSBC Group's Green Bond Committee also will track the use of proceeds of the Notes using its internal information system, as described in the SDG Bond Framework. Where any portion of the net proceeds has not been applied to Eligible Categories, the Issuer may invest such unused proceeds according to its local liquidity management guidelines.

Reporting

The HSBC Group will provide a progress report (the "**SDG Progress report**") on an annual basis until all proceeds have been fully allocated including:

- aggregate amounts of funds allocated to each of the Eligible Categories, together with a description of the types of business and projects financed;
- the remaining balance of unallocated net proceeds at the reporting period end; and
- confirmation that the use of proceeds of each Series of Notes specified as "SDG Bonds" issued conforms with the SDG Bond Framework.

For each issuance of Notes that are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "SDG Bonds", the Issuer will engage an appropriate external assurance provider to independently assure the SDG Progress Report, on an annual basis, and opine on its conformity with the SDG Bond Framework.

The annual SDG Progress Report and related assurance report will be made available to the public on the following webpage: https://www.hsbc.com/investors/fixed-income-investors/green-and-sustainability-bonds.

GENERAL INFORMATION

- 1. The continuation of the Programme and the issue of Notes and Warrants under the Programme by the Issuer have been authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 25 November 2020.
- 2. Notes are transferable debt securities which may or may not bear interest and any interest and/or redemption amount payable may or may not be linked to an underlying. Warrants are transferable securities which, following their exercise, may entitle the holder on their settlement date either to receive a cash settlement amount linked to an underlying or to receive physical delivery of an underlying. Warrants will not bear interest.
- 3. The Notes and Warrants have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and may also be accepted for clearance through any other clearing system specified in the applicable Final Terms relating to the Notes or Warrants. The Common Code, the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) and any other identifier and/or code (as applicable) in relation to the Notes and Warrants of each Series will be set out in the relevant Final Terms. The address of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, 1210 Brussels, Belgium. The address of Clearstream Banking, S.A. is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg.
- 4. Settlement arrangements will be agreed between the Issuer, the relevant Dealer(s) or Manager(s) and the Principal Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the Registrar, the Warrant Registrar or Principal Warrant Agent as applicable.
- 5. In relation to the Issuer, any transfer of, or payment in respect of, a Note, Warrant, Coupon or Receipt involving any of the following individuals or entities ("**Persons**") may be restricted: (i) any Person that is, or is owned or controlled by Persons that are, the subject of any sanctions administered or enforced by the United Nations, the European Union, the United Kingdom, or United States (collectively, "**Sanctions**") or (ii) any Person that is located, organised or resident in a country or territory that is the subject of Sanctions.
- 6. Generally, any notice, document or information to be sent or supplied by the Issuer to its shareholder(s) may be sent or supplied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 (the "Act") (whether authorised or required to be sent or supplied by the Act or otherwise) in hard copy form or in electronic form. If at any time by reason of the suspension or curtailment of postal services within the United Kingdom the Issuer is unable effectively to convene a general meeting by notices sent through the post, subject to the Act, a general meeting may be convened by a notice advertised in at least one United Kingdom national newspaper. Such notice shall be deemed to have been duly served on all members entitled thereto at noon on the day on which the advertisement first appears. In any such case the Issuer shall send confirmatory copies of the notice by post if at least seven days prior to the meeting the posting of notices to addresses throughout the United Kingdom again becomes practicable.
- 7. Notices to the Noteholders or Warrantholders are made in accordance with the Conditions of the relevant Notes or Warrants, as applicable.
- 8. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer and its subsidiaries since 30 June 2020 nor any material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31 December 2019.
- 9. Save as disclosed in Note 25 "Provisions" on pages 149 to 150 and Note 32 "Legal proceedings and regulatory matters" on pages 157 to 160 of the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts (incorporated by reference herein) and Note 8 "Provisions" on page 63 and Note 10 "Legal proceedings and regulatory matters" on pages 64 to 67 of the Unaudited Consolidated Interim Report (incorporated by reference herein), there have been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) during the 12-month period before the date of this Base Prospectus which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer and its subsidiary undertakings.

- 10. For so long as the Issuer may issue securities under this Base Prospectus, the physical form of the following documents may be inspected during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer:
 - (a) the articles of association of the Issuer; and
 - (b) the Financial Information.
- 11. The Issuer or Dealer may pay to the distributor(s) (which may include affiliates of such Issuer or Dealer) of Notes or Warrants issued under this Base Prospectus commissions or fees or may offer such Notes or Warrants to the distributor(s) at a discount to the issue price of such Notes or purchase price of such Warrants. Such commissions, fees or discounts will be as such Issuer or Dealer may agree with the distributor(s) from time to time.
- 12. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors, of 7 More London Riverside, London SE1 2RT, United Kingdom has audited without qualification the financial statements contained in the Annual Report and Accounts of the Issuer for the financial years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019.
- 13. The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) code of the Issuer is: MP615ZYZBEU3UXPYFY54.

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE NOTES

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions applicable to the Notes (the "Conditions") of each Series, which are completed by the Final Terms and will be incorporated by reference into each Note in global form (subject to the section entitled "Summary of provisions relating to the Notes while in global form") and which will be endorsed on the Definitive Notes (if any) issued in exchange for Notes in global form representing each Tranche, details of the relevant Tranche being as set out in the relevant Final Terms. The Final Terms in relation to any Tranche may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the following terms and conditions, replace or modify the following terms and conditions for the purpose of such Tranche. Terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form" below.

The Notes are issued by HSBC Bank plc (the "Issuer") pursuant to a programme for the issuance of notes and warrants (the "Programme") and are constituted by, and have the benefit of, a deed of covenant dated on or about 28 May 2020 (the "Deed of Covenant"). The Notes also have the benefit of a master note issuance agreement dated 24 February 1999 as most recently modified, supplemented and/or restated on or about 28 May 2020 (as further modified and/or amended from time to time, the "Master Note Issuance Agreement") and made between, among others, the Issuer, and HSBC Bank plc, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and HSBC Continental Europe (formerly known as HSBC France) as dealers (in this capacity, each a "Dealer" and together, the "Dealers", which expression shall include any additional or successor Dealer(s)) and an issuing and paying agency agreement dated 24 February 1999 as most recently modified, supplemented and/or restated on or about 28 May 2020 (as further modified and/or amended from time to time, the "Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement") and made between the Issuer, HSBC Bank plc and HSBC Continental Europe as calculation agents (HSBC Bank plc or, as the case may be, HSBC Continental Europe being the "Calculation Agent" with respect to the Notes if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, which expression includes any successor or other Calculation Agent appointed pursuant to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and specified in the relevant Final Terms), HSBC Bank plc and HSBC Bank USA, National Association as transfer agent (HSBC Bank plc or, as the case may be, HSBC Bank USA, National Association being the "Transfer Agent", which expression shall include any successor or other Transfer Agent appointed pursuant to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement), HSBC Bank plc as the principal paying agent (HSBC Bank plc being the "Principal Paying Agent", which expression shall include any successor or other Principal Paying Agent appointed pursuant to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and, together with any additional paying agent appointed pursuant to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, the "Paying Agents"), HSBC Bank plc as issue agent (HSBC Bank plc being the "Issue Agent", which expression shall include any successor or other Issue Agent appointed pursuant to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement) and HSBC Bank plc and HSBC Bank USA, National Association as registrar (HSBC Bank plc or, as the case may be, HSBC Bank USA, National Association being the "Registrar", which expression shall include any successor or other Registrar appointed pursuant to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement), and the other parties specified therein.

All Notes will be issued in series (each, a "Series") and each Series may comprise one or more tranches (each, a "Tranche") of Notes issued on different issue dates. Each Tranche will be the subject of a Final Terms (the "Final Terms"), a copy of which will be attached to or endorsed on or incorporated by reference in each Note of such Tranche. Other than the issue date, the issue price and the date for the first payment of interest, the Notes of each Series will have identical terms and conditions save that a Series may comprise Bearer Notes and Registered Notes and may comprise Notes in more than one denomination. The Notes of each Tranche will have identical terms and conditions save that a Tranche may comprise Bearer Notes and Registered Notes and may comprise Notes of different denominations.

Copies of the Master Note Issuance Agreement, the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection by Holders (as defined below) of Notes, and copies of the relevant Final Terms, this Base Prospectus and any supplement thereto may be obtained in each case during normal business hours at the specified office of the Issuer and of the Paying Agent in London. The Holders (as defined in Condition 2(b) (*Form, Denomination and Title – Bearer Notes*)) for the time being of Notes (the "**Noteholders**", which expression shall, in the case of Bearer Notes, include reference to the Holders of the Coupons appertaining thereto) and of any coupons (the "**Coupons**") or talons (the "**Talons**") (the

"Couponholders") are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Master Note Issuance Agreement, the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant.

Words and expressions defined in the Master Note Issuance Agreement or the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement or used in the relevant Final Terms shall have the same meanings where used in these Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and **provided that**, in the event of inconsistency between any of the Master Note Issuance Agreement, the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Final Terms will prevail.

The relevant Final Terms will specify whether or not the Alternative Note General Conditions apply to the Notes. If the Alternative Note General Conditions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as applying to the Notes, then such Notes will be "Alternative General Conditions Notes" and certain alternative terms and conditions specified below will apply to them in place of the corresponding terms and conditions which apply to Notes which are not Alternative General Conditions Notes. Such alternative terms and condition are indicated below with headings in italicised text specifying that the relevant provisions apply to Alternative General Conditions Notes only.

1. **Definitions**

The following provisions of this Condition 1 apply to all Notes (other than Alternative General Conditions Notes).

As used in these Conditions, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

- "Accrual Yield" means, in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, the percentage rate per annum specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Administrator/Benchmark Event" means, in respect of any Series of Notes and a Relevant Benchmark, any authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision, approval or inclusion in any official register in respect of the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator or sponsor of the Relevant Benchmark has not been, or will not be, obtained or has been, or will be, rejected, refused, suspended or withdrawn by the relevant competent authority or other relevant official body, in each case, as required under any applicable law or regulation in order for the Issuer, the Calculation Agent or any other entity to perform its or their respective obligations in respect of the Notes, all as determined by the Issuer;
- "Affected Relevant Benchmark" means, in relation to any Series of Notes, the Relevant Benchmark affected by a Benchmark Trigger Event;
- "Agents" means each of the Paying Agents, the Transfer Agent, the Issue Agent and the Registrar;
- "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount" means, in respect of Notes which are represented by a global Note or global Notes, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes represented by such global Note(s);
- "Alternative Payment Currency" means the currency, which may be Offshore RMB, specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent" means the relevant amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent converted into the relevant Alternative Payment Currency using the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate for the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date;

"Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate" means:

(i) the rate of exchange between the Settlement Currency and Alternative Payment Currency (expressed as the number of units of Alternative Payment Currency per one unit of Settlement Currency or as the number of units of Settlement Currency per one unit of Alternative Payment Currency (as applicable)) as published on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page at or around the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

- (ii) if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of exchange determined in accordance with, or derived from the Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate and the Settlement Currency Exchange Rate, as determined by the Calculation Agent; or
- (iii) such other rate as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

The Calculation Agent shall round such rate to the closest four (4) decimal places, 0.00005 being rounded up. If on an Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date the Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent and (a) if Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in accordance with the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms or if the Calculation Agent is not able to determine the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in accordance with such Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in its discretion; or (b) if such Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are not specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent will determine the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in accordance with sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) above, as applicable, of Condition 9(e) (*Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*) or, if Price Source Disruption is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, in its discretion;

"Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate" means, for any Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Alternative Payment Currency as published on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page at or around the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date" means:

- (i) the date specified as such in the Final Terms;
- (ii) if "Condition 1" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as appropriate); or
- otherwise, the fifth day (or such other number of days specified in the relevant Final Terms) prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as appropriate).

If such date falls on a day that is a Saturday or Sunday or on which commercial banks are not open for general business and dealings in foreign exchange in the jurisdiction or place specified in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such jurisdiction or place is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, the Alternative Payment Currency Jurisdiction and, if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency Jurisdiction (a "closed day"), then:

- (x) if "Condition 1" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date shall be the immediately following calendar day that is not a closed day; and
- (y) otherwise, the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date shall be the immediately preceding calendar day that is not a closed day;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or any successor page thereof or, if such page is not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate by reference to the spot rate prevailing in the international exchange market;

- "Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time" means the time and place specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Alternative Payment Settlement Days" means the number of local banking days specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or if the relevant Final Terms does not specify any Alternative Payment Settlement Days then the Alternative Payment Settlement Days shall be deemed to be 3 local banking days;
- "Alternative Pre-nominated Index" means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark, the first of the indices, benchmarks or other price sources specified in the relevant Final Terms as an "Alternative Pre-nominated Index" and which is not subject to a Benchmark Trigger Event;

"Benchmark Trigger Event" means:

- (i) in respect of a Series of Notes that references a Relevant Benchmark that is a Reference Rate or a Floating Rate Option, or any other interest rate, yield, cost of funds or similar rate:
 - (A) an Index Cessation Event; and
 - (B) an Administrator/Benchmark Event;
- (ii) in respect of any other Series of Notes, an Administrator/Benchmark Event;
- "Benchmark Trigger Event Determination Date" means, in relation to any Series of Notes and a Relevant Benchmark, the date on which a Benchmark Trigger Event occurred or will be deemed to have occurred in relation to such Relevant Benchmark, as determined by the Issuer in its sole discretion;

"Business Centre" means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Business Day" means:

- (i) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a Euro Business Day and a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London and each (if any) Business Centre and on which the relevant Clearing System is open for business; or
- (ii) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London, in the principal financial centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Business Centre and on which the relevant Clearing System is open for business;
- "Business Day Convention", in relation to any particular date, has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms and, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, may have different meanings in relation to different dates and, in this context, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:
- (i) "Following Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day;
- (ii) "Modified Following Business Day Convention" or "Modified Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first preceding day that is a Business Day;
- (iii) "Preceding Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be brought forward to the first preceding day that is a Business Day;

- (iv) "FRN Convention", "Floating Rate Convention" or "Eurodollar Convention" means that each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in the calendar month which is the number of months specified in the relevant Final Terms as the Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred provided, however, that:
 - (A) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in that calendar month;
 - (B) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Business Day; and
 - (C) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred; and
- (v) "No Adjustment" means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any Business Day Convention;

"Calculation Amount" means the amount in the Denomination Currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Clearing System" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, and/or any other clearing system specified in the relevant Final Terms in which Notes of the relevant Series are for the time being held, or, in relation to an individual Note, in which that Note is for the time being held;

"Clearing System Currency Eligibility Event" means the relevant Clearing System(s) ceases to accept payments in the Settlement Currency;

"Clearstream, Luxembourg" means Clearstream Banking S.A.;

"Conversion Rate" means:

- (i) the conversion rate of exchange specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- (ii) if such rate is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of exchange between the Denomination Currency and the Settlement Currency (expressed as the number of units of Settlement Currency per one unit of Denomination Currency or as the number of units of the Denomination Currency per one unit of Settlement Currency (as applicable)) as published on the Conversion Rate Fixing Page at the Conversion Rate Fixing Time on the Conversion Rate Fixing Date and as observed by the Calculation Agent; or
- (iii) if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the conversion rate of exchange determined in accordance with, or derived from the Denomination Currency Conversion Rate and the Settlement Currency Conversion Rate, as determined by the Calculation Agent.

The Calculation Agent shall round such rate to the closest four (4) decimal places, 0.00005 being rounded up. If on a Conversion Rate Fixing Date the Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent, and (a) if Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Conversion Rate in accordance with the Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms or if the Calculation Agent is not able to determine the relevant Conversion Rate in accordance with such Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Conversion Rate in its discretion; or (b) if Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions are not specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent will determine the Conversion Rate in accordance with Condition 9(e) (*Payments – Price Source*

Disruption and FX Disruption) or Condition 9(f) (Payments – EM Price Source Disruption) (as applicable) or, if neither Price Source Disruption or EM Price Source Disruption are specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, in its discretion;

"Conversion Rate Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business and dealings in foreign exchange in the jurisdiction or place specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such jurisdiction or place is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, Denomination Currency Jurisdiction and, if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency Jurisdiction;

"Conversion Rate Fixing Date" means each of the dates specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or if such date is not a Conversion Rate Business Day the immediately following day that is a Conversion Rate Business Day or, if such date is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the fifth Conversion Rate Business Day prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as applicable) (and for these purposes a day shall be deemed to be a Conversion Rate Business Day if the market was not aware of it not being a Conversion Rate Business Day (by means of a public announcement or by reference to other publicly available information) on the Conversion Rate Fixing Date notwithstanding it subsequently ceases to be a Conversion Rate Business Day for any reason or the market subsequently becomes aware that it was not a Conversion Rate Business Day);

"Conversion Rate Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page specified as such in the Final Terms or any successor page thereof or, if such page is not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Conversion Rate by reference to the spot rate prevailing in the international exchange market;

"Conversion Rate Fixing Time" means the time and place specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Conversion Rate Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms;

"Cross Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, or if such currency is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency shall mean USD;

"Cross Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the "Calculation Period"), such day count fraction as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms and:

- (i) if "Actual/Actual", "Actual/Actual (ISDA)", "Act/Act" or "Act/Act (ISDA)" is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (i) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (ii) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" or "Act/Act (ICMA)" is so specified means:
 - (a) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
 - (b) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:
 - (A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any one year; and

- (B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year;
- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)", "Act/365 (Fixed)", "A/365 (Fixed)" or "A/365F" is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365;
- (iv) if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365, or in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;
- (v) if "Actual/360", "Act/360" or "A/360" is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360;
- (vi) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1) + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)]}{360}$$

where:

" Y_1 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" Y_2 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 ${}^{\text{\tiny{"}}}M_{1}{}^{\text{\tiny{"}}}$ is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

 ${}^{\text{"}}\mathbf{M}_{2}{}^{\text{"}}$ is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D_1 is greater than 29, in which case D_2 will be 30;

(vii) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1) + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)]}{360}$$

where:

 $"Y_1"$ is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

 $"Y_2"$ is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 ${}^{\text{\tiny{"}}}M_{1}{}^{\text{\tiny{"}}}$ is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{M_2}$ " is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30:

(viii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1) + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)]}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" Y_2 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{M_2}$ " is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{D_1}$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30;

"**Deferral Period**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 9(e) (*Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*);

"**Denomination Currency**" means the currency of denomination of the Notes specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Denomination Currency Conversion Rate" means, for any Conversion Rate Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Denomination Currency as published on the Conversion Rate Fixing Page at or around the Conversion Rate Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"**Denomination Currency Jurisdiction**" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Early Redemption Amount" means, in relation to each Note or Calculation Amount, as applicable, an amount equal to the percentage per Calculation Amount, its Fair Market Value or such other early redemption amount, in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms and calculated in accordance with, and subject to, Condition 7(j) (Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding);

"**EM Deferral Period**" means, in respect of a Scheduled FX Fixing Date, a period of such number of calendar days as specified in the relevant Final Terms, beginning on and including the relevant Scheduled FX Fixing Date;

"EMU Event" means the occurrence of any of the following, as determined by the Calculation Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable manner:

- (i) the withdrawal from legal tender of any currency that, before the introduction of the euro, was lawful currency in one of the member states;
- (ii) the redenomination of any underlying value to which the Notes relate into euro;
- (iii) any change in the currency of denomination of any index;
- (iv) any change in the currency in which some or all the securities or other property contained in any index is denominated;
- (v) the disappearance or replacement of a relevant rate option or other price source for the national currency of any member state, or the failure of the agreed sponsor (or successor sponsor) to publish or display a relevant rate, index, price, page or screen; or
- (vi) the change by any organised market, exchange or clearance, payment or settlement system in the unit of account of its operating procedures to the euro;

"Euro", "euro" "EUR", "€" each means the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that have adopted or adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty;

"Euro Business Day" or "TARGET Business Day" means a day on which TARGET2 is open for settlement of payments in euro;

"Euroclear" means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.;

"exchange date" shall be the Relevant Banking Day following the day on which the relevant Bearer Note shall have been surrendered for exchange in the manner specified in Condition 13 (*Replacement, Exchange and Transfer*);

"Fair Market Value" means, in relation to any Note which is to be redeemed early, its fair market value immediately prior to the early redemption date, as determined by the Issuer (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) and/or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, less any reasonable costs and expenses of the Issuer and/or any affiliate of the Issuer of unwinding any underlying and/or related hedging and/or funding arrangements, and any such calculation of the fair market value shall have the effect of preserving for the Noteholders the economic equivalent of the obligations of the Issuer to make payments in respect of the Notes which would, but for such early redemption, have fallen due after the relevant early redemption date. For the purposes of calculating the Fair Market Value following an Event of Default pursuant to Condition 11 (Events of Default) only, in determining the fair market value of the Notes, no account shall be taken of the creditworthiness of the Issuer, who shall be deemed to be able to perform fully its obligations in respect of the Notes;

"Fallback Conversion Rate" means, on any date, the rate of exchange between the Denomination Currency and the Settlement Currency (expressed as the number of units of Settlement Currency per one unit of Denomination Currency or as the number of units of the Denomination Currency per one unit of Settlement Currency (as applicable)) as determined by the Calculation Agent in good faith and published on the Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Page at the Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Time for such date;

"Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page or the relevant section of the EMTA website specified as such in the Final Terms (or any successor page or website thereof), or if such page or section of the EMTA website is not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page or website, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Conversion Rate;

"Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Time" means the time and place specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms;

"**Final Redemption Amount**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 7(a) (*Redemption and Purchase – At Maturity*);

"**Fixed Rate Note**" means a Note which bears interest at a fixed rate and in respect of which Condition 4 (*Fixed Rate Note Provisions*) is applicable;

"Floating Rate Note" means a Note which bears interest at a floating rate and in respect of which the relevant provisions of Condition 5 (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note provisions) are applicable;

"Floating Rate Option" means, in relation to a Note to which ISDA Determination applies, a rate or price source specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"FX Cut-off Date" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 9(e) (Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption);

"FX Disruption Event" means the occurrence, as determined by the Calculation Agent, of (i) (a) an Inconvertibility, (b) Non-transferability, (c) Illiquidity or (d) any other event affecting the Denomination Currency, Cross Currency, Reference Currency, Settlement Currency or Specified Currency (as applicable) (the "FX Disruption Relevant Currency") which would make it unlawful or impractical in whole or in part (including without limitation, as a result of compliance with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive or with any requirement or request of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial power) for the Issuer (or the Issuer's affiliate) to pay or receive amounts in the FX Disruption Relevant Currency under or in respect of any hedging arrangement relating to or connected with the FX Disruption Relevant Currency; or (ii) if Offshore RMB is specified as the applicable FX Disruption Relevant Currency, each of the events specified in (i) above, plus an Offshore RMB Disruption;

"Governmental Authority" means any *de facto* or *de jure* government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) in the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or, where the Settlement Currency is specified to be RMB, in the PRC and each Offshore RMB Centre;

"Government Bonds" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, bonds or any other debt securities issued by a government, government agency or subdivision or a transnational or supranational organisation as specified in the relevant Final Terms and "Government Bond" shall be construed accordingly;

"Illiquidity" means where the foreign exchange market in the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction becomes illiquid after the Trade Date and, as a result of which, the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient Settlement Currency in order to satisfy its obligation to pay any amount in respect of the Notes as determined by the Issuer acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation (if practicable) with two Reference Dealers;

"Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible for the Issuer to convert any amount due in respect of the Notes in the foreign exchange market in the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"Index Cessation Event" means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark which is a Reference Rate or a Floating Rate Option, or any other interest rate, yield, cost of funds or similar rate, the occurrence or existence, as determined by the Issuer, of one or more of the following events:

(a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark announcing that it has ceased or will cease to provide the Relevant Benchmark permanently or indefinitely, **provided that**, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Relevant Benchmark;

- (b) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark, the central bank for the currency of the Relevant Benchmark, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Relevant Benchmark, a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Relevant Benchmark or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Relevant Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark has ceased or will cease to provide the Relevant Benchmark permanently or indefinitely, **provided that**, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to produce the Relevant Benchmark;
- if the Relevant Benchmark is the Sterling London interbank offered rate, the Swiss Franc London interbank offered rate, the U.S. Dollar London interbank offered rate, the Euro London interbank offered rate, the Japanese Yen London interbank offered rate, the Singapore Dollar swap offer rate or the Thai Baht interest rate fixing (each, a "Specified Rate"), a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Relevant Benchmark announcing (i) that such Relevant Benchmark is no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer be, capable of being representative, or is non-representative, of the underlying market and economic reality that such Relevant Benchmark is intended to measure as required by applicable law or regulation and as determined by the regulatory supervisor in accordance with applicable law or regulation and (ii) that the intention of that statement or publication is to engage contractual triggers for fallbacks activated by pre-cessation announcements by such supervisor (howsoever described) in contracts;
- (d) if the Relevant Benchmark is not a Specified Rate, the making of a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark that, in the view of such supervisor or administrator, the Relevant Benchmark is no longer representative of an underlying market; or
- the making of a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark as a consequence of which the Relevant Benchmark will, on or before a specified date (i) be prohibited from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, either generally, or in respect of the Notes or (ii) be recommended for informational purposes only rather than for use as a benchmark reference rate for securities such as the Notes;

"Index-Linked Interest Note" means a Note which bears interest at a rate determined by reference to an index or any other variable as specified in the relevant Final Terms and in respect of which Condition 5(f) (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions) is applicable;

"Initial Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate" means the rate of exchange between the Specified Currency and the Reference Currency (expressed as the number of units of Reference Currency per one unit of Specified Currency or as the number of units of Specified Currency per one unit of Reference Currency (as applicable)) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Interest Commencement Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Interest Determination Date" means the day determined by the Calculation Agent to be customary for fixing the Reference Rate applicable to deposits in the Relevant Currency for the relevant Interest Period or as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Interest Payment Date" means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the relevant Final Terms:

as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention;
 or

(ii) if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at such Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other case);

"Interest Period" means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date;

"IRC" means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986;

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and supplemented as at the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series), as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc ("ISDA") (copies of which may be obtained from ISDA at www.isda.org);

"Issue Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"LBMA" means the London Bullion Market Association or its successor;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity" means each commodity specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event" means, as determined by the Calculation Agent, an event which is beyond the control of the Issuer or the transferor of the relevant amount of interest, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount and/or any other amount in respect of the Notes and as a result of which the Issuer or such transferor is unable to effect a relevant delivery;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Fallback Redemption Amount" means an amount in the Settlement Currency, US Dollar or such other currency as determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion in respect of each Note determined by the Calculation Agent, in its sole and absolute discretion, with reference to the price of the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity to in the spot market on the relevant Conversion Rate Fixing Date or Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date (as applicable);

"LBMA Physical Settlement Market Disruption Event" means: (i) the material suspension of, or the material limitation imposed on, trading in the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity on any exchange or principal trading market which the Calculation Agent considers material in relation to the Notes; (ii) the disappearance of, or of trading in the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity; or (iii) the disappearance or permanent discontinuance or unavailability of the Conversion Rate or Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate notwithstanding the status of trading in the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity;

"**LBMA Transfer Notice**" has the meaning given in Condition 9(h) (*Payments – LBMA Physical Settlement*);

"LIBOR" means, in respect of any Relevant Currency and any specified period, the interest rate benchmark known as the London interbank offered rate which is calculated and published by a designated distributor (currently Reuters) in accordance with the requirements from time to time of ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (or any other person which takes over the administration of that rate) based on estimated interbank borrowing rates for a number of designated currencies and maturities which are provided, in respect of each such currency, by a panel of contributor banks (details of historic LIBOR rates can be obtained from the designated distributor);

"local banking day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the city in which the Principal Paying Agent, the Paying Agent, or the Registrar or the Transfer Agent to which the relevant Note or Coupon is presented for payment is located;

- "Margin" means the percentage rate per annum (or such other applicable period of time) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "**Maturity Date**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 7(a) (*Redemption and Purchase At Maturity*);
- "Maximum Interest Rate" means the percentage rate per annum (or such other applicable period of time) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Maximum Redemption Amount (Call Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Maximum Redemption Amount (Put Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Minimum Interest Rate" means the percentage rate per annum (or such other applicable period of time) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Minimum Redemption Amount (Call Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Minimum Redemption Amount (Put Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "National Currency Unit" means the national currency unit of any Participating Member State that becomes a denomination of the euro by reason of Council Regulation (EC) No. 1103/97, Council Regulation (EC) No. 974/98 or any other applicable laws;
- "Non-transferability" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible for the Issuer to transfer Settlement Currency between accounts inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or from an account inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction to an account outside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction to an account inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);
- "Offshore RMB" means RMB that is freely deliverable between accounts in the Offshore RMB Centre in accordance with the law and applicable regulation and guidelines issued by relevant authorities in the Offshore RMB Centre prevailing as of the Trade Date of the Notes;
- "Offshore RMB Centre" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Offshore RMB Disruption" means the occurrence of, as determined by the Calculation Agent, an Offshore RMB Inconvertibility, Offshore RMB Non-transferability or Offshore RMB Illiquidity;
- "Offshore RMB Illiquidity" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible (where it has previously been possible) for the Issuer to obtain a firm quote of an offer price in respect of any amount in Offshore RMB in order to satisfy its obligation to pay an amount under the Notes (the "Relevant Disrupted Amount"), in each case on the due date for payment, Valuation Date, Conversion Rate Fixing Date or Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date (as the case may be), either in one transaction or a commercially reasonable number of transactions that, when taken together, is no less than such Relevant Disrupted Amount, in the general Offshore RMB exchange market in each Offshore RMB Centre in order to perform its obligations under the Notes;
- "Offshore RMB Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible (where it had previously been possible) for the Issuer to convert an amount of Offshore RMB no less than the Relevant Disrupted Amount into or from USD (or, if the Settlement Currency specified in the Final Terms is other than USD, then such Settlement Currency) in the

general Offshore RMB exchange market in each Offshore RMB Centre, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date of the Notes and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"Offshore RMB Non-Transferability" means the occurrence in each Offshore RMB Centre of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible (where it had previously been possible) for the Issuer to transfer Offshore RMB (i) between accounts inside an Offshore RMB Centre, (ii) from an account inside an Offshore RMB Centre to an account outside such Offshore RMB Centre and outside the PRC, or (iii) from an account outside an Offshore RMB Centre and outside the PRC to an account inside such Offshore RMB Centre, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date of the Notes and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation). For the purpose of Offshore RMB Non-Transferability and Hong Kong as an Offshore RMB Centre only, a segregated Chinese Renminbi fiduciary cash account with the People's Bank of China and operated by Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited shall be deemed to be an account inside Hong Kong;

"Optional Redemption Date (Call Option)" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms on which the Notes are being redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(c) (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option));

"Optional Redemption Date (Put Option)" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms on which the Notes are being redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(d) (Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option));

"Participating Member States" means any member state of the European Union which adopts the single currency in accordance with the Treaty;

"PRC" means solely for the purpose stated herein, the People's Republic of China excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong") and the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Macau") and Taiwan;

"Price Materiality" means the Calculation Agent has determined that the Conversion Rate differs from the Fallback Conversion Rate by the Price Materiality Threshold Percentage or more (provided that if the Calculation Agent is unable to determine the Fallback Conversion Rate, the Calculation Agent may determine in its sole discretion whether a Price Materiality has occurred).

"Price Materiality Threshold Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Final Terms, or is no such percentage is specified, three per cent.

"Price Source Disruption" means, in relation to a Relevant Rate, such Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Rate of Interest" means:

- where the Fixed Rate Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the rate of interest specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- where the Floating Rate Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the rate of interest determined in accordance with Conditions 5(c) (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions Screen Rate Determination), 5(d) (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions ISDA Determination), as applicable or 5(e) (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions Non-indexed Overnight Rate Determination); and
- (iii) where the Index-Linked Interest Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the rate of interest determined in accordance with Condition 5(f)

(Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions – Index-Linked Interest);

"**Redemption Amount**" has the meaning given in Condition 7(j) (*Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding*);

"Redemption Amount (Call Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount or its Fair Market Value, in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms and calculated in accordance with, and subject to, Condition 7(j) (*Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding*);

"Redemption Amount (Put Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount or its Fair Market Value, in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms and calculated in accordance with, and subject to, Condition 7(j) (*Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding*);

"Redenomination Date" means a date (being, in the case of interest-bearing Notes, a date on which interest in respect of such Notes is payable) which:

- (i) is specified by the Issuer in the notice given to the Noteholders pursuant to Condition 10(a) (*Redenomination General*); and
- (ii) falls on or after such date as the country of the Settlement Currency becomes a Participating Member State;

"Reference Bank(s)" means four major banks selected by the Calculation Agent in the market that is most closely connected with the Reference Rate;

"Reference Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Reference Dealers" means leading dealers in the relevant foreign exchange market, as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Reference Currency Exchange Rate" means, for any Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Reference Currency as published on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page at or around the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"Reference Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms:

"Reference Rate" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"Regular Period" means:

- (i) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and including one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date;
- (ii) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and
- (iii) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period;

"Related Payment Date" means any payment date on the Notes on which the amount payable is calculated by reference to the Relevant Rate determined on the related Scheduled FX Fixing Date;

"Relevant Banking Day" means a day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the place where the specified office of the Registrar is located and, in the case only of an exchange of a Bearer Note for a Registered Note where such request for exchange is made to the Principal Paying Agent or the Transfer Agent, in the place where the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the Transfer Agent is located;

"Relevant Benchmark" means, in relation to any Series of Notes:

- (a) each Reference Rate, Floating Rate Option or other interest rate, yield, cost of fund or similar rate specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Reference Rate or Floating Rate Option);
- (b) each Relevant Rate specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Relevant Rate);
- (c) each Index specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Index);
- each Commodity Reference Price specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Commodity Reference Price); or
- (e) any other index, benchmark or price source specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes.

To the extent that any index, benchmark or price source constitutes an Alternative Pre-nominated Index or Replacement Index used pursuant to Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*), such index, benchmark or price source, as applicable, shall be a "Relevant Benchmark" from the day on which it is first used;

"Relevant Benchmark Determination Date" means, in relation to any Series of Notes and a Relevant Benchmark, a date on which the rate, level or value of such Relevant Benchmark falls to be determined in accordance with the Conditions;

"Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date" means, in relation to any Series of Notes, a Relevant Benchmark and a Relevant Benchmark Determination Date, any payment date under the Notes for which the amount payable is calculated by reference to the Relevant Benchmark as determined on such Relevant Benchmark Determination Date:

"Relevant Currency" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"Relevant Currency Business Day" means, in relation to a Relevant Rate that is the:

- (i) Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate or Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate or Settlement Currency Exchange Rate (which is being determined for the purposes of determining the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate), an Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date;
- (ii) Conversion Rate or Denomination Currency Conversion Rate or Settlement Currency Conversion Rate (which is being determined for the purposes of determining the Conversion Rate), a Conversion Rate Business Day; or
- (iii) Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate, Specified Currency Exchange Rate or Reference Currency Exchange Rate, an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day;

"Relevant Financial Centre Day" means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre or centres for the currency in which payment falls to be made (or, where such currency is a National Currency Unit and the Notes have been redenominated into euro pursuant to Condition 10 (*Redenomination*), the former principal financial centre or centres) and in any other place set out in the Final Terms. In the case of payments which fall to be made in euro (save for payments in relation to Notes which have been redenominated into euros pursuant to Condition 10 (*Redenomination*)), a Euro Business Day. The Relevant Financial Centre Days in relation to any Tranche determined in accordance with the above provisions as at the Issue Date shall be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Relevant Financial Centre" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark:

- (a) the central bank for the currency in which the Relevant Benchmark is denominated or any central bank or other supervisor which is responsible for supervising either the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark; or
- (b) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by, or constituted at the request of (i) the central bank for the currency in which the Relevant Benchmark is denominated, (ii) any central bank or other supervisor which is responsible for supervising either the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark, (iii) a group of those central banks or other supervisors or (iv) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof;

"Relevant Rate" means the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate, Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate, Conversion Rate, Denomination Currency Conversion Rate, Reference Currency Exchange Rate, Settlement Currency Exchange Rate, Settlement Currency Conversion Rate, Specified Currency Exchange Rate or Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate (as applicable);

"Relevant Reference Asset Fallback Provisions" means:

- in relation to a Series of Index-Linked Notes where the Affected Relevant Benchmark is an Index, Condition 21(f)(iii) (*Index Cancellation*), as if the relevant Benchmark Trigger Event were an Index Cancellation; and
- (b) in relation to any Series of Notes where the Affected Relevant Benchmark is a Relevant Rate:
 - (i) if (A) "Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms or (B) neither "Price Source Disruption" nor "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, Condition 9(e) (*Payments Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*), as if the relevant Benchmark Trigger Event were a Price Source Disruption; and
 - (ii) if "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, Condition 9(f) (EM Price Source Disruption), as if the relevant Benchmark Trigger Event were a Price Source Disruption;

"Relevant Screen Page" means the page, section or other part of a particular information service (including, without limitation, Reuters) specified as the Relevant Screen Page in the relevant Final Terms, or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the Reference Rate;

"Relevant Time" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"**Replacement Index**" has the meaning given to it in Condition 15A(b)(ii)(A) (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*);

- "Renminbi", "RMB" and "CNY" all refer to the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan);
- "Scheduled FX Fixing Date" means any day on which the Calculation Agent is required to determine a Relevant Rate;
- "Settlement Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Settlement Currency Conversion Rate" means, for any Conversion Rate Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Settlement Currency as published on the Conversion Rate Fixing Page at or around the Conversion Rate Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;
- "Settlement Currency Exchange Rate" means, for any Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Settlement Currency as published on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page at or around the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;
- "Settlement Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Specified Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Specified Currency Exchange Rate" means, for any Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Specified Currency as published on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page at or around the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;
- "**Specified Currency Jurisdiction**" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Specified Denomination" means, with respect to a Note in definitive form, the Denomination of such Note:
- "Specified Period" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
- "TARGET2" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer payment system which utilises a single shared platform and which was launched on 19 November 2007;
- "Trade Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "**Transfer date**" shall be the Relevant Banking Day following the day on which the relevant Registered Note shall have been surrendered for transfer;
- "Transfer Expenses" means, with respect to any Notes, all stamp, transfer, registration and similar duties and all expenses, scrip fees, levies and registration charges payable on or in respect of or arising on, or in connection with, the purchase or transfer, delivery or other disposition by the transferor to the order of the relevant Noteholders of any underlying value to which the Notes relate;
- "Treaty" means the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended;
- "Underlying Currency Pair Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business and dealings in foreign exchange in the jurisdiction or place as specified in the relevant Final Terms or if no such jurisdiction or place is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Reference Currency Jurisdiction(s), the Specified Currency Jurisdiction and, if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency Jurisdiction;

"Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate" means:

- the rate of exchange between the Specified Currency and the Reference Currency (expressed as the number of units of Reference Currency per one unit of Specified Currency or as the number of units of Specified Currency per one unit of Reference Currency (as applicable)) as published on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page at the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time on an Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date and as observed by the Calculation Agent or
- (ii) if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of exchange determined in accordance with, or derived from the Specified Currency Exchange Rate and the Reference Currency Exchange Rate, as determined in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner by the Calculation Agent.

The Calculation Agent shall round such rate to the closest four (4) decimal places, 0.00005 being rounded up. If on an Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date the Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent, and (a) if Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate in accordance with the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms or if the Calculation Agent is not able to determine the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate in accordance with such Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are not specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent will determine the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate in accordance with sub-paragraph (i) or (ii), as applicable, of Condition 9(e) (*Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*) or, if Price Source Disruption is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, in its discretion;

"Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date" means each of the dates specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if such date is not an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day the immediately following day that is an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day, or if such date is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the fifth Underlying Currency Pair Business Day prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as applicable) (and for these purposes a day shall be deemed to be an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day (by means of a public announcement or by reference to other publicly available information) on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date notwithstanding it subsequently ceases to be an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day for any reason or the market subsequently becomes aware that it was not an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day);

"Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page as specified as such in the Final Terms or any successor page thereof or, if not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate by reference to the relevant spot rate prevailing in the international exchange market;

"Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time" means the time and place as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms;

"Unscheduled Holiday" means, in relation to a Relevant Rate, a day, determined by the Calculation Agent, that is not a Relevant Currency Business Day and the market was not aware of such fact (by means of a public announcement or by reference to other publicly available information) until on or prior to the second Relevant Currency Business Day (or such other number of Relevant Currency Business Days specified in the relevant Final Terms) immediately preceding the Scheduled FX Fixing Date;

"**Zero Coupon Note**" means a Note specified as such in the relevant Final Terms and in respect of which Condition 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*) is applicable; and

"Zero Coupon Note Reference Price" means the price per Note specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

The following provisions of this Condition 1apply to Alternative General Conditions Notes only.

As used in these Conditions, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

- "Accreted Principal Amount" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 7(e) (Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes);
- "Accrual Yield" means, in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, the percentage rate per annum specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Administrator/Benchmark Event" means, in respect of any Series of Notes and a Relevant Benchmark, any authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision, approval or inclusion in any official register in respect of the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator or sponsor of the Relevant Benchmark has not been, or will not be, obtained or has been, or will be, rejected, refused, suspended or withdrawn by the relevant competent authority or other relevant official body, in each case, as required under any applicable law or regulation in order for the Issuer, the Calculation Agent or any other entity to perform its or their respective obligations in respect of the Notes, all as determined by the Issuer;
- "Affected Relevant Benchmark" means, in relation to any Series of Notes, the Relevant Benchmark affected by a Benchmark Trigger Event;
- "Agents" means each of the Paying Agents, the Transfer Agent, the Issue Agent and the Registrar;
- "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount" means, in respect of Notes which are represented by a global Note or global Notes, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes represented by such global Note(s);
- "Alternative Payment Currency" means the currency, which may be Offshore RMB, specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent" means the relevant amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent converted into the relevant Alternative Payment Currency using the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate for the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date;

"Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate" means:

- (i) the rate of exchange between the Settlement Currency and Alternative Payment Currency (expressed as the number of units of Alternative Payment Currency per one unit of Settlement Currency or as the number of units of Settlement Currency per one unit of Alternative Payment Currency (as applicable)) as published on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page at or around the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date and as observed by the Calculation Agent;
- (ii) if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of exchange determined in accordance with, or derived from the Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate and the Settlement Currency Exchange Rate, as determined by the Calculation Agent; or
- (iii) such other rate as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

The Calculation Agent shall round such rate to the closest four (4) decimal places, 0.00005 being rounded up. If on an Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date the Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent and (a) if Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in accordance with the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms or if the Calculation Agent is not able to determine the relevant Alternative

Payment Currency Exchange Rate in accordance with such Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in its discretion; or (b) if such Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are not specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent will determine the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in accordance with sub-paragraphs (X) or (Y), as applicable, of Condition 9(e) (Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption) or, if Price Source Disruption is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, in its discretion;

"Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate" means, for any Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Alternative Payment Currency as published on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page at or around the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date" means:

- (i) the date specified as such in the Final Terms;
- (ii) if "Condition 1" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as appropriate); or
- (iii) otherwise, the fifth day (or such other number of days specified in the relevant Final Terms) prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as appropriate).

If such date falls on a day that is a Saturday or Sunday or on which commercial banks are not open for general business and dealings in foreign exchange in the jurisdiction or place specified in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such jurisdiction or place is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, the Alternative Payment Currency Jurisdiction and, if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency Jurisdiction (a "closed day"), then:

- (x) if "Condition 1" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date shall be the immediately following calendar day that is not a closed day; and
- (y) otherwise, the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date shall be the immediately preceding calendar day that is not a closed day;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or any successor page thereof or, if such page is not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate by reference to the spot rate prevailing in the international exchange market;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time" means the time and place specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms as being the fixing time and place generally applied in the market for such successor page;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Alternative Payment Settlement Days" means the number of local banking days specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or if the relevant Final Terms does not specify any Alternative Payment Settlement Days then the Alternative Payment Settlement Days shall be deemed to be 3 local banking days;
- "Alternative Pre-nominated Index" means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark, the first of the indices, benchmarks or other price sources specified in the relevant Final Terms as an "Alternative Pre-nominated Index" and which is not subject to a Benchmark Trigger Event;

"Benchmark Trigger Event" means:

- (i) in respect of a Series of Notes that references a Relevant Benchmark that is a Reference Rate or a Floating Rate Option, or any other interest rate, yield, cost of funds or similar rate:
 - (A) an Index Cessation Event; and
 - (B) an Administrator/Benchmark Event;
- (ii) in respect of any other Series of Notes, an Administrator/Benchmark Event;

"Benchmark Trigger Event Determination Date" means, in relation to any Series of Notes and a Relevant Benchmark, the date on which a Benchmark Trigger Event occurred or will be deemed to have occurred in relation to such Relevant Benchmark, as determined by the Issuer in its sole discretion;

"Business Centre" means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Business Day" means:

- (i) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a Euro Business Day and a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London and each (if any) Business Centre and on which the relevant Clearing System is open for business; or
- (ii) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London, in the principal financial centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Business Centre and on which the relevant Clearing System is open for business;

"Business Day Convention", in relation to any particular date, has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms and, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, may have different meanings in relation to different dates and, in this context, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

- (i) "Following Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day;
- (ii) "Modified Following Business Day Convention" or "Modified Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first preceding day that is a Business Day;
- (iii) "Preceding Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be brought forward to the first preceding day that is a Business Day;
- (iv) "FRN Convention", "Floating Rate Convention" or "Eurodollar Convention" means that each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in the calendar month which is the number of months specified in the relevant Final Terms as the Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred provided, however, that:
 - (A) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in that calendar month;
 - (B) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Business Day; and

- (C) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred; and
- (v) "No Adjustment" means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any Business Day Convention;

"Calculation Amount" means the amount in the Denomination Currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Clearing System" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, and/or any other clearing system specified in the relevant Final Terms in which Notes of the relevant Series are for the time being held, or, in relation to an individual Note, in which that Note is for the time being held;

"Clearing System Currency Eligibility Event" means the relevant Clearing System(s) ceases to accept payments in the Settlement Currency;

"Clearstream, Luxembourg" means Clearstream Banking S.A.;

"Conversion Rate" means:

- (i) the conversion rate of exchange specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- (ii) if such rate is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of exchange between the Denomination Currency and the Settlement Currency (expressed as the number of units of Settlement Currency per one unit of Denomination Currency or as the number of units of the Denomination Currency per one unit of Settlement Currency (as applicable)) as published on the Conversion Rate Fixing Page at the Conversion Rate Fixing Time on the Conversion Rate Fixing Date and as observed by the Calculation Agent; or
- (iii) if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the conversion rate of exchange determined in accordance with, or derived from the Denomination Currency Conversion Rate and the Settlement Currency Conversion Rate, as determined by the Calculation Agent.

The Calculation Agent shall round such rate to the closest four (4) decimal places, 0.00005 being rounded up. If on a Conversion Rate Fixing Date the Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent, and (a) if Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Conversion Rate in accordance with the Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms or if the Calculation Agent is not able to determine the relevant Conversion Rate in accordance with such Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Conversion Rate in its discretion; or (b) if Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions are not specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent will determine the Conversion Rate in accordance with Condition 9(e) (*Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*) or Condition 9(f) (*Payments – EM Price Source Disruption*) (as applicable) or, if neither Price Source Disruption or EM Price Source Disruption are specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, in its discretion;

"Conversion Rate Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business and dealings in foreign exchange in the jurisdiction or place specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such jurisdiction or place is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, Denomination Currency Jurisdiction and, if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency Jurisdiction;

"Conversion Rate Fixing Date" means each of the dates specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or if such date is not a Conversion Rate Business Day the immediately following day that is a Conversion Rate Business Day or, if such date is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the fifth Conversion Rate Business Day prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or

other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as applicable) (and for these purposes a day shall be deemed to be a Conversion Rate Business Day if the market was not aware of it not being a Conversion Rate Business Day (by means of a public announcement or by reference to other publicly available information) on the Conversion Rate Fixing Date notwithstanding it subsequently ceases to be a Conversion Rate Business Day for any reason or the market subsequently becomes aware that it was not a Conversion Rate Business Day);

"Conversion Rate Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page specified as such in the Final Terms or any successor page thereof or, if such page is not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Conversion Rate by reference to the spot rate prevailing in the international exchange market;

"Conversion Rate Fixing Time" means the time and place specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Conversion Rate Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms as being the fixing time and place generally applied in the market for such successor page;

"Cross Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, or if such currency is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency shall mean USD;

"Cross Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the "Calculation Period"), such day count fraction as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms and:

- (i) if "Actual/Actual", "Actual/Actual (ISDA)", "Act/Act" or "Act/Act (ISDA)" is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (i) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (ii) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" or "Act/Act (ICMA)" is so specified means:
 - (a) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
 - (b) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:
 - (A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any one year; and
 - (B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year;
- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)", "Act/365 (Fixed)", "A/365 (Fixed)" or "A/365F" is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365;
- (iv) if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365, or in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;

- (v) if "Actual/360", "Act/360" or "A/360" is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360;
- (vi) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1) + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)]}{360}$$

where:

" \mathbf{Y}_1 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" Y_2 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

 ${}^{\text{"}}\mathbf{M}_{2}{}^{\text{"}}$ is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"D₁" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D₁ will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D_1 is greater than 29, in which case D_2 will be 30;

(vii) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1) + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)]}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls:

" Y_2 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 ${}^{\text{"}}M_{1}{}^{\text{"}}$ is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" M_2 " is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30;

(viii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1) + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)]}{360}$$

where:

"Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls:

" Y_2 " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" M_1 " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{D_1}$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30;

"**Deferral Period**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 9(e) (*Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*);

"**Denomination Currency**" means the currency of denomination of the Notes specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Denomination Currency Conversion Rate" means, for any Conversion Rate Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Denomination Currency as published on the Conversion Rate Fixing Page at or around the Conversion Rate Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"**Denomination Currency Jurisdiction**" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"**Derivative Component**" means the option component(s) or embedded derivative(s) in respect of the nominal amount of the Notes or the interest amount due under the Notes;

"Derivative Component Market Value" means, in relation to any Note which is to be redeemed early, the market value of the Derivative Component (which can be positive or negative) as determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to the mark-to-market value of such Derivative Component taking into account the time remaining until the scheduled maturity date of the Notes and calculated in accordance with generally accepted valuation methods for such instruments in the financial markets, **provided that** any costs incurred by the Issuer in relation to the early redemption of the Notes or the termination of any hedging arrangements (other than the negative mark-to-market value of such Derivative Component, if applicable), shall not be taken into account when determining the Derivative Component Market Value;

"Early Redemption Amount" means, in relation to each Note or Calculation Amount, as applicable,

- (i) where the event giving rise to the early redemption does not constitute Force Majeure
 - (a) an amount equal to the percentage per Calculation Amount;
 - (b) its Fair Market Value;
 - (c) its Market Value 1;

- (d) its Market Value 2;
- (e) its Principal Protected Amount;
- (f) its Highest Value (Vanilla);
- (g) its Highest Value (Structured); or
- (h) its Accreted Principal Amount,

in each case (i) as specified in the relevant Final Terms for the event giving rise to the early redemption and calculated in accordance with, and subject to, Condition 7(j) (*Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding*), and (ii) without prejudice to Condition 7(l) (*Redemption and Purchase - Monetisation Option*), if "Monetisation Option" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, or

- (ii) where the event giving rise to the early redemption constitutes Force Majeure, an amount determined by the Calculation Agent, as of the Early Redemption Valuation Date, equal to the fair market value of such Note determined by reference to:
 - (a) if the Note is actively traded on a regulated market, multilateral trading facility or over-the-counter market and where recent observable bid and ask prices are available, by reference to such prices;
 - (b) if the Note is not traded on a regulated market, multilateral trading facility or over-the-counter market, or where, in the reasonable determination of the Calculation Agent, no recent observable bid and ask prices that represent the market value of such Notes are available, by reference to a generally accepted valuation method for such instrument in the financial markets,

and **provided that** any costs incurred by the Issuer in relation to the early redemption of the Notes or the termination of any hedging arrangements (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any negative mark-to-market value of the Derivative Component, if applicable), shall not be taken into account when determining such amount.

"Early Redemption Valuation Date" means the date on which the Issuer determines that it will exercise its option to redeem the Notes early, such date being notified to Noteholders in the relevant notice of early redemption;

"EM Deferral Period" means, in respect of a Scheduled FX Fixing Date, a period of such number of calendar days as specified in the relevant Final Terms, beginning on and including the relevant Scheduled FX Fixing Date;

"EMU Event" means the occurrence of any of the following, as determined by the Calculation Agent, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner:

- (i) the withdrawal from legal tender of any currency that, before the introduction of the euro, was lawful currency in one of the member states;
- (ii) the redenomination of any underlying value to which the Notes relate into euro;
- (iii) any change in the currency of denomination of any index;
- (iv) any change in the currency in which some or all the securities or other property contained in any index is denominated;
- (v) the disappearance or replacement of a relevant rate option or other price source for the national currency of any member state, or the failure of the agreed sponsor (or successor sponsor) to publish or display a relevant rate, index, price, page or screen; or
- (vi) the change by any organised market, exchange or clearance, payment or settlement system in the unit of account of its operating procedures to the euro;

"Euro", "euro" "EUR", "€" each means the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that have adopted or adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty;

"Euro Business Day" or "TARGET Business Day" means a day on which TARGET2 is open for settlement of payments in euro;

"Euroclear" means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.;

"exchange date" shall be the Relevant Banking Day following the day on which the relevant Bearer Note shall have been surrendered for exchange in the manner specified in Condition 13(Replacement, Exchange and Transfer);

"Fair Market Value" means, in relation to any Note which is to be redeemed early, its fair market value immediately prior to the early redemption date, as determined by the Issuer (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) and/or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, less any reasonable costs and expenses of the Issuer and/or any affiliate of the Issuer of unwinding any underlying and/or related hedging and/or funding arrangements, and any such calculation of the fair market value shall have the effect of preserving for the Noteholders the economic equivalent of the obligations of the Issuer to make payments in respect of the Notes which would, but for such early redemption, have fallen due after the relevant early redemption date. For the purposes of calculating the Fair Market Value following an Event of Default pursuant to Condition 11 (Events of Default) only, in determining the fair market value of the Notes, no account shall be taken of the creditworthiness of the Issuer, who shall be deemed to be able to perform fully its obligations in respect of the Notes;

"Fallback Conversion Rate" means, on any date, the rate of exchange between the Denomination Currency and the Settlement Currency (expressed as the number of units of Settlement Currency per one unit of Denomination Currency or as the number of units of the Denomination Currency per one unit of Settlement Currency (as applicable)) as determined by the Calculation Agent in good faith and published on the Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Page at the Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Time for such date;

"Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page or the relevant section of the EMTA website specified as such in the Final Terms (or any successor page or website thereof), or if such page or section of the EMTA website is not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page or website, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Conversion Rate from such other source generally applied in the market for determining such exchange rate;

"Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Time" means the time and place specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms as being the fixing time and place generally applied in the market for such successor page;

"Fee Component" means any costs, as notified by the Issuer to the Calculation Agent (including but not limited to any structuring costs) which were included in the issue price of the relevant Note in an amount equal to the amount of such costs multiplied by the number of days from the Early Redemption Valuation Date to the Maturity Date and divided by the number of days from the Issue Date until the Maturity Date of such Notes;

"**Final Redemption Amount**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 7(a) (*Redemption and Purchase – At Maturity*);

"Fixed Rate Note" means a Note which bears interest at a fixed rate and in respect of which Condition 4 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions) is applicable;

"Floating Rate Note" means a Note which bears interest at a floating rate and in respect of which the relevant provisions of Condition 5 (*Floating Rate Note*, *Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) are applicable;

"Floating Rate Option" means, in relation to a Note to which ISDA Determination applies, a rate or price source specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Force Majeure" means any force majeure, act of state, or other event or circumstance occurring after the Issue Date as a consequence of which the fulfilment of the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes has become impossible through the occurrence of an external event that is not attributable to the Issuer;

"FX Cut-off Date" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 9(e) (Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption);

"FX Disruption Event" means the occurrence, as determined by the Calculation Agent, of (i) (a) an Inconvertibility, (b) Non-transferability, (c) Illiquidity or (d) any other event affecting the Denomination Currency, Cross Currency, Reference Currency, Settlement Currency or Specified Currency (as applicable) (the "FX Disruption Relevant Currency") which would make it unlawful or not possible using commercially reasonable efforts for reasons outside the control of the Issuer and/or the Calculation Agent, in whole or in part, (including without limitation, as a result of compliance with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive or with any requirement or request of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial power) for the Issuer (or the Issuer's affiliate) to pay or receive amounts in the FX Disruption Relevant Currency; or (ii) if Offshore RMB is specified as the applicable FX Disruption Relevant Currency, each of the events specified in (i) above, plus an Offshore RMB Disruption;

"Governmental Authority" means any *de facto* or *de jure* government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) in the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or, where the Settlement Currency is specified to be RMB, in the PRC and each Offshore RMB Centre;

"Government Bonds" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, bonds or any other debt securities issued by a government, government agency or subdivision or a transnational or supranational organisation as specified in the relevant Final Terms and "Government Bond" shall be construed accordingly;

"Highest Value (Structured)" means, in relation to any Note which is to be redeemed early, the higher of Market Value 2 and the Principal Protected Amount, provided that

- (i) any costs incurred by the Issuer in relation to the early redemption of the Notes or the termination of any hedging arrangements, shall not be taken into account when determining Highest Value (Structured); and
- (ii) where Highest Value (Structured) is specified as the relevant Early Redemption Amount in the relevant Final Terms, the Fee Component shall be added to Highest Value (Structured);

"Highest Value (Vanilla)" means, in relation to any Note which is to be redeemed early, the higher of Market Value 1 and the Principal Protected Amount, provided that

- (i) any costs incurred by the Issuer in relation to the early redemption of the Notes or the termination of any hedging arrangements, shall not be taken into account when determining Highest Value (Vanilla); and
- (ii) where Highest Value (Vanilla) is specified as the relevant Early Redemption Amount in the relevant Final Terms, the Fee Component shall be added to Highest Value (Vanilla);

"Illiquidity" means where the foreign exchange market in the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction becomes illiquid after the Trade Date and, as a result of which, the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient Settlement Currency in order to satisfy its obligation to pay any amount in respect of the Notes as determined by the Issuer acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation (if practicable) with two Reference Dealers;

"Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible for the Issuer to convert any amount due in respect of the Notes in the foreign exchange market in the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental

Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"Index Cessation Event" means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark which is a Reference Rate or a Floating Rate Option, or any other interest rate, yield, cost of funds or similar rate, the occurrence or existence, as determined by the Issuer, of one or more of the following events:

- (a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark announcing that it has ceased or will cease to provide the Relevant Benchmark permanently or indefinitely, **provided that**, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Relevant Benchmark;
- (b) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark, the central bank for the currency of the Relevant Benchmark, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Relevant Benchmark, a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Relevant Benchmark or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Relevant Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark has ceased or will cease to provide the Relevant Benchmark permanently or indefinitely, **provided that**, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to produce the Relevant Benchmark;
- if the Relevant Benchmark is the Sterling London interbank offered rate, the Swiss Franc London interbank offered rate, the U.S. Dollar London interbank offered rate, the Euro London interbank offered rate, the Japanese Yen London interbank offered rate, the Singapore Dollar swap offer rate or the Thai Baht interest rate fixing (each, a "Specified Rate"), a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Relevant Benchmark announcing (i) that such Relevant Benchmark is no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer be, capable of being representative, or is non-representative, of the underlying market and economic reality that such Relevant Benchmark is intended to measure as required by applicable law or regulation and as determined by the regulatory supervisor in accordance with applicable law or regulation and (ii) that the intention of that statement or publication is to engage contractual triggers for fallbacks activated by pre-cessation announcements by such supervisor (howsoever described) in contracts;
- (d) if the Relevant Benchmark is not a Specified Rate, the making of a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark that, in the view of such supervisor or administrator, the Relevant Benchmark is no longer representative of an underlying market; or
- the making of a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark as a consequence of which the Relevant Benchmark will, on or before a specified date (i) be prohibited from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, either generally, or in respect of the Notes or (ii) be recommended for informational purposes only rather than for use as a benchmark reference rate for securities such as the Notes;

"Index-Linked Interest Note" means a Note which bears interest at a rate determined by reference to an index or any other variable as specified in the relevant Final Terms and in respect of which Condition 5(f)(Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions) is applicable;

"Initial Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate" means the rate of exchange between the Specified Currency and the Reference Currency (expressed as the number of units of Reference Currency per one unit of Specified Currency or as the number of units of Specified Currency per one unit of Reference Currency (as applicable)) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Interest Commencement Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Interest Determination Date" means the day determined by the Calculation Agent to be customary for fixing the Reference Rate applicable to deposits in the Relevant Currency for the relevant Interest Period or as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Interest Payment Date" means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the relevant Final Terms:

- as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention;
 or
- (ii) if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at such Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other case);

"Interest Period" means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date;

"IRC" means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986;

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and supplemented as at the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series), as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc ("ISDA") (copies of which may be obtained from ISDA at www.isda.org);

"Issue Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"LBMA" means the London Bullion Market Association or its successor;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity" means each commodity specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event" means, as determined by the Calculation Agent, an event which is beyond the control of the Issuer or the transferor of the relevant amount of interest, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount and/or any other amount in respect of the Notes and as a result of which the Issuer or such transferor is unable to effect a relevant delivery;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Fallback Redemption Amount" means an amount in the Settlement Currency, US Dollar or such other currency as determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion in respect of each Note determined by the Calculation Agent, in its sole and absolute discretion, with reference to the price of the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity to in the spot market on the relevant Conversion Rate Fixing Date or Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date (as applicable);

"LBMA Physical Settlement Market Disruption Event" means: (i) the material suspension of, or the material limitation imposed on, trading in the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity on any exchange or principal trading market which the Calculation Agent considers material in relation to the Notes; (ii) the disappearance of, or of trading in the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity; or (iii) the disappearance or permanent discontinuance or unavailability of the Conversion Rate or Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate notwithstanding the status of trading in the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity;

"**LBMA Transfer Notice**" has the meaning given in Condition 9(h) (*Payments – LBMA Physical Settlement*):

"LIBOR" means, in respect of any Relevant Currency and any specified period, the interest rate benchmark known as the London interbank offered rate which is calculated and published by a designated distributor (currently Reuters) in accordance with the requirements from time to time of ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (or any other person which takes over the administration of that rate) based on estimated interbank borrowing rates for a number of designated currencies and maturities which are provided, in respect of each such currency, by a panel of contributor banks (details of historic LIBOR rates can be obtained from the designated distributor);

"local banking day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the city in which the Principal Paying Agent, the Paying Agent, or the Registrar or the Transfer Agent to which the relevant Note or Coupon is presented for payment is located;

"Margin" means the percentage rate per annum (or such other applicable period of time) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Market Value 1" means, in relation to any Note which is to be redeemed early, an amount determined by the Calculation Agent, as of the Early Redemption Valuation Date, equal to the fair market value of such Note determined by reference to:

- (a) if the Note is actively traded on a regulated market, multilateral trading facility or overthe-counter market and where recent observable bid and ask prices are available, by reference to such prices;
- (b) if the Note is not traded on a regulated market, multilateral trading facility or over-thecounter market, or where, in the reasonable determination of the Calculation Agent, no recent observable bid and ask prices that represent the market value of such Notes are available, by reference to a generally accepted valuation method for such instrument in the financial markets,

provided that

- (i) for the purposes of calculating Market Value 1 following an Event of Default pursuant to Condition 11 (*Events of Default*) only, in determining the fair market value of the Notes, no account shall be taken of the creditworthiness of the Issuer, who shall be deemed to be able to perform fully its obligations in respect of the Note;
- (ii) any costs incurred by the Issuer in relation to the early redemption of the Notes or the termination of any hedging arrangements, shall not be taken into account when determining Market Value 1; and
- (iii) where Market Value 1 is specified as the relevant Early Redemption Amount in the relevant Final Terms, the Fee Component shall be added to Market Value 1;

"Market Value 2" means, in relation to any Note which is to be redeemed early, an amount determined by the Calculation Agent, as of the Early Redemption Valuation Date, equal to the fair market value of such Note which shall be the aggregate of (i) the present value of the savings component of the Notes on the Early Redemption Valuation Date (as calculated by the Calculation Agent by reference to a generally accepted valuation method for such instruments in the financial markets) and (ii) the Derivative Component Market Value, **provided that**,

- (a) for the purposes of calculating Market Value 2 following an Event of Default pursuant to Condition 11 (*Events of Default*) only, in determining the fair market value of the Notes, no account shall be taken of the creditworthiness of the Issuer, who shall be deemed to be able to perform fully its obligations in respect of the Notes;
- (b) any costs incurred by the Issuer in relation to the early redemption of the Notes or the termination of any hedging arrangements (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any negative value of the Derivative Component Market Value), shall not be taken into account when determining Market Value 2; and

(c) where Market Value 2 is specified as the relevant Early Redemption Amount in the relevant Final Terms, the Fee Component shall be added to Market Value 2;

"**Maturity Date**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 7(a) (*Redemption and Purchase – At Maturity*);

"Maximum Interest Rate" means the percentage rate per annum (or such other applicable period of time) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Maximum Redemption Amount (Call Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Maximum Redemption Amount (Put Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Minimum Interest Rate" means the percentage rate per annum (or such other applicable period of time) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Minimum Redemption Amount (Call Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Minimum Redemption Amount (Put Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Monetisation Amount" means, in respect of a Note, the higher of (i) the Principal Protected Amount (if any) and (ii) the amount calculated by the Calculation Agent as follows:

$$(S+D+F)\times (1+r)^n$$

Where:

"S" is the present value of the savings component of the Notes on the Early Redemption Valuation Date (calculated by the Calculation Agent by reference to a generally accepted valuation method for such instruments in the financial markets);

"D" is the Derivative Component Market Value on the Early Redemption Valuation Date;

"**F**" is the Fee Component;

"r" is a hypothetical annual interest rate that would be applied on an equivalent hypothetical debt instrument issued by the Issuer with the same maturity as the remaining maturing on the Notes from the Early Redemption Valuation Date until the scheduled maturity date of the Notes; and

"n" is the time remaining until the scheduled maturity date of the Notes, expressed as a number of years;

"National Currency Unit" means the national currency unit of any Participating Member State that becomes a denomination of the euro by reason of Council Regulation (EC) No. 1103/97, Council Regulation (EC) No. 974/98 or any other applicable laws;

"Non-transferability" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible for the Issuer to transfer Settlement Currency between accounts inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or from an account inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction to an account outside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or from an account outside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction to an account inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"Offshore RMB" means RMB that is freely deliverable between accounts in the Offshore RMB Centre in accordance with the law and applicable regulation and guidelines issued by relevant authorities in the Offshore RMB Centre prevailing as of the Trade Date of the Notes;

- "Offshore RMB Centre" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "**Offshore RMB Disruption**" means the occurrence of, as determined by the Calculation Agent, an Offshore RMB Inconvertibility, Offshore RMB Non-transferability or Offshore RMB Illiquidity;
- "Offshore RMB Illiquidity" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible (where it has previously been possible) for the Issuer to obtain a firm quote of an offer price in respect of any amount in Offshore RMB in order to satisfy its obligation to pay an amount under the Notes (the "Relevant Disrupted Amount"), in each case on the due date for payment, Valuation Date, Conversion Rate Fixing Date or Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date (as the case may be), either in one transaction or a commercially reasonable number of transactions that, when taken together, is no less than such Relevant Disrupted Amount, in the general Offshore RMB exchange market in each Offshore RMB Centre in order to perform its obligations under the Notes:
- "Offshore RMB Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible (where it had previously been possible) for the Issuer to convert an amount of Offshore RMB no less than the Relevant Disrupted Amount into or from USD (or, if the Settlement Currency specified in the Final Terms is other than USD, then such Settlement Currency) in the general Offshore RMB exchange market in each Offshore RMB Centre, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date of the Notes and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);
- "Offshore RMB Non-Transferability" means the occurrence in each Offshore RMB Centre of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible (where it had previously been possible) for the Issuer to transfer Offshore RMB (i) between accounts inside an Offshore RMB Centre, (ii) from an account inside an Offshore RMB Centre to an account outside such Offshore RMB Centre and outside the PRC, or (iii) from an account outside an Offshore RMB Centre and outside the PRC to an account inside such Offshore RMB Centre, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date of the Notes and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation). For the purpose of Offshore RMB Non-Transferability and Hong Kong as an Offshore RMB Centre only, a segregated Chinese Renminbi fiduciary cash account with the People's Bank of China and operated by Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited shall be deemed to be an account inside Hong Kong;
- "Optional Redemption Date (Call Option)" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms on which the Notes are being redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(c) (Redemption at the Option of the Issuer Call Option));
- "Optional Redemption Date (Put Option)" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms on which the Notes are being redeemed pursuant to Condition7(d) (Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option));
- "Participating Member States" means any member state of the European Union which adopts the single currency in accordance with the Treaty;
- "PRC" means solely for the purpose stated herein, the People's Republic of China excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong") and the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Macau") and Taiwan;
- "Price Materiality" means the Calculation Agent has determined that the Conversion Rate differs from the Fallback Conversion Rate by the Price Materiality Threshold Percentage or more (**provided that** if the Calculation Agent is unable to determine the Fallback Conversion Rate, the Calculation Agent may determine in its sole discretion (acting in a commercially reasonable manner) whether a Price Materiality has occurred).

"Price Materiality Threshold Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Final Terms, or is no such percentage is specified, three per cent.

"**Price Source Disruption**" means, in relation to a Relevant Rate, such Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Principal Protected Amount" means an amount, if any, specified as such in the relevant Final Terms in respect of Notes;

"Rate of Interest" means:

- (i) where the Fixed Rate Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the rate of interest specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- (ii) where the Floating Rate Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the rate of interest determined in accordance with Conditions 5(c) (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions Screen Rate Determination), 5(d) (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions ISDA Determination), as applicable or 5(e) (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions Non-indexed Overnight Rate Determination); and
- (iii) where the Index-Linked Interest Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the rate of interest determined in accordance with Condition 5(f) (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions Index-Linked Interest);

"**Redemption Amount**" has the meaning given in Condition 7(j) (*Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding*);

"**Redemption Amount (Call Option)**" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount or its Fair Market Value, in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms and calculated in accordance with, and subject to, Condition 7(j) (*Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding*);

"Redemption Amount (Put Option)" means, in relation to each Note, the percentage of its Calculation Amount or its Fair Market Value, in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms and calculated in accordance with, and subject to, Condition 7(j) (*Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding*);

"Redenomination Date" means a date (being, in the case of interest-bearing Notes, a date on which interest in respect of such Notes is payable) which:

- (i) is specified by the Issuer in the notice given to the Noteholders pursuant to Condition 10(a) (*Redenomination General*); and
- (ii) falls on or after such date as the country of the Settlement Currency becomes a Participating Member State;

"Reference Bank(s)" means four major banks selected by the Calculation Agent in the market that is most closely connected with the Reference Rate;

"Reference Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Reference Dealers" means leading dealers in the relevant foreign exchange market, as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Reference Currency Exchange Rate" means, for any Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Reference Currency as published on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page at or around the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"Reference Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Reference Rate" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"Regular Period" means:

- (i) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and including one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date;
- (ii) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and
- (iii) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period;

"Related Payment Date" means any payment date on the Notes on which the amount payable is calculated by reference to the Relevant Rate determined on the related Scheduled FX Fixing Date;

"Relevant Banking Day" means a day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the place where the specified office of the Registrar is located and, in the case only of an exchange of a Bearer Note for a Registered Note where such request for exchange is made to the Principal Paying Agent or the Transfer Agent, in the place where the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the Transfer Agent is located;

"Relevant Benchmark" means, in relation to any Series of Notes:

- (i) each Reference Rate, Floating Rate Option or other interest rate, yield, cost of fund or similar rate specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Reference Rate or Floating Rate Option);
- (ii) each Relevant Rate specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Relevant Rate);
- (iii) each Index specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Index);
- (iv) each Commodity Reference Price specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Commodity Reference Price); or
- (v) any other index, benchmark or price source specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Notes.

To the extent that any index, benchmark or price source constitutes an Alternative Pre-nominated Index or Replacement Index used pursuant to Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*), such index, benchmark or price source, as applicable, shall be a "Relevant Benchmark" from the day on which it is first used;

"Relevant Benchmark Determination Date" means, in relation to any Series of Notes and a Relevant Benchmark, a date on which the rate, level or value of such Relevant Benchmark falls to be determined in accordance with the Conditions;

"Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date" means, in relation to any Series of Notes, a Relevant Benchmark and a Relevant Benchmark Determination Date, any payment date under the Notes for which the amount payable is calculated by reference to the Relevant Benchmark as determined on such Relevant Benchmark Determination Date;

"Relevant Currency" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"Relevant Currency Business Day" means, in relation to a Relevant Rate that is the:

- (i) Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate or Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate or Settlement Currency Exchange Rate (which is being determined for the purposes of determining the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate), an Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date;
- (ii) Conversion Rate or Denomination Currency Conversion Rate or Settlement Currency Conversion Rate (which is being determined for the purposes of determining the Conversion Rate), a Conversion Rate Business Day; or
- (iii) Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate, Specified Currency Exchange Rate or Reference Currency Exchange Rate, an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day;

"Relevant Financial Centre Day" means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre or centres for the currency in which payment falls to be made (or, where such currency is a National Currency Unit and the Notes have been redenominated into euro pursuant to Condition 10 (*Redenomination*), the former principal financial centre or centres) and in any other place set out in the Final Terms. In the case of payments which fall to be made in euro (save for payments in relation to Notes which have been redenominated into euros pursuant to Condition 10 (*Redenomination*)), a Euro Business Day. The Relevant Financial Centre Days in relation to any Tranche determined in accordance with the above provisions as at the Issue Date shall be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Relevant Financial Centre" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark:

- (i) the central bank for the currency in which the Relevant Benchmark is denominated or any central bank or other supervisor which is responsible for supervising either the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark; or
- (ii) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by, or constituted at the request of (i) the central bank for the currency in which the Relevant Benchmark is denominated, (ii) any central bank or other supervisor which is responsible for supervising either the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark, (iii) a group of those central banks or other supervisors or (iv) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof;

"Relevant Rate" means the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate, Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate, Conversion Rate, Denomination Currency Conversion Rate, Reference Currency Exchange Rate, Settlement Currency Exchange Rate, Settlement Currency Conversion Rate, Specified Currency Exchange Rate or Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate (as applicable);

"Relevant Reference Asset Fallback Provisions" means:

(i) in relation to a Series of Index-Linked Notes where the Affected Relevant Benchmark is an Index, Condition 21(f)(iii) (*Index Cancellation*), as if the relevant Benchmark Trigger Event were an Index Cancellation; and

- (iii) in relation to any Series of Notes where the Affected Relevant Benchmark is a Relevant Rate:
 - (a) if (A) "Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms or (B) neither "Price Source Disruption" nor "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, Condition 9(e) (*Payments Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*), as if the relevant Benchmark Trigger Event were a Price Source Disruption; and
 - (b) if "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, Condition 9(f) (*Payments EM Price Source Disruption*), as if the relevant Benchmark Trigger Event were a Price Source Disruption;

"Relevant Screen Page" means the page, section or other part of a particular information service (including, without limitation, Reuters) specified as the Relevant Screen Page in the relevant Final Terms, or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the Reference Rate;

"Relevant Time" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"**Replacement Index**" has the meaning given to it in Condition 15A(b)(ii)(A) (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*);

"Renminbi", "RMB" and "CNY" all refer to the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan);

"Scheduled FX Fixing Date" means any day on which the Calculation Agent is required to determine a Relevant Rate;

"Settlement Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Settlement Currency Conversion Rate" means, for any Conversion Rate Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Settlement Currency as published on the Conversion Rate Fixing Page at or around the Conversion Rate Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"Settlement Currency Exchange Rate" means, for any Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Settlement Currency as published on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page at or around the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"**Settlement Currency Jurisdiction**" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Specified Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Specified Currency Exchange Rate" means, for any Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Specified Currency as published on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page at or around the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"Specified Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms:

"Specified Denomination" means, with respect to a Note in definitive form, the Denomination of such Note;

"Specified Period" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"TARGET2" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer payment system which utilises a single shared platform and which was launched on 19 November 2007;

"Trade Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Transfer date" shall be the Relevant Banking Day following the day on which the relevant Registered Note shall have been surrendered for transfer;

"Transfer Expenses" means, with respect to any Notes, all stamp, transfer, registration and similar duties and all expenses, scrip fees, levies and registration charges payable on or in respect of or arising on, or in connection with, the purchase or transfer, delivery or other disposition by the transferor to the order of the relevant Noteholders of any underlying value to which the Notes relate;

"Treaty" means the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended;

"Underlying Currency Pair Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business and dealings in foreign exchange in the jurisdiction or place as specified in the relevant Final Terms or if no such jurisdiction or place is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Reference Currency Jurisdiction(s), the Specified Currency Jurisdiction and, if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency Jurisdiction;

"Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate" means

- (i) the rate of exchange between the Specified Currency and the Reference Currency (expressed as the number of units of Reference Currency per one unit of Specified Currency or as the number of units of Specified Currency per one unit of Reference Currency (as applicable)) as published on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page at the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time on an Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date and as observed by the Calculation Agent or
- (ii) if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of exchange determined in accordance with, or derived from the Specified Currency Exchange Rate and the Reference Currency Exchange Rate, as determined in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner by the Calculation Agent.

The Calculation Agent shall round such rate to the closest four (4) decimal places, 0.00005 being rounded up. If on an Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date the Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent, and (a) if Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate in accordance with the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms or if the Calculation Agent is not able to determine the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate in accordance with such Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are not specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent will determine the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate in accordance with sub-paragraph (i) or (ii), as applicable, of Condition 9(e) (*Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*) or, if Price Source Disruption is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, in its discretion;

"Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date" means each of the dates specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if such date is not an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day the immediately following day that is an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day, or if such date is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the fifth Underlying Currency Pair Business Day prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as applicable) (and for these purposes a day shall be deemed to be an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day if the market was not aware of it not being an Underlying Currency Pair Business

Day (by means of a public announcement or by reference to other publicly available information) on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date notwithstanding it subsequently ceases to be an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day for any reason or the market subsequently becomes aware that it was not an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day);

"Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page as specified as such in the Final Terms or any successor page thereof or, if not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate by reference to the relevant spot rate prevailing in the international exchange market;

"Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time" means the time and place as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms as being the fixing time and place generally applied in the market for such successor page;

"Unscheduled Holiday" means, in relation to a Relevant Rate, a day, determined by the Calculation Agent, that is not a Relevant Currency Business Day and the market was not aware of such fact (by means of a public announcement or by reference to other publicly available information) until on or prior to the second Relevant Currency Business Day (or such other number of Relevant Currency Business Days specified in the relevant Final Terms) immediately preceding the Scheduled FX Fixing Date;

"**Zero Coupon Note**" means a Note specified as such in the relevant Final Terms and in respect of which Condition 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*) is applicable; and

"Zero Coupon Note Reference Price" means the price per Note specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

2. Form, Denomination and Title

(a) Form; Certifications

Notes are issued in bearer form ("**Bearer Notes**") or in registered form ("**Registered Notes**") as set out in the relevant Final Terms. Bearer Notes issued in definitive form are referred to as "**Definitive Notes**". Definitive Notes will be serially numbered. In the case of Registered Notes, a certificate will be issued to each Noteholder in respect of its registered holding. Each such certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded in the register (the "**Register**") maintained by the Registrar in respect of the Registered Notes.

(b) **Bearer Notes**

(i) Denomination

Subject to Condition 10 (*Redenomination*), Bearer Notes will be in the denomination(s) specified in the relevant Final Terms. Bearer Notes of one denomination will not be exchangeable after their initial delivery for Notes of any other denomination.

(ii) General; Title

Interest-bearing Definitive Notes will, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, have attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery Coupons, presentation of which will be a prerequisite to the payment of interest in certain circumstances specified below. Interest-bearing Definitive Notes will also, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, have attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery, a Talon for further coupons and the expression "Coupons" shall, where the context so permits, include Talons.

Notes, the principal amount of which is repayable in instalments ("Instalment Notes") which are Definitive Notes will have endorsed thereon a grid for

recording the repayment of principal or will, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, have attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery, payment receipts ("**Receipts**") in respect of the instalments of principal.

Subject as set out below, title to Bearer Notes will pass by delivery. References herein to the "**Holders**" of Bearer Notes or of Coupons are to the bearers of such Bearer Notes or such Coupons.

To the extent permitted by law, the Issuer, the Principal Paying Agent, any other Paying Agents and the Registrar may deem and treat the Holder of any Bearer Note or of any Coupon as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for the purpose of receiving payment on account thereof and for all other purposes.

(c) Registered Notes

(i) Denomination

Registered Notes will be in the denomination(s) and multiples specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(ii) General; Title

Title to Registered Notes passes by registration in the Register. References herein to the "**Holders**" of Registered Notes are to the persons in whose names such Registered Notes are so registered in the Register.

To the extent permitted by law, the Issuer, the Principal Paying Agent, any other Paying Agents and the Registrar may deem and treat the person in whose name any Registered Note is registered (and, if more than one, the first named thereof) as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for the purpose of receiving payment on account thereof and for all other purposes.

(iii) Regulations concerning transfer and registration of Registered Notes

All transfers of Registered Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations (the "**Regulations**") concerning exchange and transfer of Registered Notes scheduled to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement. The Regulations may be amended, supplemented or replaced by the Issuer with the prior written approval of the Registrar but without the consent of the Holders of any Notes. A copy of the current Regulations are available for inspection during usual business hours at the specified office of the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.

3. Status

- (a) The Notes are direct, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari* passu without any preference among themselves and, at their date of issue, (save for certain obligations required to be preferred by law) with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer for the time being outstanding.
- (b) The Notes do not create or transfer in favour of the Noteholder any legal, proprietary, beneficial or other interest in (including, without limitation, voting rights, as applicable) or right to acquire or dispose of any underlying (including, without limitation any reference asset or reference index) or any related purchase, sale, entry into or maintenance of one or more (i) positions or contracts in securities, funds, options, futures, other derivatives or foreign exchange, (ii) stock loan transactions or (iii) other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) as determined in its absolute discretion by the Issuer or an affiliate in order to hedge, individually or on a portfolio basis, a Note ("**Hedging**

Positions") and Noteholders shall have no legal, proprietary, beneficial or other interest in any underlying or Hedge Position by virtue of any investment in the Notes.

(c) The Issuer is not required to hedge the Notes by holding any corresponding Hedging Positions in any underlying and has discretion to decide its hedging strategy.

4. Fixed Rate Note Provisions

(a) Application

This Condition 4 (*Fixed Rate Note Provisions*) is applicable to the Notes only if the Fixed Rate Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable.

(b) Accrual of interest

Fixed Rate Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate of Interest payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 9 (*Payments*). Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Final Redemption Amount or any other redemption amount, as the case may be, is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 4 (*Fixed Rate Note Provisions*) (as well after as before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the day the Calculation Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment, in which case the Notes will continue to bear interest as aforesaid).

(c) Fixed Coupon Amount

Only if Fixed Coupon Amount is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest Period shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount and, if the Notes are in more than one denomination (as specified in the relevant Final Terms), shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount in respect of the relevant denomination.

(d) Calculation of interest amount

The amount of interest payable in respect of the Notes for any period for which a Fixed Coupon Amount is not specified shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (i) if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, in the case of Notes represented by a global Note or global Notes, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount of the Notes represented by such global Note(s); or
- (ii) in the case of Notes in definitive form or if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is not specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Settlement Currency (as defined in Condition 1 (*Definitions*)) (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention). Where the Specified Denomination of a Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, or the Notes are represented by a global Note or global Notes, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note or, as the case may be, the amount of interest payable in respect of the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount shall be the product of (1) the amount (determined in the manner provided above) of interest payable in relation to the Calculation Amount and (2) the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount (or, in the case of Instalment Notes (as defined in Condition 2(b)(ii) (Form, Denomination and

Title – Bearer Notes – General; Title)), the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount as reduced in proportion with any reduction of the outstanding nominal amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Final Terms without any further rounding). For this purpose a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

5. Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions

The following provisions of this Condition 5 apply to all Notes (other than Alternative General Conditions Notes).

(a) Application

This Condition 5 (*Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note provisions, the Index-Linked Interest Note provisions or other variable-linked interest Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable.

(b) Accrual of interest

Floating Rate Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 9 (*Payments*). Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Final Redemption Amount or any other redemption amount, as the case may be, is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 5 (*Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) (as well after as before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the day the Calculation Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment, in which case the Notes will continue to bear interest as aforesaid).

(c) Screen Rate Determination

If Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis, subject always to the provisions of Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*):

- (i) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, the Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;
- (ii) in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the Reference Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;
- (iii) if, in the case of (i) above, such rate does not appear on that page or, in the case of (ii) above, fewer than two such rates appear on that page or if, in either case, the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, and unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will:
 - (A) request the principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each of the Reference Banks to provide a quotation of the Reference Rate at approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date to

prime banks in the Relevant Financial Centre interbank market in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that market at that time:

- (B) determine the arithmetic mean of such quotations; and
- (iv) if fewer than two such quotations are provided as requested, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the rates (being the nearest to the Reference Rate, as determined by the Calculation Agent) quoted by major banks in the principal financial centre of the Settlement Currency, selected by the Calculation Agent, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (local time in the principal financial centre of the Settlement Currency) on the first day of the relevant Interest Period for loans in the Settlement Currency to leading European banks for a period equal to the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that market at that time,

provided, however, that if the Calculation Agent or the Issuer (in consultation with the Calculation Agent) determines that in its opinion (x) there is no realistic prospect of the Reference Banks providing the quotations specified in (iii)(A) above or (y) any such quotations are unlikely to be representative of an underlying market:

- (A) the Calculation Agent shall not be required to request the quotations specified in (iii)(A) above or to make the determination specified in (iv) above; and
- (B) the Calculation Agent may (in consultation with the Issuer) determine a rate by reference to such other sources and/or methodology as directed by the Issuer acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner.

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean so determined; **provided**, **however**, **that** if the Calculation Agent is unable to (or where the above proviso applies, elects not to) determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in accordance with the above provisions or the relevant Final Terms in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of a preceding Interest Period.

Investors should note that, if the relevant Final Terms specify fall-back provisions that refer to "ISDA Determination" or the ISDA Definitions, then the Calculation Agent may be required to determine the relevant Rate of Interest by reference to the rates provided by certain financial institutions selected by it in accordance with the ISDA Definitions if (a) such fallback provisions specify a Floating Rate Option which refers expressly to "Reference Banks" in its title or (b) the primary method for determining the relevant rate in accordance with the ISDA Definitions fails for any reason (unless the Final Terms specify that the fallback in respect of such rate shall not be determined by reference to any 'Reference Banks' (as defined in the ISDA Definitions)).

(d) ISDA Determination

If ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate where "ISDA Rate" in relation to any Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

the "Floating Rate Option" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

- (ii) the "**Designated Maturity**" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is a period specified in the relevant Final Terms; and
- (iii) the relevant "**Reset Date**" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is either (A) if the relevant Floating Rate Option is based on LIBOR, the first day of that Interest Period or (B) in any other case, as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

provided, however, that if in relation to any Interest Period:

- (A) the application of the above provisions does not result in the determination of an ISDA Rate and the Issuer (in consultation with the Calculation Agent) has not determined a Benchmark Trigger Event to have occurred, then the Calculation Agent shall determine the ISDA Rate for such Interest Period having regard to such facts and circumstances as it considers relevant; and
- (B) the Issuer (in consultation with the Calculation Agent) determines a Benchmark Trigger Event to have occurred, the provisions of Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*) shall apply,

and in either case, the Calculation Agent shall not be required to obtain quotations from Reference Banks (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) for purposes of determining the ISDA Rate for such Interest Period notwithstanding that it might otherwise be required to do so as a fallback procedure for the relevant Floating Rate Option pursuant to the ISDA Definitions.

Investors should note that, if ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, then the Calculation Agent may be required to determine the relevant Rate of Interest by reference to the rates provided by certain financial institutions selected by it in accordance with the ISDA Definitions if (a) the Floating Rate Option specified in the Final Terms refers expressly to "Reference Banks" in its title or (b) the primary method for determining the ISDA Rate in accordance with the ISDA Definitions fails for any reason (unless the Final Terms specify that the fallback in respect of such ISDA Rate shall not be determined by reference to any 'Reference Banks' (as defined in the ISDA Definitions)).

(e) Non-indexed Overnight Rate Determination

- (i) If Non-Indexed Overnight Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the Relevant Rate, all as determined by the Calculation Agent on the Interest Determination Date for such Interest Period.
- (ii) If the Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 11 (*Events of Default*), the final Interest Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any Interest Determination Date specified in the applicable Final Terms, be deemed to be the date on which the Notes became due and payable and the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes shall, for so long as any such Note remains outstanding, be that determined on such date and as if (solely for the purpose of such interest determination) the relevant Interest Period had been shortened accordingly.
- (iii) If "Payment Delay" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, all references in these Conditions to interest on the Notes being payable on an Interest Payment Date shall be read as reference to interest on the Notes being payable on an Effective Interest Payment Date instead.

(iv) Definitions

"Applicable Period" means,

- (A) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, in relation to any Interest Period, the Observation Period relating to such Interest Period; and
- (B) where "Lag", "Lock-Out" or "Payment Delay" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Interest Period.

"d" means the number of calendar days in the Applicable Period.

"do" means the number of Reference Rate Business Days in the Applicable Period.

"Effective Interest Payment Date" means each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to d_0 , each representing the relevant Reference Rate Business Day in the Applicable Period in chronological order from (and including) the first Reference Rate Business Day in the Applicable Period (each a "Reference Rate Business Day(i)").

"n_i" means, in relation to any Reference Rate Business Day(i), the number of calendar days from (and including) such Reference Rate Business Day(i) up to (but excluding) the next following Reference Rate Business Day.

"Non-Reset Date" means each Reference Rate Business Day(i) in an Applicable Period, the Reference Rate Determination Date in relation to which falls on or after the Rate Cut-Off Date (if any).

"Observation Period" means, in relation to an Interest Period:

- (A) where "Standard Shift" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the period from (and including) the date which is "p" Reference Rate Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period (and in respect of the first Interest Period, the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the date which is "p" Reference Rate Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" Reference Rate Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable); and
- (B) where "IDD Shift" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the period from (and including) the Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date for the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date to (but excluding) the last Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date for such Interest Period, provided that the first Observation Period shall commence on (and include) the last Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the date falling two Business Days prior to the Interest Commencement Date.

"p" means the whole number specified as such in the Final Terms representing a number of Reference Rate Business Days;

"Rate Cut-Off Date" means:

(A) where "Lock-Out" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms and "SONIA" is specified as the relevant Reference Rate, in

- relation to any Interest Period, the Reference Rate Business Day immediately prior to the Interest Determination Date;
- (B) where either "Lock-Out" or "Lag" are specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms and a Reference Rate other than SONIA is specified as the relevant Reference Rate, in relation to any Interest Period, the second Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date;
- (C) where "Payment Delay" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, and:
 - (I) "SONIA" is specified as the relevant Reference Rate, the Reference Rate Business Day immediately prior to the Interest Determination Date in relation to the final Interest Period only;
 - (II) a Reference Rate other than SONIA is specified as the relevant Reference Rate is specified as the relevant Reference Rate:
 - (i) in respect of any Interest Period other than the final Interest Period, second the Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date in relation to the final Interest Period only; and
 - (ii) in respect of the final Interest Period, the second Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date; and
- (D) in any other circumstances, no Rate Cut-Off Date shall apply.

"Reference Rate" means in relation to any Reference Rate Business Day:

- (A) where "SONIA" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate for such Reference Rate Business Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors) on the Reference Rate Business Day immediately following such Reference Rate Business Day;
- (B) where "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, a reference rate equal to the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate as provided by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as the administrator of such rate (or any successor administrator of such rate) published at or around 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the New York Federal Reserve's Website on the next succeeding Reference Rate Business Day for trades made on such Reference Rate Business Day.
- (C) where "€STR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, a reference rate equal to the daily euro short-term rate for such Reference Rate Business Day as published by the European Central Bank, as administrator of such rate (or any successor administrator of such rate), on the website of the European Central Bank currently at http://www.ecb.europa.eu, or any successor website officially designated by the European Central Bank (the "ECB's Website") on the Reference Rate Business Day immediately following such Reference Rate Business Day.

"Reference Rate(i)" or "REF_i" means in relation to any Reference Rate Business Day(i), the Reference Rate for the Reference Rate Determination Date in relation to such Reference Rate Business Day(i), provided that where (A) either "Lock

Out" or "Payment Delay" are specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms or (B) "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method and the Reference Rate is not SONIA, Reference Rate(i) (or REF_i) in respect of each Interest Non-Reset Date (if any) in an Applicable Period shall be Reference Rate(i) (or REF_i) as determined in relation to the Rate Cut-Off Date.

"Reference Rate Business Day"

- (A) where "SONIA" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;
- (B) where "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, means any day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which The Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association ("SIFMA") recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities; and
- (C) where "€STR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, a Euro Business Day.

"**Reference Rate Determination Date**" means, in relation to any Reference Rate Business Day(i):

- (A) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the Reference Rate Business Day falling "p" Reference Rate Business Days prior to such Reference Rate Business Day(i); and
- (B) otherwise, such Reference Rate Business Day(i);

"Relevant Rate" means with respect to an Interest Period:

(A) where "Compounded Daily Rate" is specified as the Determination Method in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment (with the applicable Reference Rate specified in the Final Terms as reference rate for the calculation of interest) calculated as follows, with the resulting percentage rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one ten-thousandth of a percentage point (0.0001%), with 0.00005% being rounded upwards:

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_0} \left(1 + \frac{REF_i \times n_i}{Y} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{Y}{d}$$

- (B) where "Weighted Average Rate" is specified as the Determination Method in the relevant Final Terms the arithmetic mean of Reference Rate(i) for each Reference Rate Business Day during such Applicable Period (each "Reference Rate Business Day(i)"), calculated by multiplying the relevant Reference Rate(i) for any Reference Rate Business Day(i) by the number of days such Reference Rate(i) is in effect (being the number of calendar days from (and including) such Reference Rate Business Day(i) up to (but excluding) the next following Reference Rate Business Day), determining the sum of such products and dividing such sum by the number of calendar days in the relevant Applicable Period; and
- "Y" is the number specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, or if no number is so specified, a number reflecting the denominator for day count fractions customarily used to calculate floating rate interest amounts on

instruments denominated in the Specified Currency and with an original maturity equal to that of the Notes, as determined by the Calculation Agent.

(v) Additional Provisions applicable where "SONIA" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms:

Subject always to the provisions of Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) (as applicable):

- (A) If, in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors in respect of the related Reference Rate Determination Date, Reference Rate Business Day(i) shall be the sum of: (A) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at close of business on the related Reference Rate Determination Date; plus (B) the mean of the spread of the Reference Rate to the Bank Rate over five days on which the Reference Rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads); and
- (B) If the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).
- (vi) Additional Provisions applicable where "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms:
 - (A) If, in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not published as provided in the relevant definition thereof for the related Reference Rate Determination Date, and:
 - (I) where "ARRC Fallbacks" are specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms a SOFR Transition Event and a related SOFR Replacement Date have not both occurred; or
 - (II) where "ARRC Fallbacks" are not specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, a SOFR Index Cessation Event and SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date have not both occurred,

Reference Rate(i) in respect of such Reference Rate Business Day(i) shall be the Reference Rate in respect of the last Reference Rate Business Day prior to the related Reference Rate Determination Date for which such Reference Rate was so published as provided in the relevant definition thereof.

- (B) Where "ARRC Fallbacks" are specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if:
 - (I) in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not published as

- provided in the relevant definition thereof for the related Reference Rate Determination Date; and
- (II) the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) determines that a SOFR Transition Event and the related SOFR Replacement Date have occurred in relation to the Reference Rate (or any SOFR Replacement Rate previously determined in accordance with this Condition 5(e)(vi) on the Reference Rate Business Day on which a determination of Reference Rate is due to be made,

the SOFR Replacement Rate will replace the then-current Reference Rate for all purposes and in respect of all determinations on such Reference Rate Business Day and (without prejudice to the further operation of this Condition 5(e)(vi) all subsequent determinations; provided that, if the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the calculation agent) or our designee (in consultation with the Issuer) is unable to or do not determine a SOFR Replacement Rate in accordance with the provisions below prior to 5:00 p.m. (New York time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, the interest rate for the related Interest Period will be equal to (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).

- (C) If "ARRC Fallbacks" are not specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if:
 - (I) in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not published as provided in the relevant definition thereof for the related Reference Rate Determination Date; and
 - (II) the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) determines that a SOFR Index Cessation Event and SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date have occurred (the first date on which (I) and (II) occur, being the "Rate Switch Date"),

Reference Rate(i) in respect of such Reference Rate Business Day(i) shall be the rate that was recommended as the replacement for the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York for the purpose of recommending a replacement for the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate (which rate may be produced by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or other designated administrator, and which rate may include any adjustments or spreads) as determined in relation to related Reference Rate Determination Date for such Reference Rate Business Day(i); **provided, however, that,** if no such rate has been recommended within one Reference Rate Business Day of the Rate Switch Date, then:

- (1) subject to (2) below, Reference Rate(i) in relation to each Reference Rate Business Day(i) falling on or after the Rate Switch Date shall be equal to the rate determined in accordance with the definition of Reference Rate(i) or Condition 5(e)(vi)(A) (as applicable), but as if:
 - references in Condition 5(e)(i)-(iv) to "Reference Rate Business Day" were to "New York City Banking Day", but so that in the case of the Applicable Period in which the SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date occurred, "do" shall be construed so that it means the aggregate of (x) the number of Reference Rate Business Days in the Applicable Period up to (but excluding) the Rate Switch Date and (y) the number of New York City Banking Days in the Applicable Period relating to such Interest Period from (and including) the Rate Switch Date (and "i" shall be construed accordingly);
 - (bb) references to "daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate" were to the "daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate";
 - (cc) references to "SOFR Index Cessation Event" were references to "OBFR Index Cessation Event"; and
 - (dd) references to "SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date" were references to "OBFR Index Cessation Effective Date": and
- (2) if, (A) in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not published as provided in (1) above for the related Reference Rate Determination Date and (B) an OBFR Index Cessation Event and an OBFR Index Cessation Effective Date have both occurred (the first date on which (A) and (B) occur, being the "OBFR Switch Date"), then, in relation to each Reference Rate Business Day(i) falling on or after the later of the Rate Switch Date and the OBFR Switch Date, Reference Rate(i) shall be equal to the rate determined in accordance with the definition of Reference Rate(i) or Condition 5(e)(v)(A) (as applicable), but as if:
 - references in Condition 5(e)(i)-(iv) to "Reference Rate Business Day" were to "New York City Banking Day", but so that in the case of the Applicable Period in which the OBFR Switch Date occurred, "d₀" shall be construed so that it means the aggregate of (x) the number of Reference Rate Business Days in the Applicable Period up to (but excluding) the OBFR Switch Date and (y) the number of New York City Banking Days in the Applicable Period relating to such Interest Period from (and including) the OBFR Switch Date (and "i" shall be construed accordingly); and
 - (bb) references in Condition 5(e)(i)-(v) to the "daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at or around 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the New York Federal Reserve's Website on the next succeeding Reference Rate Business Day for trades made on such Reference Rate Business Day" were a reference to the short-term interest rate target set by the Federal Open Market Committee, as published on the Federal Reserve's

Website and as prevailing on such Reference Rate Determination Date, or if the Federal Open Market Committee has not set a single rate, the mid-point of the short-term interest rate target range set by the Federal Open Market Committee, as published on the Federal Reserve's Website and as prevailing on such Reference Rate Determination Date (calculated as the arithmetic average of the upper bound of the target range and the lower bound of the target range, rounded, if necessary, to the nearest second decimal place with 0.005 being rounded upwards);

(D) The Issuer (in consultation with the Calculation Agent) may at any time, specify any SOFR Replacement Conforming Changes which changes shall apply to the Notes for all future Interest Periods (without prejudice to the further operation of this Condition 5(e)(vi) and, for the avoidance of doubt, no consent of the Noteholders of the relevant Series or of the Holders of the Coupons appertaining thereto shall be required in connection with effecting such changes, including for the execution of any documents or the taking of other steps by the Issuer or any of the parties to the Agency Agreement (if required). The Issuer shall promptly following determination of any changes pursuant to this Condition 5(e) (vi) give notice thereof to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) (in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*)).

(E) Definitions

"designee" means an affiliate or any other agent of the Issuer.

"Federal Reserve's Website" means the website of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System currently at http://www.federalreserve.gov, or any successor website;

"Initial Interest Rate" means the rate per annum specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time.

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Reference Rate for the applicable tenor.

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Reference Rate for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment.

"New York City Banking Day" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in New York City;

"New York Federal Reserve's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor website;

"OBFR Index Cessation Effective Date" means, in relation to an OBFR Index Cessation Event, the date on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor administrator of the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate) ceases to publish the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate or the date as of which the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate may no longer be used;

"OBFR Index Cessation Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (A) a public statement by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate) announcing that it has ceased or will cease to publish or provide the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at that time, there is no successor administrator that will continue to publish or provide a daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate;
- (B) the publication of information which reasonably confirms that the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate) has ceased or will cease to provide the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at that time, there is no successor administrator that will continue to publish or provide the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate; or
- (C) a public statement by a U.S. regulator or other U.S. official sector entity prohibiting the use of the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate that applies to, but need not be limited to, all swap transactions, including existing swap transactions;

"Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Reference Rate means (1) if the Reference Rate is SOFR, the time specified for such determination specified in the definition of the Reference Rate, and (2) if the Reference Rate is not SOFR, the time determined by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) after giving effect to the SOFR Replacement Conforming Changes.

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto.

"SIFMA" means the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association or any successor thereto;

"SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date" means, in relation to a SOFR Index Cessation Event, the date on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor administrator of the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate) ceases to publish the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or the date as of which the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate may no longer be used;

"SOFR Index Cessation Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

(A) a public statement by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate) announcing that it has ceased or will cease to publish or provide the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate

- permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at that time, there is no successor administrator that will continue to publish or provide a daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate;
- (B) the publication of information which reasonably confirms that the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate) has ceased or will cease to provide the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at that time there is no successor administrator that will continue to publish or provide the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate; or
- (C) a public statement by a U.S. regulator or other U.S. official sector entity prohibiting the use of the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate that applies to, but need not be limited to, all swap transactions, including existing swap transactions;

"SOFR Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) as of the SOFR Replacement Date:

- (A) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted SOFR Replacement;
- (B) if the applicable Unadjusted SOFR Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (C) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustments, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Reference Rate with the applicable Unadjusted SOFR Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time.

"SOFR Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any SOFR Replacement Rate or a replacement rate determined in accordance with Condition 5(e)(vi)(B) (the "Relevant Replacement Rate"), changes to (1) any Interest Determination Date, Interest Payment Date, Effective Interest Payment Date, Reference Time, Business Day Convention or Interest Period, (2) the manner, timing and frequency of determining the rate and amounts of interest that are payable on the Notes during the Interest Period and the conventions relating to such determination and calculations with respect to interest, (3) rounding conventions, (4) tenors and (5) any other terms or provisions of the Notes during the Interest Period, in each case that the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with Issuer) determine, from time to time, to be appropriate to reflect the determination and implementation of Relevant Replacement Rate in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the

Issuer) decide that implementation of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or determine that no market practice for use of the Relevant Replacement Rate exists, in such other manner as the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) determine is appropriate (acting in good faith)).

"SOFR Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Reference Rate (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (a) in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of "SOFR Transition Event," the later of (i) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (ii) the date on which the administrator of the Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Reference Rate (or such component); or
- (b) in the case of clause (3) of the definition of "SOFR Transition Event," the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event that gives rise to the SOFR Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the SOFR Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination.

"SOFR Replacement Rate" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) as of the SOFR Replacement Date.

- (a) the sum of: (i) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Reference Rate and (ii) the SOFR Replacement Adjustment;
- (b) the sum of: (i) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (ii) the SOFR Replacement Adjustment; or
- (c) the sum of: (i) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) as the replacement for the then-current Reference Rate for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for the then-current Reference Rate for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time and (ii) the SOFR Replacement Adjustment.

"Corresponding Tenor" with respect to a SOFR Replacement Rate means a tenor (including overnight) having approximately the same length (disregarding business day adjustments) as the applicable tenor for the then-current Reference Rate.

"SOFR Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Reference Rate (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Reference Rate (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Reference Rate (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Reference Rate (or such component); or
- (b) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Reference Rate (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Reference Rate (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Reference Rate (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Reference Rate (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Reference Rate, which states that the administrator of the Reference Rate (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Reference Rate (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Reference Rate (or such component); or
- (c) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Reference Rate announcing that the Reference Rate is no longer representative.

"Unadjusted SOFR Replacement" means the SOFR Replacement Rate excluding the SOFR Replacement Rate Adjustment.

(vii) Additional Provisions applicable where "€STR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms:

Subject always to the provisions of Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*) (as applicable), if, in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate has not been published as provided in the definition thereof in respect of the related Reference Rate Determination Date (the "Relevant Reference Rate Determination Date"), Reference Rate(i) in respect of such Reference Rate Business Day(i) shall be the Reference Rate as determined on the Reference Rate Business Day preceding the Relevant Reference Rate Determination Date on which the Reference Rate has been published as provided in the definition thereof.

(f) Index-Linked Interest

If the Index-Linked Interest Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Rate(s) of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be determined in the manner specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(g) Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate

If any Maximum Interest Rate or Minimum Interest Rate is specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Rate of Interest shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified.

(h) Calculation of Interest Amount

The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined in relation to each Interest Period, calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount") payable in respect of the Notes for such Interest Period.

Unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, the Interest Amount will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to:

- (i) if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, in the case of Notes represented by a global Note or global Notes, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount of the Notes represented by such global Note(s) notwithstanding that the formula specified in the relevant Final Terms may provide for calculation in relation to the Calculation Amount; or
- (ii) in the case of Notes in definitive form or if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is not specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying the product by the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Period, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Settlement Currency (as defined in Condition 1 (Definitions)) (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention). Where the Specified Denomination of a Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, or the Notes are represented by a global Note or global Notes, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note or, as the case may be, the amount of interest payable in respect of the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount shall be the product of (1) the amount (determined in the manner provided above) of interest payable in relation to the Calculation Amount and (2) the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount (or, in the case of Instalment Notes (as defined in Condition 2(b)(ii) (Form, Denomination and Title - Bearer Notes - General; Title)), the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount as reduced in proportion with any reduction of the outstanding nominal amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Final Terms without any further rounding). For this purpose a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

If interest is required to be paid in respect of the Notes in relation to a period other than an Interest Period, then such interest shall be calculated in accordance with the above paragraph but as if reference therein to "Interest Period" were to such other period.

If the relevant Final Terms specify an alternative method of calculation of interest amount and "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is specified in such Final Terms as being applicable in the case of Notes represented by a global Note or global Notes, then such interest shall be calculated in relation to the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount of the Notes represented by such global Note(s) and rounded to the nearest currency subunit notwithstanding that the formula specified in such Final Terms may provide for the interest amount to be calculated in relation to the Calculation Amount.

(i) Calculation of other amounts

If the relevant Final Terms specify that any other amount is to be calculated by the Calculation Agent, the Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time or times at which any such amount is to be determined, calculate the relevant amount. The relevant amount will be calculated by the Calculation Agent in the manner specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(j) Dividend Equivalent Payments

In respect of any Series of Notes where the principal and/or interest in respect to such Notes is determined by reference to one or more variables such as an index, formula, security, commodity, currency exchange rate, interest rate, inflation index, the credit of one or more entities or other factor (each variable being a "Reference Asset" or, if it is comprised in a basket of variables, a "Reference Asset Component"), if the Final Terms

in respect of such Notes states the Notes are "Section 871(m) Notes", the Final Terms shall further specify whether the "Dividend Withholding" or "Issuer Withholding" approach to withholding in relation to Section 871(m) IRC shall be applicable to the Notes.

If "Dividend Withholding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Final Terms shall provide for the Issuer to make payments to Noteholders in respect of any dividend equivalent amounts received or deemed received in respect of any Reference Asset or Reference Asset Component and shall include provisions relating to the amount and timing of such payments.

If "Issuer Withholding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Final Terms shall specify whether any dividend equivalent amounts are to be treated as being reinvested during the term of the Notes and what portion thereof is expected as of the Issue Date to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as having been withheld from a payment due to the Noteholders.

(k) **Publication**

The Calculation Agent will cause each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount determined by it, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) required to be determined by it together with any relevant payment date(s), to be notified to the Paying Agents and each competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation as soon as practicable after such determination but (in the case of each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date) in any event not later than the first day of the relevant Interest Period. Notice thereof shall also promptly be given to the Noteholders. The Calculation Agent will be entitled to recalculate any Interest Amount (on the basis of the foregoing provisions) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Period as a result of the early redemption or the termination of the Notes pursuant to:

- (i) Condition 7(b) (Redemption and Purpose – Redemption for Taxation Reasons), Condition 7(c) (Redemption and Purpose – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)), Condition 7(d) (Redemption and Purpose – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)), Condition 7(f) (Redemption and Purpose - Early Redemption for Illegality) or Condition 11 (Events of Default) or as a result of the provisions of Condition 9(e) (Payments - Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption), Condition 10 (Redenomination), Condition 21(f) (Adjustment to Indices), Condition 21(g) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes – Adjustments and Events affecting Securities), Condition 21(h) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes – Additional Disruption Events), Condition 21(i) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes – Adjustments where the Securities are Units in an ETF), Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes -Adjustment to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes), Condition 21(k) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes – Events relating to DR-Linked Notes), or
- (ii) any other provisions set out in the relevant Final Terms or otherwise.

If the Calculation Amount is less than the minimum denomination, the Calculation Agent shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only the Calculation Amount and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum denomination.

(1) Linear interpolation

Where "Linear Interpolation" is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the relevant Final Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight-line linear interpolation by reference to two rates

based on the Relevant Screen Page, one of which shall be determined as if the Interest Period were the period for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the Interest Period were the period for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period; **provided**, **however**, **that** if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Calculation Agent shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

(m) Notifications etc.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 5 (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions) by the Calculation Agent will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Noteholders and the Couponholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability to any such person will attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes.

The following provisions of this Condition 5 apply to Alternative General Conditions Notes only.

(a) Application

This Condition 5 (*Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note provisions, the Index-Linked Interest Note provisions or other variable-linked interest Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable.

(b) Accrual of interest

Floating Rate Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 9 (*Payments*). Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Final Redemption Amount or any other redemption amount, as the case may be, is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 5 (*Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) (as well after as before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the day the Calculation Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment, in which case the Notes will continue to bear interest as aforesaid).

(c) Screen Rate Determination

If Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis, subject always to the provisions of Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*):

- (i) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, the Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;
- (ii) in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the Reference Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;
- (iii) if, in the case of (i) above, such rate does not appear on that page or, in the case of (ii) above, fewer than two such rates appear on that page or if, in either case, the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, and unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will:

- (A) request the principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each of the Reference Banks to provide a quotation of the Reference Rate at approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the Relevant Financial Centre interbank market in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that market at that time;
- (B) determine the arithmetic mean of such quotations; and
- (iv) if fewer than two such quotations are provided as requested, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the rates (being the nearest to the Reference Rate, as determined by the Calculation Agent) quoted by major banks in the principal financial centre of the Settlement Currency, selected by the Calculation Agent, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (local time in the principal financial centre of the Settlement Currency) on the first day of the relevant Interest Period for loans in the Settlement Currency to leading European banks for a period equal to the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that market at that time,

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean so determined; **provided**, **however**, **that** if the Calculation Agent is unable to determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in accordance with the above provisions or the relevant Final Terms in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of a preceding Interest Period.

Investors should note that, if the relevant Final Terms specify fall-back provisions that refer to "ISDA Determination" or the ISDA Definitions, then the Calculation Agent may be required to determine the relevant Rate of Interest by reference to the rates provided by certain financial institutions selected by it in accordance with the ISDA Definitions if (a) such fallback provisions specify a Floating Rate Option which refers expressly to "Reference Banks" in its title or (b) the primary method for determining the relevant rate in accordance with the ISDA Definitions fails for any reason (unless the Final Terms specify that the fallback in respect of such rate shall not be determined by reference to any 'Reference Banks' (as defined in the ISDA Definitions)).

(d) ISDA Determination

If ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate where "ISDA Rate" in relation to any Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (i) the "**Floating Rate Option**" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as specified in the relevant Final Terms;
- (ii) the "**Designated Maturity**" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is a period specified in the relevant Final Terms; and
- (iii) the relevant "**Reset Date**" (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is either (A) if the relevant Floating Rate Option is based on LIBOR, the first day of that Interest Period or (B) in any other case, as specified in the relevant Final Terms,

provided, however, that if in relation to any Interest Period:

(A) the application of the above provisions does not result in the determination of an ISDA Rate and the Issuer (in consultation with the Calculation Agent) has not determined a Benchmark Trigger Event to have occurred, then the Calculation Agent shall determine the ISDA Rate for such Interest Period having regard to such facts and circumstances as it considers relevant; and

(B) the Issuer (in consultation with the Calculation Agent) determines a Benchmark Trigger Event to have occurred, the provisions of Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*) shall apply,

and in either case, the Calculation Agent shall not be required to obtain quotations from Reference Banks (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) for purposes of determining the ISDA Rate for such Interest Period notwithstanding that it might otherwise be required to do so as a fallback procedure for the relevant Floating Rate Option pursuant to the ISDA Definitions.

Investors should note that, if ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, then the Calculation Agent may be required to determine the relevant Rate of Interest by reference to the rates provided by certain financial institutions selected by it in accordance with the ISDA Definitions if (a) the Floating Rate Option specified in the Final Terms refers expressly to "Reference Banks" in its title or (b) the primary method for determining the ISDA Rate in accordance with the ISDA Definitions fails for any reason (unless the Final Terms specify that the fallback in respect of such ISDA Rate shall not be determined by reference to any 'Reference Banks' (as defined in the ISDA Definitions)).

(e) Non-indexed Overnight Rates Determination

- (i) If Non-Indexed Overnight Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the Relevant Rate, all as determined by the Calculation Agent on the Interest Determination Date for such Interest Period.
- (ii) If the Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 11 (Events of Default), the final Interest Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any Interest Determination Date specified in the applicable Final Terms, be deemed to be the date on which the Notes became due and payable and the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes shall, for so long as any such Note remains outstanding, be that determined on such date and as if (solely for the purpose of such interest determination) the relevant Interest Period had been shortened accordingly.
- (iii) If "Payment Delay" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, all references in these Conditions to interest on the Notes being payable on an Interest Payment Date shall be read as reference to interest on the Notes being payable on an Effective Interest Payment Date instead.

(iv) Definitions

"Applicable Period" means:

- (A) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, in relation to any Interest Period, the Observation Period relating to such Interest Period; and
- (B) where "Lag", "Lock-Out" or "Payment Delay" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Interest Period;

"Effective Interest Payment Date" means each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to d₀, each representing the relevant Reference Rate Business Day in the Applicable Period in chronological order from (and

[&]quot;d" means the number of calendar days in the Applicable Period;

[&]quot;do" means the number of Reference Rate Business Days in the Applicable Period;

including) the first Reference Rate Business Day in the Applicable Period (each a "Reference Rate Business Day(i)");

"n_i" means, in relation to any Reference Rate Business Day(i), the number of calendar days from (and including) such Reference Rate Business Day(i) up to (but excluding) the next following Reference Rate Business Day;

"Non-Reset Date" means each Reference Rate Business Day(i) in an Applicable Period, the Reference Rate Determination Date in relation to which falls on or after the Rate Cut-Off Date (if any).

"Observation Period" means, in relation to an Interest Period:

- (A) where "Standard Shift" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the period from (and including) the date which is "p" Reference Rate Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period (and in respect of the first Interest Period, the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the date which is "p" Reference Rate Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" Reference Rate Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable); and
- (B) where "IDD Shift" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the period from (and including) the Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date for the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date to (but excluding) the last Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date for such Interest Period, provided that the first Observation Period shall commence on (and include) the last Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the date falling two Business Days prior to the Interest Commencement Date;

"p" means the whole number specified as such in the Final Terms representing a number of Reference Rate Business Days;

"Rate Cut-Off Date" means:

- (A) where "Lock-Out" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms and "SONIA" is specified as the relevant Reference Rate, in relation to any Interest Period, the Reference Rate Business Day immediately prior to the Interest Determination Date:
- (B) where either "Lock-Out" or "Lag" are specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms and a Reference Rate other than SONIA is specified as the relevant Reference Rate, in relation to any Interest Period, the second Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date;
- (C) where "Payment Delay" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, and:
 - (I) "SONIA" is specified as the relevant Reference Rate, the Reference Rate Business Day immediately prior to the Interest Determination Date in relation to the final Interest Period only;
 - (II) a Reference Rate other than SONIA is specified as the relevant Reference Rate is specified as the relevant Reference Rate:
 - (i) in respect of any Interest Period other than the final Interest Period, second the Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date in relation to the final Interest Period only; and

- (ii) in respect of the final Interest Period, the second Reference Rate Business Day falling prior to the Interest Determination Date;
- (D) in any other circumstances, no Rate Cut-Off Date shall apply;

"Reference Rate" means in relation to any Reference Rate Business Day:

- (A) where "SONIA" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate for such Reference Rate Business Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors) on the Reference Rate Business Day immediately following such Reference Rate Business Day;
- (B) where "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, a reference rate equal to the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate as provided by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as the administrator of such rate (or any successor administrator of such rate) published at or around 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the New York Federal Reserve's Website on the next succeeding Reference Rate Business Day for trades made on such Reference Rate Business Day.
- (C) where "€STR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, a reference rate equal to the daily euro short-term rate for such Reference Rate Business Day as published by the European Central Bank, as administrator of such rate (or any successor administrator of such rate), on the website of the European Central Bank currently at http://www.ecb.europa.eu, or any successor website officially designated by the European Central Bank (the "ECB's Website") on the Reference Rate Business Day immediately following such Reference Rate Business Day;

"Reference Rate(i)" or "REF_i" means in relation to any Reference Rate Business Day(i), the Reference Rate for the Reference Rate Determination Date in relation to such Reference Rate Business Day(i), *provided that* where (A) either "Lock Out" or "Payment Delay" are specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms or (B) "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method and the Reference Rate is not SONIA, Reference Rate(i) (or REF_i) in respect of each Interest Non-Reset Date (if any) in an Applicable Period shall be Reference Rate(i) (or REF_i) as determined in relation to the Rate Cut-Off Date.

"Reference Rate Business Day"

- (A) where "SONIA" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;
- (B) where "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, means any day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which The Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association ("SIFMA") recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities; and
- (C) where "€STR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, a Euro Business Day;

"Reference Rate Determination Date" means, in relation to any Reference Rate Business Day(i):

- (A) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Final Terms, the Reference Rate Business Day falling "p" Reference Rate Business Days prior to such Reference Rate Business Day(i); and
- (B) otherwise, such Reference Rate Business Day(i);

"Relevant Rate" means with respect to an Interest Period:

(A) where "Compounded Daily Rate" is specified as the Determination Method in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment (with the applicable Reference Rate specified in the Final Terms as reference rate for the calculation of interest) calculated as follows, with the resulting percentage rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one ten-thousandth of a percentage point (0.0001%), with 0.00005% being rounded upwards:

$$\left[\prod_{i=1}^{d_0} \left(1 + \frac{RF_i \times n_i}{Y} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{Y}{d}$$

- (B) where "Weighted Average Rate" is specified as the Determination Method in the relevant Final Terms the arithmetic mean of Reference Rate(i) for each Reference Rate Business Day during such Applicable Period (each "Reference Rate Business Day(i)"), calculated by multiplying the relevant Reference Rate(i) for any Reference Rate Business Day(i) by the number of days such Reference Rate(i) is in effect (being the number of calendar days from (and including) such Reference Rate Business Day(i) up to (but excluding) the next following Reference Rate Business Day), determining the sum of such products and dividing such sum by the number of calendar days in the relevant Applicable Period; and
- "Y" is the number specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, or if no number is so specified, a number reflecting the denominator for day count fractions customarily used to calculate floating rate interest amounts on instruments denominated in the Specified Currency and with an original maturity equal to that of the Notes, as determined by the Calculation Agent.
- (v) Additional Provisions applicable where "SONIA" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms:

Subject always to the provisions of Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) (as applicable):

- (A) If, in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors in respect of the related Reference Rate Determination Date, Reference Rate Business Day(i) shall be the sum of: (A) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at close of business on the related Reference Rate Determination Date; plus (B) the mean of the spread of the Reference Rate to the Bank Rate over five days on which the Reference Rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads); and
- (B) If the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in

place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).

- (vi) Additional Provisions applicable where "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms:
 - (A) If, in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not published as provided in the relevant definition thereof for the related Reference Rate Determination Date, and:
 - (I) where "ARRC Fallbacks" are specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms a SOFR Transition Event and a related SOFR Replacement Date have not both occurred; or
 - (II) where "ARRC Fallbacks" are not specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, a SOFR Index Cessation Event and SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date have not both occurred,

Reference Rate(i) in respect of such Reference Rate Business Day(i) shall be the Reference Rate in respect of the last Reference Rate Business Day prior to the related Reference Rate Determination Date for which such Reference Rate was so published as provided in the relevant definition thereof.

- (B) Where "ARRC Fallbacks" are specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if:
 - (I) in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not published as provided in the relevant definition thereof for the related Reference Rate Determination Date: and
 - (II) the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) determines that a SOFR Transition Event and the related SOFR Replacement Date have occurred in relation to the Reference Rate (or any SOFR Replacement Rate previously determined in accordance with this Condition 5(e)(vi) on the Reference Rate Business Day on which a determination of Reference Rate is due to be made,

the SOFR Replacement Rate will replace the then-current Reference Rate for all purposes and in respect of all determinations on such Reference Rate Business Day and (without prejudice to the further operation of this Condition 5(e)(vi) all subsequent determinations; provided that, if the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the calculation agent) or our designee (in consultation with the Issuer) is unable to or do not determine a SOFR Replacement Rate in accordance with the provisions below prior to 5:00 p.m. (New York time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, the interest rate for the related Interest Period will be equal to (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).

- (C) If "ARRC Fallbacks" are not specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if:
 - (I) in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not published as provided in the relevant definition thereof for the related Reference Rate Determination Date: and
 - (II) the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) determines that a SOFR Index Cessation Event and SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date have occurred (the first date on which (I) and (II) occur, being the "Rate Switch Date"),

Reference Rate(i) in respect of such Reference Rate Business Day(i) shall be the rate that was recommended as the replacement for the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York for the purpose of recommending a replacement for the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate (which rate may be produced by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or other designated administrator, and which rate may include any adjustments or spreads) as determined in relation to related Reference Rate Determination Date for such Reference Rate Business Day(i); **provided, however, that**, if no such rate has been recommended within one Reference Rate Business Day of the Rate Switch Date, then:

- (1) subject to (2) below, Reference Rate(i) in relation to each Reference Rate Business Day(i) falling on or after the Rate Switch Date shall be equal to the rate determined in accordance with the definition of Reference Rate(i) or Condition 5(e)(vi)(A) (as applicable), but as if:
 - (aa) references in Condition 5(e)(i)-(e)(iv) to "Reference Rate Business Day" were to "New York City Banking Day", but so that in the case of the Applicable Period in which the SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date occurred, "d₀" shall be construed so that it means the aggregate of (x) the number of Reference Rate Business Days in the Applicable Period up to (but excluding) the Rate Switch Date and (y) the number of New York City Banking Days in the Applicable Period relating to such Interest Period from (and including) the Rate Switch Date (and "i" shall be construed accordingly);
 - (bb) references to "daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate" were to the "daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate";
 - (cc) references to "SOFR Index Cessation Event" were references to "OBFR Index Cessation Event"; and
 - (dd) references to "SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date" were references to "OBFR Index Cessation Effective Date"; and
- (2) if, (A) in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate is not published as provided in (1) above for the related Reference Rate Determination Date and (B) an OBFR Index Cessation Event and an OBFR Index Cessation Effective Date have both occurred (the first date on which (A) and (B) occur, being the "OBFR Switch Date"), then, in relation to each Reference Rate Business Day(i) falling on or after the later of the Rate Switch Date and the OBFR Switch Date, Reference Rate(i) shall be equal to the rate

determined in accordance with the definition of Reference Rate(i) or Condition 5(e)(vi)(A) (as applicable), but as if:

- (aa) references in Condition 5(e)(i)-(e)(iv)to "Reference Rate Business Day" were to "New York City Banking Day", but so that in the case of the Applicable Period in which the OBFR Switch Date occurred, "d₀" shall be construed so that it means the aggregate of (x) the number of Reference Rate Business Days in the Applicable Period up to (but excluding) the OBFR Switch Date and (y) the number of New York City Banking Days in the Applicable Period relating to such Interest Period from (and including) the OBFR Switch Date (and "I" shall be construed accordingly); and
- (bb) references in Condition 5(e)(i)-(e)(iv)to the "daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate published at or around 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the New York Federal Reserve's Website on the next succeeding Reference Rate Business Day for trades made on such Reference Rate Business Day" were a reference to the short-term interest rate target set by the Federal Open Market Committee, as published on the Federal Reserve's Website and as prevailing on such Reference Rate Determination Date, or if the Federal Open Market Committee has not set a single rate, the mid-point of the short-term interest rate target range set by the Federal Open Market Committee, as published on the Federal Reserve's Website and as prevailing on such Reference Rate Determination Date (calculated as the arithmetic average of the upper bound of the target range and the lower bound of the target range, rounded, if necessary, to the nearest second decimal place with 0.005 being rounded upwards);
- (D) The Issuer (in consultation with the Calculation Agent) may at any time, specify any SOFR Replacement Conforming Changes which changes shall apply to the Notes for all future Interest Periods (without prejudice to the further operation of this Condition 5(e)(vi) and, for the avoidance of doubt, no consent of the Noteholders of the relevant Series or of the Holders of the Coupons appertaining thereto shall be required in connection with effecting such changes, including for the execution of any documents or the taking of other steps by the Issuer or any of the parties to the Agency Agreement (if required). The Issuer shall promptly following determination of any changes pursuant to Condition 5(e)(vi) give notice thereof to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) (in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*)).

(E) Definitions

"designee" means an affiliate or any other agent of the Issuer.

"Federal Reserve's Website" means the website of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System currently at http://www.federalreserve.gov, or any successor website:

"Initial Interest Rate" means the rate per annum specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time.

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Reference Rate for the applicable tenor.

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Reference Rate for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment.

"New York City Banking Day" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in New York City;

"New York Federal Reserve's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor website;

"OBFR Index Cessation Effective Date" means, in relation to an OBFR Index Cessation Event, the date on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor administrator of the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate or the date as of which the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate may no longer be used;

"OBFR Index Cessation Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (A) a public statement by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate) announcing that it has ceased or will cease to publish or provide the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at that time, there is no successor administrator that will continue to publish or provide a daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate;
- (B) the publication of information which reasonably confirms that the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate) has ceased or will cease to provide the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at that time, there is no successor administrator that will continue to publish or provide the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate; or
- (C) a public statement by a U.S. regulator or other U.S. official sector entity prohibiting the use of the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate that applies to, but need not be limited to, all swap transactions, including existing swap transactions;

"Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Reference Rate means (1) if the Reference Rate is SOFR, the time specified for such determination specified in the definition of the Reference Rate, and (2) if the Reference Rate is not SOFR, the time determined by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) after giving effect to the SOFR Replacement Conforming Changes.

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto.

"SIFMA" means the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association or any successor thereto;

"SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date" means, in relation to a SOFR Index Cessation Event, the date on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor administrator of the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate), ceases to publish the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or the date as of which the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate may no longer be used;

"SOFR Index Cessation Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (A) a public statement by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate) announcing that it has ceased or will cease to publish or provide the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at that time, there is no successor administrator that will continue to publish or provide a daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate;
- (B) the publication of information which reasonably confirms that the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate) has ceased or will cease to provide the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate permanently or indefinitely, **provided that**, at that time there is no successor administrator that will continue to publish or provide the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate; or
- (C) a public statement by a U.S. regulator or other U.S. official sector entity prohibiting the use of the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate that applies to, but need not be limited to, all swap transactions, including existing swap transactions;

"SOFR Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) as of the SOFR Replacement Date:

- (A) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted SOFR Replacement;
- (B) if the applicable Unadjusted SOFR Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (C) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustments, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Reference Rate with the applicable Unadjusted SOFR Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time;

"SOFR Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any SOFR Replacement Rate or a replacement rate determined in accordance with Condition 5(e)(vi)(B) (the "Relevant Replacement Rate"), changes to (1) any Interest Determination Date, Interest Payment Date, Effective Interest Payment Date, Reference Time, Business Day Convention or Interest Period, (2) the manner, timing and frequency of determining the rate and amounts of interest that are payable on the Notes during the Interest Period and the conventions relating to such determination and calculations with respect to interest, (3) rounding conventions, (4) tenors and (5) any other terms or provisions of the Notes during the Interest Period, in each case that the Issuer (in consultation, to

the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with Issuer) determine, from time to time, to be appropriate to reflect the determination and implementation of Relevant Replacement Rate in a manner substantially consistent with market practice;

"SOFR Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Reference Rate (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (a) in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of "SOFR Transition Event," the later of (i) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (ii) the date on which the administrator of the Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Reference Rate (or such component); or
- (b) in the case of clause (3) of the definition of "SOFR Transition Event," the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event that gives rise to the SOFR Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the SOFR Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

"SOFR Replacement Rate" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) as of the SOFR Replacement Date:

- (a) the sum of: (i) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Reference Rate and (ii) the SOFR Replacement Adjustment;
- (b) the sum of: (i) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (ii) the SOFR Replacement Adjustment; or
- (c) the sum of: (i) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer (in consultation, to the extent practicable, with the Calculation Agent) or the Issuer's designee (in consultation with the Issuer) as the replacement for the then-current Reference Rate for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for the then-current Reference Rate for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time and (ii) the SOFR Replacement Adjustment.

"Corresponding Tenor" with respect to a SOFR Replacement Rate means a tenor (including overnight) having approximately the same length (disregarding business day adjustments) as the applicable tenor for the then-current Reference Rate;

"SOFR Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Reference Rate (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

(a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Reference Rate (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Reference Rate (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Reference Rate (or such component); or

- (b) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Reference Rate (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Reference Rate (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Reference Rate (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Reference Rate (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Reference Rate, which states that the administrator of the Reference Rate (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Reference Rate (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Reference Rate (or such component); or
- (c) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Reference Rate announcing that the Reference Rate is no longer representative;

"Unadjusted SOFR Replacement" means the SOFR Replacement Rate excluding the SOFR Replacement Rate Adjustment.

(vii) Additional Provisions applicable where "€STR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms:

Subject always to the provisions of Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*) (as applicable), if, in respect of any Reference Rate Business Day(i) in the relevant Applicable Period, the Reference Rate has not been published as provided in the definition thereof in respect of the related Reference Rate Determination Date (the "**Relevant Reference Rate Determination Date**"), Reference Rate(i) in respect of such Reference Rate Business Day(i) shall be the Reference Rate as determined on the Reference Rate Business Day preceding the Relevant Reference Rate Determination Date on which the Reference Rate has been published as provided in the definition thereof.

(f) Index-Linked Interest

If the Index-Linked Interest Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Rate(s) of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be determined in the manner specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(g) Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate

If any Maximum Interest Rate or Minimum Interest Rate is specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Rate of Interest shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified.

(h) Calculation of Interest Amount

The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined in relation to each Interest Period, calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount") payable in respect of the Notes for such Interest Period. Unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, the Interest Amount will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to:

- (i) if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, in the case of Notes represented by a global Note or global Notes, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount of the Notes represented by such global Note(s) notwithstanding that the formula specified in the relevant Final Terms may provide for calculation in relation to the Calculation Amount; or
- (ii) in the case of Notes in definitive form or if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is not specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Calculation Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying the product by the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Period, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Settlement Currency (as defined in Condition 1 (Definitions)) (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention). Where the Specified Denomination of a Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, or the Notes are represented by a global Note or global Notes, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note or, as the case may be, the amount of interest payable in respect of the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount shall be the product of (1) the amount (determined in the manner provided above) of interest payable in relation to the Calculation Amount and (2) the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount (or, in the case of Instalment Notes (as defined in Condition 2(b)(ii) (Form, Denomination and Title - Bearer Notes - General; Title)), the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount as reduced in proportion with any reduction of the outstanding nominal amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Final Terms without any further rounding). For this purpose a "subunit" means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

If interest is required to be paid in respect of the Notes in relation to a period other than an Interest Period, then such interest shall be calculated in accordance with the above paragraph but as if reference therein to "Interest Period" were to such other period.

If the relevant Final Terms specify an alternative method of calculation of interest amount and "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is specified in such Final Terms as being applicable in the case of Notes represented by a global Note or global Notes, then such interest shall be calculated in relation to the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount of the Notes represented by such global Note(s) and rounded to the nearest currency sub-unit notwithstanding that the formula specified in such Final Terms may provide for the interest amount to be calculated in relation to the Calculation Amount.

(i) Calculation of other amounts

If the relevant Final Terms specify that any other amount is to be calculated by the Calculation Agent, the Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time or times at which any such amount is to be determined, calculate the relevant amount. The relevant amount will be calculated by the Calculation Agent in the manner specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(j) Dividend Equivalent Payments

In respect of any Series of Notes where the principal and/or interest in respect to such Notes is determined by reference to one or more variables such as an index, formula, security, commodity, currency exchange rate, interest rate, inflation index, the credit of one or more entities or other factor (each variable being a "**Reference Asset**" or, if it is comprised in a basket of variables, a "**Reference Asset Component**"), if the Final Terms in respect of such Notes states the Notes are "Section 871(m) Notes", the Final Terms shall further specify whether the "Dividend Withholding" or "Issuer Withholding" approach to withholding in relation to Section 871(m) IRC shall be applicable to the Notes.

If "Dividend Withholding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Final Terms shall provide for the Issuer to make payments to Noteholders in respect of any dividend equivalent amounts received or deemed received in respect of any Reference Asset or Reference Asset Component and shall include provisions relating to the amount and timing of such payments.

If "Issuer Withholding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Final Terms shall specify whether any dividend equivalent amounts are to be treated as being reinvested during the term of the Notes and what portion thereof is expected as of the Issue Date to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as having been withheld from a payment due to the Noteholders.

(k) **Publication**

The Calculation Agent will cause each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount determined by it, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) required to be determined by it together with any relevant payment date(s), to be notified to the Paying Agents and each competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation as soon as practicable after such determination but (in the case of each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date) in any event not later than the first day of the relevant Interest Period. Notice thereof shall also promptly be given to the Noteholders. The Calculation Agent will be entitled to recalculate any Interest Amount (on the basis of the foregoing provisions) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Period as a result of the early redemption or the termination of the Notes pursuant to:

- (i) Condition 7(b) (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption for Taxation Reasons), Condition 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)), Condition 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)), Condition 7(f) (Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption for Illegality) or Condition 11 (Events of Default) or as a result of the provisions of Condition 9(e) (Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption), Condition 10 (Redenomination), Condition 21(f) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes -Adjustment to Indices), Condition 21(g) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes - Adjustments and Events affecting Securities), Condition 21(h) (Additional Disruption Events), Condition 21(i) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes -Adjustments where the Securities are Units in an ETF), Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes - Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes), Condition 21(k) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes – Events relating to DR-Linked Notes); or
- (ii) any other provisions set out in the relevant Final Terms or otherwise.

If the Calculation Amount is less than the minimum denomination, the Calculation Agent shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only the Calculation Amount and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum denomination.

(l) Linear interpolation

Where "Linear Interpolation" is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the relevant Final Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight-line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the Relevant Screen Page, one of which shall be determined as if the Interest Period were the period for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the Interest Period were the period for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period; provided, however, that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Calculation Agent shall determine such rate in accordance with the provisions of paragraphs (iii)(A) and (B), (iv) and the final proviso of Condition 5(c).

(m) Notifications etc.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 5 (*Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) by the Calculation Agent will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Noteholders and the Couponholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability to any such person will attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes.

6. Zero Coupon Notes

(i) This Condition 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*) is applicable to the Notes only if the Zero Coupon Note provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable.

- (ii) If any amount payable in respect of a Zero Coupon Note is improperly withheld or refused, such an amount shall thereafter be an amount equal to the sum of:
 - (A) the Zero Coupon Note Reference Price; and
 - (B) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Zero Coupon Note Reference Price on the basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms for the purposes of this Condition 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*) and Condition 7(e) (*Redemption and Purchase Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes*) (or, if no such relevant Day Count Fraction is specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360 shall apply) from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Principal Paying Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

7. **Redemption and Purchase**

The following provisions of this Condition 7 apply to all Notes (other than Alternative General Conditions Notes).

(a) At Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, and subject as otherwise set out in the relevant Final Terms, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at an amount (the "Final Redemption Amount") as determined by the Calculation Agent and as calculated in accordance with Condition 7(j) (Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding) and the formula or other means specified in the relevant Final Terms, where applicable, in the relevant Settlement Currency on the date specified in the relevant Final Terms as the scheduled date on which such Note is to be redeemed (the "Maturity Date") (or, in the case of Instalment Notes, in such number of instalments and in such amounts ("Instalment Amounts") as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms), in accordance with the provisions set out in the relevant Final Terms.

(b) Redemption for Taxation Reasons

If in respect of a Series of Notes Condition 8B (*Taxation – No gross-up*) is not specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, and:

- (i) on a subsequent date for the payment of interest on such Series of Notes the Issuer would be required to pay any additional amounts in accordance with the provisions of Condition 8A (*Taxation Gross-up*); or
- (ii) if the Issuer were to seek to redeem such Notes (for which purpose no regard shall be had to whether or not the Issuer would otherwise be entitled to redeem such Notes), the Issuer would be required to pay any additional amounts in accordance with the provisions of Condition 8A (*Taxation Gross-up*);

the Issuer may, having given not less than 30 nor more than 45 days' notice (ending, in the case of Floating Rate Notes, on an Interest Payment Date) to the Noteholders in respect of such Series of Notes, redeem all, but not some only, of such Notes, at their Early Redemption Amount determined by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and calculated in accordance with the formula or other means specified in the relevant Final Terms together with interest accrued and unpaid, if any, to the date fixed for redemption **provided that** no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days (or in the case of Floating Rate Notes a number of days which is equal to the lesser of the aggregate of the number of days in the then current Interest Period plus 60 days and 90 days) prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due.

The Issuer may exercise such option in respect of any Note notwithstanding the prior exercise by the Holder thereof or the Issuer of their respective options to require the redemption of such Note under Condition 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)) and 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)) respectively, below, if the due date for redemption under this Condition 7(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons) would occur prior to that under Condition 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)) and 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)), respectively, but not otherwise and, in such circumstances, the exercise of the option under Condition 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)) and 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)), respectively shall be rendered ineffective.

Prior to giving any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 7(b) (*Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons*) the Issuer may obtain a certificate of an independent legal adviser or accountant to the effect either that such a circumstance does exist or that, upon a change in or amendment to the laws of the United Kingdom (including any regulations pursuant thereto), or in the interpretation or administration thereof, which at the date of such certificate is proposed and in the opinion of such legal adviser or accountant is reasonably expected to become effective on or prior to the date on which the relevant payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes would otherwise be made, becoming so effective, such circumstances would exist, and any such certificate shall be sufficient to establish the circumstances required by this Condition 7(b) (*Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons*).

(c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)

Where the Notes are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being redeemable at the option of the Issuer, the Issuer may at any time (in the case of Fixed Rate Notes or Zero Coupon Notes), on any Interest Payment Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes) or otherwise as set out in the relevant Final Terms, having given not less than 5 nor more than 30 days' notice (or such other notice period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*) (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem on the Optional Redemption Date (Call Option) all or some only of the Notes then outstanding on the Optional Redemption Date (Call Option) and at the Redemption Amount (Call Option) as determined by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and as calculated in accordance with the formula or other means specified in the relevant Final Terms, together with interest accrued but unpaid thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

If the Notes of a Series are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with this paragraph (c):

- (i) in the case of Bearer Notes (other than a Note which is a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note), the Notes to be redeemed shall be drawn by lot in such European city as the Principal Paying Agent may specify, or identified in such other manner or in such other place as the Principal Paying Agent may approve and deem appropriate and fair, subject to the rules and procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (such redemption to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion); and
- (ii) in the case of Registered Notes, the Notes shall be redeemed (so far as may be practicable) *pro rata* to their principal amounts, **provided always that** the amount redeemed in respect of each Note shall be equal to the minimum denomination thereof or an appropriate multiple thereof,

subject always to compliance with all applicable laws and the requirements of each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation.

Where a Minimum Redemption Amount (Call Option) and/or a Maximum Redemption Amount (Call Option) is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Redemption Amount (Call Option) shall not be less than the Minimum Redemption Amount (Call Option) and shall not be more than the Maximum Redemption Amount (Call Option).

In the case of the redemption of part only of a Registered Note, a new Registered Note in respect of the unredeemed balance shall be issued in accordance with Condition 13 (*Replacement, Exchange and Transfer*) which shall apply as in the case of a transfer of Registered Notes as if such new Registered Note were in respect of the untransferred balance.

(d) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)

Where the Notes are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being redeemable at the option of Noteholders, then where a Noteholder has given not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice to the Issuer with a copy to the Issue Agent in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*), (which notices shall be irrevocable), the Issuer shall, following receipt of such notice from the Noteholder and confirmation from the Issue Agent that it has been duly notified, redeem on the Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), so many of the Notes in respect of which such Noteholder has exercised such option as are outstanding on the Optional Redemption Date (Put Option) and at the Redemption Amount (Put Option) as determined by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and as calculated in accordance with the formula or other means specified in the relevant Final Terms, together with interest accrued but unpaid thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

Where a Minimum Redemption Amount (Put Option) and/or a Maximum Redemption Amount (Put Option) is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Redemption Amount (Put Option) shall not be less than the Minimum Redemption Amount (Put Option) and shall not be more than the Maximum Redemption Amount (Put Option).

In order for any such notice given by a Noteholder to be effective, the Noteholder shall, on or prior to the date on which such notice is given, deposit the Note or Notes in respect of which such notice is given (together, in the case of an interest-bearing Definitive Note, with any unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto) with, in the case of a Bearer Note, any Paying Agent, or, in the case of a Registered Note, the Registrar together with a duly completed redemption notice in the form which is available from the specified office of any of the Paying Agents or, as the case may be, the Registrar. The Holder of a Note may not exercise such option in respect of any Note which is the subject of an exercise by the Issuer of its option to redeem such Note under Condition 7(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons), 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)) or Condition 7(f) (Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption for Illegality).

(e) Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes

- (i) The redemption amount payable on redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any time before the Maturity Date shall be an amount calculated in accordance with Condition 7(j) (*Redemption and Purchase Calculation and Rounding*) and equal to the sum of:
 - (A) the Zero Coupon Note Reference Price; and
 - (B) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Zero Coupon Note Reference Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which the Note becomes due and payable.
- (ii) Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, the calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms for the purposes of Condition 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*) and this

Condition 7(e) (*Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes*) (or, if no such relevant Day Count Fraction is specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360 shall apply).

(f) Early Redemption for Illegality

The Issuer shall have the right to terminate its obligations under the Notes, if the Calculation Agent shall have determined that the performance of such obligations under the Notes (or the Issuer's or the Issuer's designated affiliates' obligations under any hedging arrangements established in connection therewith) shall after the Trade Date:

- (i) have become unlawful, or
- (ii) unless "Early Redemption for Impracticability" is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, have become impracticable,

in whole or in part, including, without limitation, as a result of compliance with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive or with any requirement or request of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial authority or power; **provided, however, that** if the Calculation Agent determines that the relevant obligations have become unlawful, the Issuer may obtain an opinion of an independent legal adviser to that effect prior to terminating its obligations under the Notes, and any such opinion shall be sufficient to establish the circumstances required by this Condition 7(f) (*Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption for Illegality*). In such circumstances the Issuer will pay to each Noteholder the Early Redemption Amount. Payment will be made in such manner as shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*).

(g) Purchases

Each of the Issuer and any person directly or indirectly connected with the Issuer may at any time purchase Notes at any price in the open market or otherwise, and such Notes may be held, reissued, resold or, provided such Notes are held by the Issuer, at the option of the Issuer deissued or cancelled.

(h) Cancellation

All Notes which are redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(a) (Redemption and Purchase – At Maturity), 7(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons), 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)), 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)) and 7(e) (Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes) shall, and all Notes purchased pursuant to Condition 7(g) (Redemption and Purchase – Purchases) may, at the option of the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with, in the case of Definitive Notes, all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). All Notes redeemed or purchased and cancelled as aforesaid may not be re-issued or resold.

(i) No Other Redemption Provisions

The Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Notes otherwise than as provided in Condition 7(a) (Redemption and Purchase – At Maturity), 7(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons), 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)), 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)), 7(e) (Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes) and 7(f) (Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption for Illegality).

(j) Calculation and Rounding

Any redemption amount payable on redemption of a Note (the "**Redemption Amount**") shall be calculated pursuant to this Condition 7 (*Redemption and Purchase*) and in

rounding any values determined or calculated in connection with such Redemption Amount, the Calculation Agent shall apply the following rounding conventions:

- (i) if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, in the case of Notes represented by a global Note or global Notes, the Redemption Amount shall be calculated in relation to the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount of the Notes represented by such global Note(s) rounded to the nearest currency sub-unit (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention) notwithstanding that the formula specified in the relevant Final Terms may provide for the Redemption Amount to be calculated in relation to the Calculation Amount; or
- (ii) in the case of Notes in definitive form or if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is not specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Redemption Amount shall be calculated in relation to the Calculation Amount rounded to the nearest currency sub-unit (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention).

Where the Specified Denomination of a Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, or the Notes are represented by a global Note or global Notes, the Redemption Amount shall be the product of (1) the amount (determined in the manner provided above) payable in relation to the Calculation Amount and (2) the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount (or, in the case of Instalment Notes (as defined in Condition 2(b)(ii) (Form, Denomination and Title – Bearer Notes – General; Title)), the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount as reduced in proportion with any reduction of the outstanding nominal amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms without any further rounding). For this purpose a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

The following provisions of this Condition 7 apply to Alternative General Conditions Notes only.

(a) At Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, and subject as otherwise set out in the relevant Final Terms, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at an amount (the "Final Redemption Amount") as determined by the Calculation Agent and as calculated in accordance with Condition 7(j) (Redemption and Purchase – Calculation and Rounding) and the formula or other means specified in the relevant Final Terms, where applicable, in the relevant Settlement Currency on the date specified in the relevant Final Terms as the scheduled date on which such Note is to be redeemed (the "Maturity Date") (or, in the case of Instalment Notes, in such number of instalments and in such amounts ("Instalment Amounts") as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms), in accordance with the provisions set out in the relevant Final Terms.

(b) Redemption for Taxation Reasons

If in respect of a Series of Notes Condition 8B ($Taxation - No\ gross-up$) is not specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, and:

- on a subsequent date for the payment of interest on such Series of Notes the Issuer would be required to pay any additional amounts in accordance with the provisions of Condition 8A (*Taxation Gross-up*); or
- (ii) if the Issuer were to seek to redeem such Notes (for which purpose no regard shall be had to whether or not the Issuer would otherwise be entitled to redeem such Notes), the Issuer

would be required to pay any additional amounts in accordance with the provisions of Condition 8A (*Taxation – Gross-up*);

the Issuer may, having given not less than 30 nor more than 45 days' notice (ending, in the case of Floating Rate Notes, on an Interest Payment Date) to the Noteholders in respect of such Series of Notes, redeem all, but not some only, of such Notes, at their Early Redemption Amount determined by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and calculated in accordance with the formula or other means specified in the relevant Final Terms together with interest accrued and unpaid, if any, to the date fixed for redemption **provided that** no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days (or in the case of Floating Rate Notes a number of days which is equal to the lesser of the aggregate of the number of days in the then current Interest Period plus 60 days and 90 days) prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due.

The Issuer may exercise such option in respect of any Note notwithstanding the prior exercise by the Holder thereof or the Issuer of their respective options to require the redemption of such Note under Condition 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)) and 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)) respectively, below, if the due date for redemption under this Condition 7(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons) would occur prior to that under Condition 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)) and 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)), respectively, but not otherwise and, in such circumstances, the exercise of the option under Condition 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)) and 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)), respectively shall be rendered ineffective.

Prior to giving any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 7(b) (*Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons*) the Issuer may obtain a certificate of an independent legal adviser or accountant to the effect either that such a circumstance does exist or that, upon a change in or amendment to the laws of the United Kingdom (including any regulations pursuant thereto), or in the interpretation or administration thereof, which at the date of such certificate is proposed and in the opinion of such legal adviser or accountant is reasonably expected to become effective on or prior to the date on which the relevant payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes would otherwise be made, becoming so effective, such circumstances would exist, and any such certificate shall be sufficient to establish the circumstances required by this Condition 7(b) (*Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons*).

(c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)

Where the Notes are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being redeemable at the option of the Issuer, the Issuer may at any time (in the case of Fixed Rate Notes or Zero Coupon Notes), on any Interest Payment Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes) or otherwise as set out in the relevant Final Terms, having given not less than 5 nor more than 30 days' notice (or such other notice period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*) (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem on the Optional Redemption Date (Call Option) all or some only of the Notes then outstanding on the Optional Redemption Date (Call Option) and at the Redemption Amount (Call Option) as determined by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and as calculated in accordance with the formula or other means specified in the relevant Final Terms, together with interest accrued but unpaid thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

If the Notes of a Series are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with this paragraph (c):

(i) in the case of Bearer Notes (other than a Note which is a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note), the Notes to be redeemed shall be drawn by lot in such European city as the Principal Paying Agent may specify, or identified in such other manner or in such other place as the Principal Paying Agent may approve and deem appropriate and fair, subject to the rules and procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg

(such redemption to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion); and

(ii) in the case of Registered Notes, the Notes shall be redeemed (so far as may be practicable) *pro rata* to their principal amounts, **provided always that** the amount redeemed in respect of each Note shall be equal to the minimum denomination thereof or an appropriate multiple thereof,

subject always to compliance with all applicable laws and the requirements of each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation.

Where a Minimum Redemption Amount (Call Option) and/or a Maximum Redemption Amount (Call Option) is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Redemption Amount (Call Option) shall not be less than the Minimum Redemption Amount (Call Option) and shall not be more than the Maximum Redemption Amount (Call Option).

In the case of the redemption of part only of a Registered Note, a new Registered Note in respect of the unredeemed balance shall be issued in accordance with Condition 13 (*Replacement, Exchange and Transfer*) which shall apply as in the case of a transfer of Registered Notes as if such new Registered Note were in respect of the untransferred balance.

(d) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)

Where the Notes are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being redeemable at the option of Noteholders, then where a Noteholder has given not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice to the Issuer with a copy to the Issue Agent in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*), (which notices shall be irrevocable), the Issuer shall, following receipt of such notice from the Noteholder and confirmation from the Issue Agent that it has been duly notified, redeem on the Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), so many of the Notes in respect of which such Noteholder has exercised such option as are outstanding on the Optional Redemption Date (Put Option) and at the Redemption Amount (Put Option) as determined by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and as calculated in accordance with the formula or other means specified in the relevant Final Terms, together with interest accrued but unpaid thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

Where a Minimum Redemption Amount (Put Option) and/or a Maximum Redemption Amount (Put Option) is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Redemption Amount (Put Option) shall not be less than the Minimum Redemption Amount (Put Option) and shall not be more than the Maximum Redemption Amount (Put Option).

In order for any such notice given by a Noteholder to be effective, the Noteholder shall, on or prior to the date on which such notice is given, deposit the Note or Notes in respect of which such notice is given (together, in the case of an interest-bearing Definitive Note, with any unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto) with, in the case of a Bearer Note, any Paying Agent, or, in the case of a Registered Note, the Registrar together with a duly completed redemption notice in the form which is available from the specified office of any of the Paying Agents or, as the case may be, the Registrar. The Holder of a Note may not exercise such option in respect of any Note which is the subject of an exercise by the Issuer of its option to redeem such Note under Condition 7(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption of the Issuer) or Condition 7(f) (Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption for Illegality).

(e) Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes

- (i) The redemption amount payable on redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any time before the Maturity Date shall be an amount calculated in accordance with Condition 7(j) (*Redemption and Purchase Calculation and Rounding*) and equal to (i) the Early Redemption Amount (if specified in the relevant Final Terms) or (ii) (if no Early Redemption Amount is specified in the relevant Final Terms) the sum of:
 - (A) the Zero Coupon Note Reference Price; and

- (B) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Zero Coupon Note Reference Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which the Note becomes due and payable ((A) and (B) together the "Accreted Principal Amount").
- (ii) Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, the calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms for the purposes of Condition 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*) and this Condition 7(e) (*Redemption and Purchase Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes*) (or, if no such relevant Day Count Fraction is specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360 shall apply).

(f) Early Redemption for Illegality

The Issuer shall have the right to terminate its obligations under the Notes, if the Calculation Agent shall have determined that the performance of such obligations under the Notes shall after the Trade Date have become unlawful in whole or in part, including, without limitation, as a result of compliance with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive or with any requirement or request of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial authority or power; **provided**, **however**, **that** if the Calculation Agent determines that the relevant obligations have become unlawful, the Issuer may obtain an opinion of an independent legal adviser to that effect prior to terminating its obligations under the Notes, and any such opinion shall be sufficient to establish the circumstances required by this Condition 7(f) (*Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption for Illegality*). In such circumstances the Issuer will pay to each Noteholder the Early Redemption Amount. Payment will be made in such manner as shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*).

(g) Early Redemption for Significant Change Event

The Issuer shall have the right (but not the obligation) to terminate its obligations under the Notes, if the Issuer shall have determined that an event or circumstance or combination of events or circumstances has occurred that is not attributable to the Issuer but which has as its consequence that the economic balance of the Notes as at the Issue Date is significantly altered, including, without limitation, where such event causes a material increased cost for the Issuer as a consequence of change in tax laws, solvency or regulatory capital requirements, nationalisation, or regulatory action. In such circumstances the Issuer will pay to each Noteholder the Early Redemption Amount. Payment will be made in such manner as shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*).

(h) Purchases

Each of the Issuer and any person directly or indirectly connected with the Issuer may at any time purchase Notes at any price in the open market or otherwise, and such Notes may be held, reissued, resold or, provided such Notes are held by the Issuer, at the option of the Issuer deissued or cancelled.

(i) Cancellation

All Notes which are redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(a) (Redemption and Purchase – At Maturity), 7(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons), 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)), 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)) and 7(e) (Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes) shall, and all Notes purchased pursuant to Condition 7(g) (Redemption and Purchase – Purchases) may, at the option of the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with, in the case of Definitive Notes, all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). All Notes redeemed or purchased and cancelled as aforesaid may not be re-issued or resold.

(j) No Other Redemption Provisions

The Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Notes otherwise than as provided in Condition 7(a) (Redemption and Purchase – At Maturity), 7(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for Taxation Reasons), 7(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Call Option)), 7(d) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the Option of the Noteholder (Put Option)), 7(e) (Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes) and 7(f) (Redemption and Purchase – Early Redemption for Illegality).

(k) Calculation and Rounding

Any redemption amount payable on redemption of a Note (the "**Redemption Amount**") shall be calculated pursuant to this Condition 7 (*Redemption and Purchase*) and in rounding any values determined or calculated in connection with such Redemption Amount, the Calculation Agent shall apply the following rounding conventions:

- (i) if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, in the case of Notes represented by a global Note or global Notes, the Redemption Amount shall be calculated in relation to the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount of the Notes represented by such global Note(s), rounded to the nearest currency sub-unit (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention) notwithstanding that the formula specified in the relevant Final Terms may provide for the Redemption Amount to be calculated in relation to the Calculation Amount; or
- (ii) in the case of Notes in definitive form or if "Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding" is not specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Redemption Amount shall be calculated in relation to the Calculation Amount rounded to the nearest currency sub-unit (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention).

Where the Specified Denomination of a Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, or the Notes are represented by a global Note or global Notes, the Redemption Amount shall be the product of (1) the amount (determined in the manner provided above) payable in relation to the Calculation Amount and (2) the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount (or, in the case of Instalment Notes (as defined in Condition 2(b)(ii) (Form, Denomination and Title – Bearer Notes – General; Title)), the Specified Denomination or, as the case may be, the Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount as reduced in proportion with any reduction of the outstanding nominal amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms without any further rounding). For this purpose a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

(1) Monetisation Option

If "Monetisation Option" is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, and an event occurs as a consequence of which the Issuer exercises its right to redeem the Notes at the applicable Early Redemption Amount:

- (a) the Noteholder shall receive, on the Maturity Date (and notwithstanding the early redemption notice) the Monetisation Amount, unless the Noteholder elects, in accordance with this Condition 7(l) (*Redemption and Purchase Monetisation Option*), to receive the Early Redemption Amount on the date fixed for early redemption of the Notes; and
- (b) the Issuer's notice of early redemption must include the following:
 - (i) the cut-off date and time for each Noteholder to elect to receive the Early Redemption Amount on the date fixed for early redemption of the Notes;
 - (ii) the instructions to allow such Noteholder to make such election, substantially in accordance with the paragraph below; and

- (iii) the Early Redemption Amount Valuation Date;
- (iv) the Early Redemption Amount;
- (v) the amount calculated by the Calculation Agent as the Monetisation Amount; and
- (vi) a confirmation that, in the absence of making an election to receive the Early Redemption Amount, such Noteholder will receive the Monetisation Amount on the Maturity Date.

In order to elect to receive the Early Redemption Amount on the date fixed for early redemption of the Notes, a Noteholder must no later than the cut-off date and time set out in the Issuer's notice of early redemption, give notice to the Issuer with a copy to the Principal Paying Agent in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*), and, on or prior to the date on which such notice is given, deposit the Note or Notes in respect of which such notice is given (together, in the case of an interest-bearing Definitive Note, with any unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto) with, in the case of a Bearer Note, any Paying Agent, or, in the case of a Registered Note, the Registrar.

8. **Taxation**

8A. Taxation – Gross-up

This Condition 8A (*Taxation – Gross-up*) will be applicable to all Series of Notes unless it is specified in the relevant Final Terms that Condition 8B (*Taxation – No gross-up*) is applicable.

All payments by the Issuer of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature, present or future, as are imposed or levied by or on behalf of the United Kingdom unless the Issuer is required by law to withhold or deduct any such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges.

In the event that the Issuer is so required by law to withhold or deduct, it will pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders or Couponholders, as the case may be, after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest which would have been receivable in respect of the Notes and/or, as the case may be, Coupons, in the absence of such withholding or deduction, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon:

- (a) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Holder of a Note or Coupon who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of it having some connection with the United Kingdom or any other relevant jurisdiction, other than the mere holding of such Note or Coupon;
- (b) unless it is proved, in the case of Bearer Notes, to the satisfaction of the Principal Paying Agent or the Paying Agent to whom the same is presented, or, in the case of Registered Notes, to the satisfaction of the Registrar, that the Holder is unable to avoid such withholding or deduction by satisfying any statutory requirement or by making a declaration of non residence or other similar claim for exemption to the relevant tax authorities or by notifying (and/or presenting evidence of such notification to) any tax authorities of such payment of principal or interest or by presenting the relevant Note or Coupon at the specified office of another Paying Agent;
- (c) more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (defined below) except, in the case of Bearer Notes, to the extent that the Holder thereof would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting the same for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days;
- (d) in the case of Registered Notes, unless it is proved to the satisfaction of the Registrar that the Holder, immediately upon becoming the Holder, (i) was eligible for the benefits of a tax treaty with the United Kingdom or any other relevant jurisdiction that provides for a complete exemption from withholding taxes on payments under the Notes, or (ii) was otherwise entitled to a complete exemption from withholding taxes on payments under the Notes; or

(e) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Holder who is not the sole beneficial owner of the Note or any Coupon, or a portion of either, or that is a fiduciary or partnership, but only to the extent that a beneficiary or settlor with respect to the fiduciary, a beneficial owner or member of the partnership would not have been entitled to the payment of an additional amount had the beneficiary, settlor, beneficial owner or member received directly its beneficial or distributive share of the payment.

As used herein, the "**Relevant Date**" means the date on which such payment first becomes due but, in the case of Bearer Notes, if the full amount of the money payable has not been received by the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such money having been so received, notice to that effect shall have been duly given to the relevant Holders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*).

If the Issuer becomes resident for tax purposes in any taxing jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom, references in this Condition 8 (*Taxation*) to the United Kingdom shall be construed as references to the United Kingdom and/or such other jurisdiction.

Any reference in these Conditions to principal or interest or both in respect of the relevant Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (i) any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 8 (*Taxation*);
- (ii) the principal amount payable on the relevant Notes on the Maturity Date;
- (iii) the principal amount payable on redemption of the relevant Notes prior to such Maturity Date; and
- (iv) any premium and any other amounts which may be payable under or in respect of the relevant Notes.

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions, the Issuer shall be permitted to withhold or deduct any amounts permitted or required by the rules of IRC Section 871(m), or IRC Sections 1471 through 1474 (or any amended or successor provisions), pursuant to any inter-governmental agreement, or implementing legislation adopted by another jurisdiction in connection with these provisions, or pursuant to any agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("U.S. Permitted Withholding"). Neither the Issuer nor any Paying Agent will have any obligation to pay additional amounts or otherwise indemnify a holder for any U.S. Permitted Withholding deducted or withheld by the Issuer, a Paying Agent or any other party as a result of any person (other than an agent of the Issuer) not being entitled to receive payments free of U.S. Permitted Withholding.

8B. **Taxation** – **No gross-up**

This Condition 8B ($Taxation - No\ gross-up$) will only be applicable to a Series of Notes where it is specified in the relevant Final Terms that this Condition 8B ($Taxation - No\ gross-up$) is applicable.

All payments by the Issuer of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature, present or future, as are imposed or levied by or on behalf of the United Kingdom unless the Issuer is required by law to withhold or deduct any such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges. In the event that the Issuer is so required by law to withhold or deduct, the Issuer shall not be required to pay any additional amounts in connection with such withholding or deduction.

9. **Payments**

(a) Bearer Notes

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made against presentation and (save in the case of partial payment or payment of an Instalment Amount (other than the final Instalment Amount)) surrender of the relevant Note or, in the case of payments of interest, surrender of the relevant Coupon

at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (subject to the next paragraph). No payments on Bearer Notes will be made by mail to an address in the United States or by transfer to an account maintained by the Holder in the United States.

Payments of amounts due in respect of interest on Bearer Notes and exchanges of Talons for Coupon sheets will not be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in the United States or its possessions (as defined in the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code")) and Regulations thereunder) unless (a) payment in full of amounts due in respect of interest on such Notes when due or, as the case may be, the exchange of Talons at all the specified offices of the Paying Agents outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions and (b) such payment or exchange is permitted by applicable United States law, in which case the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a further Paying Agent with a specified office in New York City.

If the due date for payment of any amount due in respect of any Bearer Note is not both a Relevant Financial Centre Day and, if such Bearer Note is a Definitive Note or if the Final Terms so specifies, a local banking day, then the Holder thereof will not be entitled to payment thereof until the next day which is such a day and no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of such postponed payment unless there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Conditions in which event interest shall continue to accrue as provided in Condition 4 (*Fixed Rate Note Provisions*), 5 (*Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) or 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*), as appropriate.

Payment of Instalment Amounts (other than the final Instalment Amount) in respect of an Instalment Note which is a Definitive Note with Receipts will be made against presentation of the Note together with the relevant Receipt and surrender of such Receipt.

The Receipts are not and shall not in any circumstances be deemed to be documents of title and if separated from the Note to which they appertain will not represent any obligation of the Issuer. Accordingly, the presentation of a Note without the relative Receipt or the presentation of a Receipt without the Note to which it appertains shall not entitle the Holder to any payment in respect of the relevant Instalment Amount.

Upon the due date for redemption of any Definitive Note other than a Fixed Rate Note, all unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating to such Definitive Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.

Definitive Notes which are Fixed Rate Notes should be presented for payment with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto, failing which the face value of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that portion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total amount of principal due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Any amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relevant missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8 (*Taxation*)) for the payment of such principal, whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 12 (*Prescription*) or, if later, five years from the date on which such Coupon would have become due.

Notwithstanding the above, if any Definitive Notes should be issued with a Maturity Date and an interest rate or rates such that, on the presentation for payment of any such Definitive Note without any unmatured Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith, the amount required to be deducted would be greater than the amount otherwise due for payment, then, upon the due date for redemption, such unmatured Coupons (whether or not attached) shall become void (and no payment shall be made in respect thereof) as shall be required so that the amount required to be deducted would not be greater than the amount otherwise due for payment. Where the application of the foregoing sentence requires some but not all of the unmatured Coupons relating to a Definitive Note to become void, the relevant Paying Agent shall, in its sole and absolute discretion, determine which unmatured Coupons are to become void, and shall select, in

its sole and absolute discretion, for such purpose Coupons maturing on later dates in preference to Coupons maturing on earlier dates.

Upon any Definitive Notes becoming due and repayable prior to their Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued in respect thereof.

In relation to Definitive Notes initially delivered with Talons attached thereto, on or after the due date for the payment of interest on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon comprised in the Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (save as provided above) in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (including any appropriate further Talon), subject to the provisions of Condition 12 (*Prescription*). Each Talon shall, for the purpose of these Conditions, be deemed to mature on the due date for the payment of interest on which the final Coupon comprised in the relative Coupon sheet matures.

If (otherwise than by reason of the application of the above) the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note is not the due date for the payment of a Coupon appertaining thereto, interest accrued in respect of such Note from and including the last preceding due date for the payment of a Coupon (or from the Issue Date or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be) will be paid only against surrender of such Bearer Note and all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto.

(b) Registered Notes

Payment of the amount due on final redemption in respect of Registered Notes will be made against presentation and, save in the case of partial payment of any such amount, surrender of the relevant certificate at the specified office of the Registrar or of the Transfer Agent. If the due date for payment of the Final Redemption Amount or any other redemption amount, as the case may be, of any Registered Note is not both a Relevant Financial Centre Day and, if such Registered Note is not in global form or if the Final Terms so specifies, a local banking day, then the Holder thereof will not be entitled to payment thereof until the next day which is such a day and no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of such postponed payment unless there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Conditions in which event interest shall continue to accrue as provided in Condition 4 (*Fixed Rate Note Provisions*), Condition 5 (*Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) or Condition 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*), as appropriate.

Payment of amounts (whether principal, interest or otherwise) due (other than on final redemption) in respect of Registered Notes will be paid to the Holder thereof (or, in the case of joint Holders, the first-named) as appearing in the Register at the close of business (local time in the place of the specified office of the Registrar) on the fifteenth day prior to the due date for such payment (the "**Record Date**").

Payment will be made in the currency in which such amount is due either by cheque posted to the Noteholder's registered address (or, in the case of joint Holders, the first-named) not later than the relevant due date for payment unless prior to the relevant Record Date the Holder thereof (or, in the case of joint Holders, the first-named) has applied to the Registrar or to the Transfer Agent and the Registrar or, as the case may be, the Transfer Agent has acknowledged such application for payment to be made to a designated account denominated in the relevant Settlement Currency (as defined in Condition 1 (*Definitions*)).

(c) General Provisions

The following provisions apply to both Bearer Notes and Registered Notes. Subject to Condition 9(d) (*Payments – Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent*), payments of amounts due (whether principal, interest or otherwise) in respect of Notes will be made in the relevant Settlement Currency either by cheque or, at the option of the payee, by transfer to an account in the relevant Settlement Currency specified by the payee other than, for payments in respect of Bearer Notes, any such account in the United States.

Payments and deliveries will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8 (*Taxation*).

Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Issuer reserves the right to require any person receiving payment of principal or, as the case may be, payment of interest with respect to any Note or Coupon to provide a Paying Agent with such certification or information as may be required to enable the Issuer or any parent or holding company of the Issuer or any subsidiary of any such parent or holding company to comply with the requirements of the US Federal Income Tax laws or such other laws as the Issuer or any such parent or holding company or subsidiary thereof may be required to comply with.

(d) Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent

If "Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, then if by reason of a FX Disruption Event, a Clearing System Currency Eligibility Event or any other event specified in the relevant Final Terms as an Additional Alternative Payment Currency Event, the Issuer is not able to satisfy payments in respect of the Notes when due in the Settlement Currency, the Issuer may, settle any such payment in U.S. dollars or any other currency specified as the Alternative Payment Currency in the relevant Final Terms on (i) the due date at the Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent of any such amount due or (ii) if in the applicable Final Terms "Condition 1" is specified as applicable to the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date, the date falling the Alternative Payment Settlement Days after the due date at the Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent of any such amount due and, in each case, no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of such postponed payment.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 9(d) (*Payments – Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent*) by the Calculation Agent, will (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agents and all Noteholders. By acceptance thereof, purchasers of the Notes will be deemed to have acknowledged and agreed and to have waived any and all actual or potential conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of the calculation of the Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent by the Calculation Agent.

(e) Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption

The following provisions of this Condition 9(e) (Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption) apply to all Notes (other than Alternative General Conditions Notes).

- (X) If "Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, then, if on any Scheduled FX Fixing Date:
 - (A) a Price Source Disruption occurs, (other than as a result of an Unscheduled Holiday) and no Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions, Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions and/or Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions (as applicable) are specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent shall:
 - (1) determine the Relevant Rate by reference to the rate of exchange published by available recognised financial information vendors (as selected by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) on the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (the "Fallback Reference Price"); or
 - (2) unless the Final Terms specify Dealer Poll as not applicable, in the event that the Calculation Agent is unable to determine a Fallback Reference Price in accordance with paragraph (1)

above or the Calculation Agent determines that the Fallback Reference Price so determined does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer would be able to obtain in the general foreign exchange market, the Calculation Agent will request four Reference Dealers to provide a quotation of their rate for the Relevant Rate as of the Scheduled FX Fixing Date. If at least two quotations are provided, the Relevant Rate will be the arithmetic mean of such quotations; and

- (3)if (i) the Final Terms specify Dealer Poll as not applicable and the Calculation Agent is unable to determine a Fallback Reference Price in accordance with paragraph (1) above or the Calculation Agent determines that the Fallback Reference Price so determined does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer would be able to obtain in the general foreign exchange market; (ii) the Calculation Agent determines that the Relevant Rate determined in accordance with paragraph (2) above does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer would be able to obtain in the general foreign exchange market; or (iii) fewer than 2 quotations are provided by Reference Dealers following the Calculation Agent's request pursuant to paragraph (2) above, the Calculation Agent will determine the Relevant Rate on the first succeeding Business Day on which the Price Source Disruption ceases to exist; provided, however, that if the Price Source Disruption continues for thirty consecutive calendar days (or such other number of calendar days as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) after the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (the "FX Cutoff Date"), the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the Relevant Rate on that FX Cut-off Date; or
- (B) an Unscheduled Holiday occurs (whether or not a Price Source Disruption also occurs), the Scheduled FX Fixing Date for such Relevant Rate and all other Relevant Rates which have the same Scheduled FX Fixing Date shall be postponed to the first succeeding Relevant Currency Business Day; provided, however, that in the event that the Scheduled FX Fixing Date is postponed as a result of the occurrence of an Unscheduled Holiday (a "Postponed FX Fixing Date"), and if the Postponed FX Fixing Date has not occurred on or before the thirtieth consecutive calendar day (or such other number of calendar days as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) after the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (any such period being a "**Deferral Period**"), then the next day after the Deferral Period that is or would have been a Relevant Currency Business Day but for an Unscheduled Holiday, shall be deemed to be the Postponed FX Fixing Date and the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the Relevant Rate on that Postponed FX Fixing Date.
- (Y) Except to the extent that (i) "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable, and (ii) "FX Disruption Event" is specified as being not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if at any time, a FX Disruption Event occurs, the Issuer, in its sole and absolute discretion, may elect to either:
 - (A) having given not less than five days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*), redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount (and, if the FX Disruption Event occurs on a Scheduled FX Fixing Date on which there is a Price Source Disruption or Unscheduled Holiday, for the purposes of determining such Early Redemption Amount the Calculation Agent shall

first determine any Relevant Rate (if required) (a) in accordance with sub-paragraph (X)(A) or (X)(B) above, as applicable, of Condition 9(e) (*Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*) if "Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms or, alternatively (b) in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, on the date notified to the Noteholders); or

(B) instruct the Calculation Agent to make such adjustment(s) to the Conditions as it determines to be necessary or desirable to reflect or account for any market practice that develops in respect of the FX Disruption Event,

provided, however, that in relation to sub-paragraphs (Y)(A) and (Y)(B) above, if as a result of the FX Disruption Event the Issuer is not able to satisfy payments in respect of the Notes when due in the Settlement Currency, the Issuer may settle any such payment pursuant to the provisions of Condition 9(d) (*Payments – Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent*).

The following provisions of this Condition 9(e) (Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption) apply to Alternative General Conditions Notes only.

- (X) If "Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, then, if on any Scheduled FX Fixing Date:
 - (A) a Price Source Disruption occurs, (other than as a result of an Unscheduled Holiday) and no Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions, Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions and/or Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions (as applicable) are specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent shall:
 - (1) determine the Relevant Rate by reference to the rate of exchange published by available recognised financial information vendors (as selected by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) on the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (the "Fallback Reference Price"); or
 - unless the Final Terms specify Dealer Poll as not applicable, in the event that the Calculation Agent is unable to determine a Fallback Reference Price in accordance with paragraph (1) above or the Calculation Agent determines that the Fallback Reference Price so determined does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer would be able to obtain in the general foreign exchange market, the Calculation Agent will request four Reference Dealers to provide a quotation of their rate for the Relevant Rate as of the Scheduled FX Fixing Date. If at least two quotations are provided, the Relevant Rate will be the arithmetic mean of such quotations; and
 - (3) if (i) the Final Terms specify Dealer Poll as not applicable and the Calculation Agent is unable to determine a Fallback Reference Price in accordance with paragraph (1) above or the Calculation Agent determines that the Fallback Reference Price so determined does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer would be able to obtain in the general foreign exchange market; (ii) the Calculation Agent determines that the Relevant Rate determined in accordance with paragraph (2) above does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer would be able to obtain in the general foreign exchange market; or (iii) fewer than 2 quotations are provided by Reference Dealers following the Calculation Agent's request pursuant to paragraph (2) above, the Calculation Agent will determine the Relevant Rate on the first succeeding Business Day on which the Price Source Disruption ceases to exist; provided, however,

that if the Price Source Disruption continues for thirty consecutive calendar days (or such other number of calendar days as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) after the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (the "**FX Cut-off Date**"), the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the Relevant Rate on that FX Cut-off Date; or

- (B) an Unscheduled Holiday occurs (whether or not a Price Source Disruption also occurs), the Scheduled FX Fixing Date for such Relevant Rate and all other Relevant Rates which have the same Scheduled FX Fixing Date shall be postponed to the first succeeding Relevant Currency Business Day; provided, however, that in the event that the Scheduled FX Fixing Date is postponed as a result of the occurrence of an Unscheduled Holiday (a "Postponed FX Fixing Date"), and if the Postponed FX Fixing Date has not occurred on or before the thirtieth consecutive calendar day (or such other number of calendar days as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) after the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (any such period being a "Deferral Period"), then the next day after the Deferral Period that is or would have been a Relevant Currency Business Day but for an Unscheduled Holiday, shall be deemed to be the Postponed FX Fixing Date and the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the Relevant Rate on that Postponed FX Fixing Date.
- (Y) Except to the extent that (i) "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable, and (ii) "FX Disruption Event" is specified as being not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if at any time, a FX Disruption Event occurs, the Issuer, in its sole and absolute discretion, may elect to either:
 - (A) having given not less than five days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*), redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount (and, if the FX Disruption Event occurs on a Scheduled FX Fixing Date on which there is a Price Source Disruption or Unscheduled Holiday, for the purposes of determining such Early Redemption Amount the Calculation Agent shall first determine any Relevant Rate (if required) (a) in accordance with sub-paragraph (X)(A) or (X)(B) above, as applicable, of Condition 9(e) (*Payments Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*) if "Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms or, alternatively (b) in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, on the date notified to the Noteholders); or
 - (B) instruct the Calculation Agent to make such adjustment(s) to the Conditions as it determines to be necessary or desirable to reflect or account for the FX Disruption Event with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholder in substantially the same economic position as prior to the relevant FX Disruption Event,

provided, however, that in relation to sub-paragraphs (Y)(A) and (Y)(B) above, if as a result of the FX Disruption Event the Issuer is not able to satisfy payments in respect of the Notes when due in the Settlement Currency, the Issuer may settle any such payment pursuant to the provisions of Condition 9(d) (Payments – Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent).

(f) EM Price Source Disruption

The following provisions of this Condition 9(f) (Payments – EM Price Source Disruption) apply to all Notes (other than Alternative General Conditions Notes).

If "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, then:

- (i) subject to sub-paragraph (iii) below and **provided that** no Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms, if on any Scheduled FX Fixing Date:
 - (A) Price Materiality is specified as applicable and a Price Materiality occurs, the Relevant Rate shall be a rate determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner. For the avoidance of doubt, any rate achieved by the Issuer pursuant to a relevant hedging agreement shall be deemed to be a commercially reasonable rate;
 - (B) a Price Source Disruption occurs or is continuing, the relevant Conversion Rate Fixing Date shall be postponed until the first Conversion Rate Business Day after such Scheduled FX Fixing Date on which no Price Source Disruption exists (the "Postponed FX Fixing Date"), provided that if the Postponed FX Fixing Date has not occurred within the EM Deferral Period, the Conversion Rate will be determined in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below; or
 - (C) an Unscheduled Holiday occurs (whether or not a Price Source Disruption also occurs), the relevant Conversion Rate Fixing Date shall be postponed to the first succeeding Conversion Rate Business Day (the "Postponed FX Fixing Date"), provided that if the Postponed FX Fixing Date has not occurred within the EM Deferral Period the Conversion Rate will be determined in accordance with paragraph subparagraph (ii) below;
- subject to sub-paragraph (iii) below, notwithstanding the provisions of sub-paragraphs (i)(B) and (i)(C) above, in no event shall the total number of consecutive calendar days for which a fixing date is deferred due to (i) an Unscheduled Holiday, or (ii) a Price Source Disruption (or any combination of (i) and (ii)), exceed the EM Deferral Period. Accordingly, if on the first Conversion Rate Business Day (or date which would have been a Conversion Rate Business Day but for the occurrence of an Unscheduled Holiday) after such period has lapsed (the "Cut-off Fixing Date") (X) an Unscheduled Holiday occurs or is continuing (but no Price Source Disruption occurs or is continuing on such day), then the Conversion Rate shall be a rate determined by the Calculation Agent, acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, or (Y) a Price Source Disruption occurs or is continuing on such day, then the Conversion Rate shall be the Fallback Conversion Rate determined on the Cut-off Fixing Date; and
- (iii) notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 9(f) (*Payments EM Price Source Disruption*), if the Fallback Conversion Rate is not available or, at any time following the determination of the Conversion Rate or Fallback Conversion Rate, the Calculation Agent determines that such rate does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer could have achieved in the general foreign exchange market at the time such Conversion Rate or Fallback Conversion Rate was determined, the applicable Conversion Rate shall be a rate determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner. For the avoidance of doubt, any rate achieved by the Issuer pursuant to a relevant hedging agreement shall be deemed to be a commercially reasonable rate.

The following provisions of this Condition 9(f) (Payments – EM Price Source Disruption) apply to Alternative General Conditions Notes only.

If "EM Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, then:

- (i) subject to sub-paragraph (iii) below and **provided that** no Conversion Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms, if on any Scheduled FX Fixing Date:
 - (A) Price Materiality is specified as applicable and a Price Materiality occurs, the Relevant Rate shall be a rate determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner;
 - (B) a Price Source Disruption occurs or is continuing, the relevant Conversion Rate Fixing Date shall be postponed until the first Conversion Rate Business Day after such Scheduled FX Fixing Date on which no Price Source Disruption exists (the "Postponed FX Fixing Date"), provided that if the Postponed FX Fixing Date has not occurred within the EM Deferral Period, the Conversion Rate will be determined in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below; or
 - (C) an Unscheduled Holiday occurs (whether or not a Price Source Disruption also occurs), the relevant Conversion Rate Fixing Date shall be postponed to the first succeeding Conversion Rate Business Day (the "Postponed FX Fixing Date"), provided that if the Postponed FX Fixing Date has not occurred within the EM Deferral Period the Conversion Rate will be determined in accordance with paragraph sub-paragraph (ii) below;
- (ii) subject to sub-paragraph (iii) below, notwithstanding the provisions of sub-paragraphs (i)(B) and (i)(C) above, in no event shall the total number of consecutive calendar days for which a fixing date is deferred due to (i) an Unscheduled Holiday, or (ii) a Price Source Disruption (or any combination of (i) and (ii)), exceed the EM Deferral Period. Accordingly, if on the first Conversion Rate Business Day (or date which would have been a Conversion Rate Business Day but for the occurrence of an Unscheduled Holiday) after such period has lapsed (the "Cut-off Fixing Date") (X) an Unscheduled Holiday occurs or is continuing (but no Price Source Disruption occurs or is continuing on such day), then the Conversion Rate shall be a rate determined by the Calculation Agent, acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, or (Y) a Price Source Disruption occurs or is continuing on such day, then the Conversion Rate shall be the Fallback Conversion Rate determined on the Cut-off Fixing Date; and
- (iii) notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 9(f) (Payments EM Price Source Disruption), if the Fallback Conversion Rate is not available or, at any time following the determination of the Conversion Rate or Fallback Conversion Rate, the Calculation Agent determines that such rate does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer could have achieved in the general foreign exchange market at the time such Conversion Rate or Fallback Conversion Rate was determined, the applicable Conversion Rate shall be a rate determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.

(g) Postponement of Payments

- (i) If a Scheduled FX Fixing Date is postponed in accordance with Condition 9(e) (Payments Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption), any Related Payment Date will also be postponed, if needed, such that the Related Payment Date shall fall at least three (3) local banking days (or such other number of days as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms) following the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date or, if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable.
- (ii) If a Scheduled FX Fixing Date is postponed in accordance with Condition 9(f) (*Payments EM Price Source Disruption*), any Related Payment Date will also be postponed, if needed, such that the Related Payment Date shall fall at least three (3) local banking days (or such other number of days as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms) following the postponed Conversion Rate Fixing Date or, if later, the Cut-off Fixing Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable.

(iii) Unless Interest Adjustment is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of any payment postponed pursuant to this Condition 9(g) (*Payments* – *Postponement of Payments*) (so that, for the avoidance of doubt, any interest payable in respect of the Notes on a Related Payment Date which is so postponed shall be calculated as if such Related Payment Date had not been postponed pursuant to this Condition 9(g) (*Payments* – *Postponement of Payments*)) unless, in the case of a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Conditions, in which event interest shall continue to accrue as provided in Condition 4 (*Fixed Rate Note Provisions*), 5 (*Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) or 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*), as appropriate.

(h) LBMA Physical Settlement

The following provisions apply where LBMA Physical Settlement is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms.

A. LBMA Transfer Notice

- (i) Each Noteholder shall, on or before 4:00 pm (London time) on the date falling 5 Conversion Rate Business Days or Underlying Currency Pair Business Days (as applicable) before the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Maturity Date or date of early redemption of the Notes (as applicable) (or such earlier date as the Issuer shall determine is necessary for the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the relevant Clearing System to perform their respective obligations hereunder and notify to the Paying Agents and the Noteholders accordingly) send to the relevant Clearing System, in accordance with its then applicable operating procedures, and copied to the Principal Paying Agent, an irrevocable notice (an "LBMA Transfer Notice") in the form from time to time approved by the Issuer, which must:
 - (A) specify the name and address of the Noteholder;
 - (B) specify the number of Notes in respect of which he is the Noteholder;
 - (C) specify the number of the Noteholder's account at the relevant Clearing System, to be debited with such Notes;
 - (D) irrevocably instruct and authorise the relevant Clearing System, (1) to debit the Noteholder's account with such Notes on the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Maturity Date or the relevant early redemption date of the Notes (as applicable) and (2) that no further transfers of the Notes specified in the LBMA Transfer Notice may be made;
 - (E) contain a representation and warranty from the Noteholder to the effect that the Notes to which the LBMA Transfer Notice relates are free from all liens, charges, encumbrances and other third party rights;
 - (F) specify the number and account name of the account in London with a member of the LBMA where the relevant amount of interest, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount and/or any other amount in respect of the Notes shall be credited;
 - (G) contain an irrevocable undertaking to pay the Transfer Expenses (if any) and an irrevocable instruction to the relevant Clearing System, to debit on or after the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Maturity Date or the relevant early redemption date of the Notes (as applicable) the cash or other account of the Noteholder with the relevant Clearing System, specified in the LBMA Transfer Notice with such Transfer Expenses; and

- (H) authorise the production of the LBMA Transfer Notice in any applicable administrative or legal proceedings.
- (ii) An LBMA Transfer Notice, once delivered to the relevant Clearing System, shall be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn without the consent in writing of the Issuer. A Noteholder may not transfer any Note which is the subject of an LBMA Transfer Notice following delivery of such LBMA Transfer Notice to the relevant Clearing System. A LBMA Transfer Notice shall only be valid to the extent that the relevant Clearing System have not received conflicting prior instructions in respect of the Notes which are the subject of the LBMA Transfer Notice.
- (iii) Failure properly to complete and deliver a LBMA Transfer Notice may result in such notice being treated as null and void with the consequence set out in subparagraph (C) below. Any determination as to whether such notice has been properly completed and delivered as provided shall be made by the relevant Clearing System, after consultation with the Principal Paying Agent and shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer and the Noteholder.
- (iv) The Principal Paying Agent shall promptly on the local banking day following receipt of a LBMA Transfer Notice send a copy thereof to the Issuer or such person as the Issuer may previously have specified.

B. Delivery obligation

Subject to the other provisions of this Condition 9(h) (*Payments – LBMA Physical Settlement*), if the LBMA Physical Settlement provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Issuer shall discharge its obligation to deliver the relevant amount of interest, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount and/or any other amount in respect of the Notes by crediting, or procuring the credit of, the same on the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Maturity Date or the date of early redemption of the Notes (as applicable) to the account in London with a member of the LBMA specified in the LBMA Transfer Notice of the relevant Noteholder.

C. LBMA Physical Settlement Fallback Redemption Amount

In the event that any Noteholder fails to deliver a valid LBMA Transfer Notice by 4:00 pm on the day falling 5 Conversion Rate Business Days or Underlying Currency Pair Business Days (as applicable) before the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Maturity Date or the date of early redemption of the Notes (as applicable) (or such earlier date as the Issuer shall determine is necessary for the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the relevant Clearing System to perform their respective obligations hereunder and notify to the Paying Agents and the Noteholders accordingly), the Calculation Agent shall determine the LBMA Physical Settlement Fallback Redemption Amount and the Issuer shall pay the LBMA Physical Settlement Fallback Redemption Amount in respect of each Notehold by such Noteholder on the Maturity Date, the relevant Interest Payment Date or date of early redemption of the Notes.

D. Disruption

(i) LBMA Physical Settlement Market Disruption Event

If a LBMA Physical Settlement Market Disruption Event occurs or exists on any date on which the Conversion Rate or Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate (as applicable) is to be determined, the Conversion Rate or Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate (as applicable) shall be the rate determined by the Calculation Agent taking into consideration the latest available Conversion Rate or Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate (as applicable) as of a date on which no LBMA Physical Settlement Market Disruption Event occurred or existed and any other information which the Calculation Agent considers relevant.

(ii) Settlement Disruption of LBMA Physical Settlement

The Calculation Agent shall determine whether or not at any time a LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event has occurred and where it determines such an event has occurred and has prevented any delivery on the original day that but for such LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event would have been the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Maturity Date or the date of early redemption of the Notes (as applicable), then such date will be the first succeeding day on which the relevant delivery can take place unless a LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event prevents settlement on each of the ten (10) Business Days immediately following the original date that, but for the LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event, would have been the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Maturity Date or the date of early redemption of the Notes (as applicable). In that case, (a) if the relevant delivery can be effected in any other commercially reasonable manner, then the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Maturity Date or the date of early redemption of the Notes (as applicable) will be that tenth (10th) Business Day with delivery being effected in such manner, and (b) if such delivery cannot be effected in any other commercially reasonable manner, then the relevant Interest Payment Date, the Maturity Date or the date of early redemption of the Notes (as applicable) will be postponed until delivery can be effected in another commercially reasonable manner.

(i) Conversion

If Conversion provisions are specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms in relation to any specified amount payable in respect of the Notes, the relevant amount payable in respect of the Notes will be determined in accordance with the relevant Conversion provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms. Notwithstanding anything contained in these Conditions or the relevant Final Terms, the currency of payment in respect of such amount shall be as determined in accordance with such Conversion provisions, such currency shall be deemed to be the Settlement Currency in respect of such payment and the "Settlement Currency Jurisdiction" specified in the relevant Final Terms shall be deemed to be modified accordingly in relation to such amount.

10. **Redenomination**

(a) General

Where redenomination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, and in respect of Notes denominated in a National Currency Unit (as defined in Condition 1 (*Definitions*)), the Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders, upon giving at least 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*), designate a Redenomination Date.

With effect from the Redenomination Date:

(i) each Note shall (unless already so provided by mandatory provisions of applicable law) be deemed to be redenominated into such amount of euro in the denomination of euro 0.01 with a principal amount for each Note equal to the principal amount of that Note in the Settlement Currency, converted into euro at the rate for the conversion of the relevant Settlement Currency into euro established by the Council of the European Union pursuant to the Treaty (including compliance with rules relating to rounding in accordance with EC regulations); **provided**, **however**, **that** if the Issuer determines that market practice in respect of the redenomination into euro 0.01 of internationally offered securities is different from that specified above, then the Issuer shall promptly notify the Noteholders, each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and the Paying Agents of the changes that will be required so as to comply with such market practice and such changes shall be deemed to be

effective on the date which is 5 days following the date on which such notice is given to the Noteholders;

- (ii) if Notes are in definitive form:
 - (A) all unmatured Coupons denominated in the relevant Settlement Currency (whether or not attached to the Notes) will become void with effect from the date (the "Euro Exchange Date") on which the Issuer gives notice (the "Euro Exchange Notice") to the Noteholders that replacement Notes and Coupons denominated in euro are available for exchange (provided that such Notes and Coupons are available) and no payments will be made in respect thereof;
 - (B) the payment obligations contained in all Notes denominated in the Settlement Currency will become void on the Euro Exchange Date but all other obligations of the Issuer thereunder (including the obligation to exchange such Notes in accordance with this Condition 10(a)(ii) (Redenomination General)) shall remain in full force and effect; and
 - (C) new Notes and Coupons denominated in euro will be issued in exchange for Notes and Coupons denominated in the relevant Settlement Currency in such manner as the Issuer may specify and as shall be notified to the Noteholders in the Euro Exchange Notice;
- (iii) all payments in respect of the Notes (other than, unless the Redenomination Date is on or after such date as the relevant Settlement Currency ceases to be a sub-division of the euro, payments of interest in respect of periods commencing before the Redenomination Date) will be made solely in euro, as though references in the Notes to the Settlement Currency were to euro. Such payments will be made in euro by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) maintained by the payee with a bank in the principal financial centre of any member state of the European Union; and
- (iv) such other changes will be made to the terms and conditions of the Notes as the Issuer may decide to conform such Notes to conventions then applicable to Notes denominated in euro. Any such other changes will not take effect until after it has been notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*).

Neither the Issuer nor any Paying Agent will be liable to any Noteholder or other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from the credit or transfer of euro or any currency conversion or rounding effected in connection therewith.

(b) **Interest**

Following redenomination of the Notes pursuant to 10(a) (*Redenomination – General*):

- (i) where Notes are in definitive form, the amount of interest due in respect of the Notes will be calculated by reference to the aggregate principal amount of the Notes presented (or, as the case may be, in respect of which Coupons are presented) for payment by the relevant holder and the amount of such payment shall be rounded down to the nearest euro 0.01;
- (ii) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where interest is payable annually, any interest required to be calculated for a period of less than one year in respect of the Notes shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed divided by 365 (or, if any of the days elapsed fall in a leap year, the sum of (a) the number of those days falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (b) the number of those days falling in a non-leap year divided by 365); **provided, however, that** if the Issuer determines that the market practice in respect of internationally offered euro denominated securities is different from that specified above, then the Issuer shall promptly notify the Noteholders, and each listing authority, stock exchange

and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and the Paying Agents of the changes that will be required so as to comply with such market practice and such changes shall be deemed to be effective on the date which is 5 days following the date on which such notice is given to the Noteholders;

- (iii) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where interest is payable quarterly or semi-annually, the amount of interest payable in respect of each Note on any Interest Payment Date shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the principal amount of such Note, dividing the product by four or two (as the case may be) and rounding the figure down to the nearest euro 0.01. If interest is required to be calculated for any other period, it shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed divided by 365 (or, if any of the days elapsed fall in a leap year, the sum of (a) the number of those days falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (b) the number of those days falling in a non-leap year divided by 365); **provided**, **however**, **that** if the Issuer determines that the market practice in respect of internationally offered euro denominated securities is different from that specified above, then the Issuer shall promptly notify the Noteholders, and each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and the Paying Agents of the changes that will be required so as to comply with such market practice and such changes shall be deemed to be effective on the date which is 5 days following the date on which such notice is given to the Noteholders:
- (iv) in respect of Floating Rate Notes, the Interest Amount payable in respect of the Notes for each Interest Period will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to the principal amount of such Note during the Interest Period, multiplying the product by the actual number of days in such Interest Period divided by 360 and rounding the resulting figure down to the nearest euro 0.01; and
- (v) in respect of Floating Rate Notes, the Rate of Interest for any subsequent Interest Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent on the basis of provisions which it determines reflect the market practice in respect of internationally offered euro denominated securities.

11. Events of Default

If any one or more of the following events (each an "Event of Default") shall occur and be continuing in relation to a Series of Notes:

- there is a default for more than 14 days in the repayment of any principal due on the Notes of such Series or any of them or in the payment of any interest due in respect of the Notes of such Series or any of them, **provided that** it shall not be such a default to withhold or refuse any such payment (1) in order to comply with any fiscal or other law or regulation or with the order of any court of competent jurisdiction, in each case applicable to such payment or (2) in cases of doubt as to the validity or applicability of any such law, regulation or order, in accordance with advice given at any time during the said period of 14 days by independent legal advisers acceptable to the Principal Paying Agent as to such validity or applicability; or
- (b) an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding up of the Issuer in England (otherwise than in connection with a scheme of reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of which shall previously have been approved in writing by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Holders of the relevant Series of Notes),

then any Noteholder may, by written notice to the Issuer, effective upon the date of receipt thereof by the Issuer (such date the "Early Redemption Date"), declare the Note held by the Holder to be forthwith due and payable whereupon the same shall become forthwith due and payable at the Early Redemption Amount, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, together with interest accrued

and unpaid until the date of its redemption, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind.

12. **Prescription**

Notes and Coupons will become void unless presented for payment within a period of 10 years and five years, respectively, from the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8 (*Taxation*)) in respect thereof. Any monies paid by the Issuer to the Principal Paying Agent for the payment of the principal or interest in respect of any Notes or Coupons and remaining unclaimed when such Notes or Coupons become void will then revert to the Issuer and all liability of the Principal Paying Agent with respect thereto will thereupon cease.

There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued in exchange for a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition 12 (*Prescription*) or Condition 9 (*Payments*).

13. Replacement, Exchange and Transfer

Should any Note or Coupon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the specified office (in the case of a Bearer Note or Coupon) of the Issue Agent or (in the case of Registered Notes) of the Registrar or of the Transfer Agent upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and the relevant Final Terms, a Registered Note may be exchanged for a Registered Note or Notes of equal aggregate principal amount in such different authorised denominations as may be requested by the Noteholder by surrender of such Registered Note at the specified office of the Registrar or of the Transfer Agent, together with a written request for the exchange.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement, a Registered Note, in definitive form, may be transferred in whole or in part only (**provided that** such part is, or is an appropriate multiple of, the minimum denomination set out in the Final Terms) by the Holder or Holders surrendering the Registered Note for registration of transfer at the specified office of the Registrar or the Transfer Agent, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument to transfer in form satisfactory to the Issuer and the Registrar or the Transfer Agent, duly executed by the Holder or Holders thereof or his or their attorney duly authorised in writing. A new Registered Note will be issued to the transferee and, in the case of a transfer of part only of a Registered Note, a new Registered Note in respect of the balance not transferred will be issued to the transferor.

If so set out in the relevant Final Terms, the Holder of Bearer Notes may exchange the same for the same aggregate principal amount of Registered Notes upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement. In order to exchange a Bearer Note for a Registered Note, the Holder thereof shall surrender such Bearer Note at the specified office outside the United States of the Principal Paying Agent or of the Registrar or the Transfer Agent, together with a written request for the exchange. Each Bearer Note so surrendered must be accompanied by all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto other than the Coupon in respect of the next payment of interest falling due after the exchange date (as defined below) where the exchange date would, but for the provisions of this paragraph, occur between the Record Date (as defined in Condition 9(b) (*Payments – Registered Notes*)) for such payment of interest and the date on which such payment of interest falls due.

Each new Registered Note to be issued upon the transfer of a Registered Note or the exchange of a Bearer Note for a Registered Note will, within three Relevant Banking Days of the transfer date or, as the case may be, the exchange date be available for delivery at the specified office of the Registrar or the Transfer Agent, or, at the option of the Holder requesting such exchange or transfer be mailed (by uninsured post at the risk of the Holder(s) entitled thereto) to such address(es) as may be specified by such Holder.

The costs and expenses of effecting any exchange or registration of transfer pursuant to the foregoing provisions, except for the expenses of delivery by other than regular mail or insurance charges that may be imposed in relation hereto, shall be borne by the Issuer.

The Registrar or the Transfer Agent, as the case may be, shall not be required to register the transfer or exchange of Registered Notes for a period of 15 days preceding the due date for any payment of principal or interest in respect of such Notes.

14. Notices

(a) Notices to Noteholders

All notices to the Holders of Notes or the Coupons appertaining thereto will be valid: (i) if published, in the case of Bearer Notes and Coupons, in one leading daily newspaper with circulation in London (which is expected to be the *Financial Times* or, if such publication is not practicable, in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe); and (ii) in the case of Registered Notes, if mailed to their registered addresses (as advised by the Registrar) or to that of the first named of them in the case of joint Holders; **provided that**, in each case, in the case of Notes admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system the rules of such listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation have been complied with. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or delivery or, if published more than once, on the date of the first such publication (or, if required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the first date on which publication shall have been made in all the required newspapers).

Holders of any Coupons appertaining to Bearer Notes will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Holders of such Bearer Notes in accordance herewith.

(b) Notices from Noteholders

Notices given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, together with the relevant Note or Notes (if applicable), with the Principal Paying Agent or other Paying Agent or with the Registrar (as the case may be) at its specified office.

15. Paying Agents, Calculation Agents, Issue Agents, Transfer Agents and Registrars

The following provisions of this Condition 15 (Paying Agents, Calculation Agents, Issue Agents, Transfer Agents and Registrars) apply to all Notes (other than Alternative General Conditions Notes).

(a) The names of the initial Principal Paying Agent, the other initial Paying Agents, the initial Calculation Agents, the initial Issue Agent, the initial Transfer Agent, the initial Registrar and their respective initial specified offices are set out below.

The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, Issue Agent, Transfer Agent or Registrar and/or approve any change in the specified office through which any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, Issue Agent, Transfer Agent or Registrar acts, **provided that**:

- (i) so long as any Bearer Notes are outstanding, there will at all times be a Principal Paying Agent; and
- (ii) so long as any Registered Notes are outstanding, there will at all times be a Registrar and a Transfer Agent.
- (b) In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a specified office in New York City in the circumstances described in the second paragraph of Condition 9(a) (*Payments Bearer Notes*). Any variation, termination, appointment or change shall only

take effect (other than in the case of an insolvency, when it shall be of immediate effect) after notice has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*).

- (c) Except as otherwise provided in these Conditions or in a relevant Final Terms, all calculations and determinations made by the Calculation Agent pursuant to the Conditions for the purposes of the Notes (including any determinations by the Calculation Agent as to the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes) shall be made in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.
- (d) The Agents and the Calculation Agent shall not act as agents for the Noteholders but shall be agents of the Issuer. All calculation functions required of the Calculation Agent under these Conditions may be delegated to any such person as the Calculation Agent, in its absolute discretion, may decide.

The following provisions of this Condition 15 (Paying Agents, Calculation Agents, Issue Agents, Transfer Agents and Registrars) apply to Alternative General Conditions Notes only.

(a) The names of the initial Principal Paying Agent, the other initial Paying Agents, the initial Calculation Agents, the initial Issue Agent, the initial Transfer Agent, the initial Registrar and their respective initial specified offices are set out below.

The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, Issue Agent, Transfer Agent or Registrar and/or approve any change in the specified office through which any Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, Issue Agent, Transfer Agent or Registrar acts, **provided that**:

- (i) so long as any Bearer Notes are outstanding, there will at all times be a Principal Paying Agent; and
- (ii) so long as any Registered Notes are outstanding, there will at all times be a Registrar and a Transfer Agent.
- (b) In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a specified office in New York City in the circumstances described in the second paragraph of Condition 9(a) (*Payments Bearer Notes*). Any variation, termination, appointment or change shall only take effect (other than in the case of an insolvency, when it shall be of immediate effect) after notice has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*).
- (c) All calculations and determinations made by the Calculation Agent pursuant to the Conditions for the purposes of the Notes (including any determinations by the Calculation Agent as to the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes) shall be made in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, and in exercising any discretion to amend or adjust the Conditions, the Calculation Agent will exercise such discretion with a view to replicating as closely as possible the economic position that existed prior to the occurrence of the event giving rise to the exercise of such discretion
- (d) The Agents and the Calculation Agent shall not act as agents for the Noteholders but shall be agents of the Issuer. All calculation functions required of the Calculation Agent under these Conditions may be delegated to any such person as the Calculation Agent, in its absolute discretion, may decide.

15A. Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event

The following provisions of this Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) apply to Notes (other than Alternative General Conditions Notes).

(a) This Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) shall apply except that where Condition 5(e) (Floating Rate Note, Index Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions – Non-indexed Overnight Rate Determination) is applicable and "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, this

Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*) shall not apply in relation SOFR as the Reference Rate.

- (b) If the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Trigger Event has occurred in relation to a Relevant Benchmark relating to a Series of Notes, then:
 - (i) if an Alternative Pre-nominated Index has been specified in relation to such Relevant Benchmark in the relevant Final Terms:
 - (A) unless the Issuer determines that replacing the Relevant Benchmark with the Alternative Pre-nominated Index would not produce a commercially reasonable result, references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be deemed to be replaced with references to the Alternative Pre-nominated Index with effect from the Benchmark Trigger Event Determination Date: and
 - (B) the Issuer shall make such other adjustments to the Conditions as it determines are necessary to account for the effect on the Notes of referencing the Alternative Pre-nominated Index in place of such Relevant Benchmark including, without limitation, to any variable, margin, calculation methodology, valuation, settlement, payment terms or any other terms of the Notes; and
 - (ii) if an Alternative Pre-nominated Index has not been specified in relation to such Relevant Benchmark in the relevant Final Terms or the Issuer determines that replacing the Relevant Benchmark with the Alternative Pre-nominated Index would not produce a commercially reasonable result, the Issuer shall do any of the following:
 - (A) determine that references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be deemed to be replaced by references to such index, benchmark or price source as the Issuer determines would have the effect of placing the Issuer in an economically equivalent position to that which it would have been in had the Benchmark Trigger Event not occurred (the "Replacement Index") (and in making such determination the Issuer shall be entitled to take into account such facts and circumstances as it considers relevant including, without limitation, (i) any index, benchmark or other price source which measures the same market or economic reality as the Relevant Benchmark and which is formally designated, nominated or recommended by the administrator or sponsor of the Relevant Benchmark or (ii) any index, benchmark or other price source which is formally designated, nominated or recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body, in each case to replace the Relevant Benchmark), in which case:
 - (1) references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be deemed to be replaced with references to such Replacement Index with effect from the Benchmark Trigger Event Determination Date; and
 - (2) the Issuer shall make such other adjustments to the Conditions as it determines are necessary to account for the effect on the Notes of referencing the Replacement Index in place of such Relevant Benchmark including, without limitation, to any variable, margin, calculation methodology, valuation, settlement, payment terms or any other terms of the Notes; or
 - (B) follow the steps for determining the relevant rate or level set out in the Relevant Reference Asset Fallback Provisions (if any); or
 - (C) determine that the Notes shall be redeemed, in which case the Issuer shall redeem the Notes at the Early Redemption Amount specified in the

relevant Final Terms on the date selected by the Issuer and give notice of such redemption to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*);

provided, however, that if (1) it is or would be unlawful at any time under applicable law or regulation or (2) it would contravene any applicable licensing requirements, in each case, for any of the above provisions or determinations to apply to the Notes, then such provision shall not apply and the Issuer shall not make such determination (as the case may be) and the Issuer shall instead take any of the above actions that complies with the applicable law, regulation or licensing requirements.

- (c) If the Issuer is not able to determine the Relevant Benchmark in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) on any Relevant Benchmark Determination Date, then the Relevant Benchmark Determination Date shall be postponed to such date as it is able to make such determination and any Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date will also be postponed, if needed, such that the Related Payment Date shall fall at least three (3) local banking days (or such other number of days as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms) following the postponed Relevant Benchmark Determination Date.
- (d) Unless Interest Adjustment is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of any payment postponed pursuant to this Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) (so that, for the avoidance of doubt, any interest payable in respect of the Notes on a Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date which is so postponed shall be calculated as if such Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date had not been postponed pursuant to this Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event)) unless, in the case of a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Conditions, in which event interest shall continue to accrue as provided in Condition 4 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions), 5 (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions) or 6 (Zero Coupon Notes), as appropriate.
- (e) The Issuer shall promptly following the determination of any replacement for a Relevant Benchmark pursuant to paragraph (b)(i)(A) or (b)(ii)(A) above give notice thereof and of any changes pursuant to paragraph (b)(i)(B) or (b)(ii)(A)(2) above (as applicable) to the Principal Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders (in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*)).
- (f) Without prejudice, in the case of any Index-Linked Notes, to Condition 21(f)(ii) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity Linked Notes and Index Linked Notes Adjustments to Indices Index Modification), if the definition, methodology or formula for a Relevant Benchmark in respect of a Series of Notes, or other means of calculating the Relevant Benchmark in respect of a Series of Notes, is changed, then references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be to such Relevant Benchmark as so changed.
- In making any determination under this Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*), the Issuer shall take account of such facts and circumstances as it considers relevant, including, without limitation, prevailing market practice, any determinations made in respect of any of the Issuer's hedging arrangements in relation to the Notes (including, without limitation, in respect of any termination or re-establishment of hedging arrangements), and the Issuer's funding costs. Except to the extent the such exclusion is prohibited by law, in the absence of fraud or gross negligence on the part of the Issuer, no liability will attach to the Issuer in connection with any determination made by the Issuer pursuant to this Clause 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*).

The following provisions of this Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) apply to Alternative General Conditions Notes only.

- (a) This Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) shall apply except that where Condition 5(e) ((Floating Rate Note, Index Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions Non-indexed Overnight Rate Determination) is applicable and "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Final Terms, this Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) shall not apply in relation SOFR as the Reference Rate.
- (b) If the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Trigger Event has occurred in relation to a Relevant Benchmark relating to a Series of Notes, then:
 - (i) if an Alternative Pre-nominated Index has been specified in relation to such Relevant Benchmark in the relevant Final Terms:
 - (A) unless the Issuer determines that replacing the Relevant Benchmark with the Alternative Pre-nominated Index would not produce a commercially reasonable result, references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be deemed to be replaced with references to the Alternative Pre-nominated Index with effect from the Benchmark Trigger Event Determination Date; and
 - (B) the Issuer shall make such other adjustments to the Conditions as it determines are necessary to account for the effect on the Notes of referencing the Alternative Pre-nominated Index in place of such Relevant Benchmark including, without limitation, to any variable, margin, calculation methodology, valuation, settlement, payment terms or any other terms of the Notes; and
 - (ii) if an Alternative Pre-nominated Index has not been specified in relation to such Relevant Benchmark in the relevant Final Terms or the Issuer determines that replacing the Relevant Benchmark with the Alternative Pre-nominated Index would not produce a commercially reasonable result, the Issuer shall do any of the following:
 - determine that references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be deemed (A) to be replaced by references to such index, benchmark or price source as the Issuer determines would have the effect of placing the Issuer in an economically equivalent position to that which it would have been in had the Benchmark Trigger Event not occurred (the "Replacement Index") (and in making such determination the Issuer shall be entitled to take into account such facts and circumstances as it considers relevant including, without limitation, (i) any index, benchmark or other price source which measures the same market or economic reality as the Relevant Benchmark and which is formally designated, nominated or recommended by the administrator or sponsor of the Relevant Benchmark or (ii) any index, benchmark or other price source which is formally designated, nominated or recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body, in each case to replace the Relevant Benchmark), in which case:
 - (1) references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be deemed to be replaced with references to such Replacement Index with effect from the Benchmark Trigger Event Determination Date; and
 - (2) the Issuer shall make such other adjustments to the Conditions as it determines are necessary to account for the effect on the Notes of referencing the Replacement Index in place of such Relevant Benchmark including, without limitation, to any variable, margin, calculation methodology, valuation, settlement, payment terms or any other terms of the Notes; or

- (B) follow the steps for determining the relevant rate or level set out in the Relevant Reference Asset Fallback Provisions (if any); or
- (C) determine that the Notes shall be redeemed, in which case the Issuer shall redeem the Notes at the Early Redemption Amount specified in the relevant Final Terms on the date selected by the Issuer and give notice of such redemption to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*);

provided, however, that if (A)(1) it is or would be unlawful at any time under applicable law or regulation or (2) it would contravene any applicable licensing requirements, in each case, for any of the above provisions or determinations to apply to the Notes, then such provision shall not apply and the Issuer shall not make such determination (as the case may be) and the Issuer shall instead take any of the above actions that complies with the applicable law, regulation or licensing requirements and (B) the Issuer will, notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition, make any determination and exercise any discretion as to whether the Alternative Pre-Nominated Index is to be used following such Benchmark Trigger Event or which Replacement Index is to be used, and which adjustments are to be made to the Conditions following such replacement, in such manner as to put the Issuer and the Noteholder in substantially the same economic position as prior to the occurrence of the Benchmark Trigger Event, in each case without prejudice to the right of the Issuer to redeem the Notes in accordance with this Condition.

- (c) If the Issuer is not able to determine the Relevant Benchmark in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) on any Relevant Benchmark Determination Date, then the Relevant Benchmark Determination Date shall be postponed to such date as it is able to make such determination and any Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date will also be postponed, if needed, such that the Related Payment Date shall fall at least three (3) local banking days (or such other number of days as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms) following the postponed Relevant Benchmark Determination Date.
- (d) Unless Interest Adjustment is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of any payment postponed pursuant to this Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event) (so that, for the avoidance of doubt, any interest payable in respect of the Notes on a Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date which is so postponed shall be calculated as if such Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date had not been postponed pursuant to this Condition 15A (Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event)) unless, in the case of a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Conditions, in which event interest shall continue to accrue as provided in Condition 4 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions), 5 (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions) or 6 (Zero Coupon Notes), as appropriate.
- (e) The Issuer shall promptly following the determination of any replacement for a Relevant Benchmark pursuant to paragraph (b)(i)(A) or (b)(ii)(A) above give notice thereof and of any changes pursuant to paragraph (b)(i)(B) or (b)(ii)(A)(2) above (as applicable) to the Principal Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders (in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*)).
- (f) Without prejudice, in the case of any Index-Linked Notes, to Condition 21(f)(ii) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes Adjustments to Indices Index Modification), if the definition, methodology or formula for a Relevant Benchmark in respect of a Series of Notes, or other means of calculating the Relevant Benchmark in respect of a Series of Notes, is changed, then references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be to such Relevant Benchmark as so changed.

In making any determination under this Condition 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*), the Issuer shall take account of such facts and circumstances as it considers relevant, including, without limitation, prevailing market practice. Except to the extent the such exclusion is prohibited by law, in the absence of fraud or gross negligence on the part of the Issuer, no liability will attach to the Issuer in connection with any determination made by the Issuer pursuant to this Clause 15A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*).

16. Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Substitution

(a) **Meetings of Noteholders**

The Master Note Issuance Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of the Holders of the Notes of any Series to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Master Note Issuance Agreement) of a modification of the Notes or any of the provisions of the Master Note Issuance Agreement. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or by Holders of the Notes of any Series holding not less than five per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being remaining outstanding. The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution is one or more persons holding or representing not less than 50 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing Holders of the Notes of any Series whatever the nominal amount of the Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of the Notes (including modifying the date of maturity of the Notes, reducing or cancelling the amount of principal payable in respect of the Notes or altering the currency of payment of the Notes), the quorum shall be one or more persons holding or representing not less than 75 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one or more persons holding or representing a clear majority, in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the Holders of the Notes of any Series shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting. Any modification of the Notes shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (Notices) as soon as practicable thereafter.

(b) **Modification**

Subject in case of the Master Note Issuance Agreement or the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement (as applicable) to the agreement of the other parties thereto, the Issuer may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to:

- any modification (except as mentioned above) of the Master Note Issuance Agreement or the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement or the Conditions which is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders as a whole;
- (ii) any modification of the Conditions or the Master Note Issuance Agreement or the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law of the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated; or
- (iii) any modification of the Notes which is made to correct an inconsistency between the Final Terms and conditions of the Note issue (comprising these Conditions as completed by the relevant Final Terms) and the relevant termsheet relating to the Notes.

Any such modification shall be binding on the Noteholders and any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*) as soon as practicable thereafter.

(c) Substitution

The Issuer may also agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to the substitution of a subsidiary or holding company of the Issuer or any subsidiary of any such holding

company (the "New Issuer") in place of the Issuer as principal debtor under the Notes of any Series and the Coupons appertaining thereto (if any), provided that such Notes and the Coupons appertaining thereto (if any) are irrevocably guaranteed by the Issuer. In the event of any such substitution, any reference in these Conditions to the Issuer shall be construed as a reference to the New Issuer. Any such substitution shall be promptly notified to the relevant Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (Notices). In connection with such right of substitution, the Issuer shall not be obliged to have regard to the consequences of the exercise of such right for individual Noteholders resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory, and no Noteholder shall be entitled to claim from the Issuer any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such substitution upon such Noteholder.

17. Further Issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Holders of Notes of any Series or Holders of the Coupons appertaining thereto (if any) to create and issue further notes ranking equally in all respects with the Notes of such Series so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with such Notes for the time being outstanding.

18. Effects of European Economic and Monetary Union

Following the occurrence of an EMU Event, the Calculation Agent shall make such adjustment (and determine the effective date of such adjustment) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the formula for the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or any amount of interest set out in the relevant Final Terms and/or any other adjustment and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the settlement or payment terms of the relevant Notes.

Following the occurrence of an EMU Event, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Issuer shall be entitled to make such conversions between amounts denominated in the National Currency Units and the euro, and the euro and the National Currency Units, in each case, in accordance with the conversion rates and rounding rules in Regulation (EC) No. 1103/97 as it determines to be appropriate.

Neither the Issuer nor the Calculation Agent will be liable to any Noteholder or other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from any currency conversion or rounding effected in connection therewith.

19. Third Party Rights

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

20. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

(a) Governing law

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.

(b) English courts

The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a "**Dispute**"), arising out of or in connection with the Notes (including any Dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of the Notes or the consequence of their nullity).

21. Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes

The following provisions of this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes) apply to all Notes (other than Alternative General Conditions Notes).

(a) **Definitions**

As used in this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes), and unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

- "Additional Disruption Event" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 21(h) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes Additional Disruption Events);
- "Applicable Hedge Positions" means in respect of each Security, the purchase, sale, entry into or maintenance of one or more (i) positions or contracts in securities, options, futures, derivatives or foreign exchange, (ii) stock loan transactions or (iii) other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) that a Hypothetical Broker Dealer would consider necessary to hedge the equity price risk or currency risk of entering into and performing its obligations in respect of the Notes;
- "Automatic Early Redemption Amount" means in respect of an Automatic Early Redemption Date and as calculated by the Calculation Agent in good faith, an amount equal to the Calculation Amount multiplied by the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Rate relating to that Automatic Early Redemption Date or such other amount as specified in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Automatic Early Redemption Date(s)" means each of the date(s) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, subject in each case to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Automatic Early Redemption Event" means (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) that the price of the relevant Security or, as the case may be, the level of the Index, in either case as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date is, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Price, or as the case may be, the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Level;
- "Automatic Early Redemption Level" means, in respect of an Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date, the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Automatic Early Redemption Price" means, in respect of an Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date, the price per Security specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Automatic Early Redemption Rate" means, in respect of any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date, the percentage rate specified as such for such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date in the relevant Final Terms;

"Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date(s)" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, each of the date(s) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day), the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, each of the date(s) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days),

which shall apply as if such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date were a Valuation Date;

"Averaging Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, in respect of each Valuation Date, each date specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, in respect of each Valuation Date, each date specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Averaging Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days);

"Cash Settlement" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, that the relevant Noteholder is entitled to receive from the Issuer on the Maturity Date an amount calculated in accordance with the relevant Final Terms in the Settlement Currency;

"China Connect" means any securities trading and clearing links developed or to be developed by SEHK, any such China Connect Market, the HKSCC and the CSDCC for the establishment of mutual market access between SEHK and any such China Connect Market:

"China Connect Business Day" means any Scheduled Trading Day on which the China Connect Service is open for order-routing during its regular order-routing sessions, notwithstanding the China Connect Service closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time;

"China Connect Disruption" means (a) any suspension of or limitation imposed on routing of orders (including in respect of buy orders only, sell orders only or both buy and sell orders) through the China Connect Service, relating to the Securities on the Exchange (or in the case of an Index or basket of Indices, relating to Component Securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index) or (b) any event (other than a China Connect Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of the market participants in general to enter orders in respect of Securities through the China Connect Service (or in the case of an Index or basket of Indices, in Component Securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index);

"China Connect Early Closure" means the closure on any China Connect Business Day of the China Connect Service (provided that, in the case of an Index or basket of Indices, Component Securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index are securities that are order-routed through the China Connect Service) prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by SEHK or the Exchange, as the case may be, at least one hour prior to the earlier of (i) the actual closing time for order-routing through the China Connect Service on such China Connect Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the China Connect Service system for execution on the Exchange at the Valuation Time on such China Connect Business Day;

"China Connect Market" means any stock exchange in the PRC which is acceptable to the SEHK under the securities trading and clearing links programme developed or to be developed by SEHK, any such China Connect Market, the HKSCC and the CSDCC for the establishment of mutual market access with SEHK and any such China Connect Market;

"China Connect Service" means the securities trading and clearing links programme developed by the Exchange, China Connect Market, CSDCC and HKSCC, through which (i) SEHK and/or its affiliates provide order-routing and other related services for certain eligible securities traded on the China Connect Market and (ii) CSDCC and HKSCC provide clearing, settlement, depository and other services in relation to such securities;

"China Connect Underlying" means eligible securities listed and traded on a China Connect Market under China Connect;

"Clearing System Business Day" means, in relation to any Securities, any day on which the principal domestic clearing system customarily used for settling trades in such Securities is (or, but for the occurrence of an event beyond the control of the Issuer as a result of which such clearing system cannot clear the transfer of such securities, would have been) open for the acceptance and execution of settlement instructions;

"Component Security" means, with respect to an Index, each component security of that Index;

"Conversion" means, in respect of any Securities, any irreversible conversion by the Underlying Company of such Securities into other securities;

"CSDCC" means China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation;

"Delisting" means that the Exchange announces that, pursuant to the rules of such Exchange, the Securities cease (or will cease) to be listed, traded or publicly quoted on the Exchange for any reason (other than a Merger Event or Tender Offer) and are not immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an exchange or quotation system (an "Alternative Exchange") located in the same country as the Exchange (or, where the Exchange is within the European Union or the United Kingdom, in any member state of the European Union or the United Kingdom) or that the Calculation Agent determines that listing or trading of Securities on the Exchange (or an Alternative Exchange) has not commenced and will not commence in the foreseeable future prior to redemption of the Notes.

With respect to Depository Receipts, a "Delisting" shall not occur in respect of the Underlying Securities if the Underlying Securities are immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an Alternative Exchange regardless of the location of such Alternative Exchange;

"**Delivery Disruption Event**" means, as determined by the Calculation Agent, the failure by the Issuer to deliver or to procure delivery on the relevant Settlement Date the Securities Transfer Amount under the relevant Note due to illiquidity in the market for such Securities;

"**Deposit Agreement**" means, in relation to each Depository Receipt, the agreement(s) or other instrument(s) constituting such Depository Receipt, as from time to time amended or supplemented;

"**Depository**" means, in relation to a Depository Receipt, the issuer of such Depository Receipt as appointed under the Deposit Agreement, including its successors from time to time:

"Depository Receipt(s)" means any Security specified as such in the relevant Final Terms provided that if the relevant Deposit Agreement is terminated at any time, any reference to any Depository Receipt(s) shall thereafter be construed as a reference to the relevant Underlying Securities or relevant Replacement DRs, as applicable and as determined by the Calculation Agent pursuant to Condition 21(k) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Events relating to DR-Linked Notes);

"Disrupted Day" means (a) any Scheduled Trading Day on which a relevant Exchange or any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session, or in relation to China Connect Underlying on which the China Connect Service fails to open

for order routing during its regular order routing session or, on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred; or (b) if the Notes are Multiple Exchange Index-Linked Notes, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor fails to publish the level of the Index; (ii) the Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session; or (iii) a Market Disruption Event has occurred or (c) any Scheduled Trading Day on which the Index Sponsor fails to publish the Index;

"Disrupted Day Related Payment Date" means any payment date on the Notes on which the amount payable is calculated by reference to the price or level (as applicable) of a Security, Index, basket of Securities or basket of Indices determined on the related Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date;

"**DR-Linked Notes**" means a Series of Equity-Linked Notes which relate to one or more Securities which are Depository Receipts;

"Early Closure" means (a) the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the relevant Exchange (in the case of Equity-Linked Notes) or any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index (in the case of Index-Linked Notes) or any Related Exchange(s) prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) at least one hour prior to the earlier of: (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day; or (b) if the Notes are Multiple Exchange Index-Linked Notes, the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the Exchange in respect of any Component Security or the Related Exchange prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing is announced by such Exchange or Related Exchange (as the case may be) at least one hour prior to the earlier of: (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange or Related Exchange (as the case may be) on such Exchange Business Day; and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into such Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day;

"**Equity-Linked Note**" means a Series of Notes in respect of which either an amount, which shall be calculated by reference to the value of a Security or Securities and/or a formula, is payable or a Securities Transfer Amount is deliverable (as indicated in the relevant Final Terms):

"ETF" means the exchange traded fund or similarly traded or listed fund as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"ETF Adviser" means, with respect to an ETF, any person appointed in the role of discretionary investment manager or non-discretionary investment manager (including a non-discretionary investment manager to a discretionary investment manager or to another non-discretionary investment manager), as provided in the related ETF Documents;

"ETF Documents" means, in relation to any ETF, the constitutive and governing documents, subscription agreements and other agreements of such ETF specifying the terms and conditions relating to such ETF, in each case as amended and supplemented from time to time:

"Exchange" means (a) with respect to a Security or an Index, each exchange or quotation system specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the Security or the components of the Index, as the case may be, has temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to such Security or components, as the case may be, as on the original Exchange); or (b) in the case of a Multiple Exchange Index and each relevant Component Security, the principal stock exchange on which such Component Security is principally traded, as determined by the Calculation Agent (which exchange or quotation system as of the Issue Date may be specified as such in the relevant Final Terms);

"Exchange Business Day" means (a) any Scheduled Trading Day on which each Exchange and any relevant Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor publishes the level of the Index and (ii) the Related Exchange is open for trading during its regular trading session, notwithstanding the Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time;

"Exchange Disruption" means (a) any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general (i) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, the Securities on the Exchange (in the case of an Equity-Linked Note) or on any relevant Exchange(s) in securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index (in the case of an Index-Linked Note), or (ii) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, future or options contracts relating to the Securities (in the case of an Equity-Linked Note) or the relevant Index (in the case of an Index-Linked Note) on any relevant Related Exchange; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for (i) any Component Security on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security or (ii) futures or options contracts relating to the Index on the relevant Related Exchange;

"Extraordinary Dividend" means the amount per Security specified or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such amount is so specified or determined, any dividend or the portion of any dividend which the Calculation Agent determines should be characterised as an Extraordinary Dividend;

"Extraordinary ETF Event" means, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, the occurrence or existence of any of the following:

- the ETF (A) is dissolved or has a resolution passed for its dissolution, winding-up, (i) official liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger); (B) makes a general assignment or arrangement with or for the benefit of its creditors; (C)(1) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official, or (2) has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation, and such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in (1) above and either (x) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or liquidation or (y) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case within 15 days of the institution or presentation thereof; (D) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets; (E) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all of its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all of its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within 15 days thereafter; or (F) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in (A) to (E) above;
- (ii) the ETF has violated any leverage restriction that is applicable to, or affecting, such ETF or its assets by operation of any law, any order or judgment of any court

- or other agency of government applicable to it or any of its assets, the ETF Documents or any contractual restriction binding on or affecting the ETF or any of its assets;
- (iii) the resignation, termination or replacement of the ETF Adviser (as defined below);
- (iv) any change or modification of the ETF Documents that could reasonably be expected to affect the value of the Units or the rights or remedies of any holders thereof (in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent) from those prevailing on the Issue Date;
- (v) any breach or violation of any strategy or investment guidelines stated in the ETF Documents that is reasonably likely to affect the value of the Units or the rights or remedies of any holders thereof (in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent);
- (vi) the Issuer, or any of its affiliates, is unable, or it is impractical for it, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction or asset it deems necessary or appropriate to hedge the price risk relating to the Units of entering into and performing its obligations with respect to the Notes, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such transaction or asset, including, without limitation, where such inability or impracticability has arisen by reason of (1) any restrictions or increase in charges or fees imposed by the ETF on any investor's ability to redeem the Units, in whole or in part, or any existing or new investor's ability to make new or additional investments in such Units, or (2) any mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, of such Units imposed by the ETF (in each case other than any restriction in existence on the Issue Date);
- (vii) (A) cancellation, suspension or revocation of the registration or approval of the Units or the ETF by any governmental, legal or regulatory entity with authority over the Units or the ETF, (B) any change in the legal, tax, accounting or regulatory treatments of the ETF or the ETF Adviser that is reasonably likely to have an adverse impact on the value of the Units or on any investor therein (as determined by the Calculation Agent), or (C) the ETF or the ETF Adviser becoming subject to any investigation, proceeding or litigation by any relevant governmental, legal or regulatory authority involving the alleged violation of applicable law for any activities relating to or resulting from the operation of the ETF;
- (viii) (A) the occurrence of any event affecting the Units that, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, would make it impossible or impracticable to determine the value of the Units, and such event is likely, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, to continue for the foreseeable future; or (B) any failure of the ETF to deliver, or cause to be delivered (1) information that the ETF has agreed to deliver, or cause to be delivered to the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent or (2) information that has been previously delivered to the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent in accordance with the ETF's, or its authorised representative's, normal practice and that the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent deems necessary for it to monitor the ETF's compliance with any investment guidelines, asset allocation methodologies or any other similar policies relating to the Units;
- (ix) on or after the Strike Date (A) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including, without limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the Calculation Agent determines in good faith that (X) it has become illegal to hold, acquire or dispose of the Units, or (Y) the Issuer will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Notes (including, without limitation, due to

any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on its tax position);

- the Issuer would incur a materially increased (as compared with circumstances existing on the Strike Date) amount of tax (including potential taxes which the Calculation Agent considers may arise), duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the price risk relating to the Units of entering into and performing its obligations with respect to the Notes, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s), **provided that** any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of the Issuer shall not be deemed an Extraordinary ETF Event; and
- (xi) (A) the cancellation or cessation of any Underlying Index or (B) a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating or any other material modification to any Underlying Index (other than a modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain such Underlying Index in the event of changes in constituent stock and capitalisation and other routine events) or (C) the relevant sponsor of any Underlying Index fails to calculate and announce such Underlying Index;

"Extraordinary Event" means (a) in all cases other than where the Final Terms specify that the Securities are Units in an ETF, a Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation, Insolvency or Delisting (b) in the case where the Final Terms specify that the Securities are Units in an ETF, a Merger Event, Nationalisation, Insolvency, Delisting or Extraordinary ETF Event;

"Final Index Level" means, with respect to an Index and a Valuation Date, the level determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such level is so provided (a) the level of the relevant Index as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on the Valuation Date or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, the official closing level of the Index on the Valuation Date as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor or (c) if Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms in respect of such Valuation Date, the arithmetic average as determined by the Calculation Agent (rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up)) of the Reference Levels on such Averaging Dates;

"Final Price" means, with respect to a Security and a Valuation Date, the price determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such price is so provided (a) the price of such Security as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on such Valuation Date or (b) if Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms in respect of such Valuation Date, the arithmetic average as determined by the Calculation Agent (rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up)) of the Reference Prices on such Averaging Dates, provided, however, that if "Realisable Sale Price" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, Final Price shall be determined in accordance with the definition of Realisable Sale Price set out in this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes):

"Government Bonds" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, bonds or any other debt securities issued by a government, government agency or subdivision or a transnational or supranational organisation as specified in the relevant Final Terms and "Government Bond" shall be construed accordingly;

"HKSCC" means the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited;

"Hypothetical Broker Dealer" means a hypothetical broker dealer which is (i) subject to the same securities laws and rules and regulations of any securities regulators, exchanges and self-regulating organisations as apply to the Issuer or any affiliate designated by it and (ii) domiciled in the same tax jurisdiction as the Issuer or its such designated affiliates;

"Index" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, the index to which such Notes relates, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject to adjustment pursuant to this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes), and "Indices" shall be construed accordingly;

"Index Rules" means the rules of the Index Sponsor in relation to the Index specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Index Sponsor" means the corporation or other entity specified as such in the relevant Final Terms and any successor corporation or other entity that (a) is responsible for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation and adjustments, if any, related to the relevant Index and (b) announces (directly or through an agent) the level of the relevant Index on a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day;

"Index Substitution Notice" has the meaning given in Condition 21(f)(iii) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices – Index Cancellation);

"Index-Linked Note" means a Series of Notes in respect of which an amount calculated by reference to an Index or Indices and/or a formula is payable (as indicated in the relevant Final Terms) including Inflation Rate-Linked Notes;

"Inflation Rate-Linked Note" means a Note in relation to which the interest payable thereon (if any) and/or the redemption amount thereof is determined by reference to an inflation rate, inflation rates or any other inflation rate-dependent variables (as indicated in the relevant Final Terms);

"Initial Index Level" means, with respect to an Index, the level specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such level is so specified or otherwise determined, the level of the relevant Index as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on the Strike Date or, with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, the official closing level of the Index on the Strike Date as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor each as rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up);

"Initial Price" means, with respect to a Security, the price specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such price is so specified or otherwise determined, the price of such Security as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on the Strike Date each as rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up);

"Insolvency" means that by reason of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution or winding-up of or any analogous proceeding affecting an Underlying Company, (A) all the Securities of that Underlying Company are required to be transferred to a trustee, liquidator or other similar official or (B) holders of the Securities of that Underlying Company become legally prohibited from transferring them:

"**Knock-in Amount**" means the interest amount, redemption amount or other amount as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-in Amount Payment Date" means such date as specified in the relevant Final Terms subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-in Determination Day" means:

(a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day), or if Knockin Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being

- applicable, each Scheduled Trading Day during the Knock-in Determination Period; or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-in Determination Day in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index), or if Knock-in Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each date in respect of each Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index during the Knock-in Determination Period,

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-in Determination Day were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-in Determination Period" means the period which commences on, and includes, the Knock-in Period Beginning Date and ends on, and includes, the Knock-in Period Ending Date;

"Knock-in Event" means (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) that the price of the Security or, as the case may be, the level of the Index, determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time or, if specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, observed by the Calculation Agent continuously on any Knock-in Determination Day is, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the Knock-in Price or, as the case may be, the Knock-in Level;

"Knock-in Level" means the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-in Period Beginning Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-in Period Beginning Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-in Period Beginning Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-in Period Ending Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-in Period Ending Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-in Period Ending Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-in Price" means the price per Security specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"**Knock-out Amount**" means the interest amount, redemption amount or other amount as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Amount Payment Date" means such date as specified in the relevant Final Terms subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Determination Day" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day), or if Knockout Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each Scheduled Trading Day during the Knock-out Determination Period; or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-out Determination Day in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index) or if Knock-out Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each date in respect of each Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index during the Knock-out Determination Period,

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-out Determination Day were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-out Determination Period" means the period which commences on, and includes, the Knock-out Period Beginning Date and ends on, and includes, the Knock-out Period Ending Date;

"Knock-out Event" means (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) that the price of the Security or, as the case may be, the level of the Index, determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time or, if specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, observed by the Calculation Agent continuously on any Knock-out Determination Day is, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the Knock-out Price or, as the case may be, Knock-out Level;

"**Knock-out Level**" means the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Period Beginning Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable)

comprising the basket, the Knock-out Period Beginning Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-out Period Beginning Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-out Period Ending Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-out Period Ending Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-out Period Ending Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-out Price" means the price per Security specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Market Disruption Event" means (a) the occurrence or existence of (i) a Trading Disruption, (ii) an Exchange Disruption, (iii) in relation to China Connect Underlying, a China Connect Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one-hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time, or (iv) an Early Closure or in relation to China Connect Underlying, a China Connect Early Closure provided that for the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event in respect of an Index exists at any time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in respect of a component of the Index at any time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that security to the level of the Index shall be based on a comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that security and (y) the overall level of the Index, in each case immediately before the occurrence of such Market Disruption Event; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, either:

- (i) (1) the occurrence or existence, in respect of any Component Security, of (aa) a Trading Disruption, (bb) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that (i) for the purposes of the occurrence of a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event begins and/or ends at the time at which the relevant price or level triggers the Knock-in Level or the Knock-out Level, as the case may be, or (ii) in all other circumstances, ends at the relevant Valuation Time in respect of the Exchange on which such Component Security is principally traded, OR (cc) an Early Closure and, in relation to a Component Security which is a China Connect Underlying, a China Connect Early Closure; AND (2) the aggregate of all Component Securities in respect of which a Trading Disruption, an Exchange Disruption or an Early Closure occurs or exists comprises 20 per cent. or more of the level of the Index; OR
- (ii) the occurrence or existence, in respect of futures or options contracts relating to the Index of: (aa) a Trading Disruption, (bb) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that (i) for the purposes of the occurrence of a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event begins and/or ends at the time at which the relevant price or level triggers the Knock-in Level or the Knock-out Level, as the case may be, or

(ii) in all other circumstances, ends at the relevant Valuation Time in respect of the Related Exchange; or (cc) an Early Closure;

For the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event exists in respect of a Multiple Exchange Index at any time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in respect of a Component Security at that time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that Component Security to the level of the Index shall be based on a comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that Component Security to (y) the overall level of the Index, in each case using the official opening weightings as published by the Index Sponsor as part of the market "opening data";

"Merger Event" means in respect of any relevant Securities, any (i) reclassification or change of such Securities that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all of such Securities outstanding to another entity or person, (ii) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Underlying Company with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation, amalgamation or merger in which such Underlying Company is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all of such Securities outstanding), (iii) takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per cent. of the outstanding Securities of the Underlying Company that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all such Securities (other than such Securities owned or controlled by such other entity or person); or (iv) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Underlying Company or its subsidiaries with or into another entity in which the Underlying Company is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all of such Securities outstanding but results in the outstanding Securities (other than Securities owned or controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such event collectively representing less than 50 per cent. of the outstanding Securities immediately following such event, in each case if the closing date of a Merger Event (or, where a closing date cannot be determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as determined by the Calculation Agent) is on or before, in the case of any Equity-Linked Note which is to be redeemed by delivery of a Securities Transfer Amount, the Maturity Date or, in any other case, the final Valuation Date;

If the Notes are DR-Linked Notes, "Merger Event" shall include the occurrence of any of the events described in (i) to (iv) (inclusive) above in relation to the relevant Underlying Securities;

"Multiple Exchange Index" means an Index identified or specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Multiple Exchange Index-Linked Notes" means Notes which relate to a Multiple Exchange Index;

"Nationalisation" means that all the Securities (or, if the Notes are DR-Linked Notes, the relevant Underlying Securities) or all or substantially all the assets of an Underlying Company are nationalised, expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to any governmental agency, authority or entity;

"Notional Sale Date" has the meaning given in the definition of Settlement Date below;

"Potential Adjustment Event" means (i) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of relevant Securities (unless resulting in a Merger Event), or a free distribution or dividend of any such Securities to existing holders whether by way of bonus, capitalisation or similar issue; or (ii) a distribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of the relevant Securities of (A) such Securities or (B) other share capital or securities granting the right to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of liquidation of the Underlying Company equally or proportionately with such payments to holders of such Securities or (C) any other type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any case for payment (cash or other consideration) at less than the prevailing market price as determined by the Calculation Agent; or (iii) an Extraordinary Dividend; or (iv) a call by the Underlying

Company in respect of relevant Securities that are not fully paid; or (v) a repurchase by the Underlying Company or any of its subsidiaries of relevant Securities whether out of profits or capital and whether the consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or otherwise; or (vi) in respect of the Underlying Company, an event that results in any shareholder rights being distributed or becoming separated from shares of common stock or other shares of the capital stock of the Underlying Company pursuant to a shareholder rights plan or arrangement directed against hostile takeovers that provides upon the occurrence of certain events for a distribution of preferred stock, warrants, debt instruments or stock rights at a price below their market value, as determined by the Calculation Agent, **provided that** any adjustment effected as a result of such an event shall be readjusted upon any redemption of such rights; or (vii) any other event that may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Securities; or (viii) any other event specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

With respect to Depository Receipts, "Potential Adjustment Event" shall also include (x) the occurrence of any of the events described in (i) to (viii) (inclusive) above in respect of the relevant Underlying Securities, **provided that** the occurrence of any of the events described in (i) to (vi) (inclusive) in respect of the relevant Underlying Securities shall not constitute a Potential Adjustment Event unless, the Calculation Agent determines that such event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the Securities and (y) the making of any amendment or supplement to the terms of the Deposit Agreement;

"PRC" means, solely for the purpose stated herein, the People's Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Regions of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan;

"Realisable Sale Price" means, with respect to a Security and a Valuation Date, the price of the Security on the Valuation Date determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such price is so provided, an amount determined by the Calculation Agent equal to the price that would be realised by a Hypothetical Broker Dealer, acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, in terminating or liquidating Applicable Hedge Positions, as adjusted to account for any costs, commissions, taxes and other fees that may be incurred by or levied on such Hypothetical Broker Dealer;

"Reference Level" means, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms (a) in respect of an Index and an Averaging Date, the level of such Index as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the Exchange on such Averaging Date and (b) in respect of a Multiple Exchange Index and an Averaging Date, the official closing level of such Multiple Exchange Index on such Averaging Date as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor;

"Reference Price" means, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, in respect of a Security and an Averaging Date, the price of such Security as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the Exchange on such Averaging Date;

"Related Exchange" means, subject to the proviso below, in respect of a Security or an Index, each exchange or quotation system specified as such for such Security or Index in the relevant Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in futures or options contracts relating to such Security or Index, as the case may be, has temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options contracts relating to such Security or Index, as the case may be, as on the original Related Exchange) provided, however, that where "All Exchanges" is specified as the Related Exchange in the relevant Final Terms, "Related Exchange" shall mean each exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to such Security or Index, as the case may be;

"**Replacement DRs**" means, if the relevant Deposit Agreement is terminated, any depository receipts which the Calculation Agent determines, in accordance with Condition 21(k) (*Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes* –

Events relating to DR-Linked Notes) are to replace the Depository Receipts constituted by such terminated Deposit Agreement;

"Residual Amount" means, in relation to a Noteholder and a Note, the fraction of a Security rounded down pursuant to Condition 21(b) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Physical Delivery), as determined by the Calculation Agent or such amount as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Residual Cash Amount" means, in respect of a Residual Amount, the product of such Residual Amount and the fraction of which the numerator is the Final Price and the denominator is the Initial Price or such amount as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Scheduled Averaging Date" has the meaning given in Condition 21(e)(ii)(B)(3)(bb) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days);

"Scheduled Closing Time" means, in respect of an Exchange, Related Exchange or, in the case of China Connect Underlying, the China Connect Service and a Scheduled Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange, Related Exchange or, in the case of China Connect Underlying, the China Connect Service on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard (in the case of any Exchange or Related Exchange) to after hours or any other trading outside of the regular trading session hours or (in the case of the China Connect Service) any after hours or any other order-routing outside of the regular order-routing session hours;

"Scheduled Final Averaging Date" has the meaning given in Condition 21(e)(ii)(B)(3)(aa) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days);

"Scheduled Trading Day" means, in respect of a Security or an Index (as applicable), (a) any day on which the relevant Exchange and the relevant Related Exchange are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular trading sessions; notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time; (b) in the case of China Connect Underlying, any day on which the China Connect Service is scheduled to be open for order-routing for its regular order-routing sessions; (c) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any day on which (i) the Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the Index and (ii) the Related Exchange is scheduled to be open for trading for its regular trading session or (d) any day on which the Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the Index.

"Scheduled Valuation Date" means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, would have been a Valuation Date;

"Securities" means, in relation to a Series of Notes or in relation to an Index, the equity securities, debt securities (including without limitation Government Bonds), depository receipts or other securities or property, as adjusted pursuant to this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes), to which such Notes or Index, as the case may be, relate, as specified in the relevant Final Terms and subject, in the case of a Series of Notes linked to Units in an ETF, to the provisions of Condition 21(1) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Notes linked to Units in an ETF – General) and "Security" shall be construed accordingly;

"Securities Transfer Amount" means the number of Securities per Note as specified in the relevant Final Terms or if no such number is so specified, the number of Securities per Note calculated by the Calculation Agent and equal to the fraction of which the numerator is the Calculation Amount and the denominator is the Initial Price;

"SEHK" means The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

"Settlement Cycle" means, in respect of a Security or an Index, the period of Clearing System Business Days following a trade in the relevant Security or the securities underlying such Index, as the case may be, on the Exchange in which settlement will customarily occur according to the rules of such Exchange (or, if there are multiple Exchanges in respect of an Index, the longest such period);

"Settlement Date" means, in relation to Securities to be delivered in respect of an Equity-Linked Note (a) in the case of Equity-Linked Notes which relate to equity securities and unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the later of (i) the Maturity Date and (ii) the date that falls one Settlement Cycle after the later of (i) the Exchange Business Day following the Valuation Date (the "Notional Sale Date") (or if such day is not a Clearing System Business Day, the next following Clearing System Business Day) subject to the provisions of Condition 21(b) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes - Physical Delivery) and (ii) the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (as postponed pursuant to Condition 9(e) (Payments – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption) falling on or immediately after such Valuation Date (if any) or, (b) in any other case, and unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Following Business Day Convention unless another Business Day Convention (as defined in Condition 1 (Definitions)) is specified in the relevant Final Terms. In each case, if a Settlement Disruption Event prevents delivery of such Securities on that day, then the Settlement Date shall be determined in accordance with Condition 21(b)(ii);

"Settlement Disruption Event" in relation to a Security or a Component Security, means an event which the Calculation Agent determines to be beyond the control of the Issuer or relevant obligor and to be an event as a result of which the relevant Clearing System cannot clear the transfer of such Security or Component Security;

"Specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days" means, in relation to an Equity-Linked Note or an Index-Linked Note, the eighth Scheduled Trading Day or such other number of Scheduled Trading Days specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Strike Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Strike Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Strike Date were a Valuation Date;

"Substitute Index" has the meaning given in Condition 21(f)(iii) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices – Index Cancellation);

"Successor Index" has the meaning given in Condition 21(f)(i) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices – Successor Index) or Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes) as applicable;

"Tender Offer" means a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining or having the right to obtain, by conversion or other means, greater than 10 per cent. and less than 100 per cent. of the outstanding voting shares of the Underlying Company, as determined by the Calculation Agent, based upon the making of filings with governmental or self-regulatory agencies or such other information as the Calculation Agent deems relevant;

"Trading Disruption" means (a) any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise (i) relating to the Securities on the Exchange (in the case of an Equity-Linked Note) or on any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index (in the case of Index-Linked Notes), or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Securities or the relevant Index on any relevant Related Exchange; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise (i) relating to any Component Security on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security, or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Index on any relevant Related Exchange;

"**Transfer Notice**" means for the purposes of Equity-Linked Notes only a notice in the form from time to time approved by the Issuer, which must:

- (i) specify the name and address of the Noteholder;
- (ii) specify the number of Notes in respect of which it is the Noteholder;
- (iii) specify the number of the Noteholder's account at the relevant Clearing System to be debited with such Notes;
- (iv) irrevocably instruct and authorise the relevant Clearing System, (A) to debit the Noteholder's account with such Notes on the Settlement Date, if the Issuer elects (or has elected) the Physical Delivery provisions being applicable or otherwise on the Maturity Date and (B) that no further transfers of the Notes specified in the Transfer Notice may be made;
- (v) contain a representation and warranty from the Noteholder to the effect that the Notes to which the Transfer Notice relates are free from all liens, charges, encumbrances and other third party rights;
- (vi) specify the number and account name of the account at the relevant Clearing System to be credited with the Securities if the Issuer elects (or has elected) the Physical Delivery provisions being applicable;
- (vii) contain an irrevocable undertaking to pay the Transfer Expenses (if any) and an irrevocable instruction to the relevant Clearing System to debit on or after the Settlement Date the cash or other account of the Noteholder with the relevant Clearing System specified in the Transfer Notice with such Transfer Expenses;
- (viii) include a certificate of non-US beneficial ownership in the form required by the Issuer; and
- (ix) authorise the production of the Transfer Notice in any applicable administrative or legal proceedings;

"Underlying Company" means the issuer of the Security as specified in the relevant Final Terms and, if the Notes are DR-Linked Notes, each of the Depository and the issuer of the relevant Underlying Security, in each case subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 21(g) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments and Events affecting Securities), and subject, in the case of a Series

of Notes linked to Units in an ETF, to the provisions of Condition 21(1) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Notes linked to Units in an ETF – General);

"Underlying Index", in relation to an ETF, has the meaning given to it in the relevant Final Terms;

"Underlying Security" means, with respect to DR-Linked Notes and a Depository Receipt, the security and any other property to which such Depository Receipt relates;

"Unit", in relation to an ETF, has the meaning given to it in the relevant Final Terms;

"Valid Date" means, in respect of a Security or an Index (as applicable), a Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another Averaging Date in respect of the relevant Valuation Date does not or is not deemed to occur;

"Valuation Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, each date specified or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, each date specified or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Valuation Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days); and

"Valuation Time" means:

- (a) in relation to each Security to be valued or each Index (other than a Multiple Exchange Index) the level of which falls to be determined on any date, the time on such date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such time is specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange on such date in relation to such Security or Index, as applicable or such scheduled time as set out in the Index Rules. If the relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing time for its regular trading session, then the Valuation Time shall be such actual closing time; or
- (b) in relation to a Multiple Exchange Index, (i) for the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event has occurred: (x) in respect of any Component Security, the Scheduled Closing Time on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security, and (y) in respect of any options contracts or future contracts on the Index, the close of trading on the Related Exchange; and (ii) in all other circumstances, the time at which the official closing level of the Index is calculated and published by the Index Sponsor.

(b) **Physical Delivery**

In relation to Equity-Linked Notes which are to be redeemed by the delivery of a Securities Transfer Amount, and subject to the other provisions of these Conditions and the relevant Final Terms:

(i)

- (A) Each Noteholder shall, on or before the date five calendar days before the Maturity Date or the date of early termination or redemption (or such earlier date as the Issuer shall determine is necessary for the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the relevant Clearing System to perform their respective obligations in relation to the Notes and notify to the Paying Agents and the Noteholders) send to the relevant Clearing System, in accordance with its then applicable operating procedures, and copied to the Principal Paying Agent, a duly completed Transfer Notice.
- (B) A Transfer Notice, once delivered to the relevant Clearing System, shall be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn without the consent in writing of the Issuer. A Noteholder may not transfer any Note which is the subject of a Transfer Notice following delivery of such Transfer Notice to the relevant Clearing System. A Transfer Notice shall only be valid to the extent that the relevant Clearing System have not received conflicting prior instructions in respect of the Notes which are the subject of the Transfer Notice.
- (C) Failure properly to complete and deliver a Transfer Notice may result in such notice being treated as null and void. Any determination as to whether such notice has been properly completed and delivered as provided shall be made by the Principal Paying Agent and shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer and the Noteholder.
- (D) The Principal Paying Agent shall promptly on the local banking day following receipt of a Transfer Notice send a copy thereof to the Issuer or such person as the Issuer may previously have specified.
- (E) Delivery of the Securities will be via the relevant Clearing System. The delivery or transfer of Securities to each Noteholder is at the relevant Noteholder's risk and if delivery occurs later than the earliest possible date for delivery, no additional amounts will be payable by the Issuer.
- (F) The Issuer shall discharge its obligation to redeem the relevant proportion of the Notes by delivering, or procuring the delivery of, the Securities Transfer Amount on the Settlement Date to the Clearing System for credit to the account with the Clearing System specified in the Transfer Notice of the relevant Noteholder.
- (G) The amount of Securities to be delivered to or for the account of each Noteholder shall be an amount of Securities equal to the number of Notes in respect of which such Noteholder is the holder as specified in the relevant Transfer Notice multiplied by the Securities Transfer Amount **provided**, **however**, **that** if a Noteholder would become entitled to a number of Securities which is not equal to a board lot of the Securities at such time, as determined by the Calculation Agent, or an integral multiple thereof, then the Noteholder's entitlement to delivery of Securities shall be rounded down to the nearest whole Security.
- (H) In relation to each Noteholder, the Calculation Agent shall calculate the Residual Amount and the Residual Cash Amount. The Residual Cash Amount shall be paid by the Issuer to the relevant Noteholder on the Settlement Date.

- (I) Each Noteholder shall be required as a condition of its entitlement to delivery of Securities in respect of any Notes to pay all Transfer Expenses in respect of such Notes.
- After delivery to or for the account of a Noteholder of the relevant (J) Securities Transfer Amount and for such period of time as the transferor or its agent or nominee shall continue to be registered in any clearing system as the owner of the Securities comprised in such Securities Transfer Amount (the "Intervening Period"), none of such transferor or any agent or nominee for the Issuer or such transferor shall (i) be under any obligation to deliver to such Noteholder or any other person any letter, certificate, notice, circular, dividend or any other document or payment whatsoever received by the Issuer or such transferor, agent or nominee in its capacity as holder of such Securities, (ii) be under any obligation to exercise any rights (including voting rights) attaching to such Securities during the Intervening Period, or (iii) be under any liability to such Noteholder or any other person in respect of any loss or damage which the Noteholder or any other person may sustain or suffer as a result, whether directly or indirectly, of the Issuer or such transferor, agent or nominee being registered in such clearing system during such Intervening Period as legal owner of such Securities.
- (K) All dividends on Securities to be delivered will be payable to the party that would receive such dividends according to market practice for a sale of the Securities executed on the Notional Sale Date to be delivered in the same manner as such Securities. Any such dividends will be paid to or for credit to the account specified by the Noteholder in the relevant Transfer Notice. No right to dividends on the Securities will accrue to Noteholders prior to the Notional Sale Date.
- The Calculation Agent shall determine whether or not at any time a Settlement (ii) Disruption Event has occurred and where it determines such an event has occurred and so has prevented delivery of Securities on the original day that but for such Settlement Disruption Event would have been the Settlement Date, then the Settlement Date will be the first succeeding day on which delivery of such Securities can take place through the relevant Clearing System unless a Settlement Disruption Event prevents settlement on each of the eight relevant Clearing System Business Days immediately following the original date (or during such other period (the "Disruption Period") specified in the relevant Final Terms) that, but for the Settlement Disruption Event, would have been the Settlement Date. In that case, if the Securities are debt securities, the Issuer shall use reasonable efforts to deliver such Securities promptly thereafter acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner (as determined by the Calculation Agent) outside the Clearing System and in all other cases (a) if such Securities can be delivered in any other commercially reasonable manner (as determined by the Calculation Agent), then the Settlement Date will be the first Business Day on which settlement of a sale of Securities executed on that eighth relevant Clearing System Business Day, or during such other period specified in the relevant Final Terms, customarily would take place using such other commercially reasonable manner (as determined by the Calculation Agent) of delivery (which other manner of delivery will be deemed the relevant Clearing System for the purposes of delivery of the relevant Securities), and (b) if such Securities cannot be delivered in any other commercially reasonable manner (as determined by the Calculation Agent), then the Settlement Date will be postponed until delivery can be effected through the relevant Clearing System or in any other commercially reasonable manner.

For the avoidance of doubt, where a Settlement Disruption Event affects some but not all of the Securities comprised in a basket, the Settlement Date for Securities not affected by the Settlement Disruption Event will be the first day on which

settlement of a sale of such Securities executed on the Maturity Date customarily would take place through the relevant Clearing System.

- (iii) If the Calculation Agent determines that a Delivery Disruption Event has occurred, it shall notify the Issuer who shall promptly notify the relevant Noteholder(s) and the Issuer may then:
 - (A) determine, in its sole and absolute discretion, that the obligation to deliver the relevant Securities Transfer Amount will be terminated and the Issuer will pay such amount as in the opinion of the Calculation Agent (such opinion to be made in a commercially reasonable manner) is fair in the circumstances by way of compensation for the non-delivery of the Securities Transfer Amount, in which event the entitlements of the respective Noteholder(s) to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of such amount; or
 - (B) deliver on the Settlement Date such amount of the Securities Transfer Amount (if any) as it can deliver on that date and pay such amount as in the opinion of the Calculation Agent (such opinion to be made in a commercially manner) is fair in the circumstances by way of compensation for the non-delivery of the remainder of the Securities Transfer Amount, in which event the entitlements of the respective Noteholder(s) to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of such amount.

Where this Condition 21(b)(iii) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Physical Delivery) fails to be applied, insofar as the Calculation Agent determines to be practical, the same shall be applied as between the Noteholders on a pro rata basis, but subject to such rounding down (whether of the amount of a payment or of a number of Securities to be delivered) and also to such other adjustments as the Calculation Agent determines to be appropriate to give practical effect to such provisions.

(c) Automatic Early Redemption

This Condition 21(c) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Automatic Early Redemption) is applicable only if Automatic Early Redemption Event is indicated as applicable in relevant Final Terms.

If on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date, the Automatic Early Redemption Event occurs, then unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will be automatically redeemed in whole, but not in part, on the Automatic Early Redemption Date, together with any interest accrued but unpaid thereon to the Automatic Early Redemption Date (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) immediately following such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date and the Redemption Amount payable by the Issuer on such date upon redemption of each Note shall be an amount in the relevant currency equal to the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Amount.

(d) Knock-in and Knock-out Provisions

This Condition 21(d) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Knock-in and Knock-out Provisions) is applicable only if "Knock-in Event" or "Knock-out Event" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms. If on a Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day, a Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event (respectively) occurs, then a Knock-in Amount or Knock-out Amount (respectively) becomes payable on the relevant Knock-in Amount Payment Date or Knock-out Amount Payment Date (respectively), all as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

(e) Consequences of Disrupted Days

For the purposes of this Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes — Consequences of Disrupted Days), "Limit Valuation Date" shall mean, if any Valuation Date in respect of a Note is a Disrupted Day, the Specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days following such Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day.

- (i) If any Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day, then:
 - (A) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the Valuation Date shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day, **provided that** the Valuation Date shall not fall after the Limit Valuation Date. In that case:
 - (1) in respect of an Index-Linked Note, the Limit Valuation Date will be deemed to be the Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level of the Index as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date determined in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating the Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date of each security or other property comprised in the Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of the relevant security or other property on the Limit Valuation Date, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant security or other property as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date); and
 - (2) in respect of an Equity-Linked Note, the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day and the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant Security as of the Valuation Time on that Limit Valuation Date;
 - (B) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the Valuation Date for each Index not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the Scheduled Valuation Date and the Valuation Date for each Index affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day which is not a Disrupted Day relating to that Index, unless each of the succeeding Scheduled Trading Days (up to and including the Limit Valuation Date) immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day relating to that Index. In that case, the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date for the relevant Index notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day relating to that Index and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level of that Index, as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating that Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date of each security or other property comprised in the relevant Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect to the relevant security or other property on the Limit Valuation Date, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant security or other property as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date); and
 - (C) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the Valuation Date for each Security not affected by the occurrence of a

Disrupted Day shall be the Scheduled Valuation Date, and the Valuation Date for each Security affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day relating to that Security, unless each of the Scheduled Trading Days (up to and including the Limit Valuation Date) immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day relating to that Security. In that case, (1) the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date for the relevant Security, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and (2) the Calculation Agent shall determine its estimate of the value for that Security as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date.

- (ii) If Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms, then notwithstanding any other provisions of these Conditions, the following provisions will apply to the valuation of the relevant Index or Security:
 - (A) The Final Price or Final Index Level will be, in relation to any Valuation Date:
 - (1) in respect of a Note settled by way of Cash Settlement which relates to a single Security or Index (as the case may be), the arithmetic mean of the Reference Price of the Security or (as the case may be) of the Reference Level of the Index on each Averaging Date;
 - (2) in respect of an Index-Linked Note settled by way of Cash Settlement which relates to a basket of indices, the arithmetic mean of the amounts for such basket determined by the Calculation Agent as provided in the relevant Final Terms as of the relevant Valuation Time(s) on each Averaging Date or, if no means for determining the Final Index Level is so provided, the arithmetic mean of the amounts for such basket calculated on each Averaging Date as the sum of the Reference Level of each Index comprised in such basket (weighted or adjusted in relation to each Index as provided in the relevant Final Terms); and
 - (3) in respect of an Equity-Linked Note settled by way of Cash Settlement which relates to a basket of Securities, the arithmetic mean of the prices for such basket determined by the Calculation Agent as provided in the relevant Final Terms as of the relevant Valuation Time(s) on each Averaging Date or, if no means for determining the Final Price is so provided, the arithmetic mean of the prices for such basket calculated on each Averaging Date as the sum of the values calculated for the Securities of each Underlying Company as the product of (aa) the Reference Price of such Security and (bb) the number of such Securities comprised in such basket (weighted or adjusted in relation to each Security as provided in the relevant Final Terms).
 - (B) If any Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day, then, if the consequence specified in the relevant Final Terms in relation to "Averaging Date Market Disruption" is:
 - (1) "Omission", then such Averaging Date will be deemed not to be a relevant Averaging Date for purposes of determining the relevant Final Price or Final Index Level, as applicable, provided that, if through the operation of this provision no Averaging Date would occur with respect to the relevant Valuation Date, then Condition 21(e)(i) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes Consequences of Disrupted Days) will apply for purposes of

determining the relevant level, price or amount on the final Averaging Date in respect of that Valuation Date as if such final Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day. If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Valuation Date occur after that Valuation Date as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Maturity Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Instalment Date, Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), Optional Redemption Date (Put Option) or any other early redemption date in accordance with the Conditions or the relevant Settlement Date, as the case may be, or (ii) the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event or a Potential Adjustment Event shall be determined by reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Valuation Date;

(2) "Postponement", then Condition 21(e)(i) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes - Consequences of Disrupted Days) will apply for purposes of determining the relevant level, price or amount on that Averaging Date as if such Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day irrespective of whether, pursuant to such determination, that deferred Averaging Date would fall on a day that already is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date for the relevant Notes. If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Valuation Date occur after that Valuation Date as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Maturity Date, Instalment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), Optional Redemption Date (Put Option) or any other early redemption date in accordance with the Conditions or the relevant Settlement Date, as the case may be, or (ii) the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event or a Potential Adjustment Event shall be determined by reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Valuation Date: or

(3) "Modified Postponement", then:

- in the case of a Note which relates to a single Index or Security, the Averaging Date shall be the first succeeding Valid Date. If the first succeeding Valid Date has not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date (as defined below) immediately following the original date that, but for the occurrence of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would have been the final Averaging Date (the "Scheduled Final Averaging Date") in relation to the relevant Scheduled Valuation Date, then the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day (irrespective of whether that Limit Valuation Date is already an Averaging Date) and:
 - (i) in respect of an Index-Linked Note, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 21(e)(i)(A)(1) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes Consequences of Disrupted Days); and
 - (ii) in respect of an Equity-Linked Note, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant

price for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 21(e)(i)(A)(2) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes — Consequences of Disrupted Days); and

- (bb) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the Averaging Date for each Index or Security not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the day specified in the relevant Final Terms as an Averaging Date in relation to the relevant Valuation Date (the "Scheduled Averaging Date") and the Averaging Date for an Index or Security affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Valid Date in relation to such Index or Security. If the first succeeding Valid Date in relation to such Index or Security has not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date immediately following the Scheduled Final Averaging Date, then the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date (irrespective of whether that Limit Valuation Date is already an Averaging Date) and:
 - (i) in respect of an Index, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 21(e)(i)(B) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes Consequences of Disrupted Days); and
 - (ii) in respect of a Security, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant amount for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 21(e)(i)(C) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes Consequences of Disrupted Days).

If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Valuation Date occur after that Valuation Date as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Maturity Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Instalment Date, an Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), an Optional Redemption Date (Put Option) or other early redemption date or Settlement Date, as the case may be, or (ii) the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event or Potential Adjustment Event shall be determined by reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Valuation Date.

For the purposes of this Condition 21(e)(ii)(B)(3) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes — Consequences of Disrupted Days) only, "Limit Valuation Date" shall mean, if any Averaging Date in respect of a Note is a Disrupted Day, the specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days following such Averaging Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day.

If a Valuation Date is postponed (x) pursuant to this Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) and/or (y) as a result of it not being a Scheduled Trading Day, the

Scheduled FX Fixing Date falling on or immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date may, in the Calculation Agent's discretion (i) be postponed such that the Scheduled FX Fixing Date will be deemed to occur the number of days following such postponed Valuation Date as the Scheduled FX Fixing Date would have occurred following the Scheduled Valuation Date had it not been for the postponement pursuant to this Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes — Consequences of Disrupted Days) or as a result of a non-Scheduled Trading Day or (ii) if the Scheduled Valuation Date and Scheduled FX Fixing Date are the same date, be postponed to such postponed Valuation Date, provided, in each case, that if the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date would, as a result of this paragraph, occur on a day which is not a Relevant Currency Business Day, it will be postponed to the immediately following Relevant Currency Business Day. In respect of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the postponed Valuation Date referred to in this paragraph will be deemed to be, in respect of a Scheduled Valuation Date, the latest postponed Valuation Date occurring in respect of such Scheduled Valuation Date.

If a Valuation Date is postponed (x) in accordance with this Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes — Consequences of Disrupted Days) and/or (y) as a result of it not being a Scheduled Trading Day, any Disrupted Day Related Payment Date will also be postponed, if needed, such that the Disrupted Day Related Payment Date shall fall at least three (3) local banking days (or such other number of local banking days as may be specified in the Final Terms) following the later of (i) the postponed Valuation Date or, if later, the Limit Valuation Date, as applicable and (ii) the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date or, if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable. In respect of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date referred to in this paragraph will be deemed to be, in respect of a Scheduled Valuation Date, the latest postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date, as applicable, occurring in respect of such Scheduled Valuation Date.

Unless Interest Adjustment is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of any payment postponed pursuant to this Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) (so that, for the avoidance of doubt, any interest payable in respect of the Notes on a Disrupted Day Related Payment Date which is so postponed shall be calculated as if such Disrupted Day Related Payment Date had not been postponed pursuant to this Condition 21(e)) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) unless, in the case of a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Conditions, in which event interest shall continue to accrue as provided in Condition 4 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions), 5 (Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions) or 6 (Zero Coupon Notes), as appropriate.

(f) Adjustments to Indices

This Condition 21(f) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices) is applicable only in relation to Index-Linked Notes other than Inflation Rate-Linked Notes in relation to which Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes) shall apply.

(i) Successor Index

If a relevant Index is (A) not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor but is calculated and published by a successor to the Index Sponsor acceptable to the Calculation Agent, or (B) replaced by a successor index using, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, the same or a substantially similar formula for and method of calculation as used in the calculation of that Index, then in each case that Index (the "Successor Index") will be deemed to be the Index.

(ii) Index Modification

If on or prior to any Valuation Date, Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date or Averaging Date, a relevant Index Sponsor announces that it will make a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating that Index or in any other way materially modifies that Index (other than a modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain that Index in the event of changes in constituent stock and capitalisation or other routine events) (an "Index Modification"), then the Calculation Agent shall determine whether such Index Modification has a material effect on the Notes, and if so, shall make such adjustment(s) (if any) as it determines appropriate to account for the economic effect of the Index Modification and determine the effective date of any such modification or adjustment.

(iii) Index Cancellation

If on or prior to any Valuation Date, Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date or Averaging Date (A) the Index Sponsor fails to calculate and announce a relevant Index, (B) the Index Sponsor announces that it suspends the calculation and publication of the level of a relevant Index or (C) the Index Sponsor permanently cancels the Index and no Successor Index exists (each an "Index Cancellation"), then:

- (1) the Issuer shall as soon as is reasonably practicable after determining the same give notice (an "**Index Cancellation Notice**") of such Index Cancellation to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*);
- (2) if Index Substitution is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall (acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner), determine whether or not and the date as of which the Index is to be substituted with a Substitute Index and, if it so determines, it shall give an Index Substitution Notice to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*) and, with effect from the date so determined, the Substitute Index shall be deemed to be the Index; and
- if no Substitute Index has been identified within ten Business Days of the giving of such Index Cancellation Notice or if Index Substitution has not been specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall (acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner), determine whether or not the relevant Notes shall continue and:
 - (A) if it determines that the Notes shall continue, then the Calculation Agent shall determine the Final Index Level for such Valuation Date, Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date or the Reference Level for such Averaging Date, as the case may be using, in lieu of a published level of that Index, the level for that Index as at that Valuation Date, Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date or Averaging Date (as applicable) as determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating that Index last in effect prior to the Index Cancellation, but using only those components that comprised that Index immediately prior to that Index Cancellation; and
 - (B) if it determines that the Notes shall not continue, the Issuer shall redeem the relevant Notes as of the date selected by the Issuer and give notice thereof to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*), specifying the early redemption amount and early redemption

date, and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer, as the case may be) shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Notes immediately prior to such early redemption.

For these purposes:

"Index Substitution Notice" means a notice specifying a Substitute Index to be substituted for the Index and the date as of which such substitution is to take effect; and

"Substitute Index" means a successor index identified by the Calculation Agent using commercially reasonable efforts, with characteristics, objectives and rules similar to the Index in effect immediately prior to the occurrence of the Index Cancellation.

(iv) Correction of Index Levels

If the level of an Index published by the Index Sponsor at any time and used or to be used by the Calculation Agent for any calculation or determination under the Notes is subsequently corrected and the correction is published by the Index Sponsor after the original publication, the Calculation Agent will make such adjustment as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the settlement or payment terms of the Notes to account for such correction provided that if any amount has been paid in an amount which exceeds the amount that would have been payable if the correction had been taken into account, no further amount in an amount at least equal to the excess is payable in respect of the Notes and the Calculation Agent determines that it is not practicable to make such an adjustment to account fully for such correction, the Issuer shall be entitled to reimbursement of the relevant excess payment (or, as the case may be, the proportion thereof not accounted for by an adjustment made by the Calculation Agent) by the relevant Noteholder, together with interest on that amount for the period from and including the day on which payment was originally made to (but excluding) the day of payment of reimbursement by the Noteholder (all as calculated by the Calculation Agent). Any such reimbursement shall be effected in such manner as the Issuer shall determine.

(g) Adjustments and Events affecting Securities

This Condition 21(g) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments and Events affecting Securities) is applicable only in relation to Equity-Linked Notes.

(i) Potential Adjustment Events

The Calculation Agent shall determine whether or not at any time a Potential Adjustment Event has occurred and where it determines such an event has occurred, the Calculation Agent will determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Securities and, if so, will make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the formula for the Final Redemption Amount or any amount of interest set out in the relevant Final Terms, the number of Securities to which each Note relates, the number of Securities comprised in a basket, the amount, the number of or type of shares, other securities or other property which may be delivered pursuant to such Notes and/or any other adjustment(s) and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the settlement or payment terms of the relevant Notes as the Calculation Agent determines to be appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative effect and determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s). In addition, in relation to China Connect Underlying only, in

making such determinations, the Calculation Agent may (but need not) take into account any requirement, adjustment and/or limitation that may be imposed by the China Connect Service or any action or inaction by any one or more of the Exchange, SEHK, CSDCC and HKSCC in relation to such Potential Adjustment Event in respect of Securities held through the China Connect Service.

(ii) Extraordinary Events

Following the occurrence of any Extraordinary Event, the Issuer will determine whether or not the relevant Notes shall continue and, if so, determine any adjustments to be made. If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the formula for the Final Redemption Amount or any amount of interest set out in the relevant Final Terms, the number of Securities to which each Note relates, the number of Securities comprised in a basket, the amount, the number of or type of shares, other securities or other property which may be delivered pursuant to such Notes and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the settlement or payment terms of the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment which change or adjustment shall be effective on such date selected by the Calculation Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable manner. If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall be redeemed, then the Notes shall be redeemed as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount or Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer) as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Notes. In relation to China Connect Underlying only, in making such determinations, the Issuer and/or the Calculation Agent may (but need not) take into account any requirement, adjustment and/or limitation that may be imposed by the China Connect Service or any action or inaction by any one or more of the Exchange, SEHK, CSDCC and HKSCC in relation to such Merger Event or Tender Offer in respect of Securities held through the China Connect Service.

(iii) Conversion

In respect of an Equity-Linked Note, following the occurrence of any Conversion, the Issuer will determine whether or not the Notes will continue and, if so, determine any adjustment(s) to be made. If the Issuer determines that the Notes shall continue, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate to the formula for the Final Redemption Amount or any amount of interest set out in the relevant Final Terms, the number of Securities to which each Note relates, the number of Securities comprised in a basket, the amount, number of or type of shares, other securities or other property which may be delivered under such Notes and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the settlement or payment terms of the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment and determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s). If the Issuer determines that the Notes shall be redeemed, then the Notes shall be redeemed as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount or Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer), as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Notes.

(iv) Correction of Prices

In the event that any price published or announced on a given day and utilised or to be utilised for the purpose of any calculation or determination under the Notes is subsequently corrected and the correction is published or announced by the Exchange within one Settlement Cycle after the original publication, the Calculation Agent will make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the amount payable in respect of the Notes and their terms

to account for such correction and the Calculation Agent shall determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s) **provided that** if any amount has been paid in an amount which exceeds the amount that would have been payable if the correction had been taken into account, no further amount in an amount at least equal to the excess is payable in respect of the Notes and the Calculation Agent determines that it is not practicable to make such an adjustment to account fully for such correction, the Issuer shall be entitled to reimbursement of the relevant excess payment (or, as the case may be, the proportion thereof not accounted for by an adjustment made by the Calculation Agent) by the relevant Noteholder, together with interest on that amount for the period from and including the day on which payment was originally made to (but excluding) the day of payment of reimbursement by the Noteholder (all as calculated by the Calculation Agent). Any such reimbursement shall be effected in such manner as the Issuer shall determine.

(h) Additional Disruption Events

Following the occurrence of any Additional Disruption Event, the Issuer will determine whether or not the relevant Notes shall continue and, if so, the Calculation Agent shall determine any adjustments to be made. If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the formula for the Final Redemption Amount or any amount of interest set out in the relevant Final Terms, the number of Securities to which each Note relates, the number of Securities comprised in a basket, the amount, the number of or type of shares, other securities or other property which may be delivered pursuant to such Notes and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the settlement or payment terms of the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment which change or adjustment shall be effective on such date selected by the Calculation Agent. If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall be redeemed, then the Notes shall be redeemed as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount or Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer), as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Notes.

For the purposes any Series of Notes, "Additional Disruption Event" means any event specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, and for such purpose the following terms if so specified shall be deemed to have the following meanings unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms:

(i) "Change in Law" means, in relation to any Notes, on or after the Issue Date, (A) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including without limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the Issuer determines that (x) it will, or there is a substantial likelihood that it will, with the passing of time, or has become illegal for the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates to hold, acquire or dispose of or realise, recover or remit the proceeds of the sale of disposal of, Securities, Component Securities or other components comprised in the Index relating to such Notes or any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the equity price risk or any other relevant price risk including, without limitation, any currency risk, of the Issuer issuing and performing its obligations with respect to the Notes (y) it has become illegal for the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates to hold, acquire, purchase, sell or maintain one or more (i) positions or contracts in respect of any securities, options, futures, derivatives or foreign exchange in relation to such Notes, or in relation to the Issuer's hedging activities in connection with the Notes or in relation to the hedging activities of the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates in connection with the Notes, (ii) stock loan transactions in relation to such Notes or (iii) other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) held by the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates in order to hedge, individually or

on a portfolio basis, such Notes or (z) the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Notes (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on its tax position);

- "China Connect Service Termination" means, on or after the Trade Date, the announcement by one or more of the China Connect Market, SEHK, the CSDCC, HKSCC or any regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of a suspension or termination of the China Connect Service or a part thereof for any reason which materially affects the routing of orders in respect of, or holding of, the Securities through the China Connect Service and the Calculation Agent determines that there is a reasonable likelihood that such suspension or termination is not, or will not be, temporary;
- (iii) "China Connect Share Disqualification" means, on or after the Trade Date, the Securities cease to be accepted as "China Connect Securities" (as defined in the rules of SEHK) for the purpose of the China Connect Service;
- (iv) "Failure to Deliver" means the failure of a party to deliver, when due, the relevant Securities in respect of the Notes, where such failure is due to illiquidity in the market for such Securities;
- (v) "Insolvency Filing" means that the issuer of the Securities institutes or has instituted against it by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, or it consents to a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official or it consents to such petition, provided that proceedings instituted or petitions presented by creditors and not consented to by the issuer of the Securities shall not be deemed an Insolvency Filing;
- (vi) "Hedging Disruption" means that the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates is unable or it is or has become not reasonably practicable, or it has otherwise become undesirable, for any reason, for the Issuer wholly or any of its designated affiliates or partially after using commercially reasonable efforts and acting in good faith, to (A) hold, acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary or desirable to hedge the equity or any other price risk (including but not limited to, any currency risk) of entering into and performing the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Notes or (B) realise, recover, receive, transfer or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s) or (C) without prejudice to (B) above, transfer amounts denominated in the Settlement Currency (1) from accounts inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction to accounts outside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction (2) between accounts inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or (3) to a party that is a non-resident of the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or (D) without prejudice to (B) and (C) above, convert the Settlement Currency into an Alternative Payment Currency) and, for the avoidance of doubt "using commercially reasonable efforts and acting in good faith" to hedge the risks of the Issuer referred to herein does not include the value of any quota granted to the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates under the Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor ("**QFII**") or Renminbi Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor ("**RQFII**") Schemes; and
- (vii) "Increased Cost of Hedging" means that the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates would incur materially increased costs (as compared with circumstances existing on the Issue Date), including, without limitation, amount of tax (including any potential tax which the Calculation Agent considers may arise) duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (A) hold, acquire,

establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge equity or any other price risk (including but not limited to, any currency risk) of entering into and performing the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Notes or (B) realise, recover, receive, transfer or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s) **provided that** any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of the Issuer or its designated affiliates, as applicable, shall not be deemed an Increased Cost of Hedging.

(i) Adjustments where the Securities are Units in an ETF

Where the Securities are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being Units in an ETF, in the case of the occurrence at any time on or prior to the Valuation Date of any Extraordinary Event affecting the ETF or the value of the Units, the Calculation Agent may make any adjustment as provided in the preceding provisions of this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes) or:

- (i) if the Calculation Agent determines that no adjustment that it could make under the preceding provisions of this Condition 21 (*Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes*) would produce a commercially reasonable result:
 - (a) the Calculation Agent will use commercially reasonable efforts to identify a new underlying asset with characteristics, investment objectives and policies similar to those in effect for the Affected Units immediately prior to the occurrence of the relevant Extraordinary Event and any substitution of the new underlying asset for the Affected Units shall be effected at such time and in such manner as determined by the Calculation Agent; and
 - (b) if necessary, the Calculation Agent will adjust any relevant terms, including, but not limited to, adjustments to account for changes in volatility, investment strategy or liquidity relevant to the Units or the Notes; or
- (ii) if the Calculation Agent determines that the relevant Notes shall be redeemed, then the Notes shall be redeemed as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent in its discretion and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount or Final Redemption Amount any accrued interest, as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Notes.

In this Condition 21(i) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments where the Securities are Units in an ETF) "Affected Unit(s)" means each Unit subject to an applicable Extraordinary Event.

(j) Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes

With respect to Inflation Rate-linked Notes, the following provisions shall apply in lieu of Condition 21(f) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices):

(A) Definitions

In this Condition:

"Base Level" means the level of the Index (excluding any "flash" estimates) published or announced by the Inflation Index Sponsor in respect of the month which is 12 calendar months prior to the month for which the Substitute Index Level is being determined;

"Fallback Bond" means a bond selected by the Calculation Agent and issued by the government or one of the governments (but not any government agency) of the country (or countries) to whose level of inflation the relevant Index relates and which pays a coupon and/or redemption amount which is calculated by reference to the Index, with a maturity date which falls on the same day as the Maturity Date or such other date as the Calculation Agent shall select if there is no such bond maturing on the Maturity Date. If any bond so selected is redeemed, the Calculation Agent will select a new Fallback Bond on the same basis, but selected from all eligible bonds in issue at the time the original Fallback Bond is redeemed (including any bond for which the redeemed bond is exchanged);

"Inflation Index Level" means the level of the Index first published or announced for the relevant Reference Month on the Relevant Screen Page, as determined by the Calculation Agent, subject to this Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes);

"Inflation Index Sponsor" means, the inflation index sponsor specified as such in the Final Terms (being the entity that publishes or announces (directly or through an agent) the level of the Index) and any successor sponsor of such Index as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Latest Level" means the latest level of the Index (excluding any "flash" estimates) published or announced by the Inflation Index Sponsor prior to the month in respect of which the Substitute Index Level is being calculated;

"Reference Level" means the level of the Index (excluding any "flash" estimates) published or announced by the Inflation Index Sponsor in respect of the month that is 12 calendar months prior to the month referred to in "Latest Level" above;

"Reference Month" means the calendar month for which the level of the Index was reported, regardless of when this information is published or amended. If the period for which the level of the Index was reported is a period other than a month, the Reference Month is the period for which the level of the Index was reported;

"Related Bond" means, the bond specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms and if no bond is specified as the Related Bond, the Related Bond shall be the Fallback Bond. If the bond specified to be the Related Bond redeems or matures during the term of the Inflation Rate-linked Notes, following such redemption or maturity the Related Bond shall be the Fallback Bond;

"Relevant Screen Page" means the page, section or other part of a particular information service specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying the level of the Index; and

"Substitute Index Level" means the level of the Index, determined by the Calculation Agent pursuant to (B) below.

(B) Delay of Publication

If the Inflation Index Level for a Reference Month which is relevant to the calculation of an amount payable in respect of Inflation Rate-linked Notes (a "Relevant Level") has not been published or announced on the Relevant Screen Page by the day that is five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Instalment Date, Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), other early redemption date or Maturity Date, as the case may be (the "Affected Payment

Date"), the Calculation Agent shall determine a "**Substitute Index Level**" (in place of such Relevant Level) by using the following methodology:

- (i) If Related Bond is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will take the same action to determine the Substitute Index Level for the Affected Payment Date as that taken by the calculation agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond;
- (ii) If (A) Related Bond is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms; or (B) the Calculation Agent is unable to determine the Substitute Index Level under (i) above for the Affected Payment Date for any reason, then the Calculation Agent shall determine the Substitute Index Level as follows:

Substitute Index Level=Base Level × (Latest Level/Reference Level)

If a Relevant Level is published or announced at any time after the day that is five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Instalment Date, Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), other early redemption date or Maturity Date, as the case may be, such Relevant Level will not be used in any calculations and instead the Substitute Index Level so determined pursuant to this Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes) will be the definitive level for the relevant Reference Month.

(C) Cessation of Publication

If a level of the Index has not been published or announced on the Relevant Screen Page for two consecutive months and/or the Inflation Index Sponsor announces that it will no longer continue to publish or announce the Index, then the Calculation Agent shall determine a Successor Index (in lieu of any previously applicable Index) for the purposes of the Notes by using the following methodology:

- (i) if at any time (other than after the designation by the Calculation Agent of a date for the early redemption of the Notes pursuant to paragraph (iv) below) a successor index has been designated by the calculation agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond, such successor index shall be designated a "Successor Index" for the purposes of all subsequent determinations of interest payable and/or of an Early Redemption Amount or of the Final Redemption Amount, notwithstanding that any other Successor Index may previously have been determined under the other subsections of this Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes);
- (ii) if: (1) a Successor Index has not been determined under paragraph (i) above; (2) there has been no designation of a date for the early redemption of the Notes by the Calculation Agent pursuant to paragraph (iv) below; (3) a notice has been given or an announcement has been made by the Inflation Index Sponsor, specifying that the Index will be superseded by a replacement index specified by the Inflation Index Sponsor; and (4) the Calculation Agent determines that such replacement index is calculated using the same or substantially similar formula or method of calculation as used in the calculation of the previously applicable Index, then such replacement index shall be deemed to be the "Successor Index" for the purposes of the Notes from the date that such replacement Index comes into effect;

- (iii) if a Successor Index has not been determined by the Calculation Agent under paragraphs (i) or (ii) above (and there has been no designation by the Calculation Agent of a date for the early redemption of the Notes pursuant to paragraph (iv) below), the Calculation Agent will determine an appropriate alternative index for such relevant Valuation Date, and such index will be deemed a "Successor Index"; and
- (iv) if the Calculation Agent determines that there is no appropriate alternative index, then the Issuer may redeem or cancel all but not some only of the Notes on the date selected by the Calculation Agent at the Early Redemption Amount.

The Issuer shall notify the Noteholders of any Successor Index determined pursuant to this Condition 21(j)(C) ((Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes - Cessation of Publication).

(D) Rebasing of the Index

If the Calculation Agent determines that the Index has been or will be rebased at any time, the Index as so rebased (the "Rebased Index") will be used for purposes of determining the level of an Index from the date of such rebasing; provided, however, that the Calculation Agent shall make such adjustments as are made by the calculation agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond, if any, to the levels of the Rebased Index so that the Rebased Index levels reflect the same rate of inflation as the Index before it was rebased. If there is no Related Bond, the Calculation Agent shall make adjustments to the levels of the Rebased Index so that the Rebased Index levels reflect the same rate of inflation as the Index before it was rebased. Any such rebasing shall not affect any prior payments made under the Notes.

(E) Material Modification

If, on or prior to the day that is five Business Days before the next date which is an Interest Payment Date, the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Date, an Instalment Date, the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), any other early redemption date or the Maturity Date (as the case may be), an Inflation Index Sponsor announces that it will make a material change to an Index, then the Calculation Agent shall make any such adjustments to the Index and/or the terms of the Notes consistent with adjustments made to the Related Bond, or, if there is no Related Bond, only those adjustments necessary for the modified Index to continue as the Index.

(F) Manifest Error in Publication

If, within thirty days of publication, but no later than the fifth Business Day prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, relevant Automatic Early Redemption Date, an Instalment Date, the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), any other early redemption date or the Maturity Date, as the case may be, the Calculation Agent determines that the Inflation Index Sponsor has corrected the level of the Index to remedy a manifest error in its original publication, the Calculation Agent will take such action as it may deem necessary and practicable to give effect to such correction.

(k) Events relating to DR-Linked Notes

In relation to DR-Linked Notes only, if a Delisting of the Securities occurs or the Depository announces that the Deposit Agreement is (or will be) (or is at any time, whether or not announced by the Depository) terminated, then the Issuer will determine whether or not the Notes shall continue. If the Issuer determines that:

- (i) the Notes shall continue, it shall elect whether the Security shall thereafter be (x) the Replacement DRs or the Underlying Security and the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the terms of the Notes (including, without limitation, any change to the notional number of Securities or/or the formula for the Final Redemption Amount), and which change or adjustment(s) shall be effective on such date selected by the Calculation Agent; or
- (ii) the Notes shall not continue, then the Notes shall be redeemed as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer) as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Notes.

(1) Notes Linked to Units in an ETF – General

If the relevant Final Terms specify that the Securities in relation to a Series of Notes are Units in an ETF, then this Condition 21 (*Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes*) shall apply to the Notes as if references therein to "Underlying Company" were references to the "ETF" and as if references therein to "Security" were references to "Unit".

The following provisions of this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes) apply to Alternative General Conditions Notes only.

(a) **Definitions**

As used in this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes), and unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

"Additional Disruption Event" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 21(h) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Additional Disruption Events);

"Automatic Early Redemption Amount" means in respect of an Automatic Early Redemption Date and as calculated by the Calculation Agent in good faith, an amount equal to the Calculation Amount multiplied by the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Rate relating to that Automatic Early Redemption Date or such other amount as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Automatic Early Redemption Date(s)" means each of the date(s) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, subject in each case to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Automatic Early Redemption Event" means (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) that the price of the relevant Security or, as the case may be, the level of the Index, in either case as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date is, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Price, or as the case may be, the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Level;

"Automatic Early Redemption Level" means, in respect of an Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date, the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Automatic Early Redemption Price" means, in respect of an Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date, the price per Security specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Automatic Early Redemption Rate" means, in respect of any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date, the percentage rate specified as such for such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date in the relevant Final Terms;

"Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date(s)" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, each of the date(s) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, each of the date(s) specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days), which shall apply as if such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date were a Valuation Date;

"Averaging Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, in respect of each Valuation Date, each date specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, in respect of each Valuation Date, each date specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Averaging Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes — Consequences of Disrupted Days);

"Cash Settlement" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, that the relevant Noteholder is entitled to receive from the Issuer on the Maturity Date an amount calculated in accordance with the relevant Final Terms in the Settlement Currency;

"Clearing System Business Day" means, in relation to any Securities, any day on which the principal domestic clearing system customarily used for settling trades in such Securities is (or, but for the occurrence of an event beyond the control of the Issuer as a result of which such clearing system cannot clear the transfer of such securities, would have been) open for the acceptance and execution of settlement instructions;

"Component Security" means, with respect to an Index, each component security of that Index;

"Conversion" means, in respect of any Securities, any irreversible conversion by the Underlying Company of such Securities into other securities;

"Delisting" means that the Exchange announces that, pursuant to the rules of such Exchange, the Securities cease (or will cease) to be listed, traded or publicly quoted on the Exchange for any reason (other than a Merger Event or Tender Offer) and are not immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an exchange or quotation system (an "Alternative Exchange") located in the same country as the Exchange (or, where the Exchange is within the European Union or the United Kingdom, in any member state of

the European Union or the United Kingdom) or that the Calculation Agent determines that listing or trading of Securities on the Exchange (or an Alternative Exchange) has not commenced and will not commence in the foreseeable future prior to redemption of the Notes

With respect to Depository Receipts, a "Delisting" shall not occur in respect of the Underlying Securities if the Underlying Securities are immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an Alternative Exchange regardless of the location of such Alternative Exchange;

"Delivery Disruption Event" means, as determined by the Calculation Agent, the failure by the Issuer to deliver or to procure delivery on the relevant Settlement Date the Securities Transfer Amount under the relevant Note due to illiquidity in the market for such Securities;

"Deposit Agreement" means, in relation to each Depository Receipt, the agreement(s) or other instrument(s) constituting such Depository Receipt, as from time to time amended or supplemented;

"**Depository**" means, in relation to a Depository Receipt, the issuer of such Depository Receipt as appointed under the Deposit Agreement, including its successors from time to time;

"Depository Receipt(s)" means any Security specified as such in the relevant Final Terms provided that if the relevant Deposit Agreement is terminated at any time, any reference to any Depository Receipt(s) shall thereafter be construed as a reference to the relevant Underlying Securities or relevant Replacement DRs, as applicable and as determined by the Calculation Agent pursuant to Condition 21(k) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Events relating to DR-Linked Notes);

"Disrupted Day" means (a) any Scheduled Trading Day on which a relevant Exchange or any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session or on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred; or (b) if the Notes are Multiple Exchange Index-Linked Notes, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor fails to publish the level of the Index; (ii) the Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session; or (iii) a Market Disruption Event has occurred or (c) any Scheduled Trading Day on which the Index Sponsor fails to publish the Index;

"Disrupted Day Related Payment Date" means any payment date on the Notes on which the amount payable is calculated by reference to the price or level (as applicable) of a Security, Index, basket of Securities or basket of Indices determined on the related Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date;

"**DR-Linked Notes**" means a Series of Equity-Linked Notes which relate to one or more Securities which are Depository Receipts;

"Early Closure" means (a) the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the relevant Exchange (in the case of Equity-Linked Notes) or any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index (in the case of Index-Linked Notes) or any Related Exchange(s) prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) at least one hour prior to the earlier of: (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day; or (b) if the Notes are Multiple Exchange Index-Linked Notes, the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the Exchange in respect of any Component Security or the Related Exchange prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing is announced by such Exchange or Related Exchange (as the case may be) at least one hour prior to the earlier of: (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on

such Exchange or Related Exchange (as the case may be) on such Exchange Business Day; and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into such Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day;

"Equity-Linked Note" means a Series of Notes in respect of which either an amount, which shall be calculated by reference to the value of a Security or Securities and/or a formula, is payable or a Securities Transfer Amount is deliverable (as indicated in the relevant Final Terms);

"ETF" means the exchange traded fund or similarly traded or listed fund as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"ETF Adviser" means, with respect to an ETF, any person appointed in the role of discretionary investment manager or non-discretionary investment manager (including a non-discretionary investment manager to a discretionary investment manager or to another non-discretionary investment manager), as provided in the related ETF Documents;

"ETF Documents" means, in relation to any ETF, the constitutive and governing documents, subscription agreements and other agreements of such ETF specifying the terms and conditions relating to such ETF, in each case as amended and supplemented from time to time;

"Exchange" means (a) with respect to a Security or an Index, each exchange or quotation system specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the Security or the components of the Index, as the case may be, has temporarily relocated (**provided that** the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to such Security or components, as the case may be, as on the original Exchange); or (b) in the case of a Multiple Exchange Index and each relevant Component Security, the principal stock exchange on which such Component Security is principally traded, as determined by the Calculation Agent (which exchange or quotation system as of the Issue Date may be specified as such in the relevant Final Terms);

"Exchange Business Day" means (a) any Scheduled Trading Day on which each Exchange and any relevant Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor publishes the level of the Index and (ii) the Related Exchange is open for trading during its regular trading session, notwithstanding the Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time:

"Exchange Disruption" means (a) any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general (i) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, the Securities on the Exchange (in the case of an Equity-Linked Note) or on any relevant Exchange(s) in securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index (in the case of an Index-Linked Note), or (ii) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, future or options contracts relating to the Securities (in the case of an Equity-Linked Note) or the relevant Index (in the case of an Index-Linked Note) on any relevant Related Exchange; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for (i) any Component Security on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security or (ii) futures or options contracts relating to the Index on the relevant Related Exchange;

"Extraordinary Dividend" means the amount per Security specified or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such amount is so specified or determined, any dividend or the portion of any dividend which the Calculation Agent

determines is generally considered an Extraordinary Dividend by the market in respect of the relevant Security;

"Extraordinary ETF Event" means, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, the occurrence or existence of any of the following:

- the ETF (A) is dissolved or has a resolution passed for its dissolution, (i) winding-up, official liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger); (B) makes a general assignment or arrangement with or for the benefit of its creditors; (C)(1) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official, or (2) has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation, and such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in (1) above and either (x) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or liquidation or (y) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case within 15 days of the institution or presentation thereof; (D) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets; (E) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all of its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all of its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within 15 days thereafter; or (F) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in (A) to (E) above;
- (ii) the ETF has violated any leverage restriction that is applicable to, or affecting, such ETF or its assets by operation of any law, any order or judgment of any court or other agency of government applicable to it or any of its assets, the ETF Documents or any contractual restriction binding on or affecting the ETF or any of its assets:
- (iii) the resignation, termination or replacement of the ETF Adviser (as defined above);
- (iv) any change or modification of the ETF Documents that could reasonably be expected to affect the value of the Units or the rights or remedies of any holders thereof (in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent) from those prevailing on the Issue Date;
- (v) any breach or violation of any strategy or investment guidelines stated in the ETF Documents that is reasonably likely to affect the value of the Units or the rights or remedies of any holders thereof (in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent);
- (vi) any restrictions or increase in charges or fees are imposed by the ETF on any investor's ability to redeem the Units, in whole or in part, or on any existing or new investor's ability to make new or additional investments in such Units, or any mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, of such Units is imposed by the ETF (in each case other than any restriction in existence on the Issue Date);

- (vii) (A) cancellation, suspension or revocation of the registration or approval of the Units or the ETF by any governmental, legal or regulatory entity with authority over the Units or the ETF, (B) any change in the legal, tax, accounting or regulatory treatments of the ETF or the ETF Adviser that is reasonably likely to have an adverse impact on the value of the Units or on any investor therein (as determined by the Calculation Agent), or (C) the ETF or the ETF Adviser becoming subject to any investigation, proceeding or litigation by any relevant governmental, legal or regulatory authority involving the alleged violation of applicable law for any activities relating to or resulting from the operation of the ETF;
- (viii) (A) the occurrence of any event affecting the Units that, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, would make it impossible or impracticable to determine the value of the Units, and such event is likely, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, to continue for the foreseeable future; or (B) any failure of the ETF to deliver, or cause to be delivered (1) information that the ETF has agreed to deliver, or cause to be delivered to the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent or (2) information that has been previously delivered to the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent representative's, normal practice and that the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent deems necessary for it to monitor the ETF's compliance with any investment guidelines, asset allocation methodologies or any other similar policies relating to the Units;
- (ix) (A) the cancellation or cessation of any Underlying Index or (B) a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating or any other material modification to any Underlying Index (other than a modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain such Underlying Index in the event of changes in constituent stock and capitalisation and other routine events) or (C) the relevant sponsor of any Underlying Index fails to calculate and announce such Underlying Index; and
- on or after the Strike Date (A) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including, without limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the Calculation Agent determines in good faith that the Issuer will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Notes;

"Extraordinary Event" means (a) in all cases other than where the Final Terms specify that the Securities are Units in an ETF, a Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation, Insolvency or Delisting or (b) in the case where the Final Terms specify that the Securities are Units in an ETF, a Merger Event, Nationalisation, Insolvency, Delisting or Extraordinary ETF Event;

"Final Index Level" means, with respect to an Index and a Valuation Date, the level determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such level is so provided (a) the level of the relevant Index as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on the Valuation Date or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, the official closing level of the Index on the Valuation Date as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor or (c) if Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms in respect of such Valuation Date, the arithmetic average as determined by the Calculation Agent (rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up)) of the Reference Levels on such Averaging Dates;

"Final Price" means, with respect to a Security and a Valuation Date, the price determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such price is so provided (a) the price of such Security as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on such Valuation Date or (b) if Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms in respect of such Valuation Date, the arithmetic

average as determined by the Calculation Agent (rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up)) of the Reference Prices on such Averaging Dates;

"Government Bonds" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, bonds or any other debt securities issued by a government, government agency or subdivision or a transnational or supranational organisation as specified in the relevant Final Terms and "Government Bond" shall be construed accordingly;

"HKSCC" means the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited;

"Hypothetical Broker Dealer" means a hypothetical broker dealer which is (i) subject to the same securities laws and rules and regulations of any securities regulators, exchanges and self-regulating organisations as apply to the Issuer or any affiliate designated by it and (ii) domiciled in the same tax jurisdiction as the Issuer or its such designated affiliates;

"Index" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, the index to which such Notes relates, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject to adjustment pursuant to this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes), and "Indices" shall be construed accordingly;

"Index-Linked Note" means a Series of Notes in respect of which an amount calculated by reference to an Index or Indices and/or a formula is payable (as indicated in the relevant Final Terms) including Inflation Rate-Linked Notes;

"Index Rules" means the rules of the Index Sponsor in relation to the Index specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Index Sponsor" means the corporation or other entity specified as such in the relevant Final Terms and any successor corporation or other entity that (a) is responsible for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation and adjustments, if any, related to the relevant Index and (b) announces (directly or through an agent) the level of the relevant Index on a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day;

"Index Substitution Notice" has the meaning given in Condition 21(f)(iii) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices – Index Cancellation);

"Inflation Rate-Linked Note" means a Note in relation to which the interest payable thereon (if any) and/or the redemption amount thereof is determined by reference to an inflation rate, inflation rates or any other inflation rate-dependent variables (as indicated in the relevant Final Terms);

"Initial Index Level" means, with respect to an Index, the level specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such level is so specified or otherwise determined, the level of the relevant Index as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on the Strike Date or, with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, the official closing level of the Index on the Strike Date as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor each as rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up);

"Initial Price" means, with respect to a Security, the price specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such price is so specified or otherwise determined, the price of such Security as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on the Strike Date each as rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up);

"Insolvency" means that by reason of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution or winding-up of or any analogous proceeding affecting an Underlying Company, (A) all the Securities of that Underlying Company are required to be transferred to a trustee, liquidator or other similar official or (B) holders of

the Securities of that Underlying Company become legally prohibited from transferring them;

"**Knock-in Amount**" means the interest amount, redemption amount or other amount as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-in Amount Payment Date" means such date as specified in the relevant Final Terms subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-in Determination Day" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day), or if Knock-in Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each Scheduled Trading Day during the Knock-in Determination Period; or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-in Determination Day in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index), or if Knock-in Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each date in respect of each Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index during the Knock-in Determination Period,

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-in Determination Day were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-in Determination Period" means the period which commences on, and includes, the Knock-in Period Beginning Date and ends on, and includes, the Knock-in Period Ending Date;

"Knock-in Event" means (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) that the price of the Security or, as the case may be, the level of the Index, determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time or, if specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, observed by the Calculation Agent continuously on any Knock-in Determination Day is, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the Knock-in Price or, as the case may be, the Knock-in Level;

"Knock-in Level" means the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-in Period Beginning Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-in Period Beginning Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-in Period Beginning Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-in Period Ending Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-in Period Ending Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-in Period Ending Date were a Valuation Date;

"**Knock-in Price**" means the price per Security specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Amount" means the interest amount, redemption amount or other amount as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Amount Payment Date" means such date as specified in the relevant Final Terms subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Determination Day" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day), or if Knock-out Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each Scheduled Trading Day during the Knock-out Determination Period; or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-out Determination Day in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index) or if Knock-out Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each date in respect of each Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index during the Knock-out Determination Period,

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-out Determination Day were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-out Determination Period" means the period which commences on, and includes, the Knock-out Period Beginning Date and ends on, and includes, the Knock-out Period Ending Date;

"Knock-out Event" means (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) that the price of the Security or, as the case may be, the level of the Index, determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time or, if specified as such in the relevant Final

Terms, observed by the Calculation Agent continuously on any Knock-out Determination Day is, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the Knock-out Price or, as the case may be, Knock-out Level;

"Knock-out Level" means the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Period Beginning Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-out Period Beginning Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-out Period Beginning Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-out Period Ending Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Knock-out Period Ending Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Knock-out Period Ending Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-out Price" means the price per Security specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Market Disruption Event" means (a) the occurrence or existence of (i) a Trading Disruption, or (ii) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one-hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time, or (iii) an Early Closure **provided that** for the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event in respect of an Index exists at any time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in respect of a component of the Index at any time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that security to the level of the Index shall be based on a comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that security and (y) the overall level of the Index, in each case immediately before the occurrence of such Market Disruption Event; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, either:

(A) (1) the occurrence or existence, in respect of any Component Security, of (aa) a Trading Disruption, or (bb) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that (i) for the purposes of the occurrence of a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event begins and/or ends at the time at which the relevant price or level triggers the Knock-in Level or the Knock-out Level, as the case may be, or (ii) in all

other circumstances, ends at the relevant Valuation Time in respect of the Exchange on which such Component Security is principally traded, OR (cc) an Early Closure AND (2) the aggregate of all Component Securities in respect of which a Trading Disruption, an Exchange Disruption or an Early Closure occurs or exists comprises 20 per cent. or more of the level of the Index; OR

(B) the occurrence or existence, in respect of futures or options contracts relating to the Index of: (aa) a Trading Disruption, (bb) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that (i) for the purposes of the occurrence of a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event begins and/or ends at the time at which the relevant price or level triggers the Knock-in Level or the Knock-out Level, as the case may be, or (ii) in all other circumstances, ends at the relevant Valuation Time in respect of the Related Exchange; or (cc) an Early Closure;

For the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event exists in respect of a Multiple Exchange Index at any time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in respect of a Component Security at that time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that Component Security to the level of the Index shall be based on a comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that Component Security to (y) the overall level of the Index, in each case using the official opening weightings as published by the Index Sponsor as part of the market "opening data";

"Merger Event" means in respect of any relevant Securities, any (i) reclassification or change of such Securities that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all of such Securities outstanding to another entity or person, (ii) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Underlying Company with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation, amalgamation or merger in which such Underlying Company is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all of such Securities outstanding), (iii) takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per cent. of the outstanding Securities of the Underlying Company that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all such Securities (other than such Securities owned or controlled by such other entity or person); or (iv) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Underlying Company or its subsidiaries with or into another entity in which the Underlying Company is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all of such Securities outstanding but results in the outstanding Securities (other than Securities owned or controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such event collectively representing less than 50 per cent, of the outstanding Securities immediately following such event, in each case if the closing date of a Merger Event (or, where a closing date cannot be determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as determined by the Calculation Agent) is on or before, in the case of any Equity-Linked Note which is to be redeemed by delivery of a Securities Transfer Amount, the Maturity Date or, in any other case, the final Valuation Date;

If the Notes are DR-Linked Notes, "Merger Event" shall include the occurrence of any of the events described in (i) to (iv) (inclusive) above in relation to the relevant Underlying Securities;

"Multiple Exchange Index" means an Index identified or specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Multiple Exchange Index-Linked Notes" means Notes which relate to a Multiple Exchange Index;

"Nationalisation" means that all the Securities (or, if the Notes are DR-Linked Notes, the relevant Underlying Securities) or all or substantially all the assets of an Underlying Company are nationalised, expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to any governmental agency, authority or entity;

"Notional Sale Date" has the meaning given in the definition of Settlement Date below;

"Potential Adjustment Event" means (i) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of relevant Securities (unless resulting in a Merger Event), or a free distribution or dividend of any such Securities to existing holders whether by way of bonus, capitalisation or similar issue; or (ii) a distribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of the relevant Securities of (A) such Securities or (B) other share capital or securities granting the right to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of liquidation of the Underlying Company equally or proportionately with such payments to holders of such Securities or (C) any other type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any case for payment (cash or other consideration) at less than the prevailing market price as determined by the Calculation Agent; or (iii) an Extraordinary Dividend; or (iv) a call by the Underlying Company in respect of relevant Securities that are not fully paid; or (v) a repurchase by the Underlying Company or any of its subsidiaries of relevant Securities whether out of profits or capital and whether the consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or otherwise; or (vi) in respect of the Underlying Company, an event that results in any shareholder rights being distributed or becoming separated from shares of common stock or other shares of the capital stock of the Underlying Company pursuant to a shareholder rights plan or arrangement directed against hostile takeovers that provides upon the occurrence of certain events for a distribution of preferred stock, warrants, debt instruments or stock rights at a price below their market value, as determined by the Calculation Agent, provided that any adjustment effected as a result of such an event shall be readjusted upon any redemption of such rights; or (vii) any other event that may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Securities; or (viii) any other event specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

With respect to Depository Receipts, "Potential Adjustment Event" shall also include (x) the occurrence of any of the events described in (i) to (viii) (inclusive) above in respect of the relevant Underlying Securities, **provided that** the occurrence of any of the events described in (i) to (vi) (inclusive) in respect of the relevant Underlying Securities shall not constitute a Potential Adjustment Event unless, the Calculation Agent determines that such event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the Securities and (y) the making of any amendment or supplement to the terms of the Deposit Agreement;

"Reference Level" means, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms (a) in respect of an Index and an Averaging Date, the level of such Index as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the Exchange on such Averaging Date and (b) in respect of a Multiple Exchange Index and an Averaging Date, the official closing level of such Multiple Exchange Index on such Averaging Date as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor;

"Reference Price" means, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, in respect of a Security and an Averaging Date, the price of such Security as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the Exchange on such Averaging Date;

"Related Exchange" means, subject to the proviso below, in respect of a Security or an Index, each exchange or quotation system specified as such for such Security or Index in the relevant Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in futures or options contracts relating to such Security or Index, as the case may be, has temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options contracts relating to such Security or Index, as the case may be, as on the original Related Exchange) provided, however, that where "All Exchanges" is specified as the Related Exchange in the relevant Final Terms, "Related Exchange" shall mean each exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to such Security or Index, as the case may be;

"Replacement DRs" means, if the relevant Deposit Agreement is terminated, any depository receipts which the Calculation Agent determines, in accordance with

Condition 21(k) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Events relating to DR-Linked Notes) are to replace the Depository Receipts constituted by such terminated Deposit Agreement;

"Residual Amount" means, in relation to a Noteholder and a Note, the fraction of a Security rounded down pursuant to Condition 21(b) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Physical Delivery), as determined by the Calculation Agent or such amount as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Residual Cash Amount" means, in respect of a Residual Amount, the product of such Residual Amount and the fraction of which the numerator is the Final Price and the denominator is the Initial Price or such amount as otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Scheduled Averaging Date" has the meaning given in Condition 21(e)(ii)(B)(3)(bb) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days);

"Scheduled Closing Time" means, in respect of an Exchange or Related Exchange and a Scheduled Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or Related Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after hours or any other trading outside of the regular trading session hours;

"Scheduled Final Averaging Date" has the meaning given in Condition 21(e)(ii)(B)(3)(aa) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days);

"Scheduled Trading Day" means, in respect of a Security or an Index (as applicable), (a) any day on which the relevant Exchange and the relevant Related Exchange are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular trading sessions; notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time; (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any day on which (i) the Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the Index and (ii) the Related Exchange is scheduled to be open for trading for its regular trading session or (c) any day on which the Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the Index.

"Scheduled Valuation Date" means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, would have been a Valuation Date;

"Securities" means, in relation to a Series of Notes or in relation to an Index, the equity securities, debt securities (including without limitation Government Bonds), depository receipts or other securities or property, as adjusted pursuant to this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes), to which such Notes or Index, as the case may be, relate, as specified in the relevant Final Terms and subject, in the case of a Series of Notes linked to Units in an ETF, to the provisions of Condition 21(1) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Notes linked to Units in an ETF – General) and "Security" shall be construed accordingly;

"Securities Transfer Amount" means the number of Securities per Note as specified in the relevant Final Terms or if no such number is so specified, the number of Securities per Note calculated by the Calculation Agent and equal to the fraction of which the numerator is the Calculation Amount and the denominator is the Initial Price;

"Settlement Cycle" means, in respect of a Security or an Index, the period of Clearing System Business Days following a trade in the relevant Security or the securities underlying such Index, as the case may be, on the Exchange in which settlement will customarily occur according to the rules of such Exchange (or, if there are multiple Exchanges in respect of an Index, the longest such period);

"Settlement Date" means, in relation to Securities to be delivered in respect of an Equity-Linked Note (a) in the case of Equity-Linked Notes which relate to equity

securities and unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the later of (i) the Maturity Date and (ii) the date that falls one Settlement Cycle after the later of (i) the Exchange Business Day following the Valuation Date (the "Notional Sale Date") (or if such day is not a Clearing System Business Day, the next following Clearing System Business Day) subject to the provisions of Condition 21(b) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes - Physical Delivery) and (ii) the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (as postponed pursuant to Condition 9(f) (Payments - EM Price Source Disruption)) falling on or immediately after such Valuation Date (if any) or, (b) in any other case, and unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Following Business Day Convention unless another Business Day Convention (as defined in Condition 1 (Definitions)) is specified in the relevant Final Terms. In each case, if a Settlement Disruption Event prevents delivery of such Securities on that day, then the Settlement Date shall be determined in accordance with Condition 21(b)(ii) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes -Physical Delivery);

"Settlement Disruption Event" in relation to a Security or a Component Security, means an event which the Calculation Agent determines to be beyond the control of the Issuer or relevant obligor and to be an event as a result of which the relevant Clearing System cannot clear the transfer of such Security or Component Security;

"Specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days" means, in relation to an Equity-Linked Note or an Index-Linked Note, the eighth Scheduled Trading Day or such other number of Scheduled Trading Days specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Strike Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Strike Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) which shall apply as if such Strike Date were a Valuation Date;

"Substitute Index" has the meaning given in Condition 21(f)(iii) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices – Index Cancellation);

"Successor Index" has the meaning given in Condition 21(f)(i) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices – Successor Index) or Condition 21(j)(C)(i) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes) as applicable;

"Tender Offer" means a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining or having the right to obtain, by conversion or other means, greater than 10 per cent. and less than 100 per cent. of the outstanding voting shares of the Underlying Company, as determined by the Calculation Agent, based upon the making of filings with governmental or self-regulatory agencies or such other information as the Calculation Agent deems relevant;

"Trading Disruption" means (a) any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise (i) relating to the Securities on the Exchange (in the case of an Equity-Linked Note) or on any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index (in the case of Index-Linked Notes), or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Securities or the relevant Index on any relevant Related Exchange; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise (i) relating to any Component Security on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security, or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Index on any relevant Related Exchange;

"**Transfer Notice**" means for the purposes of Equity-Linked Notes only a notice in the form from time to time approved by the Issuer, which must:

- (i) specify the name and address of the Noteholder;
- (ii) specify the number of Notes in respect of which it is the Noteholder;
- (iii) specify the number of the Noteholder's account at the relevant Clearing System to be debited with such Notes;
- (iv) irrevocably instruct and authorise the relevant Clearing System, (A) to debit the Noteholder's account with such Notes on the Settlement Date, if the Issuer elects (or has elected) the Physical Delivery provisions being applicable or otherwise on the Maturity Date and (B) that no further transfers of the Notes specified in the Transfer Notice may be made;
- (v) contain a representation and warranty from the Noteholder to the effect that the Notes to which the Transfer Notice relates are free from all liens, charges, encumbrances and other third party rights;
- (vi) specify the number and account name of the account at the relevant Clearing System to be credited with the Securities if the Issuer elects (or has elected) the Physical Delivery provisions being applicable;
- (vii) contain an irrevocable undertaking to pay the Transfer Expenses (if any) and an irrevocable instruction to the relevant Clearing System to debit on or after the Settlement Date the cash or other account of the Noteholder with the relevant Clearing System specified in the Transfer Notice with such Transfer Expenses;
- (viii) include a certificate of non-US beneficial ownership in the form required by the Issuer; and
- (ix) authorise the production of the Transfer Notice in any applicable administrative or legal proceedings;

"Underlying Company" means the issuer of the Security as specified in the relevant Final Terms and, if the Notes are DR-Linked Notes, each of the Depository and the issuer of the relevant Underlying Security, in each case subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 21(g) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments and Events affecting Securities), and subject, in the case of a Series of Notes linked to Units in an ETF, to the provisions of Condition 21(l) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Notes Linked to Units in an ETF – General);

"Underlying Index", in relation to an ETF, has the meaning given to it in the relevant Final Terms;

"Underlying Security" means, with respect to DR-Linked Notes and a Depository Receipt, the security and any other property to which such Depository Receipt relates;

"Unit", in relation to an ETF, has the meaning given to it in the relevant Final Terms;

"Valid Date" means, in respect of a Security or an Index (as applicable), a Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another Averaging Date in respect of the relevant Valuation Date does not or is not deemed to occur;

"Valuation Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, each date specified or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Securities and/or Indices, each date specified or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Valuation Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days); and

"Valuation Time" means:

- (a) in relation to each Security to be valued or each Index (other than a Multiple Exchange Index) the level of which falls to be determined on any date, the time on such date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such time is specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange on such date in relation to such Security or Index, as applicable or such scheduled time as set out in the Index Rules. If the relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing time for its regular trading session, then the Valuation Time shall be such actual closing time; or
- (b) in relation to a Multiple Exchange Index, (i) for the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event has occurred: (x) in respect of any Component Security, the Scheduled Closing Time on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security, and (y) in respect of any options contracts or future contracts on the Index, the close of trading on the Related Exchange; and (ii) in all other circumstances, the time at which the official closing level of the Index is calculated and published by the Index Sponsor.

(b) **Physical Delivery**

In relation to Equity-Linked Notes which are to be redeemed by the delivery of a Securities Transfer Amount, and subject to the other provisions of these Conditions and the relevant Final Terms:

(i)

(A) Each Noteholder shall, on or before the date five calendar days before the Maturity Date or the date of early termination or redemption (or such earlier date as the Issuer shall determine is necessary for the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the relevant Clearing System to perform their respective obligations in relation to the Notes and notify to the Paying Agents and the Noteholders) send to the relevant Clearing System, in accordance with its then applicable operating procedures, and copied to the Principal Paying Agent, a duly completed Transfer Notice.

- (B) A Transfer Notice, once delivered to the relevant Clearing System, shall be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn without the consent in writing of the Issuer. A Noteholder may not transfer any Note which is the subject of a Transfer Notice following delivery of such Transfer Notice to the relevant Clearing System. A Transfer Notice shall only be valid to the extent that the relevant Clearing System have not received conflicting prior instructions in respect of the Notes which are the subject of the Transfer Notice.
- (C) Failure properly to complete and deliver a Transfer Notice may result in such notice being treated as null and void. Any determination as to whether such notice has been properly completed and delivered as provided shall be made by the Principal Paying Agent and shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer and the Noteholder.
- (D) The Principal Paying Agent shall promptly on the local banking day following receipt of a Transfer Notice send a copy thereof to the Issuer or such person as the Issuer may previously have specified.
- (E) Delivery of the Securities will be via the relevant Clearing System. The delivery or transfer of Securities to each Noteholder is at the relevant Noteholder's risk and if delivery occurs later than the earliest possible date for delivery, no additional amounts will be payable by the Issuer.
- (F) The Issuer shall discharge its obligation to redeem the relevant proportion of the Notes by delivering, or procuring the delivery of, the Securities Transfer Amount on the Settlement Date to the Clearing System for credit to the account with the Clearing System specified in the Transfer Notice of the relevant Noteholder.
- (G) The amount of Securities to be delivered to or for the account of each Noteholder shall be an amount of Securities equal to the number of Notes in respect of which such Noteholder is the holder as specified in the relevant Transfer Notice multiplied by the Securities Transfer Amount **provided**, **however**, **that** if a Noteholder would become entitled to a number of Securities which is not equal to a board lot of the Securities at such time, as determined by the Calculation Agent, or an integral multiple thereof, then the Noteholder's entitlement to delivery of Securities shall be rounded down to the nearest whole Security.
- (H) In relation to each Noteholder, the Calculation Agent shall calculate the Residual Amount and the Residual Cash Amount. The Residual Cash Amount shall be paid by the Issuer to the relevant Noteholder on the Settlement Date.
- (I) Each Noteholder shall be required as a condition of its entitlement to delivery of Securities in respect of any Notes to pay all Transfer Expenses in respect of such Notes.
- (J) After delivery to or for the account of a Noteholder of the relevant Securities Transfer Amount and for such period of time as the transferor or its agent or nominee shall continue to be registered in any clearing system as the owner of the Securities comprised in such Securities Transfer Amount (the "Intervening Period"), none of such transferor or any agent or nominee for the Issuer or such transferor shall (i) be under any obligation to deliver to such Noteholder or any other person any letter, certificate, notice, circular, dividend or any other document or payment whatsoever received by the Issuer or such transferor, agent or nominee in its capacity as holder of such Securities, (ii) be under any obligation to exercise any rights (including voting rights) attaching to such Securities during the Intervening Period, or (iii) be under any liability to such

Noteholder or any other person in respect of any loss or damage which the Noteholder or any other person may sustain or suffer as a result, whether directly or indirectly, of the Issuer or such transferor, agent or nominee being registered in such clearing system during such Intervening Period as legal owner of such Securities.

- (K) All dividends on Securities to be delivered will be payable to the party that would receive such dividends according to market practice for a sale of the Securities executed on the Notional Sale Date to be delivered in the same manner as such Securities. Any such dividends will be paid to or for credit to the account specified by the Noteholder in the relevant Transfer Notice. No right to dividends on the Securities will accrue to Noteholders prior to the Notional Sale Date.
- (ii) The Calculation Agent shall determine whether or not at any time a Settlement Disruption Event has occurred and where it determines such an event has occurred and so has prevented delivery of Securities on the original day that but for such Settlement Disruption Event would have been the Settlement Date, then the Settlement Date will be the first succeeding day on which delivery of such Securities can take place through the relevant Clearing System unless a Settlement Disruption Event prevents settlement on each of the eight relevant Clearing System Business Days immediately following the original date (or during such other period (the "Disruption Period") specified in the relevant Final Terms) that, but for the Settlement Disruption Event, would have been the Settlement Date. In that case, if the Securities are debt securities, the Issuer shall use reasonable efforts to deliver such Securities promptly thereafter acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner (as determined by the Calculation Agent) outside the Clearing System and in all other cases (a) if such Securities can be delivered in any other commercially reasonable manner (as determined by the Calculation Agent), then the Settlement Date will be the first Business Day on which settlement of a sale of Securities executed on that eighth relevant Clearing System Business Day, or during such other period specified in the relevant Final Terms, customarily would take place using such other commercially reasonable manner (as determined by the Calculation Agent) of delivery (which other manner of delivery will be deemed the relevant Clearing System for the purposes of delivery of the relevant Securities), and (b) if such Securities cannot be delivered in any other commercially reasonable manner (as determined by the Calculation Agent), then the Settlement Date will be postponed until delivery can be effected through the relevant Clearing System or in any other commercially reasonable manner.

For the avoidance of doubt, where a Settlement Disruption Event affects some but not all of the Securities comprised in a basket, the Settlement Date for Securities not affected by the Settlement Disruption Event will be the first day on which settlement of a sale of such Securities executed on the Maturity Date customarily would take place through the relevant Clearing System.

- (iii) If the Calculation Agent determines that a Delivery Disruption Event has occurred, it shall notify the Issuer who shall promptly notify the relevant Noteholder(s) and the Issuer may then:
 - (A) determine, in its sole and absolute discretion, a new Settlement Date such date being no later than the earlier of (i) the Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the day on which the Delivery Disruption Event has ceased to exist and (ii) the eighth Scheduled Trading Day falling after the original Settlement Date, provided, in each case such day is a Clearing System Business Day (or, if not, the Scheduled Trading Day that is a Clearing System Business Day immediately following such day);
 - (B) determine (either upon the occurrence of a Delivery Disruption Event or, if no new Settlement Date was determined prior to the eighth Scheduled

Trading Day falling after the original Settlement Date pursuant to paragraph (A) above, upon such eight Scheduled Trading Date (the "Postponed Determination Date"), in its sole and absolute discretion, that the obligation to deliver the relevant Securities Transfer Amount will be terminated and the Issuer will pay such amount as in the opinion of the Calculation Agent (such opinion to be made acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) is fair (i) by reference to the spot price on an Exchange for such Securities on the date of the Delivery Disruption Event (or the Postponed Determination Date, if the Issuer has first elected to apply paragraph (A) above), or if no such spot price is available (or if the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner determines that such spot price materially differs from the price that would be obtained in a liquid and well-functioning market), (ii) as determined by the Calculation Agent to be the arithmetic mean of the price quoted for such Securities by investment banks appointed by the Calculation Agent that are acting in the market for the relevant Securities on the date of the Delivery Disruption Event (or the Postponed Determination Date, if the Issuer has first elected to apply paragraph (A) above) or (iii) if less than two such quotations are received, as determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, in each case by way of compensation for the non-delivery of the Securities Transfer Amount, in which event the entitlements of the respective Noteholder(s) to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of such amount; or

(C) deliver on the Settlement Date (as may have been postponed pursuant to paragraph (A) above) such amount of the Securities Transfer Amount (if any) as it can deliver on that date and the Issuer will pay such amount as in the opinion of the Calculation Agent (such opinion to be made acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) is fair (i) by reference to the spot price on an Exchange for such Securities on the date of the Delivery Disruption Event (or the Postponed Determination Date, if the Issuer has first elected to apply paragraph (A) above), or if no such spot price is available, (or if the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner determines that such spot price materially differs from the price that would be obtained in a liquid and well-functioning market) (ii) as determined by the Calculation Agent to be the arithmetic mean of the price quoted for such Securities by investment banks appointed by the Calculation Agent that are acting in the market for the relevant Securities on the date of the Delivery Disruption Event (or the Postponed Determination Date, if the Issuer has first elected to apply paragraph (A) above) or (iii) if less than two such quotations are received, as determined by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, in each case by way of compensation for the non-delivery of the remainder of the Securities Transfer Amount, in which event the entitlements of the respective Noteholder(s) to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of such amount.

Where this Condition 21(b)(iii) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Physical Delivery) fails to be applied, insofar as the Calculation Agent determines to be practical, the same shall be applied as between the Noteholders on a pro rata basis, but subject to such rounding down (whether of the amount of a payment or of a number of Securities to be delivered) and also to such other adjustments as the Calculation Agent determines to be appropriate to give practical effect to such provisions.

(c) Automatic Early Redemption

This Condition 21(c) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Automatic Early Redemption) is applicable only if Automatic Early Redemption Event is indicated as applicable in relevant Final Terms.

If on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date, the Automatic Early Redemption Event occurs, then unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will be automatically redeemed in whole, but not in part, on the Automatic Early Redemption Date, together with any interest accrued but unpaid thereon to the Automatic Early Redemption Date (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) immediately following such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date and the Redemption Amount payable by the Issuer on such date upon redemption of each Note shall be an amount in the relevant currency equal to the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Amount.

(d) Knock-in and Knock-out Provisions

This Condition 21(d) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Knock-in and Knock-out Provisions) is applicable only if "Knock-in Event" or "Knock-out Event" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms. If on a Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day, a Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event (respectively) occurs, then a Knock-in Amount or Knock-out Amount (respectively) becomes payable on the relevant Knock-in Amount Payment Date or Knock-out Amount Payment Date (respectively), all as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

(e) Consequences of Disrupted Days

For the purposes of this Condition 21(e) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Consequences of Disrupted Days) "Limit Valuation Date" shall mean, if any Valuation Date in respect of a Note is a Disrupted Day, the Specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days following such Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day.

- (i) If any Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day, then:
 - (A) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Security or Index, the Valuation Date shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day, **provided that** the Valuation Date shall not fall after the Limit Valuation Date. In that case:
 - (1) in respect of an Index-Linked Note, the Limit Valuation Date will be deemed to be the Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level of the Index as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date determined in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating the Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date of each security or other property comprised in the Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of the relevant security or other property on the Limit Valuation Date, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant security or other property as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date); and
 - (2) in respect of an Equity-Linked Note, the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day and the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant Security as of the Valuation Time on that Limit Valuation Date;

- (B) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the Valuation Date for each Index not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the Scheduled Valuation Date and the Valuation Date for each Index affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day which is not a Disrupted Day relating to that Index, unless each of the succeeding Scheduled Trading Days (up to and including the Limit Valuation Date) immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day relating to that Index. In that case, the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date for the relevant Index notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day relating to that Index and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level of that Index, as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating that Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date of each security or other property comprised in the relevant Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect to the relevant security or other property on the Limit Valuation Date, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant security or other property as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date); and
- (C) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the Valuation Date for each Security not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the Scheduled Valuation Date, and the Valuation Date for each Security affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day relating to that Security, unless each of the Scheduled Trading Days (up to and including the Limit Valuation Date) immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day relating to that Security. In that case, (1) the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date for the relevant Security, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and (2) the Calculation Agent shall determine its estimate of the value for that Security as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date.
- (ii) If Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms, then notwithstanding any other provisions of these Conditions, the following provisions will apply to the valuation of the relevant Index or Security:
 - (A) The Final Price or Final Index Level will be, in relation to any Valuation Date:
 - (1) in respect of a Note settled by way of Cash Settlement which relates to a single Security or Index (as the case may be), the arithmetic mean of the Reference Price of the Security or (as the case may be) of the Reference Level of the Index on each Averaging Date;
 - (2) in respect of an Index-Linked Note settled by way of Cash Settlement which relates to a basket of indices, the arithmetic mean of the amounts for such basket determined by the Calculation Agent as provided in the relevant Final Terms as of the relevant Valuation Time(s) on each Averaging Date or, if no means for determining the Final Index Level is so provided, the arithmetic mean of the amounts for such basket calculated on each Averaging Date as the sum of the Reference Level of each Index comprised in such basket (weighted or adjusted in relation to each Index as provided in the relevant Final Terms); and

- (3) in respect of an Equity-Linked Note settled by way of Cash Settlement which relates to a basket of Securities, the arithmetic mean of the prices for such basket determined by the Calculation Agent as provided in the relevant Final Terms as of the relevant Valuation Time(s) on each Averaging Date or, if no means for determining the Final Price is so provided, the arithmetic mean of the prices for such basket calculated on each Averaging Date as the sum of the values calculated for the Securities of each Underlying Company as the product of (aa) the Reference Price of such Security and (bb) the number of such Securities comprised in such basket (weighted or adjusted in relation to each Security as provided in the relevant Final Terms).
- (B) If any Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day, then, if the consequence specified in the relevant Final Terms in relation to "Averaging Date Market Disruption" is:
 - (1) "Omission", then such Averaging Date will be deemed not to be a relevant Averaging Date for purposes of determining the relevant Final Price or Final Index Level, as applicable, provided that, if through the operation of this provision no Averaging Date would occur with respect to the relevant Valuation Date, then Condition 21(e)(i) will apply for purposes of determining the relevant level, price or amount on the final Averaging Date in respect of that Valuation Date as if such final Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day. If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Valuation Date occur after that Valuation Date as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Maturity Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Instalment Date, Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), Optional Redemption Date (Put Option) or any other early redemption date in accordance with the Conditions or the relevant Settlement Date, as the case may be, or (ii) the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event or a Potential Adjustment Event shall be determined by reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Valuation Date;
 - (2)"Postponement", then Condition 21(e)(i) will apply for purposes of determining the relevant level, price or amount on that Averaging Date as if such Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day irrespective of whether, pursuant to such determination, that deferred Averaging Date would fall on a day that already is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date for the relevant Notes. If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Valuation Date occur after that Valuation Date as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Maturity Date, Instalment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), Optional Redemption Date (Put Option) or any other early redemption date in accordance with the Conditions or the relevant Settlement Date, as the case may be, or (ii) the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event or a Potential Adjustment Event shall be determined by reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Valuation Date; or

(3) "Modified Postponement", then:

(aa) in the case of a Note which relates to a single Index or Security, the Averaging Date shall be the first succeeding Valid Date. If the first succeeding Valid Date has not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the

Limit Valuation Date (as defined below) immediately following the original date that, but for the occurrence of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would have been the final Averaging Date (the "Scheduled Final Averaging Date") in relation to the relevant Scheduled Valuation Date, then the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day (irrespective of whether that Limit Valuation Date is already an Averaging Date) and:

- (i) in respect of an Index-Linked Note, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 21(e)(i)(A)(1); and
- (ii) in respect of an Equity-Linked Note, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant price for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 21(e)(i)(A)(2); and
- (bb) in the case of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the Averaging Date for each Index or Security not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the day specified in the relevant Final Terms as an Averaging Date in relation to the relevant Valuation Date (the "Scheduled Averaging Date") and the Averaging Date for an Index or Security affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Valid Date in relation to such Index or Security. If the first succeeding Valid Date in relation to such Index or Security has not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date immediately following the Scheduled Final Averaging Date, then the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date (irrespective of whether that Limit Valuation Date is already an Averaging Date) and:
 - (i) in respect of an Index, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 21(e)(i)(B); and
 - (ii) in respect of a Security, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant amount for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 21(e)(i)(C).

If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Valuation Date occur after that Valuation Date as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Maturity Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Instalment Date, an Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), an Optional Redemption Date (Put Option) or other early redemption date or Settlement Date, as the case may be, or (ii) the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event or Potential Adjustment Event shall be determined by reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Valuation Date.

For the purposes of this Condition 21(e)(ii)(B)(3) only, "Limit Valuation Date" shall mean, if any Averaging Date in respect of a Note is a Disrupted Day, the specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days following such Averaging Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day.

If a Valuation Date is postponed (x) pursuant to this Condition 21(e) (Consequences of Disrupted Days) and/or (y) as a result of it not being a Scheduled Trading Day, the Scheduled FX Fixing Date falling on or immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date may, in the Calculation Agent's discretion (i) be postponed such that the Scheduled FX Fixing Date will be deemed to occur the number of days following such postponed Valuation Date as the Scheduled FX Fixing Date would have occurred following the Scheduled Valuation Date had it not been for the postponement pursuant to this Condition 21(e) (Consequences of Disrupted Days) or as a result of a non-Scheduled Trading Day or (ii) if the Scheduled Valuation Date and Scheduled FX Fixing Date are the same date, be postponed to such postponed Valuation Date, provided, in each case, that if the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date would, as a result of this paragraph, occur on a day which is not a Relevant Currency Business Day, it will be postponed to the immediately following Relevant Currency Business Day. In respect of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the postponed Valuation Date referred to in this paragraph will be deemed to be, in respect of a Scheduled Valuation Date, the latest postponed Valuation Date occurring in respect of such Scheduled Valuation Date.

If a Valuation Date is postponed (x) in accordance with this Condition 21(e) (Consequences of Disrupted Days) and/or (y) as a result of it not being a Scheduled Trading Day, any Disrupted Day Related Payment Date will also be postponed, if needed, such that the Disrupted Day Related Payment Date shall fall at least three (3) local banking days (or such other number of local banking days as may be specified in the Final Terms) following the later of (i) the postponed Valuation Date or, if later, the Limit Valuation Date, as applicable and (ii) the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date or, if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable. In respect of a Note which relates to a basket of Indices and/or Securities, the postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date, the latest postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date, as applicable, occurring in respect of such Scheduled Valuation Date.

Unless Interest Adjustment is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of any payment postponed pursuant to this Condition 21(e) (so that, for the avoidance of doubt, any interest payable in respect of the Notes on a Disrupted Day Related Payment Date which is so postponed shall be calculated as if such Disrupted Day Related Payment Date had not been postponed pursuant to this Condition 21(e)) unless, in the case of a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Conditions, in which event interest shall continue to accrue as provided in Condition 4 (*Fixed Rate Note Provisions*), 5 (*Floating Rate Note, Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions and other variable-linked interest Note Provisions*) or 6 (*Zero Coupon Notes*), as appropriate.

(f) Adjustments to Indices

This Condition 21(f) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices) is applicable only in relation to Index-Linked Notes other than Inflation Rate-Linked Notes in relation to which Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes) shall apply.

(i) Successor Index

If a relevant Index is (A) not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor but is calculated and published by a successor to the Index Sponsor acceptable to the Calculation Agent, or (B) replaced by a successor index using, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, the same or a substantially similar formula for and method of calculation as used in the calculation of that Index, then in each case that Index (the "Successor Index") will be deemed to be the Index.

(ii) Index Modification

If on or prior to any Valuation Date, Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date or Averaging Date, a relevant Index Sponsor announces that it will make a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating that Index or in any other way materially modifies that Index (other than a modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain that Index in the event of changes in constituent stock and capitalisation or other routine events) (an "Index Modification"), then the Calculation Agent shall determine whether such Index Modification has a material effect on the Notes, and if so, shall make such adjustment(s) (if any) as it determines appropriate to account for the economic effect of the Index Modification with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholder in substantially the same economic position as prior to the relevant Index Modification, and determine the effective date of any such modification or adjustment.

(iii) Index Cancellation

If on or prior to any Valuation Date, Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date or Averaging Date (A) the Index Sponsor fails to calculate and announce a relevant Index, (B) the Index Sponsor announces that it suspends the calculation and publication of the level of a relevant Index, or (C) the Index Sponsor permanently cancels the Index and no Successor Index exists (each an "Index Cancellation"), then:

- (1) the Issuer shall as soon as is reasonably practicable after determining the same give notice (an "**Index Cancellation Notice**") of such Index Cancellation to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*);
- (2) if Index Substitution is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall (acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner), determine whether or not and the date as of which the Index is to be substituted with a Substitute Index and, if it so determines, it shall give an Index Substitution Notice to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 14 (*Notices*) and, with effect from the date so determined, the Substitute Index shall be deemed to be the Index; and
- (3) if no Substitute Index has been identified within ten Business Days of the giving of such Index Cancellation Notice or if Index Substitution has not been specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall (acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner), determine whether or not the relevant Notes shall continue and:
 - (A) if it determines that the Notes shall continue, then the Calculation Agent shall determine the Final Index Level for such Valuation Date, Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date or the Reference Level for such Averaging Date, as the

case may be using, in lieu of a published level of that Index, the level for that Index as at that Valuation Date, Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date or Averaging Date (as applicable) as determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating that Index last in effect prior to the Index Cancellation, but using only those components that comprised that Index immediately prior to that Index Cancellation; and

(B) if it determines that continuation of the Notes is impossible or would result in a significant alteration to the economic balance of the Notes compared to that which existed at the Issue Date, the Issuer shall terminate the relevant Notes as of the date selected by the Issuer and give notice thereof to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 14 (Notices), specifying the Early Redemption Amount and early redemption date, and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer, as the case may be) shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes.

For these purposes:

"Index Substitution Notice" means a notice specifying a Substitute Index to be substituted for the Index and the date as of which such substitution is to take effect; and

"Substitute Index" means, in respect of an Index, a successor index identified by the Calculation Agent using commercially reasonable efforts, with characteristics, objectives and rules similar to the Index in effect immediately prior to the occurrence of the Index Cancellation with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholders in substantially the same economic position as prior to the relevant Index Cancellation.

(iv) Correction of Index Levels

If the level of an Index published by the Index Sponsor at any time and used or to be used by the Calculation Agent for any calculation or determination under the Notes is subsequently corrected and the correction is published by the Index Sponsor after the original publication, the Calculation Agent will make such adjustment as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the settlement or payment terms of the Notes to account for such correction **provided that** if any amount has been paid in an amount which exceeds the amount that would have been payable if the correction had been taken into account, no further amount in an amount at least equal to the excess is payable in respect of the Notes and the Calculation Agent determines that it is not practicable to make such an adjustment to account fully for such correction, the Issuer shall be entitled to reimbursement of the relevant excess payment (or, as the case may be, the proportion thereof not accounted for by an adjustment made by the Calculation Agent) by the relevant Noteholder, together with interest on that amount for the period from and including the day on which payment was originally made to (but excluding) the day of payment of reimbursement by the Noteholder (all as calculated by the Calculation Agent). Any such reimbursement shall be effected in such manner as the Issuer shall determine.

(g) Adjustments and Events affecting Securities

This Condition 21(g) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments and Events affecting Securities) is applicable only in relation to Equity-Linked Notes.

(i) Potential Adjustment Events

The Calculation Agent shall determine whether or not at any time a Potential Adjustment Event has occurred and where it determines such an event has occurred, the Calculation Agent will determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Securities and, if so, will make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the formula for the Final Redemption Amount or any amount of interest set out in the relevant Final Terms, the number of Securities to which each Note relates, the number of Securities comprised in a basket, the amount, the number of or type of shares, other securities or other property which may be delivered pursuant to such Notes and/or any other adjustment(s) and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the settlement or payment terms of the relevant Notes as the Calculation Agent determines to be appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative effect with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholder in substantially the same economic position as prior to the relevant Potential Adjustment Event, and determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s).

(ii) Extraordinary Events

- (A) Following the occurrence of any Extraordinary Event, the Issuer will determine whether or not the relevant Notes shall continue and, if so, determine any adjustments to be made. If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholders in substantially the same economic position as prior to the relevant Extraordinary Event, if any, to the formula for the Final Redemption Amount or any amount of interest set out in the relevant Final Terms, the number of Securities to which each Note relates, the number of Securities comprised in a basket, the amount, the number of or type of shares, other securities or other property which may be delivered pursuant to such Notes and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the settlement or payment terms of the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment which change or adjustment shall be effective on such date selected by the Calculation Agent, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.
- (B) If the Issuer determines that continuation of the Notes is impossible or would result in a significant alteration to the economic balance of the Notes compared to that which existed at the Issue Date (in each case, after having taken into account any possible adjustment pursuant to paragraph (A) above), then the Notes shall be terminated as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount or Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer) as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes.

(iii) Conversion

In respect of an Equity-Linked Note, following the occurrence of any Conversion, the Issuer will determine whether or not the Notes will continue and, if so, determine any adjustment(s) to be made. If the Issuer determines that

the Notes shall continue, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate with a view to producing a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholders in substantially the same economic position as prior to the Conversion, if any, to the formula for the Final Redemption Amount or any amount of interest set out in the relevant Final Terms, the number of Securities to which each Note relates, the number of Securities comprised in a basket, the amount, number of or type of shares, other securities or other property which may be delivered under such Notes and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the settlement or payment terms of the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment and determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s). If the Issuer determines that continuation of the Notes is impossible or would result in a significant alteration to the economic balance of the Notes compared to that which existed at the Issue Date (in each case, after having taken into account any possible adjustment pursuant to this paragraph), then the Notes shall be terminated as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount or Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer), as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes.

(iv) Correction of Prices

In the event that any price published or announced on a given day and utilised or to be utilised for the purpose of any calculation or determination under the Notes is subsequently corrected and the correction is published or announced by the Exchange within one Settlement Cycle after the original publication, the Calculation Agent will make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the amount payable in respect of the Notes and their terms to account for such correction and the Calculation Agent shall determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s) provided that if any amount has been paid in an amount which exceeds the amount that would have been payable if the correction had been taken into account, no further amount in an amount at least equal to the excess is payable in respect of the Notes and the Calculation Agent determines that it is not practicable to make such an adjustment to account fully for such correction, the Issuer shall be entitled to reimbursement of the relevant excess payment (or, as the case may be, the proportion thereof not accounted for by an adjustment made by the Calculation Agent) by the relevant Noteholder, together with interest on that amount for the period from and including the day on which payment was originally made to (but excluding) the day of payment of reimbursement by the Noteholder (all as calculated by the Calculation Agent). Any such reimbursement shall be effected in such manner as the Issuer shall determine.

(h) Additional Disruption Events

Following the occurrence of any Additional Disruption Event, the Issuer will (A) determine whether or not the relevant Notes shall continue and, if so, the Calculation Agent shall determine any adjustments to be made with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholder in substantially the same economic position as prior to the relevant Additional Disruption Event. If the Issuer determines that the relevant Notes shall continue, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the formula for the Final Redemption Amount or any amount of interest set out in the relevant Final Terms, the number of Securities to which each Note relates, the number of Securities comprised in a basket, the amount, the number of or type of shares, other securities or other property which may be delivered pursuant to such Notes and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the settlement or payment terms of the relevant Notes and/or any other adjustment which change or adjustment shall be effective on such date selected by the Calculation Agent.

(B) If the Issuer determines that the continuation of the Notes is impossible or would result in a significant alteration to the economic balance of the Notes compared to that which existed at the Issue Date (in each case, after having taken into account any possible adjustment pursuant to paragraph (A) above), then the Notes shall be terminated as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount or Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer), as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes.

For the purposes any Series of Notes, "Additional Disruption Event" means any event specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, and for such purpose the following terms if so specified shall be deemed to have the following meanings unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms:

- (i) "Change in Law" means, in relation to any Notes, on or after the Issue Date, (A) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including without limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the Issuer determines (in its sole and absolute discretion) that (x) it will, or it will with the passing of time, or it has become illegal for the Issuer to issue, have outstanding and/or perform its obligations with respect to the Notes or (y) the Issuer will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Notes (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on its tax position or due to any regulation, rule or other regulatory action of any regulator of the Issuer in respect of the Notes);
- (ii) "Failure to Deliver" means the failure of a party to deliver, when due, the relevant Securities in respect of the Notes, where such failure is due to illiquidity in the market for such Securities; and
- (iii) "Insolvency Filing" means that the issuer of the Securities institutes or has instituted against it by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, or it consents to a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official or it consents to such petition, provided that proceedings instituted or petitions presented by creditors and not consented to by the issuer of the Securities shall not be deemed an Insolvency Filing.

(i) Adjustments where the Securities are Units in an ETF

Where the Securities are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being Units in an ETF, in the case of the occurrence at any time on or prior to the Valuation Date of any Extraordinary Event affecting the ETF or the value of the Units, the Calculation Agent may make any adjustment as provided in the preceding provisions of this Condition 21 (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes) or:

- (i) if the Calculation Agent determines that no adjustment that it could make under the preceding provisions of this Condition 21 (*Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes*) would produce a commercially reasonable result:
 - (a) the Calculation Agent will use commercially reasonable efforts to identify a new underlying asset with characteristics, investment

objectives and policies similar to those in effect for the Affected Units immediately prior to the occurrence of the relevant Extraordinary Event and any substitution of the new underlying asset for the Affected Units shall be effected at such time and in such manner as determined by the Calculation Agent; and

(b) if necessary, the Calculation Agent will adjust any relevant terms, including, but not limited to, adjustments to account for changes in volatility, investment strategy or liquidity relevant to the Units or the Notes.

in each case with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholder in substantially the same economic position as prior to the Extraordinary Event; or

(ii) if the Calculation Agent determines that the continuation of the Notes is impossible or would result in a significant alteration to the economic balance of the Notes compared to that which existed at the Issue Date (in each case, after having taken into account any possible adjustment pursuant to paragraph (i) above), then the Notes shall be terminated as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent in its discretion and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Securities Transfer Amount or Final Redemption Amount any accrued interest, as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes.

In this Condition 21(i) (*Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments where the Securities are Units in an ETF*) "**Affected Unit(s)**" means each Unit subject to an applicable Extraordinary Event.

(j) Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes

With respect to Inflation Rate-linked Notes, the following provisions shall apply in lieu of Condition 21(f) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices):

(A) Definitions

In this Condition:

"Base Level" means the level of the Index (excluding any "flash" estimates) published or announced by the Inflation Index Sponsor in respect of the month which is 12 calendar months prior to the month for which the Substitute Index Level is being determined;

"Fallback Bond" means a bond selected by the Calculation Agent and issued by the government or one of the governments (but not any government agency) of the country (or countries) to whose level of inflation the relevant Index relates and which pays a coupon and/or redemption amount which is calculated by reference to the Index, with a maturity date which falls on the same day as the Maturity Date or such other date as the Calculation Agent shall select if there is no such bond maturing on the Maturity Date. If any bond so selected is redeemed, the Calculation Agent will select a new Fallback Bond on the same basis, but selected from all eligible bonds in issue at the time the original Fallback Bond is redeemed (including any bond for which the redeemed bond is exchanged);

"Inflation Index Level" means the level of the Index first published or announced for the relevant Reference Month on the Relevant Screen Page, as determined by the Calculation Agent, subject to this Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes);

"Inflation Index Sponsor" means, the inflation index sponsor specified as such in the Final Terms(being the entity that publishes or announces (directly or through an agent) the level of the Index) and any successor sponsor of such Index as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Latest Level" means the latest level of the Index (excluding any "flash" estimates) published or announced by the Inflation Index Sponsor prior to the month in respect of which the Substitute Index Level is being calculated;

"Reference Level" means the level of the Index (excluding any "flash" estimates) published or announced by the Inflation Index Sponsor in respect of the month that is 12 calendar months prior to the month referred to in "Latest Level" above;

"Reference Month" means the calendar month for which the level of the Index was reported, regardless of when this information is published or amended. If the period for which the level of the Index was reported is a period other than a month, the Reference Month is the period for which the level of the Index was reported;

"Related Bond" means, the bond specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms and if no bond is specified as the Related Bond, the Related Bond shall be the Fallback Bond. If the bond specified to be the Related Bond redeems or matures during the term of the Inflation Rate-linked Notes, following such redemption or maturity the Related Bond shall be the Fallback Bond;

"Relevant Screen Page" means the page, section or other part of a particular information service specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying the level of the Index; and

"Substitute Index Level" means the level of the Index, determined by the Calculation Agent pursuant to paragraph (B) below.

(B) Delay of Publication

If the Inflation Index Level for a Reference Month which is relevant to the calculation of an amount payable in respect of Inflation Rate-linked Notes (a "Relevant Level") has not been published or announced on the Relevant Screen Page by the day that is five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Instalment Date, Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), other early redemption date or Maturity Date, as the case may be (the "Affected Payment Date"), the Calculation Agent shall determine a "Substitute Index Level" (in place of such Relevant Level) by using the following methodology:

- (i) If Related Bond is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will take the same action to determine the Substitute Index Level for the Affected Payment Date as that taken by the calculation agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond;
- (ii) If (A) Related Bond is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms; or (B) the Calculation Agent is unable to determine the Substitute Index Level under (i) above for the Affected Payment Date for any reason, then the Calculation Agent shall determine the Substitute Index Level as follows:

Substitite Index Level=Base Level × (Latest Level / Reference Level)

If a Relevant Level is published or announced at any time after the day that is five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, Automatic Early Redemption Date, Instalment Date, Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), other early redemption date or Maturity Date, as the case may be, such Relevant Level will not be used in any calculations and instead the Substitute Index Level so determined pursuant to this Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes) will be the definitive level for the relevant Reference Month.

(C) Cessation of Publication

If a level of the Index has not been published or announced on the Relevant Screen Page for two consecutive months and/or the Inflation Index Sponsor announces that it will no longer continue to publish or announce the Index, then the Calculation Agent shall determine a Successor Index (in lieu of any previously applicable Index) for the purposes of the Notes by using the following methodology:

- (i) if at any time (other than after the designation by the Calculation Agent of a date for the early redemption of the Notes pursuant to paragraph (iv) below) a successor index has been designated by the calculation agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond, such successor index shall be designated a "Successor Index" for the purposes of all subsequent determinations of interest payable and/or of an Early Redemption Amount or of the Final Redemption Amount, notwithstanding that any other Successor Index may previously have been determined under the other subsections of this Condition 21(j) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes);
- (ii) if: (1) a Successor Index has not been determined under paragraph (i) above; (2) there has been no designation of a date for the early redemption of the Notes by the Calculation Agent pursuant to paragraph (iv) below; (3) a notice has been given or an announcement has been made by the Inflation Index Sponsor, specifying that the Index will be superseded by a replacement index specified by the Inflation Index Sponsor; and (4) the Calculation Agent determines that such replacement index is calculated using the same or substantially similar formula or method of calculation as used in the calculation of the previously applicable Index, then such replacement index shall be deemed to be the "Successor Index" for the purposes of the Notes from the date that such replacement Index comes into effect;
- (iii) if a Successor Index has not been determined by the Calculation Agent under paragraph (i) or (ii) above (and there has been no designation by the Calculation Agent of a date for the early redemption of the Notes pursuant to paragraph (iv) below), the Calculation Agent will determine an appropriate alternative index for such relevant Valuation Date with a view to produce a commercially reasonable result which will put the Issuer and the Noteholders in substantially the same economic position as prior to the cessation of publication, and such index will be deemed a "Successor Index"; and
- (iv) if the Calculation Agent determines that there is no appropriate alternative index, then the Issuer may redeem or cancel all but not some only of the Notes on the date selected by the Calculation Agent at the Early Redemption Amount.

The Issuer shall notify the Noteholders of any Successor Index determined pursuant to this Condition 21(j)(C) (Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Notes – Cessation of Publication).

(D) Rebasing of the Index

If the Calculation Agent determines that the Index has been or will be rebased at any time, the Index as so rebased (the "Rebased Index") will be used for purposes of determining the level of an Index from the date of such rebasing; provided, however, that the Calculation Agent shall make such adjustments as are made by the calculation agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond, if any, to the levels of the Rebased Index so that the Rebased Index levels reflect the same rate of inflation as the Index before it was rebased. If there is no Related Bond, the Calculation Agent shall make adjustments to the levels of the Rebased Index so that the Rebased Index levels reflect the same rate of inflation as the Index before it was rebased. Any such rebasing shall not affect any prior payments made under the Notes.

I Material Modification

If, on or prior to the day that is five Business Days before the next date which is an Interest Payment Date, the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Date, an Instalment Date, the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), any other early redemption date or the Maturity Date (as the case may be), an Inflation Index Sponsor announces that it will make a material change to an Index, then the Calculation Agent shall make any such adjustments to the Index and/or the terms of the Notes consistent with adjustments made to the Related Bond, or, if there is no Related Bond, only those adjustments necessary for the modified Index to continue as the Index.

(F) Manifest Error in Publication

If, within thirty days of publication, but no later than the fifth Business Day prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, relevant Automatic Early Redemption Date, an Instalment Date, the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call Option), the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put Option), any other early redemption date or the Maturity Date, as the case may be, the Calculation Agent determines that the Inflation Index Sponsor has corrected the level of the Index to remedy a manifest error in its original publication, the Calculation Agent will take such action as it may deem necessary and practicable to give effect to such correction.

(k) Events relating to DR-Linked Notes

In relation to DR-Linked Notes only, if a Delisting of the Securities occurs or the Depository announces that the Deposit Agreement is (or will be) (or is at any time, whether or not announced by the Depository) terminated, then the Issuer will determine whether or not the Notes shall continue. If the Issuer determines that:

- (i) the Notes shall continue, it shall elect whether the Security shall thereafter be (x) the Replacement DRs or the Underlying Security and the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the terms of the Notes (including, without limitation, any change to the notional number of Securities or/or the formula for the Final Redemption Amount) to reflect such election, and which change or adjustment(s) shall be effective on such date selected by the Calculation Agent; or
- (ii) the continuation of the Notes is impossible or would result in a significant alteration to the economic balance of the Notes compared to that which existed at the Issue Date (in each case after having taken into account any possible

adjustment pursuant to paragraph (i) above), then the Notes shall be terminated as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the entitlements of the relevant Noteholders to receive the relevant Final Redemption Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer) as the case may be, shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Notes shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes.

(1) Notes Linked to Units in an ETF – General

If the relevant Final Terms specify that the Securities in relation to a Series of Notes are Units in an ETF, then this Condition 21 (*Additional Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Notes and Index-Linked Notes*) shall apply to the Notes as if references therein to "Underlying Company" were references to the "ETF" and as if references therein to "Security" were references to "Unit".

PRO FORMA FINAL TERMS FOR NOTES

FINAL TERMS

Final Terms dated [•]

HSBC Bank plc

(A company incorporated in England with registered number 14259; the liability of its members is limited)

Programme for the Issuance of Notes and Warrants

[Further] Issue of

[Aggregate Principal Amount of Tranche]

[Title of Notes]

[(to be consolidated and form a single series with the existing [Insert details of existing Tranche(s)]) issued pursuant to HSBC Bank plc's Programme for the Issuance of Notes and Warrants]

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

This document constitutes the final terms (the "**Final Terms**") relating to the issue of the Tranche of Notes described herein and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated 9 December 2020 as supplemented from time to time (the "**Base Prospectus**"). The Base Prospectus is a base prospectus in accordance with Art. 35 para. 1 of the Financial Services Act ("**FinSA**") and has been evaluated and approved pursuant to Art. 51 et seq. of the FinSA and Art. 59 et seq. of the Financial Services Ordinance ("**FinSO**") by the reviewing body SIX Exchange Regulation AG ("**Reviewing Body**"). Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Notes (the "**Conditions**") set forth in the Base Prospectus. The Alternative Note General Conditions [do not] apply to the Notes.

Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus is available for viewing at HSBC Bank plc, 8 Canada Square, London E14 5HQ, United Kingdom and www.hsbc.com (please follow the links to 'Investors', 'Fixed income investors' 'Issuance programmes') and copies may be obtained from HSBC Bank plc, 8 Canada Square, London E14 5HQ, United Kingdom.

The Base Prospectus does not comprise (i) a prospectus for the purposes of Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) or (ii) a base prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation"). The Base Prospectus has been prepared solely with regard to Notes that are not to be admitted to listing or trading on any regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended) and not to be offered to the public in the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom (other than pursuant to one or more of the exemptions set out in the Prospectus Regulation).

[PRIIPS REGULATION - PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS -

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("**EEA**") or in the United Kingdom (the "**UK**"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "**MiFID II**"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the "**Insurance Distribution Directive**"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "**PRIIPs Regulation**") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA or in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA or in the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]

The Notes do not constitute a collective investment scheme as defined in the Federal Collective Investment Schemes Act ("CISA") and are therefore neither governed by the CISA nor subject to supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA). Accordingly, Noteholders do not have the benefit of the specific investor protection provided under the CISA. Noteholders bear the issuer risk.

It is advisable that investors considering acquiring any Notes understand the risks of transactions involving the Notes and it is advisable that they reach an investment decision after carefully considering, with their financial, legal, regulatory, tax, accounting and other advisers, the suitability of the Notes in light of their particular circumstances (including without limitation their own financial circumstances and investment objectives and the impact the Notes will have on their overall investment portfolio) and the information contained in the Base Prospectus and these Final Terms. Investors should consider carefully the risk factors set forth under "Risk Factors" in the Base Prospectus.

(Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or sub-paragraphs. Italics denote guidance for completing the Final Terms.)

1.	Issuer:		HSBC Bank plc
2.	Tranche	e number:	[]
	details	agible with an existing Series, of that Series, including the date the Notes become fungible).]	
3.	Currence	ey:	
	(i)	Settlement Currency:	[] [subject to Condition 9(i) (Payments – Conversion)]
	(ii)	Denomination Currency:	[specify/Settlement Currency]
4.	Aggregate Principal Amount:		
	[(i)	Series:]	[]
	[(ii)	Tranche:]	[]
5.	[Princip	oal Protected Amount:	Not applicable] [[] per cent. of the Aggregate Principal Amount] [Accreted Principal Amount] ²]
6.	Issue Price:		[[] per cent. of the Aggregate Principal Amount] [plus accrued interest from [insert date] (in the case of fungible interest-bearing issues only, if applicable)] [An amount as determined by the Calculation Agent equal to [] per cent. of the Aggregate Principal Amount converted into the Settlement Currency at a rate of exchange of [].]
7.	(i)	Denomination(s):	[] ³
	(Condi	tion 2)	

260794-785545262-15640-v10.0 - 235 - 70-41005938

² The Accreted Principal Amount should be included for any Zero-Coupon Notes that are principal protected Notes.

If denominations in excess of and smaller than the minimum specified denomination are to be permitted then the Issuer's right to exchange (i) the Permanent Global Note for definitive Notes in paragraph (c) of the Permanent Global Note - see item 22(iii) below or (ii) the Global Registered Note for Definitive Notes in paragraph (d) of the Global Registered Note - see item 24(ii) below (as applicable) - should not apply.

	(ii)	Calculation Amount ⁴ :	[]
	(iii)	Aggregate Outstanding Nominal Amount Rounding:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
8.	(i)	Issue Date:	[]
	(ii)	Interest Commencement Date:	[specify] [Issue Date] [Not applicable]
	(iii)	Trade Date:	[]
9.	Maturity	y Date:	[Specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest
	(Conditi	ion 7(a))	Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month and year. In case of undated Notes, specify undated.] [adjusted in accordance with [specify] [Business Day Convention and any applicable Business Centre(s)] for the definition of "Business Day"]
10.	Change	of interest or redemption basis:	[Specify details of any provision for convertibility of Notes to another interest or redemption/payment basis]
PROVIS	SIONS R	RELATING TO INTEREST (IF	ANY) PAYABLE
11.	Fixed (Conditi	Rate Note provisions:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Rate(s) of Interest:	[] per cent. [per annum] [] [payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear] []
	(ii)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[dd/mm, dd/mm, dd/mm and dd/mm] [in each year]
			[adjusted in accordance with [specify] [Business Day Convention and any applicable Business Centre(s)] for the definition of "Business Day"] / [not adjusted]
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount(s):	[[] per Calculation Amount] [Not applicable]
	(iv)	Day Count Fraction:	[30/360 / Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA) / Not applicable / other (specify)]
	(v)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/ Not applicable / other (give details)]
	(vi)	Business Centre(s):	[Not applicable/give details]

260794-785545262-15640-v10.0 - 236 - 70-41005938

The applicable Calculation Amount (which is used for the calculation of redemption and interest amounts (if any)) will be (i) if there is only one Denomination, the Denomination; or (ii) if there are several Denominations, the highest common factor of those Denominations. Note that a Calculation Amount of less than 1,000 units of the relevant currency may result in practical difficulties for Paying Agents and/or ICSDs who should be consulted if such an amount is proposed.

	(vii)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:		[Not applicable/give details] (Consider if day count fraction, particularly for Euro denominated issues, should be on an Actual/Actual basis)
12.		(Condition 5)		[Applicable] [Not applicable]
	(Condi			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph.)
	(i)			[specify]
	(ii)	Interes	st Payment Dates:	[Not applicable – Floating Rate Convention applies] [specify dates]
	(iii)	Business Day Convention:		[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/ other (give details)]
	(iv)	Busin	ess Centre(s):	[Not applicable/give details]
	(v)	Scree	n Rate Determination:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
		(1)	Reference Rate:	[[•] month] [specify LIBOR or other]
		(2)	Interest Determination Date(s):	[]
		(3)	Relevant Screen Page:	[]
		(4)	Alternative Prenominated Index:	[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details] [Not applicable]
		(5)	Relevant Financial Centre:	[]
		(6)	Relevant Time:	[]
		(7)	Relevant Currency:	[]
	(vi) Observation Look-back Period:		vation Look-back Period:	[][Not applicable]
	(vii)	ISDA	Determination:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
		(1)	Floating Rate Option:	[]
		(2)	Designated Maturity:	[]
		(3)	Reset Date:	[]
		(4)	Alternative Prenominated Index:	[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details] [Not applicable]
	(vii)		ndexed Overnight Rate nination:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
		(1)	Reference Rate:	[SONIA] [SOFR] [€STR]

Select applicable option. "Specified Period" will only be applicable where Floating Rate Convention is applicable. In all other cases, select "Interest Period(s)".

260794-785545262-15640-v10.0 - 237 - 70-41005938

(2) Interest Determination [•] [][prior to the [The][first] day of each Interest Date(s): Period]] [The [second][] [Business Day][•] falling prior to Interest Payment Date][Each Interest Payment Date, provided that in respect of the final Interest Period, the Interest Determination Date shall be the [second][] [Business Day][•] falling prior to Interest Payment Date ([not] taking into account any adjustment made pursuant to Condition 9 (Payments)) – use for Payment Delay only] (3) Determination [Compound Daily Rate][Weighted Average Rate] Method: (4) Observation Method: [Observation Shift][Lag][Lock-Out][Payment Delay] [Standard Shift][IDD Shift] Observation Shift Option [Specific where Observation Shift is applicable]: (5) Y: [360 – likely to be specified for GBP][365 -likely to *be specified for USD*][•] "p": (6)[Specify if Observation Shift (Standard Shift) or Lag are applicable][Not Applicable] ARRC Fallbacks: [Applicable] [Not Applicable] – *May be applicable* (7) if SOFR is the Reference Rate only [[•] per cent. per annum – Specify only where ARRC Initial Interest fallbacks apply] Rate: Effective [In respect of each Interest Period other than the (8)Interest final Interest Period, the date falling [two][•] Payment Dates: [Business Days][•] following the Interest Payment Date, and in respect of the final Interest Period, the Maturity Date or redemption date (as applicable) of the Notes. - include if Payment Delay is specified][Not Applicable] (9)[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index Alternative Prenominated Index: details] [Not applicable] Linear Interpolation: [Not applicable] [Applicable – the Rate of Interest (viii) for the Interest Period ending on the Interest Payment Date falling in [] shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation] Margin(s):] per cent. [per annum]] [Not applicable] Day Count Fraction: [30/360/Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA)/Actual/360/ other (specify)] Minimum Interest Rate: \prod] per cent. [[per annum] [Not applicable] Maximum Interest Rate:] per cent. [] [per annum]] [Not applicable] [[

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

	(xiii)	Fall-back provisions, rounding provisions, denominator and any other terms relating to the method of calculating interest on Floating Rate Notes, if different from those set out in the Conditions:	[][Where ISDA Determination is specified, determine whether any Fallback supplement should be deemed to apply to ISDA Transaction]
	(xiv)	Interest Determination Date(s):	[•] [[][prior to the [The][first] day of each Interest Period]] [The [second][] [Business Day][•] falling prior to Interest Payment Date][Each Interest Payment Date, provided that in respect of the final Interest Period, the Interest Determination Date shall be the [second][] [Business Day][•] falling prior to Interest Payment Date ([not] taking into account any adjustment made pursuant to Condition 9 (Payments)) [use for Payment Delay only]
13.	Zero C (Condi	Coupon Note provisions: tion 6)	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Accrual Yield:	[[] per cent [per annum]]
	(ii)	Zero Coupon Note Reference Price:	[]
	(iii)	Day Count Fraction in relation to Early Redemption Amounts and last payments:	[]
14.		-/Index-Linked Interest Note and	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
	other provisi	variable-linked interest Note ons:	(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Index/formula/other variable:	[give or annex details – if appropriate, cross-refer to the definition of Valuation Date in paragraph 31 below]
	(ii)	Provisions for determining interest where calculated by reference to Equity/Index and/or formula and/or other variable:	[]
	(iii)	Provisions for determining interest where calculation by reference to Equity/Index and/or formula and/or other variable is impossible or impracticable or otherwise disrupted:	[] [Need to include a description of market disruption or settlement disruption events and adjustment provisions]
	(iv)	Interest or calculation period(s):	[]
	(v)	Interest Payment Dates:	[]
	(vi)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day

			Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)]
	(vii)	Business Centre(s):	[]
	(viii)	Minimum Interest Rate:	[[] per cent. [per annum]]
	(ix)	Maximum Interest Rate:	[[] per cent. [per annum]]
	(x)	Day Count Fraction:	[]
PROV	ISIONS	RELATING TO REDEMPTION	1
15.	Issuer's	1 `	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
	Option (Condi): tion 7(c))	(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Redemption Amount (Call Option):	[[] per Calculation Amount (specify — if not par, also specify details of any formula)] [Fair Market Value]
	(ii)	Series redeemable in part:	[[] per Calculation Amount (specify — otherwise redemption will only be permitted of entire Series)] [Fair Market Value]
	(iii)	Optional Redemption Date (Call Option):	[]
	(iv) Minimum Redemption Amount (Call Option):		[[] per Calculation Amount (specify — if not par, also specify details of any formula)] [Fair Market Value] [Not applicable]
	(v)	Maximum Redemption Amount (Call Option):	[[] per Calculation Amount (specify — if not par, also specify details of any formula)] [Fair Market Value] [Not applicable]
16.		older's optional redemption (Put	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
	Option (Condi): tion 7(d))	(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph
	(i)	Redemption Amount (Put Option):	[[] per Calculation Amount / (specify — if not par, also specify details of any formula)] [Fair Market Value]
	(ii)	Optional Redemption Date (Put Option):	[]
	(iii)	Minimum Redemption Amount (Put Option):	[[] per Calculation Amount / (specify — if not par, also specify details of any formula)] [Fair Market Value] [Not applicable]
	(iv)	Maximum Redemption Amount (Put Option):	[[] per Calculation Amount / (specify — if not par, also specify details of any formula)] [Fair Market Value] [Not applicable]
17.		Redemption Amount of each Note: tion 7(a))	[[] per Calculation Amount (specify — if not par, also specify details of any formula)]
18.		Redemption Amount of each Note es where the Final Redemption	[Applicable] [Not applicable]

(i) Index/formula/other variable: [give annex details] (ii) Provisions for determining Final Redemption Amount where calculated by reference to Index and/or formula and/or other variable; (iii) Provisions for determining [Need to include a description of market disruption Final Redemption Amount or settlement disruption events and adjustment where calculation by reference provisions] to Equity Index and/or formula and/or other variable is impossible or impracticable or otherwise disrupted: Minimum Final Redemption [] (iv) Amount: Maximum Final Redemption [] (v) Amount: 19. **Instalment Notes:** [Applicable] [Not applicable] (Condition 7(a)) (If not applicable, delete the remaining *sub-paragraphs of this paragraph*) Instalment Date(s) and corresponding Instalment Date Instalment Amount Instalment: [] [] Early Redemption: Redemption Amount [[100] per cent. of the Calculation Amount] [Fair (i) Early (upon redemption for taxation Market Value 1 [Market Value 2] [Principal Protected Amount] [Highest Value reasons or illegality): (Condition 7(b) or 7(f)) (Vanilla] [Highest Value (Structured)] [Accreted Principal Amount] [other (specify details)] [[100] per cent. of the Calculation Amount] [Fair (ii) Redemption Amount (upon redemption following an Market Value] [other (specify details)] Event of Default): (Condition 11) (iii) [Early Redemption Amount [[100] per cent. of the Calculation Amount] [Fair (upon redemption following an Market Value] [other (specify details)]] FX Disruption Event or a Benchmark Trigger Event): (Condition 9(e)(Y) or 15A) [Early Redemption Amount (in [[100] per cent. of the Calculation Amount] [Fair (v) Market Value 1] [Market Value 2] case of other events giving rise

Amount is Equity-Linked, Index-Linked

or other variable-linked:

Principal Amount]]

[Applicable] [Not applicable]]

[Principal Protected Amount] [Highest Value

(Vanilla] [Highest Value (Structured)] [Accreted

to the determination of an Early

Redemption Amount (other than

Force Majeure))

[Monetisation Option

(v)

(iv) Other redemption provisions: [Specify] [Not applicable] [If the Notes are rated,

specify: Early Redemption for Impracticability is

not applicable]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

20. Form of Notes: (Condition 2(a))

[Bearer Notes/Registered Notes]

21. [New Global Note] [(delete if Registered Note)]/ Issued under the new safekeeping structure [(delete if Bearer Note)]:

[Yes/No]

22. If issued in bearer form:

(i) Initially represented by a Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note:

[Temporary] [Permanent] Global Note

(ii) Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Note and/or Definitive Notes:

(Condition 2(a))

[Yes] [No] [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes only in limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note] [(specify)]

(iii) Permanent Global Note exchangeable at the option of the Issuer in circumstances where the Issuer would suffer material disadvantage following a change of law or regulation:

[Yes] [No] [If no, specify: Paragraph (c) of the Permanent Global Note does not apply. The Issuer may not elect to exchange a Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes in the circumstances described in paragraph (c) of the Permanent Global Note.]

(iv) Coupons to be attached to Definitive Notes:⁶

[Yes] [No] [Not applicable]

[N.B. This will need to be considered even if Permanent Global Notes are not exchangeable at the bearer's option into Definitive Notes because of exchangeability upon "melt down" of clearing systems - see provisions contained in Permanent Global Note]

(v) Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive Notes:⁷

[Yes] [No] [Not applicable]

[N.B. The above comment also applies here]

23. Exchange Date for exchange of Temporary Global Note:

[Not earlier than 40 days after the Issue Date] [(specify)]

24. If issued in registered form:

[Applicable] [Not applicable]

(i) Initially represented by:

Regulation S Global Registered Note

[(ii) Regulation S Global Registered Note exchangeable at the option of the Issuer in circumstances where the Issuer would suffer a material disadvantage following a change of law or regulation: [Yes] [No. Paragraph (d) of the Regulation S Global Registered Note does not apply. The Issuer may not elect to exchange a Regulation S Global Registered Note for Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes in the circumstances described in

260794-785545262-15640-v10.0 - 242 - 70-41005938

⁶ Definitive Notes will typically have coupons attached to them if interest bearing.

⁷ Talons will be needed if there are 27 or more coupons.

paragraph (d) of the Regulation S Global Registered Note

25.	Payments: (Condition 9)			
	(i)	Relevant Financial Centre Day:	[specify all places]	
	(ii)	Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]	
		• Cross Currency Exchange Rate:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]	
		• Cross Currency:	[] (delete if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is not applicable)	
		• Cross Currency Jurisdiction:	[] (delete if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is not applicable)	
		• Settlement Currency Jurisdiction:	[]	
		• Alternative Payment Currency:	[]	
		• Alternative Payment Currency Jurisdiction:	[]	
		• Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page:	[]	
		• Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time:	[]	
		• Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date:	[] [Condition 1 applies] [The relevant [jurisdictions/places] for the purposes of the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date are []]	
		• Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions:	[] [Not applicable]	
		 Additional Alternative Payment Currency Event: 	[]	
		Offshore RMB Centre:	[Hong Kong] [Taiwan] [Singapore] [] [Not applicable]	
		• Alternative Prenominated Index:	[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details] [Not applicable]	
	(iii)	Conversion provisions:	[Applicable in respect of [[interest payments under the Notes][Final Redemption Amount] [Early Redemption Amount] [Redemption Amount (Call Option)] [Redemption Amount (Put Option)] [Instalment Amount][other]] [the Conversion Rate	

is [] [specify further Conversion provisions] [Not applicable] [Applicable] [Not applicable] Cross Currency Exchange Rate: [] Cross Currency: Cross Currency Jurisdiction: [in respect of [[interest payments under the Notes] Conversion Rate [Final Redemption Amount] [Early Redemption **Business Days:** Amount [Redemption Amount (Call Option)] [Redemption Amount (Put Option)] [Instalment Amount] [other] [] [Condition 1 applies]] [in respect of [[interest payments under the Notes] Conversion Rate Fixing [Final Redemption Amount] [Early Redemption Date: Amount [Redemption Amount (Call Option)] [Redemption Amount (Put Option)] [Instalment Amount] [other] []] [in respect of [[interest payments under the Notes] Conversion Rate Fixing Final Redemption Amount] [Early Redemption Page: Amount [Redemption Amount (Call Option)] [Redemption Amount (Put Option)] [Instalment Amount [other] [] [Condition 1 applies]] [in respect of [[interest payments under the Notes] Conversion Rate Fixing [Final Redemption Amount] [Early Redemption Time: Amount [Redemption Amount (Call Option)] [Redemption Amount (Put Option)] [Instalment Amount] [other] []] [in respect of [[interest payments under the Notes] Denomination

Currency Jurisdiction:

[Final Redemption Amount] [Early Redemption Amount [Redemption Amount (Call Option)] [Redemption Amount (Put Option)] [Instalment Amount] [other] []]

Settlement Currency Jurisdiction:

[in respect of [[interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount] [Early Redemption Amount [Redemption Amount (Call Option)] [Redemption Amount (Put Option)] [Instalment Amount] [other][]]

Conversion Rate Fall- [] [Condition 1 applies] Back provisions:

Alternative Prenominated Index:

[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details] [Not applicable]

(iv) Underlying Currency Pair provisions:

[Applicable in respect of [[interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount]] [The Initial Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate is [] [Not applicable]

Cross Currency Exchange Rate:

[Applicable] [Not applicable]

•	Cross Currency:	LJ
•	Cross Currency Jurisdiction	[]
•	Reference Currenc(y)(ies):	[in respect of [interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount] [] [and []]
•	Reference Currency Jurisdiction(s):	[in respect of [interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount] [] [and []]
•	Specified Currenc(y)(ies):	[in respect of [interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount] [] [and []]
•	Specified Currency Jurisdiction(s):	[in respect of [interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount] [] [and []]
•	Underlying Currency Pair Business Days:	[in respect of [interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount] [] [Condition 1 applies]
•	Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date:	[in respect of [interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount] [] [and []]
•	Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page:	[in respect of [interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount] [] [Condition 1 applies]
•	Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time:	[in respect of [interest payments under the Notes] [Final Redemption Amount] [] [and []]
•	Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions:	[] [Condition 1 applies]
•	Alternative Prenominated Index:	[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details] [Not applicable]
Price S	Source Disruption:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
•	FX Cut-off Date:	[] [Condition 1 applies]
•	Number of local banking days for the purpose of postponing Related Payment Dates pursuant to Condition 9(e))	[3][]
•	Dealer Poll:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
•	Unscheduled Holiday and Deferral Period:	[The number of Relevant Currency Business Days for the purpose of the definition of Unscheduled Holiday in Condition 1 (is [] [and the number of calendar days for the purposes of the Deferral Period [] [as per Condition 1]
•	Interest Adjustment:	[Applicable][Not applicable]

(v)

		•	Price Materiality:	[Applicable][Not applicable]
		•	Price Materiality Threshold Percentage:	[] [3 per cent.]
		•	FX Disruption Event:	[Applicable][Not applicable]
		•	EM Deferral Period:	The number of calendar days for the purposes of the Deferral Period is [] [14] [30]
		•	Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Page:	[]
		•	Fallback Conversion Rate Fixing Time:	[]
		•	Number of local banking days for the purpose of postponing Related Payment Dates pursuant to Condition 9(h)):	[3][]
		•	Interest Adjustment	[Applicable][Not applicable]
	(vii)	LBMA provision	Physical Settlement ons:	Not applicable
26.	Redenc	minatio	n:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
	(Condition 10)			
27.	Other terms:			[Not applicable] [specify] [See Annex]
PROVI	SIONS A	APPLIC	ABLE TO INDEX-LIN	KED NOTES, EQUITY-LINKED NOTES
28.	Physica	l Delive	ry:	[Not applicable] [Condition 21(b) applies/does not apply]
	(i)	Securit	ies Transfer Amount:	[]
	(ii)	Residu	al Amount:	[] [Condition 21(a) (applies]
	(iii)	Residu	al Cash Amount:	[] [Condition 21(a) applies]
	(iv)	Settlen	nent Date:	[]
	(v)	Settlen	nent Disruption Event:	Condition 21(b)(iii) [applies/does not apply]
	(vi)	Disrup	tion Period:	[Condition 21(b)(iii) applies] []
	(vii)	Delive	ry Disruption Event:	Condition 21(b)(iii) [applies/does not apply]
29.	Provisi	ons for E	Equity-Linked Notes:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
	(i)	Securit	y(ies):	[The Securities are [[] (ISIN:[])] [Depository Receipts] [Units in an ETF, where "ETF" means [], "Unit" means a share or notional unit of the ETF (as defined in the ETF Documents), the price of which is denominated in []. [The Units represent undivided ownership interests in the

[Applicable][Not applicable]

EM Price Source Disruption:

(vi)

references to the "ETF" and as if references therein to "Security" were references to "Unit".] (ii) Underlying Company(ies): [and with respect to the Underlying Securities]] [The ETF] (iii) Exchange(s): 1 (iv) Related Exchange(s): [] [All Exchanges] (v) **Initial Price:** [] [The definition in Condition 21(a) applies] (vi) Strike Date: [] [The definition in Condition 21(a) applies] (vii) Final Price: [] [The definition in Condition 21(a) applies][The definition of Realisable Sale Price in Condition 21(a) applies] [] [The definition in Condition 21(a) applies] (viii) Reference Price: (ix) Potential Adjustment Event: Condition 21(g)(i) [applies/does not apply] Extraordinary [] Dividend (if other than as specified in the definition in Condition 21(a)) additional Potential [] Adjustment Event (for purposes of paragraph (viii) of the definition thereof) **Extraordinary Event:** Condition 21(g)(ii) [applies/does not apply] (x) (xi) Conversion: Condition 21(g)(iii) [applies/does not apply] (for Notes relating to Government Bonds and debt securities only) (xii) Correction of prices: Condition 21(g)(iv) [applies/does not apply] (xiii) [China Connect Underlying: [Yes] [No]] (xiv) Additional Disruption Event: [The following Additional Disruption Events apply: [Change in Law[, Hedging Disruption, Increased Cost of Hedging], Insolvency Filing, Failure to Deliver] [China Connect Share Disqualification] [China Connect Service Termination] [other - give details]] [Not applicable] Additional provisions for Equity-Linked [] [Not applicable] Notes:

portfolio of investments held by the ETF][delete if not applicable], "Underlying Index" means []. Condition 21 shall apply to the Notes as if references therein to "Underlying Company" were

30.

31.	Provisi	ons for Index-Linked Notes:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]			
	(i)	Index(ices):	[][The Index / Each of (specify relevant indices in a basket)] [] is a Multiple Exchange Index]			
	(ii)	Index Sponsor:	[] [The definition in Condition 21(a) applies]			
	(iii)	Index Rules:	[] [Not applicable]			
	(iv)	Exchange(s):	[]			
	(v)	Related Exchange(s):	[] [All Exchanges]			
	(vi)	Initial Index Level:	[] [The definition in Condition 21(a) applies]			
	(vii)	Final Index Level:	[]			
	(viii)	Strike Date:	[]			
	(ix)	Reference Level:	[][The definition in Condition 21(a) applies]			
	(x)	Adjustments to Indices:	$[Condition \ 21(f)] \ / \ [Condition \ 21(j)] \ [applies/does \\ not \ apply]$			
	(xi)	[China Connect Underlying:	[Yes] [No]]			
	(xii)	Additional Disruption Event:	[The following Additional Disruption Events apply: [Change in Law[, Hedging Disruption, Increased Cost of Hedging]] [Other - give details]] [Not applicable]			
	(xiii)	Index Substitution:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]			
	(xiv)	Alternative Pre-nominated Index:	[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details] [Not applicable]			
32.	Valuati	ion Date(s):	[]			
	•	Specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days:	[] [Not applicable] [The definition in Condition 21(a) applies]			
	•	Number of local banking days for the purpose of postponing Disrupted Day Related Payment Dates pursuant to Condition 21(e):	[3][]			
33.	Valuati	ion Time:	[] [The definition in Condition 21(a) applies]			
34.	Averag	ging Dates:	[] [Not applicable]			
	(i)	Averaging Date Market Disruption:	[Omission] [Postponement] [Modified Postponement] [Not applicable] [other (specify)]			
35.	relating	terms or special conditions g to Index-Linked Notes or Linked Notes:	[specify] [Not applicable]			
	(i)	Knock-in Event:	[Applicable] [Specify event or occurrence] [If the [Final Price] [Reference Price] [Final Index Level] [Reference Level] [] as observed by the Calculation Agent [as of the Valuation Time] [continuously] [] [] [on a Knock-In Determination]			

than] [less than or equal to] the relevant Knock-in [Price] [Level]] [Not applicable] [] [Condition 21(a) applies] Knock-in Determination Day: Knock-in [Applicable] [Not applicable] **Determination Period:** Period [] [Not applicable] Knock-in Beginning Date: Period [] [Not applicable] Knock-in Ending Date: Knock-in Price/ [] Knock-in Level: [] Knock-in Amount: Amount [] [Maturity Date] Knock-in Payment Date: Knock-out Event: [Applicable] [(specify event or occurrence)] [If the [Final Price] [Reference Price] [Final Index Level] [Reference Level] as observed by the Calculation Agent [as of the Valuation Time] [continuously] [] [on a Knock-out Determination Day] is [greater than] [greater than or equal to] [less than] [less than or equal to] the relevant knock-out [Price] [Level]] [Not applicable] Knock-out [] [Condition 21(a) applies] Determination Day: Knock-out [Applicable] [Not applicable] **Determination Period:** Knock-out Period [] [Not applicable] Beginning Date: Knock-out Period [] [Not applicable] Ending Date: Knock-out Price/ [] Knock-out Level: **Knock-out Amount:** [] Amount [] [Maturity Date] Knock-out Payment Date: Automatic Early Redemption [Applicable] [If the [specify relevant security price Event: or index level] is [greater than] [greater than or equal to] [less than] [less than or equal to] the relevant Automatic Early Redemption [Price] [Level]] [Not applicable] Automatic Automatic Automatic Automatic

(ii)

(iii)

Day] is [greater than] [greater than or equal to] [less

Early

Redemptio

Early

Early

Early

Redemptio

n Valuation Date	Redemptio n Date	Redemptio n Rate	n Date [Level] [Price]	
[]	[]	[]	[]	

•	Automatic	Early	[] [as per Condition 21(a)]
	Redemption Amount:			

Accrued interest payable on Automatic Early Redemption Date:

[Yes] [No, interest does not accrue] [specify]

(iv) Interest Adjustment: [Applicable] [Not applicable]

[PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO INFLATION RATE-LINKED NOTES ONLY]

36. (i) Related Bond: [Applicable [- Related Bond is []] [Not applicable] (if applicable and nothing further is

specified, then it will be the Fallback Bond)

Inflation Index Sponsor: (ii) []

Relevant Screen Page: (iii) []

DISTRIBUTION

37. syndicated, [Not applicable] [HSBC Bank plc] [other - give (i) names Relevant Dealer(s): name]

(ii) syndicated, names addresses and underwriting commitments] of other Dealers (if any):

[Not applicable] [other - give name]

[(Give addresses and underwriting commitments)]

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and names and addresses of the entities agreeing to place the issue without a firm commitment or on a "best efforts" basis if such entities are not the same as the Dealers.)

38. Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors:

[Applicable] [Not applicable]

39. Selling restrictions: [For Bearer Notes: TEFRA C Rules/ TEFRA D

Rules/TEFRA Not applicable]

United States of America: Notes may not be offered or sold within the United

> States of America or, to or for the account or the benefit of, a U.S. person (as defined in Regulation S).

> 40-day Distribution Compliance Period:

[Applicable] [Not applicable]

40. Exemption(s) from requirements under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation"):

[Not applicable. This offer is made exclusively to investors outside the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom]/[The denomination of the Notes is greater than or equal to EUR100,000 (or equivalent amount in another currency)]/[The offer is addressed solely to qualified investors (as such term is defined in the Prospectus Regulation)]/[The offer

is addressed to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Regulation)]/[The offer is addressed to investors who will acquire Notes for a consideration of at least EUR100,000 (or equivalent amount in another currency) per investor for each separate offer]

41. Additional U.S. federal income tax considerations:

[Not applicable/give details] [The Notes are [not] Section 871(m) Notes for the purpose of Section 871(m).] [The [Dividend Withholding] [Issuer Withholding] approach shall apply to the Notes. For further information, see "Taxation - United States Taxation - Withholding on Dividend Equivalent Payments" in the Base Prospectus. [The following dividend equivalent amounts are to be treated as being reinvested during the term of the Notes, less a withholding on such amounts at a rate of [] per cent. (as of the Issue Date), which shall be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as having been withheld from payments due to the holders of the Notes: []]. Additional information regarding the application of Section 871(m) to the Notes will be available from the Issuer. Investors should submit any requests for additional information to the Issuer via their custodians.] [The Notes will not be Section 871(m) Notes if they do not reference any U.S. equity or any index that contains any U.S. equity. Notes that reference a U.S. equity or index that contains any U.S. equity are subject to additional testing on a trade-by-trade basis to determine whether they are Section 871(m) Notes.]

42. Additional selling restrictions:

[specify any modifications of, or additions to, selling restrictions contained in Dealer Agreement]

CONFIRMED

HSBC BANK PLC

By:	Authorised Signatory
Date:	

PART B - OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING Listing: Not applicable (i) (ii) Admission to trading: Not applicable Not applicable (iii) Estimated total expenses of admission to trading: **RATINGS** 2. Ratings: [The Notes are not rated.] [The Notes [have been][are expected on issue to be] rated [./:]] [S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited: []] [Moody's Investors Service Limited: []] [Fitch Ratings Limited: REASONS FOR THE OFFER 3. [The Notes are specified as being "Green Bonds" and the net proceeds from the sale of the Notes will be used as described in "Green Bonds and SDG Bonds - Green Bonds" in the Base Prospectus.] [The Notes are specified as being "SDG Bonds" and the net proceeds from the sale of the Notes will be used as described in "Green Bonds and SDG Bonds - SDG Bonds" in the Base Prospectus] OPERATIONAL INFORMATION 4. ISIN Code: [] [Not applicable] 5. Common Code: [] [Not applicable] CUSIP: 6. [] [Not applicable] 7. Valoren Number: [] [Not applicable] 8. SEDOL: [] [Not applicable] WKN: 9. [] [Not applicable] Other identifier / code: [] [Not applicable] 10. 11. Type: [Description of the Notes, with, as the case may be, reference to the Swiss Derivative Map©, as amended from time to time by the Swiss Structured Products *Association (www.svsp-verband.ch)*] Level of capital protection, where 12. [Specify - If the capital protection is tied to conditions, applicable. such as reaching, exceeding or falling below certain thresholds, then this fact must be stated.] 13. Additional information [Information on where the current annual reports for on the

the issuers of the Underlyings may be obtained free of

charge for the term of the securities, provided they are not available on the website of the issuer of the Underlying or cannot be obtained via the latter.]

underlying(s) for Notes on equity or

debt securities, where applicable

14. Additional information on the underlying(s) for Notes on collective investment schemes, where applicable

[In the case of collective investment schemes, information on the fund management or issuing company, and details of the composition or investment universe of the collective investment scheme in question]

[Confirmation that the collective investment scheme has been authorised by FINMA for sale in or from Switzerland. Otherwise, a special statement must be made that the collective investment scheme has not been authorised for sale by FINMA.]

15. Additional Information on the underlying(s) for Notes on indices, where applicable:

[Name of the agency that calculates and publishes the index (index sponsor), as well as details of where information on the method of calculation is available to the public]

[Details of where information on the securities universe and any modifications to composition are available to the public (specifically where and when such adjustments are announced)]

[Whether the index in question is a price or performance (total return) index]

16. Additional information on the underlying(s) for Notes on baskets of underlying(s), where applicable:

[Initial fixing plus the percentage and, where appropriate, shares of the initial weighting of basket securities]

[If the composition of the basket is subject to predefined or discretionary modifications, then the permitted investment universe must be defined]

17. Intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility:⁸

[Yes] [No] [Not applicable]

[[Note that the designation "Yes" simply means that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper,][include this text for registered notes] and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.] [include this text if "yes" selected]

[Whilst the designation is specified as "No" at the date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the Notes are

_

Specify "Not applicable" if the Notes are not in New Global Note ("NGN") form (if bearer form) or issued under the "new safekeeping structure" ("NSS") (if in registered form). If the Notes are NGNs or are issued under the NSS, then please note that under current ECB requirements, in order to be eligible as collateral a security must, amongst other things, be denominated in Euros and listed on a regulated market or certain non-regulated markets such as STEP and Luxembourg Euro MTF. Accordingly, choose "No" if the Notes are not denominated in Euro or not listed on regulated market or any of the relevant non-regulated market as specified in Chapter 6 of the ECB's February 2011 "The Implementation of Monetary Policy in the Euro Area - General Documentation on Eurosystem monetary policy instruments and procedures" brochure.

capable of meeting them, then the Issuer may (in its absolute discretion) elect to deposit the Notes with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper,][include this text for registered notes]. Note that this does not necessarily mean that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.] [Include this text if "no" selected]

18. Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and the relevant identification number(s):

None

19. Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment

20. Settlement procedures: [Eurobond]/[Medium Term Note]/[other (specify)]

21. Additional Paying Agent(s) (if any): [None]/[specify]

22. Common Depository: [HSBC Bank plc] [Not applicable] [specify]

23. Calculation Agent: [HSBC Bank plc] [HSBC Continental Europe] [specify]

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER

Details of the minimum and/or

maximum amount of application:

29.

Offer Price: 24. [Issue Price] [] [] [Up to [] Notes will be issued and the 25. Total amount of the issue/offer: criterion/condition for determining the final amount of Notes will be investor demand. A copy of these Final Terms will be published and filed with SIX Exchange Regulation AG. The public offer of the Notes is permitted in Switzerland.] [Not Applicable] 26. The time period, including any [] [The Issuer reserves the right for any reason to possible amendments, during which close the time period early] [If the aggregate subscription of the Notes at any time on any business the offer will be open: day prior to [] reaches [], the Issuer will close the subscription of the Notes at such time on such business day, without any prior notification] [or specify other []] [Not Applicable] 27. Conditions to which the offer is [] [The Issuer may close the Offer Period prior to [] subject: if the Notes are fully subscribed before such date] [Not Applicable] Description of the application process: [] [If an investor wishes to purchase Notes, such 28. investor should (a) be aware that sales in the relevant jurisdiction may not be permitted; and (b) contact its financial adviser, bank or financial intermediary for more information] [Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable]

[] [Minimum of [] and no maximum applicable]

30.	Details of the method and time limits for paying up and delivering of the securities:]] [Not Applicable]
31.	Procedure for exercise of any right of pre-emption, negotiability of subscription rights and treatment of subscription rights not exercised:	[] [Not Applicable]
32.	Amount of any expenses and taxes specifically charged to the subscriber or purchaser:]] [Not Applicable]

SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

Notes may, subject to all applicable legal and regulatory requirements, be issued in Tranches or Series comprising either Bearer Notes or Registered Notes as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

All Bearer Notes will be issued in either (i) new global note form (a "New Global Note" or "NGN"), as set out in Part A and Part B of Schedule 1 to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement or, (ii) if not intended to be issued in NGN form, will be issued in classic global note form (a "Classic Global Note" or "CGN"), as set out in Part A and Part B of Schedule 2 to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement, as specified in the relevant Final Terms or in such other form as the relevant parties may agree.

The NGN form has been introduced to allow for the possibility of Notes being issued and held in a manner which will permit them to be recognised as eligible collateral for monetary policy of the central banking system for the euro (the "Eurosystem") and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. However in any particular case such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria at the relevant time.

On 13 June 2006 the European Central Bank (the "ECB") announced that Notes in NGN form are in compliance with the "Standards for the use of EU securities settlement systems in ESCB credit operations" of the Eurosystem, **provided that** certain other criteria are fulfilled. At the same time the ECB also announced that arrangements for Notes in NGN form were to be offered by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2006 and that debt securities in global bearer form issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 31 December 2006 would only be eligible as collateral for Eurosystem operations if the NGN form was used.

Registered Notes may be issued under the new safekeeping structure (the "New Safekeeping Structure" or "NSS") or, if not intended to be issued under the NSS, will be issued under the classic safekeeping structure or such other structure as the relevant parties may agree.

Following the introduction of the NGN form in June 2006, the Eurosystem required the ICSDs to review the custody arrangements for international debt securities in global registered form. Further to this review, the NSS was introduced to allow for the possibility of Notes being issued and held in a manner which will permit them to be recognised as eligible collateral for monetary policy of the Eurosystem and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Each time that Bearer Notes are issued in NGN form or Registered Notes are issued under the NSS, the relevant Final Terms shall specify whether or not such Notes are to be held in a manner which will permit them to be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations of the Eurosystem.

Registered Notes

In the case of Registered Notes, the relevant Final Terms may specify that the relevant Tranche or Series of Notes will be issued in global form ("Global Registered Notes") held in specified clearing systems, as described below, or in definitive form ("Definitive Registered Notes"). If a Tranche or Series of Notes are to be issued in the form of Global Registered Notes, such Series or Tranche of Registered Notes will be represented by a Global Registered Note without interest coupons (a "Regulation S Global Registered Note"), which will be delivered by the Issuer, subject to the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement (as defined herein), and deposited on or about the closing date (the "Closing Date") for the relevant Series or Tranche with the common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and registered in the name of a nominee for such common depositary. Interests in any Regulation S Global Registered Note will be exchangeable (in circumstances described below under "Exchange and Transfer of Global Registered Notes for Definitive Registered Notes") for Definitive Registered Notes ("Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes").

Each Regulation S Global Registered Note will have an ISIN number.

Owner of Global Registered Notes and Payments

Subject to certain provisions of the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement relating to directions, sanctions and consents of Holders of Registered Notes and to meetings of Holders of Notes, so long as Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the nominee of their common depositary or the Common Safekeeper, as the case may be, is the registered owner or holder of a Global Registered Note, Euroclear, Clearstream,

Luxembourg or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Notes represented by such Global Registered Note for all purposes under the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement and the Notes. Payments of principal, interest and additional amounts, if any, pursuant to Condition 9 (*Payments*), on Global Registered Notes will be made to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such nominee thereof, or common service provider acting as agent for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, or the registered holder thereof. None of the Issuer, the Registrar, or any Paying Agent or any affiliate of any of the above will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in Global Registered Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests. Each such payment in respect of a Global Registered Note will be made to the person shown as the Holder thereof (or, in the case of joint Holders, the first-named) as appearing in the Register at the close of business (in the relevant clearing system) on the business day on which each clearing system for which the Global Registered Note is being held is open for business which is the business day of each such clearing system before the due date for such payment.

Exchange and Transfer of Global Registered Notes for Definitive Registered Notes

Beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Registered Note will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes: (i) if Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of public holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so; or (ii) if the Issuer, at its option, elects to terminate the book-entry system through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg; or (iii) if the Notes become immediately repayable in accordance with Condition 11 (*Events of Default*); or (iv) unless otherwise provided in the Final Terms, at the option of the Issuer, if the Issuer would suffer a material disadvantage in respect of the Notes as a result of a change in the laws or regulations (taxation or otherwise) of any jurisdiction which would not be suffered were the Notes in definitive form; or (v) if the Issuer so elects, where the Issuer or any Paying Agent, by reason of any change in, or amendment to, the laws of the United Kingdom, is or will be required to make any deduction or withholding from any payment under the Notes which would not be required if such Notes were in definitive form.

In such circumstances, (a) the Registrar will be required to notify all Holders of interests in the relevant Global Registered Notes registered in the name of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the nominee of their common depositary or the Common Safekeeper, as the case may be, of the availability of Definitive Registered Notes and (b) the Issuer will, at the cost of the Issuer, cause sufficient Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes to be executed and delivered to the Registrar for completion, authentication and dispatch to the relevant Holders. A person having an interest in the relevant Global Registered Note must provide the Registrar with a written order containing instructions and such other information as the Issuer and the Registrar may require to complete, execute and deliver the relevant Definitive Registered Note.

The holder of a Registered Note may transfer such Registered Note in accordance with the provisions of Condition 2 (*Form, Denomination and Title*).

The holder of a Definitive Registered Note may transfer such Note by surrendering it at the specified office of the Registrar or Transfer Agent, together with the completed form of transfer thereon.

The Registrar will not register the transfer of or exchange of interests in a Global Registered Note for Definitive Registered Notes for a period of 15 calendar days preceding the due date for any payment in respect of the Notes.

Bearer Notes

Bearer Notes treated as issued in bearer form for U.S. federal income tax purposes will be issued in accordance with the provisions of United States Treasury Regulations 1.163-5(c)(1)(ii) and 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) ("TEFRA D", which definition shall include any successor rules in substantially the same form as TEFRA D for the purposes of Section 4701 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code")), unless the relevant Final Terms provides that such Notes will be issued in accordance with the provisions of United States Treasury Regulations 1.163-5(c)(1)(ii) and 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) ("TEFRA C", which definition shall include any successor rules in substantially the same form as TEFRA C for the purposes of Section 4701 of the Code). Bearer Notes issued in accordance with TEFRA D will be represented upon issue by a temporary global note in bearer form without interest coupons (a "Temporary Global Note"). Bearer Notes issued in accordance with TEFRA C will be

represented upon issue by a permanent global note in bearer form without interest coupons (a "Permanent Global Note") or by a Temporary Global Note. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the case may be, Permanent Global Note which is not intended to be issued in NGN form, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the case may be, Permanent Global Note which is intended to be issued in NGN form, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. Beneficial interests in a Temporary Global Note issued in accordance with TEFRA C will be exchangeable at any time and without any requirement for certification for Bearer Notes in definitive form ("Definitive Bearer Notes"), in accordance with the terms of such Temporary Global Note and as specified in the relevant Final Terms. Interests in a Temporary Global Note issued in accordance with TEFRA D will be exchangeable either for Definitive Bearer Notes or for interests in a Permanent Global Note, on or after the date which is forty days after the date on which such Temporary Global Note is issued and upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership thereof or otherwise as required by U.S. Treasury Regulations, in accordance with the terms of such Temporary Global Note and as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

For the purposes of complying with TEFRA D, Bearer Notes may not be offered or sold to a United States person. "United States person" means any person who is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (i) a citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organised under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof or therein or (iii) an estate or trust the income of which is subject to United States taxation regardless of its source.

The forms of Temporary Global Note and Permanent Global Note (each, a "Global Note") will contain provisions applicable to the Notes represented thereby, some of which may modify the effect of the Conditions of the Notes. Certain of these are summarised in this section.

All payments, if any, in respect of Bearer Notes when represented by a Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note in CGN form or in NGN form, will be made against presentation and surrender or, as the case may be, presentation of the relevant Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents. On each occasion on which a payment is so made, the Issuer shall procure that, in respect of a CGN, record of such payment is noted on a schedule to the relevant Global Note and, in respect of an NGN, the payment is entered *pro rata* in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

In respect of Bearer Notes represented by Global Notes, each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note (each an "Accountholder") must look solely to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other relevant clearing system (as the case may be) for such Accountholder's share of each payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Global Note and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Note. The extent to which, and the manner in which, Accountholders may exercise any rights arising under the Global Note will be determined by the respective rules and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and any other relevant clearing system from time to time. For so long as the relevant Notes are represented by the Global Note, Accountholders shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due under the Notes.

The records of the relevant clearing systems which reflect the amount of Noteholders' interests in the Notes shall be conclusive evidence of the nominal amount of Notes represented by the Global Notes.

An exchange of a Temporary Global Note for Definitive Notes or, as the case may be, a Permanent Global Note will be made only on or after the Exchange Date (as set out in the relevant Final Terms) and provided certification as to the beneficial ownership thereof as required by the US Treasury regulations (in substantially the form set out in the Temporary Global Note or in such other form as is customarily issued in such circumstances by the relevant clearing system or depositary) has been received.

The bearer of any Temporary Global Note shall not (unless, upon due presentation of such Temporary Global Note for exchange (in whole or in part) for a Permanent Global Note or for delivery of Definitive Notes, such exchange or delivery is improperly withheld or refused and such withholding or refusal is continuing at the relevant payment date) be entitled to receive any payment in respect of the Notes

represented by such Temporary Global Note which falls due on or after the Exchange Date or be entitled to exercise any option on a date after the Exchange Date.

If any date on which a payment of principal or interest is due on the Notes of a Tranche occurs whilst any of the Notes of that Tranche are represented by a Temporary Global Note, the related principal or interest payment will be made on the Temporary Global Note only to the extent that certification as to the beneficial ownership thereof as required by the US Treasury regulations (in substantially the form set out in the Temporary Global Note or in such other form as is customarily issued in such circumstances by the relevant clearing system or depositary) has been received by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system or depositary. Payments of amounts due in respect of a Permanent Global Note will be made through any of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system or depositary without any requirement for certification.

Interests in a Permanent Global Note will be exchanged, at the cost and expense of the Issuer, by the Issuer in whole, for Definitive Notes (a) at the option of the holder of such Permanent Global Note, for Definitive Notes, if the Notes of the relevant Series become immediately repayable in accordance with Condition 11 (*Events of Default*), or (b) if any of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system or depositary is closed for business for a continuous period of fourteen days (other than by reason of public holidays) or announces an intention to cease business permanently or in fact does so, or (c) at the option of the Issuer, (i) unless otherwise provided in the Final Terms, if the Issuer would suffer a material disadvantage in respect of the Notes as a result of a change in the laws or regulations (taxation or otherwise) of any jurisdiction which would not be suffered were the Notes in definitive form; or (ii) where the Issuer or any Paying Agent, by reason of any change in, or amendment to, the laws of the United Kingdom, is or will be required to make any deduction or withholding from any payment under the Notes, which would not be required if the Notes were in definitive form.

Where a Permanent Global Note is exchangeable for Definitive Notes, then such Notes shall be tradable only in principal amounts of at least the Denomination (or if there is more than one Denomination, the lowest Denomination).

The Issuer may, at any time in writing, waive or limit its right to exchange a Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes in the circumstances described above, where the Issuer at its sole discretion considers such limitation or waiver to be desirable in respect of a particular Series of Notes.

Definitive Bearer Notes will, if interest-bearing and if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, have Coupons and, if applicable, a talon for further Coupons attached. All Definitive Bearer Notes will, if the principal thereof is repayable by instalments, have endorsed thereon a grid for recording the payment of principal.

Following redenomination of the Notes pursuant to Condition 10 (*Redenomination*):

- (i) if Notes are required to be issued in definitive form, they shall be issued at the expense of the Issuer in the denominations of euro 0.01, euro 1,000, euro 10,000, euro 100,000 and such other denominations as the Principal Paying Agent shall determine and notify to the Noteholders; and
- (ii) the amount of interest due in respect of Notes represented by the Temporary Global Note and the Permanent Global Note will be calculated by reference to the aggregate principal amount of such Notes and the amount of such payment shall be rounded down to the nearest euro 0.01.

All notices to the Holders of Notes or the Coupons appertaining thereto will be valid, in the case of Notes in global form, if delivered to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, depositary or common safekeeper (as may be agreed between the Issuer and the Dealer) for communication by them to the persons shown in their respective records as having interests therein; **provided that**, in each case, in the case of Notes that have been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, the rules of such listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system have been complied with. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such delivery or, if the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and publication is required under the applicable rules of the relevant listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, on the date of publication or, if published more than once, on the date of the first such publication (or, if required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the first date on which publication shall have been made in all the required newspapers).

Holders of any Coupons appertaining to Bearer Notes will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Holders of such Bearer Notes in accordance herewith.

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE OF NOTES

General

- (1) The Dealer has, in a Master Note Issuance Agreement, agreed with the Issuer a basis upon which it may from time to time agree either as principal or agent of the Issuer to subscribe for or purchase, to underwrite or, as the case may be, to procure subscribers or purchasers for Notes. When entering into any such agreement to subscribe for or purchase, to underwrite, or as the case may be, to procure subscribers for or purchasers for any particular Series of Notes, the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) will agree details relating to the form of such Notes and the Conditions relating to such Notes, the price at which such Notes will be purchased by the relevant Dealer(s) and the commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) payable or allowable by the Issuer in respect of such subscription or purchase. The Master Note Issuance Agreement contains provisions for the Issuer to appoint other Dealers from time to time either generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes.
- Other than with respect to the admission to listing, trading and/or quotation by one or more listing authorities, stock exchanges and/or quotation systems as may be specified in the Final Terms, no action has been or will be taken in any country or jurisdiction by the Issuer or the relevant Dealer(s) that would permit a public offering of Notes, or possession or distribution of any offering material in relation thereto, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Persons into whose hands this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms comes are required by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or have in their possession or distribute this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms or related offering material, in all cases at their own expense.

Australia

This Base Prospectus is not a disclosure document under Chapter 6D or Part 7.9 of the *Corporations Act* 2001 (Cth) and has not been, and will not be, lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission ("**ASIC**"). This Base Prospectus does not purport to include the information required of a disclosure document under Chapter 6D or Part 7.9 of the *Corporations Act* 2001 (Cth). The offer of Notes referred to in this Base Prospectus is made only to persons to whom it is lawful to offer securities in Australia without a disclosure document lodged with ASIC and complies with the terms of any authority granted under the *Banking Act* 1959 (Cth) of Australia. This means the offer is directed only to investors who come within one of the categories set out in section 708(8) or 708(11) of the *Corporations Act* 2001 (Cth) ("**Sophisticated Investors**" and "**Professional Investors**", respectively).

As no formal disclosure document (such as an Base Prospectus) will be lodged with ASIC, the Notes may only be offered and issued to one of the categories of Sophisticated or Professional Investors. If any recipient of this Base Prospectus is not a Sophisticated Investor or a Professional Investor, no offer of, or invitation to apply for, the Notes shall be deemed to be made to such recipient and no applications for the Notes will be accepted from such recipient. Any offer to a recipient in Australia, and any agreement arising from acceptance of such offer, is personal and may only be accepted by the recipient.

If a person to whom Notes are issued (an "**Investor**") on-sells the Notes within 12 months from their issue, the Investor will be required to lodge a prospectus with ASIC unless either:

- (a) that sale is to another Sophisticated Investor or Professional Investor; or
- (b) the sale offer is received outside Australia.

Each Investor acknowledges the above and, by applying for Notes under this Base Prospectus, gives an undertaking not to sell those Notes in any circumstances other than those described in paragraphs (a) and (b) above for 12 months after the date of issue of such Notes.

In addition, each Dealer and Investor has represented and agreed that it will comply with Banking exemption No. 1 of 2018 dated 21 March 2018 promulgated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority and which requires all offers and transfers to be in parcels of not less than A\$500,000 in aggregate principal amount. Banking exemption No. 1 does not apply to transfers which occur outside Australia.

This Base Prospectus is not, and under no circumstances is to be construed as, an advertisement or public offering of the Notes in Australia.

This Base Prospectus is distributed to investors in Australia and any offer of Notes is made to investors in Australia, in each case subject to the conditions set out above, on behalf of each of the institutional managers by their respective licensed affiliates, each of which holds an Australian Financial Services License which permits such licence holder to distribute this Base Prospectus and offer the Notes to investors in Australia.

The Issuer is not licensed to provide financial product advice in Australia and nothing in this Base Prospectus takes into account the investment objectives, financial situation and particular needs of any individual investors. The Issuer and Dealers recommend that investors read this Base Prospectus before making a decision to acquire Notes.

Arab Republic of Egypt

The Notes have not been and will not be offered, sold or publicly promoted or advertised in Egypt other than in compliance with any laws applicable in Egypt governing the issue, offering and sale of securities.

Dubai International Financial Centre

The Notes have not been and may not be offered to any person in the Dubai International Financial Centre unless such offer is:

- (a) an "Exempt Offer" in accordance with the Markets Rules (MKT) Module of the Dubai Financial Services Authority (the "**DFSA**") rulebook; and
- (b) made only to persons who meet the Professional Client criteria set out in Rule 2.3.3 of the Conduct of Business Module of the DFSA rulebook.

European Economic Area

Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors

Unless the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies the "Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors" as "Not applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II (as amended);
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC ("**Insurance Distribution Directive**"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "**Prospectus Regulation**"); and
- (b) the expression an "**offer**" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes.

Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Regulation

In relation to any Notes if the Final Terms in respect of such Notes specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors" as "Not applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, in relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom (each a "Relevant State"), an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms

in relation thereto to the public in that Relevant State may not be made except that an offer of such Notes to the public in that Relevant State may be made:

- (a) Approved prospectus: if the drawdown prospectus in relation to the Notes specifies that an offer of those Notes may be made other than pursuant to Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation in that Relevant State (a "Non-exempt Offer"), following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant State (as applicable), provided that any such prospectus which is a base prospectus has subsequently been completed by the Final Terms contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or Final Terms, as applicable, and the Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of that Non-exempt Offer;
- (b) *Qualified Investors*: at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation;
- (c) Fewer than 150 offerees: at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Regulation), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (d) Other exempt offers: at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in paragraphs (b) to (d) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Relevant State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes, and the expression "Prospectus Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Belgian Securities Laws

This Base Prospectus has not been submitted for approval to the Belgian Financial Services and Markets Authority. Accordingly, Notes that have a maturity of less than 12 months and qualify as money market instruments (and that therefore fall outside the scope of the Prospectus Regulation) may not be distributed in Belgium by way of an offer of securities to the public, as defined in Article 4, 2° of the Belgian law of 11 July 2018 on the offer of investment instruments to the public and the admission of investment instrument to trading on a regulated market.

Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes are not intended to be sold to Belgian Consumers (as defined below). Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes to Belgian Consumers, and has not distributed or caused to be distributed and will not distribute or cause to be distributed, the Base Prospectus, the relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to Notes other than Alternative General Conditions Notes to Belgian Consumers.

For these purposes, a "**Belgian Consumer**" has the meaning provided by the Belgian Code of Economic Law, as amended from time to time (*Wetboek van 28 februari 2013 van economisch recht/Code du 28 février 2013 de droit économique*), being any natural person resident or located in Belgium and acting for purposes which are outside his/her trade, business or profession.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional French Securities Laws

Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this Base Prospectus, any relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Notes be distributed or caused to be distributed in France other than to qualified investors (*investisseurs qualifiés*) as defined in Article L.411-2 1° of the French *Code monétaire et financier*.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Republic of Italy Securities Laws

The offering of the Notes has not been registered with the *Commissione Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa* ("CONSOB") pursuant to Italian securities legislation and, accordingly, no Notes may be offered, sold or delivered, and no copies of this Base Prospectus and any other document relating to the Notes may be distributed in the Republic of Italy except:

- 1. to "qualified investors", as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of 14 June 2017 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation");
- 2. that Notes may be offered, sold or delivered or copies of any prospectus relating to such Notes may be distributed in an offer to the public in the period commencing on the date of publication of such prospectus, **provided that** such prospectus has been approved in another Member State or the United Kingdom and notified to CONSOB, all in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, as amended (the "**Decree No. 58**") and CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended ("**Regulation No. 11971**"), and ending on the date which is 12 months after the date of approval of such prospectus; and
- in any other circumstances where an express exemption from compliance with the solicitation restrictions applies, as provided under the Prospectus Regulation, Decree No. 58 or Regulation No. 11971.

Any such offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of this Base Prospectus or any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy must be:

- made by investment firms, banks or financial intermediaries permitted to conduct such activities in the Republic of Italy in accordance with Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 as amended, Decree No. 58, CONSOB Regulation No. 20307 of 15 February 2018, as amended and any other applicable laws and regulations;
- (b) in compliance with Article 129 of Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, as amended, pursuant to which the Bank of Italy may request information on the issue or the offer of securities in the Republic of Italy and the relevant implementing guidelines of the Bank of Italy issued on 25 August 2015 (as amended on 10 August 2016); and
- (c) in compliance with any other applicable notification requirement or limitation which may be imposed by CONSOB or the Bank of Italy.

Provisions relating to the secondary market in Italy

Investors should also note that in any subsequent distribution of the Notes in the Republic of Italy the Prospectus Regulation and Decree No. 58 may require compliance with the law relating to public offers of securities. Furthermore, Article 100-bis of Decree No. 58 provides that where the Notes are placed solely with "qualified investors" and are then systematically resold on the secondary market at any time in the 12 months following such placing, purchasers of Notes who are acting outside of the course of their business or profession may in certain circumstances be entitled to declare such purchase void and, in addition, to claim damages from any authorised person at whose premises the Notes were purchased, unless an exemption provided for under the Prospectus Regulation or Decree No. 58 applies.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Netherlands Securities Laws

Compliance with Dutch Savings Certificates Act: Zero Coupon Notes (as defined below) in definitive form of the Issuer may only be transferred and accepted, directly or indirectly, within, from or into The Netherlands through the mediation of either the Issuer or a member firm of Euronext Amsterdam in full compliance with the Dutch Savings Certificates Act (Wet inzake spaarbewijzen) of 21 May 1985 (as amended) and its implementing regulations. No such mediation is required: (a) in respect of the transfer and acceptance of rights representing an interest in a Zero Coupon Note in global form, or (b) in respect of the initial issue of Zero Coupon Notes in definitive form to the first holders thereof, or (c) in respect of the transfer and acceptance of Zero Coupon Notes in definitive form between individuals not acting in the conduct of a business or profession, or (d) in respect of the transfer and acceptance of such Zero Coupon Notes within, from or into The Netherlands if all Zero Coupon Notes (either in definitive form or as rights representing an interest in a Zero Coupon Note in global form) of any particular Series are issued outside

The Netherlands and are not distributed into The Netherlands in the course of initial distribution or immediately thereafter. As used herein, "Zero Coupon Notes" are notes that are in bearer form and that constitute a claim for a fixed sum against the Issuer and on which interest does not become due during their tenor or on which no interest is due whatsoever.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Norway Securities Laws

Notes denominated in Norwegian Krone (NOK) may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, within the Kingdom of Norway or to or for the benefit of Norwegian purchasers. Each purchaser of Notes denominated in Norwegian Krone (NOK) will be deemed to have acknowledged, represented and agreed that such Notes may not be offered or resold within the Kingdom of Norway or to or for the benefit of Norwegian purchasers.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Kingdom of Spain Securities Laws

The Notes may only be offered or sold in Spain by institutions authorised under the consolidated text of the Securities Market Law approved by Royal Legislative Decree 4/2015 of 23 October (*Real Decreto Legislativo 4/2015*, *de 23 de octubre, por el que se aprueba el texto refundido de la Ley del Mercado de Valores*) (the "Spanish Securities Market Law"), Royal Decree 217/2008 of 15 February on the legal regime applicable to investment services companies (*Real Decreto 217/2008*, *de 15 de febrero*, *sobre el régimen jurídico de las empresas de servicios de inversión y de las demás entidades que prestan servicios de inversión*) and related legislation to provide investment services in Spain and in accordance with the provisions of the Spanish Securities Market Law and further developing legislation.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional United Kingdom Securities Laws

An invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) may only be communicated or caused to be communicated in connection with the issue or sale of Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2012 ("**FSMA**") would not, if it was not an authorised person, apply to the Issuer.

All applicable provisions of the FSMA must be complied with in respect of anything done in connection with the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Bolivia

Neither the Notes nor this Base Prospectus have been registered with the Bolivian Financial System Controlling Authority (ASFI) nor with the Bolivian Stock Exchange Commission and it is not intended that the Notes or this Base Prospectus will be registered with such institutions.

The Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this Base Prospectus, any relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Notes be distributed or caused to be distributed to the public in Bolivia. An offer of Notes to the public in Bolivia will be made only in compliance with the applicable laws, regulations and procedures in Bolivia and formalities required by Bolivian laws and regulations to permit the offering and sale of Notes in Bolivia to the public.

The Notes may only be offered or sold, directly or indirectly in Bolivia, without a prior license from the Bolivian Financial System Controlling Authority (ASFI) and the Bolivian Stock Exchange Commission under a private placement regime. Therefore, the Base Prospectus, the Notes or any material relating thereto, shall not be circulated or distributed, whether directly or indirectly, in Bolivia or to Bolivian citizens, corporations or residents, except in a manner that will not be considered as a "public offer", or as "habitual", under the prevailing law and regulations in Bolivia.

Guernsey

The Notes may only be offered or sold in, or from within the Bailiwick of Guernsey either (i) to or by persons licensed under the Protection of Investors (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 1987, as amended or (ii) to persons licensed under the Banking Supervision (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 1994 as amended, or (iii) to persons licensed under the Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002 as amended or (iv) to persons licensed under the Insurance Managers and Insurance Intermediaries (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002 as amended or (v) to licensees under the Regulation of Fiduciaries, Administration Businesses and Company Directors, etc. (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2000 as amended.

This Base Prospectus has not been registered with the Guernsey Financial Services Commission and it is not intended that this Base Prospectus will be registered with the Guernsey Financial Services Commission under the Prospectus Rules 2018. Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered to the public in Guernsey. Therefore, the number of persons in Guernsey to whom an offer for Notes is so communicated must not exceed fifty.

Hong Kong

Notes (except for Notes which are a "structured product" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the "SFO")) may not be offered or sold in Hong Kong by means of any document other than (a) to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under that Ordinance; or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (the "C(WUMP)O") or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the C(WUMP)O.

No advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) may be issued or held in the possession of the Issuer or any Dealer or any other offeror nominated by the Issuer for the purpose of such issue of Notes, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "**professional investors**" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

Indonesia

No registration statement with respect to this Base Prospectus and Final Terms has been and no such registration statement will be filed with the Financial Services Authority (*Otoritas Jasa Keuangan* or OJK) of the Republic of Indonesia. The Notes, therefore, shall not be offered or sold or be the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and this Base Prospectus, Final Terms or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, shall not be circulated or distributed, whether directly or indirectly, in the Republic of Indonesia or to Indonesian citizens, corporations or residents, except in a manner that will not be considered as a "public offer" under the prevailing law and regulations in the Republic of Indonesia.

Isle of Man

Each Dealer appointed under the Programme (other than the Issuer) will be required to represent and agree that it shall only offer or sell Notes in or from the Isle of Man if it holds an appropriate financial services licence issued by the Isle of Man Financial Services Authority (the "FSA") under section 7 of the Isle of Man Financial Services Act 2008 (the "FS Act") or, where it does not hold such a licence, it shall only offer or sell Notes to an "Isle of Man person" (within the meaning of the Isle of Man Regulated Activities Order 2011, as amended (the "Order")) where it is an "overseas person" (within the meaning of the Order) who is authorised to offer and sell the Notes by a regulator outside the Isle of Man and either (i) the offer or sale of the Notes is the direct result of an approach made to such Dealer by or on behalf of the Isle of Man person which has not been solicited by such Dealer (otherwise than by means of an advertisement which is neither targeted at Isle of Man persons nor disseminated by a medium which is targeted at Isle of Man persons); or (ii) the Isle of Man person: (A) holds a licence issued by the FSA under section 7 of the FS Act to carry on a regulated activity; or (B) is a person falling within exclusion 2(r) contained in Schedule 1 to the Order; or (C) is a person whose ordinary business activities involve him in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of shares or debentures (as principal or agent), for the purposes of his business.

Israel

This Base Prospectus has not been approved by the Israeli Securities Authority and must not be distributed to Israeli residents in a manner that would constitute "an offer to the public" under sections 15 and 15a of the Israel Securities Law, 1968 (the "Securities Law"). The Notes may only be offered to those categories of investors listed in the First Addendum (the "Addendum") to the Securities Law ("Sophisticated Investors") namely joint investment funds or mutual trust funds, provident funds, insurance companies, banking corporations (purchasing Notes for themselves or for clients who are Sophisticated Investors), portfolio managers (purchasing Notes for themselves or for clients who are Sophisticated Investors),

investment advisors or investment marketers (purchasing Notes for themselves), members of the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange (purchasing Notes for themselves or for clients who are Sophisticated Investors), underwriters (purchasing Notes for themselves), venture capital funds engaging mainly in the capital market, an entity which is wholly-owned by Sophisticated Investors, corporations, other than formed for the specific purpose of an acquisition pursuant to an offer, with a shareholders' equity in excess of NIS 50 million, and individuals investing for their own account, in respect of which at least one of the following applies: the total value of their cash, deposits, financial assets (as defined in the Investment Advice Law) and securities traded on a stock exchange licensed under the Securities Law (together, "Liquid Assets") exceeds NIS 8,095,444; their level of income over each of the preceding two years exceeds NIS 1,214,317, or the level of income of their "family unit" exceeds NIS 1,821,475; or the aggregate value of all their Liquid Assets exceeds NIS 5,059,652 and their level of income over each of the preceding two years exceeds NIS 607,158, or the level of income of their "family unit" exceeds NIS 910,737; each as defined in the said Addendum, as amended from time to time, and who in each case have provided written confirmation that they qualify as Sophisticated Investors, and that they are aware of the consequences of such designation and agree thereto; in all cases under circumstances that will fall within the private placement or other exemptions of the Securities Law and any applicable guidelines, pronouncements or rulings issued from time to time by the Israeli Securities Authority.

This Base Prospectus may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose, nor be furnished to any other person other than those to whom copies have been sent. Any offeree who purchases a Note is purchasing such Note for its own benefit and account and not with the aim or intention of distributing or offering such Note to other parties (other than, in the case of an offeree which is a Sophisticated Investor by virtue of it being a banking corporation, portfolio manager or member of the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange, as defined in the Addendum, where such offeree is purchasing Notes for another party which is a Sophisticated Investor). As a prerequisite to the receipt of a copy of this Base Prospectus a recipient may be required to provide confirmation that it is a Sophisticated Investor purchasing Notes for its own account or, where applicable, for other Sophisticated Investors.

The Issuer does not hold a licence under the Investment Advice Law to conduct investment marketing. Investors are encouraged to seek competent investment counselling from a locally licensed investment counsel prior to making any investment. Nothing in this Base Prospectus should be considered Investment Advice or Investment Marketing defined in the Investment Advice Law.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell to, or a solicitation of an offer to buy from any person or persons in any state or other jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation would be unlawful, or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so, or to a person or persons to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation.

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the "**FIEA**") and, accordingly, Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to any resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with the FIEA and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan. As used in this paragraph, "**resident of Japan**" means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan.

Jersey

No consent under Article 8(2) of the Control of Borrowing (Jersey) Order 1958 has been obtained in relation to the circulation in Jersey of any offer of Notes and any such offer must be addressed exclusively to a restricted circle of persons in Jersey. For these purposes an offer is not addressed exclusively to a restricted circle of persons unless (i) the offer is addressed to an identifiable category of persons to whom it is directly communicated by the offeror or the offeror's appointed agent, (ii) the members of that category are the only persons who may accept the offer and they are in possession of sufficient information to be able to make a reasonable evaluation of the offer and (iii) the number of persons in Jersey to whom the offer is so communicated does not exceed fifty.

Kingdom of Bahrain

The Notes have not been and may not be offered or sold except on a private placement basis to persons in the Kingdom of Bahrain who are an "accredited investor".

For this purpose, an "accredited investor" means:

- (a) an individual holding financial assets (either singly or jointly with a spouse) of US\$1,000,000 or more excluding that person's principal place of residence; or
- (b) a company, partnership, trust or other commercial undertaking which has financial assets available for investment of not less than US\$1,000,000; or
- (c) a government, supranational organisation, central bank or other national monetary authority or a state organisation whose main activity is to invest in financial instruments (such as a state pension fund).

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

No action has been or will be taken in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that would permit a public or parallel market offering of the Notes. Any investor in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia or who is a Saudi person (a "Saudi Investor") who acquires any Notes pursuant to an offering should note that the offer of Notes is a private placement under Article 9 or Article 10 of the "Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations" as issued by the Board of the Capital Market Authority ("CMA") resolution number 3-123-2017 dated 9/4/1439H corresponding to 27/12/2017G and as amended by the resolution number 1-104-2019 dated 1/2/1441H corresponding to 30/09/2019H issued by the Board of the CMA (the "KSA Regulations"), made through a person authorised by the CMA to carry on the securities activity of arranging and following a notification to the CMA under the KSA Regulations.

The Notes may thus not be advertised, offered or sold to any person in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia other than to "sophisticated investors" under Article 9 of the KSA Regulations or by way of a limited offer under Article 10 of the KSA Regulations. Any offer of Notes to a Saudi Investor will be made in compliance with the KSA Regulations.

Investors are informed that Article 15 of the KSA Regulations places restrictions on secondary market activity with respect to the Notes acquired pursuant to a private placement, including as follows:

- (a) a Saudi Investor (referred to as a "**transferor**") who has acquired Notes pursuant to a private placement may not offer or sell Notes to any person (referred to as a "**transferee**") unless the offer or sale is made through an authorised person where one of the following requirements is met:
 - the price to be paid for the Notes in any one transaction is equal to or exceeds 1 million Saudi Riyals or an equivalent amount;
 - (ii) the Notes are offered or sold to a sophisticated investor; or
 - (iii) the Notes are being offered or sold in such other circumstances as the CMA may prescribe for these purposes;
- (b) if the requirement of paragraph (a)(i) above cannot be fulfilled because the price of the Notes being offered or sold to the transferee has declined since the date of the original private placement, the transferor may offer or sell the Notes to the transferee if their purchase price during the period of the original private placement was equal to or exceeded 1 million Saudi Riyals or an equivalent amount;
- (c) if the requirement in paragraph (b) above cannot be fulfilled, the transferor may offer or sell Notes if he/she sells his/her entire holding of Notes to one transferee;
- (d) the provisions of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) above shall apply to all subsequent transferees of the Notes; and

(e) the restrictions in Article 15 of the KSA Regulations shall cease to apply upon approval of listing on the exchange of securities of the same class as the securities that are subject to such restrictions.

In addition, unless the Issuer agrees otherwise in relation to a Tranche of Notes, Notes may not be offered or sold to any person registered as a qualified foreign investor ("QFI") under the CMA's Rules for Qualified Foreign Financial Institutions Investment in Listed Securities.

Korea

The Notes have not been and will not be registered with the Financial Services Commission of Korea for public offering in Korea under the Financial Investment Services and Capital Markets Act of Korea and the decrees and regulations thereunder. The Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, or offered or sold for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Korea or to any resident of Korea (as defined under the Foreign Exchange Transaction Law of Korea and its Presidential Decree), except as otherwise permitted by the applicable Korean laws and regulations.

Lebanese Republic

The marketing, offering, distribution and sale of Notes in the Lebanese Republic shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations in the Lebanese Republic, in particular, those issued by the Lebanese Central Bank and the Capital Markets Authority in Lebanon.

Malaysia

No recognition by the Securities Commission of Malaysia pursuant to Section 212 of the Malaysian Capital Markets and Services Act 2007 nor approval of any other Malaysian regulatory authority has been or will be obtained in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes in Malaysia nor will any Prospectus or other offering material or document in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes be registered or lodged with the Securities Commission of Malaysia or any other Malaysian regulatory authority. Accordingly, the Notes are not being, and will not be deemed to be, issued, made available, offered for subscription or purchase, directly or indirectly, in Malaysia and neither this Base Prospectus nor any document or other material in connection therewith is being or will be distributed, circulated or caused to be distributed or circulated or made available, in Malaysia.

Mexico

The Notes have not been and will not be registered with the Mexican National Securities Registry (*Registro Nacional de Valores*) maintained by the Mexican National Banking and Securities Commission (*Comisión Nacional Bancaria y de Valores*) (the "CNBV"), and may not be offered or sold publicly in Mexico, except that the Notes may be offered to institutional and qualified investors pursuant to the private placement exemption set forth in article 8 of the Mexican Securities Market Law (*Ley del Mercado de Valores*). The information contained in this Base Prospectus and in the Final Terms is exclusively the responsibility of the Issuer and has not been reviewed or authorised by the CNBV. The acquisition of the Notes by an investor who is a resident of Mexico will be made under such investor's own responsibility.

People's Republic of China

Notes linked to PRC Underlyings (including those underlying an Underlying Index) (for the purpose of this section, the "PRC Linked Notes") may not be offered or sold in the People's Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong") and the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic China ("Macau") and Taiwan, the "PRC"), directly or indirectly or offered or sold to any Domestic Investor, or to any person using funds to purchase the PRC Underlying Notes sourced from any Domestic Investor, where "Domestic Investor" means:

- (a) PRC Citizens resident in the PRC;
- (b) PRC Citizens resident outside the PRC who are not permanent residents of another country or permanent residents of Hong Kong, Macau or Taiwan; and
- (c) legal entities registered in the PRC.

"PRC Citizens" means any person holding a "Resident Identification Card" or other equivalent government issued identification of the PRC.

Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the PRC, except as permitted by the laws of the PRC.

In respect of any Notes, this Base Prospectus or any information obtained by reference herein relating to the Notes does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities in the PRC to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in the PRC. This Base Prospectus, any information contained herein or the Notes have not been, or will not be, submitted to, approved by, verified by or registered with any relevant governmental authorities in the PRC and thus may not be supplied to the public in the PRC or used in connection with any offer for the subscription or sale of the Notes in the PRC. The Issuer does not represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in the PRC, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by the Issuer which would permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this Base Prospectus in the PRC.

China Connect Underlying

Notes linked to China Connect Underlying (including those underlying a Reference Index where the Final Terms specify that China Connect Underlying is applicable) may not be offered or sold in the PRC directly or indirectly or offered or sold to any Domestic Investor, where "**Domestic Investor**" means:

- (a) a PRC Citizen resident or domiciled in the PRC; and/or
- (b) a legal entity incorporated or registered in the PRC.

In addition, Notes linked to a China Connect Underlying that is listed on the ChiNext Market of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange ("ChiNext Shares") may be offered or sold only to an investor that is a "professional investor" within the meaning of paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h) or (i) of the definition of "professional investor" in section 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the SFO or a type of investor that is permitted or approved by the China Connect Market, The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation, Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited or any regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction to trade ChiNext Shares through China Connect ("Eligible ChiNext Investor") for as long as applicable laws or regulations requires investors to be Eligible ChiNext Investors.

Other Notes

In respect of Notes other than the PRC Linked Notes, the Notes may only be invested in by the PRC investors that are authorised to engage in investing in the Notes of the type being offered or sold. Investors are responsible for obtaining all relevant government approvals, verifications, licenses or registrations (if any) from all relevant PRC governmental authorities, including, but not limited to, the State Administration of Foreign Exchange and other relevant regulatory bodies, and complying with all relevant PRC regulations, including, but not limited to, any relevant foreign exchange regulations and/ or overseas investment regulations.

Peru

The contents of this Base Prospectus and the Notes issued and traded hereunder, have not been reviewed nor authorised by the Capital Markets Superintendence (*Superintendencia del Mercado de Valores*, the "SMV") nor the Private Pension Funds, Banking and Insurance Superintendence (Superintendencia de Banca, Seguros y AFP, the "SBS"). Therefore, investors will not benefit from protection of any of the aforementioned regulatory authorities.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered with the Capital Markets Public Registry of the SMV nor the Lima Stock Exchange Registry ("**RBVL**") for their public offering in Peru under the Peruvian Capital Markets Law (Law N°861/ Supreme Decree N°093-2002) and the decrees and regulations thereunder.

Consequently, Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor this Base Prospectus, any relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Notes be distributed or caused to be distributed to the general public in Peru, unless the offering or selling of Notes comply with the Private Offer Exemptions (as defined below).

"Private Offer Exemptions" means an offer of Notes, where no Mass-marketing is used, and made:

- (i) exclusively to institutional investors; or
- (ii) where the minimum investment amount is greater than or equal to S/. 499,908.25 (approximately USD 151,200.00) (either in a single transaction or in aggregate).

"Mass-marketing" means a marketing strategy utilising mass distribution and mass media to offer, negotiate or distribute securities to the whole market. Mass media includes newspapers, magazines, radio, television, mail, meetings, social network, internet servers located in Peru, and other media or technology platforms.

Philippines

The Notes being offered or sold herein have not been registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Regulation Code of the Philippines ("SRC"). Any offer or sale thereof in the Philippines is prohibited unless the Notes have first been registered in accordance with the registration requirements of the SRC or such offer or sale qualifies as an exempt transaction.

Each of the following restrictions must be observed by Noteholders in relation to sales, transfers or disposals of all or any part of its legal or beneficial interests in the Notes or offers to do so:

- (a) To the extent that the Notes are offered, sold or distributed in the Philippines, the Noteholder, by purchasing the Notes, agrees for the benefit of the Issuer that the Notes may not be subsequently offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except in compliance with Philippine laws and regulations (in addition to the laws of other jurisdictions, as applicable) and may be offered, sold or distributed only to "Qualified Buyers" as defined under Subsection 10.1(1) of the SRC.
- (b) No Noteholder shall sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or part of its legal or beneficial interests in the Notes to another person or persons nor offer to do so, unless such sale, transfer, disposal or offer is subject to the condition that such person(s) shall undertake to observe the restrictions set out herein.

Without limitation to paragraphs (a) and (b) above, each Noteholder shall observe all applicable laws and regulations in the Philippines in connection with the offer, sale, transfer or other disposition of all or any part of its legal or beneficial interests in the Notes or the distribution of any document or other material in connection therewith.

Portugal

An offer of Notes to the public in Portugal can only be made in compliance with the Portuguese Securities Code (*Código dos Valores Mobiliários*, approved by *Decreto-Lei n.º n.º 486/99*, *de 13 de novembro*, as amended – "**Portuguese Securities Code**") and the applicable laws, regulations and procedures in Portugal and formalities required by Portuguese laws and regulations to permit the offering and sale of Notes in Portugal, including any related documents or marketing materials. For the purposes of this provision, the expression "the public in Portugal" does not include professional investors as defined in Article 30(1) of the Portuguese Securities Code.

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in Portugal where the issuance or marketing of such Notes are subject to the supervision of the Portuguese Securities Market Commission (the "CMVM") and to CMVM Regulation 8/2018. Consequently, the requirements of the CMVM Regulation 8/2018 in respect of Packaged Retail Investment Products have not been met and therefore offering or selling the Notes in or into Portugal may not be permitted without complying with the requirements set out in the CMVM Regulation 8/2018 and other applicable laws and regulations in Portugal.

For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended ("MiFID II").

Republic of Chile

Neither the Issuer nor the Notes have been registered with the *Comisión para el Mercado Financiero* pursuant to law no. 18,045 (the "*Ley de Mercado de Valores*") and regulations thereunder, therefore, they cannot be publicly offered in the Republic of Chile. This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase the Notes in the Republic of Chile, other than to individually identified investors pursuant to a private offering within the meaning of article 4 of the *Ley de Mercado de Valores* (i.e. an offer that is not addressed to the public at large or to a certain sector or specific group of the public).

Republic of Panama

Notes may not be publicly offered, sold and distributed in the Republic of Panama without registration with the Superintendence of the Securities Market (the "**Superintendence**") pursuant to the provisions of Decree Law No. 1 of 1999, as amended by Law 67 of 2011 (the "**Panama Securities Law**"). However, under the Panama Securities Law, registration of offers, sales, and transactions of the Notes is not required if the Notes are offered and/or sold under a private placement exemption, as follows:

- (i) Private tenders (under the "25/10 rule"): offers of securities made by an issuer or its affiliate to not exceeding twenty-five persons, or such other number of persons determined by the Superintendence, and which jointly results in the sale of such securities to not exceeding ten persons, or such other number of persons determined by the Superintendence, within a one year period; or
- (ii) Institutional investors: offers of securities and sales made to institutional investors who, because of their expertise in the securities markets, as determined by the Superintendence, have the know-how and the financial capacity to evaluate and assume the risks of investing in such securities without requiring the protections granted by the Panama Securities Law.

In this respect, Resolution 1-2001 issued by the Superintendence establishes that the following entities will be considered institutional investors:

- 1. Banks, insurance companies, re-insurance companies, mutual fund companies registered with the Superintendence, investments trusts administered by a corporation with a trust license, pension funds and pensions regulated by Law 10 of 1993 and brokerage houses acting on their own account and for their own risk and if such investment accounts are duly segregated.
- 2. Legal entities (including, but not limited to, corporations or private interest foundations) domiciled in the Republic of Panama with regular operations in the management of investments or which have had for at least two years prior to the date on which the offer or sale of securities was made, a patrimony of no less than USD one million pursuant to their last financial statement and whose principal executive or a majority of the directors and officers have at least two years of experience in the regular management of investments.
- 3. Sovereign states, and public entities that by their nature are authorized to make investments (for example, the Trust Fund for Development (*Fondo para el Desarrollo*) and the Social Security Fund (*Fondo de la Caja de Seguro Social*) which are both Panamanian public entities).

Russia

The Notes have not been and will not be offered, transferred or sold as part of their initial distribution or at any time thereafter to or for the benefit of any persons (including legal entities) resident, incorporated, established or having their usual residence in the Russian Federation or to any person located within the territory of the Russian Federation unless and to the extent otherwise permitted under Russian law.

Singapore

This Base Prospectus has not been registered and will not be registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. The Notes may not be offered or sold, nor may the Notes be the subject of an

invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, nor may this Base Prospectus or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase of the Notes be circulated or distributed, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (a) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA")) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (b) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA or (c) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except:

- 1. to an institutional investor or to a relevant person or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;
- 2. where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
- 3. where the transfer is by operation of law;
- 4. as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
- 5. as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018.

State of Kuwait

No Notes have been licensed for offering in the State of Kuwait by the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority or any other relevant Kuwaiti government agency. The Notes shall not be offered, sold, promoted or advertised in the State of Kuwait other than in compliance with Law No. 7 of 2010 and the bylaws thereto (each as amended), together with the various resolutions, regulations, directives and instructions issued pursuant thereto or in connection therewith (regardless of nomenclature), or any other applicable law or regulation in the State of Kuwait, in respect of the offering, marketing and/or sale of securities. No private or public offering of the Notes is being made in the State of Kuwait, and no agreement relating to the sale of the Notes will be concluded in the State of Kuwait. No marketing or solicitation or inducement activities are being used to offer or market the Notes in the State of Kuwait.

State of Qatar (including Qatar Financial Centre)

The Notes shall not be offered, delivered or sold at any time, directly or indirectly, in the State of Qatar (including the Qatar Financial Centre), except: (a) in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations of the State of Qatar (including the Qatar Financial Centre); and (b) through persons or corporate entities authorised and licensed to provide investment advice and/or engage in brokerage activity and/or trade in respect of foreign securities in the State of Qatar (including the Qatar Financial Centre). This Base Prospectus has not been filed with, reviewed or approved by the Qatar Central Bank, the Qatar Stock Exchange, the Qatar Financial Centre Regulatory Authority, the Qatar Financial Markets Authority or any other relevant Qatar governmental body or securities exchange. This Base Prospectus is only intended for specific recipients in compliance with the foregoing and may not be publicly distributed in the State of Qatar (including the Qatar Financial Centre).

Sultanate of Oman

This Base Prospectus has not been filed with or registered as a prospectus with the Capital Market Authority of the Sultanate of Oman pursuant to Article 3 of the Capital Market Law Sultani Decree 80/98, as amended ("Article 3"), and the Notes will not be offered or sold as a public offer of securities in the Sultanate of Oman (as contemplated by the Oman Commercial Companies Law) or Article 3, nor does this Base Prospectus or the issue or offering of any Notes constitute a sukuk offering pursuant to the Sukuk Regulation issued by the Capital Market Authority of Oman (CMA Decision 3/2016). The Notes to be issued under the Programme and this Base Prospectus have not been and will not be offered, sold or delivered, and no invitation to subscribe for or to purchase the Notes has been or will be made, directly or indirectly, nor may any document or other material in connection therewith be distributed in the Sultanate of Oman to any person in the Sultanate of Oman other than by an entity duly licensed by the Capital Market Authority of Oman to market non-Omani securities in the Sultanate of Oman and then only in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations, including Article 139 of the Executive Regulations of the Capital Markets Law (Decision No. 1/2009, as amended).

Switzerland

The Notes are not subject to the approval of, or supervision by, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority ("FINMA") and investors in the Notes will not benefit from supervision by FINMA. Notes issued under the Programme do not constitute participations in a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes of 23 June 2006 ("CISA"), as amended. Notes issued under the Programme are neither issued nor guaranteed by a Swiss financial intermediary. Investors are exposed to the credit risk of the Issuer.

Any Notes which are intended to be publicly offered in Switzerland pursuant to Art. 35 para. 1 Swiss Financial Services Act ("**FinSA**") may only be offered in accordance with FinSA. In particular, this Base Prospectus and the applicable Final Terms must comply with FinSA and its implementing ordinance, i.e., the Swiss Federal Financial Services Ordinance ("**FinSO**").

Any Notes which are not intended to be publicly offered in Switzerland (so-called exempt offers) may only be offered or distributed:

- 1. if such offer is strictly limited to investors that qualify as professional clients ("**Professional Clients**", as set out below) according to Article 4 para. 3 and Article 5 para. 1 FinSA. Accordingly, the Notes may only be distributed or offered, and the Base Prospectus or any other marketing material relating to the Notes may be made available to Professional Clients in Switzerland; in this case, the offering of the Notes in, into or from Switzerland is exempt from the requirement to prepare and publish a Prospectus under FinSA;
- 2. if such offer constitutes an exempt offer pursuant to specific provisions regarding exempt offers pursuant to Article 36 FinSA which (a) is addressed to less than 500 investors, (b) is only addressed to investors that purchase financial instruments in an amount of at least CHF 100,000 (or equivalent in other currencies), (c) has a minimum denomination of CHF 100,000 (or equivalent in other currencies), or (d) does not exceed the value of CHF 8 million (or equivalent in other currencies) calculated over a period of 12 months; in this case, the offering of the Notes in, into or from Switzerland is exempt from the requirement to prepare and publish a Prospectus under FinSA.

Professional Clients in terms of the FinSA specifically include:

- (a) Swiss regulated financial intermediaries such as banks, securities houses, fund management companies, asset managers of collective investments, or regular asset managers;
- (b) Swiss regulated insurance companies;
- (c) foreign clients which are subject to a prudential supervision under the laws of their incorporation of jurisdiction equivalent to that applicable to persons listed under paragraphs (a) and (b) above;
- (d) central banks;
- (e) public entities with professional treasury operations;

- (f) occupational pension schemes and other institutions whose purpose is to serve occupational pensions with professional treasury operations;
- (g) companies with professional treasury operations;
- (h) large companies; and
- private investment structures with professional treasury operations created for high-net-worth private (retail) clients.

In addition, high-net-worth private (retail) clients and private investment structures created for them may declare that they wish to be treated as Professional Clients in accordance with Article 5 FinSA (opting out).

In addition, in the case of offerings of Notes that constitute debt instruments with a "derivative character" that will be made to private (retail) clients in, into or from Switzerland (as such expressions are understood under FinSA and FinSO), a key information document (KID) prepared in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of November 26, 2014 on key information documents for packaged retail and insurance-based investment products (PRIIPs) must be made available. The Issuer reserves the right to make available a simplified Prospectus pursuant to former Art. 5 para. 2 CISA instead of a KID until the expiration of the grand-fathering period, i.e. until the end of 2021.

The Notes will not be admitted to trading on any trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland.

Taiwan

Notes, other than Taiwan-Linked Notes (which are dealt with below), shall not be distributed, offered or sold in Taiwan but may be made available to Taiwan investors outside Taiwan for purchase by such investors either directly or through such financial institutions as may be authorised under the laws of Taiwan and only pursuant to the relevant laws, regulations and self-regulatory guidelines as may be applicable to them.

In respect of Notes linked to Taiwanese Reference Assets (including those underlying an Underlying Index) (for the purpose of this section, the "**Taiwan-Linked Notes**"):

- (a) Taiwan-Linked Notes are not permitted to be offered or distributed in Taiwan.
- (b) Taiwan-Linked Notes are not permitted to be sold to (i) a resident(s) of the People's Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong") and the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Macau") and Taiwan, the "PRC") or an entity(ies) domiciled in the PRC ("PRC Person"), (ii) an entity(ies) other than a fund established outside the PRC (including such entity(ies) established in Hong Kong or Macau) that is controlled by a PRC Person(s), (iii) an entity(ies) other than a fund established outside the PRC (including such entity(ies) established in Hong Kong or Macau) which is more than thirty per cent. (30 per cent.) owned, directly or indirectly, by a PRC Person(s); or (iv) a fund established outside the PRC (including a fund established in Hong Kong or Macau) which is: (A) a publicly offered fund the management company of which is controlled or more than 30 per cent. owned, directly or indirectly, by PRC Persons and the investments in which from PRC Persons exceeds 30 per cent. of assets under management; or (B) a privately placed fund which is controlled or more than 30 per cent. owned, directly or indirectly, by PRC Persons.
- (c) Taiwan-Linked Notes are not permitted to be sold to any holder utilising funds sourced from Taiwan or the PRC for the purposes of purchasing the Taiwan-Linked Notes.

Thailand

The Notes may not be offered or sold, whether directly or indirectly, to any persons in the Kingdom of Thailand. No invitation to subscribe for the Notes shall be made, whether directly or indirectly, in the Kingdom of Thailand. This Base Prospectus or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of such Notes have not been registered with or approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Thailand. This Base Prospectus and any other documents and material in connection with the Notes may be provided to a person in Thailand solely upon request.

They are not intended to be an offer, sale or invitation for subscription or purchase of securities in Thailand and must not be circulated, distributed, offered, solicited, or made available either directly or indirectly, to public or any members of the public in Thailand.

If a purchaser of the Notes wishes to resell the Notes into Thailand, it may resell such Notes only to qualified investors who are permitted to outwardly remit foreign currencies for the purpose of investment in foreign-currency denominated debt securities pursuant to the Thai exchange control law.

United Arab Emirates (excluding the Dubai International Financial Centre)

The Notes have not been and may not be offered, sold or publicly promoted or advertised in the United Arab Emirates (the "UAE") other than in compliance with any laws applicable in the UAE governing the issue, offering and sale of securities.

United States of America

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or the state securities laws of any state of the United States, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S) except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

The Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has agreed that, except as permitted by the Master Note Issuance Agreement:

- (1) if "40-day Distribution Compliance Period" is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, (a) it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes at any time (whether as part of their distribution at any time or otherwise) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons and (b) it will send to each dealer to which it sells Notes a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons; and
- otherwise, (a) it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes, (i) as part of their distribution at any time and (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the Series of which such Notes are a part, as certified to the Principal Paying Agent or the Issuer by such Dealer (or, in the case of a sale of a Tranche of Notes to or through more than one Dealer, by each of such Dealers as to the Notes of such Tranche purchased by or through it, in which case the Principal Paying Agent or the Issuer shall notify each such Dealer when all such Dealers have so certified) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons and, (b) it will send to each dealer to which it sells Notes during the periods referred to in (a)(i) and (ii) above a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.

In addition:

- (1) if "40-day Distribution Compliance Period" is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, an offer or sale of Notes at any time within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering of such Notes) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act; and
- (2) otherwise, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any Tranche of Notes an offer or sale of Notes of such Tranche within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering of such Notes) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

For Bearer Notes issued in accordance with the provisions of U.S. Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) ("TEFRA D"), each Dealer will represent, warrant and agree that (a) except to the extent permitted under TEFRA D, (i) it has not offered or sold, and during the restricted period will not offer or sell, any such Bearer Notes to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person and (ii) it has not delivered and will not deliver within the United States or its possessions any Definitive Notes that are sold during the restricted period; (b) it has and throughout the restricted period will have in effect procedures reasonably designed to ensure that its employees or agents who are directly engaged in selling such Bearer Notes are aware that such Bearer Notes may not be offered or sold during the restricted period to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except as permitted by TEFRA D; (c) if it is a United States person, it is acquiring such Bearer Notes for the purposes of resale in connection with their original issuance and if it retains such Bearer Notes for its own account, it will only do so in accordance with the requirements of U.S. Treasury Regulation §1.163 5(c)(2)(i)(D)(6); and (d) with respect to each affiliate that acquires from it such Bearer Notes for the purpose of offering or selling such Bearer Notes during the restricted period, such Dealer repeats and confirms the representations and agreements contained in this Subscription and Sale of Notes section; and (e) it shall obtain for the benefit of the Issuer the representations and agreements contained in (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) above of this paragraph from any person other than its affiliate with whom it enters into a written contract, (a "distributor") as defined in United States Treasury Regulations § 1.163 5(c)(2)(i)(D)(4), for the offer or sale during the restricted period of Bearer Notes. Terms used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and Treasury Regulations thereunder, including TEFRA D.

Permanent Global Notes in bearer form issued in accordance with TEFRA D will include the following legend on the face of the Bearer Notes, Talons and Coupons:

"Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to the limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in section 165(j)) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code."

For Bearer Notes issued in accordance with the provisions of the U.S. Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) ("TEFRA C"), such Bearer Notes must be issued and delivered outside the United States and its possessions in connection with their original issuance. Each Dealer will represent, warrant and agree that it has not engaged in interstate commerce in connection with such issuance and has not offered, sold or delivered, and will not offer, sell or deliver, directly or indirectly, such Bearer Notes within the United States or its possessions in connection with their original issuance. Further, each Dealer will represent, warrant and agree in connection with the original issuance of such Bearer Notes that it has not communicated, and will not communicate, directly or indirectly, with a prospective purchaser if either of such Dealer or such prospective purchaser is within the United States or its possessions and will not otherwise involve any of its U.S. offices in the offer or sale of such Bearer Notes. Terms used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and Treasury Regulations thereunder, including TEFRA C.

Uruguay

Neither the Notes nor the Issuer are registered with the Superintendency of Financial Services of the Central Bank of Uruguay allowing the Notes to be publicly offered in Uruguay, since the placement qualifies as a private placement under section 2 of Uruguayan law 18.627.

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE WARRANTS

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE WARRANTS

The following is the text of the terms and conditions applicable to the Warrants (the "Conditions") which apply to all Warrants and which are completed by the Final Terms for each issue of Warrants.

The Warrants are issued by HSBC Bank plc (the "Issuer") pursuant to a programme for the issuance of notes and warrants (the "Programme"). The Warrants have the benefit of a warrant agency agreement dated 24 February 1999 as most recently modified, supplemented and/or restated on or about 28 May 2020 (as further modified and/or amended from time to time, the "Warrant Agency Agreement") made between, among others, the Issuer, HSBC Bank plc and HSBC Continental Europe (formerly known as HSBC France) as calculation agents (HSBC Bank plc or, as the case may be, HSBC Continental Europe being the "Calculation Agent" with respect to the Warrants, which expression shall include any successor or other Calculation Agent appointed pursuant to the Warrant Agency Agreement and specified in the relevant Final Terms), HSBC Bank plc as principal warrant agent (HSBC Bank plc being the "Principal Warrant Agent", which expression includes any successor or other principal warrant agent appointed pursuant to the Warrant Agency Agreement, together with any successor or other warrant agent appointed pursuant to the Warrant Agency Agreement and specified in the relevant Final Terms (the "Warrant Agents")) and HSBC Bank plc as authentication agent (HSBC Bank plc being the "Authentication Agent", which expression includes any successor or other authentication agent appointed pursuant to the Warrant Agency Agreement) and HSBC Bank USA, National Association as warrant transfer agent (the "Warrant Transfer Agent", which expression includes any successor or other warrant transfer agent appointed pursuant to the Warrant Agency Agreement) and HSBC Bank USA, National Association as warrant registrar (the "Warrant Registrar", which expression includes any additional or successor or other warrant registrar appointed in accordance with the Warrant Agency Agreement).

In addition, the Issuer has entered into a deed of covenant dated on or about 28 May 2020 (such deed, as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Warrant Deed of Covenant") for the purposes of, among other things, constituting Warrants in definitive registered form.

As used herein, the expression "Warrant Agents" shall include the Principal Warrant Agent and any other warrant agents appointed pursuant to the Warrant Agency Agreement. The Warrants also have the benefit of a master warrant issuance agreement dated 24 February 1999 as most recently modified, supplemented and/or restated on or about 28 May 2020 (as further modified and/or amended from time to time, the "Master Warrant Issuance Agreement") and made between the Issuer and, HSBC Bank plc, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and HSBC Continental Europe as managers (in this capacity, each a "Manager" and together, the "Managers", which expression shall include any additional or successor Manager(s)).

Copies of the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement, the Warrant Agency Agreement, the Computershare Agency Agreement, Warrant Deed of Covenant are available for inspection by the Warrantholders (as defined below), and copies of the relevant Final Terms (as defined below), this Base Prospectus and any supplements thereto may be obtained in each case during normal business hours at the specified offices of the Issuer and the Principal Warrant Agent. The Warrantholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions (including the form of Exercise Notice referred to in Condition 5 (*Exercise Procedure*)) of the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement, the Warrant Agency Agreement and the Warrant Deed of Covenant.

All Warrants will be issued in series (each, a "**Series**") and each Series may comprise one or more tranches (each a "**Tranche**") of Warrants issued on different issue dates. Each Tranche will be the subject of a Final Terms (each, the "**Final Terms**").

Words and expressions defined in the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement or the Warrant Agency Agreement or used in the relevant Final Terms shall have the same meanings where used in these Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and **provided that**, in the event of inconsistency between any of the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement, the Warrant Agency Agreement and the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Final Terms will prevail.

1. **Definitions**

- "Administrator/Benchmark Event" means, in respect of any Series of Warrants and a Relevant Benchmark, any authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision, approval or inclusion in any official register in respect of the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator or sponsor of the Relevant Benchmark has not been, or will not be, obtained or has been, or will be, rejected, refused, suspended or withdrawn by the relevant competent authority or other relevant official body, in each case, as required under any applicable law or regulation in order for the Issuer, the Calculation Agent or any other entity to perform its or their respective obligations in respect of the Warrants, all as determined by the Issuer;
- "Affected Relevant Benchmark" means, in relation to any Series of Warrants, the Relevant Benchmark affected by a Benchmark Trigger Event;
- "**Agents**" means each of the Warrant Agents, the Warrant Transfer Agent, Authentication Agent and the Warrant Registrar;
- "Alternative Payment Currency" means the currency which may be Offshore RMB specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent" means the relevant amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent converted into the relevant Alternative Payment Currency using the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate for the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date;

"Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate" means

- (i) the rate of exchange between the Settlement Currency and Alternative Payment Currency (expressed as the number of units of Alternative Payment Currency per one unit of Settlement Currency or as the number of units of Settlement Currency per one unit of Alternative Payment Currency (as applicable)) as published on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page at the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date and as observed by the Calculation Agent;
- (ii) if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of exchange determined in accordance with, or derived from the Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate and the Settlement Currency Exchange Rate, as determined by the Calculation Agent; or
- (iii) such other rate as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

The Calculation Agent shall round such rate to the closest four (4) decimal places, 0.00005 being rounded up. If on an Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date the Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent and (a) if Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in accordance with the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms or if the Calculation Agent is not able to determine the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in accordance with such Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in its discretion; or (b) if such Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are not specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent will determine the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate in accordance with sub-paragraphs (i) or (ii) above, as applicable, of Condition 5(g) (Exercise Procedure – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption) or, if Price Source Disruption is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, in its discretion;

"Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate" means, for any Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Alternative Payment Currency as published on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page at or around the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date" means:

- (i) the date specified as such in the Final Terms;
- (ii) if "Condition 1" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Cash Settlement Payment Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as appropriate); or
- otherwise, the fifth day (or such other number of days specified in the relevant Final Terms) prior to the Cash Settlement Payment Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as appropriate).

If such date falls on a day that is a Saturday or Sunday or on which commercial banks are not open for general business and dealings in foreign exchange in the jurisdiction or place specified in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such jurisdiction or place is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, the Alternative Payment Currency Jurisdiction and, if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency Jurisdiction (a "closed day"), then:

- (x) if "Condition 1" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date shall be the immediately following calendar day that is not a closed day; and
- (y) otherwise, the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date shall be the immediately preceding calendar day that is not a closed day;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or any successor page thereof or, if such page is not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate by reference to the spot rate prevailing in the international exchange market;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time" means the time and place specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms;
- "Alternative Payment Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Alternative Payment Settlement Days" means the number of local banking days specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or if the relevant Final Terms does not specify any Alternative Payment Settlement Days then the Alternative Payment Settlement Days shall be deemed to be 3 local banking days;
- "Alternative Pre-nominated Index" means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark, the first of the indices, benchmarks or other price sources specified in the relevant Final Terms as an "Alternative Pre-nominated Index" and which is not subject to a Benchmark Trigger Event;

"Benchmark Trigger Event" means:

- in respect of a Series of Warrants that references a Relevant Benchmark that is an interest rate, yield, cost of funds or similar rate, an Index Cessation Event and an Administrator/Benchmark Event; and
- (b) in respect of any other Series of Warrants, an Administrator/Benchmark Event;
- "Benchmark Trigger Event Determination Date" means, in relation to any Series of Warrants and a Relevant Benchmark, the date on which a Benchmark Trigger Event occurred or will be deemed to have occurred in relation to such Relevant Benchmark, as determined by the Issuer in its sole discretion:

"Business Centre" means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Business Day" means:

- (i) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a Euro Business Day and a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London and each (if any) Business Centre and on which the relevant Clearing System is open for business; and
- (ii) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London, in the principal financial centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Business Centre and on which the relevant Clearing System is open for business;
- "Cash Settlement" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 4(d) (*Rights on Exercise Cash Settlement*);
- "Cash Settlement Amount" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 4(d) (Rights on Exercise Cash Settlement);
- "Cash Settlement Payment Date" means (1) the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or (2) if such day is not a Business Day, the following Business Day or, (3) if later, such number of Business Days specified in the relevant Final Terms (or, if no such number is specified, 5 Business Days) following the Exercise Date;
- "Clearing System" means in relation to a series of Warrants, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, and/or any other clearing system specified in the relevant Final Terms in which Warrants of the relevant Series are for the time being held, or in relation to an individual Warrant, that Warrant is for the time being held, in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Clearing System Currency Eligibility Event" means the relevant Clearing System(s) ceases to accept payments in the Settlement Currency;
- "Clearstream, Luxembourg" means Clearstream Banking S.A.;
- "Cross Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, or if such currency is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency shall mean USD;
- "Cross Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "**Deferral Period**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 5(g)(X)(B) (*Exercise Procedure Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*);
- "EMU Event" means the occurrence of any of the following, as determined by the Calculation Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable manner:
- (i) the withdrawal from legal tender of any currency that, before the introduction of the euro, was lawful currency in one of the member states;
- (ii) the redenomination of any underlying value to which the Warrants relate into euro;
- (iii) any change in the currency of denomination of any index;
- (iv) any change in the currency in which some or all the securities or other property contained in any index is denominated;
- (v) the disappearance or replacement of a relevant rate option or other price source for the national currency of any member state, or the failure of the agreed sponsor (or successor sponsor) to publish or display a relevant rate, index, price, page or screen; or
- (vi) the change by any organised market, exchange or clearance, payment or settlement system in the unit of account of its operating procedures to the euro.

"Euro", "euro" "EUR", "€" each means the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that have adopted or adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty;

"Euro Business Day" or "TARGET Business Day" means a day on which TARGET2 is open for settlement of payments in euro;

"Euroclear" means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.;

"Exercise Date" means, in respect of any Warrant, the day on which an Exercise Notice relating to that Warrant is delivered in accordance with the provisions of Condition 5(a) (Exercise Procedure – Exercise Notice) or, if Automatic Exercise is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Expiry Date, in accordance with the provisions of Condition 4(f) (Rights on Exercise – Automatic Exercise); provided, however, that:

- (i) if the Exercise Notice is delivered (A) on any day which is not a Business Day or (B) after 10.00 a.m. (local time in the place where the Clearing System through which such Warrants are exercised is located) on any Business Day, then, in either such case, the Exercise Date shall be the next succeeding day which is a Business Day; and
- (ii) except as provided in (i) above, the Exercise Date may not be later than the Expiry Date;

"Exercise Notice" means any notice in the form scheduled to the Warrant Agency Agreement or such other form as may from time to time be agreed by the Issuer and the Principal Warrant Agent which is delivered by a Warrantholder in accordance with Condition 5(a) (Exercise Procedure – Exercise Notice);

"Exercise Period" means the period beginning on (and including) such date as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms and ending on (and including) the Expiry Date;

"Expiry Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, provided, however, that, if the Scheduled FX Fixing Date on or immediately preceding the Expiry Date is postponed pursuant to the provisions of Condition 5(g) (Exercise Procedure – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption), then the Expiry Date shall be the Business Day immediately following the later of the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date or, if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable;

"Face Value" means, in respect of a Warrant, the face value of such Warrant identified or specified as such in the relevant Final Terms:

"Fair Market Value" means, in relation to any Warrant which is to be terminated early, its fair market value immediately prior to the early termination date, as determined by the Issuer (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) and/or the Calculation Agent as applicable, less any reasonable costs and expenses of the Issuer and/or any affiliate of the Issuer of unwinding any underlying and/or related hedging and/or funding arrangements, and any such calculation of the fair market value shall have the effect of preserving for the Warrantholders the economic equivalent of the obligations of the Issuer to make payments in respect of the Warrants which would, but for such early termination, have fallen due after the relevant early termination date;

"**FX Cut-off Date**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 5(g) (*Exercise Procedure – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*);

"FX Disruption Event" means the occurrence, as determined by the Calculation Agent, of (i) (a) an Inconvertibility, (b) Non-transferability, (c) Illiquidity or (d) any other event affecting the Cross Currency, Reference Currency, Settlement Currency or Specified Currency (as applicable) (the "FX Disruption Relevant Currency") which would make it unlawful or impractical in whole or in part (including without limitation, as a result of compliance with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive or with any requirement or request of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial power) for the Issuer (or the Issuer's affiliate) to pay or receive amounts in the FX Disruption Relevant Currency under or in respect of any hedging arrangement relating to or connected with the FX Disruption Relevant Currency; or (ii) if Offshore RMB is specified as the applicable FX Disruption Relevant Currency, each of the events specified in (i) above, plus an Offshore RMB Disruption;

"Governmental Authority" means any *de facto* or *de jure* government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) in the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or, where the Settlement Currency is specified to be RMB, in the PRC and each Offshore RMB Centre;

"**Holder**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 2(b) (*Form and Transfer – Registered Warrants*);

"Illiquidity" means where the foreign exchange market in the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction becomes illiquid after the Trade Date and, as a result of which, the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient Settlement Currency in order to satisfy its obligation to pay any amount in respect of the Warrants as determined by the Issuer acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation (if practicable) with two Reference Dealers;

"Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible for the Issuer to convert any amount due in respect of the Warrants in the foreign exchange market in the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"Index Cessation Event" means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark which is a Reference Rate or a Floating Rate Option, or any other interest rate, yield, cost of funds or similar rate, the occurrence or existence, as determined by the Issuer, of one or more of the following events:

- (a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark announcing that it has ceased or will cease to provide the Relevant Benchmark permanently or indefinitely, **provided that**, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Relevant Benchmark;
- (b) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark, the central bank for the currency of the Relevant Benchmark, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Relevant Benchmark or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Relevant Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark has ceased or will cease to provide the Relevant Benchmark permanently or indefinitely, **provided that**, at the time of the statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to produce the Relevant Benchmark;
- if the Relevant Benchmark is the Sterling London interbank offered rate, the Swiss Franc London interbank offered rate, the U.S. Dollar London interbank offered rate, the Euro London interbank offered rate, the Japanese Yen London interbank offered rate, the Singapore Dollar swap offer rate or the Thai Baht interest rate fixing (each, a "Specified Rate"), a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Relevant Benchmark announcing (i) that such Relevant Benchmark is no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer be, capable of being representative, or is non-representative, of the underlying market and economic reality that such Relevant Benchmark is intended to measure as required by applicable law or regulation and as determined by the regulatory supervisor in accordance with applicable law or regulation and (ii) that the intention of that statement or publication is to engage contractual triggers for fallbacks activated by pre-cessation announcements by such supervisor (howsoever described) in contracts;
- (d) if the Relevant Benchmark is not a Specified Rate, the making of a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark that, in the view of such supervisor or administrator, the Relevant Benchmark is no longer representative of an underlying market; or

(e) the making of a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark as a consequence of which the Relevant Benchmark will, on or before a specified date (i) be prohibited from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, either generally, or in respect of the Warrants or (ii) be recommended for informational purposes only rather than for use as a benchmark reference rate for securities such as the Warrants;

"Initial Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate" means the rate of exchange between the Specified Currency and the Reference Currency (expressed as the number of units of Reference Currency per one unit of Specified Currency) as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"IRC" means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986;

"Issue Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"LBMA" means the London Bullion Market Association or its successor;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity" means each commodity specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event" means, as determined by the Calculation Agent, an event which is beyond the control of the Issuer or the transferor of the relevant amount of Cash Settlement Amount and/or any other amount in respect of the Warrants and as a result of which the Issuer or such transferor is unable to effect a relevant delivery;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Market Disruption Event" means (i) the material suspension of, or the material limitation imposed on, trading in the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity on any exchange or principal trading market which the Calculation Agent considers material in relation to the Warrants; (ii) the disappearance of, or of trading in the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity; or (iii) the disappearance or permanent discontinuance or unavailability of the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate notwithstanding the status of trading in the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity;

"LBMA Physical Settlement Fall-Back Settlement Amount" means an amount in the Settlement Currency, US Dollar or such other currency as determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion in respect of each Warrant determined by the Calculation Agent, in its sole and absolute discretion, with reference to the price of the LBMA Physical Settlement Commodity to in the spot market on the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date (as applicable);

"LBMA Transfer Notice" has the meaning given in Condition 5(k) (Exercise Procedure – LBMA Physical Settlement);

"Minimum Exercise Number" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 6 (Minimum Number of Warrants Exercisable);

"National Currency Unit" means the national currency unit of any Participating Member State that becomes a denomination of the euro by reason of Council Regulation (EC) No. 1103/97, Council Regulation (EC) No. 974/98 or any other applicable laws;

"New Issuer" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 15 (Substitution);

"Non-transferability" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible for the Issuer to transfer Settlement Currency between accounts inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or from an account inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction to an account outside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction to an account inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"Offshore RMB" means RMB that is freely deliverable between accounts in the Offshore RMB Centre in accordance with the law and applicable regulation and guidelines issued by competent authorities in the Offshore RMB Centre prevailing as of the Trade Date of the Warrants;

"Offshore RMB Centre" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Offshore RMB Disruption" means the occurrence of, as determined by the Calculation Agent, an Offshore RMB Inconvertibility, Offshore RMB Non-transferability or Offshore RMB Illiquidity;

"Offshore RMB Illiquidity" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible (where it has previously been possible) for the Issuer to obtain a firm quote of an offer price in respect of any amount in Offshore RMB in order to satisfy its obligation to pay an amount under the Warrants (the "Relevant Disrupted Amount"), in each case on the due date for payment, Valuation Date or Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date (as the case may be), either in one transaction or a commercially reasonable number of transactions that, when taken together, is no less than such Relevant Disrupted Amount, in the general Offshore RMB exchange market in each Offshore RMB Centre in order to perform its obligations under the Warrants;

"Offshore RMB Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible (where it had previously been possible) for the Issuer to convert an amount of Offshore RMB no less than the Relevant Disrupted Amount into or from USD (or, if the Settlement Currency specified in the Final Terms is other than USD, then such Settlement Currency) in the general Offshore RMB exchange market in each Offshore RMB Centre, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date of the Warrants and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation):

"Offshore RMB Non-Transferability" means the occurrence in each Offshore RMB Centre of any event after the Trade Date that makes it impossible (where it had previously been possible) for the Issuer to transfer Offshore RMB (i) between accounts inside an Offshore RMB Centre, (ii) from an account inside an Offshore RMB Centre to an account outside such Offshore RMB Centre and outside the PRC, or (iii) from an account outside an Offshore RMB Centre and outside the PRC to an account inside such Offshore RMB Centre, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade Date of the Warrants and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation). For the purpose of Offshore RMB Non-Transferability and Hong Kong as an Offshore RMB Centre only, a segregated Chinese Renminbi fiduciary cash account with the People's Bank of China and operated by Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited shall be deemed to be an account inside Hong Kong;

"Participating Member States" means any member state of the European Union that has adopted or adopts the single currency in accordance with the Treaty;

"**Permitted Multiple**" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 6 (*Minimum Number of Warrants Exercisable*);

"Potential Exercise Date" means each date specified as such in the Final Terms or if such date is not a Business Day, the next succeeding date that is a Business Day; provided, however, that, if the Scheduled FX Fixing Date on or immediately preceding the Potential Exercise Date is postponed pursuant to the provisions of Condition 5(g) (Exercise Procedure – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption), then the Potential Exercise Date shall be the Business Day immediately following the later of the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date or, if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable;

"PRC" means solely for the purpose stated herein, the People's Republic of China excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong") and the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Macau") and Taiwan;

"Price Source Disruption" means, in relation to a Relevant Rate, such Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Reference Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Reference Currency Jurisdiction" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Reference Dealers" means leading dealers in the relevant foreign exchange market, as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Reference Currency Exchange Rate" means, for any Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Reference Currency as published on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page at or around the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;

"Related Payment Date" means any payment date on the Warrants on which the amount payable is calculated by reference to the Relevant Rate determined on the related Scheduled FX Fixing Date;

"Relevant Benchmark" means, in relation to any Series of Warrants:

- (a) each interest rate, yield, cost of funds or similar rate specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Warrants (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such interest rate, yield, cost of funds or similar rate);
- (b) each Relevant Rate specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Warrants (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Relevant Rate);
- each Index specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Warrants (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Index);
- each Commodity Reference Price specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Warrants (or, if applicable, the index, benchmark or other price source that is referred to in such Commodity Reference Price); or
- (e) any other index, benchmark or price source specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable to such Warrants.

To the extent that any index, benchmark or price source constitutes an Alternative Pre-nominated Index or Replacement Index used pursuant to Condition 8A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*), such index, benchmark or price source, as applicable, shall be a "Relevant Benchmark" from the day on which it is first used;

"Relevant Benchmark Determination Date" means, in relation to any Series of Warrants and a Relevant Benchmark, a date on which the rate, level or value of such Relevant Benchmark falls to be determined in accordance with the Conditions:

"Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date" means, in relation to any Series of Warrants, a Relevant Benchmark and a Relevant Benchmark Determination Date, any payment date under the Warrants for which the amount payable is calculated by reference to the Relevant Benchmark as determined on such Relevant Benchmark Determination Date;

"Relevant Currency Business Day" means, in relation to a Relevant Rate that is the:

(i) Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate or Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate or Settlement Currency Exchange Rate (which is being determined for the purposes of determining the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate), an Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date; or

Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate, Specified Currency Exchange Rate or Reference Currency Exchange Rate, an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day;

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a Relevant Benchmark:

- (a) the central bank for the currency in which the Relevant Benchmark is denominated or any central bank or other supervisor which is responsible for supervising either the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark; or
- (b) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by, or constituted at the request of (i) the central bank for the currency in which the Relevant Benchmark is denominated, (ii) any central bank or other supervisor which is responsible for supervising either the Relevant Benchmark or the administrator of the Relevant Benchmark, (iii) a group of those central banks or other supervisors or (iv) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof;

"Relevant Rate" means the Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate, Alternative Payment Cross Currency Rate, Reference Currency Exchange Rate, Settlement Currency Exchange Rate, Specified Currency Exchange Rate or Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate (as applicable);

"Relevant Reference Asset Fallback Provisions" means:

- (a) in relation to a Series of Index-Linked Warrants where the Affected Relevant Benchmark is an Index, Condition 19(c)(iii) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Adjustments to Indices Index Cancellation*), as if the relevant Benchmark Trigger Event were an Index Cancellation; and
- (b) in relation to any Series of Warrants where the Affected Relevant Benchmark is a Relevant Rate Condition 5(g) (*Exercise Procedure Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*), as if the relevant Benchmark Trigger Event were a Price Source Disruption will apply.
- "Renminbi", "RMB" and "CNY" all refer to the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan);
- "**Replacement Index**" has the meaning given to it in Condition 8A(a)(ii)(A) (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*);
- "Scheduled FX Fixing Date" has the meaning specified in Condition 5(g) (*Exercise Procedure Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*);
- "Securities Act" means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended;
- "Settlement Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Settlement Currency Exchange Rate" means, for any Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Settlement Currency as published on the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page at or around the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;
- "**Settlement Currency Jurisdiction**" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms:
- "Specified Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
- "Specified Currency Exchange Rate" means, for any Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date, the currency exchange rate between the Cross Currency and the Specified Currency as published on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page at or around the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time and as observed by the Calculation Agent;
- "**Specified Currency Jurisdiction**" means the jurisdiction specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Strike Price" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the relevant Final Terms;

"Taxes" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 5(a)(v) (Exercise Procedure – Exercise Notice);

"TARGET2" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer payment system which utilises a single shared platform and which was launched on 19 November 2007;

"Trade Date" means the date specified as such in the Final Terms;

"Transfer Expenses" means with respect to any Warrants, all stamp, transfer, registration and similar duties and all expenses, scrip fees, levies and registration charges payable on or in respect of or arising on, or in connection with, the purchase or transfer, delivery or other disposition by the transferor to the order of the relevant Warrantholders of any Securities;

"Treaty" means the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended;

"UAE" means the United Arab Emirates;

"Underlying Currency Pair Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business and dealings in foreign exchange in the jurisdiction or place as specified in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such jurisdiction or place is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Reference Currency Jurisdiction(s), the Specified Currency Jurisdiction and, if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Cross Currency Jurisdiction;

"Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate" means:

- (i) the rate of exchange between the Specified Currency and the Reference Currency (expressed as the number of units of Reference Currency per one units of Specified Currency) or as the number of units of Specified Currency per one unit of Reference Currency (as applicable) as published on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page at the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time on an Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date and as observed by the Calculation Agent;
- (ii) if Cross Currency Exchange Rate is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the rate of exchange determined in accordance with, or derived from the Specified Currency Exchange Rate and the Reference Currency Exchange Rate, as determined in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner by the Calculation Agent.

The Calculation Agent shall round such rate to the closest four (4) decimal places, 0.00005 being rounded up. If on an Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date a Relevant Rate is not available for any reason as determined by the Calculation Agent and (a) if Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate in accordance with the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms or if the Calculation Agent is not able to determine the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate in accordance with such Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions are not specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent will determine the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate in accordance with sub-paragraph (i) or (ii), as applicable, of Condition 5(g) (Exercise Procedure – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption) or, if Price Source Disruption is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms in its discretion:

"Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date" means each of the dates specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if such date is not an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day the immediately following day that is an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day, or if such date is not specified in the relevant Final Terms, the fifth Underlying Currency Pair Business Day prior to the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date or other date on which the relevant payment falls due (as

applicable) (and for these purposes a day shall be deemed to be an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day if the market was not aware of it not being an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day (by means of a public announcement or by reference to other publicly available information) on the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date notwithstanding it subsequently ceases to be an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day for any reason or the market subsequently becomes aware that it was not an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day);

"Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page" means the Reuters or other screen page as specified as such in the Final Terms or any successor page thereof or if not specified in the relevant Final Terms or there is no successor page, the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate by reference to the relevant spot rate prevailing in the international exchange market;

"Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time" means the time and place as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other time and place as the Calculation Agent determines in the case of a successor page to the Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page specified in the Final Terms;

"Unscheduled Holiday" means, in relation to a Relevant Rate, a day, determined by the Calculation Agent, that is not a Relevant Currency Business Day and the market was not aware of such fact (by means of a public announcement or by reference to other publicly available information) until on or prior to the second Relevant Currency Business Day (or such other number of Relevant Currency Business Days specified in the relevant Final Terms) immediately preceding the Scheduled FX Fixing Date; and

"Warrantholder" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 2(b)(i) (Form and Transfer – Registered Warrants – General; Title).

2. Form and Transfer

(a) Form; Certifications

Each Tranche of Warrants will be in registered form ("**Registered Warrants**") offered in reliance on Regulation S only, and represented by a Regulation S global registered warrant (the "**Regulation S Global Registered Warrant**").

References in these Conditions to "**Global Registered Warrants**" are to the Regulation S Global Registered Warrant.

Warrants may also be issued in definitive registered form and be represented by definitive registered warrants ("**Definitive Registered Warrants**").

The Warrants have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, as amended, the state securities laws of any state of the United States or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, "U.S. persons" (as defined in Regulation S) except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

(b) Registered Warrants

(i) General; Title

A certificate will be issued to each Warrantholder in respect of its registered holding of Registered Warrants. Each such certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded in the register (the "Register") maintained by the Warrant Registrar in respect of the Registered Warrants. The person for the time being in whose name such Registered Warrant is so registered in the Register shall be the "Warrantholder" or "Holder" of the Warrants represented thereby and shall be treated by the Issuer, the Warrant Agent, the relevant Clearing System(s) and all other persons dealing with such person as the holder thereof, provided however that, for as long as the Registered Warrants are represented by a Global Registered Warrant for all purposes other than

payment, the persons for the time being appearing in the books of the relevant Clearing System as the holder of such Registered Warrant shall be treated as the Warrantholders and these Conditions shall be construed accordingly.

(ii) Transfer of Registered Warrants

Title to Registered Warrants passes by registration in the Register.

(iii) Regulations concerning transfer and registration of Registered Warrants

All transfers of Registered Warrants and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations (the "Regulations") concerning exchange and transfer of Registered Warrants scheduled to the Warrant Agency Agreement. The Regulations may be amended, supplemented or replaced by the Issuer with the prior written approval of the Warrant Registrar but without the consent of the Holders of any Warrants. A copy of the current Regulations are available for inspection during usual business hours at the specified office of the Warrant Registrar and the Warrant Transfer Agents.

3. Status of the Warrants

- (a) The Warrants of each Series constitute direct, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* and without any preference among themselves and, at their date of issue, with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than any such obligations preferred by law).
- (b) The Warrants do not create or transfer in favour of the Warrantholder any legal, proprietary economic, beneficial or other interest in (including, without limitation, voting rights, as applicable) or right to acquire or dispose of any underlying (including, without limitation any reference asset or reference index) or any related purchase, sale, entry into or maintenance of one or more (i) positions or contracts in securities, funds, options, futures, other derivatives or foreign exchange, (ii) stock loan transactions or (iii) other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) as determined in its absolute discretion by the Issuer or an affiliate in order to hedge, individually or on a portfolio basis, a Warrant ("Hedging Positions") and Warrantholders shall have no legal, proprietary, economic, beneficial or other interest in any underlying or Hedging Position by virtue of any investment in the Warrants.
- (c) The Issuer is not obliged to hedge the Warrants by holding any corresponding Hedging Positions in any underlying and has discretion to decide its hedging strategy.

4. Rights on Exercise

(a) "American Style" Exercise

If the Warrants are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "American Style" Warrants, then this Condition 4(a) (*Rights on Exercise – "American Style" Exercise*) is applicable and the Warrants are exercisable on any Business Day during the Exercise Period prior to termination of the Warrants as provided in the Conditions, **provided that** and subject to Condition 4(f) (*Rights on Exercise – Automatic Exercise*), any "American Style" Warrant with respect to which no Exercise Notice has been delivered in the manner set out in Condition 5 (*Exercise Procedure*) shall become void in accordance with Condition 4(e) (*Rights on Exercise – Warrants Void on Expiry*).

(b) "European Style" Exercise

If the Warrants are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "European Style" Warrants, then this Condition 4(b) (*Rights on Exercise – "European Style" Exercise*) is applicable and the Warrants are exercisable only on the Expiry Date, prior to termination of the Warrants as provided in the Conditions, **provided that** and subject to Condition 4(f) (*Rights on Exercise – Automatic Exercise*), any "European Style" Warrant with respect to which no Exercise Notice has been delivered in the manner set out in Condition

5 (Exercise Procedure) shall become void in accordance with Condition 4(e) (Rights on Exercise – Warrants Void on Expiry).

(c) "Bermudan Style" Exercise

If the Warrants are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "Bermudan Style" Warrants, then this Condition 4(c) (*Rights on Exercise – "Bermudan Style" Exercise*) is applicable and the Warrants are exercisable on each Potential Exercise Date and on the Expiry Date, prior to termination of the Warrants as provided in the Conditions, **provided that** and subject to Condition 4(f) (*Rights on Exercise – Automatic Exercise*), any "Bermudan Style" Warrant with respect to which no Exercise Notice has been delivered in the manner set out in Condition 5 (*Exercise Procedure*) shall become void in accordance with Condition 4(e) (*Rights on Exercise – Warrants Void on Expiry*).

(d) Cash Settlement

Each Warrant, upon exercise, entitles the Holder thereof to receive from the Issuer on the Cash Settlement Payment Date (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) an amount ("Cash Settlement") calculated in accordance with the relevant Final Terms (the "Cash Settlement Amount") in the currency (the "Settlement Currency") specified in the relevant Final Terms. The Cash Settlement Amount will be rounded down to the nearest minimum unit of the Settlement Currency, with Warrants exercised at the same time by the same Warrantholder being aggregated for the purpose of determining the aggregate Cash Settlement Amount payable in respect of such Warrants.

(e) Warrants Void on Expiry

Warrants which are not deemed automatically exercised in accordance with Condition 4(f) (*Rights on Exercise – Automatic Exercise*) and with respect to which an Exercise Notice has not been duly completed and delivered to the relevant Clearing System and to the Principal Warrant Agent, in the manner set out in Condition 5 (*Exercise Procedure*), before 10.00 a.m. (local time in the place where the Clearing System through which such Warrants are exercised is located) on the Expiry Date, shall become void.

(f) Automatic Exercise

Notwithstanding Condition 4(e) (*Rights on Exercise – Warrants Void on Expiry*), unless Automatic Exercise is specified as "**Not applicable**" in the relevant Final Terms, any Warrant with respect to which no Exercise Notice has been delivered in the manner set out in Condition 5 (*Exercise Procedure*) by the Expiry Date shall be deemed to be automatically exercised on the Expiry Date and the provisions of Condition 5(h) (*Exercise Procedure – Exercise Risk*) shall apply and in these Conditions the expression "**exercise**" and any related expressions shall be construed to apply to any such Warrants which are deemed to be automatically exercised in accordance with this Condition 4(f) (*Rights on Exercise – Automatic Exercise*).

5. Exercise Procedure

(a) Exercise Notice

Subject to prior termination of the Warrants as provided in the Conditions, Warrants may be exercised on the Exercise Date by the sending of a fax, confirmed in writing, of a duly completed Exercise Notice (copies of which may be obtained from the relevant Clearing System or the Principal Warrant Agent) to the Principal Warrant Agent, not later than 10.00 a.m. (local time in the place where the Clearing System through which such Warrants are exercised is located):

(A) in the case of Warrants specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "American Style" Warrants, on any Business Day during the Exercise Period;

- (B) in the case of Warrants specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "European Style" Warrants, on the Expiry Date, subject to Condition 4(b) (*Rights on Exercise* "*European Style*" *Exercise*); or
- in the case of Warrants specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "Bermudan Style" Warrants, on a Potential Exercise Date, and/or the Expiry Date, subject to Condition 4(c) (Rights on Exercise "Bermudan Style" Exercise).

Subject to Condition 4(e) (*Rights on Exercise – Warrants Void on Expiry*), any Exercise Notice delivered after 10.00 a.m. (local time in the place where the Clearing System through which such Warrants are exercised is located) shall (a) in the case of "European Style" Warrants and "Bermudan Style" Warrants, be null and void and (b) in the case of "American Style" Warrants, be deemed to have been delivered on the next succeeding Business Day.

Each Exercise Notice shall:

- (i) specify the name, address, telephone and facsimile details of the Warrantholder in respect of the Warrants being exercised;
- (ii) specify the number of Warrants of each Tranche being exercised (which must be not less than the Minimum Exercise Number (as defined in Condition 6) (Minimum Number of Warrants Exercisable));
- (iii) specify the number of the Warrantholder's account at the relevant Clearing System to be debited with the Warrants being exercised and irrevocably instruct, or, as the case may be, confirm that the Warrantholder has irrevocably instructed, the relevant Clearing System to debit the Warrantholder's account with the Warrants being exercised and to credit the same to the account of the Principal Warrant Agent;
- (iv) where applicable, specify the number of the Warrantholder's account at the relevant Clearing System to be credited with the Cash Settlement Amount for the Warrants being exercised; and
- (v) include an irrevocable undertaking to pay any applicable stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax and/or other taxes or duties ("Taxes") due by reason of the exercise of the Warrants and an authority to the Issuer and the relevant Clearing System to deduct an amount in respect thereof from any Cash Settlement Amount due to such Warrantholder or otherwise (on, or at any time after, the Cash Settlement Payment Date) to debit a specified account of the Warrantholder at the relevant Clearing System with an amount or amounts in respect thereof, all as provided in the Warrant Agency Agreement.

(b) Verification of Warrantholder

To exercise Warrants, the Holder must duly complete an Exercise Notice and must have Warrants in the amount being exercised in its securities account with the relevant Clearing System on the Exercise Date. The relevant Clearing System will, in accordance with its normal operating procedures, verify that each person exercising such Warrants is the Holder thereof according to the records of such Clearing System and that such Holder has an account at the relevant Clearing System which contains an amount equal to the number of Warrants being exercised. If the Exercise Notice is, in the determination of the relevant Clearing System, improperly completed, or sufficient Warrants are not available in the specified account(s) with the relevant Clearing System on the Exercise Date, the Exercise Notice will be treated as null and void and a new duly completed Exercise Notice must be submitted if exercise of the Holder's Warrants is still desired.

On or prior to the Cash Settlement Payment Date, the relevant Clearing System will debit the Warrantholder's account with the Warrants being exercised.

(c) Notification to Principal Warrant Agent

The relevant Clearing System shall notify the Principal Warrant Agent in writing (with a copy to the Issuer) not later than 11.00 a.m. (local time in the place where the Clearing System through which such Warrants are exercised is located) on the Business Day immediately following the Exercise Date of the number of the account with such Clearing System to which the Cash Settlement Amount to which the relevant Warrants relate is to be credited for the benefit of the Warrantholder.

(d) Debit of Warrantholder's Account

The relevant Clearing System will on or before the Cash Settlement Payment Date debit the relevant account of the Warrantholder and credit the relevant account of the Principal Warrant Agent (in favour of the Issuer) with the Warrants being exercised together with any applicable Taxes.

(e) Payment

In respect of Warrants which have been exercised, the Calculation Agent shall by close of business or such other time as is specified in the relevant Final Terms on the date specified therefor in the relevant Final Terms determine the Cash Settlement Amount (if any) to be paid on the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date in respect of the relevant Warrants **provided that** the Calculation Agent has received notification from the relevant Clearing System specifying the number of Warrants which have been exercised in accordance with Condition 5(a) (*Exercise Procedure – Exercise Notice*) and, shall notify the Issuer and the Principal Warrant Agent of such amounts on the Business Day following the date so specified.

The Issuer will transfer to the Principal Warrant Agent the Cash Settlement Amount in respect of the Warrants being exercised, less any amount in respect of Taxes which the Issuer is authorised to deduct therefrom, for value on the Cash Settlement Payment Date, and the Principal Warrant Agent will cause the Warrantholder's account with the relevant Clearing System to be credited with such amount for value on the Cash Settlement Payment Date.

(f) Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent

If "Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, then if by reason of a FX Disruption Event, a Clearing System Currency Eligibility Event or any other event specified in the relevant Final Terms as an Additional Alternative Payment Currency Event, the Issuer is not able to satisfy any payment in respect of the Warrants when due in the Settlement Currency, the Issuer may settle any such payment in U.S. dollars or any other currency specified as the Alternative Payment Currency in the relevant Final Terms on (i) the due date at the Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent of any such amount due or (ii) if in the applicable Final Terms "Condition 1" is specified as applicable to the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date, the date falling the Alternative Payment Settlement Days after the due date at the Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent of any such amount due and, in each case, no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of such postponed payment.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 5(f) (Exercise Procedure – Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent) by the Calculation Agent, will (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Warrant Agents and all Warrantholders. By acceptance thereof, purchasers of the Warrants will be deemed to have acknowledged and agreed and to have waived any and all actual or potential conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of the calculation of the Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent by the Calculation Agent.

(g) Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption

- (X) If "Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, then, if on any day on which the Calculation Agent is required to determine a Relevant Rate (a "Scheduled FX Fixing Date"):
 - (A) a Price Source Disruption occurs, (other than as a result of an Unscheduled Holiday) and no Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions or Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions, as applicable, are specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Calculation Agent shall:
 - (1) determine the Relevant Rate by reference to the rate of exchange published by available recognised financial information vendors (as selected by the Calculation Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) on the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (the "Fall-Back Reference Price"); or
 - (2) unless the Final Terms specify Dealer Poll as not applicable, in the event that the Calculation Agent is unable to determine a Fall-Back Reference Price in accordance with paragraph (1) above or the Calculation Agent determines that the Fall-Back Reference Price so determined does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer would be able to obtain in the general foreign exchange market, the Calculation Agent will on the Scheduled FX Fixing Date request four Reference Dealers to provide a quotation of their rate for the Relevant Rate on such day. If at least two quotations are provided, the Relevant Rate will be the arithmetic mean of such quotations; and
 - (3)if (i) the Final Terms specify Dealer Poll as not applicable and the Calculation Agent is unable to determine a Fall-Back Reference Price in accordance with paragraph (1) above or the Calculation Agent determines that the Fall-Back Reference Price so determined does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer would be able to obtain in the general foreign exchange market; (ii) the Calculation Agent determines that the Relevant Rate determined in accordance with paragraph (2) above does not accurately represent the rate which the Calculation Agent determines that the Issuer would be able to obtain in the general foreign exchange market; or (iii) fewer than 2 quotations are provided by Reference Dealers following the Calculation Agent's request pursuant to paragraph (2) above, the Calculation Agent will determine the Relevant Rate on the first succeeding Business Day on which the Price Source Disruption ceases to exist; provided, however, that if the Price Source Disruption continues for thirty consecutive calendar days (or such other number of calendar days as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) after the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (the "FX Cutoff Date", the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the Relevant Rate on that FX Cut-off Date; or
 - (B) an Unscheduled Holiday occurs (whether or not a Price Source Disruption also occurs), the Scheduled FX Fixing Date for such Relevant Rate and all other Relevant Rates which have the same Scheduled FX Fixing Date shall be postponed to the first succeeding Relevant Currency Business Day; **provided, however, that** in the event that the Scheduled FX Fixing Date is postponed as a result of the occurrence of an Unscheduled Holiday (a "**Postponed FX Fixing Date**"), and if the

Postponed FX Fixing Date has not occurred on or before the thirtieth consecutive calendar day (or such other number of calendar days as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) after the Scheduled FX Fixing Date (any such period being a "**Deferral Period**"), then the next day after the Deferral Period that is or would have been a Relevant Currency Business Day but for an Unscheduled Holiday, shall be deemed to be the Postponed FX Fixing Date and the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the Relevant Rate on that Postponed FX Fixing Date.

- (Y) If at any time, a FX Disruption Event occurs, the Issuer, in its sole and absolute discretion, may elect to either:
 - (A) having given not less than five days' notice to the Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 11 (*Notices*), terminate all, but not some only, of the Warrants at their Fair Market Value (and, if the FX Disruption Event occurs on a Scheduled FX Fixing Date on which there is a Price Source Disruption or Unscheduled Holiday, for the purposes of determining such Fair Market Value the Calculation Agent shall first determine any Relevant Rate (a) in accordance with sub-paragraph (X)(A) or (X)(B) above, as applicable, of Condition 5(g) (*Exercise Procedure Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*)) if "Price Source Disruption" is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms or, alternatively (b) in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, on the date notified to the Warrantholders; or
 - (B) instruct the Calculation Agent to make such adjustment(s) to the Conditions as it, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines to be necessary or desirable to reflect or account for any market practice that develops in respect of the FX Disruption Event,

provided, however, that in relation to sub-paragraphs (Y)(A) and (Y)(B) above, if as a result of the FX Disruption Event the Issuer is not able to satisfy payments in respect of the Warrants when due in the Settlement Currency, the Issuer may settle any such payment pursuant to the provisions of Condition 5(f) (Exercise Procedure - Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent);

(Z) If the Warrants are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "American Style" Warrants and if a Scheduled FX Fixing Date is postponed in accordance with this Condition 5(g) (*Exercise Procedure – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*), any Related Payment Date will also be postponed, if needed, such that the Related Payment Date shall fall at least three (3) local banking days (or such other number of local banking days as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms) following the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date or, if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable.

(h) Exercise Risk

Exercise of the Warrants and payment by the Issuer and the Principal Warrant Agent will be subject in all cases to all applicable fiscal and other laws, regulations and practices in force at the relevant time (including, without limitation, any relevant exchange control laws or regulations and the rules and procedures of the relevant Clearing System) and neither the Issuer nor the Principal Warrant Agent shall incur any liability whatsoever if it is unable to effect the transactions contemplated, after using all reasonable efforts, as a result of any such laws, regulations and practices. Neither the Issuer nor the Principal Warrant Agent shall under any circumstances be liable for any acts or defaults of any Clearing System in the performance of its duties in relation to the Warrants.

(i) **Determinations**

Any determination as to whether an Exercise Notice is duly completed and in proper form shall be made by the relevant Clearing System, and shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the Warrant Agents and the relevant Warrantholder. Any Exercise Notice so determined to be incomplete or not in proper form or which is not copied to the Principal Warrant Agent immediately after being sent to the relevant Clearing System, shall be null and void. If such Exercise Notice is subsequently corrected to the satisfaction of the relevant Clearing System, it shall be deemed to be a new Exercise Notice submitted at the time such correction is delivered to the relevant Clearing System.

(j) Effect of Exercise Notice

Delivery of an Exercise Notice shall constitute an irrevocable election and undertaking by the Warrantholder to exercise the Warrants specified therein, **provided that** the person exercising and delivering such Exercise Notice is the person then appearing in the books of the relevant Clearing System as the Holder of the relevant Warrants. If the person exercising and delivering the Exercise Notice is not the person so appearing, such Exercise Notice shall for all purposes become null and void and shall be deemed not to have been so delivered.

After the delivery of an Exercise Notice (other than an Exercise Notice which shall become void pursuant to Condition 5(a) (*Exercise Procedure – Exercise Notice*)), the Warrantholder specified in such Exercise Notice may not otherwise transfer such Warrants. Notwithstanding this, if any Warrantholder does so transfer or attempt to transfer such Warrants, the Warrantholder will be liable to the Issuer for any losses, costs and expenses suffered or incurred by the Issuer including those suffered or incurred as a consequence of it having terminated any related hedging operations in reliance on the relevant Exercise Notice and subsequently (i) entering into replacement hedging operations in respect of such Warrants or (ii) paying any amount on the subsequent exercise of such Warrants without having entered into any replacement hedging operations.

(k) LBMA Physical Settlement

The following provisions apply where LBMA Physical Settlement is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms.

A. LBMA Transfer Notice

- (i) Each Warrantholder shall, on or before 4:00 pm (London time) on the date falling 5 Underlying Currency Pair Business Days (as applicable) before the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date (or such earlier date as the Issuer shall determine is necessary for the Issuer, the Warrant Agents, the relevant Clearing System to perform their respective obligations hereunder and notify to the Warrant Agents and the Warrantholders accordingly) send to the relevant Clearing System, in accordance with its then applicable operating procedures, and copied to the Principal Warrant Agent, an irrevocable notice (an "LBMA Transfer Notice") in the form from time to time approved by the Issuer, which must:
 - (A) specify the name and address of the Warrantholder;
 - (B) specify the number of Warrants in respect of which he is the Warrantholder;
 - (C) specify the number of the Warrantholder's account at the relevant Clearing System, to be debited with such Warrants;
 - (D) irrevocably instruct and authorise the relevant Clearing System, (1) to debit the Warrantholder's account with such Warrants on

the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date and (2) that no further transfers of the Warrants specified in the LBMA Transfer Notice may be made;

- (E) contain a representation and warranty from the Warrantholder to the effect that the Warrants to which the LBMA Transfer Notice relates are free from all liens, charges, encumbrances and other third party rights;
- (F) specify the number and account name of the account in London with a member of the LBMA where the relevant amount of Cash Settlement Amount and/or any other amount in respect of the Warrants shall be credited;
- (G) contain an irrevocable undertaking to pay the Transfer Expenses (if any) and an irrevocable instruction to the relevant Clearing System, to debit on or after the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date the cash or other account of the Warrantholder with the relevant Clearing System, specified in the LBMA Transfer Notice with such Transfer Expenses; and
- (H) authorise the production of the LBMA Transfer Notice in any applicable administrative or legal proceedings.
- (ii) A LBMA Transfer Notice, once delivered to the relevant Clearing System, shall be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn without the consent in writing of the Issuer. A Warrantholder may not transfer any Warrant which is the subject of a LBMA Transfer Notice following delivery of such LBMA Transfer Notice to the relevant Clearing System. A LBMA Transfer Notice shall only be valid to the extent that the relevant Clearing System have not received conflicting prior instructions in respect of the Warrants which are the subject of the LBMA Transfer Notice.
- (iii) Failure properly to complete and deliver a LBMA Transfer Notice may result in such notice being treated as null and void with the consequence set out in sub-paragraph (C) below. Any determination as to whether such notice has been properly completed and delivered as provided shall be made by the relevant Clearing System, after consultation with the Principal Warrant Agent and shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer and the Warrantholder.
- (iv) The Principal Warrant Agent shall promptly on the local banking day following receipt of a LBMA Transfer Notice send a copy thereof to the Issuer or such person as the Issuer may previously have specified.

B. Delivery obligation

Subject to the other provisions of this Condition 5(k) (Exercise Procedure – LBMA Physical Settlement), if the LBMA Physical Settlement provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Issuer shall discharge its obligation to deliver the relevant amount of Cash Settlement Amount and/or any other amount in respect of the Warrants by crediting, or procuring the credit of, the same on the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date of the Warrants to the account in London with a member of the LBMA specified in the LBMA Transfer Notice of the relevant Warrantholder.

C. LBMA Physical Settlement Fall-Back Settlement Amount

In the event that any Warrantholder fails to deliver a valid LBMA Transfer Notice by 4:00 pm on the day falling 5 Underlying Currency Pair Business Days (as applicable) before the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date (or such earlier date as the Issuer shall determine is necessary for the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the relevant Clearing System to perform their respective obligations hereunder and notify to the Warrant Agents and the Warrantholders accordingly), the Calculation Agent shall determine the LBMA Physical Settlement Fall-Back Settlement Amount and the Issuer shall pay the LBMA Physical Settlement Fall-Back Settlement Amount in respect of each Warrant held by such Warrantholder on the Cash Settlement Payment Date of the Warrants.

D. Disruption

(i) LBMA Physical Settlement Market Disruption Event

If a LBMA Physical Settlement Market Disruption Event occurs or exists on any date on which the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate is to be determined, the Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate shall be the rate determined by the Calculation Agent taking into consideration the latest available Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate as of a date on which no LBMA Physical Settlement Market Disruption Event occurred or existed and any other information which the Calculation Agent considers relevant.

(ii) Settlement Disruption of LBMA Physical Settlement

The Calculation Agent shall determine whether or not at any time a LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event has occurred and where it determines such an event has occurred and has prevented any delivery on the original day that but for such LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event would have been the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date of the Warrants then such date will be the first succeeding day on which the relevant delivery can take place unless a LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event prevents settlement on each of the ten (10) Business Days immediately following the original date that, but for the LBMA Physical Settlement Disruption Event, would have been the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date. In that case, (a) if the relevant delivery can be effected in any other commercially reasonable manner, then the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date will be that tenth (10th) Business Day with delivery being effected in such manner, and (b) if such delivery cannot be effected in any other commercially reasonable manner, then the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date will be postponed until delivery can be effected in another commercially reasonable manner.

(1) Dividend Equivalent Payments

In respect of any Series of Warrants where the payments in respect of such Warrants are determined by reference to one or more variables such as an index, formula, security, commodity, currency exchange rate, interest rate, inflation index, the credit of one or more entities or other factor (each variable being a "**Reference Asset**" or, if it is comprised in a basket of variables, a "**Reference Asset Component**"), if the Final Terms in respect of such Warrants states the Warrants are "Section 871(m) Warrants", the Final Terms shall further specify whether the "Dividend Withholding" or "Issuer Withholding" approach to withholding in relation to Section 871(m) IRC shall be applicable to the Warrants.

If "Dividend Withholding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Final Terms shall provide for the Issuer to make payments to Warrantholders in respect of any dividend equivalent amounts received or deemed received in respect of any Reference Asset or Reference Asset Component and shall include provisions relating to the amount and timing of such payments.

If "Issuer Withholding" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Final Terms shall specify whether any dividend equivalent amounts are to be treated as being reinvested during the term of the Warrants and what portion thereof is expected as of the Issue Date

to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as having been withheld from a payment due to the Warrantholders.

6. Minimum Number of Warrants Exercisable

The Warrants are exercisable in the minimum number (the "Minimum Exercise Number") specified in the relevant Final Terms and integral multiples thereof (or, if a "Permitted Multiple" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, integral multiples of the Permitted Multiple) on any particular occasion or such lesser Minimum Exercise Number or other Permitted Multiple as the Issuer may from time to time notify to the Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 11 (Notices).

7. Effects of European Economic and Monetary Union

- (a) Following the occurrence of an EMU Event (as defined below), the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment (and determine the effective date of such adjustment) as it determines appropriate, if any, to the Strike Price (if any), the formula for the Cash Settlement Amount, the Final Price, the number of Securities to which each Warrant relates, the number of securities comprised in a Security Basket Warrant, the amount, the number of or type of shares, bonds, other securities or other property which may be delivered in respect of such Warrants and/or any other adjustment and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the exercise, settlement or payment terms of the relevant Warrants which have been or may be affected by such EMU Event.
- (b) Following the occurrence of an EMU Event, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Issuer shall be entitled to: (i) make such conversions between amounts denominated in the National Currency Units of the member states of the European Union that have adopted the single currency in accordance with the Treaty and the euro, and the euro and the National Currency Units, in each case, in accordance with the conversation rates and rounding rules established by the council of the European Union pursuant to the Treaty as it considers appropriate; (ii) make all payments in respect of the Warrants solely in euro as though references in the Warrants to the relevant National Currency Units were to euro and (iii) make such adjustments as it considers necessary to the Strike Price (if any), the formula for the Cash Settlement Amount, Final Price and any other amount as it determines to be appropriate.
- (c) None of the Issuer, a Warrant Agent or the Calculation Agent will be liable to any Warrantholder or other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from any currency conversion or rounding effected in connection therewith.
- (d) For the purposes hereof, "**EMU Event**" means the occurrence of any of the following, as determined by the Calculation Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable manner:
 - (i) the withdrawal from legal tender of any currency that, before the introduction of the euro, was lawful currency in one of the member states;
 - (ii) the redenomination of any Security into euro;
 - (iii) any change in the currency of denomination of any index;
 - (iv) any change in the currency in which some or all the securities or other property contained in any index is denominated;
 - (v) the disappearance or replacement of a relevant rate option or other price source for the national currency of any member state, or the failure of the agreed sponsor (or successor sponsor) to publish or display a relevant rate, index, price, page or screen; or
 - (vi) the change by any organised market, exchange or clearance, payment or settlement system in the unit of account of its operating procedures to the euro.

8. Warrant Agents and Calculation Agent

(a) Appointment of Agents

The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Principal Warrant Agent or the Calculation Agent or the Authentication Agent or the Warrant Registrar or the Warrant Transfer Agent and to appoint another Principal Warrant Agent or a substitute Calculation Agent or a substitute Authentication Agent or a substitute Warrant Registrar or a substitute Warrant Transfer Agent, **provided that** so long as any Warrant is outstanding, the Issuer will maintain a Principal Warrant Agent and a Calculation Agent and an Authentication Agent and, so long as any Registered Warrants are outstanding, a Warrant Registrar. Notice of any termination of appointment and of any change in the specified office of the Principal Warrant Agent or a Calculation Agent or an Authentication Agent or a Warrant Registrar or a Warrant Transfer Agent and of any appointment of a Warrant Agent or a Calculation Agent or an Authentication Agent or a Warrant Registrar or a Warrant Registrar or an Authentication Agent or a Calculation Agent or an Authentication Agent or a Warrant Registrar or a Warrant Transfer Agent will be given to Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 11 (*Notices*). In acting under the Warrant Agency Agreement, the Agents acts solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or duty to, or any relationship of agency or trust for or with, the Warrantholders.

(b) Calculation Agent

The Calculation Agent shall not act as an agent for the Warrantholders but shall be the agent of the Issuer. All calculation functions required of the Calculation Agent under these Conditions may be delegated to any such person as the Calculation Agent, in its absolute discretion, may decide.

Neither the Issuer nor the Calculation Agent shall have any responsibility for any errors or omissions in the calculation and dissemination of any variables used in any calculation made pursuant to these Conditions or in the calculation or determination of any Cash Settlement Amount.

Except as otherwise provided in these Conditions or in a relevant Final Terms, all calculations and determinations made by the Calculation Agent pursuant to the Conditions for the purposes of the Warrants (including any determinations by the Calculation Agent as to the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes) shall be made in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.

(c) Notifications

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the Warrants by the Principal Warrant Agent or the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error or wilful misconduct) be binding on the Issuer and the Warrantholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability to the Warrantholders (or any of them) shall attach to the Principal Warrant Agent or the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by either of them of their powers, duties and discretions for such purposes.

(d) All calculations and determinations made by the Calculation Agent pursuant to the Conditions for the purposes of the Warrants shall be made in good faith.

8A. Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event

- (a) If the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Trigger Event has occurred in relation to a Relevant Benchmark relating to a Series of Warrants, then:
 - (i) if an Alternative Pre-nominated Index has been specified in relation to such Relevant Benchmark in the relevant Final Terms:
 - (A) unless the Issuer determines that replacing the Relevant Benchmark with the Alternative Pre-nominated Index would not produce a commercially

reasonable result, references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be deemed to be replaced with references to the Alternative Pre-nominated Index with effect from the Benchmark Trigger Event Determination Date; and

- (B) the Issuer shall make such other adjustments to these Conditions as it determines are necessary to account for the effect on the Warrants of referencing the Alternative Pre-nominated Index in place of such Relevant Benchmark including, without limitation, to any variable, margin, calculation methodology, valuation, settlement, payment terms or any other terms of the Warrants; and
- (ii) if an Alternative Pre-nominated Index has not been specified in relation to such Relevant Benchmark in the relevant Final Terms or the Issuer determines that replacing the Relevant Benchmark with the Alternative Pre-nominated Index would not produce a commercially reasonable result, the Issuer shall do any of the following:
 - (A) determine that references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be deemed to be replaced by references to such index, benchmark or price source as the Issuer determines would have the effect of placing the Issuer in an economically equivalent position to that which it would have been in had the Benchmark Trigger Event not occurred (the "Replacement Index") (and in making such determination the Issuer shall be entitled to take into account such facts and circumstances as it considers relevant including, without limitation, (i) any index, benchmark or other price source which measures the same market or economic reality as the Relevant Benchmark and which is formally designated, nominated or recommended by the administrator or sponsor of the Relevant Benchmark or (ii) any index, benchmark or other price source which is formally designated, nominated or recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body, in each case to replace the Relevant Benchmark), in which case:
 - (1) references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be deemed to be replaced with references to such Replacement Index with effect from the Benchmark Trigger Event Determination Date; and
 - (2) the Issuer shall make such other adjustments to these Conditions as it determines are necessary to account for the effect on the Warrants of referencing the Replacement Index in place of such Relevant Benchmark including, without limitation, to any variable, margin, calculation methodology, valuation, settlement, payment terms or any other terms of the Warrants;
 - (B) follow the steps for determining the relevant rate or level set out in the Relevant Reference Asset Fallback Provisions (if any); or
 - (C) determine that the Warrants shall be terminated, in which case the Issuer's obligations under the Warrants shall be satisfied in full upon payment in respect of each Warrant of an amount equal to its Fair Market Value on the date selected by the Issuer and give notice of such termination to the Warrantholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 11 (*Notices*);

provided, however, that if (1) it is or would be unlawful at any time under applicable law or regulation or (2) it would contravene any applicable licensing requirements, in each case, for any of the above provisions or determinations to apply to the Warrants, then such provision shall not apply and the Issuer shall not make such determination (as the case may be) and the Issuer shall instead take

any of the above actions that complies with the applicable law, regulation or licensing requirements.

- (b) If the Issuer is not able to determine the Relevant Benchmark in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 8A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*) on any Relevant Benchmark Determination Date, then the Relevant Benchmark Determination Date shall be postponed to such date as it is able to make such determination and any Relevant Benchmark Related Payment Date will also be postponed, if needed, such that the Related Payment Date shall fall at least three (3) local banking days (or such other number of days as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms) following the postponed Relevant Benchmark Determination Date.
- (c) The Issuer shall promptly following the determination of any replacement for a Relevant Benchmark pursuant to paragraph (a)(i)(A) or (a)(ii)(A) above give notice thereof and of any changes pursuant to paragraph (a)(i)(B) or (a)(ii)(A)(2) (as applicable) to the Principal Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Warrantholders (in accordance with Condition 11 (*Notices*)).
- (d) Without prejudice, in the case of any Index-Linked Warrants, to Condition 19(c)(ii) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Adjustments to Indices Index Modification), if the definition, methodology or formula for a Relevant Benchmark in respect of a Series of Warrants, or other means of calculating the Relevant Benchmark in respect of a Series of Warrants, is changed, then references to such Relevant Benchmark shall be to such Relevant Benchmark as so changed.
- (e) In making any determination under this Condition 8A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*), the Issuer shall take account of such facts and circumstances as it considers relevant, including, without limitation, prevailing market practice, any determinations made in respect of any of the Issuer's hedging arrangements in relation to the Warrants (including, without limitation, in respect of any termination or re-establishment of hedging arrangements, and the Issuer's funding costs. Except to the extent the such exclusion is prohibited by law, in the absence of fraud or gross negligence on the part of the Issuer, no liability will attach to the Issuer in connection with any determination made by the Issuer pursuant to this Clause 8A (*Consequences of a Benchmark Trigger Event*).

9. Taxes

All payments by the Issuer in respect of the Warrants will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature, present or future, as are imposed or levied by or on behalf of the United Kingdom unless the Issuer is required by law to withhold or deduct any such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges.

In the event that the Issuer is so required by law to withhold or deduct, it shall not be obliged to pay any additional amounts to the Warrantholders.

A Warrantholder subscribing for, purchasing or exercising Warrants shall be responsible for paying all Taxes and securities transfer taxes and any other charges, if any, payable in connection with the subscription, purchase or exercise of such Warrants and the Issuer shall not be liable for or otherwise obliged to pay any tax, duty, withholding or other payment which may arise as a result of the ownership, transfer or exercise of any Warrants.

In any case where the Issuer is obliged to pay any such tax, duty or charge, the relevant Warrantholder shall promptly reimburse the Issuer therefor.

If the Issuer becomes resident for tax purposes in any taxing jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom, references in this Condition 9 (*Taxes*) to the United Kingdom shall be construed as references to the United Kingdom and/or such other jurisdiction.

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions, the Issuer shall be permitted to withhold or deduct any amounts permitted or required by the rules of IRC Section 871(m), or IRC Sections 1471 through 1474 (or any amended or successor provisions), pursuant to any inter governmental

agreement, or implementing legislation adopted by another jurisdiction in connection with these provisions, or pursuant to any agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("U.S. Permitted Withholding"). Neither the Issuer nor any Paying Agent will have any obligation to pay additional amounts or otherwise indemnify a holder for any U.S. Permitted Withholding deducted or withheld by the Issuer, a Paying Agent or any other party as a result of any person (other than an agent of the Issuer) not being entitled to receive payments free of U.S. Permitted Withholding.

10. **Illegality**

The Issuer shall have the right to terminate its obligations under the Warrants, if the Calculation Agent shall have determined acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, that the performance of such obligations under the Warrants (or the Issuer's designated affiliates' obligations under any hedging or funding arrangement established in connection therewith) shall have become unlawful or impracticable in whole or in part, including, without limitation, as a result of compliance with any applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive or with any requirement or request of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial authority or power; **provided, however, that** if the Calculation Agent determines that the relevant obligations have become unlawful, the Issuer may obtain an opinion of an independent legal adviser to that effect prior to terminating its obligations under the Warrants, and any such opinion shall be sufficient to establish the circumstances required by this Condition 10. In such circumstances the Issuer will, however, pay to each Warrantholder in respect of each Warrant held by it an amount determined by the Calculation Agent representing the Fair Market Value of such Warrant immediately prior to such termination. Payment will be made in such manner as shall be notified to the Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 11 (*Notices*).

11. Notices

All notices to Warrantholders will be deemed to have been duly given (a) in the case of Registered Warrants if notified to the relevant Clearing System or (b) in the case of Definitive Registered Warrants, if sent by first class mail or (if posted to an address overseas) by airmail to the holders at their respective addresses appearing in the Record and will be deemed to have been given on the fourth day after mailing and, in addition, for so long as any Definitive Registered Warrants are listed by or on a competent authority or stock exchange and, if the rules of that competent authority or stock exchange so require, such notice will be published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the places or places required by that competent authority or stock exchange. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such notification or, in the case of any of Warrants listed on any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, the date of such publication or, if notified or published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first such notification or publication (or if required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the first date on which publication shall have been made in all required newspapers).

12. Further Issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Warrantholders to create and issue further warrants of any particular Series so as to form a single Series with the Warrants.

13. **Purchase by the Issuer**

The Issuer may at any time purchase Warrants at any price in the open market or by tender or private treaty. Any Warrants so purchased may, at the discretion of the Issuer, be held, resold, reissued or surrendered for cancellation, and Warrants so reissued or resold shall for all purposes be deemed to form part of the original Series of the Warrants.

14. Modification

Subject in case of the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement or the Warrant Agency Agreement (as applicable) to the agreement of the other parties thereto, the Issuer may agree, without consent of the Warrantholders, to:

(a) any modification (except as mentioned above) of the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement, the Warrant Agency Agreement or these Conditions which is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Warrantholders as a whole:

- (b) any modification of these Conditions, the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement or the Warrant Agency Agreement which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law of the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated; or
- any modification of the Warrants which is made to correct an inconsistency between the final terms and the conditions of the Warrant issue (comprising these Conditions as completed by the relevant Final Terms) and the relevant termsheet relating to the Warrants.

Any such modification shall be binding on the Warrantholders and any such modification shall be notified to the Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 11 (*Notices*) as soon as practicable thereafter.

15. Substitution

The Issuer shall be entitled at any time and from time to time, without the consent of the Warrantholders, to the substitution of a subsidiary or holding company of the Issuer or any subsidiary of any such holding company (the "New Issuer") in place of the Issuer as principal debtor under the Warrants of any Series, provided that such Warrants are irrevocably guaranteed by the Issuer. In the event of any such substitution, any reference in these Conditions to the Issuer shall be construed as a reference to the New Issuer. Any such substitution shall be promptly notified to the relevant Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 11 (Notices). In connection with such right of substitution the Issuer shall not be obliged to have regard to the consequences of the exercise of such right for individual Warrantholders resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory, and no Warrantholder shall be entitled to claim from the Issuer any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such substitution upon such Warrantholder.

16. **Governing Law**

(a) Governing law

The Warrants and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Warrants are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.

(b) English courts

The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a "**Dispute**"), arising out of or in connection with the Warrants (including any Dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of the Warrants or the consequence of their nullity).

17. Third Party Rights

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Warrants under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

18. Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Warrants and Index-Linked Warrants

As used in this Condition 18 (*Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Warrants and Index-Linked Warrants*) and Condition 19 (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events*), and in respect of Equity-Linked Warrants and Index-Linked Warrants, and unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

"Additional Disruption Event" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Condition 19(e) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Additional Disruption Events);

"Applicable Hedge Positions" means, in respect of each Security, the purchase, sale, entry into or maintenance of one or more (i) positions or contracts in securities, options, futures, derivatives or foreign exchange, (ii) stock loan transactions or (iii) other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) that a Hypothetical Broker Dealer would consider necessary to hedge the equity price risk or currency risk of entering into and performing its obligations in respect of the Warrants;

"Averaging Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, in respect of each Valuation Date, each date specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, in respect of each Valuation Date, each date specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the basket, the Averaging Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index).

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days);

"Basket" means, (i) in respect of an Index Basket Warrant, a basket composed of each Index specified in the relevant Final Terms in the relative proportions indicated in the Final Terms, (ii) in the case of a Security Basket Warrant, a basket composed of Securities of each Underlying Company specified in the relevant Final Terms in the relative proportions and numbers of Securities of each Underlying Company indicated in the Final Terms and, (iii) in the case of a Mixed Basket Warrant, a basket composed of each Index and Securities of each Underlying Company specified in the relevant Final Terms, in the relative proportions (and, in the case of Securities, the relative number of Securities of each Underlying Company indicated in the Final Terms):

"China Connect" means any securities trading and clearing links developed or to be developed by SEHK, any such China Connect Market, the HKSCC and the CSDCC for the establishment of mutual market access between SEHK and any such China Connect Market;

"China Connect Business Day" means any Scheduled `Trading Day on which the China Connect Service is open for order-routing during its regular order-routing sessions, notwithstanding the China Connect Service closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time;

"China Connect Disruption" means (a) any suspension of or limitation imposed on routing of orders (including in respect of buy orders only, sell orders only or both buy and sell orders) through the China Connect Service, relating to the Securities on the Exchange (or in the case of an Index or basket of Indices, relating to Component Securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index) or (b) any event (other than a China Connect Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of the market participants in general to enter orders in respect of Securities through the China Connect Service (or in the case of an Index or basket of Indices, in Component Securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index);

"China Connect Early Closure" means the closure on any China Connect Business Day of the China Connect Service (**provided that**, in the case of an Index or basket of Indices, Component Securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index are securities that are order-routed through the China Connect Service) prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by SEHK or the Exchange, as the case may be, at least one hour prior to the earlier of (i) the actual closing time for order-routing through the China Connect Service on such China Connect Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the China Connect Service system for execution on the Exchange at the Valuation Time on such China Connect Business Day;

"China Connect Market" means any stock exchange in the PRC which is acceptable to the SEHK under the securities trading and clearing links programme developed or to be developed by SEHK, any such China Connect Market, the HKSCC and the CSDCC for the establishment of mutual market access with SEHK and any such China Connect Market;

"China Connect Service" means the securities trading and clearing links programme developed by the Exchange, China Connect Market, CSDCC and HKSCC, through which (i) SEHK and/or its affiliates provide order-routing and other related services for certain eligible securities traded on the China Connect Market and (ii) CSDCC and HKSCC provide clearing, settlement, depository and other services in relation to such securities;

"China Connect Underlying" means eligible securities listed and traded on a China Connect Market under China Connect;

"Clearing System Business Day" means, in relation to any Securities, any day on which the principal domestic clearing system customarily used for settling trades in such Securities is (or, but for the occurrence of an event beyond the control of the Issuer as a result of which such clearing system cannot clear the transfer of such securities, would have been) open for the acceptance and execution of settlement instructions;

"Component Security" means, with respect to an Index, each component security of that Index.;

"Conversion" means, in respect of any Securities, any irreversible conversion by the Underlying Company of such Securities into other securities;

"CSDCC" means China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation;

"Delisting" means that the Exchange announces that pursuant to the rules of such Exchange, the Securities cease (or will cease) to be listed, traded or publicly quoted on the Exchange for any reason (other than a Merger Event or Tender Offer) and are not immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an exchange or quotation system (an "Alternative Exchange") located in the same country as the Exchange (or, where the Exchange is within the European Union or the United Kingdom, in any member state of the European Union or the United Kingdom) or that the Calculation Agent determines that listing or trading of Securities on the Exchange (or an Alternative Exchange) has not commenced and will not commence in the foreseeable future prior to the Expiry Date of the Warrants;

With respect to Depository Receipts, a "**Delisting**" shall not occur in respect of the Underlying Securities if the Underlying Securities are immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an Alternative Exchange regardless of the location of such Alternative Exchange;

"Deposit Agreement" means, in relation to each Depository Receipt, the agreement(s) or other instrument(s) constituting such Depository Receipt, as from time to time amended or supplemented;

"**Depository**" means, in relation to a Depository Receipt, the issuer of such Depository Receipt as appointed under the Deposit Agreement, including its successors from time to time;

"Depository Receipt(s)" means any Security specified as such in the relevant Final Terms provided that if the relevant Deposit Agreement is terminated at any time, any reference to any Depository Receipt(s) shall thereafter be construed as a reference to the relevant Underlying Securities or relevant Replacement DRs, as applicable and as determined by the Calculation Agent pursuant to Condition 19(h) ((Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Events relating to DR-Linked Warrants);

"Disrupted Day" means (a) any Scheduled Trading Day on which a relevant Exchange or any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session, or, in relation to China Connect Underlying, on which the China Connect Service fails to open for order routing during its regular order-routing session, or on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred; or (b) if the Warrants are Multiple Exchange Index-Linked Warrants, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor fails to publish the level of the Index; (ii) the Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session; or (iii) a Market Disruption Event has occurred or (c) any Scheduled Trading Day on which the Index Sponsor fails to publish the Index;

"Disrupted Day Related Payment Date" means any payment date on the Warrants on which the amount payable is calculated by reference to the price or level (as applicable) of a Security, Index,

basket of Securities or basket of Indices determined on the related Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date;

"DR-Linked Warrants" means a Series of Security Warrants which relate to one or more Securities which are Depository Receipts;

"Early Closure" means (a) the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the relevant Exchange (in the case of Equity-Linked Warrants) or any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index (in the case of Index-Linked Warrants) or any Related Exchange(s) prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) at least one hour prior to the earlier of: (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day; or (b) if the Warrants are Multiple Exchange Index-Linked Warrants, the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the Exchange in respect of any Component Security or the Related Exchange prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing is announced by such Exchange or Related Exchange (as the case may be) at least one hour prior to the earlier of: (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange or Related Exchange (as the case may be) on such Exchange Business Day; and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into such Exchange or Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day;

"Equity-Linked Warrant" means a Series of Warrants in respect of which an amount, which shall be calculated by reference to the value of a Security or Securities and/or a formula, is payable;

"ETF" means the exchange traded fund or similarly traded or listed fund as specified in the relevant Final Terms:

"ETF Adviser" means, with respect to an ETF, any person appointed in the role of discretionary investment manager or non-discretionary investment manager (including a non-discretionary investment manager to a discretionary investment manager or to another non-discretionary investment manager), as provided in the related ETF Documents;

"ETF Documents" means, in relation to any ETF, the constitutive and governing documents, subscription agreements and other agreements of such ETF specifying the terms and conditions relating to such ETF, in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time;

"Exchange" means (a) with respect to a Security or an Index, each exchange or quotation system specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the Security or the components of the Index, as the case may be, has temporarily relocated (**provided that** the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to such Security or components, as the case may be, as on the original Exchange); or (b) in the case of a Multiple Exchange Index and each relevant Component Security, the principal stock exchange on which such Component Security is principally traded, as determined by the Calculation Agent (which exchange or quotation system as of the Issue Date may be specified as such in the relevant Final Terms);

"Exchange Business Day" means (a) any Scheduled Trading Day on which each Exchange and any relevant Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Index Sponsor publishes the level of the Index and (ii) the Related Exchange is open for trading during its regular trading session, notwithstanding the Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time;

"Exchange Disruption" means (a) any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general (i) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for the Securities on the Exchange (in the case of an Equity-Linked Warrant) or on any relevant Exchange(s) in securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index (in the case of an Index-Linked Warrant), or (ii) to effect

transactions in, or obtain market values for, future or options contracts relating to the Securities (in the case of an Equity-Linked Warrant) or the relevant Index (in the case of an Index-Linked Warrant) on any relevant Related Exchange; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for (i) any Component Security on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security or (ii) futures or options contracts relating to the Index on the relevant Related Exchange;

"Exercise Date" means, in respect of any Warrant, the day on which an Exercise Notice relating to that Warrant is delivered in accordance with the provisions of Condition 5(a) (Exercise Procedure – Exercise Notice) or, if Automatic Exercise is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Expiry Date, in accordance with the provisions of Condition 4(f) (Rights on Exercise – Automatic Exercise); provided, however, that:

- (i) if the Exercise Notice is delivered (A) on any day which is not a Business Day or (B) after 10.00 a.m. (local time in the place where the Clearing System through which such Warrants are exercised is located) on any Business Day, then, in either such case, the Exercise Date shall be the next succeeding day which is a Business Day; and
- (ii) except as provided in (i) above, the Exercise Date may not be later than the Expiry Date;

"Expiry Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, provided, however, that:

- (X) if Automatic Exercise is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms:
 - (i) if the Valuation Date on or immediately preceding the Expiry Date is postponed (x) pursuant to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Consequences of Disrupted Days*) and/or (y) as a result of it not being a Scheduled Trading Day, the Expiry Date will be postponed, if needed, such that the Expiry Date shall fall one Business Day following the later of (i) the postponed Valuation Date or, if later, the Limit Valuation Date, as applicable and (ii) the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date, or if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable. In respect of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date referred to in this paragraph will be deemed to be, in respect of a Scheduled Valuation Date, the latest postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date, as applicable, occurring in respect of such Scheduled Valuation Date; and
 - (ii) if the Scheduled FX Fixing Date on or immediately preceding the Expiry Date is postponed pursuant to the provisions of Condition 5(g) (Exercise Procedure Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption) (but the Valuation Date is not also postponed), then the Expiry Date shall be the Business Day immediately following the later of (i) the Valuation Date and (ii) the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date, or if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable; and
- (Y) if Automatic Exercise is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms:
 - (i) if the Valuation Date on or immediately preceding the Expiry Date is postponed (x) pursuant to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Consequences of Disrupted Days*) and/or (y) as a result of it not being a Scheduled Trading Day, the Expiry Date will be postponed, if needed, such that the Expiry Date shall fall on the later of (i) the postponed Valuation Date or, if later, the Limit Valuation Date, as applicable and (ii) the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date, or if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable. In respect of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date referred to in this paragraph will be deemed to be, in respect of a Scheduled Valuation Date, the latest postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date, as applicable, occurring in respect of such Scheduled Valuation Date; and

(ii) if the Scheduled FX Fixing Date on or immediately preceding the Expiry Date is postponed pursuant to the provisions of Condition 5(g) (Exercise Procedure – Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption) (but the Valuation Date is not also postponed), then the Expiry Date shall fall on the later of (i) the Valuation Date and (ii) the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date, or if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable;

"Extraordinary Dividend" means the amount per Security specified or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such amount is so specified or determined, any dividend or the portion of any dividend which the Calculation Agent determines should be characterised as an Extraordinary Dividend;

"Extraordinary ETF Event" means, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, the occurrence or existence of any of the following:

- the ETF (A) is dissolved or has a resolution passed for its dissolution, winding-up, official (i) liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger); (B) makes a general assignment or arrangement with or for the benefit of its creditors; (C)(1) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official, or (2) has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation, and such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in (1) above and either (x) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or liquidation or (y) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case within 15 days of the institution or presentation thereof; (D) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets; (E) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all of its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all of its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within 15 days thereafter; or (F) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in (A) to (E) above;
- (ii) the ETF has violated any leverage restriction that is applicable to, or affecting, such ETF or its assets by operation of any law, any order or judgment of any court or other agency of government applicable to it or any of its assets, the ETF Documents or any contractual restriction binding on or affecting the ETF or any of its assets;
- (iii) the resignation, termination or replacement of the ETF Adviser (as defined below);
- (iv) any change or modification of the ETF Documents that could reasonably be expected to affect the value of the Units or the rights or remedies of any holders thereof (in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent) from those prevailing on the Issue Date;
- (v) any breach or violation of any strategy or investment guidelines stated in the ETF Documents that is reasonably likely to affect the value of the Units or the rights or remedies of any holders thereof (in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent);
- (vi) the Issuer, or any of its affiliates, is unable, or it is impractical for it, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction or asset it deems necessary or appropriate to hedge the price risk relating to the Units of entering into and performing its obligations

with respect to the Warrants, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such transaction or asset, including, without limitation, where such inability or impracticability has arisen by reason of (1) any restrictions or increase in charges or fees imposed by the ETF on any investor's ability to redeem the Units, in whole or in part, or any existing or new investor's ability to make new or additional investments in such Units, or (2) any mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, of such Units imposed by the ETF (in each case other than any restriction in existence on the Issue Date);

- (vii) (A) cancellation, suspension or revocation of the registration or approval of the Units or the ETF by any governmental, legal or regulatory entity with authority over the Units or the ETF, (B) any change in the legal, tax, accounting or regulatory treatments of the ETF or the ETF Adviser that is reasonably likely to have an adverse impact on the value of the Units or on any investor therein (as determined by the Calculation Agent), or (C) the ETF or the ETF Adviser becoming subject to any investigation, proceeding or litigation by any relevant governmental, legal or regulatory authority involving the alleged violation of applicable law for any activities relating to or resulting from the operation of the ETF;
- (viii) (A) the occurrence of any event affecting the Units that, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, would make it impossible or impracticable to determine the value of the Units, and such event is likely, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, to continue for the foreseeable future; or (B) any failure of the ETF to deliver, or cause to be delivered (1) information that the ETF has agreed to deliver, or cause to be delivered to the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent or (2) information that has been previously delivered to the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent in accordance with the ETF's, or its authorised representative's, normal practice and that the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent deems necessary for it to monitor the ETF's compliance with any investment guidelines, asset allocation methodologies or any other similar policies relating to the Units;
- on or after the Strike Date (A) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including, without limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the Calculation Agent determines in good faith that (X) it has become illegal to hold, acquire or dispose of the Units, or (Y) the Issuer will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Warrants (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on its tax position);
- the Issuer would incur a materially increased (as compared with circumstances existing on the Strike Date) amount of tax (including any potential tax which the Calculation Agent considers may arise), duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the price risk relating to the Units of entering into and performing its obligations with respect to the Warrants, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s), **provided that** any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of the Issuer shall not be deemed an Extraordinary ETF Event; and
- (xi) (A) the cancellation or cessation of any Underlying Index or (B) a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating or any other material modification to any Underlying Index (other than a modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain such Underlying Index in the event of changes in constituent stock and capitalisation and other routine events) or (C) the relevant sponsor of any Underlying Index fails to calculate and announce such Underlying Index;

"Extraordinary Event" means (a) in all cases other than where the Final Terms specify that the Securities are Units in an ETF, a Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation, Insolvency or Delisting (b) in the case where the Final Terms specify that the Securities are Units in an ETF, a Merger Event, Nationalisation, Insolvency, Delisting or Extraordinary ETF Event;

"Final Index Level" means, with respect to an Index and a Valuation Date, the level determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such level is so provided (a) the level of the relevant Index as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on the Valuation Date or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, the official closing level of the Index on the Valuation Date as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor or (c) if Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms in respect of such Valuation Date, the arithmetic average as determined by the Calculation Agent (rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up)) of the Reference Level on such Averaging Dates;

"Final Price" means, with respect to a Security and a Valuation Date, the price determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such price is so provided (a) the price of such Security as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on such Valuation Date or (b) if Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms in respect of such Valuation Date, the arithmetic average as determined by the Calculation Agent (rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up)) of the Reference Prices on such Averaging Dates, provided, however, that if "Realisable Sale Price" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, Final Price shall be determined in accordance with the definition of Realisable Sale Price set out in this Condition 18 (*Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Warrants and Index-Linked Warrants*):

"ETF" means the exchange traded fund or similarly traded or listed fund as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"ETF Adviser" means, with respect to an ETF, any person appointed in the role of discretionary investment manager or non-discretionary investment manager (including a non-discretionary investment manager to a discretionary investment manager or to another non-discretionary investment manager), as provided in the related ETF Documents;

"ETF Documents" means, in relation to any ETF, the constitutive and governing documents, subscription agreements and other agreements of such ETF specifying the terms and conditions relating to such ETF, in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time;

"Government Bonds" means, in relation to a Series of Warrants, bonds or any other debt securities issued by a government, government agency or subdivision or a transnational or supranational organisation as specified in the relevant Final Terms and "Government Bond" shall be construed accordingly;

"Hypothetical Broker Dealer" means a hypothetical broker dealer which is (i) subject to the same securities laws and rules and regulations of any securities regulators, exchanges and self-regulating organisations as apply to the Issuer or any affiliate designated by it and (ii) domiciled in the same tax jurisdiction as the Issuer or its such designated affiliates;

"Index" means, in relation to a Series of Warrants, the index to which such Warrants relates, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 19 (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events*), and "Indices" shall be construed accordingly;

"Index Basket Warrants" means a Series of Warrants relating to a basket of Indices, as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Index-Linked Warrant" means a Series of Warrants in respect of which an amount calculated by reference to an Index or Indices and/or formula is payable (as indicated in the relevant Final Terms) including Inflation Rate-Linked Warrants;

"Index Rules" means the rules of the Index Sponsor in relation to the Index specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Index Sponsor" means the corporation or other entity specified as such in the relevant Final Terms and any successor corporation or other entity that (a) is responsible for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation and adjustments, if any, related to the relevant Index and (b) announces (directly or through an agent) the level of the relevant Index on a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day;

"Index Substitution Notice" has the meaning given in Condition 19(c)(iii) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Adjustments to Indices – Index Cancellation);

"Index Warrants" means a Series of Warrants relating to a single Index, as specified in the relevant Final Terms including Inflation Rate-Linked Warrants;

"Inflation Rate-Linked Warrant" means a Warrant in relation to which the cash settlement amount or any other amount payable thereon is determined by reference to an inflation rate, inflation rates or other inflation rate-dependent variables (as indicated in the relevant Final Terms);

"Initial Index Level" means, with respect to an Index, the level specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such level is so specified or otherwise determined, the level of the relevant Index as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on the Strike Date or, with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, the official closing level of the Index on the Strike Date as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor each as rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up);

"Initial Price" means, with respect to a Security, the price specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such price is so specified or otherwise determined, the price of such Security as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the relevant Exchange on the Strike Date each as rounded up to four decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up);

"Insolvency" means that by reason of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution or winding-up of or any analogous proceeding affecting an Underlying Company, (A) all the Securities of that Underlying Company are required to be transferred to a trustee, liquidator or other similar official or (B) holders of the Securities of that Underlying Company become legally prohibited from transferring them;

"HKSCC" means the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited;

"Knock-in Amount" means the cash settlement amount or other amount as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms:

"Knock-in Amount Payment Date" means such date as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-in Determination Day" means:

- (a) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day), or if Knock-in Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each Scheduled Trading Day during the Knock-in Determination Period; or
- (b) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket, the Knock-in Determination Day in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index), or if Knock-in Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each date in respect of each Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index during the Knock-in Determination Period,

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) which shall apply as if such Knock-in Determination Day were a Valuation Date;

"**Knock-in Determination Period**" means the period which commences on, and includes, the Knock-in Period Beginning Date and ends on, and includes, the Knock-in Period Ending Date;

"Knock-in Event" means (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) that the price of the Security or, as the case may be, the level of the Index, determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time or, if specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, observed by the Calculation Agent continuously on any Knock-in Determination Day is, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the Knock-in Price or, as the case may be, the Knock-in Level;

"Knock-in Level" means the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-in Period Beginning Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket, the Knock-in Period Beginning Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) which shall apply as if such Knock-in Period Beginning Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-in Period Ending Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket, the Knock-in Period Ending Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) which shall apply as if such Knock-in Period Ending Date were a Valuation Date;

"**Knock-in Price**" means the price per Security specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms:

"Knock-out Amount" means the cash settlement amount or other amount as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Amount Payment Date" means such date as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Determination Day" means:

- (a) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day), or if Knock-out Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each Scheduled Trading Day during the Knock-out Determination Period; or
- (b) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, each date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket, the Knock-out Determination Day in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled

Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index) or if Knock-out Determination Period is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, each date in respect of each Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index during the Knock-out Determination Period,

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation*, *Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) which shall apply as if such Knock-out Determination Day were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-out Determination Period" means the period which commences on, and includes, the Knock-out Period Beginning Date and ends on, and includes, the Knock-out Period Ending Date;

"Knock-out Event" means (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms) that the price of the Security or, as the case may be, the level of the Index, determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time or, if specified in the relevant Final Terms, observed by the Calculation Agent continuously on any Knock-out Determination Day is, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, (i) "greater than", (ii) "greater than or equal to", (iii) "less than" or (iv) "less than or equal to" the Knock-out Price or, as the case may be, Knock-out Level;

"Knock-out Level" means the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms;

"Knock-out Period Beginning Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket, the Knock-out Period Beginning Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation*, *Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) which shall apply as if such Knock-out Period Beginning Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-out Period Ending Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket, the Knock-out Period Ending Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) which shall apply as if such Knock-out Period Ending Date were a Valuation Date;

"Knock-out Price" means the price per Security specified as such or otherwise determined in the relevant Final Terms:

"Market Disruption Event" means (a) the occurrence or existence of (i) a Trading Disruption, (ii) an Exchange Disruption, (iii) in relation to China Connect Underlying, a China Connect Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one-hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time or (iv) an Early Closure or in relation to China Connect Underlying, a China Connect Early Closure provided that for the purposes of

determining whether a Market Disruption Event in respect of an Index exists at any time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in respect of a component of the Index at any time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that security to the level of the Index shall be based on a comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that security and (y) the overall level of the Index, in each case immediately before the occurrence of such Market Disruption Event; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, either:

- the occurrence or existence, in respect of any Component Security, of (aa) a Trading Disruption, (bb) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that (i) for the purposes of the occurrence of a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event begins and/or ends at the time at which the relevant price or level triggers the Knock-in Level or the Knock-out Level, as the case may be, or (ii) in all other circumstances, ends at the relevant Valuation Time in respect of the Exchange on which such Component Security is principally traded, OR (cc) an Early Closure and, in relation to a Component Security which is a China Connect Underlying, a China Connect Early Closure; AND (2) the aggregate of all Component Securities in respect of which a Trading Disruption, an Exchange Disruption or an Early Closure occurs or exists comprises 20 per cent. or more of the level of the Index; OR
- the occurrence or existence, in respect of futures or options contracts relating to the Index of: (aa) a Trading Disruption, (bb) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that (i) for the purposes of the occurrence of a Knock-in Event or a Knock-out Event begins and/or ends at the time at which the relevant price or level triggers the Knock-in Level or the Knock-out Level, as the case may be, or (ii) in all other circumstances, ends at the relevant Valuation Time in respect of the Related Exchange; or (cc) an Early Closure.

For the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event exists in respect of a Multiple Exchange Index at any time, if a Market Disruption Event occurs in respect of a Component Security at that time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that Component Security to the level of the Index shall be based on a comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that Component Security to (y) the overall level of the Index, in each case using the official opening weightings as published by the Index Sponsor as part of the market "opening data";

"Merger Event" means in respect of any relevant Securities, any (i) reclassification or change of such Securities that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all of such Securities outstanding to another entity or person, (ii) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Underlying Company with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation, amalgamation or merger in which such Underlying Company is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all of such Securities outstanding), (iii) takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per cent. of the outstanding Securities of the Underlying Company that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all such Securities (other than such Securities owned or controlled by such other entity or person) or (iv) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Underlying Company or its subsidiaries with or into another entity in which the Underlying Company is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all of such Securities outstanding but results in the outstanding Securities (other than Securities owned or controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such event collectively representing less than 50 per cent. of the outstanding Securities immediately following such event, in each case if the closing date of a Merger Event (or, where a closing date cannot be determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as determined by the Calculation Agent) is on or before the final Valuation Date.

If the Warrants are DR-Linked Warrants, "Merger Event" shall include the occurrence of any of the events described in (i) to (iv) (inclusive) above in relation to the relevant Underlying Securities;

"Mixed Basket Warrant" means a Warrant relating to a basket of Indices and Securities, as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

"Multiple Exchange Index" means an Index identified or specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Multiple Exchange Index-Linked Warrants" means Warrants which relate to a Multiple Exchange Index;

"Nationalisation" means that all the Securities (or, if the Warrants are DR-Linked Warrants, the relevant Underlying Securities) or all or substantially all the assets of an Underlying Company are nationalised, expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to any governmental agency, authority or entity;

"Potential Adjustment Event" means (i) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of relevant Securities (unless resulting in a Merger Event), or a free distribution or dividend of any such Securities to existing holders whether by way of bonus, capitalisation or similar issue; or (ii) a distribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of the relevant Securities of (A) such Securities or (B) other share capital or securities granting the right to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of liquidation of the Underlying Company equally or proportionately with such payments to holders of such Securities or (C) any other type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any case for payment (cash or other consideration) at less than the prevailing market price as determined by the Calculation Agent; or (iii) an Extraordinary Dividend; or (iv) a call by the Underlying Company in respect of relevant Securities that are not fully paid; or (v) a repurchase by the Underlying Company or any of its subsidiaries of relevant Securities whether out of profits or capital and whether the consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or otherwise; or (vi) in respect of the Underlying Company, an event that results in any shareholder rights being distributed or becoming separated from shares of common stock or other shares of the capital stock of the Underlying Company pursuant to a shareholder rights plan or arrangement directed against hostile takeovers that provides upon the occurrence of certain events for a distribution of preferred stock, warrants, debt instruments or stock rights at a price below their market value, as determined by the Calculation Agent, provided that any adjustment effected as a result of such an event shall be readjusted upon any redemption of such rights; or (vii) any other event that may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Securities; or (viii) any other event specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

With respect to Depository Receipts, "Potential Adjustment Event" shall also include (x) the occurrence of any of the events described in (i) to (viii) (inclusive) above in respect of the relevant Underlying Securities, provided that the occurrence of any of the events described in (i) to (vi) (inclusive) in respect of the relevant Underlying Securities shall not constitute a Potential Adjustment Event unless, the Calculation Agent determines that such event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the Securities and (y) the making of any amendment or supplement to the terms of the Deposit Agreement;

"Potential Exercise Date" means each date specified as such in the Final Terms or if such date is not a Business Day, the next succeeding date that is a Business Date, provided, however, that, if the:

- Valuation Date on or immediately preceding the Potential Exercise Date is postponed (x) pursuant to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Consequences of Disrupted Days*) and/or (y) as a result of it not being a Scheduled Trading Day, the Potential Exercise Date will be postponed, if needed, such that the Potential Exercise Date shall fall one Business Day following the later of (i) the postponed Valuation Date or, if later, the Limit Valuation Date, as applicable and (ii) the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date, or if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable. In respect of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date referred to in this paragraph will be deemed to be, in respect of a Scheduled Valuation Date, the latest postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date, as applicable, occurring in respect of such Scheduled Valuation Date; and
- (ii) Scheduled FX Fixing Date on or immediately preceding the Potential Exercise Date is postponed pursuant to the provisions of Condition 5(g) (*Exercise Procedure Price Source Disruption and FX Disruption*) (but the Valuation Date is not also postponed), then the Potential Exercise Date shall be the Business Day immediately following the later of

(i) the Valuation Date and (ii) the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date, or if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable;

"PRC" means, solely for the purpose stated herein, the People's Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Regions of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan;

"Realisable Sale Price" means, with respect to a Security and a Valuation Date, the price of the Security on the Valuation Date determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms, or if no such price is so provided, an amount equal to the price that would be realised by a Hypothetical Broker Dealer, acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, in terminating or liquidating Applicable Hedge Positions, as adjusted to account for any costs, commissions, taxes and other fees that may be incurred by or levied on such Hypothetical Broker Dealer;

"Reference Level" means, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms (a) in respect of an Index and an Averaging Date, the level of such Index as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the Exchange on such Averaging Date and (b) in respect of a Multiple Exchange Index and an Averaging Date, the official closing level of such Multiple Exchange Index on such Averaging Date as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor;

"Reference Price" means, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, in respect of a Security and an Averaging Date, the price of such Security as determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the Exchange on such Averaging Date;

"Related Exchange" means, subject to the proviso below, in respect of a Security or Index, each exchange or quotation system specified as such for such Security or Index in the relevant Final Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in futures or options contracts relating to such Security or Index, as the case may be, has temporarily relocated (**provided that** the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options contracts relating to such Security or Index, as the case may be, as on the original Related Exchange) **provided, however, that** where "All Exchanges" is specified as the Related Exchange in the relevant Final Terms, "Related Exchange" shall mean each exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to such Security or Index, as the case may be;

"Replacement DRs" means, if the relevant Deposit Agreement is terminated, any depository receipts which the Calculation Agent determines, in accordance with Condition 19(h) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Events relating to DR-Linked Warrants) are to replace the Depository Receipts constituted by such terminated Deposit Agreement;

"Scheduled Averaging Date" has the meaning given in Condition 19(b)(ii)(B)(3)(bb) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days);

"Scheduled Closing Time" means in respect of an Exchange, Related Exchange or in the case of China Connect Underlying, the China Connect Service and a Scheduled Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange, Related Exchange or, in the case of China Connect Underlying, the China Connect Service on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard (in the case of any Exchange or Related Exchange) to after hours or any other trading outside of the regular trading session hours or (in the case of the China Connect Service) any after hours or any other order-routing outside of the regular order-routing session hours;

"Scheduled Final Averaging Date" has the meaning given in Condition 19(b)(ii)(B)(3)(aa) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days);

"Scheduled Trading Day" means, in respect of a Security or an Index (as applicable), (a) any day on which the relevant Exchange and the relevant Related Exchange are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular trading sessions; notwithstanding any such Exchange or Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time; (b) in the case of China Connect Underlying, any day on which the China Connect Service is scheduled to be open for order-routing for its regular order-routing sessions; (c) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any day on which (i) the Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the Index and (ii) the Related

Exchange is scheduled to be open for trading for its regular trading session or (d) any day on which the Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the Index.

"Scheduled Valuation Date" means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, would have been a Valuation Date;

"Securities" means, in relation to a Series of Warrants or in relation to an Index, the equity securities, debt securities (including without limitation Government Bonds), depository receipts or other securities or property, as adjusted pursuant to this Condition 18 (*Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Warrants and Index-Linked Warrants*) and Condition 19 (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events*), to which such Warrants or Index, as the case may be, relate, as specified in the relevant Final Terms and subject, in the case of a Series of Warrants linked to Units in an ETF, to the provisions of Condition 19(i) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Warrants linked to Units in an ETF – General*) and "Security" shall be construed accordingly;

"Security Basket Warrants" means a Series of Warrants relating to a basket of Securities, as specified in the relevant Final Terms and "Security Basket Warrant" shall be construed accordingly;

"Security Warrants" means a Series of Warrants relating to a single Security, as specified in the relevant Final Terms and "Security Warrant" shall be construed accordingly;

"SEHK" means The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

"Specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days" means, in relation to an Equity-Linked Warrant or an Index-Linked Warrant, the eighth Scheduled Trading Day or such other number of Scheduled Trading Days specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

"Strike Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day), the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket, the Strike Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index).

in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 19(b) (*Valuation*, *Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) which shall apply as if such Strike Date were a Valuation Date;

"Strike Price" has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

"Substitute Index" has the meaning given in Condition 19(c)(iii) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Adjustments to Indices – Index Cancellation);

"Successor Index" has the meaning given in Condition 19(c)(i) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Adjustments to Indices – Successor Index) or Condition 18((i) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events) (as applicable);

"Tender Offer" means a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining or having the right to obtain, by conversion or other means, greater than 10 per cent. and less than 100 per cent. of the outstanding voting shares of the Underlying Company, as determined by the Calculation Agent, based upon the making of filings with governmental or self-regulatory agencies or such other information as the Calculation Agent deems relevant;

"**Trading Disruption**" means (a) any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price

exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise (1) relating to the Securities on the Exchange (in the case of an Equity-Linked Warrant) or on any relevant Exchange(s) relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent. or more of the level of the relevant Index (in the case of an Index-Linked Warrant); or (2) in futures or options contracts relating to the Securities or the relevant Index on any relevant Related Exchange; or (b) with respect to a Multiple Exchange Index, any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise (1) relating to any Component Security on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security, or (2) in futures or options contracts relating to the Index on any relevant Related Exchange;

"Underlying Company" means the issuer of the Security as specified in the relevant Final Terms (or, if the Warrants are DR-Linked Warrants, each of the Depository and the issuer of the relevant Underlying Security), subject to adjustment in accordance with this Condition 18 (*Provisions relating to Equity-Linked Warrants and Index-Linked Warrants*) and Condition 19 (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events*), and subject, in the case of a Series of Warrants linked to Units in an ETF, to the provisions of Condition 19(i) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Warrants Linked to Units in an ETF – General*);

"Underlying Index", in relation to an ETF, has the meaning given to it in the relevant Final Terms;

"Underlying Security" means, with respect to DR-Linked Warrants and a Depository Receipt, the security and any other property to which such Depository Receipt relates;

"Unit", in relation to an ETF, has the meaning given to it in the relevant Final Terms;

"Valid Date" means, in respect of a Security or an Index (as applicable), a Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another Averaging Date in respect of the relevant Valuation Date does not or is not deemed to occur;

"Valuation Date" means:

- (a) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, each date specified or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day); or
- (b) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, each date specified or otherwise determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms (or, if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Security or Index (as applicable) comprising the Basket, the Valuation Date in respect of such Security or Index shall be the next date which is a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Security or Index),

in each case subject to Condition 19(b) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days); and

"Valuation Time" means, (a) in relation to each Security to be valued or each Index the level of which falls to be determined on any date, the time on such date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if no such time is specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange on such date in relation to such Security or Index, as applicable or such scheduled time as set out in the Index Rules. If the relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing time for its regular trading session, then the Valuation Time shall be such actual closing time; or (b) in relation to a Multiple Exchange Index, (i) for the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event has occurred: (a) in respect of any Component Security, the Scheduled Closing Time on the Exchange in respect of such Component Security, and (b) in respect of any options contracts or future contracts on the Index, the close of trading on the Related Exchange; and (c) in all other circumstances, the time at which the official closing level of the Index is calculated and published by the Index Sponsor.

19. Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events

(a) Knock-in and Knock-out Provisions

This Condition 19(a) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Knock-in and Knock-out Provisions*) is applicable only if "Knock-in Event" or "Knock-out Event" is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms. If on a Knock-in Determination Day or Knock-out Determination Day, a Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event (respectively) occurs, then a Knock-in Amount or Knock-out Amount (respectively) becomes payable on the relevant Knock-in Amount Payment Date or Knock-out Amount Payment Date (respectively), all as specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

(b) Consequences of Disrupted Days

For the purposes of this Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) "**Limit Valuation Date**" shall mean, if any Valuation Date in respect of a Warrant is a Disrupted Day, the Specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days following such Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day.

- (i) If any Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day, then:
 - (A) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index, the Valuation Date shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day, **provided that** the Valuation Date shall not fall after the Limit Valuation Date. In that case:
 - (1) in respect of an Index-Linked Warrant, the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level of the Index as of the Valuation Time on that Limit Valuation Date determined in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating the Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on that Limit Valuation Date of each security or other property comprised in the Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of the relevant security or other property on that Limit Valuation Date, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant security or other property as of the Valuation Time on that Limit Valuation Date); and
 - (2) in respect of a Equity-Linked Warrant, that Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day and the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant Security as of the Valuation Time on that Limit Valuation Date:
 - (B) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the Valuation Date for each Index not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the Scheduled Valuation Date and the Valuation Date for each Index affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day which is not a Disrupted Day relating to that Index, unless each of the succeeding Scheduled Trading Days (up to and including the Limit Valuation Date) immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day relating to that Index. In that case, the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date for the relevant Index notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day relating to that Index and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level of that Index, as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date in accordance with the formula for and method of

calculating that Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on that Limit Valuation Date of each security or other property comprised in the relevant Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect to the relevant security or other property on that Limit Valuation Date, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant security or other property as of the Valuation Time on that Limit Valuation Date); and

- (C) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the Valuation Date for each Security not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the Scheduled Valuation Date, and the Valuation Date for each Security affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day relating to that Security, unless each of the Scheduled Trading Days (up to and including the Limit Valuation Date) immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day relating to that Security. In that case, (1) that Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date for the relevant Security, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and (2) the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of the value for that Security as of the Valuation Time on that Limit Valuation Date.
- (ii) If Averaging Dates are specified in the relevant Final Terms, then notwithstanding any other provisions of these Conditions, the following provisions will apply to the valuation of the relevant Index or Security:
 - (A) The Final Price or the Final Index Level will be, in relation to any Valuation Date:
 - (1) in respect of a Warrant which relates to a single Security or Index (as the case may be), the arithmetic mean of the Reference Price of the Security or (as the case may be) of the Reference Level of the Index on each Averaging Date;
 - (2) in respect of an Index Basket Warrant, the arithmetic mean of the amounts for the Basket determined by the Calculation Agent as provided in the relevant Final Terms as of the relevant Valuation Time(s) on each Averaging Date or, if no means for determining the Final Index Level is so provided, the arithmetic mean of the amounts for such basket calculated on each Averaging Date as the sum of the Reference Levels of each Index comprised in the Basket (weighted or adjusted in relation to each Index as provided in the relevant Final Terms); and
 - (3) in respect of a Security Basket Warrant, the arithmetic mean of the prices for the Basket determined by the Calculation Agent as provided in the relevant Final Terms as of the relevant Valuation Time(s) on each Averaging Date or, if no means for determining the Final Price is so provided, the arithmetic mean of the prices for the Basket calculated on each Averaging Date as the sum of the values calculated for the Securities of each Underlying Company as the product of (aa) the Reference Price of such Security and (bb) the number of such Securities comprised in such basket (weighted or adjusted in relation to each Security as provided in the relevant Final Terms).

- (B) If any Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day, then, if the consequence specified in the relevant Final Terms in relation to "Averaging Date Market Disruption" is:
 - (1) "Omission", then such Averaging Date will be deemed not to be a relevant Averaging Date for purposes of determining the relevant Final Price or Final Index Level, as applicable, provided that, if through the operation of this provision no Averaging Date would occur with respect to the relevant Valuation Date, then Condition 19(b)(i) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days) will apply for purposes of determining the relevant level, price or amount on the final Averaging Date in respect of that Valuation Date as if such final Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day. If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Valuation Date occur after that Valuation Date as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date or (ii) the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event or a Potential Adjustment Event shall be determined by reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Valuation Date;
 - (2)"Postponement", then Condition 19(b)(i) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events - Consequences of Disrupted Days) will apply for purposes of determining the relevant level, price or amount on that Averaging Date as if such Averaging Date were a Valuation Date that was a Disrupted Day irrespective of whether, pursuant to such determination, that deferred Averaging Date would fall on a day that already is or is deemed to be an Averaging Date for the Warrant. If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Valuation Date occur after that Valuation Date as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date or the relevant or (ii) the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event or a Potential Adjustment Event shall be determined by reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Valuation Date: or

(3) "Modified Postponement", then:

- in the case of a Warrant which relates to a single Index or Security, the Averaging Date shall be the first succeeding Valid Date. If the first succeeding Valid Date has not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date (as defined below) immediately following the original date that, but for the occurrence of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would have been the final Averaging Date (the "Scheduled Final Averaging Date") in relation to the relevant Scheduled Valuation Date, then the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day (irrespective of whether that Limit Valuation Date is already an Averaging Date), and:
 - (i) in respect of an Index-Linked Warrant, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 19(b)(i)(A)(1) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Consequences of Disrupted Days); and

- (ii) in respect of a Equity-Linked Warrant, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant price for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 19(b)(i)(A)(2) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Consequences of Disrupted Days); and
- (bb) in the case of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the Averaging Date for each Index or Security not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the day specified in the relevant Final Terms as an Averaging Date in relation to the relevant Valuation Date (the "Scheduled Averaging Date") and the Averaging Date for an Index or Security affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Valid Date in relation to such Index or Security. If the first succeeding Valid Date in relation to such Index or Security has not occurred as of the Valuation Time on the Limit Valuation Date immediately following the Scheduled Final Averaging Date, then the Limit Valuation Date shall be deemed to be the Averaging Date (irrespective of whether that Limit Valuation Date is already an Averaging Date) and:
 - (i) in respect of an Index, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant level for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 19(b)(i)(B) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Consequences of Disrupted Days); and
 - (ii) in respect of a Security, the Calculation Agent shall determine the relevant amount for that Averaging Date in accordance with Condition 19(b)(i)(C) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Consequences of Disrupted Days).

If any Averaging Dates in relation to a Valuation Date occur after that Valuation Date as a result of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, then (i) the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date or (ii) the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event or Potential Adjustment Event shall be determined by reference to the last such Averaging Date as though it were that Valuation Date.

For the purposes of this Condition 19(b)(ii)(B)(3) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days) "Limit Valuation Date" shall mean, if any Averaging Date in respect of a Warrant is a Disrupted Day, the specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days following such Averaging Date, notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day.

If a Valuation Date is postponed (x) pursuant to this Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) and/or (y) as a result of it not being a Scheduled Trading Day, the Scheduled FX Fixing Date falling on or immediately following the Scheduled Valuation Date may, in the Calculation Agent's discretion (i) be postponed such that the Scheduled FX Fixing Date will be deemed to occur the number of days following such postponed Valuation Date as the Scheduled FX Fixing Date would have occurred following the Scheduled Valuation Date had it not been

for the postponement pursuant to this Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) or as a result of a non-Scheduled Trading Day or (ii) if the Scheduled Valuation Date and Scheduled FX Fixing Date are the same date, be postponed to such postponed Valuation Date, provided, in each case, that if the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date would, as a result of this paragraph, occur on a day which is not a Relevant Currency Business Day, it will be postponed to the immediately following Relevant Currency Business Day. In respect of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the postponed Valuation Date referred to in this paragraph will be deemed to be, in respect of a Scheduled Valuation Date, the latest postponed Valuation Date occurring in respect of such Scheduled Valuation Date.

If the Warrants are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being "American Style" Warrants and if a Valuation Date is postponed (x) in accordance with this Condition 19(b) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Consequences of Disrupted Days*) and/or (y) as a result of it not being a Scheduled Trading Day, any Disrupted Day Related Payment Date will also be postponed, if needed, such that the Disrupted Day Related Payment Date shall fall at least three (3) local banking days (or such other number of local banking days as may be specified in the Final Terms) following the later of (i) the postponed Valuation Date or, if later, the Limit Valuation Date, as applicable and (ii) the postponed Scheduled FX Fixing Date or, if later, the FX Cut-off Date or Postponed FX Fixing Date, as applicable. In respect of a Warrant which relates to a Basket, the postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date referred to in this paragraph will be deemed to be, in respect of a Scheduled Valuation Date, the latest postponed Valuation Date or Limit Valuation Date, as applicable, occurring in respect of such Scheduled Valuation Date.

(c) Adjustments to Indices

This Condition 19(c) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events –Adjustments to Indices) is applicable only in relation to Index-Linked Warrants other than Inflation Rate-Linked Warrants in relation to which Condition 19(i) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Warrants Linked to Units in an ETF – General) shall apply.

(i) Successor Index

If a relevant Index is (A) not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor but is calculated and published by a successor to the Sponsor acceptable to the Calculation Agent, or (B) replaced by a successor index using, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, the same or a substantially similar formula for and method of calculation as used in the calculation of that Index, then in each case that Index (the "Successor Index") will be deemed to be the Index.

(ii) Index Modification

If on or prior to any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, a relevant Index Sponsor announces that it will make a material change in the formula for or the method of calculating that Index or in any other way materially modifies that Index (other than a modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain that Index in the event of changes in constituent stock and capitalisation or other routine events) (an "Index Modification"), then the Calculation Agent shall determine whether such Index Modification has a material effect on the Warrants, and if so, shall make such adjustment(s) (if any) as it determines appropriate to account for the economic effect of the Index Modification and determine the effective date of any such modification or adjustment.

(iii) Index Cancellation

If on or prior to a Valuation Date or Averaging Date (A) the Index Sponsor fails to calculate and announce a relevant Index, (B) the Index Sponsor announces that it suspends the calculation and publication of the level of a relevant Index or (C)

the Index Sponsor permanently cancels the Index and no Successor Index exists (each an "Index Cancellation"), then:

- (1) the Issuer shall as soon as is reasonably practicable after determining the same give notice (an "**Index Cancellation Notice**") of such Index Cancellation to the Warrantholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 11 (*Notices*);
- (2) if Index Substitution is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall (acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner), determine whether or not and the date as of which the Index is to be substituted with a Substitute Index and, if it so determines, it shall give an Index Substitution Notice to the Warrantholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 11 (*Notices*) and, with effect from the date so determined, the Substitute Index shall be deemed to be the Index; and
- (3) if no Substitute Index has been identified within ten Business Days of the giving of such Index Cancellation Notice or if Index Substitution has not been specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall (acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner), determine whether or not the relevant Warrants shall continue and:
 - (A) if it determines that the Warrants shall continue, then the Calculation Agent shall determine the Final Index Level for such Valuation Date or the Reference Level for such Averaging Date, as the case may be using, in lieu of a published level of that Index, the level for that Index as at that Valuation Date or Averaging Date (as applicable) as determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating that Index last in effect prior to the Index Cancellation, but using only those components that comprised that Index immediately prior to that Index Cancellation; and
 - (B) if it determines that the Warrants shall not continue, the Issuer shall terminate the relevant Warrants as of the date selected by the Issuer and give notice thereof to the Warrantholders (with a copy to the Calculation Agent) in accordance with Condition 11 (*Notices*), specifying the early termination amount and early termination date, and the entitlements of the relevant Warrantholders to receive the Cash Settlement Amount (or any other payment to be made by the Issuer, as the case may be) shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Warrants shall be satisfied in full upon payment of such amount as is determined by the Calculation Agent to be the Fair Market Value of the Warrants.

For these purposes:

"Index Substitution Notice" means a notice specifying a Substitute Index to be substituted for the Index and the date as of which such substitution is to take effect; and

"Substitute Index" means a successor index identified by the Calculation Agent using commercially reasonable efforts, with characteristics, objectives and rules similar to the Index in effect immediately prior to the occurrence of the Index Cancellation.

(iv) Correction of Index Levels

If, in respect of an Index-Linked Warrant, the level of an Index published by the Index Sponsor at any time and used or to be used by the Calculation Agent for any calculation or determination under the Warrants is subsequently corrected and the correction is published by the Index Sponsor after the original publication, the Calculation Agent will make such adjustment as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the settlement or payment terms of the Warrants to account for such correction **provided that** if any amount has been paid or delivered in an amount or value which exceeds the amount that would have been payable or deliverable if the correction had been taken into account, no further amount in an amount at least equal to the excess is payable or deliverable in respect of the Warrants and the Calculation Agent determines that it is not practicable to make such an adjustment to account fully for such correction, the Issuer shall be entitled to reimbursement (or, in the case of a delivery, payment of the value) of, the relevant excess payment or delivery (or, as the case may be, the proportion thereof not accounted for by an adjustment made by the Calculation Agent) by the relevant Warrantholder, together with interest on that amount for the period from and including the day on which payment or delivery was originally made to (but excluding) the day of payment of reimbursement (or value) by the Warrantholder (all as calculated by the Calculation Agent). Any such reimbursement shall be effected in such manner as the Issuer shall determine.

(d) Adjustments and Events affecting Securities

This Condition 19(d) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Adjustments and Events affecting Securities*) is applicable only in relation to Equity-Linked Warrants.

(i) Potential Adjustment Events

The Calculation Agent shall determine whether or not at any time a Potential Adjustment Event has occurred and where it determines such an event has occurred, the Calculation Agent will determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Securities and, if so, will make such adjustment as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the Strike Price, the number of Securities to which each Warrant relates and to any other exercise, payment or other term of the relevant Warrants, including without limitation the amount of cash, which may be transferred under such Warrants and determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s). In addition, in relation to China Connect Underlying only, in making such determinations, the Calculation Agent may (but need not) take into account any requirement, adjustment and/or limitation that may be imposed by the China Connect Service or any action or inaction by any one or more of the Exchange, SEHK, CSDCC and HKSCC in relation to such Potential Adjustment Event in respect of Securities held through the China Connect Service.

(ii) Extraordinary Events

Following the occurrence of any Extraordinary Event, the Issuer will determine whether or not the Warrants shall continue and, if so, determine any adjustments to be made. If the Calculation Agent determines that the relevant Warrants shall continue, it may make such adjustment as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the formula for the Cash Settlement Amount set out in the relevant Final Terms and, any other variable relevant to the payment terms of the relevant Warrants and/or any other adjustment which change or adjustment shall be effective on such date selected by the Calculation Agent. If the Issuer determines that the relevant Warrants shall be terminated, then the Warrants shall cease to be exercisable (or, in the case of Warrants which have been exercised, the entitlements of the respective exercising Warrantholders to receive the Cash Settlement Amount, pursuant to such exercise shall cease) and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Warrants shall be satisfied in full upon payment of

the Fair Market Value of the Warrants. In relation to China Connect Underlying only, in making such determinations, the Issuer and/or the Calculation Agent may (but need not) take into account any requirement, adjustment and/or limitation that may be imposed by the China Connect Service or any action or inaction by any one or more of the Exchange, SEHK, CSDCC and HKSCC in relation to such Merger Event or Tender Offer in respect of Securities held through the China Connect Service.

(iii) Conversion

In respect of an Equity-Linked Warrant which relates to debt securities, following the occurrence of any Conversion, the Issuer will determine whether or not the Warrants will continue and, if so, determine any adjustments to be made. If the Issuer determines that the Warrants shall continue, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment as it determines to be appropriate to the formula for the Cash Settlement Amount set out in the relevant Final Terms and any other variable relevant to the payment terms of the relevant Warrants and/or any other adjustment and determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment. If the Issuer determines that the Warrants shall be terminated, then the Warrants shall cease to be exercisable (or, in the case of any Warrants which have been exercised, the entitlements of the respective exercising Warrantholders to receive the Cash Settlement Amount pursuant to such exercise shall cease) as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the Issuer's obligations under the Warrants shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Warrants.

(iv) Correction of Prices

In the event that any price published or announced on a given day and utilised or to be utilised for the purpose of any calculation or determination under the Warrants is subsequently corrected and the correction is published or announced by the Exchange within one Settlement Cycle after the original publication, the Calculation Agent will make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the payment terms of the Warrants to account for such correction and the Calculation Agent shall determine the effective date(s) of such adjustment(s) provided that if any amount has been paid in an amount which exceeds the amount that would have been payable if the correction had been taken into account, no further amount in an amount at least equal to the excess is payable in respect of the Warrants and the Calculation Agent determines that it is not practicable to make such an adjustment to account fully for such correction, the Issuer shall be entitled to reimbursement of, the relevant excess payment (or, as the case may be, the proportion thereof not accounted for by an adjustment made by the Calculation Agent) by the relevant Warrantholder, together with interest on that amount for the period from and including the day on which payment or delivery was originally made to (but excluding) the day of payment of reimbursement by the Warrantholder (all as calculated by the Calculation Agent). Any such reimbursement shall be effected in such manner as the Issuer shall determine.

(e) Additional Disruption Events

Following the occurrence of any Additional Disruption Event, the Issuer will determine whether or not the Warrants shall continue and, if so, the Calculation Agent shall determine any adjustments to be made. If the Issuer determines that the relevant Warrants shall continue, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the formula for the Cash Settlement Amount set out in the relevant Final Terms and any other variable relevant to the payment terms of the relevant Warrants, and/or any other adjustment which change or adjustment shall be effective on such date selected by the Calculation Agent. If the Issuer determines that the relevant Warrants shall be terminated, then the Warrants shall cease to be exercisable (or, in the case of Warrants which have been exercised, the entitlements of the respective exercising Warrantholders to receive the Cash Settlement Amount, pursuant to such exercise shall cease) and the

Issuer's obligations under the relevant Warrants shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Warrants.

For the purposes of each Series of Warrants, "**Additional Disruption Event**" means any event specified as such in the relevant Final Terms, and for such purpose the following terms if so specified shall be deemed to have the following meanings unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms:

- (i) "Change in Law" means, in relation to any Warrants, on or after the Issue Date, (A) due to the adoption of or any change in any applicable law or regulation (including without limitation, any tax law), or (B) due to the promulgation of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), the Issuer determines that (x) it will, or there is a substantial likelihood that it will, with the passing of time, or has become illegal for the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates to hold, acquire or dispose of or realise, recover or remit the proceeds of the sale of disposal of, Securities, Component Securities or other components comprised in the Index relating to such Warrants or any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the equity price risk or any other relevant price risk including, without limitation, any currency risk, of the Issuer issuing and performing its obligations with respect to the Warrants (y) it has become illegal for the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates to hold, acquire, purchase, sell or maintain one or more (i) positions or contracts in respect of any securities, options, futures, derivatives or foreign exchange in relation to such Warrants, or in relation to the Issuer's hedging activities in connection with the Warrants or in relation to the hedging activities of the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates in connection with the Warrants, (ii) stock loan transactions in relation to such Warrants or (iii) other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) held by the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates in order to hedge, individually or on a portfolio basis, such Warrants or (z) the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates will incur a materially increased cost in performing its obligations under the Warrants (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or other adverse effect on its tax position);
- "China Connect Service Termination" means, on or after the Trade Date, the announcement by one or more of the China Connect Market, SEHK, the CSDCC, HKSCC or any regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of a suspension or termination of the China Connect Service or a part thereof for any reason which materially affects the routing of orders in respect of, or holding of, the Securities through the China Connect Service and the Calculation Agent determines that there is a reasonable likelihood that such suspension or termination is not, or will not be, temporary;
- "China Connect Share Disqualification" means, on or after the Trade Date, the Securities cease to be accepted as "China Connect Securities" (as defined in the rules of SEHK) for the purpose of the China Connect Service;
- (iv) "Failure to Deliver" means the failure of a party to deliver, when due, the relevant Securities in respect of the Warrants, where such failure is due to illiquidity in the market for such Securities;
- (v) "Insolvency Filing" means that the issuer of the Securities institutes or has instituted against it by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, or it consents to a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors' rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official or it consents to such petition, provided that proceedings instituted or petitions presented by

creditors and not consented to by the issuer of the Securities shall not be deemed an Insolvency Filing;

- "Hedging Disruption" means that the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates is (vi) unable or it is or has become not reasonably practicable, or it has otherwise become undesirable, for any reason, for the Issuer wholly or any of its designated affiliates or partially after using commercially reasonable efforts and acting in good faith, to (A) hold, acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary or desirable to hedge the equity or any other price risk (including but not limited to, any currency risk) of entering into and performing the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Warrants or (B) realise, recover, receive, transfer or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s) or (C) without prejudice to (B) above, transfer amounts denominated in the Settlement Currency (1) from accounts inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction to accounts outside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction (2) between accounts inside the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or (3) to a party that is a non-resident of the Settlement Currency Jurisdiction or (D) without prejudice to (B) and (C) above, convert the Settlement Currency into an Alternative Payment Currency) and, for the avoidance of doubt "using commercially reasonable efforts and acting in good faith" to hedge the risks of the Issuer referred to herein does not include the value of any quota granted to the Issuer or any of its designated Affiliates under the Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor ("QFII") or Renminbi Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor ("RQFII") Schemes;; and
- (vii) "Increased Cost of Hedging" means that the Issuer or any of its designated affiliates would incur materially increased costs (as compared with circumstances existing on the Issue Date), including, without limitation, amount of tax (including any potential tax which the Calculation Agent considers may arise), duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (A) hold, acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge equity or any other price risk (including but not limited to, any currency risk) of entering into and performing the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Warrants or (B) realise, recover, receive, transfer or remit the proceeds of any such transaction(s) or asset(s) provided that any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of the Issuer or its designated affiliates, as applicable, shall not be deemed an Increased Cost of Hedging.

(f) Adjustments where the Securities are Units in an ETF

Where the Securities are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being Units in an ETF, in the case of the occurrence at any time on or prior to the Valuation Date of any Extraordinary Event affecting the ETF or the value of the Units, the Calculation Agent may make any adjustment as provided in the preceding provisions of this Condition 19 (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events) or:

- (i) if the Calculation Agent determines that no adjustment that it could make under the preceding provision of this Condition 19 (*Valuation*, *Adjustments and Extraordinary Events*) would produce a commercially reasonable result:
 - (a) the Calculation Agent will use commercially reasonable efforts to identify a new underlying asset with characteristics, investment objectives and policies similar to those in effect for the Affected Units immediately prior to the occurrence of the relevant Extraordinary Event and any substitution of the new underlying asset for the Affected Units shall be effected at such time and in such manner as determined by the Calculation Agent; and

- (b) if necessary, the Calculation Agent will adjust any relevant terms, including, but not limited to, adjustments to account for changes in volatility, investment strategy or liquidity relevant to the Units or the Warrants; or
- (ii) if the Calculation Agent determines that the relevant Warrants shall be terminated, then the Warrants shall be terminated as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent and the entitlements of the relevant Warrantholders to receive the relevant Cash Settlement Amount shall cease and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Warrants shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Warrants.

In this Condition 19(f) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Adjustments where the Securities are Units in an ETF) "Affected Unit(s)" means each Unit subject to an applicable Extraordinary Event.

(g) Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Warrants

With respect to Inflation Rate-Linked Warrants, the following provisions shall apply in lieu of Condition 19(c) (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Adjustments to Indices*).

(A) Definitions

In this Condition:

"Base Level" means the level of the Index (excluding any "flash" estimates) published or announced by the Inflation Index Sponsor in respect of the month which is 12 calendar months prior to the month for which the Substitute Index Level is being determined;

"Fallback Bond" means a bond selected by the Calculation Agent and issued by the government or one of the governments (but not any government agency) of the country (or countries) to whose level of inflation the relevant Index relates and which pays a coupon and/or redemption amount which is calculated by reference to the Index, with a maturity date which falls on the same day as the Cash Settlement Payment Date or such other date as the Calculation Agent shall select if there is no such bond maturing on the Cash Settlement Payment Date. If any bond so selected is redeemed, the Calculation Agent will select a new Fallback Bond on the same basis, but selected from all eligible bonds in issue at the time the original Fallback Bond is redeemed (including any bond for which the redeemed bond is exchanged);

"Inflation Index Level" means the level of the Index first published or announced for the relevant Reference Month on the Relevant Screen Page, as determined by the Calculation Agent, subject to this Condition 19(g) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Warrants);

"Inflation Index Sponsor" means, the inflation index sponsor specified as such in the Final Terms (being the entity that publishes or announces (directly or through an agent) the level of the Index) and any successor sponsor of such Index as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Latest Level" means the latest level of the Index (excluding any "flash" estimates) published or announced by the Inflation Index Sponsor prior to the month in respect of which the Substitute Index Level is being calculated;

"Reference Level" means the level of the Index (excluding any "flash" estimates) published or announced by the Inflation Index Sponsor in respect of the month that is 12 calendar months prior to the month referred to in "Latest Level" above.

"Reference Month" means the calendar month for which the level of the Index was reported, regardless of when this information is published or amended. If the period for which the level of the Index was reported is a period other than a month, the Reference Month is the period for which the level of the Index was reported;

"Related Bond" means the bond specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms and no bond is specified as the Related Bond, the Related Bond shall be the Fallback Bond. If the bond specified to be the Related Bond redeems or matures during the term of the Inflation Rate-linked Warrants, following such redemption or maturity the Related Bond shall be the Fallback Bond; and

"Relevant Screen Page" means the page, section or other part of a particular information service specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying the level of the Index; and

"Substitute Index Level" means the level of the Index, determined by the Calculation Agent pursuant to (B) below.

(B) Delay of Publication

If the Inflation Index Level for a Reference Month which is relevant to the calculation of an amount payable in respect of Inflation Rate-linked Warrants (a "Relevant Level") has not been published or announced on the Relevant Screen Page by the day that is five Business Days prior to the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date (the "Affected Payment Date"), the Calculation Agent shall determine a "Substitute Index Level" (in place of such Relevant Level) by using the following methodology:

- (i) If Related Bond is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will take the same action to determine the Substitute Index Level for the Affected Payment Date as that taken by the calculation agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond;
- (ii) If (A) Related Bond is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms; or (B) the Calculation Agent is unable to determine the Substitute Index Level under (i) above for the Affected Payment Date for any reason, then the Calculation Agent shall determine the Substitute Index Level as follows:

 $Substitute\ Index\ Level = Base\ Level\ imes\ (Latest\ Level/Reference\ Level)$

If a Relevant Level is published or announced at any time after the day that is five Business Days prior to the relevant Cash Settlement Payment Date, such Relevant Level will not be used in any calculations and instead the Substitute Inflation Index Level so determined pursuant to this Condition 19(g) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Warrants) will be the definitive level for the relevant Reference Month.

(C) Cessation of Publication

If a level of the Index has not been published or announced on the Relevant Screen Page for two consecutive months and/or the Inflation Index Sponsor announces that it will no longer continue to publish or announce the Index, then the Calculation Agent shall determine a Successor Index (in lieu of any previously applicable Index) for the purposes of the Warrants by using the following methodology:

- (i) if at any time (other than after the designation by the Calculation Agent of a date for the early termination of the Warrants pursuant to paragraph (iv) below) a successor index has been designated by the calculation agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond, such successor index shall be designated a "Successor Index" for the purposes of the determination of the Cash Settlement Amount or any other adjustment in respect of the Warrants, notwithstanding that any other Successor Index may previously have been determined under the other subsections of this Condition 19(g)(C)(i) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Warrants Cessation of Publication);
- (ii) if: (1) a Successor Index has not been determined under paragraph (i) above; (2) there has been no designation of a date for the early termination of the Warrants by the Calculation Agent pursuant to paragraph (iv) below; (3) a notice has been given or an announcement has been made by the Inflation Index Sponsor, specifying that the Index will be superseded by a replacement index specified by the Inflation Index Sponsor; and (4) and the Calculation Agent determines that such replacement index is calculated using the same or substantially similar formula or method of calculation as used in the calculation of the previously applicable Index, then such replacement index shall be deemed to be the "Successor Index" for the purposes of the Warrants from the date that such replacement Index comes into effect;
- (iii) If a Successor Index has not been determined by the Calculation Agent under paragraph (i) or (ii) above (and there has been no designation by the Calculation Agent of a date for the early termination of the Warrants pursuant to paragraph (iv) below), the Calculation Agent will determine an appropriate alternative index for such relevant Valuation Date, and such index will be deemed a "Successor Index";
- (iv) If the Calculation Agent determines that there is no appropriate alternative index, then the Issuer may terminate all but not some only of the Warrants as of the date selected by the Calculation Agent at the Fair Market Value of such Warrants.

The Issuer shall notify the Warrantholders of any Successor Index determined pursuant to this Condition 19(g)(C) (Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events – Adjustments to Indices for Inflation Rate-Linked Warrants – Cessation of Publication).

(D) Rebasing of the Index

If the Calculation Agent determines that the Index has been or will be rebased at any time, the Index as so rebased (the "Rebased Index") will be used for purposes of determining the level of an Index from the date of such rebasing; provided, however, that the Calculation Agent shall make such adjustments as are made by the calculation agent pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Related Bond, if any, to the levels of the Rebased Index so that the Rebased Index levels reflect the same rate of inflation as the Index before it was rebased. If there is no Related Bond, the Calculation Agent shall make adjustments to the levels of the Rebased Index so that the Rebased Index levels reflect the same rate of inflation as the Index before it was rebased. Any such rebasing shall not affect any prior payments made under the Warrants.

(E) Material Modification

If, on or prior to the day that is five Business Days before the next date which is a Cash Settlement Payment Date (as the case may be), an Inflation Index Sponsor announces that it will make a material change to an Index, then the Calculation

Agent shall make any such adjustments to the Index and/or the terms of the Warrants consistent with adjustments made to the Related Bond, or, if there is no Related Bond, only those adjustments necessary for the modified Index to continue as the Index.

(F) Manifest Error in Publication

If, within thirty days of publication and prior to the day that falls five Business Days prior to the Cash Settlement Payment Date, the Calculation Agent determines that the Inflation Index Sponsor has corrected the level of the Index to remedy a manifest error in its original publication, the Calculation Agent will take such action as it may deem necessary and practicable to give effect to such correction.

(h) Events relating to DR-Linked Warrants

In relation to DR-Linked Warrants only, if a Delisting of the Securities occurs or the Depository announces that the Deposit Agreement is (or will be) (or is at any time, whether or not announced by the Depository) terminated, then the Issuer will determine whether or not the Warrants shall continue. If the Issuer determines that:

- the Warrants shall continue, it shall elect whether the Security shall thereafter be (x) the Replacement DRs or the Underlying Security and the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment(s) as it determines to be appropriate, if any, to the terms of the Warrants (including, without limitation, any change to the notional number of Securities or/or the formula for the Cash Settlement Amount), and which change or adjustment(s) shall be effective on such date selected by the Calculation Agent; or
- (ii) the Warrants shall not continue, then the Warrants shall cease to be exercisable (or, in the case of Warrants which have been exercised, the entitlements of the respective exercising Warrantholders to receive the Cash Settlement Amount, as the case may be, pursuant to such exercise shall cease) and the Issuer's obligations under the relevant Warrants shall be satisfied in full upon payment of the Fair Market Value of the Warrants.

(i) Warrants Linked to Units in an ETF - General

If the relevant Final Terms specify that the Securities in relation to a Series of Warrants are Units in an ETF, then this Condition 19 (*Valuation, Adjustments and Extraordinary Events*) shall apply to the Warrants as if references therein to "**Underlying Company**" were references to the "**ETF**" and as if references therein to "**Security**" were references to "**Unit**".

PRO FORMA FINAL TERMS FOR WARRANTS

FINAL TERMS

Final Terms dated [•]

[HSBC Bank plc

(A company incorporated in England with registered number 14259; the liability of its members is limited)

Programme for the Issuance of Notes and Warrants

[Further] Issue of

[Number of Warrants]

[Title of Warrants]

[(to be consolidated and form a single series with the existing [Insert details of existing Tranche(s)]) issued pursuant to HSBC Bank plc's Programme for the Issuance of Notes and Warrants]

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

This document constitutes the final terms (the "Final Terms") relating to the issue of the Tranche of Warrants described herein and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated 9 December 2020 as supplemented from time to time (the "Base Prospectus"). The Base Prospectus is a base prospectus in accordance with Art. 35 para. 1 of the Financial Services Act ("FinSA") and has been evaluated and approved pursuant to Art. 51 et seq. of the FinSA and Art. 59 et seq. of the Financial Services Ordinance ("FinSO") by the reviewing body SIX Exchange Regulation AG ("Reviewing Body"). Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Warrants (the "Conditions") set forth in the Base Prospectus.

Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Warrants is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus is available for viewing at HSBC Bank plc, 8 Canada Square, London E14 5HQ, United Kingdom and www.hsbc.com (please follow the links to 'Investors', 'Fixed income investors', 'Issuance programmes') and copies may be obtained from HSBC Bank plc, 8 Canada Square, London E14 5HQ, United Kingdom.

The Base Prospectus does not comprise (i) a prospectus for the purposes of Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) or (ii) a base prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation"). The Base Prospectus has been prepared solely with regard to Warrants that are not to be admitted to listing or trading on any regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU and not to be offered to the public in the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom (other than pursuant to one or more of the exemptions set out in of the Prospectus Regulation).

PRIIPS REGULATION - PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS -

The Warrants are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA") or in the United Kingdom (the "UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Warrants or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA or in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Warrants or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA or in the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]

The Warrants do not constitute a collective investment scheme as defined in the Federal Collective Investment Schemes Act ("CISA") and are therefore neither governed by the CISA nor subject to supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA). Accordingly,

Warrantholders do not have the benefit of the specific investor protection provided under the CISA. Warrantholders bear the issuer risk.

It is advisable that investors considering acquiring any Warrants understand the risks of transactions involving the Warrants and it is advisable that they reach an investment decision after carefully considering, with their financial, legal, regulatory, tax, accounting and other advisers, the suitability of the Warrants in light of their particular circumstances (including without limitation their own financial circumstances and investment objectives and the impact the Warrants will have on their overall investment portfolio) and the information contained in the Base Prospectus and these Final Terms. Investors should consider carefully the risk factors set forth under "Risk Factors" in the Base Prospectus.

(Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or sub-paragraphs. Italics denote guidance for completing the Final Terms.)

1.	Issuer:		Н	SBC Bank plc	
2.	[Tranc	he number:	[]	
	that Se	gible with an existing Series, details of eries, including the date on which the nts become fungible).]			
3.	Settler	ment Currency:	[]	
4.	Aggregate Number of Warrants in the:				
	[(i)	Series:]	[]	
	[(ii)	Tranche:]	[]	
5.	Face V	Value:	[]	
6.	(i)	Issue Date:	[]	
	(ii)	Trade Date:	[]	
7.	Issue F	Price:	[c	urrency] [amount] per Warrant	
8.	Strike	Strike Price:		urrency] [amount] [Not applicable]	
9.	Type o	Type of Warrants:		[Security Warrant / Security Basket Warrant / Index Warrant / Index Basket Warrant/Mixed Basket Warrant]	
10.	Series represented by:		[Global Registered Warrant. Warrants in definitive form [will/will not] be issued.] [other (specify)]		
11.	Form of Warrant:		Initially represented by [Regulation S Global Registered Warrant][Definitive Registered Warrant]		
12.	Style o	of Warrants:	B W	ne Warrants are [American/European/ermudan/other (specify)] Style [Call/Put] arrants. Condition [4(a)/4(b)/4(c)] is oplicable.	
13.	(i)	Expiry Date:	a] [or if such day is not a Business Day [and Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date] [and Scheduled Trading Day] the immediately llowing day that is a Business Day [and an	

adjustment in accordance with the Conditions] [Applicable] [Not applicable] (ii) Automatic Exercise: (iii) **Exercise Period:** [American Style Warrants only]. [The period beginning from (and including) [] and ending on (and including) the Expiry Date]. Potential Exercise Date(s): [Bermudan Style Warrants only] [insert date] (iv) or if such day is not a Business Day [and an Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date] the immediately following day that is a Business Day [and an Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date][, subject to adjustment in accordance with the conditions] (v) Knock-in Event: [Applicable] [Specify event or occurrence] [If the [Final Price] [Reference Price] [Final Index Level] [Reference Level] [] as observed by the Calculation Agent [as of the Valuation Time] [continuously] [] [on a Knock-In Determination Day is [greater than] [greater than or equal to [less than] [less than or equal to] the relevant Knock-in [Price] [Level]] [Not applicable] Knock-in Determination [] [Condition 18 applies] Day: Knock-in Determination [Applicable] [Not applicable] Period: Knock-in Period Beginning [] [Not applicable] Date: Knock-in Period Ending [] [Not applicable] Date: Knock-in Price/ Knock-in [] Level: [] Knock-in Amount: Knock-in Amount Payment [] [Maturity Date] Date: [Applicable] [(specify event or occurrence)] (vi) Knock-out Event: [If the [Final Price] [Reference Price] [Final Index Level] [Reference Level] as observed by the Calculation Agent [as of the Valuation Time] [continuously] [] [on a Knock-out Determination Day] is [greater than] [greater than or equal to] [less than] [less than or equal to] the relevant knock-out [Price] [Level]] [Not applicable] Determination [] [Condition 18 applies] Knock-out

Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date [and a Scheduled Trading Day] [, subject to

Day:

		• Knock-out Determination Period:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
		• Knock-out Period Beginning Date:	[] [Not applicable]
		• Knock-out Period Ending Date:	[] [Not applicable]
		• Knock-out Price/ Knock-out Level:	[]
		• Knock-out Amount:	[]
		• Knock-out Amount Payment Date:	[] [Maturity Date]
14.	(i)	Minimum Trading Size: Exercise/Minimum	[] Warrants
	(ii)	Permitted Multiple:	[] Warrants
15.	Cash S	ettlement:	
	(i)	Cash Settlement Amount:	[]
	(ii)	Cash Settlement Payment Date:	[] [or, if later, the [fifth/specify Business Day following the Exercise Date]
	(iii)	Specified Maximum Number of Disrupted Days:	[] [Not applicable] [The definition in Condition 18 applies]
	(iv)	Disrupted Day Related Payment Dates pursuant to Condition 19(b):	[3][]
16.	Index-	Linked Warrant:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
	(i)	Index/Indices:	[] [The Exchanges/[] [] [is / are] Multiple Exchange Ind(ex)(ices)]
	(ii)	Basket:	[(specify each Index in the Basket and indicate the relative proportions)] [Not applicable]
	(iii)	Index Sponsor(s):	[] [The definition in Condition 18 applies]
	(iv)	Index Rules:	[] [Not applicable]
	(v)	Exchange(s):	[]
	(vi)	Related Exchange(s):	[] [All Exchanges]
	(vii)	Valuation Time:	[]
	(viii)	Valuation Date:	[] [[specify] Business Day prior to the Expiry Date or relevant Potential Exercise Date]
	(ix)	Averaging Dates:	[Applicable] [Not applicable] [If applicable, specify dates]
	(x)	Reference Level:	[] [The definition in Condition 18] [Not applicable]

	(xi)	China Connect Underlying	[Yes] [No]
	(xii)	Additional Disruption Event:	[The following Additional Disruption Events apply: [Change in Law, Hedging Disruption, Increased Cost of Hedging] [other (specify)] [Not applicable]]
	(xiii)	Initial Index Level:	[][The definition in Condition 18 applies]
	(xiv)	Final Index Level:	[] [Not applicable] [The definition in Condition 18 applies]
	(xv)	Adjustments to Indices:	[Condition 19(c)] / [[Condition 19(i) [applies/does not apply]]
	(xvi)	Strike Date:	[]
	(xvi)	Index Substitution:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
	(xvii)	Alternative Pre-nominated Index:	[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details] [Not applicable]
17.	Equity-	-Linked Warrant:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
	(i)	Security(ies):	[The Securities are [[] (ISIN:[])] [Depository Receipts] [China Connect Underlying] [Units in the ETF, where "ETF" means [], "Unit" means a share or notional unit of the ETF (as defined in the ETF Documents), the price of which is denominated in []. [The Units represent undivided ownership interests in the portfolio of investments held by the ETF][delete if not applicable], "Underlying Index" means [] Condition 19 shall apply to the Warrants as if references therein to "Underlying Company" were references to the "ETF" and as if references therein to "Security" were references to "Unit".]
	(ii)	Basket:	[specify each Security in the Basket and indicate the relative proportions] [Not applicable]
	(iii)	Underlying Company:	[] [and with respect to the Underlying Securities []] [The ETF]
	(iv)	Exchange(s):	[specify exchange on which the Securities are listed]
	(v)	Related Exchange:	[specify] [Not applicable]
	(vi)	Valuation Time:	[]
	(vii)	Valuation Date:	[] [[specify] Business Day prior to the Expiry Date or relevant Potential Exercise Date]
	(viii)	Averaging Dates:	[Applicable] [Not applicable] [If applicable, specify dates]
	(ix)	Initial Price:	[] [The definition in Condition 18 applies]

	(x)	Strike Date:	[]	
	(xi)	Final Price:	[] [The definition in Condition 18 applies] [The definition of Realisable Sale Price in Condition 18 applies]	
	(xii)	Reference Price:	[] [The definition in Condition 18 applies]	
	(xii)	Potential Adjustment Event:	Condition 19(f)(i) [applies/does not apply]	
		• Extraordinary Dividend (if other than as specified in the definition in Condition 18)	[]	
		• additional Potential Adjustment Event (for purposes of paragraph (viii) of the definition thereof)	[]	
	(xiv)	Extraordinary Event:	Condition 19(f)(ii) [applies/does not apply]	
	(xv)	Conversion:	Condition 19(f)(iii) [applies/does not apply]	
		(for Warrants relating to Government Bonds and debt securities only)		
	(xvi)	Correction of Prices:	Condition 19(f)(iv) [applies/does not apply]	
	(xvii)	Additional Disruption Event:	[The following Additional Disruption Events apply: [Change in Law, Failure to Deliver, Insolvency Filing, Hedging Disruption, Increased Cost of Hedging] [China Connect Share Disqualification] [China Connect Service Termination] [other - give details]] [Not applicable]	
18.	Averag	ging Date Market Disruption:	[Omission / Postponement / Modified Postponement / Not applicable / other (specify)]	
19.	Busine	ss Day:	[As in the Conditions / other (specify)]	
20.	(i)	Payment of Alternative Payment Currency Equivalent:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]	
		• Cross Currency Exchange Rate:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]	
		• Cross Currency:	[]	
		• Cross Currency Jurisdiction:	[]	
		• Settlement Currency Jurisdiction:	[]	
		• Alternative Payment Currency:	[]	
		• Alternative Payment Currency Jurisdiction:	[]	

•	Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Page:	[]
•	Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Time:	[]
•	Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date:	[] [Condition 1 applies] [The relevant [jurisdictions/places] for the purposes of the Alternative Payment Currency Fixing Date are []]
•	Alternative Payment Currency Exchange Rate Fall-Back Provisions:	[] [Not applicable]
•	Additional Alternative Payment Currency Event:	[]
•	Offshore RMB Centre:	[Hong Kong] [Taiwan] [Singapore] [] [Not applicable]
•	Alternative Pre-nominated Index:	[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details] [Not applicable]
(ii) Uno	derlying Currency Pair	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
•	Cross Currency Exchange Rate:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
•	Cross Currency:	[]
•	Cross Currency Jurisdictions	[]
•	Reference Currenc(y)(ies):	[]
•	Reference Currency Jurisdiction(s):	[]
•	Specified Currenc(y)(ies):	[]
•	Specified Currency Jurisdiction(s):	[]
•	Underlying Currency Pair Business Days:	[] [Condition 1 applies]
•	Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Date:	[] [[specify] Business Day prior to the Expiry Date or relevant Potential Exercise Date [or, if such day is not an Underlying Currency Pair Business Day, the immediately preceding Underlying Currency Pair Business Day]]
•	Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Page:	[] [Condition 1 applies]
•	Underlying Currency Pair Fixing Time:	[]

		 Underlying Currency Pair Exchange Rate Fall-Back provisions: 	[] [Condition 1 applies]
		• Alternative Pre-nominated Index:	[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details] [Not applicable]
	(iii)	Price Source Disruption:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
		• FX Cut-off Date:	[] [Condition 1 applies]
		• Number of local banking days for the purpose of postponing Related Payment Dates pursuant to Condition 5(g):	[3][]
		• Dealer Poll:	[Applicable] [Not applicable]
		Unscheduled Holiday and Deferral Period:	[The number of the Relevant Currency Business Days for the purposes of the definition of Unscheduled Holiday in Condition 1 is [] [and the number of calendar days for the purposes of the Deferral Period [] [as per Condition 1]
	(iv)	Alternative Pre-nominated Index:	[] [specify Alternative Pre-nominated Index details for Equity/Index-Linked Warrants] [Not applicable]
21.	Busine	ss Centre:	[]
22.	Selling	Restrictions:	
	United	States of America	Warrants may not be offered or sold within the United States of America or, to or for the account or the benefit of, a U.S. person (as defined in Regulation S)
			40-day Distribution Compliance Period: [Applicable] [Not applicable]
			In addition to selling restrictions listed in "Purchase and Sale of the Warrants" contained in the Base Prospectus:
			(Specify any selling restrictions applicable to the Warrants which are additional to, or in substitution for, those contained in the Base Prospectus) ⁹
23.	Other 7	Terms:	[]
[PRO	VISIONS	S APPLICABLE TO INFLATION RA	TE-LINKED WARRANTS ONLY]
24.	(i)	Related Bond:	[Applicable [- Related Bond is []]/Not applicable] (if applicable and nothing further is specified then it will be the Fallback Bond)

⁹ If new term constitutes a "significant new change" or "significant new matter", consider whether a supplementary listing particulars is required.

- (ii) Inflation Index Sponsor: []
- (iii) Relevant Screen Page: []

DISTRIBUTION

25. (i) If syndicated, names of Relevant Manager(s):

[Not applicable] [HSBC Bank plc] [other - give name]

(ii) If syndicated, names [, addresses and underwriting commitments] of other Managers (if any):

[Not applicable] [other - give name] [Give addresses and underwriting commitments]

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and names and addresses of the entities agreeing to place the issue without a firm commitment or on a "best efforts" basis if such entities are not the same as the Managers.)

26. Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors:

[Applicable] [Not applicable]

27. Exemption(s) from requirements under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "**Prospectus Regulation**"):

[Not applicable. This offer is made exclusively to investors outside the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom]/[The offer is addressed solely to qualified investors (as such term is defined in the Prospectus Regulation)]/[The offer is addressed to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Regulation)]/[The offer is addressed to investors who will acquire Warrants for a consideration of at least EUR100,000 (or equivalent amount in another currency) per investor for each separate offer].

28. Additional U.S. federal income tax considerations:

[Not applicable/give details] [The Warrants are [not] Section 871(m) Warrants for the purpose of Section 871(m).] [The [Dividend Withholding] approach shall apply to the Warrants. For further information, see "Taxation - United States Taxation -Withholding on Dividend Equivalent Payments" in the Base Prospectus. [The following dividend equivalent amounts are to be treated as being reinvested during the term of the Warrants, less a withholding on such amounts at a rate of [] per cent. (as of the Issue Date), which shall be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as having been withheld from payments due to the holders of the Warrants: []]. Additional information regarding the application of Section 871(m) to the Warrants will be available from the Issuer. Investors should submit any requests for additional information to the Issuer via their custodians.] [The Warrants will not be Section 871(m) Warrants if they do not reference any U.S. equity or any index that contains any U.S. equity. Warrants that reference a U.S. equity

or index that contains any U.S. equity are subject to additional testing on a trade-by-trade basis to determine whether they are Section 871(m) Warrants.]

CONFIRMED

HSBC BANK PLC

By:
Authorised Signatory
Date:

PART B – OTHER INFORMATION

1.	LISTING			
	(i)	Listing:	Not applicable	
	(ii)	Admission to trading:	Not applicable	
	(iii) admissi	Estimated total expenses of ion to trading:	[(Specify amount)] [Not applicable]	
OPER	ATION	AL INFORMATION		
2.	ISIN C	ode:	[] [Not applicable]	
3.	Commo	on Code:	[] [Not applicable]	
4.	CUSIP:	:	[] [Not applicable]	
5.	Valorer	n Number:	[] [Not applicable]	
6.	SEDOL	. :	[] [Not applicable]	
7.	WKN:		[] [Not applicable]	
8.	Other ic	dentifier / code:	[] [Not applicable]	
9.	Type:		[Description of the Warrants, with, as the case may be, reference to the Swiss Derivative Map©, as amended from time to time by the Swiss Structured Products Association (www.svsp-verband.ch)]	
10.	Level of applical	of capital protection, where ble.	[Specify - If the capital protection is tied to conditions, such as reaching, exceeding or falling below certain thresholds, then this fact must be stated.]	
11.		onal information on the ring(s) for Warrants on equity securities, where applicable	[Information on where the current annual reports for the issuers of the Underlyings may be obtained free of charge for the term of the Warrants, provided they are not available on the website of the issuer of the underlying or cannot be obtained via the latter.]	
12.	Additio underly collecti where a	ring(s) for Warrants on	[In the case of collective investment schemes, information on the fund management or issuing company, and details of the composition or investment universe of the collective investment scheme in question]	
			[Confirmation that the collective investment scheme has been authorised by FINMA for sale in or from	

Switzerland. Otherwise, a special statement must be made that the collective investment scheme has not been

authorised for sale by FINMA.]

13. Additional information on the [Name of the agency that calculates and publishes the underlying(s) for Warrants index (index sponsor), as well as details of where indices, where applicable: information on the method of calculation is available to the public] [Details of where information on the securities universe and any modifications to composition are available to the public (specifically where and when such adjustments are announced)] [Whether the index in question is a price or performance (total return) index] 14. Any clearing system(s) other than [None] [specify] Euroclear Clearstream, and Luxembourg and the relevant identification number(s): Delivery [against/free of] payment 15. Delivery: Additional Warrant Agent(s) (if [None/specify] 16. any): 17. Common Depository: [HSBC Bank plc] [Not applicable] [specify] [HSBC Bank plc] [HSBC Continental Europe] [specify] 18. Calculation Agent TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER Offer Price: [Issue Price] [] 19. 20. Total amount of the issue/offer: [] [Up to [] Warrants will be issued and the criterion/condition for determining the final amount of Warrants will be investor demand. A copy of these Final Terms will be published and filed with SIX Exchange Regulation AG. The public offer of the Warrants is permitted in Switzerland.] [Not Applicable] 21. The time period, including any [] [The Issuer reserves the right for any reason to close possible amendments, during which the time period early] [If the aggregate subscription of the offer will be open: the Warrants at any time on any business day prior to reaches [], the Issuer will close the subscription of the Warrants at such time on such business day, without any prior notification [or specify other []] [Not Applicable] Conditions to which the offer is [] [The Issuer may close the Offer Period prior to [] 22. subject: if the Warrants are fully subscribed before such date] [Not Applicable] 23. Description [] [If an investor wishes to purchase Warrants, such of the application

Applicable]

investor should (a) be aware that sales in the relevant jurisdiction may not be permitted; and (b) contact its financial adviser, bank or financial intermediary for

[] [Minimum of [] and no maximum applicable] [Not

more information] [Not Applicable]

process:

24.

Details of the minimum and/or

maximum amount of application:

25.	Details of the method and time limits for paying up and delivering of the securities:]] [Not Applicable]
26.	Procedure for exercise of any right of pre-emption, negotiability of subscription rights and treatment of subscription rights not exercised:	[] [Not Applicable]
27.	Amount of any expenses and taxes specifically charged to the subscriber or purchaser:	[] [Not Applicable]

SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE WARRANTS WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

Warrants may, subject to all applicable legal and regulatory requirements, be issued in Tranches or Series and will be in registered form and offered in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S"). Unless otherwise specified in the Final Terms, each Series or Tranche of Warrants will on issue be represented by a Regulation S global registered warrant (the "Regulation S Global Registered Warrant").

The Regulation S Global Registered Warrant will be delivered by the Issuer subject to the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement (as defined herein) and will be deposited on or about the issue date for the relevant Tranche with, and registered in the name a nominee of the common depositary for, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. A beneficial interest in the Regulation S Global Registered Warrant may at all times be held only through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. In the circumstances described below under "Exchange and Transfer of Global Registered Warrants for Definitive Registered Warrants", interests in any Regulation S Global Registered Warrant will be exchangeable for Regulation S Definitive Registered Warrants.

Each Regulation S Global Registered Warrant will have an ISIN number.

Owner of Global Registered Warrants and Payments

Subject to certain provisions of the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement relating to directions, sanctions and consents of Holders of Registered Warrants and to meetings of Holders of Warrants, so long as Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the nominee of their common depositary, as the case may be, is the registered owner or holder of a Regulation S Global Registered Warrant, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Warrants represented by such Regulation S Global Registered Warrant for all purposes under the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement and the Warrants. Payments on Regulation S Global Registered Warrants will be made to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such nominee thereof or, as the case may be, the registered holder thereof. None of the Issuer, the Warrant Registrar, or any Warrant Agent or any affiliate of any of the above will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in Regulation S Global Registered Warrants or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests. Each such payment in respect of a Regulation S Global Registered Warrant will be made to the person shown as the Holder thereof (or, in the case of joint Holders, the first-named) as appearing in the Register at the close of business (in the relevant clearing system) on the business day on which each clearing system for which the Regulation S Global Registered Warrant is being held is open for business which is the business day of each such clearing system before the due date for such payment.

Exchange and Transfer of Global Registered Warrants for Definitive Registered Warrants

Beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Registered Warrant will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Regulation S Definitive Registered Warrants: (i) if Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of public holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so; or (ii) if the Issuer, at its option, elects to terminate the book entry system through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg; or (iii) at the option of the Issuer, if the Issuer would suffer a material disadvantage in respect of the Warrants as a result of a change in the laws or regulations (taxation or otherwise) of any jurisdiction which would not be suffered were the Warrants in definitive form; or (iv) if the Issuer so elects, where the Issuer, any Warrant Agent or the Warrant Registrar, by reason of any change in, or amendment to, the laws of the United Kingdom, is or will be required to make any deduction or withholding from any payment under the Warrants which would not be required if such Warrants were in definitive form.

In such circumstances, (a) the Warrant Registrar will be required to notify all Holders of interests in the relevant Regulation S Global Registered Warrants registered in the name of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the nominee of their common depositary, as the case may be, of the availability of Regulation S Definitive Registered Warrants and (b) the Issuer will, at the cost of the Issuer, cause sufficient Regulation S Definitive Registered Warrants to be executed and delivered to the Warrant Registrar for completion, authentication and dispatch to the relevant Holders. A person having an interest in the relevant Regulation S Global Registered Warrant must provide the Warrant Registrar with a written order containing instructions and such other information as the Issuer and the Warrant Registrar may require to complete, execute and deliver the relevant Regulation S Definitive Registered Warrant.

The holder of a Registered Warrant may transfer such Registered Warrant in accordance with the provisions of Condition 2 (*Form and Transfer*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Warrants.

The holder of a Regulation S Definitive Registered Warrant may transfer such Warrant by surrendering it at the specified office of the Warrant Registrar or the Warrant Transfer Agent, together with the completed form of transfer thereon.

The Warrant Registrar will not register the transfer of or exchange of interests in a Regulation S Global Registered Warrant for Regulation S Definitive Registered Warrants for a period of 15 calendar days preceding the due date for any payment in respect of the Warrants.

PURCHASE AND SALE OF WARRANTS

General

- (1) The Manager has, in a Master Warrant Issuance Agreement, agreed with the Issuer a basis upon which it may from time to time agree either as principal or agent of the Issuer to subscribe for or purchase, to underwrite or, as the case may be, to procure subscribers or purchasers for Warrants. When entering into any such agreement to subscribe for or purchase, to underwrite, or as the case may be, to procure subscribers for or purchasers for any particular Series of Warrants, the Issuer and the relevant Manager(s) will agree details relating to the form of such Warrants and the Conditions relating to such Warrants, the price at which such Warrants will be purchased by the relevant Manager(s) and the commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) payable or allowable by the Issuer in respect of such subscription or purchase. The Master Warrant Issuance Agreement contains provisions for the Issuer to appoint other Managers from time to time either generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Warrants.
- Other than with respect to the admission to listing, trading and/or quotation by one or more listing authorities, stock exchanges and/or quotation systems as may be specified in the Final Terms, no action has been or will be taken in any country or jurisdiction by the Issuer or the relevant Manager(s) that would permit a public offering of Warrants, or possession or distribution of any offering material in relation thereto, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Persons into whose hands this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms comes are required by the Issuer and the relevant Manager(s) to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Warrants or have in their possession or distribute this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms or related offering material, in all cases at their own expense.

Dubai International Financial Centre

The Warrants have not been and may not be offered to any person in the Dubai International Financial Centre unless such offer is:

- (a) an "Exempt Offer" in accordance with the Markets Rules (MKT) Module of the Dubai Financial Services Authority (the "**DFSA**") rulebook; and
- (b) made only to persons who meet the Professional Client criteria set out in Rule 2.3.3 of the Conduct of Business Module of the DFSA rulebook.

European Economic Area

Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors

Unless the Final Terms in respect of any Warrants specifies the "Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors" as "Not applicable", each Manager has represented and agreed, and each further Manager appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Warrants which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the European Economic Area or in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "**MiFID II**"); or
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 ("**Insurance Distribution Directive**"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "**Prospectus Regulation**"); and

(b) the expression an "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Warrants to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Warrants.

Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Regulation

In relation to any Warrants if the Final Terms in respect of such Warrants specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors" as "Not applicable", each Manager has represented and agreed, and each further Manager appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, in relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom (each a "Relevant State") an offer of Warrants which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to the public in that Relevant State may not be made except that an offer of such Warrants to the public in that Relevant State may be made:

- (a) Approved prospectus: if the drawdown prospectus in relation to the Warrants specifies that an offer of those Warrants may be made other than pursuant to Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation in that Relevant State (a "Non exempt Offer"), following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Warrants which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant State, provided that any such prospectus which is a drawdown prospectus has subsequently been completed by the Final Terms contemplating such Non exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or Final Terms, as applicable, and the Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of that Non exempt Offer;
- (b) **Qualified investors**: at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation;
- (c) Fewer than 150 offerees: at any time to fewer than 150, natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Regulation), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (d) *Other exempt offers*: at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation,

provided that no such offer of Warrants referred to in (b) to (d) above shall require the Issuer or any Manager to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of Warrants to the public" in relation to any Warrants in any Relevant State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Warrants to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Warrants and the expression "Prospectus Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Belgian Securities Laws

Warrants are not intended to be sold to Belgian Consumers (as defined below). Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, Warrants to Belgian Consumers, and has not distributed or caused to be distributed and will not distribute or cause to be distributed, the Base Prospectus, the relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to Warrants to Belgian Consumers.

For these purposes, a "**Belgian Consumer**" has the meaning provided by the Belgian Code of Economic Law, as amended from time to time (*Wetboek van 28 februari 2013 van economisch recht/Code du 28 février 2013 de droit économique*), being any natural person resident or located in Belgium and acting for purposes which are outside his/her trade, business or profession.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional French Securities Laws

Warrants may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this Base Prospectus, any relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Warrants be distributed or caused to be distributed in France other than to qualified investors (*investisseurs qualifiés*) as defined in Article L.411-2 1° of the French *Code monétaire et financier*.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Republic of Italy Securities Laws

The offering of the Warrants has not been registered with the *Commissione Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa* ("CONSOB") pursuant to Italian securities legislation and, accordingly, no Warrants may be offered, sold or delivered, and no copies of this Base Prospectus and any other document relating to the Warrants may be distributed in the Republic of Italy except:

- 1. to "qualified investors", as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of 14 June 2017 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation");
- 2. that Warrants may be offered, sold or delivered or copies of any prospectus relating to such Warrants may be distributed in an offer to the public in the period commencing on the date of publication of such prospectus, provided that such prospectus has been approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to CONSOB, all in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, as amended (the "Decree No. 58") and CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended ("Regulation No. 11971"), and ending on the date which is 12 months after the date of approval of such prospectus; and
- 3. in any other circumstances where an express exemption from compliance with the solicitation restrictions applies, as provided under the Prospectus Regulation, Decree No. 58 or Regulation No. 11971.

Any such offer, sale or delivery of the Warrants or distribution of copies of this Base Prospectus or any other document relating to the Warrants in the Republic of Italy must be:

- (a) made by investment firms, banks or financial intermediaries permitted to conduct such activities in the Republic of Italy in accordance with Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 as amended, Decree No. 58, CONSOB Regulation No. 20307 of 15 February 2018, as amended and any other applicable laws and regulations;
- (b) in compliance with Article 129 of Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, as amended, pursuant to which the Bank of Italy may request information on the issue or the offer of securities in the Republic of Italy and the relevant implementing guidelines of the Bank of Italy issued on 25 August 2015 (as amended on 10 August 2016); and
- in compliance with any other applicable notification requirement or limitation which may be imposed by CONSOB or the Bank of Italy.

Provisions relating to the secondary market in Italy

Investors should also note that in any subsequent distribution of the Warrants in the Republic of Italy the Prospectus Regulation and Decree No. 58 may require compliance with the law relating to public offers of securities. Furthermore, Article 100 bis of Decree No. 58 provides that where the Warrants are placed solely with "qualified investors" and are then systematically resold on the secondary market at any time in the 12 months following such placing, purchasers of Warrants who are acting outside of the course of their business or profession may in certain circumstances be entitled to declare such purchase void and, in addition, to claim damages from any authorised person at whose premises the Warrants were purchased, unless an exemption provided for under the Prospectus Regulation or Decree No. 58 applies.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Netherlands Securities Laws

Compliance with *Dutch Savings Certificates Act*: Zero Coupon Instruments (as defined below) in definitive form of the Issuer may only be transferred and accepted, directly or indirectly, within, from or into The Netherlands through the mediation of either the Issuer or a member firm of Euronext Amsterdam in full compliance with the Dutch Savings Certificates Act (*Wet inzake spaarbewijzen*) of 21 May 1985 (as

amended) and its implementing regulations. No such mediation is required: (a) in respect of the transfer and acceptance of rights representing an interest in a Zero Coupon Instrument in global form, or (b) in respect of the initial issue of Zero Coupon Instruments in definitive form to the first holders thereof, or (c) in respect of the transfer and acceptance of Zero Coupon Instruments in definitive form between individuals not acting in the conduct of a business or profession, or (d) in respect of the transfer and acceptance of such Zero Coupon Instruments within, from or into The Netherlands if all Zero Coupon Instruments (either in definitive form or as rights representing an interest in a Zero Coupon Instrument in global form) of any particular Series are issued outside The Netherlands and are not distributed into The Netherlands in the course of initial distribution or immediately thereafter. As used herein, "Zero Coupon Instruments" are instruments that are in bearer form and that constitute a claim for a fixed sum against the Issuer and on which interest does not become due during their tenor or on which no interest is due whatsoever.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Norway Securities Laws

Warrants denominated in Norwegian Krone (NOK) may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, within the Kingdom of Norway or to or for the benefit of Norwegian purchasers. Each purchaser of Warrants denominated in Norwegian Krone (NOK) will be deemed to have acknowledged, represented and agreed that such Warrants may not be offered or resold within the Kingdom of Norway or to or for the benefit of Norwegian purchasers.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Kingdom of Spain Securities Laws

The Warrants may only be offered or sold in Spain by institutions authorised under the consolidated text of the Securities Market Law approved by Royal Legislative Decree 4/2015 of 23 October (*Real Decreto Legislativo 4/2015*, *de 23 de octubre*, *por el que se aprueba el texto refundido de la Ley del Mercado de Valores*) (the "Spanish Securities Market Law"), Royal Decree 217/2008 of 15 February on the legal regime applicable to investment services companies (*Real Decreto 217/2008*, *de 15 de febrero*, *sobre el régimen jurídico de las empresas de servicios de inversión y de las demás entidades que prestan servicios de inversión*) and related legislation to provide investment services in Spain and in accordance with the provisions of the Spanish Securities Market Law and further developing legislation.

Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional United Kingdom Securities Laws

An invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2012 ("FSMA")) may only be communicated or caused to be communicated in connection with the issue or sale of Warrants in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA would not, if it was not an authorised person, apply to the Issuer.

All applicable provisions of the FSMA must be complied with in respect of anything done in connection with the Warrants in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Australia

This Base Prospectus is not a disclosure document under Chapter 6D or Part 7.9 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) and has not been, and will not be, lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission ("**ASIC**"). This Base Prospectus does not purport to include the information required of a disclosure document under Chapter 6D or Part 7.9 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth). The offer of Warrants referred to in this Base Prospectus is made only to persons to whom it is lawful to offer securities in Australia without a disclosure document lodged with ASIC and complies with the terms of any authority granted under the *Banking Act 1959* (Cth) of Australia. This means the offer is directed only to investors who come within one of the categories set out in section 708(8) or 708(11) of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) ("**Sophisticated Investors**" and "**Professional Investors**", respectively).

As no formal disclosure document (such as a prospectus) will be lodged with ASIC, the Warrants may only be offered and issued to one of the categories of Sophisticated or Professional Investors. If any recipient of this Base Prospectus is not a Sophisticated Investor or a Professional Investor, no offer of, or invitation to apply for, the Warrants shall be deemed to be made to such recipient and no applications for the Warrants will be accepted from such recipient. Any offer to a recipient in Australia, and any agreement arising from acceptance of such offer, is personal and may only be accepted by the recipient.

If a person to whom Warrants are issued (an "**Investor**") on-sells the Warrants within 12 months from their issue, the Investor will be required to lodge a prospectus with ASIC unless either:

- (a) that sale is to another Sophisticated Investor or Professional Investor; or
- (b) the sale offer is received outside Australia.

Each Investor acknowledges the above and, by applying for Warrants under this Base Prospectus, gives an undertaking not to sell those Warrants in any circumstances other than those described in paragraphs (a) and (b) above for 12 months after the date of issue of such Warrants.

In addition, each Dealer and Investor has represented and agreed that it will comply with Banking exemption No. 1 of 2018 dated 21 March 2018 promulgated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority and which requires all offers and transfers to be in parcels of not less than A\$500,000 in aggregate principal amount. Banking exemption No. 1 does not apply to transfers which occur outside Australia.

This Base Prospectus is not, and under no circumstances is to be construed as, an advertisement or public offering of the Warrants in Australia.

This Base Prospectus is distributed to investors in Australia and any offer of Warrants is made to investors in Australia, in each case subject to the conditions set out above, on behalf of each of the institutional managers by their respective licensed affiliates, each of which holds an Australian Financial Services License which permits such licence holder to distribute this Base Prospectus and offer the Warrants to investors in Australia.

The Issuer is not licensed to provide financial product advice in Australia and nothing in this Base Prospectus takes into account the investment objectives, financial situation and particular needs of any individual investors. The Issuer and Dealers recommend that investors read this Base Prospectus before making a decision to acquire Warrants.

Arab Republic of Egypt

The Warrants have not been and will not be offered, sold or publicly promoted or advertised in Egypt other than in compliance with any laws applicable in Egypt governing the issue, offering and sale of securities.

Bolivia

Neither the Warrants nor this Base Prospectus have been registered with the Bolivian Financial System Controlling Authority (ASFI) nor with the Bolivian Stock Exchange Commission and it is not intended that the Warrants or this Base Prospectus will be registered with such institutions.

The Warrants may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this Base Prospectus, any relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Warrants be distributed or caused to be distributed to the public in Bolivia. An offer of Warrants to the public in Bolivia will be made only in compliance with the applicable laws, regulations and procedures in Bolivia and formalities required by Bolivian laws and regulations to permit the offering and sale of Warrants in Bolivia to the public.

The Warrants may only be offered or sold, directly or indirectly in Bolivia, without a prior license from the Bolivian Financial System Controlling Authority (ASFI) and the Bolivian Stock Exchange Commission under a private placement regime. Therefore, the Base Prospectus, the Warrants or any material relating thereto, shall not be circulated or distributed, whether directly or indirectly, in Bolivia or to Bolivian citizens, corporations or residents, except in a manner that will not be considered as a "public offer", or as "habitual", under the prevailing law and regulations in Bolivia.

Guernsey

The Warrants may only be offered or sold in, or from within the Bailiwick of Guernsey either (i) to or by persons licensed under the Protection of Investors (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 1987, as amended or (ii) to persons licensed under the Banking Supervision (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 1994 as amended, or (iii) to persons licensed under the Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002 as amended or (iv) to persons licensed under the Insurance Managers and Insurance Intermediaries (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law,

2002 as amended or (v) to licensees under the Regulation of Fiduciaries, Administration Businesses and Company Directors, etc. (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2000 as amended.

This Base Prospectus has not been registered with the Guernsey Financial Services Commission and it is not intended that this Base Prospectus will be registered with the Guernsey Financial Services Commission under the Prospectus Rules 2018. Accordingly, the Warrants may not be offered to the public in Guernsey. Therefore, the number of persons in Guernsey to whom an offer for Warrants is so communicated must not exceed fifty.

Hong Kong

Warrants (except for Warrants which are a "**structured product**" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the "**SFO**")) may not be offered or sold in Hong Kong by means of any document other than (a) to "**professional investors**" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO; or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "**prospectus**" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (the "**C(WUMP)O**") or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the C(WUMP)O.

No advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Warrants, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) may be issued or held in the possession of the Issuer or any Manager or any other offeror nominated by the Issuer for the purpose of such issue of Warrants, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, other than with respect to Warrants which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "**professional investors**" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

Indonesia

No registration statement with respect to this Base Prospectus and Final Terms has been and no such registration statement will be filed with the Financial Services Authority (*Otoritas Jasa Keuangan* or OJK) of the Republic of Indonesia. The Warrants, therefore, shall not be offered or sold or be the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and this Base Prospectus, Final Terms or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Warrants, shall not be circulated or distributed, whether directly or indirectly, in the Republic of Indonesia or to Indonesian citizens, corporations or residents, except in a manner that will not be considered as a "public offer" under the prevailing law and regulations in the Republic of Indonesia.

Isle of Man

Each Manager appointed under the Programme (other than the Issuer) will be required to represent and agree that it shall only offer or sell Warrants in or from the Isle of Man if it holds an appropriate financial services licence issued by the Isle of Man Financial Services Authority (the "FSA") under section 7 of the Isle of Man Financial Services Act 2008 (the "FS Act") or, where it does not hold such a licence, it shall only offer or sell Warrants to an "Isle of Man person" (within the meaning of the Isle of Man Regulated Activities Order 2011, as amended (the "Order")) where it is an "overseas person" (within the meaning of the Order) who is authorised to offer and sell the Warrants by a regulator outside the Isle of Man and either (i) the offer or sale of the Warrants is the direct result of an approach made to such Manager by or on behalf of the Isle of Man person which has not been solicited by such Manager (otherwise than by means of an advertisement which is neither targeted at Isle of Man persons nor disseminated by a medium which is targeted at Isle of Man persons); or (ii) the Isle of Man person: (A) holds a licence issued by the FSA under section 7 of the FS Act to carry on a regulated activity; or (B) is a person falling within exclusion 2(r) contained in Schedule 1 to the Order; or (C) is a person whose ordinary business activities involve him in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of shares or debentures (as principal or agent), for the purposes of his business.

Israel

This Base Prospectus has not been approved by the Israeli Securities Authority and must not be distributed to Israeli residents in a manner that would constitute "an offer to the public" under sections 15 and 15a of the Israel Securities Law, 1968 (the "Securities Law"). The Warrants may only be offered to those categories of investors listed in the First Addendum (the "Addendum") to the Securities Law

("Sophisticated Investors") namely joint investment funds or mutual trust funds, provident funds, insurance companies, banking corporations (purchasing Warrants for themselves or for clients who are Sophisticated Investors), portfolio managers (purchasing Warrants for themselves or for clients who are Sophisticated Investors), investment advisors or investment marketers (purchasing Warrants for themselves), members of the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange (purchasing Warrants for themselves or for clients who are Sophisticated Investors), underwriters (purchasing Warrants for themselves), venture capital funds engaging mainly in the capital market, an entity which is wholly-owned by Sophisticated Investors, corporations, other than formed for the specific purpose of an acquisition pursuant to an offer, with a shareholders' equity in excess of NIS 50 million, and individuals investing for their own account, in respect of which at least one of the following applies: the total value of their cash, deposits, financial assets (as defined in the Investment Advice Law) and securities traded on a stock exchange licensed under the Securities Law (together, "Liquid Assets") exceeds NIS 8,095,444; their level of income over each of the preceding two years exceeds NIS 1,214,317, or the level of income of their "family unit" exceeds NIS 1,821,475; or the aggregate value of all their Liquid Assets exceeds NIS 5,059,652 and their level of income over each of the preceding two years exceeds NIS 607,158, or the level of income of their "family unit" exceeds NIS 910,737; each as defined in the said Addendum, as amended from time to time, and who in each case have provided written confirmation that they qualify as Sophisticated Investors, and that they are aware of the consequences of such designation and agree thereto; in all cases under circumstances that will fall within the private placement or other exemptions of the Securities Law and any applicable guidelines, pronouncements or rulings issued from time to time by the Israeli Securities Authority.

This Base Prospectus may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose, nor be furnished to any other person other than those to whom copies have been sent. Any offeree who purchases a Warrant is purchasing such Warrant for its own benefit and account and not with the aim or intention of distributing or offering such Warrant to other parties (other than, in the case of an offeree which is a Sophisticated Investor by virtue of it being a banking corporation, portfolio manager or member of the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange, as defined in the Addendum, where such offeree is purchasing Warrants for another party which is a Sophisticated Investor). As a prerequisite to the receipt of a copy of this Base Prospectus a recipient may be required to provide confirmation that it is a Sophisticated Investor purchasing Warrants for its own account or, where applicable, for other Sophisticated Investors.

The Issuer does not hold a licence under the Investment Advice Law to conduct investment marketing. Investors are encouraged to seek competent investment counselling from a locally licensed investment counsel prior to making any investment. Nothing in this Base Prospectus should be considered Investment Advice or Investment Marketing defined in the Investment Advice Law.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell to, or a solicitation of an offer to buy from any person or persons in any state or other jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation would be unlawful, or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so, or to a person or persons to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation.

Japan

The Warrants have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act 25 of 1948, as amended, the "FIEA") and, accordingly, the Warrants may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan or to others for re offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to any resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with the FIEA and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan. As used in this paragraph, "resident of Japan" means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan.

Jersey

No consent under Article 8(2) of the Control of Borrowing (Jersey) Order 1958 has been obtained in relation to the circulation in Jersey of any offer of Warrants and any such offer must be addressed exclusively to a restricted circle of persons in Jersey. For these purposes an offer is not addressed exclusively to a restricted circle of persons unless (i) the offer is addressed to an identifiable category of persons to whom it is directly communicated by the offeror or the offeror's appointed agent, (ii) the members of that category are the only persons who may accept the offer and they are in possession of sufficient information to be able to make a reasonable evaluation of the offer and (iii) the number of persons in Jersey to whom the offer is so communicated does not exceed fifty.

Kingdom of Bahrain

The Warrants have not been and may not be offered or sold except on a private placement basis to persons in the Kingdom of Bahrain who are an "accredited investor".

For this purpose, an "accredited investor" means:

- (a) an individual holding financial assets (either singly or jointly with a spouse) of U.S.\$1,000,000 or more excluding that person's principal place of residence; or
- (b) a company, partnership, trust or other commercial undertaking which has financial assets available for investment of not less than U.S.\$1,000,000; or
- (c) a government, supranational organisation, central bank or other national monetary authority or a state organisation whose main activity is to invest in financial instruments (such as a state pension fund).

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

No action has been or will be taken in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that would permit a public or parallel market offering of the Warrants. Any investor in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia or who is a Saudi person (a "Saudi Investor") who acquires any Warrants pursuant to an offering should note that the offer of Warrants is a private placement under Article 9 or Article 10 of the "Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations" as issued by the Board of the Capital Market Authority ("CMA") resolution number 3-123-2017 dated 9/4/1439H corresponding to 27/12/2017G and as amended by the resolution number 1-104-2019 dated 1/2/1441H corresponding to 30/09/2019H issued by the Board of the CMA (the "KSA Regulations"), made through a person authorised by the CMA to carry on the securities activity of arranging and following a notification to the CMA under the KSA Regulations.

The Warrants may thus not be advertised, offered or sold to any person in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia other than to "sophisticated investors" under Article 9 of the KSA Regulations or by way of a limited offer under Article 10 of the KSA Regulations. Any offer of Warrants to a Saudi Investor will be made in compliance with the KSA Regulations.

Investors are informed that Article 15 of the KSA Regulations places restrictions on secondary market activity with respect to the Warrants acquired pursuant to a private placement, including as follows:

- (a) a Saudi Investor (referred to as a "**transferor**") who has acquired Warrants pursuant to a private placement may not offer or sell Warrants to any person (referred to as a "**transferee**") unless the offer or sale is made through an authorised person where one of the following requirements is met:
 - (i) the price to be paid for the Warrants in any one transaction is equal to or exceeds 1 million Saudi Riyals or an equivalent amount;
 - (ii) the Warrants are offered or sold to a sophisticated investor; or
 - (iii) the Warrants are being offered or sold in such other circumstances as the CMA may prescribe for these purposes;
- (b) if the requirement of paragraph (a)(i) above cannot be fulfilled because the price of the Warrants being offered or sold to the transferee has declined since the date of the original private placement, the transferor may offer or sell the Warrants to the transferee if their purchase price during the period of the original private placement was equal to or exceeded 1 million Saudi Riyals or an equivalent amount;
- (c) if the requirement in paragraph (b) above cannot be fulfilled, the transferor may offer or sell Warrants if he/she sells his/her entire holding of Warrants to one transferee;
- (d) the provisions of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) above shall apply to all subsequent transferees of the Warrants; and

(e) the restrictions in Article 15 of the KSA Regulations shall cease to apply upon approval of listing on the exchange of securities of the same class as the securities that are subject to such restrictions.

In addition, unless the Issuer agrees otherwise in relation to a Tranche of Warrants, Warrants may not be offered or sold to any person registered as a qualified foreign investor ("QFI") under the CMA's Rules for Qualified Foreign Financial Institutions Investment in Listed Securities.

Korea

The Warrants have not been and will not be registered with the Financial Services Commission of Korea for public offering in Korea under the Financial Investment Services and Capital Markets Act of Korea and the decrees and regulations thereunder. The Warrants may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, or offered or sold for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Korea or to any resident of Korea (as defined under the Foreign Exchange Transaction Law of Korea and its Presidential Decree), except as otherwise permitted by the applicable Korean laws and regulations.

Lebanese Republic

The marketing, offering, distribution and sale of Warrants in the Lebanese Republic shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations in the Lebanese Republic, in particular, those issued by the Lebanese Central Bank and the Capital Markets Authority in Lebanon.

Malaysia

No recognition by the Securities Commission of Malaysia pursuant to Section 212 of the Malaysian Capital Markets and Services Act 2007 nor approval of any other Malaysian regulatory authority has been or will be obtained in connection with the offer and sale of the Warrants in Malaysia nor will any prospectus or other offering material or document in connection with the offer and sale of the Warrants be registered or lodged with the Securities Commission of Malaysia or any other Malaysian regulatory authority. Accordingly, the Warrants are not being, and will not be deemed to be, issued, made available, offered for subscription or purchase, directly or indirectly, in Malaysia and neither this Base Prospectus nor any document or other material in connection therewith is being or will be distributed, circulated or caused to be distributed or circulated or made available, in Malaysia.

Mexico

The Warrants have not been and will not be registered with the Mexican National Securities Registry (Registro Nacional de Valores) maintained by the Mexican National Banking and Securities Commission (Comisión Nacional Bancaria y de Valores) (the "CNBV"), and may not be offered or sold publicly in Mexico, except that the Warrants may be offered to institutional and qualified investors pursuant to the private placement exemption set forth in article 8 of the Mexican Securities Market Law (Ley del Mercado de Valores). The information contained in this Base Prospectus and in the Final Terms is exclusively the responsibility of the Issuer and has not been reviewed or authorised by the CNBV. The acquisition of the Warrants by an investor who is a resident of Mexico will be made under such investor's own responsibility.

People's Republic of China

The Warrants linked to PRC underlyings (including those underlying an underlying Index) (for the purpose of this section, the "PRC-Linked Warrants") may not be offered or sold in the Peoples Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong") and the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Macau") and Taiwan, the "PRC") directly or indirectly or offered or sold to any Domestic Investor, or to any person using funds to purchase the Warrants sourced from any Domestic Investor, where "Domestic Investor" means:

- (a) PRC Citizens resident in the PRC;
- (b) PRC Citizens resident outside the PRC who are not permanent residents of another country or permanent residents of Hong Kong, Macau or Taiwan; and
- (c) legal entities registered in the PRC.

"PRC Citizens" means any person holding a "Resident Identification Card" or other equivalent government issued identification of the PRC.

Warrants may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the PRC except as permitted by the securities laws of the PRC.

In respect of any Warrants, this Base Prospectus or any information obtained by reference herein relating to the Warrants does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities in the PRC to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in the PRC. This Base Prospectus, any information contained herein or the Warrants have not been, or will not be, submitted to, approved by, verified by or registered with any relevant governmental authorities in the PRC and thus may not be supplied to the public in the PRC or used in connection with any offer for the subscription or sale of the Warrants in the PRC. The Issuer does not represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Warrants may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in the PRC, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by the Issuer which would permit a public offering of any Warrants or distribution of this Base Prospectus in the PRC.

China Connect Underlying

Warrants linked to China Connect underlying (including those underlying a Reference Index where the Final Terms specify that China Connect Underlying is applicable) may not be offered or sold in the PRC directly or indirectly or offered or sold to any Domestic Investor, where "**Domestic Investor**" means:

- (a) a PRC Citizen resident or domiciled in the PRC; and/or
- (b) a legal entity incorporated or registered in the PRC.

In addition, Warrants linked to a China Connect Underlying that is listed on the ChiNext Market of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange ("ChiNext Shares") may be offered or sold only to an investor that is a "professional investor" within the meaning of paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h) or (i) of the definition of "professional investor" in section 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the SFO or a type of investor that is permitted or approved by the China Connect Market, The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation, Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited or any regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction to trade ChiNext Shares through China Connect ("Eligible ChiNext Investor") for as long as applicable laws or regulations requires investors to be Eligible ChiNext Investors.

Warrants Other than PRC-Linked Warrants

In respect of Warrants other than the PRC-Linked Warrants, the Warrants may only be invested in by the PRC investors that are authorised to engage in investing in the Warrants of the type being offered or sold. Investors are responsible for obtaining all relevant government approvals, verifications, licences or registrations (if any) from all relevant PRC governmental authorities, including, but not limited to, the State Administration of Foreign Exchange and other relevant regulatory bodies, and complying with all relevant PRC regulations, including, but not limited to, any relevant foreign exchange regulations and/ or overseas investment regulations.

Peru

The content of this Base Prospectus and the Warrants issued and traded hereunder, have not been reviewed nor authorised by the Capital Markets Superintendence (*Superintendencia del Mercado de Valores*, the "SMV") nor the Private Pension Funds, Banking and Insurance Superintendence (*Superintendencia de Banca, Seguros y AFP*, the "SBS"). Therefore, investors will not benefit from protection of any of the aforementioned regulatory authorities.

The Warrants have not been and will not be registered with the Capital Markets Public Registry of the SMV nor the Lima Stock Exchange Registry ("RBVL") for their public offering in Peru under the Peruvian Capital Markets Law (Law N°861/ Supreme Decree N°093-2002) and the decrees and regulations thereunder.

Consequently, Warrants may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor this Base Prospectus, any relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Warrants be distributed or caused to be distributed to the general public in Peru, unless the offering or selling of Warrants comply with the Private Offer Exemptions (as defined below).

"Private Offer Exemptions" means an offer of Warrants, where no Mass-marketing is used, and made:

- (i) exclusively to institutional investors; or
- (ii) where the minimum investment amount is greater than or equal to S/. 499,908.25 (approximately USD 151,200.00) (either in a single transaction or in aggregate).

"Mass-marketing" means a marketing strategy utilising mass distribution and mass media to offer, negotiate or distribute securities to the whole market. Mass media includes newspapers, magazines, radio, television, mail, meetings, social network, internet servers located in Peru, and other media or technology platforms.

Philippines

The Warrants being offered or sold herein have not been registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Regulation Code of the Philippines ("SRC"). Any offer or sale thereof in the Philippines is prohibited unless the Warrants have first been registered in accordance with the registration requirements of the SRC or such offer or sale qualifies as an exempt transaction.

Each of the following restrictions must be observed by Warrantholders in relation to sales, transfers or disposals of all or any part of its legal or beneficial interests in the Warrants or offers to do so:

- (a) To the extent that the Warrants are offered, sold or distributed in the Philippines, the Warrantholder, by purchasing the Warrants, agrees for the benefit of the Issuer that the Warrants may not be subsequently offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except in compliance with Philippine laws and regulations (in addition to the laws of other jurisdictions, as applicable) and may be offered, sold or distributed only to "Qualified Buyers" as defined under Subsection 10.1(l) of the SRC.
- (b) No Warrantholder shall sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or part of its legal or beneficial interests in the Warrants to another person or persons nor offer to do so, unless such sale, transfer, disposal or offer is subject to the condition that such person(s) shall undertake to observe the restrictions set out herein.

Without limitation to paragraphs (a) and (b) above, each Warrantholder shall observe all applicable laws and regulations in the Philippines in connection with the offer, sale, transfer or other disposition of all or any part of its legal or beneficial interests in the Warrants or the distribution of any document or other material in connection therewith.

Portugal

An offer of Warrants to the public in Portugal can only be made in compliance with the Portuguese Securities Code (*Código dos Valores Mobiliários*, approved by *Decreto-Lei n.º n.º 486/99*, *de 13 de novembro*, as amended – "**Portuguese Securities Code**") and the applicable laws, regulations and procedures in Portugal and formalities required by Portuguese laws and regulations to permit the offering and sale of Warrants in Portugal, including any related documents or marketing materials. For the purposes of this provision, the expression "the public in Portugal" does not include professional investors as defined in Article 30(1) of the Portuguese Securities Code.

The Warrants are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in Portugal where the issuance or marketing of such Warrants are subject to the supervision of the Portuguese Securities Market Commission (the "CMVM") and to CMVM Regulation 8/2018. Consequently, the requirements of the CMVM Regulation 8/2018 in respect of Packaged Retail Investment Products have not been met and therefore offering or selling the Warrants in or into Portugal may not be permitted without complying with the requirements set out in the CMVM Regulation 8/2018 and other applicable laws and regulations in Portugal.

For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended ("MiFID II").

Republic of Chile

Neither the Issuer nor the Warrants have been registered with the *Comisión para el Mercado Financiero* pursuant to law no. 18,045 (the "*Ley de Mercado de Valores*") and regulations thereunder, therefore, they cannot be publicly offered in the Republic of Chile. This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase the Warrants in the Republic of Chile, other than to individually identified investors pursuant to a private offering within the meaning of article 4 of the *Ley de Mercado de Valores* (i.e. an offer that is not addressed to the public at large or to a certain sector or specific group of the public).

Republic of Panama

Warrants may not be publicly offered, sold and distributed in the Republic of Panama without registration with the Superintendence of the Securities Market (the "Superintendence") pursuant to the provisions of Decree Law No. 1 of 1999, as amended by Law 67 of 2011 (the "Panama Securities Law"). However, under the Panama Securities Law, registration of offers, sales, and transactions of the Warrants is not required if the Warrants are offered and/or sold under a private placement exemption, as follows:

- (i) Private tenders (under the "25/10 rule"): offers of securities made by an issuer or its affiliate to mot exceeding twenty-five persons, or such other number of persons determined by the Superintendence, and which jointly results in the sale of such securities to not exceeding ten persons, or such other number of persons determined by the Superintendence, within a one year period; or
- (ii) Institutional investors: offers of securities and sales made to institutional investors who, because of their expertise in the securities markets, as determined by the Superintendence, have the know-how and the financial capacity to evaluate and assume the risks of investing in such securities without requiring the protections granted by the Panama Securities Law.

In this respect, Resolution 1-2001 issued by the Superintendence establishes that the following entities will be considered institutional investors:

- Banks, insurance companies, re-insurance companies, mutual fund companies registered
 with the Superintendence, investments trusts administered by a corporation with a trust
 license, pension funds and pensions regulated by Law 10 of 1993 and brokerage houses
 acting on their own account and for their own risk and if such investment accounts are
 duly segregated.
- 2. Legal entities (including, but not limited to, corporations or private interest foundations) domiciled in the Republic of Panama with regular operations in the management of investments or which have had for at least two years prior to the date on which the offer or sale of securities was made, a patrimony of no less than USD one million pursuant to their last financial statement and whose principal executive or a majority of the directors and officers have at least two years of experience in the regular management of investments.
- 3. Sovereign states, and public entities that by their nature are authorized to make investments (for example, the Trust Fund for Development (*Fondo para el Desarrollo*) and the Social Security Fund (*Fondo de la Caja de Seguro Social*) which are both Panamanian public entities).

Russia

The Warrants have not been and will not be offered, transferred or sold as part of their initial distribution or at any time thereafter to or for the benefit of any persons (including legal entities) resident, incorporated, established or having their usual residence in the Russian Federation or to any person located within the territory of the Russian Federation unless and to the extent otherwise permitted under Russian law.

Singapore

This Base Prospectus has not been registered and will not be registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. The Warrants may not be offered or sold, nor may the Warrants be the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, nor may this Base Prospectus or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase of the Warrants be circulated or distributed, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (a) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA")) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (b) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA or (c) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where the Warrants are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Warrants arising from an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except:

- 1. to an institutional investor or to a relevant person or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;
- 2. where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
- 3. where the transfer is by operation of law;
- 4. as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
- 5. as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018.

State of Kuwait

No Warrants have been licensed for offering in the State of Kuwait by the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority or any other relevant Kuwaiti government agency. The Warrants shall not be offered, sold, promoted or advertised in the State of Kuwait other than in compliance with Law No. 7 of 2010 and the bylaws thereto (each as amended), together with the various resolutions, regulations, directives and instructions issued pursuant thereto or in connection therewith (regardless of nomenclature), or any other applicable law or regulation in the State of Kuwait, in respect of the offering, marketing and/or sale of securities. No private or public offering of the Warrants is being made in the State of Kuwait, and no agreement relating to the sale of the Warrants will be concluded in the State of Kuwait. No marketing or solicitation or inducement activities are being used to offer or market the Warrants in the State of Kuwait.

State of Qatar (including Qatar Financial Centre)

The Warrants shall not be offered, delivered or sold at any time, directly or indirectly, in the State of Qatar (including the Qatar Financial Centre), except: (a) in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations of the State of Qatar (including the Qatar Financial Centre); and (b) through persons or corporate entities authorised and licensed to provide investment advice and/or engage in brokerage activity and/or trade in respect of foreign securities in the State of Qatar (including the Qatar Financial Centre). This Base Prospectus has not been filed with, reviewed or approved by the Qatar Central Bank, the Qatar Stock Exchange, the Qatar Financial Centre Regulatory Authority, the Qatar Financial Markets Authority or any

other relevant Qatar governmental body or securities exchange. This Base Prospectus is only intended for specific recipients in compliance with the foregoing and may not be publicly distributed in the State of Qatar (including the Qatar Financial Centre).

Sultanate of Oman

This Base Prospectus has not been filed with or registered as a prospectus with the Capital Market Authority of the Sultanate of Oman pursuant to Article 3 of the Capital Market Law Sultani Decree 80/98, as amended ("Article 3"), and the Warrants will not be offered or sold as a public offer of securities in the Sultanate of Oman (as contemplated by the Oman Commercial Companies Law) or Article 3, nor does this Base Prospectus or the issue or offering of any Warrants constitute a sukuk offering pursuant to the Sukuk Regulation issued by the Capital Market Authority of Oman (CMA Decision 3/2016). The Warrants to be issued under the Programme and this Base Prospectus have not been and will not be offered, sold or delivered, and no invitation to subscribe for or to purchase the Warrants has been or will be made, directly or indirectly, nor may any document or other material in connection therewith be distributed in the Sultanate of Oman to any person in the Sultanate of Oman other than by an entity duly licensed by the Capital Market Authority of Oman to market non-Omani securities in the Sultanate of Oman and then only in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations, including Article 139 of the Executive Regulations of the Capital Markets Law (Decision No. 1/2009, as amended).

Switzerland

The Warrants are not subject to the approval of, or supervision by, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority ("FINMA") and investors in the Warrants will not benefit from supervision by FINMA. Warrants issued under the Programme do not constitute participations in a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes of 23 June 2006 ("CISA"), as amended. Warrants issued under the Programme are neither issued nor guaranteed by a Swiss financial intermediary. Investors are exposed to the credit risk of the Issuer.

Any Warrants which are intended to be publicly offered in Switzerland pursuant to Art. 35 para. 1 Swiss Financial Services Act ("**FinSA**") may only be offered in accordance with FinSA. In particular, this Base Prospectus and the applicable Final Terms must comply with FinSA and its implementing ordinance, i.e., the Swiss Federal Financial Services Ordinance ("**FinSO**").

Any Warrants which are not intended to be publicly offered in Switzerland (so-called exempt offers) may only be offered or distributed:

- 1. if such offer is strictly limited to investors that qualify as professional clients ("**Professional Clients**", as set out below) according to Article 4 para. 3 and Article 5 para. 1 FinSA. Accordingly, the Warrants may only be distributed or offered, and the Base Prospectus or any other marketing material relating to the Warrants may be made available to Professional Clients in Switzerland; in this case, the offering of the Warrants in, into or from Switzerland is exempt from the requirement to prepare and publish a prospectus under FinSA;
- 2. if such offer constitutes an exempt offer pursuant to specific provisions regarding exempt offers pursuant to Article 36 FinSA which (a) is addressed to less than 500 investors, (b) is only addressed to investors that purchase financial instruments in an amount of at least CHF 100,000 (or equivalent in other currencies), (c) has a minimum denomination of CHF 100,000 (or equivalent in other currencies), or (d) does not exceed the value of CHF 8 million (or equivalent in other currencies) calculated over a period of 12 months; in this case, the offering of the Warrants in, into or from Switzerland is exempt from the requirement to prepare and publish a prospectus under FinSA.

Professional Clients in terms of the FinSA specifically include:

- (a) Swiss regulated financial intermediaries such as banks, securities houses, fund management companies, asset managers of collective investments, or regular asset managers;
- (b) Swiss regulated insurance companies;
- (c) foreign clients which are subject to a prudential supervision under the laws of their incorporation of jurisdiction equivalent to that applicable to persons listed under paragraphs (a) and (b) above;

- (d) central banks;
- (e) public entities with professional treasury operations;
- (f) occupational pension schemes and other institutions whose purpose is to serve occupational pensions with professional treasury operations;
- (g) companies with professional treasury operations;
- (h) large companies; and
- (i) private investment structures with professional treasury operations created for high-net-worth private (retail) clients.

In addition, high-net-worth private (retail) clients and private investment structures created for them may declare that they wish to be treated as Professional Clients in accordance with Article 5 FinSA (opting out).

In addition, in the case of offerings of Warrants that constitute debt instruments with a "derivative character" that will be made to private (retail) clients in, into or from Switzerland (as such expressions are understood under FinSA and FinSO), a key information document (KID) prepared in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of November 26, 2014 on key information documents for packaged retail and insurance-based investment products (PRIIPs) must be made available. The Issuer reserves the right to make available a simplified prospectus pursuant to former Art. 5 para. 2 CISA instead of a KID until the expiration of the grand-fathering period, i.e. until the end of 2021.

The Warrants will not be admitted to trading on any trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland.

Taiwan

Warrants and any documents relating to the Warrants are not permitted to be offered or distributed in Taiwan.

Warrants linked to Taiwanese Reference Assets (including those underlying an Underlying Index) (for the purpose of this section, the "Taiwan-Linked Warrants") are not permitted to be sold to (i) a resident(s) of the People's Republic of China (excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Hong Kong") and the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China ("Macau") and Taiwan, for the current purpose, the "PRC") or an entity(ies) domiciled in the PRC ("PRC Person"), (ii) an entity(ies) other than a fund established outside the PRC (including such entity(ies) established in Hong Kong or Macau) that is controlled by a PRC Person(s), (iii) an entity(ies) established outside the PRC other than a fund (including such entity(ies) established in Hong Kong or Macau) which is more than thirty per cent. (30 per cent.) owned, directly or indirectly, by a PRC Person(s) or (iv) a fund established outside the PRC (including a fund established in Hong Kong or Macau) which is: (A) a publicly offered fund the management company of which is controlled or more than thirty per cent. owned, directly or indirectly, by PRC Persons and the investments in which from PRC Persons exceeds thirty per cent. owned, directly or indirectly, by PRC Persons.

Taiwan-Linked Warrants are not permitted to be sold to any holder utilising funds sourced from Taiwan or the PRC for the purposes of purchasing the Taiwan-Linked Warrants.

Thailand

The Warrants may not be offered or sold, whether directly or indirectly, to any persons in the Kingdom of Thailand. No invitation to subscribe for the Warrants shall be made, whether directly or indirectly, in the Kingdom of Thailand. This Base Prospectus or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of such Warrants have not been registered with or approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Thailand. This Base Prospectus and any other documents and material in connection with the Warrants may be provided to a person in Thailand solely upon request. They are not intended to be an offer, sale or invitation for subscription or purchase of securities in Thailand and must not be circulated, distributed, offered, solicited, or made available either directly or indirectly, to public or any members of the public in Thailand.

If a purchaser of the Warrants wishes to resell the Warrants into Thailand, it may resell such Warrants only to qualified investors who are permitted to outwardly remit foreign currencies for the purpose of investment in foreign-currency denominated debt securities pursuant to the Thai exchange control law.

United Arab Emirates (excluding the Dubai International Financial Centre)

The Warrants have not been and may not be offered, sold or publicly promoted or advertised in the United Arab Emirates (the "UAE") other than in compliance with any laws applicable in the UAE governing the issue, offering and sale of securities.

United States of America

The Warrants have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or the state securities laws of any state of the United States and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to or for the account or benefit of, or exercised by, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S) except pursuant to an exemption from or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

In addition, unless the relevant Final Terms specify otherwise Warrants may not offered or sold to, or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (as defined in the Interpretative Guidance and Policy Statement Regarding Compliance with Certain Swap Regulations, 78 Fed. Reg. 45292, 26 July 2013, as amended or supplemented by the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission) at any time.

Each Manager has agreed that, except as permitted by the Master Warrant Issuance Agreement,

- (1) if "40-day Distribution Compliance Period" is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, (a) it will not offer, sell or deliver Warrants at any time (whether as part of their distribution at any time or otherwise) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons and (b) it will send to each dealer to which it sells Warrants a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Warrants within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons; and
- otherwise, (a) it will not offer, sell or deliver Warrants, (i) as part of their distribution at any time and (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the Series of which such Warrants are a part, as certified to the Principal Warrant Agent or the Issuer by such Manager (or, in the case of a sale of a Series of Warrants to or through more than one Manager, by each of such Managers as to the Warrants of such Series purchased by or through it, in which case the Principal Warrant Agent or the Issuer shall notify each such Manager when all such Managers have so certified), within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons and (b) it will send to each dealer to which it sells Warrants during the periods referred to in (a)(i) and (ii) above a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Warrants within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.

In addition:

- (1) if "40-day Distribution Compliance Period" is specified as not applicable in the relevant Final Terms, an offer or sale of Warrants at any time within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering of such Warrants) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act; and
- (2) otherwise, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any Tranche of Warrants, an offer or sale of Warrants of such Tranche within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering of such Warrants) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

Uruguay

Neither the Warrants nor the Issuer are registered with the Superintendency of Financial Services of the Central Bank of Uruguay allowing the Warrants to be publicly offered in Uruguay, since the placement qualifies as a private placement under section 2 of Uruguayan law 18.627.

REGISTERED AND HEAD OFFICE OF THE ISSUER

HSBC Bank plc 8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ United Kingdom

PRINCIPAL PAYING AGENT, PRINCIPAL WARRANT AGENT, ISSUE AGENT, REGISTRAR, TRANSFER AGENT AND AUTHENTICATION

DEALERS

AGENT

CALCULATION AGENT

HSBC Bank plc 8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ United Kingdom

HSBC Continental Europe 38, avenue Kléber 75116 Paris France HSBC Bank plc 8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ United Kingdom HSBC Bank plc 8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ United Kingdom

HSBC Continental Europe 38, avenue Kléber 75116 Paris France

REGISTRAR

HSBC Bank USA, National Association Corporate Trust & Loan Agency 452 Fifth Avenue New York, 10018 USA

LEGAL ADVISERS TO THE ISSUER AND THE DEALER

LEGAL ADVISERS TO THE ISSUER

as to Swiss law

as to English law

Clifford Chance LLP 10 Upper Bank Street London E14 5JJ United Kingdom Lenz & Staehelin Route de Chêne 30 CH-1211 Geneva 6 Switzerland